committee agenda

District Development Management Committee
Wednesday, 27th October, 2021
You are invited to attend the next meeting of District Development Management
Committee, which will be held at:

Council Chamber - Civic Offices
on Wednesday, 27th October, 2021
at 7.00 pm .
Georgina Blakemore
Chief Executive
Democratic Services
Officer

G. Woodhall Tel: (01992) 564243
Email: democraticservices@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Members:
Councillors S Jones (Chairman), B Rolfe (Vice-Chairman), R Baldwin, H Brady, I Hadley,
S Heap, S Heather, H Kauffman, P Keska, J Lea, R Morgan, C C Pond, S Rackham,
J M Whitehouse and K Williamson

SUBSTITUTE NOMINATION DEADLINE:

18:00
1.

WEBCASTING INTRODUCTION
This meeting is to be webcast and the Chairman will read the following
announcement:
“I would like to remind everyone present that this hybrid meeting will be broadcast live
to the internet (or filmed) and will be capable of repeated viewing (or other such use
by third parties). Therefore by participating in this meeting, you are consenting to
being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for
webcasting and/or training purposes. If any public speakers on Zoom do not wish to
have their image captured they should ensure that their video setting throughout the
meeting is turned off and set to audio only.
Please also be aware that if technical difficulties interrupt the meeting that cannot be
overcome, I may need to adjourn the meeting.”

1

District Development Management Committee
2.

Wednesday, 27 October 2021

ADVICE FOR PUBLIC & SPEAKERS AT PLANNING COMMITTEES (Pages 5 - 6)
(Team Manager – Democratic & Electoral Services) General advice for those persons
attending the meeting of the Committee is attached as an Appendix to this agenda.

3.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
(Team Manager – Democratic & Electoral Services) To be announced at the meeting.

4.

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS
(Team Manager – Democratic & Electoral Services) To report the appointment of any
substitute members for the meeting.

5.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
(Team Manager – Democratic & Electoral Services) To declare interests in any item
on the agenda.

6.

MINUTES
(Team Manager – Democratic & Electoral Services) To confirm the minutes of the
meeting of the Committee held on 1 September 2021 (to follow).

7.

EPPING FOREST DISTRICT LOCAL PLAN SUBMISSION VERSION - PLANNING
POLICY BRIEFING NOTE
(Service Manager – Development Management) An updated Planning Policy Briefing
Note is being prepared to include reference to the current status of the Plan, the
consultation on the main modifications and other relevant matters. A link to the
updated Briefing Note will be published as soon as possible in advance of the
meeting.

8.

EPF/1126/21 - 9 POWELL ROAD, BUCKHURST HILL (Pages 7 - 12)
(Service Manager – Development Management) To consider the attached report for
ratification of the decision to grant planning permission under delegated authority for a
single storey front extension to the garage and a change to a habitable room.

9.

EPF/2924/20 - BAKERS LANE CAR PARK, BAKERS LANE, EPPING (Pages 13 112)
(Service Manager – Planning Policy & Implementation) To consider the attached
report for the redevelopment of existing surface level car park to provide a leisure
centre to include swimming pool, gymnasium, sports hall, squash courts and studio
(mixed Class E (d) and F.2 (d)) together with disabled parking provision, new vehicular
and pedestrian access, all hard and soft landscaping, and associated works.

10.

EPF/2925/20 - COTTIS LANE CAR PARK, COTTIS LANE, EPPING (Pages 113 222)
(Service Manager – Planning Policy & Implementation) To consider the attached
report for the redevelopment of existing surface level car park comprising the
demolition of public toilets and the construction of a multi-deck car park, cinema (sui
2

District Development Management Committee

Wednesday, 27 October 2021

generis), commercial floorspace (mixed Class E), replacement public toilets and cycle
store, all associated plant, together with new vehicular and pedestrian access, all hard
and soft landscaping, and associated works.
11.

EPF/0917/21 - FORMER SCHOOL, CENTREPOINT BUILDING AND COUNCIL
DEPOT LAND AT ST JOHN'S ROAD, EPPING (Pages 223 - 368)
(Service Manager – Planning Policy & Implementation) To consider the attached
report for the redevelopment of the former school buildings and depot. Demolition of
five buildings and the retention of three locally listed buildings. Development to
comprise erection of new apartment buildings and the conversion, extension and
change of use of the existing locally listed Centrepoint building and Cookery School to
provide a mix of residential units (Use Class C3) and ancillary communal amenity
areas. Extension and refurbishment of two existing locally listed semi-detached
caretaker cottages. Revised vehicular and pedestrian access from St Johns Road and
new pedestrian access from High Street, all associated car and cycle parking,
servicing, hard and soft landscaping and associated works.

12.

EPF/0918/21 - EPPING SPORTS CENTRE, 25 HEMNALL STREET, EPPING
(Pages 369 - 502)
(Service Manager – Planning Policy & Implementation) To consider the attached
report for the redevelopment of existing Sports Centre and car park. Demolition of
existing Sports Centre. Development to comprise a new apartment building and
houses to provide a mix of residential units (Use Class C3), new vehicular and
pedestrian access from Nicholl Road and new pedestrian access from Hemnall Street,
all associated car and cycle parking, servicing, hard and soft landscaping and
associated works.

13.

EPF/0919/21 EPF/1042/21 - CIVIC OFFICES CONDER BUILDING & CAR PARK,
323 HIGH STREET, EPPING (Pages 503 - 658)
(Service Manager – Planning Policy & Implementation) To consider the attached
report for the redevelopment of the existing office building and car park. Demolition of
the existing office building and alterations to connection to existing Listed Civic Centre.
Development to comprise new apartment buildings and houses to provide a mix of
residential units (Use Class C3), revised vehicular and pedestrian access from High
Street, all associated car and cycle parking, servicing, hard and soft landscaping and
associated works.
Grade II Listed building consent for the redevelopment of the existing office building
and car park.

14.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS
(Team Manager – Democratic & Electoral Services) Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local
Government Act 1972 requires that the permission of the Chairman be obtained, after
prior notice to the Chief Executive, before urgent business not specified in the agenda
(including a supplementary agenda of which the statutory period of notice has been
given) may be transacted.

3

District Development Management Committee
15.

Wednesday, 27 October 2021

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS
Exclusion
(Team Manager – Democratic & Electoral Services) To consider whether, under
Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public and press should be
excluded from the meeting for the items of business set out below on grounds that
they will involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the following
paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act (as amended) or are confidential
under Section 100(A)(2):
Agenda Item
Nil

Subject
None

Paragraph Number
Nil

The Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, which came
into effect on 1 March 2006, requires the Council to consider whether maintaining the
exemption listed above outweighs the potential public interest in disclosing the
information. Any member who considers that this test should be applied to any
currently exempted matter on this agenda should contact the proper officer at least 24
hours prior to the meeting.
Background Papers
(Team Manager – Democratic & Electoral Services) Article 17 (Access to Information)
of the Constitution defines background papers as being documents relating to the
subject matter of the report which in the Proper Officer's opinion:
(a)

disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the
report is based; and

(b)

have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report and does not
include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential
information and in respect of executive reports, the advice of any political
advisor.

The Council will make available for public inspection one copy of each of the
documents on the list of background papers for four years after the date of the
meeting. Inspection of background papers can be arranged by contacting either the
Responsible Officer or the Democratic Services Officer for the particular item.

4

Agenda Item 2
Advice to Public and Speakers at the Council’s District Development Management
Committee and Area Plans Sub-Committees
Are the meetings open to the public?
Yes, all our meetings are open for you to attend. Only in special circumstances are the
public excluded. If you wish to observe meetings live you can view the webcast on the
Council’s website at: https://www.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/your-council/watch-a-meeting/
Alternatively, you can attend in person and will be seated in the public gallery of the Council
Chamber.
When and where is the meeting?
Details of the location, date and time of the meeting are shown at the top of the front page of
the agenda along with the details of the contact officer and Members of the Committee.
Can I speak?
If you wish to speak you must register with Democratic Services by 4.00 p.m. on the
day before the meeting, by telephoning the number shown on the front page of the agenda.
You can register to speak at the meeting either virtually via Zoom or in person at the Civic
Offices. Speaking to a Planning Officer will not register you to speak; you must register with
Democratic Services. Speakers are not permitted on Planning Enforcement or legal issues.
Who can speak?
Three classes of speakers are generally allowed: Only one objector (maybe on behalf of a
group), the local Parish or Town Council and the applicant or his/her agent. In some cases, a
representative of another authority consulted on the application may also be allowed to
speak.
What can I say?
You will be allowed to have your say about the application, but you must bear in mind that
you are limited to 3 minutes. At the discretion of the Chairman, speakers may clarify matters
relating to their presentation and answer questions from Committee members.
If you are not present by the time your item is considered, the Committee will determine the
application in your absence.
If you have registered to speak on a planning application to be considered by the District
Development Management Committee, Area Plans Sub-Committee East, Area Plans SubCommittee South or Area Plans Sub-Committee West you will either address the Committee
from within the Council Chamber at the Civic Offices, or will be admitted to the meeting
virtually via Zoom. Speakers must NOT forward the Zoom invite to anyone else under any
circumstances. If attending virtually, your representation may be supplied in advance of the
meeting, so this can be read out by an officer on your behalf should there be a technical
problem. Please email your statement to: democraticservices@eppingforestdc.gov.uk
Can I give the Councillors more information about my application or my objection?
Yes, you can but it must not be presented at the meeting. If you wish to send further
information to Councillors, their contact details can be obtained from Democratic Services or
our website https://www.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/ Any information sent to Councillors should
be copied to the Planning Officer dealing with the application.

Page 5

Revised VM (August 2021)

How are the applications considered?
The Committee will consider applications in the agenda order. On each case they will listen
to an outline of the application by the Planning Officer. They will then hear any speakers’
presentations.
The order of speaking will be (1) Objector, (2) Parish/Town Council, then (3) Applicant or
his/her agent. The Committee will then debate the application and vote on either the
recommendations of officers in the agenda or a proposal made by the Committee. Should
the Committee propose to follow a course of action different to officer recommendation, it is
required to give its reasons for doing so.
An Area Plans Sub-Committee is required to refer applications to the District Development
Management Committee where:
(a)

the Sub-Committee’s proposed decision is a substantial departure from:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

the Council's approved policy framework; or
the development or other approved plan for the area; or
it would be required to be referred to the Secretary of State for approval as
required by current government circular or directive;

(b)

the refusal of consent may involve the payment of compensation; or

(c)

the District Development Management Committee have previously considered the
application or type of development and has so requested; or

(d)

the Sub-Committee wish, for any reason, to refer the application to the District
Development Management Committee for decision by resolution.

Further Information
Further information can be obtained from Democratic Services.

Page 6

Revised VM (August 2021)

Item 8
Epping Forest DistrictAgenda
Council

55.2m
50.3m

Path (um)

Drain
46.4m

Rose
Cottage
15

9

11

1

6

60.4m

2

7

57.9m

2

5a

POWELL ROA
D

5

58.8m
The Coach House

Churchills

The Laurels

1

EFDC

Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings.

Application Number:

EPF/1126/21

Site Name:

Contains Ordnance Survey Data. ©
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No:
100018534

Scale of Plot:

9 Powell Road, Buckhurst Hill
IG9 5RD
1:1250

Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail
Copyright & Database Right 2013

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Report to District Development
Management Committee
Date of meeting:
27 October 2021

Reference: EPF/1126/21
Address: 9 Powell Road, Buckhurst Hill
Subject: Single storey front extension to
garage, change to habitable room
Officer contact for further information:

Brendan Meade (01992 564078)

Democratic Services Officer:

Gary Woodhall (01992 564470)

Recommendations/Decisions Required:
For Members to ratify the decision to grant planning consent subject to the following
conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of
three years beginning with the date of this notice.
Reason:- To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and retained strictly in
accordance with the following approved plans: Existing and proposed east and
north elevations, Existing and proposed west and south elevations, Existing and
proposed sections and roof plan, Existing and proposed floor plans, Existing and
proposed site plan, and location plan, proposed first floor plan, proposed section AA
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure the proposal is built in
accordance with the approved plans.
3. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
development hereby permitted shall match those in the existing building [or those
shown on plan number: Existing and proposed east and north elevations, Existing
and proposed west and south elevations, Existing and proposed sections and roof
plan, Existing and proposed floor plans, Existing and proposed site plan, and
location plan, proposed first floor plan, proposed section A-A, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity of the
area, in accordance with policy DBE10 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and
Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2019.

Page 9

Background
This application was decided via delegated authority on the 28th June 2021. It has since come to
light that the applicant is closely related to an Epping Forest District councillor and therefore the
application should have been referred to DDMC. As the decision was incorrectly granted approval
via delegated authority in contradiction with the constitution; it is before DDMC this evening to
ratify the officer’s decision.
It should be noted that the applicant did indicate on the application form that they were related to a
decision-maker, however no further details were given when prompted and this was subsequently
missed by officers.
The application was approved subject to the above conditions. It is before members this evening
with a recommendation for approval subject to the same conditions. The original officers report in
the form of our householder application checklist is included below which sets out the merits of the
scheme.

ORIGINAL CHECKLIST REPORT
Case Ref:

EPF/1126/21

PL No: 004669

Address:

9 Powell Road, Buckhurst Hill

Description of works:

Single storey front extension to garage, change to habitable room

Application Check
Site Notice:
Site Visit:

Photos/Images available:
Development Description
Accurate:
Plans Accurate:
Neighbours consulted:
Other Consultees notified:

Yes
Not required
Yes
No
No access
Yes
No
Yes
No
Yes
No
Yes
No
Yes
No

☐
☒
☐
☒
☐
☒
☐
☒
☐
☒
☐
☒
☐
☒
☐

Details:

Consultation responses
Town/Parish Council

Object
No objection
No comment

☐
☒
☐

Page 10

None received ☐
Two neighbours consulted – no response received

Constraints
Green Belt:

Yes
No

Conservation:

Yes
No

Listed Building:

Yes
No

TPO:

Yes
No

Enforcement:

Yes
No

☐
☒
☐
☒
☐
☒
☐
☒
☐
☒

Other:

Planning Considerations
Character and appearance:

Comments:
Acceptable
☒ The proposal is of a sensible scale and
Unacceptable ☐ acceptable design which would not
NA
appear as overly prominent or

☐

Neighbouring amenities:

Green Belt:

incongruous within the streetscene.
Powell Road consists of large detached
dwellings of differing front facades, the
modest front extension proposed here
would not be at odds with the
established character of the locality.
Overall the proposal complements and
enhances the existing building as well as
the character and appearance of the
wider area.
Acceptable
☒ The front extension is of a modest scale
Unacceptable ☐ and would be sited adjacent to no. 7
NA
☐ Powell Road which is already projects
beyond the front building line of the
host site, the proposal will be sited
within this line. As such there would be
no excessive loss of living conditions for
the occupant of this property.
Acceptable
☐
Unacceptable ☐
NA
☒

Page 11

Highways safety/Parking/Access: Acceptable
☒ Adequate off-street parking is retained.
Unacceptable ☐
NA
Trees and Landscaping:

Representations considered:

☐
Acceptable
☐
Unacceptable ☐
NA
☒
Yes
☒
NA
☐

Other:

Recommendation:

Approve
Refuse

☒
☐

Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following
contact details by 2pm on the day before the meeting at the latest:
Planning Application Case Officer: Brendan Meade
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564078
or if no direct contact can be made please email:
contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Page 12

Item 9
Epping Forest DistrictAgenda
Council
42

28

54

60

19

AL
BA
NY

CO
UR
T

48

25

EFDC

to
49

El
Sub Sta

54

55

50

13

The
e
ttag
Co

Fa Th
rm e
ho
us
e

48

e se
Th ou
H
l
il
M

E
N
LA

98.1m

to

S
ER
K
BA

56

7

1

7

1t
o6

e s
Th illa
V
rs
ke
a
B

ST

JO
H
N
'S

42

R
O
A
D

Car Park

Car Park

53

30

100.0m

41

Cottis
Court
18

2

37

1

16
a
33

Falconry Court

C
LO
SE

37

to

40

29

16

EFDC

to
4

El
Sub Sta

to

28

1

B
O
D
LE
Y

103.0m

2

Epping
2a

Application Number:

EPF/2924/21

Site Name:

Contains Ordnance Survey Data. ©
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No:
100018534

Scale of Plot:

Bakers Lane Car Park
Bakers Lane Epping CM16 5BD
1:1250

ll
Ha

Hall infringes
Unauthorised reproduction
Crown Copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings.

Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail
Copyright & Database Right 2013

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Report to District Development
Management Committee
Date of Meeting: 27th October 2021

Site Address: Bakers Lane Car Park, Bakers Lane, Epping
CM16 5BD
Application Number:

EPF/2924/20

Application Type:

Full Planning Application

Proposal:

Full application for the redevelopment of existing
surface level car park to provide a leisure centre to
include swimming pool, gymnasium, sports hall,
squash courts and studio (mixed Class E (d) and
F.2 (d)) together with disabled parking provision,
new vehicular and pedestrian access, all hard and
soft landscaping, and associated works.

Site Address:

Bakers Lane Car Park, Bakers Lane, Epping CM16 5BD

Ward:

Epping Lindsey and Thornwood Common

Parish:

Epping Town

Conservation Area:

No

EFDLP Site Allocation

Yes

Epping Forest Special Area of
Conservation

LPSV Ref: EPP.R7

Subject to the imposition of planning conditions and
completion of a section 106 planning obligation to secure
the measures identified in the Interim Air Pollution
Mitigation Strategy and electric vehicle charging
infrastructure, the Council can conclude that there will be

Page 15

no adverse impact on the integrity of the Epping Forest
Special Area of Conservation.

Applicant:

Qualis Commercial Ltd (part of Qualis Group Ltd)
Qualis Group Ltd is a company wholly owned by Epping Forest
District Council

Agent:

Q+A Planning Ltd

Case officer:

Nick Finney

Democratic Services Officer

Gary Woodhall. Contact number: 01992 564 470

Validation date:

19th December 2020

Reason for reporting
application to Members:

This application is before this committee since it proposes a
‘major scale’ development where the Council is a landowner
as defined in Article 10 of the Constitution.
The site is retained in the ownership of the Council.

1.

RECOMMENDATION
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to:
1. the prior completion of a Legal Agreement or such another suitable mechanism
agreed by the Planning Service Director within four months of the resolution to
grant planning permission to secure the planning obligations within section 3
and subject to planning conditions listed in Appendix 1 of this report.

2.

SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

2.1

The application site has been proposed for allocation (ref: EPP.R7) in the Epping
Forest District Local Plan Submission Version (LPSV) to provide new residential
accommodation to meet an identified need. The proposal for a leisure centre on the
site is contrary to this site allocation, however, the applicant is to make good the
shortfall in residential provision via the use of the Land at St John’s Road site as a
‘donor site’. Subject to securing the planned for residential accommodation via the
s106 planning obligations the principle of the use is supported.

Page 16

2.2

The new facilities provide a replacement and enhancement to those provided at the
existing Epping Sports Centre, which will continue in operation until the proposed
centre is opened.

2.3

The site is a sustainable town centre location and the proposal will support the vitality
and viability of the wider town centre. The high quality architecture will contribute
positively to the setting and the development will enable much improved public realm
and town centre connectivity. The provision of a ‘green’ roof supports an overall
biodiversity net gain on the site.

2.4

Potential impact on the amenity of adjoining residential properties is suitably mitigated
through the boundary treatment, orientation of the buildings, restrictions on plant noise
and construction management conditions.

2.5

It has been concluded beyond reasonable scientific doubt that the development will
not result in an adverse impact on the integrity of the Epping Forest SAC subject to
mitigation measures and site-specific conditions and obligations that will be imposed.

2.6

The proposal is targeting a BREEAM rating of ‘Excellent’ which is within the top 10%
of non-domestic UK buildings. The proposal provides a 58% reduction in C02
emissions over the requirements of Building Regulations Part L and will utilise renewal
sources of energy thus contributing to the Districts carbon neutral by 2030 targets.

2.7

On the basis of the analysis undertaken within this report, it is considered that the
proposed development is compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan
and the LPSV.

3.

PLANNING OBLIGATIONS AND CONDITIONS

3.1

The recommendation is given subject to conditions as set out in Appendix 1 of this
report. In addition, a Legal Agreement or such another suitable mechanism will secure
the following planning obligations and financial contributions. The obligations are
grouped into sections for ease of reference:

3.2

Delivery Controlling Mechanisms


No closure of Bakers Lane Car Park prior to completion and opening of Cottis
Lane Car Park



Implementation restricted until substantial implementation of St John’s Road
residential development



Opening linked to closure of existing leisure centre to ensure existing use is
extinguished



Community use secured

Page 17

3.3

3.4

Transport


Bus Infrastructure Improvements (Highway Agreement + £22,000)



Travel Plan (Monitoring Fee £6,132)



Controlled Parking Zones Management

Employment and Skills


3.5

An employment and skills plan to be agreed for the development.

As things currently stand, the Council may be the only party with an interest in the site
at the date that development is commenced and in such circumstances an agreement
under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 may not be
appropriate. Legal advice is being sought and it may be appropriate to secure the
obligations through an agreement relying on other local government powers and/or by
way of a Grampian condition. It is proposed that the decision on the appropriate
mechanism be delegated to the Planning Service Director.
Completion of the agreement

3.6

In the event that the required agreement is not satisfactorily completed within four
months of the date of the resolution to grant planning permission then in the absence
of a suitable mechanism to secure planning and financial obligations to mitigate the
impact of development, the Planning Services Director is authorised to refuse planning
permission.
Conditions

3.7

The full list of conditions recommended for the planning permission is identified in
Appendix 1. In summary, the conditions applicable to the planning permission will
cover the following matters:


Time Limit for commencement



Approved drawing numbers



Finished floor levels



Use of materials



Design and landscape



Ecology issues



SuDS and land drainage

Page 18

4.



Land contamination



Sustainability / energy



Noise and air quality mitigation



External lighting strategy



Restrictive conditions

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT
Full application for the redevelopment of existing surface level car park to
provide a leisure centre to include swimming pool, gymnasium, sports hall,
squash courts and studio (mixed Class E (d) and F.2 (d)) together with
disabled parking provision, new vehicular and pedestrian access, all hard
and soft landscaping, and associated works.

5.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1

Environmental Impact Assessments (EIA) have been undertaken for all five sites and
reported in two Environmental Statements:
1. Environmental Statement dated 31 March 2021 which reports the findings of the
EIA for the three residential sites (St John's Road (EPP.R4), Sports Centre
(EPP.R5) and Civic Offices (part) (EPP.R8) (the Residential ES); and
2. Environmental Statement dated 28 July 2021 which reports on the findings of the
EIA for the two commercial sites (Cottis Lane (EPP.R6) and Bakers Lane
(EPP.R7)) (the Commercial ES).

5.2

The 'Epping Town Centre Development: Environment Summary Report' dated July
2020 sets out how the Residential ES and the Commercial ES interact and that
relevant environmental effects have been assessed for each site individually and
cumulatively.

5.3

It is assessed by the Council that the submitted ES's collectively provide adequate
environmental information to enable the applications to be determined.

5.4

Both the Residential ES and the Commercial ES assess the likely significant effects
on ecology and biodiversity, traffic and transport, socio-economics, air quality,
townscape, cultural heritage and climate change. The effects have been analysed and
mitigation measures have been identified.

5.5

Both of the environmental statements identify the following significant effects:

Page 19

5.5.1. Significant effect on climate change, which is to be addressed via embedded
and operational mitigation to reduce carbon emissions, as detailed further in the
Sustainability section of this report.
5.5.2. Significant beneficial effect from new employment opportunities.
5.6

Other residual effects are to be addressed via Construction Management Plans,
Landscape and Ecological Management Plans secured by planning condition.

6.

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

6.1

The application site lays within the defined Epping town centre to the north of the
proposed primary shopping area as defined in the LPSV. The site comprises a public
car park which provides 133 surface level public pay and display car parking spaces.
Pedestrian access to the town centre can be gained from the car park via Cottis Lane
and St Johns Road. The natural gradient of the site slopes away to the north-east,
although the existing car park is provided level with a densely vegetated retaining
embankment on the north-eastern boundary. The boundaries of the site are mainly
comprised of established hedging, although there has been some recent site clearance
works.

6.2

The site is immediately surrounded by a mixture of 19th and mid-20th century
residential development to the north and west. The Bakers’ Villas sheltered housing
complex lays to on the opposite side of the Bakers Lane to the east. To the south there
are two, three storey blocks of offices forming part of the Falconry Court development.
Kestrel House and Peregrine House are modern buildings, designed in Georgian and
Victorian Gothic styles. These properties have been subject of a recent Prior Approval
Application (ref. EPF/2056/21) for conversion from office to residential use under the
provisions of Class O of Part 3 of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended). The prior approval was
granted on 20/09/21 which enables these properties to be converted into the 51
residential dwellings if implemented.

7.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

7.1

Given the existing use of the site as a car park, the planning history of the site is Iimited
as follows:
Application
Reference

EPF/1075/20

Description of Development

Erection of 6 metre CCTV camera pole within car
park to the rear of Cottis Court.

Page 20

Decision

Granted
27.07.09

DC/EPF/0004/88 Installation of one automatic public convenience.

Granted
11.03.88

EPU/0171/70

Granted
07.12.70

Use of land for permanent car park.

8.

CONSULTATION AND REPRESENTATIONS

8.1

Statutory and technical consultee comments are noted below and provided in
summary within Appendix 3 (the submitted comments are available in full on the
Council's website through the following link).


Essex County Council - SUDS – No objection, subject to conditions.



Essex County Council – Green Infrastructure – No objection, subject to
condition.



Essex County Council - Highways – No objection, subject to conditions.



Essex County Council - Place Service Archaeology – No objection subject to
conditions.



Essex County Council - Place Service Ecology – No objection, subject to
conditions.



EFDC - Environmental Health – Noise – No objection in principle, subject to
conditions.



EFDC - Environmental Health - Contaminated Land – No objection, subject to
conditions.



EFDC - Environmental Health – Air Quality Officer – No objection, subject to
conditions.



EFDC - Trees and Landscape – Objection due to the loss of trees and
existing vegetation.



EFDC - Building Control – Suggested early consultation is carried out by the
applicant with Essex Fire and Rescue Service with regard to building
regulations.



EFDC - Land Drainage Section – No objection, subject to conditions.



Environment Agency – Provided advice regarding ground water contamination
management.

Page 21



Sports England – No objection subject to detailed design specification
condition.



Essex Police – No objection.



Thames Water – No objection.



Epping Town Council – Parish – No objection, but highlight concerns regarding
impact on residential amenity and traffic.



Epping Society – Raises objection due to scale of the development and impact
on traffic.

8.2

Notification

8.3

In accordance with relevant legal requirements and the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement, notification letters were sent to the occupants of 342
residential properties on 22.12.20. Site notices were displayed on 23.12.20. A press
notice was published in the Epping Forest Guardian on the 24.12.20. Over the
course of the consultations, 11 representations have been received in response to
the consultation on the application.

8.4

Following design amendments made during the determination of development a 14day consultation exercise was undertaken. The changes comprised minor
amendment to proposed highway and public realm works and associated
alteration of the main entrance and external seating areas. Changes to
architectural composition of front elevation to rationalise material palette including
material changes and the introduction of additional glazing.

8.5

The re-consultation period expired on the 02/07/2021

8.6

The representations received identified the following material planning considerations
relevant to the determination of the application a summary of which is contained at
Appendix 2.

8.7



Impact on ecology



Car Parking capacity and traffic impact



Character of design



Overlooking, loss of amenity and daylight and sunlight effects



Construction noise and traffic



Operational noise and lighting

Other Consultation

Page 22

Quality Review Panel
8.8

Development proposals on the site have been the subject of four Quality Review
Panel (QRP) meetings. These were held on the following dates:
 20th March 2020 (town centre strategy);
 10th July 2020 (town centre strategy);
 17th September 2020 (town centre strategy);
 30th October 2020;
The design review was undertaken in parallel with that for the Cottis Lane
development, with that development forming the main focus of comments. The panel
however raised no major concern with the architecture of the leisure centre and
welcomed the appointment of specialist leisure architecture to space plan the internal
layout of the centre. A summary of the QRP feedback is enclosed at Appendix 4.

8.9

Engagement with the Local Community

8.10

A comprehensive community engagement strategy was developed by QCL in relation
to five sites, one of which is the application site. The approach involved two
consultation stages as follows:


Stage 1 consultation – this included consultation on the land use strategy for
five sites plus initial design ideas for all five sites.



Stage 2 consultation – this included more detailed design for all five sites,
including layout, quantum, massing, landscaping and appearance.

8.11

Development Management Forum

8.12

The proposed development of the application site was also the subject of a
Development Management Forums (DMF) on 24/09/20.


The purpose of the DMF is to allow early engagement with the local community
to ensure that any concerns and questions can be raised at an early point in
the process and used to assist in the evolution of the scheme as it progresses.



This process is part of the Council’s commitment to ensure that development
proposals of this scale are the subject of robust engagement within the local
community.

9.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

9.1

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended ("the 1990
Act"), requires that in dealing with any planning application the authority shall have

Page 23

regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application
and to any other material planning considerations.
9.2

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended)
("the 2004 Act") requires that if regard is to be had to the Development Plan for the
purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts the determination
must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise

9.3

The Development Plan currently comprises the saved policies of the Epping Forest
District Council Adopted Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006) (ALP). The list
below indicates which policies of the ALP are relevant to the determination of this
application and the degree to which officers consider that they are consistent with the
NPPF as noted in the report to the Local Plan Cabinet Committee (25th March 2013):
CP1 – Achieving Sustainable Development Objectives – Compliant
CP3 – New Development – Compliant
CP4 – Energy Conservation – Compliant
CP5 – Sustainable Building – Compliant
CP 6 – Achieving Sustainable Urban Development Patterns – Compliant
CP 7 – Urban Form and Quality – Compliant
CP 8 – Sustainable Urban Economic Development – Compliant
CP 9 – Sustainable Transport – Compliant
TC1 – Town Centre Hierarchy – Compliant
TC2 – Sequential Approach – Compliant
TC3 – Town Centre Function – Compliant
HC6 – Character Appearance and Setting of Conservation Areas – Compliant
DBE1 – Design of New Buildings – Compliant
DBE2 – Effect on Neighbouring Properties – Compliant
DBE3 – Design in Urban Areas – Compliant
DBE6 – Car Parking in New Development – Compliant
DBE9 – Loss of Amenity – Compliant

Page 24

LL11 – Landscaping Schemes – Compliant
ST1 – Location of Development – Compliant
ST2 – Accessibility of Development – Compliant
ST4 – Road Safety – Compliant
RST1 – Recreational, Sporting and Tourist Facilities – Compliant
RP4 – Contaminated Land – Compliant
RP5A – Adverse Environmental Impacts – Compliant
U3B – Sustainable Drainage Systems – Compliant
I1A – Planning Obligations – Compliant
I3 – Replacement Facilities – Compliant
NC1 – SPAs SACs SSSIs – Compliant
9.4

The relevance of the identified saved Local Plan policies to the determination of this
application and the weight to be accorded to each policy are addressed in further detail
within this report.

10.

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK

10.1

The current version of the National Planning Policy Framework ("the Framework" or
"NPPF") was published in July 2021. It provides the framework for producing Local
Plans for housing and other development, which in turn provide the policies against
which applications for planning permission are decided.

10.2

Reflecting the proper approach identified in the previous section of this Report, the
NPPF explains (at paragraph 2) that:
"2.

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy
Framework must be taken into account in preparing the development
plan and is a material consideration in planning decisions. Planning
policies and decisions must also reflect relevant international
obligations and statutory requirements.2"

Page 25

10.3

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF concerns the presumption in favour of sustainable
development and states (so far as relevant):
"Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable
development.
…
For decision-taking this means:
c)

approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan without delay; or

d)

where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies
which are most important for determining the application are out-ofdate8, granting permission unless:
i.

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas
or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for
refusing the development proposed7; or

ii.

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in this Framework taken as a whole."

10.4

Paragraph 11 d) ii. is often referred to as the 'tilted balance'.

10.5

Paragraph 219 of the NPPF requires that policies in the existing Development Plan
should not be considered out of date simply because they were adopted or made prior
to the publication of the NPPF. Rather, due weight should be given to such policies
according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF; in other words, the closer the
policies in the Development Plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight
that may be given to them.

10.6

For the purposes of sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 11, footnote 7 lists the policies in
Framework (rather than those in development plans) that protect areas or assets of
particular importance including: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 176)
and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green
Belt, or Local Green Space; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and
other heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 63 of the NPPF);
and areas at risk of flooding.

10.7

The NPPF comprises a number of chapters of which nos. 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 14 and 16
are particularly relevant to the proposed development.

Page 26

11.

EMERGING LOCAL PLAN

11.1

On 14 December 2017, the Council resolved to approve the Epping Forest District
Local Plan (2011-2033) – Submission Version ("LPSV") for submission to the
Secretary of State and the Council also resolved that the LPSV be endorsed as a
material consideration to be used in the determination of planning applications.

11.2

The Council submitted the LPSV for independent examination on 21 September 2018.
The Inspector appointed to examine the LPSV ("the Local Plan Inspector") held
examination hearings between 12 February and 11 June 2019. As part of the
examination process, the Council has asked the Local Plan Inspector to recommend
modifications of the LPSV to enable its adoption.

11.3

During the examination hearings, a number of proposed Main Modifications of the
LPSV were 'agreed' with the Inspector on the basis that they would be subject to public
consultation in due course. Following completion of the hearings, in a letter dated 2
August 2019 the Local Plan Inspector provided the Council with advice on the
soundness and legal compliance of the LPSV ("the Inspector's Advice"). In that letter,
the Inspector concluded that, at this stage, further Main Modifications (MMs) of the
emerging Local Plan were required to enable its adoption and that, in some cases,
additional work would need to be done by the Council to establish the precise form of
the MMs. Subsequently the proposed MMs have been submitted to the Inspector and
subject to public consultation.

11.4

Although the LPSV does not yet form part of the statutory development plan, when
determining planning applications, the Council must have regard to the LPSV as
material to the application under consideration. In accordance with paragraph 48 of
the NPPF, the LPAs "may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according
to:

11.5

a)

The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);

b)

The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight
that may be given); and

c)

The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan
to this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).22"

Footnote 24 to paragraph 48 of the NPPF explains that where an emerging Local Plan
is being examined under the transitional arrangements (set out in paragraph 214), as
is the case for the LPSV, consistency should be tested against the March 2012 version
of the NPPF.

Page 27

11.6

As the preparation of the emerging Local Plan has reached a very advanced stage,
subject to the Inspector's Advice regarding the need for additional MMs, significant
weight should be accorded to LPSV policies in accordance with paragraph 48 of
Framework. The following table lists the LPSV policies relevant to the determination of
this application and officers' recommendation regarding the weight to be accorded to
each policy.
SP 1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development – Significant
SP 2 – Spatial Development Strategy – Moderate
SP 3 – Space shaping – Significant
SP7 – The Natural Environment, Landscape Character and Green Infrastructure –
Significant
T 1 – Sustainable transport choices - Significant
DM 1 – Habitat protection and improving biodiversity - Significant
DM 2 – Epping Forest SAC and the Lee Valley SPA - Significant
DM 3 – Landscape character, Ancient Landscapes and Geodiversity - Significant
DM 5 – Green and Blue Infrastructure - Significant
DM 7 – Heritage Assets - Significant
DM 9 – High quality design – Significant
DM 11 - Waste recycling facilities on new development – Significant
DM 15 – Managing and reducing flood risk – Significant
DM 16 – Sustainable Drainage Systems - Significant
DM 18 – On site management of wastewater and water supply - Significant
DM 20 – Low carbon and renewable energy - Significant
DM 21 – Local environmental impacts, pollution and land contamination – Significant
DM 22 – Air Quality – Significant
P 1 – Epping– Significant
D 1 – Delivery of Infrastructure – Significant
D 2 – Essential Facilities and Services – Significant

Page 28

D 3 – Utilities – Significant
D 4 – Community Leisure and Cultural Facilities – Significant
12.

EPPING TOWN NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

12.1

A draft version of the Epping Town Neighbourhood Plan (ETNP) was published for
consultation in May 2018. The ETNP has not yet been finalised, put to a local
referendum or therefore adopted as part of the development plan. Whilst the draft
ETNP can only be afforded limited weight, the relevant policies are summarised below.
Policy 3 – identifies the site as a site for development
Policy 7 – states the capacity and balance of existing public car parking should be
maintained
Policy 11 – considered in the context of the need to maintain and enhance the health
and vitality of shopping and commercial/employment areas.
Policy 13 – relates to business and employment. It states that the main area for
employment-related activities will be in premises along and adjoining the High Street
Policy 14 – addresses the enhancement of social, sporting, play, cultural and
community facilities in Epping. This policy is discussed later in the report.
Policy 15 – states that development will only be permitted with design qualities that
match the character of the area and respect the amenity of existing residents with
regard to noise generation, overlooking and car parking.
Policy 19 – addresses sustainability

13.

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

13.1

The remainder of the report will consider the proposal against the requirements of the
development plan as follows:


Principle of development.



Impact on the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation



Design
-

Layout, access and connectivity

-

Scale, form and massing

-

Landscaping

-

Appearance and materials

Page 29



Impacts on neighbouring amenity
-

Privacy and amenity issues

-

Sunlight, daylight and open aspect

-

Overlooking/loss of privacy issues

-

Outlook issues

-

Noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality



Transport and Highway considerations



Sustainability



Energy and climate change



Flood Risk and SuDs



Ground Contamination



Historic Environment
-

Archaeology



Ecology



Infrastructure



Employment and skills



Equality duties and human rights



Conclusion

14.

Principle of development

14.1

Introduction

14.2

This planning application is one of five submitted by the applicant. The five sites
comprise Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane car parks, Land at St Johns Road, Epping
Sports Centre (Hemnall Street) and Land at the Civic Offices (Condor Building).
Through the process of determination of the five Epping town centre planning
applications, it has been agreed with the applicant that the five sites should be
considered collectively for the purposes of this assessment. Looking at the sites
collectively enables the full extent of proposals to be understood when considering the
appropriate mix of uses and level of affordable housing. Environmental Impact
Assessments (EIA) have been undertaken for all five sites and reported in two

Page 30

Environmental Statements (ES): Environmental Statement dated 31 March 2021 which
reports the findings of EIA for the three residential sites; and Environmental Statement
dated 28 July 2021 which reports the findings of EIA for the two commercial sites.
These were submitted voluntarily by the applicant.
14.3

In the development of their proposals a Town Centre Strategy was developed by the
applicant and formed part of the pre-application public consultation. This was
submitted with the applications as an appendix to the submitted Planning Statements
(Q+A Planning Statement Appendix 1) and sets out how the five sites have been
considered together. A development optioneering process is set out with a preferred
distribution of uses proposed by the applicant. This distribution of uses is reflected in
the submitted planning applications. The applicant has proposed an alternative
arrangement of uses to that set out in the relevant site allocations identified in Policy
P 1 of the LPSV. This was as a result of the formation of Qualis Commercial Ltd and
their appointment to take forward the development strategy for these Council owned
sites. In looking at the development opportunity wholistically the applicant was able to
develop a more deliverable site strategy which they considers provides a better overall
outcome.

14.4

For the avoidance of doubt, the Town Centre Strategy is simply a document prepared
by the applicant in support of the applications; it is not adopted Council policy or
guidance.

14.5

The proposed development as submitted with each of the five planning applications is
set out below:

Site

Description of Development

Bakers Lane Full application for the redevelopment
Car Park
of existing surface level car park to
provide a leisure centre to include
EPF/2924/20
swimming pool, gymnasium, sports
hall, squash courts and studio (mixed
Class E (d) and F.2 (d)) together with
disabled parking provision, new
vehicular and pedestrian access, all
hard and soft landscaping, and
associated works.

Summary of Proposed
Development

5,575 sq m GIA (6,087 sq
m GEA)
6-lane swimming pool,
fitness
suite,
studios,
sports hall and squash
courts.
6 blue
spaces

badge

parking

Cottis
Lane Full application for the redevelopment 330 space multi-storey car
Car Park
of existing surface level car park park
comprising the demolition of public
toilets and the construction of a multi-

Page 31

EPF/2925/20

deck car park, cinema (sui generis),
commercial floorspace (mixed Class
E), replacement public toilets and
cycle store, all associated plant,
together with new vehicular and
pedestrian access, all hard and soft
landscaping, and associated works.

1,166 sq m GIA (1,201
GEA) Class E commercial
floorspace
846 sq m (GIA) (871 sq m
GEA)
Cinema
(Sui
Generis)
Total: 11,126 sq m GIA
(11,460 sq m GEA)

Land at St Redevelopment of the former school
Johns Road
buildings and depot. Demolition of five
buildings and the retention of three
EPF/0917/21
locally listed buildings. Development
to comprise erection of new
apartment
buildings
and
the
conversion, extension and change of
use of the existing locally listed
Centrepoint building and Cookery
School to provide a mix of residential
units (Use Class C3) and ancillary
communal amenity areas. Extension
and refurbishment of two existing
locally listed semi-detached caretaker
cottages. Revised vehicular and
pedestrian access from St Johns
Road and new pedestrian access
from High Street, all associated car
and cycle parking, servicing, hard and
soft landscaping and associated
works.

113 – 1 bed flats

Epping Sports
Centre
(Hemnall
Street)

13 – 1 bed flats

EPF/0918/21

Redevelopment of existing Sports
Centre and car park. Demolition of
existing Sports Centre. Development
to comprise a new apartment building
and houses to provide a mix of
residential units (Use Class C3), new
vehicular and pedestrian access from
Nicholl Road and new pedestrian
access from Hemnall Street, all
associated car and cycle parking,

Page 32

62 – 2 bed flats
7 – 3 bed flats
2 – Existing 2-bed house’s
refurbished
Total: 184
dwellings

(182

12 – 2 bed flats
4 – 3 bed flats
11 – 3 bed houses
Total: 40 dwellings

new)

servicing, hard and soft landscaping
and associated works.

Land and part
of
Civic
Offices
(Condor
Building)

The redevelopment of the existing
office building and car park.
Demolition of the existing office
building and alterations to connection
to existing Listed Civic Centre.
Development to comprise new
EPF/0919/21
apartment buildings and houses to
+EPF/1042/21 provide a mix of residential units (Use
Class C3), revised vehicular and
pedestrian access from High Street,
all associated car and cycle parking,
servicing, hard and soft landscaping
and associated works.

7 – 1 bed flats
17 – 2 bed flats
5 – 3 bed flats
1 – 2 bed house
13 – 3 bed houses
2 – 4 bed houses
Total: 45 dwellings

14.6

NPPF

14.7

As demonstrated at recent appeals the Councils current five-year land supply of
deliverable housing sites has been shown to currently be 2.43 years (although on
adoption of the LPSV the Council will be able to demonstrate a five year supply) and
the tilted balance identified in Para 11(d) of the NPPF is engaged. which provides that
permission should be granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the
policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

14.8

Adopted Local Plan (1998, altered 2006)

14.9

As previously identified, section 38(6) of the 2004 Act require that applications for
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

14.10 The polices from the adopted Local Plan form part of the existing Development Plan.
However, it is acknowledged that the adopted Local Plan is not for the current Plan
Period and a number of the policies therein are inconsistent with the NPPF.
14.11 By comparison, the LPSV contains up-to-date policies which have been informed by
robust and up-to-date evidence. On this basis and having due regard for the provisions
of paragraph 48 of the NPPF, it is concluded that the policies contained within the
LPSV should be afforded greater weight in the overall balance. Further examination of
the weight to be afforded to the draft allocation in the LPSV is assessed in the following
section.
14.12 The emerging Local Plan Policies

Page 33

As previously set out, the LPSV is now at a very advanced stage in its production. The
examination hearing sessions, as part of the Independent Examination (IE), have been
concluded and the Local Plan Inspector published her advice following the hearing
sessions in August 2019.
14.13 The Inspector's advice dated 2nd August 2019 sets out the areas where Main
Modifications (MMs) to the LPSV will be required in order for it to be considered
“sound”. Of the five site allocations, the Inspector in her advice identified actions only
in relation to St Johns Road and the Civic Office. Paragraph 46 of the Inspector’s
advice confirmed “a modification is required to the “Design” entry in Appendix 6 for
EPP.R4 (Land at St Johns Road) to make it explicit that the site is expected to
accommodate a replacement for the sports/leisure facility to be lost through the
allocation of EPP.R5”. Her advice goes on to advise that modification proposed in
paragraph 5 of document ED85 would be sufficient to ensure the protection of the listed
building forming part of allocation EPP.R8 (Land and part of Civic Offices) (Action 20).
The Inspector confirmed in her response dated 25th November 2019 that she does not
have any concerns about areas or allocations in the LPSV which are not mentioned in
her advice from August 2021.
14.14 The comments made regarding Land at St John’s Road and Land and part of Civic
Offices were points of clarification save for the request to amend the St John’s Road
“Design” entry to specify Leisure Centre given that a Leisure Centre was to be lost as
a result of site allocation EPP.R5 Epping Sports Centre. The MMs published by EFDC
on the 15th July 2021 addressed this comment and reference is now incorporated into
the draft Local Plan.
14.15 Within this context and having due regard to Paragraph 48 of the NPPF, it is
considered that there are no unresolved objections in respect of the proposed site
allocations at Bakers Lane car park (EPP.R7), Cottis Lane car park (EPP.R6), Epping
Sports Centre (Hemnall Street) (EPP.R5). With regards to the Land at St John’s
(EPP.R4) and Land at and part of Civic Offices (EPP.R5) there are no unresolved
objections to the principle of development on these sites.
14.16 As that the Local Plan Inspector has not raised ‘in-principle’ objections to the proposed
site allocations for the five planning applications; the emerging Local Plan is consistent
with the requirements of the NPPF; and the public consultation on the Main
Modifications to the Local plan recently ended on 23rd September 2021, it is concluded
that the emerging Local Plan is at an advanced stage and must be given significant
weight in the determination of planning applications.
14.17 The policy site allocations are set out in the table below alongside the development
proposed by the current planning applications.

LPSV Site
Allocation

Proposed Site Allocation

Page 34

Summary of Proposed
Development

EPP.R7

Residential with an approximate net 5,575 sq m GIA (6,087 sq m
capacity of 47 dwellings or 78 GEA) mixed Class E (d) and
Bakers
dwellings in total between site F.2 (d)).
Lane
Car allocations EPP.R7 and EPP.R6.
Park
6-lane swimming pool, fitness
Site allocations EPP.R6 and suite, studios, sports hall and
EPP.R7
should
together squash courts.
incorporate the re-provision of the
existing number of car parking 6 blue badge parking spaces.
spaces [336] for town centre visitors
to ensure that there is no net loss of
parking spaces

EPP.R6

Residential with an approximate net 330 space multi-storey car park
capacity of 31 dwellings or 78
Cottis Lane dwellings in total between site 1,166 sq m GIA (1,201 GEA)
Car Park
Class E commercial floorspace
allocations EPP.R7 and EPP.R6.
Site allocations EPP.R6 and
EPP.R7
should
together
incorporate the re-provision of the
existing number of car parking
spaces [336] for town centre visitors
to ensure that there is no net loss of
parking spaces.

846 sq m (GIA) (871 sq m GEA)
Cinema (Sui Generis)
Total: 11,126 sq m GIA (11,460
sq m GEA)

Mixed use including residential 113 – 1 bed flats
(approximate net capacity of 34
Land at St dwellings) and appropriate town 62 – 2 bed flats
Johns Road centre uses.
7 – 3 bed flats
EPP.R4

Development proposals should
contain a mix of uses including a
leisure centre and residential
development. Other uses on site
could include, retail, community
facilities, hospitality, employment
and further leisure uses.

Page 35

2 – Existing 2-bed house’s
refurbished
Total: 184 (182 new) dwellings
The current proposal does not
include the full extent of the site
allocation with the portion of the
site occupied by Epping Town
Council hall being retained by
the Town Council and not

forming
part
of
the
redevelopment proposals.

EPP.R5
Epping
Sports
Centre
(Hemnall
Street)

Residential with an approximate net 13 – 1 bed flats
capacity of 43 dwellings. (Proposed
Main Modifications amends this to 12 – 2 bed flats
42 dwellings)
4 – 3 bed flats
11 – 3 bed houses
Total: 40 dwellings

EPP.R8
Residential with an approximate net 7 – 1 bed flats
(Land and capacity of 44 dwellings.
17 – 2 bed flats
part of Civic
Offices)
5 – 3 bed flats
1 – 2 bed house
13 – 3 bed houses
2 – 4 bed houses
Total: 45 dwellings
The current proposal does not
include the full extent of the site
allocation with the portion of the
site fronting High Street to be
retained in use as part of the
Civic Offices.

14.18 The proposed developments at Bakers Lane car park, Cottis Lane car park and Land
at St Johns Road are therefore not in accordance with the emerging Local Plan policies
as set out in Appendix 6 (Site Specific Requirements). Consideration is therefore given
to the principle of the proposed developments as standalone sites and when taken
together as a linked project.
Bakers Lane
Planning Policy Context
14.19 Policy SP2 of the LPSV seeks to promote town centre development and regeneration,
and Policy E2 is supportive of proposals for leisure uses within town centres where

Page 36

they will maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of those centres. The site is
located within Epping Town Centre boundary within the adopted plan and LPSV.
14.20 Policy D4 addresses community, leisure and cultural facilities in the District. The
proposals would support the requirements of policy D4 by improving the quality and
capacity of existing facilities that are valued by the community and ensuring that the
new facilities are better in terms of quality, quantity and accessibility than the existing
Epping Sports Centre.
14.21 Within the ALP Policy CP6 and TC1 support proposals that enhance the vitality and
viability of Town Centres and Policy RST1 supports additional recreational and
sporting facilities.
14.22 The location and proposals at Bakers Lane are in general accordance with planning
policy which seeks that such uses are provided and in accessible town centre
locations. The specific location at Bakers Lane is easily accessible to the town centre
and supportive of town centre footfall.
14.23 The proposal to develop the Bakers Lane site as a Leisure Centre however is a
divergence from the LPSV site allocation EPP.R7 which identifies the site for
residential development. This shortfall in residential units is also not made up via
proposed development at Cottis Lane as is permitted within the site allocation (as the
Cottis Lane planning application proposes a multi-storey car park, cinema and
commercial floorspace). The proposal therefore results in the loss of a residential site
allocation which in combination with Cottis Lane amounts to 78 dwellings.
14.24 Significant weight should be given to the strategic policy requirement for new homes
in LPSV Policy SP 2 in accordance with the Plan’s spatial strategy and the ‘Vision for
Epping’ within LPSV Policy P1. The proposal results in the loss of a combined site
allocation of 78 homes. Despite this forming a small number of homes within the total
housing need identified within the LPSV for the plan period, the loss cannot easily be
made up elsewhere given the Council’s current housing delivery shortfall.
14.25 Given the departure from the site allocation other material considerations should be
considered in the balance regarding the planning merits of a leisure centre use in this
location.
The Identified Need for a Sports Centre in Epping
14.26 The EFDC Built Facilities Strategy (March 2018) considers the need and supply of
sports facilities in the district and provides part of the evidence base to the LPSV. The
key findings of this document include:


Recommendations that long-term solutions are identified for the replacement
of Epping Sports Centre at a site that is accessible to Epping residents, with
high quality wet and dry provision.

Page 37



In respect of swimming pools, as a whole District, the quantity of water space
is adequate to meet the demand of residents. However, not all of the water
space is located in the right place and therefore not all of the demand from
Epping Forest District residents can be satisfied. Demand is exported to
neighbouring authorities and this level of demand export equates to 10 lanes
of a 25m pool.



In respect of sports hall, the supply for sports hall for community use is at a
deficit when compared with demand, for both 2017 and 2033, therefore there
is a need to protect this quantity of supply.



In respect of squash courts, it is recommended that the existing level of
provision of squash facilities are protected (2 courts in the case of Epping
Sports Centre).

14.27 The proposed development is for a modern leisure centre that will form a replacement
for the existing Epping Sports Centre. The existing Epping Sports Centre has a 4 court
sports hall, a 70 station health & fitness suite, 2 squash courts and 4 activity studios.
The existing centre has reached the end of its lifespan and the new proposed centre
will offer new and enhanced facilities. The proposal includes a 25m 6 lane swimming
pool, learner pool, 4 court sports hall, 2 squash court, a 100 station fitness suite, 3
activity studios and supporting facilities including a cafe.
14.28 The proposed site allocation for the existing Epping Sports Centre EPP.R5 requires
that ‘Closure of the existing Epping Sports Centre and the re-development of this site
should not take place until a suitable replacement sports/leisure facility is delivered
and is operational.’ (Appendix 6 Site Specific Requirements). EFDC agreed in a
Statement of Common Ground with Sports England as part of the LPSV Examination
that the policy for the existing Sports Centre’s redevelopment requires ‘an equivalent
or better (in terms of quantity and quality) replacement sports/leisure facility in a
suitable location’.
14.29 Sports England has provided representations in support of the current proposal being
satisfied that the proposed facilities are equivalent or better in terms of quantity and
quality to those that they will replace. Sports England has requested that a planning
condition is included to require the detailed specifications of the sports hall and
swimming pool to be agreed in order to ensure that the proposed facilities are fit for
purpose and meet Sports England and the sports governing body design guidance and
meet identified local need.
Assessment of the Principle of Development
14.30 The modification to the LPSV to identify Land at St John’s Road for the replacement
leisure centre was based upon the EFDC development strategy prior to the
development of the alternative proposed by the applicant. The Inspector’s concern
was simply that clarity be provided in the emerging Local Plan as to where an

Page 38

alternative leisure centre could be provided that would enable the release of the
existing site for residential development and ensure the facility’s deliverability.
14.31 The proposed development will make efficient use of an accessible and sustainable
brownfield land whilst retaining and improving key public facilities. The proposed
development will enhance the range of facilities within the town centre, support activity
in the town centre by generating linked trips with other uses and will therefore
strengthen the vitality and viability of Epping town centre. The proposed leisure centre
is therefore likely to significantly improve the quality of existing community leisure
facilities within Epping and enhance the range of available facilities including through
the provision of a public swimming pool. This will be to the benefit of a significant crosssection of the local community. Although proposed to be operated as a community
leisure centre accessible to all, for the avoidance of doubt a legal obligation will secure
public access and community use of the centre.
14.32 The benefits of the new Sports Centre are as set out above and this proposal is a
deliverable scheme that enables a phased redevelopment allowing the existing leisure
centre to remain open during the construction.
14.33 The applicant considers that the provision of the leisure centre at Bakers Lane is
preferable given that the site is better suited to a large footprint building given the less
restrictive site layout as compared to St John’s, which includes scattered trees and
heritage constraints. Bakers Lane also offers the ability to be better integrated with
the primary shopping area with clear and legible linkages rather than set at a distance.
Finally, the site allocation at St John’s was made on the basis of the Epping Town
Council offices being incorporated into a development proposal. The current
application site at St John’s does not include this land further constraining the ability to
accommodate large format buildings.
14.34 The proposed leisure centre at Bakers Lane also enables the release of the Epping
Sports Centre site for residential development as the proposed by draft allocation
EPP.R5 of Policy P1 of the LPSV.
14.35 These material considerations on their own do not balance against the overriding need
to provide housing delivery. The loss of housing is to be given significant weight that
if not mitigated would result in the proposal being an unacceptable departure from the
LPSV. A mitigation however has been secured via the proposed development of the
Land at St John’s Road site for 184 new dwellings. This site is proposed to act as a
‘donor site’ site and will meet and exceed the shortfall by providing at least 112
dwellings (78 dwelling shortfall plus the 34 dwelling allocation on St John’s itself). The
Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out in this report include the placement of a
restriction on the implementation of the Bakers Lane development until such time as
substantial implementation on the Land at St John’s Road site for a residential
development of at least 112 dwellings.
14.36 The Bakers Lane Car Park currently provides 133 existing public car parking spaces.
The lost public car parking is to be replaced within the proposed Cottis Lane multi-

Page 39

storey car park which has a provision of 330 spaces. Six blue badge spaces shall also
be provided as part of the proposal for Bakers Lane. A total of 336 spaces would
therefore be provided and the site allocation development requirements that there
should be no net loss of parking spaces between the Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane
sites when considered together will be met.
14.37 To ensure that the replacement parking is secured prior to the closure of the existing
Bakers Lane Car Park the Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out for this site
includes an obligation requiring the completion of the Cottis Lane multi-storey car park
prior to closure of Bakers Lane Car Park and the proposed redevelopment. The Legal
Agreement shall also secure that the new leisure centre at Bakers Lane is not occupied
until the use of the existing Epping Sports Centre has ceased.
14.38 The existing Epping Sports Centre site provides 41 spaces for staff and visitors and
these will not be directly replaced with instead the proposed Cottis Lane multi-storey
available for users as a general public access car park. The site is identified as being
within Epping Town Centre which is considered a sustainable location with good public
transport accessibility and specific dedicated parking provision would not be expected.
14.39 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of the Bakers and Cottis Lane car parking spaces are all achieved
having regard to the proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road
sites and the proposal for Bakers Lane can therefore be considered compliant in terms
of the principle of use for the reasons explained above.
Cottis Lane
Planning Policy Context
14.40 Policy SP2 of the LPSV seeks to promote town centre development and regeneration,
and Policy E2 is supportive of proposals for retail, leisure, entertainment and office use
within town centres where they will maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of
those centres. The site is located within Epping Town Centre boundary within the
adopted plan and LPSV.
14.41 Within the ALP Policy CP1, CP6, E10, TC1 and ST1 support proposals that enhance
the vitality and viability of Town Centres as the key focus for commercial development.
14.42 The Cottis Lane Car Park currently provides 203 existing public car parking spaces
and the proposed development is for a multi storey car park (MSCP) of 330 spaces, 8
motorcycle spaces and 38 cycle spaces. These spaces combined with the 6 to be
provided at Bakers Lane provide a total of 336 spaces. This would therefore be in
accordance with the LPSV site allocation EPP.R6 development requirements that
there should be no net loss of parking spaces between the Bakers Lane and Cottis
Lane sites when considered together.

Page 40

14.43 The proposal to develop the Cottis Lane site for commercial development however is
a divergence from the LPSV site allocation EPP.R6 which identifies the site for
residential. This shortfall is also not made up via proposed development at Bakers
Lane as set out in the proposed site allocation. The proposal would therefore result in
a shortfall in the delivery of housing in the District which, in combination with Bakers
Lane, amounts to 78 dwellings.
14.44 Significant weight should be given to strategic policy requirement for new homes in
LPSV Policy SP 2 in accordance with the Plan’s spatial strategy and the ‘Vision for
Epping’ within LPSV Policy P 1. The proposal results in a combined shortfall in housing
delivery of 78 homes as proposed by the policies in the LPSV. Despite this forming a
small number of homes within the total housing need identified within the LPSV for the
plan period, the loss cannot easily be made up elsewhere given the Council’s current
housing delivery shortfall.
14.45 Given the departure from the site allocation other material considerations should be
considered in the balance regarding the planning merits of commercial town centre
use in this location.
Assessment of the Principle of Development
14.46 The site is located within Epping Town Centre boundary but outside of the defined
primary shopping area set out within the LPSV. For the purposes of retail development,
(now a component of Class E), the primary shopping area is considered the ‘Centre’.
The site is within 300m of its boundary and for the purposes of the retail sequential test
it would be considered an ‘edge of centre’ site. LPSV Policy E 2 (H) requires sequential
testing under guidance contained within the NPPF. Sequentially the site is the best
available site for such uses within Epping Town Centre, being in close proximity to the
core of the primary retail area with direct connections to form a natural extension to its
activity. The proposals will strengthen the commercial and leisure officer in the town
centre. The proposed cinema will provide a use not currently available within the town
centre and supported linked trips. As the Class E floorspace is below the 2,500 sq m
threshold set by Para 90 of the NPPF (in the absence of a local threshold), retail impact
assessment need not formally be considered.
14.47 There is potential for new retail provision to impact on the vitality and viability of the
Town Centre however, the proposal consists of a limited number of Class E units
allowing a range of uses and activities and offers the opportunity to support and
reinforce rather than undermine the existing retail core within the primary shopping
area.
14.48 In addition, a 846 sq m (GIA) (871 sq m GEA) Cinema (Sui Generis Use) is proposed.
The proposed cinema space has the potential to accommodate a three-screen
boutique operator with supporting café bar. This is a suitable use within a Town Centre
location.

Page 41

14.49 The applicant has indicated that this element of the scheme may be delivered at a later
stage dependant on market demand. A ‘meanwhile’ strategy has been detailed to
utilise this part of the site for interim landscaping and events space. Any interim use
of the area which in itself constitutes development would need to be subject to a
separate planning application at a future date. A planning condition has been
proposed setting a long stop commencement date for the cinema of 5 years from
commencement of the development or that by this time an alternative proposed
landscape or development scheme for the area is submitted and if approved
implemented.
14.50 Given that the proposal is to bring forward for town centre commercial uses previously
identified as being accommodated on the Land at St John’s Road site it will be
necessarily to seek that the Land at St John’s Road is not subsequently developed for
further commercial development given this could result in excess provision which could
undermine the vitality and viability of the town centre. A planning obligation will control
this.
14.51 The site is closer to the core of the town centre with access to the High Street a short
distance via the pedestrianised lane adjacent to the M&S store. The St John’s Road
site is approximately 400m to the same point and is separated by residential properties,
St John’s Road and any facilities would have to be access within the centre of the site.
Cottis Lane is less likely to pose a competing town centre destination. The level or
nature of commercial floorspace envisaged within the St John’s Road site has not
previously been quantified so a direct comparison can’t be made. The current proposal
however has responded to likely market demand and provides flexible space that can
be used for a variety of purposes.
14.52 It offers better design arrangements to have commercial flanking MSCP as opposed
to a mixed car park residential design. The commercial use also enables the
development to be public facing with communal public realm as opposed to a
residential development that would contain private amenity space and limited options
for pedestrian connectivity.
14.53 These material considerations on their own do not balance against the overriding need
to meet housing delivery objectives. The loss of housing is to be given significant
weight that if not mitigated would result in the proposal being an unacceptable
departure from the LPSV. A mitigation however has been secured via the proposed
development of the Land at St John’s Road site for 182 new dwellings. This site is
proposed to act as a ‘donor site’ site and will meet and exceed the shortfall by providing
at least 112 dwellings (78 dwelling shortfall plus the 34 dwelling allocation on St John’s
itself). The Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out in this report include the
placement of a restriction on the implementation of the Bakers Lane development until
such time as substantial implementation on the Land at St John’s Road site for a
residential development of at least 112 dwellings. The restriction is placed on Bakers
Lane rather than Cottis Lane to ensure that the early delivery of the proposed MSCP
which unlocks the sequence of development is not stymied.

Page 42

14.54 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of car parking spaces are all achieved having regard to the
proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road sites and the proposal
for Cottis Lane can therefore be considered compliant in terms of the principle of use
for the reasons explained above.
Land at St John’s Road
14.55 The St John’s Road site currently comprises former school buildings (Use Class F1(a))
and a Council depot (Use Class B8). The site also includes two semi-detached
cottages that will be retained and refurbished. The site was vacated in 2010 following
the amalgamation of two schools and declared surplus to service requirements and
with Essex County Council obtaining the necessary approvals from the DfE for a site
disposal to take place.
14.56 The former school buildings have been vacant for a substantial period and the EFDC
depot is surplus to operational requirements. The site has been allocated within LPSV
for redevelopment supporting a change of these existing uses in principle.
14.57 Site allocation EPP.R4 identifies the site for mixed use including residential
(approximate net capacity of 34 dwellings) and appropriate town centre uses, including
a leisure centre. None of the town centre or other non-residential uses are proposed
to be provided as part of the development, with Cottis Lane instead accommodating
commercial town centre uses and Bakers Lane accommodating a replacement leisure
centre.
14.58 The proposed development is wholly residential comprising 182 new residential units
and inclusive of an ancillary residential amenity space within the former Cookery
Building. ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would support residential
development in this location. This is not a full departure from the LPSV given that
residential forms part of the site's allocation. The site allocation as described in the
MMs does not set out specific uses or the quantum of floorspace anticipated other than
it should include a leisure centre. The current application does not include the full
extent of the site allocation given that Epping Town Council are retaining their
hall/offices. This significantly reduces the developable site area and reduces the
options to accommodate sufficient large format leisure development. For the reasons
set out within the Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane sections above, the proposed
alternative arrangement of town centre development is found acceptable. The intent
of providing capacity for town centre commercial uses on the St John’s Road site is
therefore met by the provision made elsewhere.
14.59 The LPSV proposals map also includes a secondary retail frontage along St John’s
Road in anticipation of future commercial development on this site. LPSV Policy E 2
states that within a secondary retail frontage uses must encourage active shopfronts,
attract a high footfall and maintain viability and vitality of the town. This policy is not
strictly applicable to the site at the current time as a secondary retail frontage has not

Page 43

physically been established and a departure from any commercial uses in this location
is proposed.
14.60 This is a highly sustainable town centre location suitable in principle for residential
development of this nature.
14.61 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of car parking spaces are all achieved having regard to the
proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road sites and the proposal
for St John's Road can therefore be considered compliant in terms of the principle of
use for the reasons explained above.
Sports Centre, Hemnall Street
14.62 The existing use of the site comprises Epping Sports Centre a 2,164 sq m GIA building
within Class E(d). The site allocation EPP.R5 within the LPSV identifies the site for
residential development on the basis that a replacement sports centre is provided.
14.63 The site allocation EPP.R5 specifically requires that ‘Closure of the existing Epping
Sports Centre and the re-development of this site should not take place until a suitable
replacement sports/leisure facility is delivered and is operational.’
14.64 The principle of the loss of the existing leisure centre is acceptable only given that a
replacement is secured and that this is provided prior to the redevelopment of the
current centre to ensure that the public have uninterrupted access to sports/leisure
facilities in the local area.
14.65 ALP Policy CF12 concerns the retention of community facilities and supports
appropriate relocation. As described in detail in the Bakers Lane section above the
replacement centre provides enhanced facilities within an accessible town centre
location and as such the relocation of the centre is acceptable in principle.
14.66 As noted above, the applicant proposes to deliver the replacement leisure facility at
the Baker's Lane Site. The Legal Agreement Heads of Terms for this site shall secure
that the planning permission for redevelopment of the Sports Centre at Hemnall Street
shall not commence until the new leisure centre at Baker's Lane is operational.
14.67 The application as amended proposes 40 units as compared to the approximate 42
identified within the LPSV allocation. This target figure is approximate only and is
dependant on the size mix proposed and detailed design. The number of units
although an under provision is felt appropriate in principle and is driven by a suitable
detailed design approach.
14.68 The proposed development of the Hemnall Street site is fully residential in keeping with
the LPSV site allocation. ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would support
residential development in this location.

Page 44

14.69 Given that this development cannot procced until the replacement leisure centre is
provided on Bakers Lane, a five year implementation condition is proposed rather than
the standard three year period. This will enable sufficient time for the completion and
opening of the Bakers Lane leisure centre prior to commencement. The Bakers Lane
site is itself reliant on the completion of the Cottis Lane MSCP to enable its current car
park use to be closed and development to commence.
Land and Part of Civic Offices
14.70 The existing site comprises the Condor Building of the Civic Offices, 2,561 sq m GIA
Existing office Class E (g) (i) and the Civic Offices staff car park. Both are surplus to
EFDC requirements and have been identified as a site allocation EPP.R8 for
redevelopment within the LPSV.
14.71 ALP Policy E4A concerns protection of employment sites but notes that housing on
redundant employment land will be regarded favourably. The site has been identified
as surplus to requirements by EFDC and was subject to the LPSV site selection
process where it was allocated for future residential use.
14.72 The proposed development is residential in keeping with the site allocation EPP.R8.
14.73 Alongside the LPSV site allocation, ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would
support residential development in this location.
14.74 The staff car park closing has been aligned with the Council’s office reconfiguration
that has recently been completed within the retained Civic Offices and the introduction
of remote and flexible working strategies. Staff accessing the Council offices are being
supported to transition to more sustainable modes of travel with the Council preparing
a travel plan and establishing car sharing systems for example.
14.75 The draft site allocation seeks that a development brief is developed for the site,
however the LPA has accepted that given greater certainty is now available regarding
the strategy of EFDC in the downsizing of its estate and that the building is now vacant
that a full planning application is suitable at this time without a development brief. This
application was also supported by a Town Centre Strategy developed by the applicant
across the five sites and which was subject to public and Quality Review Panel
consultation. Extensive pre-application engagement also enabled the strategy for the
site to be suitably tested and examined. The planning application contained all the
information that would otherwise have been included with a development brief.
14.76 The civic offices 26 space public car park is not affected by the proposals.
14.77 The ‘Design’ section of the EPP.R8 allocation text also states that a development brief
should consider opportunities to introduce town centre/ retail frontage at ground floor
fronting the High Street. The current application does not include the element of the
site allocation fronting the High Street which is to be retained as part of the Civic Offices
and it is therefore not relevant to consider as part of the current application.

Page 45

Principle of Development Conclusion
14.78 The identified divergence from the LPSV site allocations has been mitigated via legal
obligations which tie the sites together and ensure that collectively the five site deliver
the objectives of the LPSV and that housing delivery is suitably secured.
14.79 The reconfiguration of the sites enables an overall housing delivery number of 267
dwellings as compared to 199 identified in the LPSV. This is not to the detriment of
the other uses, with the developments securing in particular the required level of town
centre car parking and a high quality leisure centre. Equally the town centre
commercial uses to be provided on Cottis Lane are well conceived and reinforce and
enhance the existing town centre offer.
14.80 The developments are to be phased to enable the sequential delivery of the required
facilities to enable wider development. The first phase will see the MSCP constructed
on Cottis Lane and then the commencement of residential development on St John's
Road, thus releasing Bakers Lane for redevelopment. The new Epping Leisure Centre
can then be constructed on Bakers Lane releasing the existing Sports Centre site for
residential development.
14.81 On the basis of this assessment, whilst some of the developments do not conform with
their specific site allocations, it is considered that the proposed developments when
considered in the round are compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan
and achieve the objectives of the relevant LPSV site allocations when taken as a
whole.
15.

Impact on the Epping Forest SAC
Background

15.1

Epping Forest is designated as a Special Area of Conservation (SAC), which limits
what can be done within the forest, as well as having impacts upon all proposed
development in its vicinity. The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017, as amended by the 2019 EU Exit Regulations (the Habitats Regulations)
transpose the EU Habitats Directive into UK law and require a decision-maker to
consider the effects of proposed projects on European protected sites through
undertaking a habitats regulations assessment (HRA).
Under the Habitats
Regulations, the Epping Forest SAC (EFSAC) is a European site. If the result of an
initial screening assessment is that a project is likely to have significant effects on a
European site, a full assessment of those effects must be carried out. Regulation 63
of the Habitats Regulations requires the competent authority to conduct an 'appropriate
assessment' ("AA") if concluding that the project is 'likely to have a significant effect'
on a European site, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects. Where
an appropriate assessment is conducted, then Regulation 63(5) applies, such that "the
competent authority may agree to the plan or project only after having ascertained that
it will not adversely affect the integrity of the European site".

Page 46

15.2

Accordingly, the Council has a legal duty as the ‘competent authority’ under the
Habitats Regulations to protect the EFSAC from the effects of development (both
individually and in combination) and in doing so, must have regard to the
representations of Natural England (NE).

15.3

The LPSV is supported by a Habitats Regulation Assessment dated June 2021 (“the
HRA 2021”) (EB211A). Two specific ‘pathways of impact’ relating to new development
within the District have been identified as being likely to have a significant effect on the
integrity of the EFSAC. Firstly, as a result of increased levels of visitors using the
EFSAC for recreation arising from new development (referred to as "recreational
pressure"). Secondly, damage to the health of the protected habitats and species of
flora within the EFSAC from atmospheric pollution generated by motor vehicles
(referred to as "air quality") caused primarily by motor vehicles using roads within 200m
of the EFSAC.

15.4

Policies DM 2 and DM 22 of the LPSV and Policy NC1 of the Adopted Local Plan
(1998) and adopted Alterations (2006) (of which some of the policies remain in place)
provide the policy context for dealing with the effect of development on the integrity of
the EFSAC outlined above. The Main Modifications July 2021 version of DM 2 sets out
that the Council requires all new development to ensure no harm is caused to the
integrity of the EFSAC and identifies its strategic solutions to ensure no such harm.
These are as follows:

15.5

(i)

An Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy (APMS)

(ii)

An Approach to managing recreational pressure on the EFSAC (SAMM
Strategy) and;

(iii)

A Green Infrastructure Strategy (GI)

The Interim Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy (APMS) dated December 2020,
(ED126/EB212) was adopted by the Full Council on 8 February 2021 following
agreement with Natural England. The APMS identifies a number of mitigation
measures, some of which are required to be delivered as part of individual planning
applications alongside strategic initiatives and monitoring requirements, and whose
implementation will require a financial contribution to be secured by individual
developments. The APMS therefore provides the mechanism by which the Council
can arrive at a conclusion of no adverse effect on the EFSAC as a result of planned
development. The APMS sets out that all development which would give rise to a net
increase in average annual daily traffic (AADT) will be required to be mitigated in
accordance with the measures set out within the APMS. The SAMM strategy requires
new development within the EFSAC zone of influence to make a financial contribution
towards the implementation of the SAMM strategy and finally the GI strategy sets out
practical interventions which are necessary to ensure recreational pressure is suitably
mitigated, these include the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace
(SANGs) on strategic sites as well as improvements to the accessibility and quality of
existing Green and Blue infrastructure assets.

Page 47

15.6

Policy DM 22 sets out that applications for planning permission will be required to
identify and deliver necessary mitigation measures, including monitoring mechanisms
for the EFSAC before consent is given. This will include, where appropriate, measures
identified in the most up to date APMS.

15.7

Policy DM 22 also sets out that, where an application for planning permission has been
made on a site not proposed for allocation in the Local Plan, or where the potential
change in traffic movements have not been accounted for in the strategic modelling
undertaken by the Council, an air quality assessment will need to be submitted which
identifies the potential impact of the development in combination with existing baseline
pollution and other plans and projects. This assessment must identify necessary
mitigation measures that will address any unexpected deterioration in air quality as a
result of the development together with any necessary financial contributions and
monitoring.

15.8

The HRA 2021 undertook an Appropriate Assessment of the planned development
proposed within the emerging Local Plan, to consider its effect on the EFSAC. The
HRA 2021 concluded that, subject to securing urbanisation/recreational pressure and
air quality mitigation measures as noted in the strategies in policy DM 2 of the Local
Plan, the adoption of the Local Plan will have no adverse effect on the EFSAC.

15.9

This report will now consider these issues in turn in the context of the specific
development proposals in these applications.
Recreational Pressure

15.10 With regards to recreational pressure, any potential adverse effect on the integrity of
the EFSAC only arises from residential development. Consequently the development
proposals on Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane can be screened out as having no adverse
impact.
15.11 For the remaining development proposals on Land at St John’s Road, Epping Sports
Centre and Land and part of Civic Offices which propose residential development,
each proposal will be required to pay a financial contribution of £352 per dwelling as
noted in the SAMM strategy.
15.12 This would amount to £64,064 for St John’s Road (182 new homes), £14,080 for
Epping Sports Centre (40 new homes) and £15,840 for Land and part of Civic Offices
(45 new homes). These financial contributions will be secured through a Legal
Agreement and subject to being secured, it can be concluded beyond a reasonable
scientific doubt that there will be no harm to the integrity of the EFSAC as a result of
recreational pressure.
Atmospheric pollution
15.13 As noted above, the HRA 2021 advises that without appropriate mitigation measures,
new development proposed in the District would cause harm to the integrity of the

Page 48

EFSAC as a result of atmospheric pollution. Evidence has shown that a key contributor
to atmospheric pollution arises from vehicles using roads in close proximity to the
EFSAC. Figure 1 below is an extract taken from the HRA 2021 (page 180) and
illustrates these key roads and junctions:

Figure 1
15.14 Paragraphs 1.1 of the APMS and paragraphs 4.18 and 4.20 of the emerging Local
Plan also identifies that the EFSAC is currently in an unfavourable condition in
ecological terms. The baseline worst case ammonia concentration at the roadside is
3.5 micrograms per cubic metre whereas the critical level for protecting sites with the
special interest features of the EFSAC is 1 microgram per cubic metre. Any further
traffic through the EFSAC as a result of new development will contribute cumulatively
to worsening this situation without appropriate mitigation.
15.15 In response to this issue, in collaboration with NE, the Council has endorsed the APMS
as the strategic solution to the identified issue and as noted above the HRA 2021
concludes that the development of the Local Plan will not cause harm to the integrity
of the EFSAC if the mitigation measures are delivered.
15.16 Section 5.3 of the APMS sets out what needs to be achieved in order for the competent
authority to conclude there will be no adverse impact on the EFSAC as a result of Local
Plan growth, that:


A minimum 10% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2025, in other words,
4-5% of the Epping Forest SAC vehicle fleet to be ULEVs by this year;

Page 49



The introduction of a Clean Air Zone from 2025;



A minimum 20% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2029; (8-10% of the
Epping Forest vehicle fleet to be ULEVs by this year); and



A minimum 30% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2033 (12-15% of the
Epping Forest SAC vehicle fleet being ULEVs by this year)

15.17 To achieve the minimum 30% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2033, paragraph
5.5 of the APMS identifies a number of measures which will need to be delivered by
new development in the District:


a) ensuring that the necessary infrastructure for ULEVs is widely and easily
available across the District;



b) incentivising the replacement of petrol cars with ULEVs, targeted at people
who live in areas from which the most frequent trips on roads in close proximity
to the Epping Forest SAC arise; and



c) Undertaking awareness-raising of both the issue of air pollution and the
things that residents and businesses can do to contribute to improving air
quality.

15.18 The measures noted above and the others identified in the APMS, were informed by a
traffic model which the Council undertook to accompany the emerging Local Plan. The
modelling took into account the levels of AADT that would arise from the entirety of the
development proposed across the District. Given the status of the EFSAC as noted
above, AADT is the appropriate method for understanding the potential impacts of
atmospheric pollution on the EFSAC.
15.19 In the context of these applications, all five sites are proposed for allocation in the
emerging Local Plan and as such, all of the sites have been considered through the
traffic and air quality modelling undertaken for the HRA 2021. Since these sites are all
being considered together in the round and would be linked through a Legal
Agreements, it is appropriate to consider them together for the purposes of the
potential impact on the EFSAC.
15.20 The HRA 2021 Traffic model undertaken for each of these sites is based on the
proposed allocation as follows:


EPP.R4 Land at St John’s Road – approximately 34 homes and appropriate
mixed uses



EPP.R5 Epping Sports Centre – approximately 42 homes



EPP.R6 Cottis Lane Car park – approximately 47 homes

Page 50



EPP.R7 Bakers Lane Car Park – approximately 31 homes



EPP.R8 Land and part of Civic Offices – approximately 44 homes

15.21 Across the entirety of these allocations therefore, the HRA 2021 traffic model assumed
a total of 198 dwellings would be delivered. The planning applications currently being
considered vary to differing degrees from the LPSV site allocations noted above, as
follows.


EPP R4 – Land at St John’s Road – Erection of 182 new dwellings



EPP.R5 – Epping Sports Centre – Erection of 40 new dwellings



EPP.R6 Cottis Lane Car Park – Erection of new multi storey car park, new
cinema, commercial floor space and replacement public toilets



EPP.R7 Bakers Lane Car Park – Erection of new leisure centre, including
swimming pool, gymnasium, sports hall, squash courts and new studio
together with disabled parking provision.



EPP.R8 Land and part of Civic Offices – Erection of 45 new dwellings

15.22 The applications now total 267 new homes across all of the sites as well as the erection
of the multi storey car park, cinema, commercial floor space, swimming pool,
gymnasium, sports hall, squash courts and studio, all of which are high traffic
generators. The traffic model which informed the HRA 2021 did not assume either the
number of proposed dwellings across the sites, nor the proposed distribution of any of
the non-residential uses proposed. The leisure centre however is a reprovision of an
existing centre albeit with an expanded offer and the multi storey car park provides a
replacement for existing parking spaces. A legal obligation will control the opening and
closing of the leisure centres to ensure only one is open at one time.
15.23 Notwithstanding, there is a difference between the traffic generation assumed through
the LPSV allocations and the development proposals advanced through these
applications, in an unmitigated scenario. This is significant since the APMS was
endorsed on the basis that it would address the increase in traffic due to the allocated
sites in the LPSV and a relatively small allowance of windfall sites.
15.24 As noted in paragraph above, Policy DM 22 states that any development proposals
which propose a change in traffic movements to what has been modelled in the LPSV
need to be justified through the submission of an air quality assessment taking into the
account other plans and projects and if necessary including further and bespoke
mitigation measures. The measures put forward will be required to be precise,
enforceable (both legally and in practice), quantifiable and effective beyond reasonable
scientific doubt.

Page 51

15.25 The first stage of the assessment is to consider the levels of AADT that the proposed
development schemes would create on the key routes and junctions as noted in figure
1 above, compared to what was modelled for in the Local Plan traffic work. To ensure
consistency, this traffic information must then be run though the Local Plan air quality
model to get a comparison of modelled vehicle trips through the EFSAC.
15.26 Policy T 1 of the LPSV requires that any development which proposes vehicle parking
spaces must ensure that those spaces have direct access to an electric charging point.
The provision of electric charging points are also noted in the APMS as a required
mitigation measure. (Appendix 3, page 35)
15.27 As part of the development proposals, the applicant has made a commitment to the
delivery of electric charging points. Table 1 below sets out this commitment:

Table 1
15.28 Other than Cottis Lane, each of the sites propose 100% active provision. The delivery
of such a substantial amount of active provision of electric charging infrastructure is an
important step to support the change in the traffic fleet from petrol and diesel cars to
electric. Whilst Cottis Lane does not propose 100% of active provision from the outset,
the 15% which will be provided will be for EV only parking spaces, preventing their use
by non-electric vehicles. In addition a Travel Plan for the Leisure Centre will seek to
raise awareness of the electric charging facilities available. This shall be secured by
way of a Legal Agreement.
15.29 In addition to the provision of necessary electric charging infrastructure, the applicant
has also committed to the delivery of an advertising campaign as well as financial
contributions of £335 per dwelling towards the EFSCA Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy
as required by the APMS. This would amount to £60,970 for St John’s Road (182 new
homes), £13,400 for Epping Sports Centre (40 new homes) and £15,075 for Land and
part of Civic Offices (45 new homes). Such contributions shall be secured by way of
Legal Agreements.
15.30 Taken together, these mitigation measures have been factored into the traffic
modelling undertaken for the individual applications and cumulatively have resulted in
a 4% reduction of cars in the level of AADT assumed as a result. The Council's
transport specialists have confirmed that based on the mitigation measures above, this

Page 52

assumed reduction is precautionary and therefore represents a robust approach to
considering the new level of AADT created.
15.31 Figure 2 below illustrates the results of the modelling exercise on the key routes and
junctions through the EFSAC which are noted in figure 1 above. The results of these
are then compared against the level of AADT assumed through the Local Plan traffic
modelling to result in a net change between the two:

Five Sites Combined + EV Provision
Local Plan Traffic and Air Quality Model

Application
(Net)

Net change

Link

A

B1393 Epping Road

63

50

-13

B

B172

0

0

0

C

A121 Golding’s Hill

10

-1

-11

D

A104 Epping New Rd

25

12

-13

E

Wake Road

0

6

6

F

A121 Woodridden Hill

28

32

4

G

Woodgreen Rd

0

0

0

H

Forest Side

0

0

0

I

A121 Honey Ln

28

32

4

J

Earl’s Path

0

0

0

K

A104 Epping New Rd (S)

25

12

-13

L

Cross Roads

0

0

0

M

High Beech

0

6

6

Page 53

N

Avey Ln

0

5

5

O

A112 Sewardstone Rd (S)

0

0

0

P

A112 Sewardstone Rd (N)

0

0

0

Figure 2
15.32 The results show that when all five sites are considered together, with the proposed
mitigation measures, there is a net increase in AADT movements on certain road links
and a reduction on others. These AADT numbers have been considered through the
Local Plan air quality model for the EFSAC as a new scenario, so that a direct
comparison can be made with the modelling undertaken for the APMS.
15.33 The results of the modelling show that the biggest difference in terms of Nitrogen Oxide
deposition is an increase at the roadside of 0.03ugm-3 at transects E1 (Wake Arms
Roundabout) and O (Honey Lane East). This magnitude of increase is matched by
similar magnitude of reductions at the roadside of other transects in the EFSAC. The
maximum change in nitrogen deposition is a nominal 0.01 kgN/hr/yr and the results
show that there will be no difference in ammonia concentrations from what was
modelled for the HRA 2021. The change in pollutant load is therefore sufficiently small
that the APMS will not be undermined by the change in the development proposed as
opposed to the original allocations.
15.34 The findings of this assessment are predicated on the complete delivery of the
proposed development in the form proposed across the five sites. An alternative
delivery strategy that left some sites in their existing use would result in a different
AADT and impact on the EFSAC that may not be acceptable. On this basis the Legal
Agreement associated with each site will ensure that implementation is controlled such
that existing traffic generating uses will cease.
Conclusion relating to the EFSAC
15.35 Subject to the suitable delivery of the required parking provision on each of the five
development sites as noted in table 1 as well as a suitable Travel Plan to raise
awareness of the electric charging facilities available and the payment of the necessary
financial contributions as noted in sections above, the Council as the competent
authority can conclude beyond a reasonable scientific doubt that the development
proposed by each of these applications will not lead to an adverse effect on the integrity
of the EFSAC.
15.36 As a result of the analysis above, the proposal is demonstrably compliant with the
requirements of policy NC1 of the Adopted Local Plan, with Policies DM 2 and DM 22
of the emerging Local Plan and with the requirements of the Habitats Regulations.

Page 54

16.

Design

16.1

The LPSV is clear that the Council is committed to ensuring that all new development
in the District is of the highest design standards in their broadest sense. Good design
should ensure that new forms of development function well within the surrounding area
and result in buildings which are durable and adaptable within their context.

16.2

The LPSV emphasises that good design is not solely a visual concern, but actually has
social and environmental elements such as the potential to create high quality public
realm, improving quality of life for local communities and contributing to the
sustainability agenda.

16.3

This approach follows the NPPF requirement for Local Planning Authorities to require
new forms of development to recognise local context and set out the quality of
development expected within the District.

16.4

Policy SP 3 sets out that the Council seeks to ensure that development proposals
accord with exceptional place making principles. Place making is a holistic approach
to planning which brings together all component parts of a successful place.

16.5

Policy DM 9 sets out the policy requirements based on the overall design approach
contained within the LPSV.

16.6

Similarly to Policy DM 9 of the LPSV, Saved Policy DBE1 of the ALP requires that new
development is of high quality design. Development proposals are expected to be
respectful to their setting, adopt a significance in the street scene which is appropriate
to their function and use high quality external materials. In addition to high quality
design standards required, Policy CP2 of the ALP seeks to preserve the rural
environment, including landscape character and protecting the countryside.

16.7

In order to achieve the outstanding design as required by the LPSV, the Council has
established a Quality Review Panel (QRP) to act as a ‘critical friend’ to both the Council
and applicants.

16.8

The QRP consists of an independent, multidisciplinary group of experts who are
suitably trained and highly experienced individuals in their fields and the Panel has the
overarching ambition of assisting the Council with ensuring that new development
achieves the high-quality design as required by the LPSV.

16.9

The proposed development on the application site has been the subject of review by
the QRP. The comments received following each review has been taken into account
when considering the various elements of design in the following section.
Layout, Access and Connectivity

16.10 Policy SP 3 of the LPSV notes that development proposals must demonstrate strong
vision, leadership and community engagement (i), extend, enhance and reinforce
strategic green infrastructure and public open space (vii), ensure positive integration

Page 55

and connection with adjacent rural and urban communities thereby contributing to the
revitalisation of existing neighbourhoods (x) provide for sustainable movement and
access to local and strategic destinations (including rail, bus and pedestrians, cycling)
(xiii).
16.11 Policy DM 9 notes that development proposals must have regard to the framework of
routes and spaces connecting locally and more widely (Part D (iii)).
16.12 Policy T 1 notes that development proposals will be permitted where they provide safe,
suitable and convenient access for all potential users (Part C (i)) and provide a
coordinated and comprehensive scheme that does not prejudice future provision of
transport.
16.13 The proposed leisure centre building occupies the majority of the site footprint with
public realm provided to the frontage and a servicing access to the rear. This is a
positive site arrangement for a town centre site with surface parking limited to the 6
blue badge spaces adjacent to the entrance. The massing will be concentrated on the
south eastern edge of the site. This is to provide a strong edge to the key corner at the
junction of Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane and shifting away from the more sensitive
northern and western residential boundaries, the service area to the north of the site
will create a buffer here between the leisure centre and these dwellings.
16.14 The main entrance has been orientated towards the junction of Bakers Lane and Cottis
Lane providing visibility to the town centre and encouraging pedestrian connectivity.
Facilities within the centre with glazed frontages such as the entrance, pool hall and
fitness suite have also been placed on this edge to provide visual interest. The public
realm to the front of the centre enables the option for outdoor café seating and provides
for public benches.
16.15 The applicant has provided a scheme of public realm and Highway Works to improve
the public realm and connectivity on Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane. This provides for
improved street surfacing materials, landscaping and widens pedestrian footways,
providing a more traffic calmed environment. The proposal also includes the
pedestrianisation of the section of Cottis Lane that forms an alley to High Street,
providing a more positive environment for the connection to High Street. This has
been subject to consultation with ECC as highway authority inclusive of a Road Safety
Audit Stage 1 and found to be acceptable in principle. A planning condition will secure
the detailed design and implementation of these works via a Highway Agreement with
ECC. The implementation of works to amend the public highway and access will be
subject to Transport Regulation Orders (TRO’s) which will be consulted upon by ECC
in due course. The works are likely to be implemented in phases alongside the two
developments and a final split of delivery triggers can be agreed via the discharge of
condition.
16.16 External cycle storage is provided at the main entrance with a larger covered cycle hub
located adjacent to the parking. Six blue badge parking spaces are provided on site
and a coach drop off zone is indicated adjacent the entrance as part of the proposed

Page 56

Highway Works. A separate service route is provided to the rear of the centre, utilising
the sloping topography of the site to access the basement plant at grade.
16.17 The centre comprises three floors, each separated by uses:


Basement level accommodates team sports – squash and sports hall with team
changing facilities.



Ground floor level accommodates wet leisure – 25m x 6 lane main pool and
learner pool with Changing Village, plus entrance and reception facilities.



First floor level accommodates dry leisure – 2no. flexible studio spaces, cycle
studio, main fitness suite and members changing facilities, plus spectator view
to the main pool.

16.18 Sports England provided detailed design comments on the centres internal layout in
collaboration with sporting bodies such as Swim England and British Gymnastics.
Sports England are supportive of the proposals but requested a planning condition to
enable the detailed specification of facilities to be confirmed as detailed design is
finalised.
16.19 The centre is well orientated and laid out to provide good access to a range of users,
promote its activities and form a component part of the town centre, reinforcing its
viability and vitality. The facilities provide an enhanced provision as compared to the
existing Epping Sports Centre and meet the identified need for swimming facilities with
Epping.
Scale, form and massing
16.20 Policy DM9 of the LPSV notes that developments must relate positively to their context
(Part A (i)), having regard to the form, scale and massing prevailing around the site
(Part D (ii)), active frontages (Part D (v)), and respond to natural features of the site
and surroundings (Part E). Policy DM 9 also notes that proposals should not result in
an over-bearing or overly enclosed form of development (Part H (iii)) and consider
microclimate conditions (Part H (iv)).
16.21 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF notes that development should be visually attractive as a
result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping, and be
sympathetic to the surrounding built environment and landscape character.
16.22 The scale and form of the centre is driven by the requirements of the facilities contained
within. The centre incorporates both a swimming pool and a sports hall which are large
format spaces alongside a number of other spaces and facilities. The proposed design
utilises the natural fall of the site to facilitate a basement level allowing the sports hall
to be set below ground level and thus minimising the height of this element of the
building in close proximity to residential properties.

Page 57

16.23 At the Bakers Lane frontage the building is lower in height than the existing Falconry
Court office buildings opposite and sits well in the streetscape. The first floor is set in
from the western boundary with St John’s Road properties and at the northern
boundary the building is set away allowing for boundary treatment and the service
access.
Landscaping
16.24 Policy DM 5 of the LPSV seeks that developments retain and enhance existing green
infrastructure including trees, use native species and enhance the public realm through
the provision of trees.
16.25 Policy DM 9 Part A (v) notes developments must incorporate design measures to
reduce social exclusion, the risk of crime, and the fear of crime. Policy DM 9 part A
also notes proposals should relate positively to their context, and Policy DM 21 notes
that the local environmental impacts, including light pollution, of all development
proposals after mitigation must not lead to unacceptable impacts on the health, safety,
wellbeing and amenity of existing and new users or occupiers of the development site,
or the surrounding land.
16.26 There is minimal landscaping on the site as result of the footprint of the building
occupying the majority of the site. This is mitigated through the use of green/biodiverse
roofs over the majority of the building. New tree, shrub and hedgerow planting is
proposed along the northern and western boundaries adjacent to residential
properties. A strong landscaped element is provided at the front of the building,
softening the frontage and providing some continuity of the current verdant condition
of the Cottis Lane site boundary.
16.27 The Trees and Landscape Team have reviewed the application and submitted
arboricultural statement and have raised objection to the loss an existing tree, the
Category B Sycamore on the embankment at the northern extent of the site. The
retention of this tree is not compatible with the proposed scheme which relies on a new
service access road and associated retaining walls. An altered site arrangement to
accommodate the tree would compromise the ability of the centre as proposed to
provide the full range of facilities and provide an operationally viable layout.
16.28 10 trees in total are proposed to be removed within the site boundary and as part of
wider Highway Works and with 16 new trees proposed within the site. Additional street
trees are proposed outside of the application boundary as part of the Highway Works.
The proposals overall offer a net biodiversity gain given that the site is currently
majority hardstanding. The loss of an existing tree and existing landscaping is felt
acceptable given the benefits of the scheme.
Appearance and materials
16.29 Policy DM 9 of the LPSV notes that development proposals are required to incorporate
sustainable design and construction principles (Part A (iii)) and relate positively to their

Page 58

locality having regard to distinctive local architectural styles, detailing and materials
(Part D (vi)).
16.30 The NPPF paragraph 130 notes that developments must be visually attractive as a
result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping, establish
a strong sense of place, and be sympathetic to local character and history while not
preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change.
16.31 The site sits between the town centre conservation area and residential areas with the
existing character predominately defined by the existing open car parks. The main
built presence is that of the modern office buildings of Falconry Court. The combined
Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane development have the potential to establish a new
character for this transitional area.
16.32 Detailed liaison was undertaken during determination on the architectural treatment of
the main building frontage to ensure that it successfully related to the street and its
setting. This resulted in some simplification of materiality and realignment of key
elements to achieve a more successful design. The key materials are linear textured
brick with metal fins over glazing, assisting with privacy and overheating.
16.33 The entrance was also rationalised introducing greater soft landscaping, a defined café
seating area and well-defined entrance doorway. An additional window was also
introduced to the first floor cycle studio to address an inactive and dominant frontage
as viewed from St John’s Road.
16.34 As a result of these amendments the architecture and proposed materiality are
supported and provide a well resolved solution that responds to existing context and
supports the establishment of a new quarter to the town centre. The design has been
driven by these objectives not simply the operational requirements of a leisure centre.
17.

Impacts on neighbouring amenity

17.1

Paragraph H of Policy DM 9 requires development proposals to take account of the
privacy and amenity of the users of a development as well as that of neighbours. Policy
DBE9 of the ALP contains the same objective by seeking to safeguard the living
conditions of neighbouring properties. Paragraph H of Policy DM 9 is further split into
subsections (i – iv) and the report will consider these issues in turn.

17.2

When considering privacy and amenity issues in relation to existing residents, it is
important to understand the context of the application site in relation to the nearest of
these neighbours.
Sunlight and Daylight

17.3

Part (i) of paragraph H seeks to ensure that adequate levels of sunlight/daylight and
open aspects are provided to the users of the development and nearby neighbouring
residents.

Page 59

17.4

The application was accompanied with a Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing
Report (Dec 2020) prepared by Avison Young (AY) on behalf of the applicant. Officers
have reviewed the report and assessed the application.

17.5

It is noted that the rear of a number of properties on St Johns Road are in close
proximity to the application site to the west, as are those adjacent in Albany Court to
the north. The bulk and massing of the proposed leisure centre is stepped back from
the properties on St Johns Road thus attempting to minimise any loss of daylight or
sunlight. The properties on Albany Court are located to the north of the application site
and are set back from the proposed leisure centre by the proposed service area. No 1
Albany Court is likely to be most impacted by the proposed development with regard
to the loss of daylight and sunlight. However such impacts are not considered to be
detrimentally harmful to the amenity of the occupants of this property given that they
will still receive sufficient access to daylight and sunlight. The properties on St Johns
Road are likely only to experience loss of sunlight in the early part of the day. Any loss
of daylight is considered to be acceptable noting the set back from the proposed
development from the application site boundary which abuts the rear of these
properties.

17.6

The submitted Daylight, Sunlight, Overshadowing Report (Dec 2020) confirms that
97% of neighbouring windows (16a-30 St Johns Road, Cottis Court, 1-2 Albany Court
and Bakers Villas) and 100% of neighbouring rooms satisfying BRE guidelines for
daylight. The only exception are two secondary windows that are situated very close
to the site boundary and set at a lower level. The windows concerned are on the side
south facing elevation of 1 Albany Court and either serve circulation space or form part
of a dual aspect room with a main window facing the garden.

17.7

It is noted that as a future date Falconry Court could be converted to residential use
given the recent Prior Approval, however it is currently in office use and does not form
part of the assessment undertaken by the applicant.

17.8

Key amenity spaces of neighbouring properties also pass the 2-hr sun on ground test.

17.9

Given these results, there will be no discernible impact on the daylight or sunlight
received by the neighbouring properties and the proposal is acceptable in this regard.
Overlooking / loss of privacy

17.10 Part (ii) seeks to ensure that existing neighbours will not be overlooked by users of
new development.
17.11 There are no vantage points or windows from the proposed development towards the
surrounding residential properties, therefore these properties will not experience any
loss of privacy or overlooking.
Outlook

Page 60

17.12 Part (iii) seeks to ensure that new development is not overbearing and would not cause
significant harm to the outlook of occupiers of neighbouring properties.
17.13 Outlook from the surrounding residential properties will be reduced given that the site
is in existing use as a car park with no built form. As such, the proposed development
is likely to present a significant change to the levels of outlook from the surrounding
properties, however noting the setbacks from these properties and the town centre
location of the application site, any loss of outlook is considered acceptable noting that
it will not detrimentally harm the visual amenity of the occupants of the surrounding
properties.
17.14 The proposal is considered acceptable with regard to any impact on the surrounding
residential properties in terms of privacy, overlooking, daylight, sunlight and outlook
and is therefore compliant with paragraph H of Policy DM 9.
Noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality
17.15 Part (iv) requires that issues of noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality
are properly addressed when considering an application to ensure that none would
cause significant harm to the amenity of existing residents or new users of the
proposed development.
17.16 In terms of noise the principal consideration regards plant that serves the centre and
a planning condition is proposed that sets a cumulative noise limit of 39dB LAeq 1hr.
17.17 Additionally, parking provision on the site will be significantly reduced and thus any
noise generated from servicing vehicles is likely to be less than that of which the
occupants of the surrounding properties currently experience with the existing car park
use. Notwithstanding this a noise attenuation fence barrier is proposed of a minimum
2m in height and 12kg/m3 density and is subject to a proposed condition. As such,
the proposal is acceptable with regard to noise impacts.
17.18 A lighting impact assessment was submitted with the application which indicates that
the upward light ratio (ULR) would not exceed the maximum permissible level of 5%
for an E3 environmental zone. The report concludes finding that any residual effects
of lighting from the proposed development will be negligible. Officers have reviewed
the application and the lighting assessment report and are satisfied that there will be
no undue harm caused to the amenity of the occupants of the surrounding properties
as a result of lighting, subject to the recommended condition.
17.19 The application has been accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) which
considers the potential impacts of the construction phase of the development as well
as the operational phase.
17.20 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has considered the AQA and has
commented that the proposals will contribute to a slight increase in local air pollution

Page 61

which is principally as a result of construction work. A number of construction
management conditions are proposed to mitigate this impact.
17.21 Based on the evidence provided by the applicant and subject to the recommended
conditions, the proposal will not cause significant harm to air quality in relation to
human health.
Summary relating to design and neighbouring amenity issues
17.22 Drawing all the strands together in relation to design and neighbouring amenity issues,
the analysis conducted through this report has concluded that the proposed
development fulfils the Council’s overall vision and policies of ensuring that new
development is comprised of high quality design, subject to the imposition of
adequately worded planning conditions/obligations.
17.23 It has further been concluded that there would not be any significant harm caused to
the living conditions of any of the existing residents who live in the area and that the
development will ensure a good level of amenity to staff and visitors, subject to the
imposition of suitably worded conditions / planning obligations.
17.24 The proposal is therefore compliant with the requirements of Policies SP 3, DM 9 and
T 1 Part C and Part D of the LPSV and with Policies CP2, DBE1, DBE4 and DBE9 of
the ALP.
18.

Highways and Transport

18.1

The submitted Transport Assessment (TA) assesses the potential impacts of the
proposed development on the local and strategic highway network.

18.2

The TA has been reviewed by Essex County Council Highways, who conclude that it
the proposal is not considered to have a significant or severe impact at this location or
on the wider highway network and not be detrimental to highway safety, capacity or
efficiency.

18.3

The application proposes 30 cycle parking spaces (20 long-stay and 10 short-stay).

18.4

The application proposes 6 car parking spaces, which are to be fully reserved for bluebadge users. Policy T 1 of the emerging Local Plan requires that any development
which proposes vehicle parking spaces must ensure that those spaces have direct
access to an electric charging point. All parking spaces are to be active Electrical
Vehicle Charging Points (EVCP), in compliance with this policy.

18.5

The Travel Plan submitted in support of the application includes detailed measures for
the applicant to implement in order to reduce reliance on the private car. These include
providing Staff Travel Information Packs, cycle parking provision, encouraging car
share platforms. A workplace Travel Plan is to be secured by legal obligation. The site
is well located, close to other accessible modes of sustainable travel. Given the scale

Page 62

of the development and proximity to existing transport modes, these measures are
sufficient.
18.6

A large proportion of the vehicles movements associated with the development are
already on the network given the relocation of the centre. The enhance and expanded
facilities including a swimming pool can be expected to attract additional movements
however parking is not available on site and users will need to utilise the proposed
public car park at Cottis Lane. It is likely that a proportion of visitors will undertake
linked trips to other activities in the town centre while there.

18.7

Overall, the proposals will not result in an unacceptable impact on highway safety and
would not have a severe residual cumulative impact on the road network in accordance
with paragraph 111 of the NPPF, as well as ST4 of the adopted Local Plan and policy
T1 of the LPSV.

19.

Sustainability, Energy and Climate Change

19.1

The NPPF sets out that the overall purpose of the planning system is to contribute to
the achievement of sustainable development which is defined as:
Meeting the needs of the present generation without compromising the ability of future
generations to meet their own needs

19.2

In order to achieve sustainable development, the NPPF sets out three overarching
objectives:


An economic objective;



A social objective; and



An environmental objective

19.3

The NPPF is clear that each of these objectives are interdependent and need to be
pursued in mutually supportive ways.

19.4

The LPSV sets out that the Council is committed to providing proactive strategies with
regard to climate change resilience. This approach is based on the NPPF which
encourages Local Planning Authorities to adopt a proactive strategy with regard to
sustainable development and climate change.

19.5

On 19th September 2019 the Council declared a climate emergency for the District
and set out a pledge that the Council will do everything in its power to make the District
carbon neutral by 2030.

19.6

This approach is encapsulated within Policy DM 20 of the LPSV which seeks to
encourage new developments to be of a low carbon energy use. Renewable energy
measures in new and existing development is also to be encouraged as far as possible.
The policies in the LPSV have been added to via the adoption in March 2021 EFDC

Page 63

Sustainability Guidance and Checklist as supplementary planning guidance. The
purpose of this guidance is to help applicants meet EFDC’s goals of becoming net zero
carbon by 2030.
19.7

In support of the application, a Sustainability Statement and Energy Strategy have
been submitted along with a completed EFDC Sustainability Checklist which presents
the sustainable aspects of the proposed development.

19.8

The Sustainability Statement highlights a number of aspects of the scheme which
contribute to the sustainability credentials of the development. In short these are:

19.9



A fabric first approach to reducing carbon emissions.



The development resulting in an annual 58% reduction in C02 emissions over
the requirements of Building Regulations Part L.



A Ground Source Heat Pump providing heating, hot water and cooling.



Targeting BREEAM Excellent (Leisure Centre new Construction) with the
submitted pre-assessment confirming a baseline score of 72.5% and the
potential to achieve 81.2% both of which resulting in an ‘Excellent’ score.



Installation of electric charging points for all of the car parking spaces on the
site and provision of bicycle storage.



Adopting measures for waste reduction during construction.



Using embodied carbon studies to guide design.

Generally, the scheme is compliant with the sustainability policies in the emerging
Local Plan. However, the scheme is not particularly innovative or proactive in
addressing Climate Change and could be more ambitious in aligning with the Council’s
Climate Emergency declaration. It is noted in the completed checklist that operational
carbon, embodied carbon, circular economy/ waste management will be addressed in
more detail during future design stages. Whilst it is acknowledged that some of the
details of the scheme can only be developed at later design stages, many of the
principles need to be in place at an early stage of design to enable this to be possible.

19.10 The proposal is considered to be a sustainable form of development and is therefore
compliant with Policy SP 1 and DM 20 of the LPSV and Policy CP5 of the adopted
Local Plan. The applicant is encouraged, through the recommended condition, to
enhance the sustainability credentials of the development through the next stages of
design.
20.

Flood Risk and SuDs

20.1

There is a clear need to ensure that surface and foul water drainage and treatment
occur effectively and for the protection of both human health and the environment. This

Page 64

includes the need to ensure that development will not cause pollution to water bodies
or controlled water, including ground water.
20.2

Policy DM 18 of the LPSV sets out that it is expected that applications for planning
permission will ensure that there is adequate surface water, foul drainage and
treatment capacity to serve their development. This requirement is also reflected in
Policy U2A of the ALP.

20.3

The application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). The site
is located within Flood Zone 1 and is at low risk from all sources of flooding.

20.4

A Below Ground Drainage Strategy has been submitted as part of the application and
the EFDC Land Drainage Team is content with the general principles of the design.
However further detailed information is required. This information can be secured
through the use of a planning condition.

20.5

The ECC SuDS Team acts as the Lead Local Flood Authority. Similarly to the EFDC
Land Drainage Team, based on the FRA and the surface water drainage strategy the
team has no objection to the application subject to the imposition of planning
conditions.

20.6

Thames Water has been consulted as part of this application as a key utilities provider.
In terms of foul water disposal, Thames Water has raised no objection to the
application.

20.7

Subject to the imposition of appropriately worded planning conditions the proposal is
compliant with Policy DM 18 of the LPSV and with Policy U2A of the ALP.

21.

Ground contamination

21.1

The LPSV seeks to ensure that new forms of development avoid unacceptable risks
from pollution to humans and other species. Paragraph C of Policy DM 21 of the LPSV
requires that potential contamination risks are properly considered and adequately
mitigated before development proceeds. Policy RP4 of the ALP is consistent with this
approach, whereby potential contaminants are required to be identified and if
necessary, appropriately mitigated.

21.2

The application is accompanied by a Geotechnical and Geo-environmental Desk Study
Report, which considers the potential contamination risks present on the site.

21.3

The Councils Geo-technical Team have considered the report and agree with their
findings that given the known history of the site and possible contamination that a
ground investigation should be undertaken. A condition is recommended to secure the
ground investigation and subsequently remediation scheme if required.

21.4

The proposed condition will ensure compliance with the provisions of paragraph C of
policy DM 21 of the LPSV and with Policy RP4 of the ALP.

Page 65

21.5

Following this advice and on the basis of the evidence submitted by the applicant, the
proposal is compliant with paragraph C of Policy DM 21 of the LPSV and with Policy
RP4 of the ALP.

22.

Historic Environment – Archaeology

22.1

The LPSV recognises that Epping Forest District benefits from a rich and varied historic
environment, including historic remains. Where proposals could potentially affect
archaeological remains, preference is given to their preservation since these remains
are finite and irreplaceable.

22.2

Policy DM 7 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that heritage assets (including archaeological
remains) are conserved or enhanced in a manner appropriate to their significance.

22.3

To investigate potential impacts on the historic environment the application is
supported by a Heritage Statement which assess the potential for archaeological
deposits within the site. The site has been identified as having very limited scope for
previously unknown archaeological deposits to survive and it is therefore concluded
that no significant archaeological remains will be impacts or disturbed by the proposal.

22.4

The Historic Environment Team at ECC have recommended that no further
investigation or planning conditions are required given evidence of extensive made
ground at the site.

22.5

The proposed development is compliant with policy DM 7 of the LPSV and the
proposals would conserve any heritage assets of archaeological significance.

23.

Ecology

23.1

The LPSV sets out that new development proposals should seek to deliver a net biodiversity gain in addition to protecting existing habitats and species. This approach is
set out in Policy DM 1 of the LPSV. Policy NC3 of the adopted Local Plan is broadly
consistent with this approach, whereby development proposals which may cause harm
to established habitats are required to provide a replacement, alternative habitats of at
least equivalent wildlife value. Additionally, Policy CP1 of the adopted Local Plan seeks
to avoid or to minimise potential environmental impacts of development proposals.

23.2

The application is accompanied by an Ecological Assessment which sets out the
baseline ecology of the application site and assesses the potential impacts of the
development and mitigation and enhancement measures which may be required.
Baseline ecological surveys

23.3

The findings of the Phase 1 habitat survey identified the site as low or negligible in
terms of habitats of ecological importance and low suitability for protected species. The
proposed landscape works and green roof will provide for a biodiversity net gain.
Impacts, mitigation and enhancement measures

Page 66

23.4

The ECC ecologist reviewed the report and recommended that the proposed
ecological enhancements to the site should be secured and implemented in full. A
condition is recommended to ensure that enhancement measures are to be outlined
and secured through the approval of a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy.

23.5

Overall, in terms of ecology, the proposal would be in accordance with policy DM 1 of
the LPSV is also compliant with Policies NC3 and CP1 of the ALP

24.

Infrastructure

24.1

In order to deliver the sustainable and balanced growth which has been identified in
the LPSV, significant investment in infrastructure is required to meet the needs of
residents and businesses.

24.2

Infrastructure includes a wide variety of elements including transport, utilities, flood and
surface water management, open space and social and community infrastructure.

24.3

To outline the infrastructure requirements which are necessary to meet the needs of
the growth outlined in the Plan, the Council has complied an Infrastructure Delivery
Plan (IDP). The IDP identifies:


The organisation responsible for delivering each piece of infrastructure;



The period over which the relevant investment will be required; and



The cost of each item and how it is going to be funded.

24.4

The IDP has been developed in consultation and cooperation with infrastructure
providers and will ensure that infrastructure is delivered in a timely, predictable and
effective manner. The IDP has also considered high level issues of viability and
therefore delivery of policy compliant new development. The IDP is split into
development areas and identifies the various interventions necessary within each
area.

24.5

The majority of infrastructure requirements are triggered by residential development
and don’t apply to the site given the current proposal. The proposed leisure centre
itself is a substantial investment in community facilities.

24.6

ECC Highways and Transportation identified the need to provide enhanced bus
infrastructure and have requested the provision of real time display information via a
highway agreement and £22,000 to provide for ongoing maintenance for a 10-15 year
period.

24.7

Subject to the infrastructure interventions as noted in the previous section being
secured through appropriate planning obligations, the proposal is compliant with policy
D1 of the LPSV.

Page 67

25.

Employment and skills

25.1

Part (v) of paragraph F of Policy SP 2 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that suitable training
and skills development opportunities are provided for local residents to equip them with
the skills they need to access future employment opportunities.

25.2

The Council is committed to ensuring that local residents get the best possible
opportunities for training and employment in relation to this development proposal and
as such an employment and skills plan (ESP) is proposed to be secured via legal
obligation. The ESP will ensure liaison with the Council on employment opportunities,
provide training opportunities and seek appropriate level of apprentices are provided
as part of the construction works.

25.3

Subject to the delivery of the measures identified in the ESP, Officers consider that the
development proposal will provide for significant opportunities for new jobs,
apprenticeships and training for the local community.

25.4

The precise details of these schemes can be secured through a planning obligation as
part of the section 106 legal agreement. Subject to the inclusion of the proposed
planning obligation, the proposal will be compliant with Part (v) of Paragraph F of Policy
SP 2 of the LPSV and will provide significant economic benefits to the local area.

26.

EQUALITY DUTIES AND HUMAN RIGHTS

26.1

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires that a public authority must exercise its
functions having due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance
equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
(age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief;
sex; and sexual orientation) and persons who do not share it, and foster good relations
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do
not.

26.2

In making this recommendation, due regard has been given to this Public Sector
Equality Duty and the relevant protected characteristics. It is considered that there will
be no specific implications and that, if approving or refusing this proposal, the Council
will be acting in compliance with its duties.

26.3

The Human Rights Act 1998 makes it unlawful for a public authority to act in a way
which is incompatible with any of the Convention rights protected by the Act unless it
could not have acted otherwise. Careful consideration has been given to the rights set
out in the European Convention on Human Rights, in particular Article 6 (right to a fair
trial); Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life; Article 14 (prohibition of
discrimination); and Article 1 of the First Protocol (right to peaceful enjoyment of
possessions).

26.4

The Council is of the opinion that the recommendation does not interfere with any such
rights except insofar as is necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others. The

Page 68

Council is permitted to control the use of property in accordance with the public interest
and the recommendation is considered a proportionate response to the submitted
application based upon the considerations set out in this report.
27.

CONCLUSION

27.1

The application site has been proposed for allocation (ref: EPP.R7) in the Epping
Forest District Local Plan Submission Version (LPSV) to provide new residential
accommodation to meet an identified need. The proposal for a leisure centre on the
site is contrary to this site allocation, however, the applicant is to make good the
shortfall in residential provision via the use of the Land at St John’s Road site as a
‘donor site’. Subject to securing the planned for residential accommodation via the
s106 planning obligations the principle of the use is supported.

27.2

The new facilities provide a replacement and enhancement to those provided at the
existing Epping Sports Centre, which will continue in operation until the proposed
centre is opened.

27.3

The site is a sustainable town centre location and the proposal will support the vitality
and viability of the wider town centre. The high quality architecture will contribute
positively to the setting and the development will enable much improved public realm
and town centre connectivity. The provision of a ‘green’ roof supports an overall
biodiversity net gain on the site.

27.4

Potential impact on the amenity of adjoining residential properties is suitably mitigated
through the boundary treatment, orientation of the buildings, restrictions on plant noise
and construction management conditions.

27.5

It has been concluded beyond reasonable scientific doubt that the development will
not result in an adverse impact on the integrity of the Epping Forest SAC subject to
mitigation measures and site-specific conditions and obligations that will be imposed.

27.6

The proposal is targeting a BREEAM rating of ‘Excellent’ which is within the top 10%
of non-domestic UK buildings. The proposal provides a 58% reduction in C02
emissions over the requirements of Building Regulations Part L and will utilise renewal
sources of energy thus contributing to the Districts carbon neutral by 2030 targets.

27.7

Taken together, the application has demonstrated its compliance with the
requirements of the LPSV, the Adopted Local Plan and the NPPF. It is therefore
recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the imposition of suitably
worded planning conditions and obligations.

Page 69

Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest:
Planning Application Case Officer: Nick Finney
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564 371
or if no direct contact can be made please email:
contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Appendix 1a – Planning conditions and informative
Appendix 1b – Listed Building Consent conditions and informative
Appendix 2 – Neighbour representations summary
Appendix 3 – Statutory and technical consultee responses
Appendix 4 – QRP feedback summary

Page 70

Appendix 1 – Bakers Lane Planning Conditions and Informatives (EPF/2924/20)
BAKERS LANE – EPF/2924/20

1

Time Limit
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of four years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2

M4 - Approved Drawings

Page 71

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and retained strictly in accordance with the following approved plans:
Existing Location Plan
Existing Site Plan
Proposed GA Basement Floor Plan
Proposed GA Ground Floor Plan
Proposed GA First Floor Plan
Proposed GA Roof Plan
Proposed Site Plan
Proposed GA Elevations
Elevation Call Out 1
Elevation Call Out 2
Elevation Call Out 3
East and West Elevations
North and South Elevations
Proposed GA Sections

P5675_1000
P5675_1100
P5675_2000
P5675_2001
P5675_2002
P5675_2003
P5675_2010
P5675_3000
P5675_3010
P5675_3011
P5675_3012
P5675_3013
P5675_3014
P5675_3500

Rev E
Rev E
Rev J
Rev Q
Rev Q
Rev F
Rev K
Rev K
Rev D
Rev C
Rev C
Rev C
Rev C
Rev G

Page 72

Extent of Off-Site Highways and Public Realm
Works
Combined Site Plan Cottis and Bakers Lane Car
Parks
Bakers Lane & Cottis Lane Sites - General
Arrangement Plan
Bakers Lane Car Park - General Arrangement Plan
Bakers Lane Car Park - General Arrangement Plan
Roof Level
Vegetation Retention and Removal Plan
Vegetation Retention and Removal Plan Boundary Improvement Works
Bakers Lane Car Park - Existing Condition
Site Section A-AA - Existing & Proposed Condition
Site Section B-BB - Existing & Proposed Condition
Site Section C-CC - Existing & Proposed Condition
Boundary Condition A-AA
Boundary Condition B-BB
Boundary Condition C-CC
Boundary Condition D-DD
Boundary Condition E-EE
Boundary Condition F-FF
Planting Plan
Planting Plan - Roof Level
Planting Plan - Public Realm Improvements
Typical Detail - Tree Protective Fence
Typical Detail - Tree Pit in Soft
Typical Detail - Tree Pit in Hard
Typical Detail - Biodiversity Roof
Typical Detail - Precast Concrete Steps

19756 – 0302 P02
19756 – 0304 P01
1270-03-001

P6

1270-04-001
1270-04-002

P4
P3

1270-04-003
1270-04-004

P2
P2

1270-04-005
1270-04-010
1270-04-011
1270-04-012
1270-04-015
1270-04-016
1270-04-017
1270-04-018
1270-04-019
1270-04-020
1270-04-201
1270-04-202
1270-04-203
1270-04-400
1270-04-401
1270-04-402
1270-04-403
1270-04-405

P2
P3
P3
P2
P2
P2
P2
P2
P2
P2
P3
P3
P3
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1

Page 73

Typical Detail - Rain Garden
Surface Detail - Brick Paving Type 1
Surface Detail - Concrete Surface
Surface Detail - Site Branding
Surface Detail - Drainage Rill
Surface Detail - Manhole Covers
Surface Detail - Kerbs & Edges
Surface Detail - Permeable Block Paving
Surface Detail - Granite Sett Detail
Street Furniture Detail - Seating Type 1
Street Furniture Detail - Concrete Seating Wall
Street Furniture - Bollard
Street Furniture Detail - Cycle Stand
Street Furniture Detail - Litter & Recycling Bin
Street Furniture Detail - Bespoke Concrete Seating

1270-04-406
1270-04-411
1270-04-412
1270-04-413
1270-04-414
1270-04-415
1270-04-416
1270-04-417
1270-04-418
1270-04-421
1270-04-422
1270-04-424
1270-04-425
1270-04-426
1270-04-427

P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P2
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). For the avoidance of doubt
and to ensure the proposal is built in accordance with the approved plans.

3

Finished Floor Levels
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works, details of the finished floor levels of the buildings of the development hereby permitted
in relation to existing ground levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that construction is carried out at a suitable level having regard to drainage, access, the appearance of the development, the
amenities of neighbouring occupiers and existing trees, hedgerows and other landscaping, in accordance with Policies T 1, DM 9, DM 18 and
DM 19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with Policies DBE2, DBE3, DBE4, DBE9, LL11 and RP3 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.

4

Sport Facilities [Bakers Lane]
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works, detailed elevation and layout plans at a scale of 1:50 and/or 1:100 of the sports hall and
swimming pools shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Sport England. The detailed plans
shall include line marking, flooring and lighting specifications (sports hall) and pool tank depths, pool surround design and balance tank. The
development shall not be constructed other than in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the development is viable, fit for purpose and sustainable in accordance with policy RST1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 &
2006, Policies SP7 and DM 6 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

5

Design

Page 74

H1 – Details/Samples of External Materials
Prior to the commencement of development above slab level, detailed drawings and samples of all materials (or documentary and photographic
details where samples are unavailable) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development, including any external cladding
and internal cladding that is decorative and visible externally, decorative fascia or panels, balustrades and glazing, hereby permitted, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details / samples. Please do not send materials to the Civic Offices. Materials should be kept on site and arrangements made with the planning
officer for inspection.
Detailed drawings and samples shall include:







Principal features on the facades e.g. bay studies (1:50 @ appropriate paper size)
Details of each envelope / roof type (1:20 @A3)
Detailed brick elements including mortar joint profile (1:20 @A3)
Details of glazing and curtain walling systems including any manifestation (1:20 @A3)
Key junctions/bonds between materials/finishes (1:20 @A3)
Ground floor frontages including entrances, glazing and signage zones, infill panels on plant rooms/bike stores etc, shopfronts or
commercial/workspace frontages (1:50 @ appropriate paper size)







Page 75











Parapets, roof edges, rooftop plant screening, lift over runs etc (1:20 @A3)
Elevational location of all joints e.g. structural, movement, panels (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
Elevational location of all openings in envelope e.g. ventilation grilles, bird & bat boxes (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
Elevational location of all items which are fixed to the façade e.g. fins/louvres, rainwater pipes, lighting, CCTV, alarms including any
provision for cable runs boxes (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
Head, jamb and sill details, including profiles, for typical openings and all ground floor entrances and doors to balconies / terraces (1:20
@A3)
Details of key architectural metalwork / screens / gates (1:20 @A3)
Details of balconies and terraces including floor finishes (1:20 @A3)
Balustrade details (1:20 @A3)
Details of soffits and canopies (1:20 @A3)
Details of external stairs (1:50 @A3)
Junctions with neighbouring buildings (1:20 @A3)
External signage details including elevations and sections (1:50 @A3) (excluding signage requiring separate advertisement consent)
Details of green / brown roof system (1:20 @A3)
Any other items not listed but bespoke to building requirement

Reason: To ensure a high quality design and satisfactory appearance to the development in the interests of visual amenity of the area, in
accordance with policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF
2021.

6

H2 – Materials
The details of materials to be submitted pursuant to Condition 5 and to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development
hereby permitted shall match (in colour, style, bonding & texture) those shown on plan numbers:
Proposed GA Basement Floor Plan
Proposed GA Ground Floor Plan
Proposed GA First Floor Plan

P5675_2000
P5675_2001
P5675_2002

Rev J
Rev Q
Rev Q

Proposed GA Roof Plan
Proposed Site Plan
Proposed GA Elevations
Elevation Call Out 1
Elevation Call Out 2
Elevation Call Out 3
East and West Elevations
North and South Elevations
Proposed GA Sections

P5675_2003
P5675_2010
P5675_3000
P5675_3010
P5675_3011
P5675_3012
P5675_3013
P5675_3014
P5675_3500

Rev F
Rev K
Rev K
Rev D
Rev C
Rev C
Rev C
Rev C
Rev G

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity of the area, in accordance with policy DBE10 of the adopted
Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Page 76

7

H3 – Boundary Treatment
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works of the development herby permitted, a scale plan of not less than 1:100 indicating the
position, design, materials and height and type of boundary treatment to be erected, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The details of the boundary treatment to be submitted and used in the construction of the development shall accord with the
noise attenuation criteria detailed within the submitted Noise Impact Assessment Technical Report: R8437-3 Rev 1 (24 Acoustics: 10th December
2020). The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and all boundary treatment shall be implemented prior to
the occupation of the development and thereafter permanently retained.
Reason: To ensure the safe movement of vehicles between the highway and off-street parking areas and to ensure a satisfactory appearance of
the development, in accordance with Local Plan and Alterations policies ST4 & DBE1 and Submission Version Local Plan (2017) policies T1
(paragraph F) & DM 9, all of which are consistent with the NPPF 2021.

8

External Lighting

Details of any external lighting of the site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority 6 months prior to the
occupation of the development. This information shall include layout and elevation plans with beam orientation, light spill and a schedule of
equipment to be installed (luminaire type, mounting height, aiming angles and luminaire profiles) and details of when all non-essential external
lighting for the development shall be non-illuminated. The lighting shall be installed, maintained and operated in accordance with the approved
details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the use of the lighting does not cause undue nuisance and disturbance to neighbouring properties at unreasonable hours
and in accordance with policies RP5A and DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and policies DM9 & DM21 of the Local Plan
Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Soft/Hard Landscaping/Trees
9

C1 - Retention of Trees and Shrubs

Page 77

If any tree, shrub or hedge shown to be retained in the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment 200658-PD-11a (TMA: June 2021) is removed,
uprooted or destroyed, dies, or becomes severely damaged or diseased during development activities or within 3 years of the completion of the
development, another tree, shrub or hedge of the same size and species shall be planted within 6 months or during the next planting season
(whichever is the sooner) at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. If within a period of
five years from the date of planting any replacement tree, shrub or hedge is removed, uprooted or destroyed, or dies or becomes seriously
damaged or defective another tree, shrub or hedge of the same species and size as that originally planted shall, within 6 months or during the
next planting season (whichever is the sooner), be planted at the same place.
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the existing trees, shrubs or hedges and to ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development, in
accordance with policies LL10 & LL11 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, policies DM3 and DM5 of the Local Plan Submission Version
2017, the NPPF 2021, and Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

10

C3 - Hard and Soft Landscaping
Prior to any above ground works, a scheme of hard and soft landscaping for the site, including details of materials, species and a planting
schedule shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The hard landscaping details shall include:-

Page 78

a) details of existing features to be retained;
b) proposed finished levels or contours;
c) hard surfacing materials;
d) means of enclosure;
e) car parking layouts;
f) other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;
g) secure cycle storage facilities;
h) refuse facilities;
i) other minor artefacts and structures, including furniture, play equipment, signs, functional services above and below ground (e.g. drainage,
power, communications cables, pipelines) including heating strips, indicating lines, manholes, supports etc.;
j) retained historic landscape features and proposals for restoration where relevant;
k) existing trees and hedgerows to be retained; .
l) soft landscaping details including plans for planting or establishment by any means and full written specifications and schedules of plants,
including species, plant sizes and proposed numbers /densities where appropriate;
m) tree/hedgerow removal;
n) tree planting including species, planting location, timing of planting, specification and maintenance;
o) tree protection measures;
p) programme of management of the soft planting;
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the
occupation of the building or completion of the development, whichever is the sooner. If any plants which within a period of 5 years from the
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To secure the provision and retention of the landscaping in the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with policies
CP2 & LL11 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, policies DM3 and DM5 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, the NPPF 2021, and
Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

11

Soft Landscape

Soft landscape works pursuant to Condition 10 shall comply with the approved planting plans (1270-05-201 P3 and 1270-05-202 P3) and include
planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of
plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate; implementation programme. All planting, seeding or turfing
comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the
buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species, unless the local planning authority gives written approval to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and landscape treatment of the site. To safeguard the visual character of the
immediate area in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted
Local Plan and Alterations 2006, and the NPPF 2021.

12

C6 - Tree Protection Measures

Page 79

The development hereby permitted shall proceed in accordance with the terms of the Arboricultural Impact Assessment 200658-PD-11a (TMA:
June 2021). Its implementation shall include the supervision of the tree protection during the demolition and construction phases by an
Arboricultural Consultant (provided by the applicant with the agreement of the Local Planning Authority).
Reason: To protect existing trees during the construction works in order to ensure that the character and amenity of the area are not impaired, in
accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.

13

Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP)
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted (including ground works, vegetation clearance), a construction environmental
management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity)
shall include the following.
(a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
(b) Identification of ""biodiversity protection zones"".

(c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided
as a set of method statements).
(d) Measures to protect badgers from being trapped in open excavations and/or pipe culverts.
(e) The location and timings of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.
(f) The times during which construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee works.
(g) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
(h) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly
competent person.
(i) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Page 80

Reason: To avoid or mitigate the effects of the construction of the development on ecological receptors, in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5
and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

14

Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP)
Prior to the first occupation of the development, a landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. The content of the LEMP shall include the following.
(a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
(b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.
(c) Aims and objectives of management.
(d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
(e) Prescriptions for management actions.
(f) Prescription of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled forward over a five-year period).
(g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan.
(h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.

The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by
the developer with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show
that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and
implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The maintenance
schedule shall be for a minimum period of 5 years and include details of the arrangements for its implementation. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved schedule. The management plan & maintenance schedule shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of the building or completion of the development, whichever is the
sooner.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife
& Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). To ensure habitat enhancement within the
landscape of the development, in accordance with Policies DM 1, DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL7,
LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006, the NPPF 2021 and Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).

Page 81

Transport
15

Highway Works
Prior to any above ground works of the development hereby permitted, the improvement works to the public highway as shown in principle on
Meinhardt drawing no. 2748-MHT-CV-003 Rev P02 shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation
with Essex County Council Highways Authority. The improvement works shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the development in
accordance with the approved details and these details shall include phasing of the works that broadly accord with drawing 19756-XX-00-DR0302-P P2. The design details to be agreed shall include but not be limited to the following:



Page 82





New vehicular/pedestrian/cycle accesses for Cottis Lane development and Bakers Lane development.
The provision of a new junction arrangement and street materials including increasing existing footway widths and provision of dropped
kerb crossing points with tactile paving;
Provision of a new layby and road widening on Bakers Lane with an adoptable 2m footway to rear of each;
Implementation or amendment of Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) as appropriate for parking and loading restrictions considered relevant
and necessary along Cottis Lane and Bakers Lane;
To implement an appropriate TRO and works as necessary, on Cottis Lane, to prevent motor vehicles along approx. 50m of its length
from the High Street to the turning head to the rear.

Reason: To ensure that safe, efficient and improved accessibility is provided for all highway users. In order to protect highway safety and the
amenity of other users of the public highway and rights of way, in accordance with Policy T 1 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with
Policy ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

16

Vehicle Turning Areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development the vehicle/cycle parking and turning areas as indicated on the approved plans shall be
implemented, hard surfaced, sealed and marked out. The parking and turning areas shall be retained in perpetuity for their intended purpose.

Reason: To ensure that appropriate parking and turning is provided, in accordance with Policy T 1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017
and with Policy ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

17

Delivery and Servicing Plan
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works for the development hereby permitted, a highways management plan shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The highways management plan shall include the management responsibilities and
maintenance schedule for the private access road; the on-site car and cycle parking; electric vehicle charging points; servicing, loading and
unloading, turning and waiting areas. The management plan shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and its requirements
adhered to thereafter.
Reason: In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and the character and appearance of the development, in accordance with Policies T
1 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policies DBE1, DBE4 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

Page 83

18

Construction Management Plan
Prior to the commencement of development hereby permitted, a Construction Management/Method Plan and Statement with respect to the
construction phase of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development works shall be
undertaken in accordance with the approved Construction Management/Method Statement. The details shall include:
a) Construction vehicle numbers, type and routing;
b) Traffic management requirements, including crossing the public highway and other rights of way;
c) Vehicle parking for site operatives and visitors (inclusive of travel plan measures to ensure town centre visitor parking isn’t utilised for
contractors);
d) Loading/unloading and storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
e) Construction and storage compound areas;
f) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding;
g) Siting and details of wheel washing facilities including location of petrol/oil interceptors in all car parking/washing/ repair facilities;
h) Frequency and method of cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;
i) Minimisation of dust emissions arising from construction activities on site and any temporary access to the public highway;

j) Details of the responsible person (site manager/office) who can be contacted; and
k) A scheme of recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works.
Reason: In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and the character and appearance of the development. To prevent oil-polluted
discharges entering local watercourses. To ensure satisfactory provision in relation to adjoining properties and circulation within the site, in
accordance with Policies T 1 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policies DBE1, DBE4 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan
and Alterations 2006.

19

Vehicle Wheel Washing
Wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for vehicles leaving the site during construction works shall be installed and utilised to clean vehicles
immediately before leaving the site. Any mud or other material deposited on nearby roads as a result of the development shall be removed.

Page 84

Reason: To avoid the deposit of material on the public highway in the interests of highway safety, in accordance with policy ST4 of the adopted
Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policy T1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021

20

Swept Path Analysis
Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted, swept path assessments for the specified phase of development shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include the following:
a) Large car accessing car parking spaces to demonstrate that they can be safely entered and departed from. This should be demonstrated for
the car parking spaces that are in corners and for one midway in a row. This will be necessary for any public or employment car parks;
b) Swept path assessment for a fire tender manoeuvring within the site to demonstrate that a fire tender can safely manoeuvre within to access
all units;
c) Swept path assessment for a refuse vehicle to demonstrate that refuse collection and servicing can take place to serve the development site;

d) Swept path assessments for servicing and delivery vehicles for any commercial land uses to demonstrate that servicing and deliveries can be
accommodated to serve the development site and within the respective land use sites. Thereafter, the development, or the specified phase(s) of
the development (whichever is the sooner) shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public highway and rights of way, in accordance with Policy T 1
of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with Policy ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

21

Sustainability

Page 85

Prior to the commencement of any above ground works for the development hereby permitted, a method statement that demonstrates the way
in which the development will meet the minimum sustainability levels and standards as set out in the Energy Strategy Report (Elementa:
December 2020) and Sustainability Statement (Elementa: December 2020) shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The details shall include both passive and active sustainability measures to be incorporated into the built fabric of the development and
those measures to be carried out during the construction phase of development. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: In the interest of delivering positive sustainability and environmental benefits. To support the move towards a low carbon economy, in
accordance with the NPPF 2021 and Policies DM 20 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policy CP8 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.

Flood Risk and Drainage
22

Drainage
No development hereby approved (except demolition and enabling works) shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme has
been submitted to and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The surface water drainage system will be based on the submitted
Flood Risk Assessment carried out by Meinhardt (Issue P01 – 01 December 2020) and the Drainage Strategy indicated on drawing nos. 2779MHT-CV-100 P02; 2779-MHT-CV-110 P02 in the Below Ground Drainage Strategy (Issue P01 – 01 December 2020).

The surface water drainage scheme should include:






Page 86





Limiting discharge rates to 1.6l/s for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year rate plus 40% allowance for climate change.
All relevant permissions to discharge from the site into any outfall should be demonstrated.
Provide sufficient storage to ensure no off site flooding as a result of the development during all storm events up to and including the 1 in
100 year plus 40% climate change event.
Demonstrate that all storage features can half empty within 24 hours for the 1 in 30 plus 40% climate change critical storm event.
Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.
The appropriate level of treatment for all runoff leaving the site, in line with the Simple Index Approach in chapter 26 of the CIRIA SuDS
Manual C753. All proprietary treatment devices should have the simple index mitigation indices provided by the manufacturer. If these
are not available then an alternative device should be used. Please note that silt traps, gullies, and catchpits are not accepted as suitable
means of treatment.
Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage scheme.
A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL and ground levels, and location and sizing of any drainage
features.
A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to the approved strategy.

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding and to prevent the pollution of the water environment, in accordance with policies RP3, RP5
and U3B of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policies DM16, DM18 and DM19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF
2021.

23

Drainage Maintenance 1
Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, a maintenance plan detailing the maintenance arrangements including who is
responsible for different elements of the surface water drainage system and the maintenance activities/frequencies shall be submitted to and
agreed in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to enable the surface water drainage system to function as intended
to ensure mitigation against flood risk, in accordance with policies RP3, RP5 and U3B of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policies DM16,
DM18 and DM19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

24

Ecology
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the Ecological Appraisal (BSG Ecology: December 2020) and the
Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Measures (detailed in Section 6.11 of Epping Forest Environmental Impact Assessment ‐ Commercial
Sites Chapter 6 ‐ Ecology and Biodiversity (Stephenson Halliday: July 2021)). Prior to the commencement of above ground works a timetable for
the implementation of the ecological mitigation measures shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Page 87

Reason: To enable proper consideration of the impact of the development on the contribution of nature conservation interests to the amenity of
the area, in accordance with Policy DM 1 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with CP1 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

25

Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy
A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to above ground works, following the details contained within the Ecological Appraisal (BSG Ecology: December 2020) and
Section 6.11 of Epping Forest Environmental Impact Assessment ‐ Commercial Sites Chapter 6 ‐ Ecology and Biodiversity (Stephenson
Halliday: July 2021). The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.

Reason: To maintain and improve the biodiversity of the site and to mitigate any impact from the development hereby approved, in accordance
with Policy DM1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Air Quality
26

Ultra Low NOx Boilers Condition
Prior to completion of the development hereby permitted, details of boilers shall be submitted to and approved in writing to the Local Planning Authority.
The boilers shall have dry NOx emissions not exceeding 40 mg/kWh (0%). The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.

Page 88

Reason: To help improve local environmental conditions and limit emissions to air as required by the NPPF 2021. Boilers can be a significant source
of NO2 emissions and worsen local air quality. To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF 2021 and Policy T1 and
DM22 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017.

27

Electric Charging Points
Prior to the commencement of above ground works, details and location of the parking spaces equipped with active Electric Vehicle Charging
Points (EVCP) must be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall demonstrate that the development
will deliver 100 per cent active ECVPs and shall include:




Location of active charge points
Specification of charging equipment
Operation/management strategy

A management plan for the charging points shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation of the
development. The management plan shall include:



Which parking bays will have active charging provision, including disabled parking bays;
How charging point usage will be charged amongst users and non-users;



Electricity supply availability. The electricity supply should be already confirmed by UK Power Networks.

The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details and retained in perpetuity. Prior to occupation, the application shall
submit confirmation to the Local Planning Authority that the charging points are operational, with active provision. This must be supported by
appropriate evidence.
Reason: In the interest of promoting increased choice of sustainable transport options. To encourage the use of electric vehicles in order to
reduce air pollution in the District and help support improvements to Epping Forest SAC in accordance with Policies T1 and DM22 of the
Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Land Contamination
28

G5 - Land Contamination Survey

Page 89

Prior to the commencement of development hereby permitted (with the exception of demolition works where this is for the reason of making
areas of the site available for site investigation), an assessment of the risks posed by any land contamination shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This assessment must be undertaken by a suitably qualified contaminated land practitioner,
in accordance with British Standard BS 10175: Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites – Code of Practice and the Environment
Agency’s Guidelines for the Land Contamination: Risk Management (LCRM 2020) (or equivalent if replaced), and shall assess any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved
details unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. The assessment shall include: (1) A survey of the extent,
scale and nature of contamination and (2) An assessment of the potential risks to: human health; property (existing or proposed) including
buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland, service lines and pipes; adjoining land; groundwater and surface waters; ecological systems; and
archaeological sites and ancient monuments.
If following the risk assessment (pursuant to the details outlined above) unacceptable risks are identified from land affected by contamination,
no work on any part of the development shall take place, until a detailed land remediation scheme has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s),
the proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of the works to be undertaken including the
verification plan. (The remediation scheme shall be sufficiently detailed and thorough to ensure that after remediation, as a minimum, land

should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990). The development
shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme. Following the completion of the remediation works and prior to the first
occupation of the development, a verification report by a suitably qualified contaminated land practitioner shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policy RP4 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and policy DM21 of the
Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

29

Restriction on Operating Hours & Times [Bakers Lane]

Page 90

The use hereby permitted shall not be open to customers outside the hours of 06.00 to 23.00 on Monday to Saturday and 08.00 to 23.00 on
Sundays and Bank Holidays.
Reason: In order to minimise disturbance to local residents, in accordance with policies RP5A and DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006,
Policy DM21 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

30

Extract Ventilation [Cottis Lane]
Prior to the commencement of the use or operation of a unit, details of any extraction system for food preparation areas, or other processes which
may produce odours and/or noise and vibration, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The details
submitted shall include the extract ventilation system and/or odour control equipment, including details of any external ducting and measures to
control noise and vibration. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and such approved equipment shall
thereafter be operated at all times when cooking is carried out and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. The external
ducting shall be removed when the authorised use of the premises for the sale of hot food ceases.
Reason: To safeguard the appearance of the premises and minimise the impact of cooking smells and odours in accordance with policy DBE9
of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

31

Plant Noise
The use of any plant which services this development must cease during any period that the rating level of noise (as defined by BS4142:2014)
exceeds the prevailing background noise level at the affected noise sensitive premises. The measurement position and assessment shall be
made according to BS4142:2014, and shall include the cumulative effect of all of the plant on the site.
The cumulative plant noise limit for this site shall not exceed 39dB LAeq, 1hr between 07.00-23.00 hrs, and 32dB LAeq, 15 mins between 23.0007.00 hrs.
Reason: In order to minimise any noise which will affect the amenity of local residents, in accordance with policy DBE1 of the adopted Local
Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Page 91

32

Low Frequency Noise
Low frequency, unweighted noise levels should be controlled to a maximum of 50 dB Leq, 63Hz, 5 min and 40 dB Leq, 125Hz, 5 min at the
façades of nearby noise sensitive premises.
Reason: In order to minimise the impact of any low frequency noise from music which will affect the amenity of local residents, in accordance
with policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

33

M5 - Restriction on Use [Bakers Lane]
The premises shall be used for Class E (d) and F.2 (d) and for no other purpose (including any other purpose in Class E or F of the Schedule to
the Town & Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any Statutory Instrument
revoking or re-enacting that Order.
Reason: In the interest of proper planning and to ensure that full consideration is given by the Local Planning Authority to any alternative in the
interests of safeguarding the vitality and viability of Epping Town Centre, in accordance with policies E1, E4A and E4B of the adopted Local Plan
1998 & 2006, Policies E 1 and E 2 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021. In the interest highway safety and

safeguarding habitats and species of significant ecological importance within the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation, in accordance with
Policy T 1, DM2 and DM22 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

34

M1 – Permitted Development Rights Removed
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any other
order revoking and re-enacting that order) no development generally permitted by virtue of Class MA of Part 3 of Schedule 2 shall be undertaken
without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority.

Page 92

Reason: To allow the Local Planning Authority to retain control over the development and ensure further consideration is given with regards to
the effect on the character and appearance of the area and living conditions on adjoining properties, in accordance with policies E4A and DBE2
of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, policies E 1, DM 9 and DM 14 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021. In the
interest highway safety and safeguarding habitats and species of significant ecological importance within the Epping Forest Special Area of
Conservation, in accordance with Policy T 1, DM2 and DM22 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

35

Air Extraction/Ventilation
Notwithstanding the development hereby approved, details of any extract/air conditioning/refrigeration and /or ventilation system proposed for
installation outside of the approved roof plant enclosures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to its
installation within or on any individual unit. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect nearby noise sensitive residential and commercial premises from significant loss of amenity due to noise, in accordance with
policy DBE9 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006, policy DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Informatives

Page 93

1

The Local Planning Authority has been positive and proactive in its consideration of this planning application suggesting improvements to the
development during the course of the application. The applicant submitted amended plans and additional and revised information resulting in a
form of development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the District.

2

Sports Centre Design - The applicant is advised that the design and layout of the leisure centre should comply with the relevant industry
Technical Design Guidance, including guidance published by Sport England, National Governing Bodies for Sport. Particular attention is drawn
to Sport England’s “Accessible Facilities”, Sports Hall Design & Layouts” and “Swimming Pools” design guidance notes
https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-andcost-guidance.

3

Meanwhile – Any meanwhile activities proposed on this site that fall outside of Permitted Development within the GPDO 2015 (as amended) are
subject to planning permission.

4

Any advertisements and / or signage shall be agreed separately under the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) Regulations
2007.

5

The applicant is advised that no waste materials generated as a result of the proposed demolition and/or construction operations shall be burnt
on the site. All such refuse shall be disposed of by suitable alternative methods.

6

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the Control of Pollution Act 1974 relating to the control of noise on construction and demolition sites.

7

Environmental Protection and Drainage Advisory: The applicant has provided a surface water drainage strategy and the general principles of the
design are acceptable. The Environmental Protection and Drainage Team will require further information/clarification at the discharge of
conditions stage on the following:
-

Evidence of the required water quality treatment for the southern part of the access road in line with Chapter 26 of the SuDS Manual.

-

Details of mitigation measures in place for the overall site in relation to fuel and oil spillage.
Evidence of a permit to discharge into the main river from the Environment Agency.
Details of pump contingency.
Health and safety precautions to be included in relation to the open water features.
Survey of the existing watercourse and its ability to take the additional surface water from the development.
Details of where any flooded volume for the 1 in 100 year plus 40% will be contained within the site as per the planning statement.
A detailed drainage plan must be supplied including details of any interceptors for fuel spillage, silt traps, catch pits, exceedance routing,
in addition to details already covered in the Flood Risk Assessment.

Page 94

8

It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that before commencement of any works to the public highway, any necessary Agreements under the
Highways Act 1980 are also obtained. Works to the highway will normally require an agreement or agreements, under Section 278 of the
Highways Act, with Highways England and the Local Highway Authority.

9

All work within or affecting the highway is to be laid out and constructed by prior arrangement with, and to the requirements and satisfaction of,
the Highway Authority, details to be agreed before the commencement of works. The applicants should be advised to contact the Development
Management Team by email at development.management@essexhighways.org or by post to: SMO3 - Essex Highways, Unit 36, Childerditch
Industrial Park, Childerditch Hall Drive, Brentwood, Essex, CM13 3HD.

10

The Highway Authority cannot accept any liability for costs associated with a developer’s improvement. This includes design check safety
audits, site supervision, commuted sums for maintenance and any potential claims under Part 1 and Part 2 of the Land Compensation Act
1973. To protect the Highway Authority against such compensation claims a cash deposit or bond may be required.

Appendix 2

Traffic
Rush hour traffic is described as already being an issue in this area and there are therefore
concerns that the increase in traffic will cause further issues for local residents.
There are suggestions that suitable provision be made for the improvement of the road
layout, specifically the inclusion of a zebra crossing between the gym and proposed car park
to assist those travelling on foot from Albany Court where there is currently no pavement
and a blind bend.
Construction phase
There are suggestions that mitigation of noise and pollution be part of the overall plan as
there are concerns around noise, dirt, dust and general disruption caused while works are
ongoing.
Noise
There are suggestions that hours of opening are restricted to avoid noise and disturbance to
the adjoining residential properties. There are also concerns around noise from the pumps,
heating, air conditioning units and other services.
Lighting
There are concerns around the light pollution from the centre at night.
Parking
There are suggestions that the development should result in no loss of parking. It is stressed
that car parking for residents and visitors is already difficult, and therefore suggested that
additional provision for parking should be made.
There are questions around the coach drop off point as it is unclear on the plans whether
this will be located entirely off the road, and where the coaches will wait to pick up
passengers after dropping them off.
It is also noted that the development at St John's Road will increase parking congestion.
Design
It is noted that, whilst there are details on different enhancements and building materials
on the exterior of the sports complex, little consideration is made to integrate it with other
buildings in the vicinity.
Scale
There are concerns around scale and it is believed that the proposed building structures and
height should be reduced so as to lessen a dominant and detrimental effect on the
surrounding areas, particularly Buttercross Lane. It is noted that any reasonably large
development would appear oppressive to the nearby properties in Albany Court and St
Johns Road, and that the drawings are not sympathetic with either Bakers Villas or Falconry
Court as the building overwhelms its surroundings.
There are also concerns around the cycle studio overlooking the houses and gardens in St
Johns Road.

Page 95

Appendix 2

Loss of amenity
There are concerns around loss of amenity to the surrounding properties as there is no
acknowledgement in the project plan of this.
Boundaries / Security
There are concerns around the distance between the proposed buildings and existing
residential properties are maximised, with particular mention of a secure fence between
current properties and the site was recently removed. There are suggestions that an
adequate fence be re-installed for perimeter security during and post-completion, or a
screen of mature trees be planted along the boundaries of adjoining residential properties
to form an effective screen. It is noted that a number of bushes and trees have been cleared
to the side of a property on Albany Court leaving the garden and property open and
vulnerable.
Litter
There are concerns around anti-social behaviour, as living in close proximity to retail and
public facilities is believed to bring unwanted litter and dumped shopping trolleys into
residential streets.
Economy
There are concerns that the high street is suffering a number of vacancies and therefore
there is a suggestion that market research be carried out and updated to confirm demand
for the proposed retail and commercial uses of the plan.
There are also questions around the requirement and financial viability of a swimming pool
in Epping.
Council scheme
There are concerns that approval of the scheme is pre-supposed as the application is
submitted on behalf of Epping Forest District Council.

Page 96

Appendix 3
Epping Forest District Council – Air Quality
17 August 2021
This development will contribute to a small (or as the assessment defines – negligible) increase in
local air pollution in terms of nitrogen dioxide levels. In the case of our air quality management area
(AQMA), the increase is classified as slight. The concern with this is that it will contribute to a
creeping baseline in terms of local air quality, and slowly increase pollution concentrations instead of
reducing them as desired by DM22 and NPPF.
Whilst this is a revised version of an already approved assessment, there are aspects of the revised
assessment that I question.
I note that this revised air quality assessment used updated traffic data that included data from
2020. Had this been consulted on prior to the revised report being produced, I would have asked
that the consultant exclude this data as traffic data during COVID is not representative.
I also note that both the first and revised air quality assessment used Defra background data rather
than the background diffusion tube which is located close to the sites. Had this been used instead,
the results would have shown higher pollution concentrations as the monitored tube has a higher
background concentration than the Defra map which are modelled/predicted levels. The
justification to not use our background tube was that they wanted to avoid double counting from
emissions from the High St, however, as a background site this is representative of background levels
in the area and would have been preferred as a background concentration.
Table 9.13 which looks at the pollution concentrations in 2025 with the Project + St John’s, Civic
Offices and Sports Centre (cumulative) is misleading as the total pollutant concentration in 2025 for
all five sites is less than the pollutant concentrations for just the Cottis and Bakers Lane sites in table
9.10. This suggests either an error or possibly different emission factors being used in table 9.13. It
is therefore difficult to assess what the actual cumulative impact of the full five sites on air quality
will be. This is something that we had requested from the consultant in our initial methodology
discussions.
With regards to vehicle emissions, it had been highlighted to the consultant that the work done for
the SAC identified that the vehicle fleet used around the SAC was older than the national average.
This was not discussed in the revised assessment and it would have been beneficial for the
consultant to include in detail how they addressed this issue in their revised assessment. I
acknowledge that a sensitivity test was conducted, however it was presented in table 9.3.1 in a
confusing way and had errors that the air quality consultant in later discussions acknowledged. The
report said the sensitivity test would assume no improvement in vehicle emissions beyond 2021,
however, the consultant acknowledged that 2025 without used 2025 emission factors.
I also question why multiple years were used in the baseline part of the assessment (2021
background data, 2019 monitoring data, 2019 MET data and 2019/2020 traffic data) instead of one
base year.
Technical Appendix 9.4 Emissions Mitigation Assessment does put forward mitigation measures,
however, the assessment does not state how much of a pollution offset these measures will provide.
Additionally, as some of these mitigation measures will be under the jurisdiction of other authorities
such as ECC, EFDC planning will need to put an agreement in place to ensure these measures are
implemented.
Should planning permission be granted, I recommend the following conditions:

Page 97

A-1

Appendix 3
Construction Management Conditions
1 a) Prior to demolition works commencing a Demolition Management Statement shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for a management scheme whose
purpose shall be to control and minimise emissions of pollutants from and attributable to the
demolition of the development. This should include a risk assessment and a method statement in
accordance with relevant guidance such as IAQM’s assessment of dust from demolition and
construction guidance and the control of dust and emissions from construction and demolition best
practice guidance published by the Greater London Authority. The scheme shall set out the secure
measures, which can, and will, be put in place.
b) Prior to construction works commencing a Construction Management Statement shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for a management scheme
whose purpose shall be to control and minimise emissions of pollutants from and attributable to the
construction of the development. This should include a risk assessment and a method statement in
accordance with relevant guidance such as IAQM’s assessment of dust from demolition and
construction guidance and the control of dust and emissions from construction and demolition best
practice guidance published by the Greater London Authority. The scheme shall set out the secure
measures, which can, and will, be put in place.
Reason: Dust and other air pollution from demolition and construction can impact greatly on the
health and quality of life of people working on and living close to these sites if they are badly
managed.
To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and Policy T1 and DM22
of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017
Informative for the Construction Management Statement condition
The submitted management statement shall include details of:










Site hoarding
Wheel washing
Dust suppression methods and kit to be used
Bonfire policy
Confirmation that all Non Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) comply with the Non Road
Mobile Machinery (Emissions of Gaseous and Particulate Pollutants) Regulations 1999
Confirmation if a mobile crusher will be used on site and if so, a copy of the permit and
indented dates of operation
Site plan identifying location of:
- site entrance and exit
- wheel washing
- hard standing
- hoarding (distinguishing between solid hoarding and other barriers such as heras and
monarflex sheeting)
- stock piles
- dust suppression
- location of water supplies and
- location of nearest neighbouring receptors
Copy of an asbestos survey

Page 98

A-2

Appendix 3
2. The details and measures contained in the approved demolition and construction management
statement must be fully implemented to the Council’s satisfaction.
Reason: Dust and other air pollution from demolition and construction can impact greatly on the
health and quality of life of people working on and living close to these sites if they are badly
managed.
To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and Policy T1 and DM22
of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017.
3. Wheel washing equipment to be installed
Wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for vehicles leaving the site during construction works
shall be installed and utilised to clean vehicles immediately before leaving the site. Any mud or other
material deposited on nearby roads as a result of the development shall be removed.
Reason:- To avoid the deposit of material on the public highway in the interests of highway safety, in
accordance with the guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework, policy ST4
of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and Policy T 1 of the Epping Forest District Council Local
Plan Submission Version 2017.

Ultra Low NOx Boilers Condition (if applicable)
4. Prior to installation, details of the boilers shall be forwarded to the Local Planning Authority for
approval. The boilers shall have dry NOx emissions not exceeding 40 mg/kWh (0%).
Reason: To help improve local environmental conditions and limit emissions to air as required by the
national planning policy framework. Boilers can be a significant source of NO2 emissions and
worsen local air quality.
To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and Policy T1 and DM22
of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017
Electric Charging Points (commercial/leisure) Condition
5. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, a minimum of 1 Electric Vehicle
Charging Point per every 10 spaces on industrial, commercial or leisure developments shall be
installed and retained thereafter.
Reason: To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and Policy T1 and
DM22 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017.

Environment Agency
18 August 2021
The previous land use at these sites suggests the potential presence of contamination. As the sites
are situated in a vulnerable groundwater area within on a secondary aquifer these proposals need to
be dealt with in a way which protects the underlying groundwater. Please therefore take note of the
following advice.
Where land contamination may be an issue for a prospective development we encourage developers
to employ specialist consultants/contractors working under the National Quality Mark Scheme.

Page 99

A-3

Appendix 3
Epping Forest District Council - Environmental Health Air Quality
19 January 2021
Accept the conclusions of the submitted air quality assessment, on the proviso that the applicant’s
traffic assessment and sustainability assessment are approved with no further amendments required
from the relevant teams at EFDC and ECC.
Recommend the following conditions should planning permission be granted:
Construction Management Conditions




1. a) Prior to demolition works commencing a Demolition Management Statement shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for a management
scheme whose purpose shall be to control and minimise emissions of pollutants from and
attributable to the demolition of the development.
1. b) Prior to construction works commencing a Construction Management Statement shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for a management
scheme whose purpose shall be to control and minimise emissions of pollutants from and
attributable to the construction of the development.

Reason: Dust and other air pollution from demolition and construction can impact greatly on the health
and quality of life of people working on and living close to these sites if they are badly managed.


2. The details and measures contained in the approved demolition and construction
management statement must be fully implemented to the Council’s satisfaction.

Reason: Dust and other air pollution from demolition and construction can impact greatly on the health
and quality of life of people working on and living close to these sites if they are badly managed.
To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and Policy T1 and DM22 of
the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017.


3. Wheel washing equipment to be installed

Reason: To avoid the deposit of material on the public highway in the interests of highway safety, in
accordance with the guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework, policy ST4 of
the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and Policy T 1 of the Epping Forest District Council Local Plan
Submission Version 2017.
Ultra-Low NOx Boilers Condition (if applicable)


4. Prior to installation, details of the boilers shall be forwarded to the Local Planning Authority
for approval. The boilers shall have dry NOx emissions not exceeding 40 mg/kWh (0%).

Reason: To help improve local environmental conditions and limit emissions to air as required by the
national planning policy framework. Boilers can be a significant source of NO2 emissions and worsen
local air quality.
To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and Policy T1 and DM22 of
the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017
Electric Charging Points (commercial/leisure) Condition


5. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, a minimum of 1 Electric
Vehicle Charging Point per every 10 spaces on industrial, commercial or leisure developments
shall be installed and retained thereafter.

Page 100

A-4

Appendix 3
Reason: To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and Policy T1 and
DM22 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017.

Epping Forest District Council - Environment Health
12 January 2021
CONSTRUCTION PHASE:
Construction methodology
Condition: Before any phase of the hear by permitted development commences, the construction
methodology shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the impact
on nearby noise sensitive premises is minimised from activities such as (but not exclusively)
excavation, piling, vehicle and plant movements, etc. Only construction methods in accordance with
the written approval shall be undertaken.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of noise sensitive properties.
Construction work – Permitted hours
Condition: All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations (which includes deliveries and
other commercial vehicles to and from the site) which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive
premises, shall only take place on site between the hours of 0730 to 1830 Monday to Friday & 0800
to 1300 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Bank Holidays unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of noise sensitive properties.
Bonfires
Condition: No bonfires shall be permitted on site throughout the demolition and construction phase
of the development.
Reason: In order to protect residential amenity.
Dust control
Condition: All reasonable steps to minimise dust emissions from the site shall be employed
throughout the demolition and construction phase of the development. The dust suppression
methodology shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority before construction
commences.
Reason: To protect the amenity of the area from excessive dust emissions.
Wheel Washer
Condition: Wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for vehicles leaving the site during demolition
and construction works shall be installed in accordance with details which shall be submitted and
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The facilities shall be installed prior to
commencement of any works on the site and shall be used to clean vehicles leaving the site.
Reason: To avoid the deposit of material on the public highway in the interest of highway safety and
control of dust.

Page 101

A-5

Appendix 3
OCCUPATION PHASE:
Noise from service yard
Suggest some form of barrier between the yard and neighbouring properties (such as a 2m high
close boarded fence around the perimeter of the site which bounds residential properties).
Also recommend conditions limiting hours of collection and deliveries to the development, and the
collection of waste needs to be considered to ensure that this does not unduly affect the local
population from noise.
Condition: No deliveries shall be taken at or despatched from the site outside the hours of 07.3018.30 hrs Monday – Friday, 08.00-16.00 hrs Saturday, 09.00-13.00 hrs on Sundays, Bank or Public
Holidays.
Reason: In order to protect amenity of the area.
Condition: No refuse collection shall be carried out from the site outside the following times 07.00 to
19.00 hours Monday to Friday, 08.00-13.00 hrs Saturday nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public
Holidays.
Reason: In order to protect amenity of the area.
Noise from plant
Primarily concerned regarding noise from plant which will likely be situated around the facades
facing Albany Court and St Johns Road which will need to be considered very carefully to ensure that
they do not have an adverse effect on the neighbouring residential properties.
Condition: The use of any plant which services this development must cease during any period that
the rating level of noise (as defined by BS4142:2014) exceeds the prevailing background noise level at
the affected noise sensitive premises. The measurement position and assessment shall be made
according to BS4142:2014, and shall include the cumulative effect of all of the plant on the site.
The cumulative plant noise limit for this site shall not exceed 39dB LAeq, 1hr between 07.00-23.00
hrs, and 32dB LAeq, 15 mins between 23.00-07.00 hrs.
Reason: In order to minimise any noise which will affect the amenity of local residents.
ENTERTAINMENT NOISE:
Low Frequency Noise
It is noted that the consultant has suggested noise limits for the site for low frequency noise. Whilst
these are acceptable, question around how easily measurable they are considering the noise climate
in the area, and would like this to be explored further. The noise survey for the area provided an
overarching LAeq level, but did not look at the 1/3 octave bands for which the proposed limits were
suggested. Subject to the response of the applicant regarding this, either of the following conditions
are suggested:
Condition: Low frequency, unweighted noise levels should be controlled to a maximum of 50 dB Leq,
63Hz, 5 min and 40 dB Leq, 125Hz, 5 min at the façades of nearby noise sensitive premises.
Or

Page 102

A-6

Appendix 3
Condition: Low frequency noise from the hearby permitted leisure facility shall not be audible at the
façade of nearby noise sensitive premises.
Reason: In order to minimise the impact of any low frequency noise from music which will affect the
amenity of local residents.
Music noise
Condition: Any music played within the sports centre shall not be audible beyond the boundary of the
premises.
All external doors and windows which service any rooms in which exercise classes occur shall be kept
fully shut whilst lessons/activities are occurring where music forms part of the session.
Reason: In order to minimise the impact of music which will affect the amenity of local residents.
LIGHTING:
Condition: Details of any external lighting of the site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing
by, the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development. This information
shall include a layout plan with beam orientation and a schedule of equipment in the design
(luminaire type, mounting height, aiming angles and luminaire profiles), and the impact on
neighbouring residential properties. The lighting shall be installed, maintained and operated in
accordance with the approved details unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to
the variation.
Reason: To protect the appearance of the area, the environment and local residents from light
pollution.

Page 103

A-7

Appendix 3
Epping Forest District Council - Contaminated Land
11 January 2021
It is considered a possibility of contamination is present within the sub-surface. The preliminary risk
assessment for the site is therefore likely to be Low to Moderate. It has been recommended to
undertake an intrusive site investigation (Phase 2) to determine the extent of any localised Made
Ground and any actual pollution linkages and to quantify the risk to the receptors as outlined with
the Preliminary CSM.
A Phase 2 site investigation protocol should be prepared and submitted to the council for approval
prior to works taking place. A site walkover should be completed prior to development of Phase 2
site investigation protocol.
In respect of the above, it is considered that condition SCN 57A be attached to any approval granted.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological
systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policy RP4 of the adopted Local
Plan 1998 & 2006, and policy DM21 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2019.

Epping Forest District Council - Trees & Landscape
13 January 2021
It is considered that the proposal is contrary to Policy DM5 Submission version of EFDC Local Plan
(Dec 2017) – ‘Development proposals must demonstrate that they have been designed to
Ai) retain and where possible enhance existing green infrastructure... and must be accompanied by
sufficient evidence to demonstrate that Bii) the provision of new trees, new landscape and water
features. Therefore recommend refusal unless the issues/concerns highlighted are adequately
resolved.
If the application is approved the following conditions should be added:
a. NSCN31 – retention of trees and shrubs ; NSCN35 – hard and soft landscaping ;
NSCN39 – tree protection – these should all be included.
b. NSCN36 – tree planting where no other landscaping is required – don’t think this is
necessary as its going to be covered in NSCN35
c. NSCN37 – Landscape management plan ; NSCN38 – Landscape maintenance plan –
not sure these are really necessary either as NSCN covers for losses in first 5 years.
But I am happy for them to be left in if you feel they should be.

Epping Forest District Council - Building Control
14 January 2021
It is advised that early consultation is carried out with Essex Fire and Rescue Service with regards to
B5 of the Building Regulations (Access and facilities for the fire service), to ensure compliant access
can be achieved under the planning approved scheme.

Page 104

A-8

Appendix 3
Epping Forest District Council – Land Drainage
09 June 2021
No objection to planning application in principle, subject to the approval/implementation of the
requirements set out.
The applicant has provided a flood risk assessment and associated drainage design with the
application. Following correspondence with this team and the LLFA, revisions have been made to the
design such that we agree with the findings in principal. Please add a condition requiring that the
development be carried out in accordance with the flood risk assessment (Flood Risk Assessment,
Ref 2279-MHT-CV-RP-0001, December 2020) submitted with the application unless otherwise
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Where there is a public sewer within/adjacent the site, any works within three metres of a public
sewer will require build over consent from Thames Water Developer Services.
In line with the requirements set out in the Development Management drainage policies, namely
DM15 and DM16 within the Submission Version Draft Local Plan; the proposed drainage strategy
aims to achieve a reduce runoff from the site by incorporating sustainable drainage systems into the
drainage design. Please add a condition for the finalised details inclusive of, but not limited to the
.scrx files from Microdrainage and exploration of additional water quality treatment in line with the
simple index approach within C753; under condition SCN16 requiring approval of surface water
drainage by the Local Planning Authority prior to preliminary groundworks commencing.

Essex County Council - Development and Flood Risk (SuDs)
17 March 2021
Having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment and the associated documents which accompanied the
planning application, we do not object to the granting of planning permission based on the
following:
Condition 1
No works except demolition shall takes place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the
site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro
geological context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The scheme should include but not be limited to:
• Limiting discharge rates to 1.6l/s for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year rate plus
40% allowance for climate change. All relevant permissions to discharge from the site into any
outfall should be demonstrated.
• Provide sufficient storage to ensure no off site flooding as a result of the development during all
storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change event.
• Demonstrate that all storage features can half empty within 24 hours for the 1 in30 plus 40%
climate change critical storm event.
• Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.
• The appropriate level of treatment for all runoff leaving the site, in line with the Simple Index
Approach in chapter 26 of the CIRIA SuDS Manual C753. All proprietary treatment devices should
have the simple index mitigation indices provided by the manufacturer. If these are not available

Page 105

A-9

Appendix 3
then an alternative device should be used. Please note that silt traps, gullies, and catchpits are not
accepted as suitable means of treatment.
• Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage scheme.
• A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL and ground levels, and
location and sizing of any drainage features.
• A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to the
approved strategy.
Reason
• To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water from the site.
• To ensure the effective operation of SuDS features over the lifetime of the development.
• To provide mitigation of any environmental harm which may be caused to the local water
environment
• Failure to provide the above required information before commencement of works may result in a
system being installed that is not sufficient to deal with surface water occurring during rainfall
events and may lead to increased flood risk and pollution hazard from the site.
Condition 2
Prior to occupation a maintenance plan detailing the maintenance arrangements including who is
responsible for different elements of the surface water drainage system and the maintenance
activities/frequencies, has been submitted to and agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
Should any part be maintainable by a maintenance company, details of long term funding
arrangements should be provided.
Reason
To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to enable the surface water
drainage system to function as intended to ensure mitigation against flood risk. Failure to provide
the above required information prior to occupation may result in the installation of a system that is
not properly maintained and may increase flood risk or pollution hazard from the site.
Condition 3
The applicant or any successor in title must maintain yearly logs of maintenance which should be
carried out in accordance with any approved Maintenance Plan. These must be available for
inspection upon a request by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason
To ensure the SuDS are maintained for the lifetime of the development as outlined in any approved
Maintenance Plan so that they continue to function as intended to ensure mitigation against flood
risk.

Essex County Council - Development and Flood Risk (SuDs)
12 January 2021
Issue a holding objection to the granting of planning permission based on the following:


In line with the Essex SuDS Design Guide, brownfield sites should limit to the 1 in 1 year
greenfield rate for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 plus climate change
storm event. If this is proven not to be possible the discharge rate should be limited back to
as close as feasibly possible with a 50% betterment on the 1 in 1 year brownfield rate being
the last resort. Currently it is not known what the brownfield rate is and it is said that
existing site has a hydrobrake restricting the flow. Therefore, it is not shown that 4.3l/s is a

Page 106

A-10

Appendix 3






last resort of 50% betterment of the current 1 in 1 year brownfield rate, and it is not shown
that this is even less than what the site is currently discharging at. As there is no information
the brownfield rates, the site should discharge at the 1 in 1 year greenfield rate, or matched
equivalent rates for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 plus 40% climate
change storm event.
Within the documents uploaded onto the planning portal, there is a document discussing a
rain garden/tree pit. This has not been spoken about within the drainage scheme, this
should be explained further.
There have been no preliminary calculations provided for the storage or for the network
itself.
It is unclear how the surface water collected on the service yard and cycling parking area
highlighted on the site plan is to be treated before being discharged.

Additional comments:




Whilst the irrigation of the green roof would be a welcomed form of reuse, it is
recommended that where possible, further consideration is given to the reuse for things
such as showers and toilets
Strongly recommend looking at the Essex Green Infrastructure Strategy to ensure that the
proposals are implementing multifunctional green/blue features effectively.
Essex County Council - Green Infrastructure
11 January 2021

No objection, however if approval is forthcoming, it is recommended that the following conditions
are considered:


Action required prior to commencement of development: Landscape management plan.
No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved, in writing,
by the Local Planning Authority, a landscape management and maintenance plan and work
schedule for a minimum of 10 years. Details should include who is responsible for GI assets
(including and surface water drainage system) and the maintenance activities/frequencies.
Would also expect details on how management company services for the maintenance of GI
assets and green spaces shall be funded and managed for the lifetime of the development to
be included.
Reason: To ensure appropriate management and maintenance arrangements and funding
mechanisms are put in place to maintain high-quality value and benefits of GI assets.

Essex County Council - Highways
The Highway Authority has assessed the application and submitted information, visited the site, and
has concluded that in highway terms it is not contrary to national and local highway and
transportation policy and current safety criteria.
The Transport Assessment has analysed the impact of the traffic generation, to the satisfaction of
the Highway Authority, and is not considered to have a significant or severe impact at this location,
or on the wider highway network.

Page 107

A-11

Appendix 3
Furthermore, the applicant is improving the existing environment for walking and cycling, as well as
providing improved bus stop facilities along the High Street, that will help encourage more use of
sustainable transport options to and from the site, and help reduce the reliance on the private
motor vehicle.
Consequently, the Highway Authority has concluded that the proposal will not be detrimental to
highway safety, capacity, or efficiency.

Essex County Council – Place Services – Historic Environment
14 January 2021
There is no need for an archaeological condition for this application.

Essex County Council – Place Services – Ecology
12 January 2021
No objection subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures.
Recommended conditions:


All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance
with the details contained in the Ecological Appraisal (BSG Ecology, December 2020), as
already submitted with the planning application and agreed in principle with the local
planning authority prior to determination.

Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge its
duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife
& Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).


A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority, following the details contained
within the Ecological Appraisal (BSG Ecology, December 2020). The content of the
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be
retained in that manner thereafter.”

Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its duties
under the NPPF 2019 and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

Page 108

A-12

Appendix 3
Epping Town Council
23 June 2021
Committee have no objection to this application.
The Committee acknowledge receipt of the latest technical reports regarding this proposed
development.
However, the Committee felt that it would have been helpful for the applicant to liaise with the
Town Council to explain the proposed development and ay changes made especially given previous
comments made by the Committee.

Epping Town Council
18 January 2021
No planning objection to the proposal, but request the following matters are taken into
consideration:







Concerns about the effect of the proposal on the residents of Bakers Villas and Albany Court
as the development would result in a loss of amenity for the neighbouring properties in
terms of visual impact, plant noise and noise from nightlife. Natural daylight would be
impaired for neighbours because of the positioning of the buildings. Epping Town
Council request that consideration is given to the design and positioning of the
development to minimise the impact on neighbours.
The materials need to compliment the particular urban street scene.
Concerns about the lack of provision for wildlife and the volume of the removal of trees and
vegetation. Any such works must be done at the correct time of year and habitats should be
protected.
Suggest access for traffic is carefully thought out in the design of the development as the
more intense use of the site would be detrimental to Highway safety. The design must
mitigate the potential for queuing to get into one car park, when previously parking has
been spread across two sites. There are highway safety implications because of this, with
pedestrians crossing the narrow Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane road areas. The circulation
around the building should be carefully thought out in terms of vehicle and pedestrian
access and safety.

Essex Police
1 February 2021
Inspection of the documents provided indicate information is required to form an opinion as to the
extent to which CPTED has been incorporated into the design. There are some issues of concern
Essex Police would be keen to discuss with the applicant.

Page 109

A-13

Appendix 3
Sport England
19 January 2021
Sport England is supportive of the principle of the development. Advisory design comments are
made which the applicant is requested to consider before the planning application is determined
and it is requested that a planning condition is imposed in relation to the detailed design
specifications for the sports hall and swimming pool as set out in the response.

Epping Society
16 January 2021
Object to the application on the following grounds:










The consultation process has been unreasonably short and unwieldy. The process is
conflicted and fails to reflect the scale and importance of the proposed developments.
The documents supporting the application are too numerous and badly organised. There are
too many errors and uncertainties contained therein, casting doubt on projections and
expectations.
The proposed buildings are massive and overshadowing so their impacts will be greater than
indicated.
The designs indicated are inappropriate for a small historic market town.
Inadequate consideration has been given to the interaction between the new buildings and
local wind patterns, the “wind tunnel” effect.
Traffic flow assessments are flawed and underestimate the impacts the development will
have on an already over-stretched infrastructure.
Cycling has been overestimated as a component of the likely transport mix.
Pedestrian movement issues have not been sufficiently addressed.

Page 110

A-14

Appendix 4
Bakers Lane QRP Summary Reports:
20.03.20 – Formal review of Epping Town Centre Sites









While supporting the emerging work, the panel thinks there is scope to be bolder.
The panel recommends further work to define, proactively manage, protect and
measure ‘quality’, through each RIBA stage of work.
The panel recommends embedding clear sustainability commitments at RIBA Stage
1 or 2, which could include precedent research for criteria such as Passivhaus.
It highlights the benefits of early community engagement.
The panel encourages options testing for the mix and location of key Town Centre
functions and non-residential land uses. It also suggests broadening the spatial
scope of the Brief, to look beyond red line boundaries and consider the relationship
between the five sites and the high street, including potential public realm
improvements.
The panel urges a holistic view of the whole town centre to inform key design moves
on each site.
The panel thinks the current approach to car parking is unresolved. It highlights the
huge potential to encourage sustainable travel and adopt a flexible future-proofed
strategy to car parking and travel.

10.07.20 – Formal review of Epping Town Centre Sites








The panel thinks a more convincingly comprehensive approach is developing.
It strongly welcomes reconsideration of the leisure centre location and multi-storey
car park proposals.
The panel is yet to be convinced on the analysis undertaken to support the current
approach to town centre functions, or rationale for the housing typologies, tenure and
mix. While it broadly supports the uses suggested, it is unclear why specific uses are
being directed to specific sites.
It strongly recommends further work to ensure exemplary housing design, including
revisiting typologies, internal arrangements and layouts. The panel would like to see
more detail at a framework level before planning application details are developed,
including on: routes, broader connectivity, servicing, edges, integration and retail
arrangements.
It continues to strongly urge early engagement to develop the project vision – so
people can feel genuine agency in informing proposals.

17.09.20 – Workshop review of Epping Town Centre Sites






The Panel applauds the substantial work undertaken since the last review.
The approach taken to engagement is commendable and should be valuable in
informing ongoing design work.
The panel continues to stress the importance of looking beyond physical building
elements – to engage with the social, not just physical development of the centre. It
would have expected to see mapping – analysing the social and cultural offer that
already exists in the centre. This would then be used to inform an approach to ‘fill in
these gaps’.
The panel encourages developing a meanwhile strategy, and exploring the potential
for small scale public realm interventions.

Page 111




Greater clarity is needed on how individual sites and public realm will be phased,
funded and delivered including the delivery of public realm improvements.
The panel continues to strongly urge that the council re-consider the ‘no net loss’
approach to car parking – and follow an evidence-based approach to parking and
sustainable travel.

30.10.20 – Site Specific Workshop review








The panel finds much to admire but recommends significant reconsideration of a
number of aspects in advance of a planning submission.
The panel encourages the team to learn from the pandemic by celebrating the
outdoors with an active rooftop or shared public amenity spaces for exercise and
play.
The team is urged to develop its sustainability strategy further, so that it becomes an
exemplar scheme suited to a civic setting. This includes using materials and systems
to promote sustainability more widely and establishing a heat exchange system.
The team should strive to create a flexible community hub that can facilitate nonsporting uses and events at different times of the day.
The step in topography to the western side should be reconsidered, and priority
parking moved to Cottis Lane to enlarge the area of external public space accessible
from Bakers Lane.
The panel welcomes the way the building strongly addresses the eastern corner of
the site, but recommends that the pedestrian link to Cottis Lane Car Park is
reconsidered to provide safe accessibility.
The panel supports the simplicity of the building form, and encourages the use of a
robust material palette, with careful attention to detailing.

Page 112

Item 10
Epping Forest DistrictAgenda
Council
El
Sub Sta

Pond

5

NE
LA

7

to

48

S
ER
K
BA

Fa Th
rm e
ho
us
e

2

5a

4

o6

The e
ttag
Co

S
OS
CR
ER
TT
BU

1t

EFDC
s
e
Th Villa
rs
ke
a
B

7

55

7a

4
to 5
49

Doubleda
House

1a

1

E
N
LA

e se
ThHou
ill
M

PC

25
9

26
5

Car Park

25
5

25
7

Falconry Court

23
9t
o2
53

23
1

to

22
9

23
5

21
21 0
2

El
Sub Sta

21
6

EFDC

Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings.

Application Number:

22
EPF/2925/20
1
2

Site Name:

Contains Ordnance Survey Data. ©
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No:
100018534

Scale of Plot:

Cottis Lane Car Park
Cottis Lane Epping CM16 5LL
1:1250

23

Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail
Copyright & Database Right 2013

Page 113

20
4

22
5

PH

This page is intentionally left blank

Report to District Development
Management Committee
Date of Meeting: 27th October 2021

Site Address: Cottis Lane Car Park, Cottis Lane, Epping
CM16 5LL
Application Number:

EPF/2925/20

Application Type:

Full Planning Application

Proposal:

Full application for the redevelopment of existing
surface level car park comprising the demolition of
public toilets and the construction of a multi-deck
car park, cinema (sui generis), commercial
floorspace (mixed Class E), replacement public
toilets and cycle store, all associated plant,
together with new vehicular and pedestrian
access, all hard and soft landscaping, and
associated works.

Site Address:

Cottis Lane Car Park, Cottis Lane, Epping CM16 5LL

Ward:

Epping Lindsey and Thornwood Common

Parish:

Epping Town

Conservation Area:

No

EFDLP Site Allocation

Yes

Epping Forest Special Area of
Conservation

LPSV Ref: EPP.R6

Subject to the imposition of planning conditions and
completion of a section 106 planning obligation to secure
the measures identified in the Interim Air Pollution
Mitigation Strategy and electric vehicle charging

Page 115

infrastructure, the Council can conclude that there will be
no adverse impact on the integrity of the Epping Forest
Special Area of Conservation.

Applicant:

Qualis Commercial Ltd (part of Qualis Group Ltd)
Qualis Group Ltd is a company wholly owned by Epping Forest
District Council

Agent:

Q+A Planning Ltd

Case officer:

Nick Finney

Democratic Services Officer

Gary Woodhall. Contact number: 01992 564 470

Validation date:

19th December 2020

Reason for reporting
application to Members:

This application is before this committee since it proposes a
‘major’ development where the Council is a landowner as
defined in Article 10 of the Constitution.
The site is to have transferred from Council ownership to
Qualis Commercial Ltd, however given that this is a wholly
owned company of the Council the application is considered
to meet the DDMC terms of reference.

1.

RECOMMENDATION
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to:
1. the prior completion of a Legal Agreement within four months of the resolution
to grant planning permission to secure the planning obligations within section
3 and subject to planning conditions listed in Appendix 1 of this report.

2.

SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

2.1

The application site has been proposed for allocation (ref: EPP.R7) in the Epping
Forest District Local Plan Submission Version (LPSV) to provide new residential
accommodation to meet an identified need. The proposal for a leisure centre on the
site is contrary to this site allocation, however, the applicant is to make good the
shortfall in residential provision via the use of the Land at St John’s Road site as a

Page 116

‘donor site’. Subject to securing the planned for residential accommodation via the
s106 planning obligations the principle of the use is supported.
2.2

The application site has been proposed for allocation (ref: EPP.R6) in the Epping
Forest District Local Plan Submission Version (LPSV) to provide new residential
accommodation alongside retained public parking to meet an identified need. The
proposal for commercial uses on the site is contrary to this site allocation, however,
the applicant is to make good the shortfall in residential provision via the use of the
Land at St John’s Road site as a ‘donor site’. Subject to securing the planned for
residential accommodation via the s106 planning obligations the principle of the use is
supported.

2.3

The new commercial units and cinema provide an enhancement to the existing town
centre offer. The site is a sustainable town centre location and the proposal will support
the vitality and viability of the wider town centre. The high quality architecture will
contribute positively to the setting and the development will enable much improved
public realm and town centre connectivity. The provision of a ‘green’ roof supports an
overall biodiversity net gain on the site.

2.4

Potential impact on the amenity of adjoining residential properties is suitably mitigated
through the boundary treatment, orientation of the buildings, restrictions on plant noise
and construction management conditions.

2.5

It has been concluded beyond reasonable scientific doubt that the development will
not result in an adverse impact on the integrity of the Epping Forest SAC subject to
mitigation measures and site-specific conditions and obligations that will be imposed.

2.6

The commercial elements of the building are targeting a BREEAM rating of ‘Excellent’
for the majority of space which is within the top 10% of non-domestic UK buildings.
The proposal provides a 59% reduction in C02 emissions over the requirements of
Building Regulations Part L and will utilise renewal sources of energy thus contributing
to the Districts carbon neutral by 2030 targets.

2.7

Taken together, the application has demonstrated its compliance with the
requirements of the LPSV, the Adopted Local Plan and the NPPF. It is therefore
recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the imposition of suitably
worded planning conditions and obligations.

3.

PLANNING OBLIGATIONS AND CONDITIONS

3.1

The recommendation is given subject to conditions as set out in Appendix 1 of this
report. In addition, a section 106 agreement will secure the following planning
obligations and financial contributions. The obligations are grouped into sections for
ease of reference:

3.1

Transport

Page 117

3.2



Bus Infrastructure Improvements



Travel Plan



Controlled Parking Zones Review

Epping Forest SAC HRA Mitigation


3.3

15% active provision of Electric Vehicle Charging Points (50 spaces in total)

Employment and Skills


An employment and skills plan to be agreed for the development

Completion of the section 106 agreement
3.4

In the event that the required section 106 agreement is not satisfactorily completed
within four months of the date of the resolution to grant planning permission then in the
absence of a suitable mechanism to secure planning and financial obligations to
mitigate the impact of development, the Planning Services Director is authorised to
refuse planning permission.
Conditions

3.5

The full list of conditions recommended for the planning permission is identified in
Appendix 1. In summary, the conditions applicable to the planning permission will
cover the following matters:


Time Limit for commencement



Approved drawing numbers



Finished floor levels



Use of materials



Design and landscape



Ecology issues



SuDS and land drainage



Land contamination



Sustainability / energy



Noise and air quality mitigation



External lighting strategy

Page 118


4.

Restrictive conditions

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

Full application for the redevelopment of existing surface level car park
comprising the demolition of public toilets and the construction of a multideck car park, cinema (sui generis), commercial floorspace (mixed Class
E), replacement public toilets and cycle store, all associated plant, together
with new vehicular and pedestrian access, all hard and soft landscaping,
and associated works.
5.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1

Environmental Impact Assessments (EIA) have been undertaken for all five sites and
reported in two Environmental Statements:
1. Environmental Statement dated 31 March 2021 which reports the findings of the
EIA for the three residential sites (St John's Road (EPP.R4), Sports Centre
(EPP.R5) and Civic Offices (part) (EPP.R8) (the Residential ES); and
2. Environmental Statement dated 28 July 2021 which reports on the findings of the
EIA for the two commercial sites (Cottis Lane (EPP.R6) and Bakers Lane
(EPP.R7)) (the Commercial ES).

5.2

The 'Epping Town Centre Development: Environment Summary Report' dated July
2020 sets out how the Residential ES and the Commercial ES interact and that
relevant environmental effects have been assessed for each site individually and
cumulatively.

5.3

It is assessed by the Council that the submitted ES's collectively provide adequate
environmental information to enable the applications to be determined.

5.4

Both the Residential ES and the Commercial ES assess the likely significant effects
on ecology and biodiversity, traffic and transport, socio-economics, air quality,
townscape, cultural heritage and climate change. The effects have been analysed and
mitigation measures have been identified.

5.5

Both of the environmental statements identify the following significant effects:

5.6



Significant effect on climate change, which is to be addressed via embedded and
operational mitigation to reduce carbon emissions, as detailed further in the
Sustainability section of this report.



Significant beneficial effect from new employment opportunities.

Other residual effects are to be addressed via Construction Management Plans,
Landscape and Ecological Management Plans secured by planning condition.

Page 119

6.

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

6.1

The application site lays within the defined Epping town centre to the north of the
proposed primary shopping area as defined in the LPSV. The site comprises a public
car park which provides 203 surface level public pay and display car parking spaces.
A small public toilet building maintained by Epping Town Council is located within the
car park. Pedestrian access to the high street can be gained from the car park directly
via a footpath adjacent to the M&S store. The boundaries of the site are mainly
comprised of established hedging and trees.

6.2

The north-west boundary is to Bakers’ Villas a sheltered housing complex and to the
east/ north-east are the residential properties of Buttercross Lane. To the south is a
small staff and customer car park serving M&S, the rear of the M&S store and the
Epping in Bloom community garden.

6.3

To the west on the opposite side of Cottis Lane there are two, three storey blocks of
offices forming part of the Falconry Court development. Kestrel House and Peregrine
House are modern buildings, designed in Georgian and Victorian Gothic styles. These
properties have been subject of a recent Prior Approval Application (ref. EPF/2056/21)
for conversion from office to residential use under the provisions of Class O of Part 3
of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
Order 2015 (as amended). The prior approval was granted on 20/09/21 which enables
these properties to be converted into the 51 residential dwellings if implemented.

7.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

7.1

Given the long term existing use of the site as a car park, there is no recent planning
history recorded at the site.

8.

CONSULTATION AND REPRESENTATIONS

8.1

Statutory and technical consultee comments are noted below and provided in
summary within Appendix 3 (the submitted comments are available in full on the
Council's website through the following link).


Essex County Council - SUDS – No objection, subject to conditions.



Essex County Council – Green Infrastructure – No objection, subject to
condition.



Essex County Council - Highways – No objection, subject to conditions.



Essex County Council - Place Service Archaeology – No objection subject to
conditions.



Essex County Council - Place Service Ecology – No objection, subject to
conditions.

Page 120



EFDC - Environmental Health – Noise – No objection in principle, subject to
conditions.



EFDC - Environmental Health - Contaminated Land – No objection, subject to
conditions.



EFDC - Environmental Health – Air Quality Officer – No objection, subject to
conditions.



EFDC - Trees and Landscape – No objection, subject to conditions.



EFDC - Building Control – Suggested early consultation is carried out by the
applicant with Essex Fire and Rescue Service with regard to building
regulations.



EFDC - Land Drainage Section – No objection, subject to conditions.



Environment Agency – Provided advice regarding ground water contamination
management.



Essex Police – No objection.



Thames Water – No objection.



Epping Town Council – Parish – No objection, with points of consideration
identified.



Epping Society – Raises objection due to scale of the development and impact
on traffic.

8.2

Other external consultees (full comments are available on the Council’s website
using the link above).

8.3

Notification

8.4

In accordance with relevant legal requirements and the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement, notification letters were sent to the occupants of 342
residential properties on 22.12.20. Site notices were displayed on 23.12.20. A press
notice was published in the Epping Forest Guardian on the 24.12.20. Over the
course of the consultations, 15 representations have been received in response to
the consultation on the application.

8.5

Following design amendments made during the determination of development a 14day re-consultation exercise was undertaken. The changes comprised minor
amendment to proposed highway and public realm works and associated
alteration of the main entrance and external seating areas. Changes to

Page 121

architectural composition of front elevation to rationalise material palette including
material changes and the introduction of additional glazing.
8.6

The re-consultation period expired on the 02/07/2021

8.7

The representations received identified the following material planning considerations
relevant to the determination of the application a summary of which is contained at
Appendix 2.

8.8



Car Parking capacity and traffic impact



Character of design in terms of scale



Overlooking, loss of amenity and daylight and sunlight effects



Construction noise and traffic



Operational noise and lighting



Anti-social behaviour and security

Other Consultation
Quality Review Panel

8.9

Development proposals on the site have been the subject of four Quality Review
Panel (QRP) meetings. These were held on the following dates:
 20th March 2020 (town centre strategy);
 10th July 2020 (town centre strategy);
 17th September 2020 (town centre strategy);
 30th October 2020;
The design review was undertaken in parallel with that for the Cottis Lane
development, with that development forming the main focus of comments. The panel
however raised no major concern with the architecture of the leisure centre and
welcomed the appointment of specialist leisure architecture to space plan the internal
layout of the centre. A summary of the QRP feedback is enclosed at Appendix 4

8.10

Engagement with the Local Community

8.11

A comprehensive community engagement strategy was developed by QCL in relation
to five sites, one of which is the application site. The approach involved two
consultation stages as follows:

Page 122



Stage 1 consultation – this included consultation on the land use strategy for
five sites plus initial design ideas for all five sites.



Stage 2 consultation – this included more detailed design for all five sites,
including layout, quantum, massing, landscaping and appearance.

8.12

Development Management Forum

8.13

The proposed development of the application site was also the subject of a
Development Management Forums (DMF) on 24/09/20.


The purpose of the DMF is to allow early engagement with the local community
to ensure that any concerns and questions can be raised at an early point in
the process and used to assist in the evolution of the scheme as it progresses.



This process is part of the Council’s commitment to ensure that development
proposals of this scale are the subject of robust engagement within the local
community.

9.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

9.1

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended ("the 1990
Act"), requires that in dealing with any planning application the authority shall have
regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application
and to any other material planning considerations.

9.2

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended)
("the 2004 Act") requires that if regard is to be had to the Development Plan for the
purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts the determination
must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise

9.3

The Development Plan currently comprises the saved policies of the Epping Forest
District Council Adopted Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006) (ALP). The list
below indicates which policies of the ALP are relevant to the determination of this
application and the degree to which officers consider that they are consistent with the
NPPF as noted in the report to the Local Plan Cabinet Committee (25th March 2013):
CP1 – Achieving Sustainable Development Objectives – Compliant
CP3 – New Development – Compliant
CP4 – Energy Conservation – Compliant
CP5 – Sustainable Building – Compliant
CP 6 – Achieving Sustainable Urban Development Patterns – Compliant

Page 123

CP 7 – Urban Form and Quality – Compliant
CP 8 – Sustainable Urban Economic Development – Compliant
CP 9 – Sustainable Transport – Compliant
TC1 – Town Centre Hierarchy – Compliant
TC2 – Sequential Approach – Compliant
TC3 – Town Centre Function – Compliant
HC6 – Character Appearance and Setting of Conservation Areas – Compliant
DBE1 – Design of New Buildings – Compliant
DBE2 – Effect on Neighbouring Properties – Compliant
DBE3 – Design in Urban Areas – Compliant
DBE6 – Car Parking in New Development – Compliant
DBE9 – Loss of Amenity – Compliant
LL11 – Landscaping Schemes – Compliant
ST1 – Location of Development – Compliant
ST2 – Accessibility of Development – Compliant
ST4 – Road Safety – Compliant
RST1 – Recreational, Sporting and Tourist Facilities – Compliant
RP4 – Contaminated Land – Compliant
RP5A – Adverse Environmental Impacts – Compliant
U3B – Sustainable Drainage Systems – Compliant
I1A – Planning Obligations – Compliant
I3 – Replacement Facilities – Compliant
NC1 – SPAs SACs SSSIs – Compliant

Page 124

9.4

The relevance of the identified saved Local Plan policies to the determination of this
application and the weight to be accorded to each policy are addressed in further detail
within this report.

10.

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK

10.1

The current version of the National Planning Policy Framework ("the Framework" or
"NPPF") was published in July 2021. It provides the framework for producing Local
Plans for housing and other development, which in turn provide the policies against
which applications for planning permission are decided.

10.2

Reflecting the proper approach identified in the previous section of this Report, the
NPPF explains (at paragraph 2) that:
"2.

10.3

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy
Framework must be taken into account in preparing the development
plan and is a material consideration in planning decisions. Planning
policies and decisions must also reflect relevant international
obligations and statutory requirements.2"

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF concerns the presumption in favour of sustainable
development and states (so far as relevant):
"Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable
development.
…
For decision-taking this means:

10.4

c)

approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan without delay; or

d)

where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies
which are most important for determining the application are out-ofdate8, granting permission unless:
i.

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas
or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for
refusing the development proposed7; or

ii.

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in this Framework taken as a whole."

Paragraph 11 d) ii. is often referred to as the 'tilted balance'.

Page 125

10.5

Paragraph 219 of the NPPF requires that policies in the existing Development Plan
should not be considered out of date simply because they were adopted or made prior
to the publication of the NPPF. Rather, due weight should be given to such policies
according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF; in other words, the closer the
policies in the Development Plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight
that may be given to them.

10.6

For the purposes of sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 11, footnote 7 lists the policies in
Framework (rather than those in development plans) that protect areas or assets of
particular importance including: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 176)
and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green
Belt, or Local Green Space; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and
other heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 63 of the NPPF);
and areas at risk of flooding.

10.7

The NPPF comprises a number of chapters of which nos. 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 14 and 16
are particularly relevant to the proposed development.

11.

EMERGING LOCAL PLAN

11.1

On 14 December 2017, the Council resolved to approve the Epping Forest District
Local Plan (2011-2033) – Submission Version ("LPSV") for submission to the
Secretary of State and the Council also resolved that the LPSV be endorsed as a
material consideration to be used in the determination of planning applications.

11.2

The Council submitted the LPSV for independent examination on 21 September 2018.
The Inspector appointed to examine the LPSV ("the Local Plan Inspector") held
examination hearings between 12 February and 11 June 2019. As part of the
examination process, the Council has asked the Local Plan Inspector to recommend
modifications of the LPSV to enable its adoption.

11.3

During the examination hearings, a number of proposed Main Modifications of the
LPSV were 'agreed' with the Inspector on the basis that they would be subject to public
consultation in due course. Following completion of the hearings, in a letter dated 2
August 2019 the Local Plan Inspector provided the Council with advice on the
soundness and legal compliance of the LPSV ("the Inspector's Advice"). In that letter,
the Inspector concluded that, at this stage, further Main Modifications (MMs) of the
emerging Local Plan were required to enable its adoption and that, in some cases,
additional work would need to be done by the Council to establish the precise form of
the MMs. Subsequently the proposed MMs have been submitted to the Inspector and
subject to public consultation.

11.4

Although the LPSV does not yet form part of the statutory development plan, when
determining planning applications, the Council must have regard to the LPSV as
material to the application under consideration. In accordance with paragraph 48 of
the NPPF, the LPAs "may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according
to:

Page 126

a)

The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);

b)

The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight
that may be given); and

c)

The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan
to this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).22"

11.5

Footnote 24 to paragraph 48 of the NPPF explains that where an emerging Local Plan
is being examined under the transitional arrangements (set out in paragraph 214), as
is the case for the LPSV, consistency should be tested against the March 2012 version
of the NPPF.

11.6

As the preparation of the emerging Local Plan has reached a very advanced stage,
subject to the Inspector's Advice regarding the need for additional MMs, significant
weight should be accorded to LPSV policies in accordance with paragraph 48 of
Framework. The following table lists the LPSV policies relevant to the determination of
this application and officers' recommendation regarding the weight to be accorded to
each policy.
SP 1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development – Significant
SP 2 – Spatial Development Strategy – Moderate
SP 3 – Space shaping – Significant
SP7 – The Natural Environment, Landscape Character and Green Infrastructure –
Significant
T 1 – Sustainable transport choices - Significant
DM 1 – Habitat protection and improving biodiversity - Significant
DM 2 – Epping Forest SAC and the Lee Valley SPA - Significant
DM 3 – Landscape character, Ancient Landscapes and Geodiversity - Significant
DM 5 – Green and Blue Infrastructure - Significant
DM 7 – Heritage Assets - Significant
DM 9 – High quality design – Significant
DM 11 - Waste recycling facilities on new development – Significant
DM 15 – Managing and reducing flood risk – Significant

Page 127

DM 16 – Sustainable Drainage Systems - Significant
DM 18 – On site management of wastewater and water supply - Significant
DM 20 – Low carbon and renewable energy - Significant
DM 21 – Local environmental impacts, pollution and land contamination - Significant
DM 22 – Air Quality – Significant
P 1 – Epping – Significant
D 1 – Delivery of Infrastructure – Significant
D 2 – Essential Facilities and Services – Significant
D 3 – Utilities – Significant
D 4 – Community Leisure and Cultural Facilities – Significant
12.

EPPING TOWN NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

12.1

A draft version of the Epping Town Neighbourhood Plan (ETNP) was published for
consultation in May 2018. The ETNP has not yet been finalised, put to a local
referendum or therefore adopted as part of the development plan. Whilst the draft
ETNP can only be afforded limited weight, the relevant policies are summarised below.
Policy 3 – identifies the site as a site for development
Policy 7 – states the capacity and balance of existing public car parking should be
maintained
Policy 11 – considered in the context of the need to maintain and enhance the health
and vitality of shopping and commercial/employment areas.
Policy 13 – relates to business and employment. It states that the main area for
employment-related activities will be in premises along and adjoining the High Street
Policy 14 – addresses the enhancement of social, sporting, play, cultural and
community facilities in Epping. This policy is discussed later in the report.
Policy 15 – states that development will only be permitted with design qualities that
match the character of the area and respect the amenity of existing residents with
regard to noise generation, overlooking and car parking.
Policy 19 – addresses sustainability

Page 128

13.

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

13.1

The remainder of the report will consider the proposal against the requirements of the
development plan as follows:


Principle of development.



Impact on the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation



Design



-

Layout, access and connectivity

-

Scale, form and massing

-

Landscaping

-

Appearance and materials

Impacts on neighbouring amenity
-

Privacy and amenity issues

-

Sunlight, daylight and open aspect

-

Overlooking/loss of privacy issues

-

Outlook issues

-

Noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality



Transport and Highway considerations



Sustainability



Energy and climate change



Flood Risk and SuDs



Ground Contamination



Historic Environment
-

Archaeology



Ecology



Infrastructure

Page 129



Employment and skills



Equality duties and human rights



Conclusion

14.

Principle of development

14.1

Introduction

14.2

This planning application is one of five submitted by the applicant. The five sites
comprise Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane car parks, Land at St Johns Road, Epping
Sports Centre (Hemnall Street) and Land at the Civic Offices (Condor Building).
Through the process of determination of the five Epping town centre planning
applications, it has been agreed with the applicant that the five sites should be
considered collectively for the purposes of this assessment. Looking at the sites
collectively enables the full extent of proposals to be understood when considering the
appropriate mix of uses and level of affordable housing. Environmental Impact
Assessments (EIA) have been undertaken for all five sites and reported in two
Environmental Statements (ES): Environmental Statement dated 31 March 2021 which
reports the findings of EIA for the three residential sites; and Environmental Statement
dated 28 July 2021 which reports the findings of EIA for the two commercial sites.
These were submitted voluntarily by the applicant.

14.3

In the development of their proposals a Town Centre Strategy was developed by the
applicant and formed part of the pre-application public consultation. This was
submitted with the applications as an appendix to the submitted Planning Statements
(Q+A Planning Statement Appendix 1) and sets out how the five sites have been
considered together. A development optioneering process is set out with a preferred
distribution of uses proposed by the applicant. This distribution of uses is reflected in
the submitted planning applications. The applicant has proposed an alternative
arrangement of uses to that set out in the relevant site allocations identified in Policy
P 1 of the LPSV. This was as a result of the formation of Qualis Commercial Ltd and
their appointment to take forward the development strategy for these Council owned
sites. In looking at the development opportunity wholistically the applicant was able to
develop a more deliverable site strategy which they considers provides a better overall
outcome.

14.4

For the avoidance of doubt, the Town Centre Strategy is simply a document prepared
by the applicant in support of the applications; it is not adopted Council policy or
guidance.

14.5

The proposed development as submitted with each of the five planning applications is
set out below:

Page 130

Site

Description of Development

Summary of Proposed
Development

Bakers Lane Full application for the redevelopment
Car Park
of existing surface level car park to
provide a leisure centre to include
EPF/2924/20
swimming pool, gymnasium, sports
hall, squash courts and studio (mixed
Class E (d) and F.2 (d)) together with
disabled parking provision, new
vehicular and pedestrian access, all
hard and soft landscaping, and
associated works.

5,575 sq m GIA (6,087 sq
m GEA)

Cottis
Lane Full application for the redevelopment
Car Park
of existing surface level car park
comprising the demolition of public
EPF/2925/20
toilets and the construction of a multideck car park, cinema (sui generis),
commercial floorspace (mixed Class
E), replacement public toilets and
cycle store, all associated plant,
together with new vehicular and
pedestrian access, all hard and soft
landscaping, and associated works.

330 space multi-storey car
park

Land at St Redevelopment of the former school
Johns Road
buildings and depot. Demolition of five
buildings and the retention of three
EPF/0917/21
locally listed buildings. Development
to comprise erection of new
apartment
buildings
and
the
conversion, extension and change of
use of the existing locally listed
Centrepoint building and Cookery
School to provide a mix of residential
units (Use Class C3) and ancillary
communal amenity areas. Extension
and refurbishment of two existing
locally listed semi-detached caretaker
cottages. Revised vehicular and

113 – 1 bed flats

Page 131

6-lane swimming pool,
fitness
suite,
studios,
sports hall and squash
courts.
6 blue
spaces

badge

parking

1,166 sq m GIA (1,201
GEA) Class E commercial
floorspace
846 sq m (GIA) (871 sq m
GEA)
Cinema
(Sui
Generis)
Total: 11,126 sq m GIA
(11,460 sq m GEA)

62 – 2 bed flats
7 – 3 bed flats
2 – Existing 2-bed house’s
refurbished
Total: 184
dwellings

(182

new)

pedestrian access from St Johns
Road and new pedestrian access
from High Street, all associated car
and cycle parking, servicing, hard and
soft landscaping and associated
works.

Epping Sports
Centre
(Hemnall
Street)
EPF/0918/21

Redevelopment of existing Sports
Centre and car park. Demolition of
existing Sports Centre. Development
to comprise a new apartment building
and houses to provide a mix of
residential units (Use Class C3), new
vehicular and pedestrian access from
Nicholl Road and new pedestrian
access from Hemnall Street, all
associated car and cycle parking,
servicing, hard and soft landscaping
and associated works.

Land and part
of
Civic
Offices
(Condor
Building)

The redevelopment of the existing
office building and car park.
Demolition of the existing office
building and alterations to connection
to existing Listed Civic Centre.
Development to comprise new
EPF/0919/21
apartment buildings and houses to
+EPF/1042/21 provide a mix of residential units (Use
Class C3), revised vehicular and
pedestrian access from High Street,
all associated car and cycle parking,
servicing, hard and soft landscaping
and associated works.

13 – 1 bed flats
12 – 2 bed flats
4 – 3 bed flats
11 – 3 bed houses
Total: 40 dwellings

7 – 1 bed flats
17 – 2 bed flats
5 – 3 bed flats
1 – 2 bed house
13 – 3 bed houses
2 – 4 bed houses
Total: 45 dwellings

14.6

NPPF

14.7

As demonstrated at recent appeals the Councils current five-year land supply of
deliverable housing sites has been shown to currently be 2.43 years (although on
adoption of the LPSV the Council will be able to demonstrate a five year supply) and
the tilted balance identified in Para 11(d) of the NPPF is engaged. which provides that
permission should be granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the
policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

Page 132

14.8

Adopted Local Plan (1998, altered 2006)

14.9

As previously identified, section 38(6) of the 2004 Act require that applications for
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

14.10 The polices from the adopted Local Plan form part of the existing Development Plan.
However, it is acknowledged that the adopted Local Plan is not for the current Plan
Period and a number of the policies therein are inconsistent with the NPPF.
14.11 By comparison, the LPSV contains up-to-date policies which have been informed by
robust and up-to-date evidence. On this basis and having due regard for the provisions
of paragraph 48 of the NPPF, it is concluded that the policies contained within the
LPSV should be afforded greater weight in the overall balance. Further examination of
the weight to be afforded to the draft allocation in the LPSV is assessed in the following
section.
14.12 The emerging Local Plan Policies
As previously set out, the LPSV is now at a very advanced stage in its production. The
examination hearing sessions, as part of the Independent Examination (IE), have been
concluded and the Local Plan Inspector published her advice following the hearing
sessions in August 2019.
14.13 The Inspector's advice dated 2nd August 2019 sets out the areas where Main
Modifications (MMs) to the LPSV will be required in order for it to be considered
“sound”. Of the five site allocations, the Inspector in her advice identified actions only
in relation to St Johns Road and the Civic Office. Paragraph 46 of the Inspector’s
advice confirmed “a modification is required to the “Design” entry in Appendix 6 for
EPP.R4 (Land at St Johns Road) to make it explicit that the site is expected to
accommodate a replacement for the sports/leisure facility to be lost through the
allocation of EPP.R5”. Her advice goes on to advise that modification proposed in
paragraph 5 of document ED85 would be sufficient to ensure the protection of the listed
building forming part of allocation EPP.R8 (Land and part of Civic Offices) (Action 20).
The Inspector confirmed in her response dated 25th November 2019 that she does not
have any concerns about areas or allocations in the LPSV which are not mentioned in
her advice from August 2021.
14.14 The comments made regarding Land at St John’s Road and Land and part of Civic
Offices were points of clarification save for the request to amend the St John’s Road
“Design” entry to specify Leisure Centre given that a Leisure Centre was to be lost as
a result of site allocation EPP.R5 Epping Sports Centre. The MMs published by EFDC
on the 15th July 2021 addressed this comment and reference is now incorporated into
the draft Local Plan.
14.15 Within this context and having due regard to Paragraph 48 of the NPPF, it is
considered that there are no unresolved objections in respect of the proposed site

Page 133

allocations at Bakers Lane car park (EPP.R7), Cottis Lane car park (EPP.R6), Epping
Sports Centre (Hemnall Street) (EPP.R5). With regards to the Land at St John’s
(EPP.R4) and Land at and part of Civic Offices (EPP.R5) there are no unresolved
objections to the principle of development on these sites.
14.16 As that the Local Plan Inspector has not raised ‘in-principle’ objections to the proposed
site allocations for the five planning applications; the emerging Local Plan is consistent
with the requirements of the NPPF; and the public consultation on the Main
Modifications to the Local plan recently ended on 23rd September 2021, it is concluded
that the emerging Local Plan is at an advanced stage and must be given significant
weight in the determination of planning applications.
14.17 The policy site allocations are set out in the table below alongside the development
proposed by the current planning applications.

LPSV Site
Allocation

Proposed Site Allocation

Summary of Proposed
Development

EPP.R7

Residential with an approximate net 5,575 sq m GIA (6,087 sq m
capacity of 47 dwellings or 78 GEA) mixed Class E (d) and
Bakers
dwellings in total between site F.2 (d)).
Lane
Car allocations EPP.R7 and EPP.R6.
Park
6-lane swimming pool, fitness
Site allocations EPP.R6 and suite, studios, sports hall and
EPP.R7
should
together squash courts.
incorporate the re-provision of the
existing number of car parking 6 blue badge parking spaces.
spaces [336] for town centre visitors
to ensure that there is no net loss of
parking spaces

EPP.R6

Residential with an approximate net 330 space multi-storey car park
capacity of 31 dwellings or 78
Cottis Lane dwellings in total between site 1,166 sq m GIA (1,201 GEA)
Car Park
Class E commercial floorspace
allocations EPP.R7 and EPP.R6.
Site allocations EPP.R6 and
EPP.R7
should
together
incorporate the re-provision of the
existing number of car parking
spaces [336] for town centre visitors
to ensure that there is no net loss of
parking spaces.

Page 134

846 sq m (GIA) (871 sq m GEA)
Cinema (Sui Generis)
Total: 11,126 sq m GIA (11,460
sq m GEA)

Mixed use including residential 113 – 1 bed flats
(approximate net capacity of 34
Land at St dwellings) and appropriate town 62 – 2 bed flats
Johns Road centre uses.
7 – 3 bed flats
EPP.R4

Development proposals should
contain a mix of uses including a
leisure centre and residential
development. Other uses on site
could include, retail, community
facilities, hospitality, employment
and further leisure uses.

EPP.R5
Epping
Sports
Centre
(Hemnall
Street)

2 – Existing 2-bed house’s
refurbished
Total: 184 (182 new) dwellings
The current proposal does not
include the full extent of the site
allocation with the portion of the
site occupied by Epping Town
Council hall being retained by
the Town Council and not
forming
part
of
the
redevelopment proposals.

Residential with an approximate net 13 – 1 bed flats
capacity of 43 dwellings. (Proposed
Main Modifications amends this to 12 – 2 bed flats
42 dwellings)
4 – 3 bed flats
11 – 3 bed houses
Total: 40 dwellings

EPP.R8
Residential with an approximate net 7 – 1 bed flats
(Land and capacity of 44 dwellings.
17 – 2 bed flats
part of Civic
Offices)
5 – 3 bed flats
1 – 2 bed house
13 – 3 bed houses
2 – 4 bed houses
Total: 45 dwellings

Page 135

The current proposal does not
include the full extent of the site
allocation with the portion of the
site fronting High Street to be
retained in use as part of the
Civic Offices.

14.18 The proposed developments at Bakers Lane car park, Cottis Lane car park and Land
at St Johns Road are therefore not in accordance with the emerging Local Plan policies
as set out in Appendix 6 (Site Specific Requirements). Consideration is therefore given
to the principle of the proposed developments as standalone sites and when taken
together as a linked project.
Bakers Lane
Planning Policy Context
14.19 Policy SP2 of the LPSV seeks to promote town centre development and regeneration,
and Policy E2 is supportive of proposals for leisure uses within town centres where
they will maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of those centres. The site is
located within Epping Town Centre boundary within the adopted plan and LPSV.
14.20 Policy D4 addresses community, leisure and cultural facilities in the District. The
proposals would support the requirements of policy D4 by improving the quality and
capacity of existing facilities that are valued by the community and ensuring that the
new facilities are better in terms of quality, quantity and accessibility than the existing
Epping Sports Centre.
14.21 Within the ALP Policy CP6 and TC1 support proposals that enhance the vitality and
viability of Town Centres and Policy RST1 supports additional recreational and
sporting facilities.
14.22 The location and proposals at Bakers Lane are in general accordance with planning
policy which seeks that such uses are provided and in accessible town centre
locations. The specific location at Bakers Lane is easily accessible to the town centre
and supportive of town centre footfall.
14.23 The proposal to develop the Bakers Lane site as a Leisure Centre however is a
divergence from the LPSV site allocation EPP.R7 which identifies the site for
residential development. This shortfall in residential units is also not made up via
proposed development at Cottis Lane as is permitted within the site allocation (as the
Cottis Lane planning application proposes a multi-storey car park, cinema and
commercial floorspace). The proposal therefore results in the loss of a residential site
allocation which in combination with Cottis Lane amounts to 78 dwellings.

Page 136

14.24 Significant weight should be given to the strategic policy requirement for new homes
in LPSV Policy SP 2 in accordance with the Plan’s spatial strategy and the ‘Vision for
Epping’ within LPSV Policy P1. The proposal results in the loss of a combined site
allocation of 78 homes. Despite this forming a small number of homes within the total
housing need identified within the LPSV for the plan period, the loss cannot easily be
made up elsewhere given the Council’s current housing delivery shortfall.
14.25 Given the departure from the site allocation other material considerations should be
considered in the balance regarding the planning merits of a leisure centre use in this
location.
The Identified Need for a Sports Centre in Epping
14.26 The EFDC Built Facilities Strategy (March 2018) considers the need and supply of
sports facilities in the district and provides part of the evidence base to the LPSV. The
key findings of this document include:


Recommendations that long-term solutions are identified for the replacement
of Epping Sports Centre at a site that is accessible to Epping residents, with
high quality wet and dry provision.



In respect of swimming pools, as a whole District, the quantity of water space
is adequate to meet the demand of residents. However, not all of the water
space is located in the right place and therefore not all of the demand from
Epping Forest District residents can be satisfied. Demand is exported to
neighbouring authorities and this level of demand export equates to 10 lanes
of a 25m pool.



In respect of sports hall, the supply for sports hall for community use is at a
deficit when compared with demand, for both 2017 and 2033, therefore there
is a need to protect this quantity of supply.



In respect of squash courts, it is recommended that the existing level of
provision of squash facilities are protected (2 courts in the case of Epping
Sports Centre).

14.27 The proposed development is for a modern leisure centre that will form a replacement
for the existing Epping Sports Centre. The existing Epping Sports Centre has a 4 court
sports hall, a 70 station health & fitness suite, 2 squash courts and 4 activity studios.
The existing centre has reached the end of its lifespan and the new proposed centre
will offer new and enhanced facilities. The proposal includes a 25m 6 lane swimming
pool, learner pool, 4 court sports hall, 2 squash court, a 100 station fitness suite, 3
activity studios and supporting facilities including a cafe.
14.28 The proposed site allocation for the existing Epping Sports Centre EPP.R5 requires
that ‘Closure of the existing Epping Sports Centre and the re-development of this site
should not take place until a suitable replacement sports/leisure facility is delivered

Page 137

and is operational.’ (Appendix 6 Site Specific Requirements). EFDC agreed in a
Statement of Common Ground with Sports England as part of the LPSV Examination
that the policy for the existing Sports Centre’s redevelopment requires ‘an equivalent
or better (in terms of quantity and quality) replacement sports/leisure facility in a
suitable location’.
14.29 Sports England has provided representations in support of the current proposal being
satisfied that the proposed facilities are equivalent or better in terms of quantity and
quality to those that they will replace. Sports England has requested that a planning
condition is included to require the detailed specifications of the sports hall and
swimming pool to be agreed in order to ensure that the proposed facilities are fit for
purpose and meet Sports England and the sports governing body design guidance and
meet identified local need.
Assessment of the Principle of Development
14.30 The modification to the LPSV to identify Land at St John’s Road for the replacement
leisure centre was based upon the EFDC development strategy prior to the
development of the alternative proposed by the applicant. The Inspector’s concern
was simply that clarity be provided in the emerging Local Plan as to where an
alternative leisure centre could be provided that would enable the release of the
existing site for residential development and ensure the facility’s deliverability.
14.31 The proposed development will make efficient use of an accessible and sustainable
brownfield land whilst retaining and improving key public facilities. The proposed
development will enhance the range of facilities within the town centre, support activity
in the town centre by generating linked trips with other uses and will therefore
strengthen the vitality and viability of Epping town centre. The proposed leisure centre
is therefore likely to significantly improve the quality of existing community leisure
facilities within Epping and enhance the range of available facilities including through
the provision of a public swimming pool. This will be to the benefit of a significant crosssection of the local community. Although proposed to be operated as a community
leisure centre accessible to all, for the avoidance of doubt a legal obligation will secure
public access and community use of the centre.
14.32 The benefits of the new Sports Centre are as set out above and this proposal is a
deliverable scheme that enables a phased redevelopment allowing the existing leisure
centre to remain open during the construction.
14.33 The applicant considers that the provision of the leisure centre at Bakers Lane is
preferable given that the site is better suited to a large footprint building given the less
restrictive site layout as compared to St John’s, which includes scattered trees and
heritage constraints. Bakers Lane also offers the ability to be better integrated with
the primary shopping area with clear and legible linkages rather than set at a distance.
Finally, the site allocation at St John’s was made on the basis of the Epping Town
Council offices being incorporated into a development proposal. The current

Page 138

application site at St John’s does not include this land further constraining the ability to
accommodate large format buildings.
14.34 The proposed leisure centre at Bakers Lane also enables the release of the Epping
Sports Centre site for residential development as the proposed by draft allocation
EPP.R5 of Policy P1 of the LPSV.
14.35 These material considerations on their own do not balance against the overriding need
to provide housing delivery. The loss of housing is to be given significant weight that
if not mitigated would result in the proposal being an unacceptable departure from the
LPSV. A mitigation however has been secured via the proposed development of the
Land at St John’s Road site for 184 new dwellings. This site is proposed to act as a
‘donor site’ site and will meet and exceed the shortfall by providing at least 112
dwellings (78 dwelling shortfall plus the 34 dwelling allocation on St John’s itself). The
Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out in this report include the placement of a
restriction on the implementation of the Bakers Lane development until such time as
substantial implementation on the Land at St John’s Road site for a residential
development of at least 112 dwellings.
14.36 The Bakers Lane Car Park currently provides 133 existing public car parking spaces.
The lost public car parking is to be replaced within the proposed Cottis Lane multistorey car park which has a provision of 330 spaces. Six blue badge spaces shall also
be provided as part of the proposal for Bakers Lane. A total of 336 spaces would
therefore be provided and the site allocation development requirements that there
should be no net loss of parking spaces between the Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane
sites when considered together will be met.
14.37 To ensure that the replacement parking is secured prior to the closure of the existing
Bakers Lane Car Park the Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out for this site
includes an obligation requiring the completion of the Cottis Lane multi-storey car park
prior to closure of Bakers Lane Car Park and the proposed redevelopment. The Legal
Agreement shall also secure that the new leisure centre at Bakers Lane is not occupied
until the use of the existing Epping Sports Centre has ceased.
14.38 The existing Epping Sports Centre site provides 41 spaces for staff and visitors and
these will not be directly replaced with instead the proposed Cottis Lane multi-storey
available for users as a general public access car park. The site is identified as being
within Epping Town Centre which is considered a sustainable location with good public
transport accessibility and specific dedicated parking provision would not be expected.
14.39 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of the Bakers and Cottis Lane car parking spaces are all achieved
having regard to the proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road
sites and the proposal for Bakers Lane can therefore be considered compliant in terms
of the principle of use for the reasons explained above.

Page 139

Cottis Lane
Planning Policy Context
14.40 Policy SP2 of the LPSV seeks to promote town centre development and regeneration,
and Policy E2 is supportive of proposals for retail, leisure, entertainment and office use
within town centres where they will maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of
those centres. The site is located within Epping Town Centre boundary within the
adopted plan and LPSV.
14.41 Within the ALP Policy CP1, CP6, E10, TC1 and ST1 support proposals that enhance
the vitality and viability of Town Centres as the key focus for commercial development.
14.42 The Cottis Lane Car Park currently provides 203 existing public car parking spaces
and the proposed development is for a multi storey car park (MSCP) of 330 spaces, 8
motorcycle spaces and 38 cycle spaces. These spaces combined with the 6 to be
provided at Bakers Lane provide a total of 336 spaces. This would therefore be in
accordance with the LPSV site allocation EPP.R6 development requirements that
there should be no net loss of parking spaces between the Bakers Lane and Cottis
Lane sites when considered together.
14.43 The proposal to develop the Cottis Lane site for commercial development however is
a divergence from the LPSV site allocation EPP.R6 which identifies the site for
residential. This shortfall is also not made up via proposed development at Bakers
Lane as set out in the proposed site allocation. The proposal would therefore result in
a shortfall in the delivery of housing in the District which, in combination with Bakers
Lane, amounts to 78 dwellings.
14.44 Significant weight should be given to strategic policy requirement for new homes in
LPSV Policy SP 2 in accordance with the Plan’s spatial strategy and the ‘Vision for
Epping’ within LPSV Policy P 1. The proposal results in a combined shortfall in housing
delivery of 78 homes as proposed by the policies in the LPSV. Despite this forming a
small number of homes within the total housing need identified within the LPSV for the
plan period, the loss cannot easily be made up elsewhere given the Council’s current
housing delivery shortfall.
14.45 Given the departure from the site allocation other material considerations should be
considered in the balance regarding the planning merits of commercial town centre
use in this location.
Assessment of the Principle of Development
14.46 The site is located within Epping Town Centre boundary but outside of the defined
primary shopping area set out within the LPSV. For the purposes of retail development,
(now a component of Class E), the primary shopping area is considered the ‘Centre’.
The site is within 300m of its boundary and for the purposes of the retail sequential test
it would be considered an ‘edge of centre’ site. LPSV Policy E 2 (H) requires sequential

Page 140

testing under guidance contained within the NPPF. Sequentially the site is the best
available site for such uses within Epping Town Centre, being in close proximity to the
core of the primary retail area with direct connections to form a natural extension to its
activity. The proposals will strengthen the commercial and leisure officer in the town
centre. The proposed cinema will provide a use not currently available within the town
centre and supported linked trips. As the Class E floorspace is below the 2,500 sq m
threshold set by Para 90 of the NPPF (in the absence of a local threshold), retail impact
assessment need not formally be considered.
14.47 There is potential for new retail provision to impact on the vitality and viability of the
Town Centre however, the proposal consists of a limited number of Class E units
allowing a range of uses and activities and offers the opportunity to support and
reinforce rather than undermine the existing retail core within the primary shopping
area.
14.48 In addition, a 846 sq m (GIA) (871 sq m GEA) Cinema (Sui Generis Use) is proposed.
The proposed cinema space has the potential to accommodate a three-screen
boutique operator with supporting café bar. This is a suitable use within a Town Centre
location.
14.49 The applicant has indicated that this element of the scheme may be delivered at a later
stage dependant on market demand. A ‘meanwhile’ strategy has been detailed to
utilise this part of the site for interim landscaping and events space. Any interim use
of the area which in itself constitutes development would need to be subject to a
separate planning application at a future date. A planning condition has been
proposed setting a long stop commencement date for the cinema of 5 years from
commencement of the development or that by this time an alternative proposed
landscape or development scheme for the area is submitted and if approved
implemented.
14.50 Given that the proposal is to bring forward for town centre commercial uses previously
identified as being accommodated on the Land at St John’s Road site it will be
necessarily to seek that the Land at St John’s Road is not subsequently developed for
further commercial development given this could result in excess provision which could
undermine the vitality and viability of the town centre. A planning obligation will control
this.
14.51 The site is closer to the core of the town centre with access to the High Street a short
distance via the pedestrianised lane adjacent to the M&S store. The St John’s Road
site is approximately 400m to the same point and is separated by residential properties,
St John’s Road and any facilities would have to be access within the centre of the site.
Cottis Lane is less likely to pose a competing town centre destination. The level or
nature of commercial floorspace envisaged within the St John’s Road site has not
previously been quantified so a direct comparison can’t be made. The current proposal
however has responded to likely market demand and provides flexible space that can
be used for a variety of purposes.

Page 141

14.52 It offers better design arrangements to have commercial flanking MSCP as opposed
to a mixed car park residential design. The commercial use also enables the
development to be public facing with communal public realm as opposed to a
residential development that would contain private amenity space and limited options
for pedestrian connectivity.
14.53 These material considerations on their own do not balance against the overriding need
to meet housing delivery objectives. The loss of housing is to be given significant
weight that if not mitigated would result in the proposal being an unacceptable
departure from the LPSV. A mitigation however has been secured via the proposed
development of the Land at St John’s Road site for 182 new dwellings. This site is
proposed to act as a ‘donor site’ site and will meet and exceed the shortfall by providing
at least 112 dwellings (78 dwelling shortfall plus the 34 dwelling allocation on St John’s
itself). The Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out in this report include the
placement of a restriction on the implementation of the Bakers Lane development until
such time as substantial implementation on the Land at St John’s Road site for a
residential development of at least 112 dwellings. The restriction is placed on Bakers
Lane rather than Cottis Lane to ensure that the early delivery of the proposed MSCP
which unlocks the sequence of development is not stymied.
14.54 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of car parking spaces are all achieved having regard to the
proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road sites and the proposal
for Cottis Lane can therefore be considered compliant in terms of the principle of use
for the reasons explained above.
Land at St John’s Road
14.55 The St John’s Road site currently comprises former school buildings (Use Class F1(a))
and a Council depot (Use Class B8). The site also includes two semi-detached
cottages that will be retained and refurbished. The site was vacated in 2010 following
the amalgamation of two schools and declared surplus to service requirements and
with Essex County Council obtaining the necessary approvals from the DfE for a site
disposal to take place.
14.56 The former school buildings have been vacant for a substantial period and the EFDC
depot is surplus to operational requirements. The site has been allocated within LPSV
for redevelopment supporting a change of these existing uses in principle.
14.57 Site allocation EPP.R4 identifies the site for mixed use including residential
(approximate net capacity of 34 dwellings) and appropriate town centre uses, including
a leisure centre. None of the town centre or other non-residential uses are proposed
to be provided as part of the development, with Cottis Lane instead accommodating
commercial town centre uses and Bakers Lane accommodating a replacement leisure
centre.

Page 142

14.58 The proposed development is wholly residential comprising 182 new residential units
and inclusive of an ancillary residential amenity space within the former Cookery
Building. ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would support residential
development in this location. This is not a full departure from the LPSV given that
residential forms part of the site's allocation. The site allocation as described in the
MMs does not set out specific uses or the quantum of floorspace anticipated other than
it should include a leisure centre. The current application does not include the full
extent of the site allocation given that Epping Town Council are retaining their
hall/offices. This significantly reduces the developable site area and reduces the
options to accommodate sufficient large format leisure development. For the reasons
set out within the Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane sections above, the proposed
alternative arrangement of town centre development is found acceptable. The intent
of providing capacity for town centre commercial uses on the St John’s Road site is
therefore met by the provision made elsewhere.
14.59 The LPSV proposals map also includes a secondary retail frontage along St John’s
Road in anticipation of future commercial development on this site. LPSV Policy E 2
states that within a secondary retail frontage uses must encourage active shopfronts,
attract a high footfall and maintain viability and vitality of the town. This policy is not
strictly applicable to the site at the current time as a secondary retail frontage has not
physically been established and a departure from any commercial uses in this location
is proposed.
14.60 This is a highly sustainable town centre location suitable in principle for residential
development of this nature.
14.61 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of car parking spaces are all achieved having regard to the
proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road sites and the proposal
for St John's Road can therefore be considered compliant in terms of the principle of
use for the reasons explained above.
Sports Centre, Hemnall Street
14.62 The existing use of the site comprises Epping Sports Centre a 2,164 sq m GIA building
within Class E(d). The site allocation EPP.R5 within the LPSV identifies the site for
residential development on the basis that a replacement sports centre is provided.
14.63 The site allocation EPP.R5 specifically requires that ‘Closure of the existing Epping
Sports Centre and the re-development of this site should not take place until a suitable
replacement sports/leisure facility is delivered and is operational.’
14.64 The principle of the loss of the existing leisure centre is acceptable only given that a
replacement is secured and that this is provided prior to the redevelopment of the
current centre to ensure that the public have uninterrupted access to sports/leisure
facilities in the local area.

Page 143

14.65 ALP Policy CF12 concerns the retention of community facilities and supports
appropriate relocation. As described in detail in the Bakers Lane section above the
replacement centre provides enhanced facilities within an accessible town centre
location and as such the relocation of the centre is acceptable in principle.
14.66 As noted above, the applicant proposes to deliver the replacement leisure facility at
the Baker's Lane Site. The Legal Agreement Heads of Terms for this site shall secure
that the planning permission for redevelopment of the Sports Centre at Hemnall Street
shall not commence until the new leisure centre at Baker's Lane is operational.
14.67 The application as amended proposes 40 units as compared to the approximate 42
identified within the LPSV allocation. This target figure is approximate only and is
dependant on the size mix proposed and detailed design. The number of units
although an under provision is felt appropriate in principle and is driven by a suitable
detailed design approach.
14.68 The proposed development of the Hemnall Street site is fully residential in keeping with
the LPSV site allocation. ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would support
residential development in this location.
14.69 Given that this development cannot procced until the replacement leisure centre is
provided on Bakers Lane, a five year implementation condition is proposed rather than
the standard three year period. This will enable sufficient time for the completion and
opening of the Bakers Lane leisure centre prior to commencement. The Bakers Lane
site is itself reliant on the completion of the Cottis Lane MSCP to enable its current car
park use to be closed and development to commence.
Land and Part of Civic Offices
14.70 The existing site comprises the Condor Building of the Civic Offices, 2,561 sq m GIA
Existing office Class E (g) (i) and the Civic Offices staff car park. Both are surplus to
EFDC requirements and have been identified as a site allocation EPP.R8 for
redevelopment within the LPSV.
14.71 ALP Policy E4A concerns protection of employment sites but notes that housing on
redundant employment land will be regarded favourably. The site has been identified
as surplus to requirements by EFDC and was subject to the LPSV site selection
process where it was allocated for future residential use.
14.72 The proposed development is residential in keeping with the site allocation EPP.R8.
14.73 Alongside the LPSV site allocation, ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would
support residential development in this location.
14.74 The staff car park closing has been aligned with the Council’s office reconfiguration
that has recently been completed within the retained Civic Offices and the introduction
of remote and flexible working strategies. Staff accessing the Council offices are being

Page 144

supported to transition to more sustainable modes of travel with the Council preparing
a travel plan and establishing car sharing systems for example.
14.75 The draft site allocation seeks that a development brief is developed for the site,
however the LPA has accepted that given greater certainty is now available regarding
the strategy of EFDC in the downsizing of its estate and that the building is now vacant
that a full planning application is suitable at this time without a development brief. This
application was also supported by a Town Centre Strategy developed by the applicant
across the five sites and which was subject to public and Quality Review Panel
consultation. Extensive pre-application engagement also enabled the strategy for the
site to be suitably tested and examined. The planning application contained all the
information that would otherwise have been included with a development brief.
14.76 The civic offices 26 space public car park is not affected by the proposals.
14.77 The ‘Design’ section of the EPP.R8 allocation text also states that a development brief
should consider opportunities to introduce town centre/ retail frontage at ground floor
fronting the High Street. The current application does not include the element of the
site allocation fronting the High Street which is to be retained as part of the Civic Offices
and it is therefore not relevant to consider as part of the current application.
Principle of Development Conclusion
14.78 The identified divergence from the LPSV site allocations has been mitigated via legal
obligations which tie the sites together and ensure that collectively the five site deliver
the objectives of the LPSV and that housing delivery is suitably secured.
14.79 The reconfiguration of the sites enables an overall housing delivery number of 267
dwellings as compared to 199 identified in the LPSV. This is not to the detriment of
the other uses, with the developments securing in particular the required level of town
centre car parking and a high quality leisure centre. Equally the town centre
commercial uses to be provided on Cottis Lane are well conceived and reinforce and
enhance the existing town centre offer.
14.80 The developments are to be phased to enable the sequential delivery of the required
facilities to enable wider development. The first phase will see the MSCP constructed
on Cottis Lane and then the commencement of residential development on St John's
Road, thus releasing Bakers Lane for redevelopment. The new Epping Leisure Centre
can then be constructed on Bakers Lane releasing the existing Sports Centre site for
residential development.
14.81 On the basis of this assessment, whilst some of the developments do not conform with
their specific site allocations, it is considered that the proposed developments when
considered in the round are compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan
and achieve the objectives of the relevant LPSV site allocations when taken as a
whole.

Page 145

15.

Impact on the Epping Forest SAC
Background

15.1

Epping Forest is designated as a Special Area of Conservation (SAC), which limits
what can be done within the forest, as well as having impacts upon all proposed
development in its vicinity. The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017, as amended by the 2019 EU Exit Regulations (the Habitats Regulations)
transpose the EU Habitats Directive into UK law and require a decision-maker to
consider the effects of proposed projects on European protected sites through
undertaking a habitats regulations assessment (HRA).
Under the Habitats
Regulations, the Epping Forest SAC (EFSAC) is a European site. If the result of an
initial screening assessment is that a project is likely to have significant effects on a
European site, a full assessment of those effects must be carried out. Regulation 63
of the Habitats Regulations requires the competent authority to conduct an 'appropriate
assessment' ("AA") if concluding that the project is 'likely to have a significant effect'
on a European site, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects. Where
an appropriate assessment is conducted, then Regulation 63(5) applies, such that "the
competent authority may agree to the plan or project only after having ascertained that
it will not adversely affect the integrity of the European site".

15.2

Accordingly, the Council has a legal duty as the ‘competent authority’ under the
Habitats Regulations to protect the EFSAC from the effects of development (both
individually and in combination) and in doing so, must have regard to the
representations of Natural England (NE).

15.3

The LPSV is supported by a Habitats Regulation Assessment dated June 2021 (“the
HRA 2021”) (EB211A). Two specific ‘pathways of impact’ relating to new development
within the District have been identified as being likely to have a significant effect on the
integrity of the EFSAC. Firstly, as a result of increased levels of visitors using the
EFSAC for recreation arising from new development (referred to as "recreational
pressure"). Secondly, damage to the health of the protected habitats and species of
flora within the EFSAC from atmospheric pollution generated by motor vehicles
(referred to as "air quality") caused primarily by motor vehicles using roads within 200m
of the EFSAC.

15.4

Policies DM 2 and DM 22 of the LPSV and Policy NC1 of the Adopted Local Plan
(1998) and adopted Alterations (2006) (of which some of the policies remain in place)
provide the policy context for dealing with the effect of development on the integrity of
the EFSAC outlined above. The Main Modifications July 2021 version of DM 2 sets out
that the Council requires all new development to ensure no harm is caused to the
integrity of the EFSAC and identifies its strategic solutions to ensure no such harm.
These are as follows:
(i)

An Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy (APMS)

Page 146

(ii)

An Approach to managing recreational pressure on the EFSAC (SAMM
Strategy) and;

(iii)

A Green Infrastructure Strategy (GI)

15.5

The Interim Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy (APMS) dated December 2020,
(ED126/EB212) was adopted by the Full Council on 8 February 2021 following
agreement with Natural England. The APMS identifies a number of mitigation
measures, some of which are required to be delivered as part of individual planning
applications alongside strategic initiatives and monitoring requirements, and whose
implementation will require a financial contribution to be secured by individual
developments. The APMS therefore provides the mechanism by which the Council
can arrive at a conclusion of no adverse effect on the EFSAC as a result of planned
development. The APMS sets out that all development which would give rise to a net
increase in average annual daily traffic (AADT) will be required to be mitigated in
accordance with the measures set out within the APMS. The SAMM strategy requires
new development within the EFSAC zone of influence to make a financial contribution
towards the implementation of the SAMM strategy and finally the GI strategy sets out
practical interventions which are necessary to ensure recreational pressure is suitably
mitigated, these include the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace
(SANGs) on strategic sites as well as improvements to the accessibility and quality of
existing Green and Blue infrastructure assets.

15.6

Policy DM 22 sets out that applications for planning permission will be required to
identify and deliver necessary mitigation measures, including monitoring mechanisms
for the EFSAC before consent is given. This will include, where appropriate, measures
identified in the most up to date APMS.

15.7

Policy DM 22 also sets out that, where an application for planning permission has been
made on a site not proposed for allocation in the Local Plan, or where the potential
change in traffic movements have not been accounted for in the strategic modelling
undertaken by the Council, an air quality assessment will need to be submitted which
identifies the potential impact of the development in combination with existing baseline
pollution and other plans and projects. This assessment must identify necessary
mitigation measures that will address any unexpected deterioration in air quality as a
result of the development together with any necessary financial contributions and
monitoring.

15.8

The HRA 2021 undertook an Appropriate Assessment of the planned development
proposed within the emerging Local Plan, to consider its effect on the EFSAC. The
HRA 2021 concluded that, subject to securing urbanisation/recreational pressure and
air quality mitigation measures as noted in the strategies in policy DM 2 of the Local
Plan, the adoption of the Local Plan will have no adverse effect on the EFSAC.

15.9

This report will now consider these issues in turn in the context of the specific
development proposals in these applications.

Page 147

Recreational Pressure
15.10 With regards to recreational pressure, any potential adverse effect on the integrity of
the EFSAC only arises from residential development. Consequently the development
proposals on Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane can be screened out as having no adverse
impact.
15.11 For the remaining development proposals on Land at St John’s Road, Epping Sports
Centre and Land and part of Civic Offices which propose residential development,
each proposal will be required to pay a financial contribution of £352 per dwelling as
noted in the SAMM strategy.
15.12 This would amount to £64,064 for St John’s Road (182 new homes), £14,080 for
Epping Sports Centre (40 new homes) and £15,840 for Land and part of Civic Offices
(45 new homes). These financial contributions will be secured through a Legal
Agreement and subject to being secured, it can be concluded beyond a reasonable
scientific doubt that there will be no harm to the integrity of the EFSAC as a result of
recreational pressure.
Atmospheric pollution
15.13 As noted above, the HRA 2021 advises that without appropriate mitigation measures,
new development proposed in the District would cause harm to the integrity of the
EFSAC as a result of atmospheric pollution. Evidence has shown that a key contributor
to atmospheric pollution arises from vehicles using roads in close proximity to the
EFSAC. Figure 1 below is an extract taken from the HRA 2021 (page 180) and
illustrates these key roads and junctions:

Page 148

Figure 1
15.14 Paragraphs 1.1 of the APMS and paragraphs 4.18 and 4.20 of the emerging Local
Plan also identifies that the EFSAC is currently in an unfavourable condition in
ecological terms. The baseline worst case ammonia concentration at the roadside is
3.5 micrograms per cubic metre whereas the critical level for protecting sites with the
special interest features of the EFSAC is 1 microgram per cubic metre. Any further
traffic through the EFSAC as a result of new development will contribute cumulatively
to worsening this situation without appropriate mitigation.
15.15 In response to this issue, in collaboration with NE, the Council has endorsed the APMS
as the strategic solution to the identified issue and as noted above the HRA 2021
concludes that the development of the Local Plan will not cause harm to the integrity
of the EFSAC if the mitigation measures are delivered.
15.16 Section 5.3 of the APMS sets out what needs to be achieved in order for the competent
authority to conclude there will be no adverse impact on the EFSAC as a result of Local
Plan growth, that:


A minimum 10% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2025, in other words,
4-5% of the Epping Forest SAC vehicle fleet to be ULEVs by this year;



The introduction of a Clean Air Zone from 2025;



A minimum 20% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2029; (8-10% of the
Epping Forest vehicle fleet to be ULEVs by this year); and

Page 149



A minimum 30% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2033 (12-15% of the
Epping Forest SAC vehicle fleet being ULEVs by this year)

15.17 To achieve the minimum 30% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2033, paragraph
5.5 of the APMS identifies a number of measures which will need to be delivered by
new development in the District:


a) ensuring that the necessary infrastructure for ULEVs is widely and easily
available across the District;



b) incentivising the replacement of petrol cars with ULEVs, targeted at people
who live in areas from which the most frequent trips on roads in close proximity
to the Epping Forest SAC arise; and



c) Undertaking awareness-raising of both the issue of air pollution and the
things that residents and businesses can do to contribute to improving air
quality.

15.18 The measures noted above and the others identified in the APMS, were informed by a
traffic model which the Council undertook to accompany the emerging Local Plan. The
modelling took into account the levels of AADT that would arise from the entirety of the
development proposed across the District. Given the status of the EFSAC as noted
above, AADT is the appropriate method for understanding the potential impacts of
atmospheric pollution on the EFSAC.
15.19 In the context of these applications, all five sites are proposed for allocation in the
emerging Local Plan and as such, all of the sites have been considered through the
traffic and air quality modelling undertaken for the HRA 2021. Since these sites are all
being considered together in the round and would be linked through a Legal
Agreements, it is appropriate to consider them together for the purposes of the
potential impact on the EFSAC.
15.20 The HRA 2021 Traffic model undertaken for each of these sites is based on the
proposed allocation as follows:


EPP.R4 Land at St John’s Road – approximately 34 homes and appropriate
mixed uses



EPP.R5 Epping Sports Centre – approximately 42 homes



EPP.R6 Cottis Lane Car park – approximately 47 homes



EPP.R7 Bakers Lane Car Park – approximately 31 homes



EPP.R8 Land and part of Civic Offices – approximately 44 homes

Page 150

15.21 Across the entirety of these allocations therefore, the HRA 2021 traffic model assumed
a total of 198 dwellings would be delivered. The planning applications currently being
considered vary to differing degrees from the LPSV site allocations noted above, as
follows.


EPP R4 – Land at St John’s Road – Erection of 182 new dwellings



EPP.R5 – Epping Sports Centre – Erection of 40 new dwellings



EPP.R6 Cottis Lane Car Park – Erection of new multi storey car park, new
cinema, commercial floor space and replacement public toilets



EPP.R7 Bakers Lane Car Park – Erection of new leisure centre, including
swimming pool, gymnasium, sports hall, squash courts and new studio
together with disabled parking provision.



EPP.R8 Land and part of Civic Offices – Erection of 45 new dwellings

15.22 The applications now total 267 new homes across all of the sites as well as the erection
of the multi storey car park, cinema, commercial floor space, swimming pool,
gymnasium, sports hall, squash courts and studio, all of which are high traffic
generators. The traffic model which informed the HRA 2021 did not assume either the
number of proposed dwellings across the sites, nor the proposed distribution of any of
the non-residential uses proposed. The leisure centre however is a reprovision of an
existing centre albeit with an expanded offer and the multi storey car park provides a
replacement for existing parking spaces. A legal obligation will control the opening and
closing of the leisure centres to ensure only one is open at one time.
15.23 Notwithstanding, there is a difference between the traffic generation assumed through
the LPSV allocations and the development proposals advanced through these
applications, in an unmitigated scenario. This is significant since the APMS was
endorsed on the basis that it would address the increase in traffic due to the allocated
sites in the LPSV and a relatively small allowance of windfall sites.
15.24 As noted in paragraph above, Policy DM 22 states that any development proposals
which propose a change in traffic movements to what has been modelled in the LPSV
need to be justified through the submission of an air quality assessment taking into the
account other plans and projects and if necessary including further and bespoke
mitigation measures. The measures put forward will be required to be precise,
enforceable (both legally and in practice), quantifiable and effective beyond reasonable
scientific doubt.
15.25 The first stage of the assessment is to consider the levels of AADT that the proposed
development schemes would create on the key routes and junctions as noted in figure
1 above, compared to what was modelled for in the Local Plan traffic work. To ensure
consistency, this traffic information must then be run though the Local Plan air quality
model to get a comparison of modelled vehicle trips through the EFSAC.

Page 151

15.26 Policy T 1 of the LPSV requires that any development which proposes vehicle parking
spaces must ensure that those spaces have direct access to an electric charging point.
The provision of electric charging points are also noted in the APMS as a required
mitigation measure. (Appendix 3, page 35)
15.27 As part of the development proposals, the applicant has made a commitment to the
delivery of electric charging points. Table 1 below sets out this commitment:

Table 1
15.28 Other than Cottis Lane, each of the sites propose 100% active provision. The delivery
of such a substantial amount of active provision of electric charging infrastructure is an
important step to support the change in the traffic fleet from petrol and diesel cars to
electric. Whilst Cottis Lane does not propose 100% of active provision from the outset,
the 15% which will be provided will be for EV only parking spaces, preventing their use
by non-electric vehicles. In addition a Travel Plan for the Leisure Centre will seek to
raise awareness of the electric charging facilities available. This shall be secured by
way of a Legal Agreement.
15.29 In addition to the provision of necessary electric charging infrastructure, the applicant
has also committed to the delivery of an advertising campaign as well as financial
contributions of £335 per dwelling towards the EFSCA Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy
as required by the APMS. This would amount to £60,970 for St John’s Road (182 new
homes), £13,400 for Epping Sports Centre (40 new homes) and £15,075 for Land and
part of Civic Offices (45 new homes). Such contributions shall be secured by way of
Legal Agreements.
15.30 Taken together, these mitigation measures have been factored into the traffic
modelling undertaken for the individual applications and cumulatively have resulted in
a 4% reduction of cars in the level of AADT assumed as a result. The Council's
transport specialists have confirmed that based on the mitigation measures above, this
assumed reduction is precautionary and therefore represents a robust approach to
considering the new level of AADT created.
15.31 Figure 2 below illustrates the results of the modelling exercise on the key routes and
junctions through the EFSAC which are noted in figure 1 above. The results of these

Page 152

are then compared against the level of AADT assumed through the Local Plan traffic
modelling to result in a net change between the two:

Five Sites Combined + EV Provision
Local Plan Traffic and Air Quality Model

Application
(Net)

Net change

Link

A

B1393 Epping Road

63

50

-13

B

B172

0

0

0

C

A121 Golding’s Hill

10

-1

-11

D

A104 Epping New Rd

25

12

-13

E

Wake Road

0

6

6

F

A121 Woodridden Hill

28

32

4

G

Woodgreen Rd

0

0

0

H

Forest Side

0

0

0

I

A121 Honey Ln

28

32

4

J

Earl’s Path

0

0

0

K

A104 Epping New Rd (S)

25

12

-13

L

Cross Roads

0

0

0

M

High Beech

0

6

6

N

Avey Ln

0

5

5

O

A112 Sewardstone Rd (S)

0

0

0

Page 153

P

A112 Sewardstone Rd (N)

0

0

0

Figure 2
15.32 The results show that when all five sites are considered together, with the proposed
mitigation measures, there is a net increase in AADT movements on certain road links
and a reduction on others. These AADT numbers have been considered through the
Local Plan air quality model for the EFSAC as a new scenario, so that a direct
comparison can be made with the modelling undertaken for the APMS.
15.33 The results of the modelling show that the biggest difference in terms of Nitrogen Oxide
deposition is an increase at the roadside of 0.03ugm-3 at transects E1 (Wake Arms
Roundabout) and O (Honey Lane East). This magnitude of increase is matched by
similar magnitude of reductions at the roadside of other transects in the EFSAC. The
maximum change in nitrogen deposition is a nominal 0.01 kgN/hr/yr and the results
show that there will be no difference in ammonia concentrations from what was
modelled for the HRA 2021. The change in pollutant load is therefore sufficiently small
that the APMS will not be undermined by the change in the development proposed as
opposed to the original allocations.
15.34 The findings of this assessment are predicated on the complete delivery of the
proposed development in the form proposed across the five sites. An alternative
delivery strategy that left some sites in their existing use would result in a different
AADT and impact on the EFSAC that may not be acceptable. On this basis the Legal
Agreement associated with each site will ensure that implementation is controlled such
that existing traffic generating uses will cease.
Conclusion relating to the EFSAC
15.35 Subject to the suitable delivery of the required parking provision on each of the five
development sites as noted in table 1 as well as a suitable Travel Plan to raise
awareness of the electric charging facilities available and the payment of the necessary
financial contributions as noted in sections above, the Council as the competent
authority can conclude beyond a reasonable scientific doubt that the development
proposed by each of these applications will not lead to an adverse effect on the integrity
of the EFSAC.
15.36 As a result of the analysis above, the proposal is demonstrably compliant with the
requirements of policy NC1 of the Adopted Local Plan, with Policies DM 2 and DM 22
of the emerging Local Plan and with the requirements of the Habitats Regulations.

Page 154

16.

Design

16.1

The LPSV is clear that the Council is committed to ensuring that all new development
in the District is of the highest design standards in their broadest sense. Good design
should ensure that new forms of development function well within the surrounding area
and result in buildings which are durable and adaptable within their context.

16.2

The LPSV emphasises that good design is not solely a visual concern, but actually has
social and environmental elements such as the potential to create high quality public
realm, improving quality of life for local communities and contributing to the
sustainability agenda.

16.3

This approach follows the NPPF requirement for Local Planning Authorities to require
new forms of development to recognise local context and set out the quality of
development expected within the District.

16.4

Policy SP 3 sets out that the Council seeks to ensure that development proposals
accord with exceptional place making principles. Place making is a holistic approach
to planning which brings together all component parts of a successful place.

16.5

Policy DM 9 sets out the policy requirements based on the overall design approach
contained within the LPSV.

16.6

Similarly to Policy DM 9 of the LPSV, Saved Policy DBE1 of the ALP requires that new
development is of high quality design. Development proposals are expected to be
respectful to their setting, adopt a significance in the street scene which is appropriate
to their function and use high quality external materials. In addition to high quality
design standards required, Policy CP2 of the ALP seeks to preserve the rural
environment, including landscape character and protecting the countryside.

16.7

In order to achieve the outstanding design as required by the LPSV, the Council has
established a Quality Review Panel (QRP) to act as a ‘critical friend’ to both the Council
and applicants.

16.8

The QRP consists of an independent, multidisciplinary group of experts who are
suitably trained and highly experienced individuals in their fields and the Panel has the
overarching ambition of assisting the Council with ensuring that new development
achieves the high-quality design as required by the LPSV.

16.9

The proposed development on the application site has been the subject of review by
the QRP. The comments received following each review has been taken into account
when considering the various elements of design in the following section.
Layout, Access and Connectivity

16.10 Policy SP 3 of the LPSV notes that development proposals must demonstrate strong
vision, leadership and community engagement (i), extend, enhance and reinforce
strategic green infrastructure and public open space (vii), ensure positive integration

Page 155

and connection with adjacent rural and urban communities thereby contributing to the
revitalisation of existing neighbourhoods (x) provide for sustainable movement and
access to local and strategic destinations (including rail, bus and pedestrians, cycling)
(xiii).
16.11 Policy DM 9 notes that development proposals must have regard to the framework of
routes and spaces connecting locally and more widely (Part D (iii)).
16.12 Policy T 1 notes that development proposals will be permitted where they provide safe,
suitable and convenient access for all potential users (Part C (i)) and provide a
coordinated and comprehensive scheme that does not prejudice future provision of
transport.
16.13 The MSCP consists of four split parking levels with primary pedestrian access via the
Cottis Yard entrance providing a direct pedestrian link to the High Street. This main
entrance provides both lift and stair access and a secondary stair only access is
provided onto Cottis Lane. The ground floor level provides for taller vehicles with a
2.4m clearance. The existing blue badge provision consists of 8 in the Bakers Lane
Car Park and 14 in Cottis Lane Car Park, so a total of 22 spaces. The application
drawings include 6 spaces on Bakers Lane and 6 spaces in the MSCP, So a total of
12. The applicant however has confirmed that the intention is to maintain a blue badge
parking at level which meets local need and the final confirmation of numbers and
arrangement will be required as part of the Car Park Management Plan condition. The
applicant has confirmed the intention to provide 15% (50 spaces) of parking spaces as
electric vehicles only spaces with electric charging facilities. The submitted drawings
only indicate 46 spaces for electric vehicles but the applicant has confirmed that 50
will be provided and the final detail on the location and operation of the spaces will be
subject to condition. 38 cycle parking spaces are provided in an enclosed cycle store
within the pavilion building with additional cycle stands provided within the public realm.
16.14 The applicant has not provided a detailed management plan for the car park at this
stage but a planning condition identifies the need to submit a Car Park Management
Plan setting out management and operations arrangements including securing the
national safe car park accreditation “Park Mark”.
16.15 A replacement for the existing public toilet operated by Epping Town Council is
proposed to be incorporated within the MSCP. The applicant has stated that it is
intended to maintain access to the existing public toilet for the duration of the works,
prior to its demolition.
16.16 The layout of the site enables the creation of a new piece of public realm named Cottis
Yard by the applicant. This space provides the opportunity to be used as a local
community meeting place and to host events and activities. The space includes a
number of benches to encourage people to dwell and use the space. The commercial
units also have the opportunity to provide outdoor seating.

Page 156

16.17 The applicant has provided a scheme of public realm and Highway Works to improve
the public realm and connectivity on Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane. This provides for
improved street surfacing materials, landscaping and widens pedestrian footways,
providing a more traffic calmed environment. The proposal also includes the
pedestrianisation of the section of Cottis Lane that forms an alley to High Street,
providing a more positive environment for the connection to High Street. This has
been subject to consultation with ECC as highway authority inclusive of a Road Safety
Audit Stage 1 and found to be acceptable in principle. A planning condition will secure
the detailed design and implementation of these works via a Highway Agreement with
ECC. The implementation of works to amend the public highway and access will be
subject to Transport Regulation Orders (TRO’s) which will be consulted upon by ECC
in due course. The works are likely to be implemented in phases alongside the two
developments and a final split of delivery triggers can be agreed via the discharge of
condition.
16.18 The incorporation into the public realm scheme of the pedestrian footpath adjacent to
the M&S store was investigated by the applicant but this is understood to be outside
of the control of the applicant, EFDC or ECC. The applicant is understood to be
continuing to engage with interested parties regarding improvements to this access
that could further enhance the connectivity and placemaking of the proposals.
16.19 A service access is proposed to the rear of the MSCP that will provide for vehicles
access to the proposed electricity sub-station and rear of the cinema. A on-street
loading bay is proposed on Cottis Lane which will provide for the primary HGV and
refuse collection servicing. Additional access will be available through Cottis Yard via
dropped bollards when required.
16.20 A central bin store is provided on site for the commercial operations and a managed
solution will provide for the movement of the bins to the edge of the site fronting Cottis
Lane at times of collection by the contracted waste company.
Scale, form and massing
16.21 Policy DM9 of the LPSV notes that developments must relate positively to their context
(Part A (i)), having regard to the form, scale and massing prevailing around the site
(Part D (ii)), active frontages (Part D (v)), and respond to natural features of the site
and surroundings (Part E). Policy DM 9 also notes that proposals should not result in
an over-bearing or overly enclosed form of development (Part H (iii)) and consider
microclimate conditions (Part H (iv)).
16.22 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF notes that development should be visually attractive as a
result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping, and be
sympathetic to the surrounding built environment and landscape character.
16.23 The scale of the built form is felt to be acceptable in principle subject to an assessment
of the impact on neighbouring residential properties as discussed further in section 17

Page 157

of this report.
The mass articulates the different functions of the building
accommodating within the site the MSCP, commercial uses and public realm.
Landscaping
16.24 Policy DM 5 of the LPSV seeks that developments retain and enhance existing green
infrastructure including trees, use native species and enhance the public realm through
the provision of trees.
16.25 Policy DM 9 Part A (v) notes developments must incorporate design measures to
reduce social exclusion, the risk of crime, and the fear of crime. Policy DM 9 part A
also notes proposals should relate positively to their context, and Policy DM 21 notes
that the local environmental impacts, including light pollution, of all development
proposals after mitigation must not lead to unacceptable impacts on the health, safety,
wellbeing and amenity of existing and new users or occupiers of the development site,
or the surrounding land.
16.26 The landscaping on the site is focused on the Cottis Yard area and boundary features.
Green/biodiverse roofs are proposed over portions of the roofs. New tree, shrub and
hedgerow planting is proposed along the northern and eastern boundaries adjacent to
residential properties.
16.27 The Trees and Landscape Team have reviewed the application and submitted
arboricultural statement. It is welcomed that the Line Tree adjacent to the public toilets
as the most significant tree on the site, is to be retained and its setting enhanced.
16.28 31 of the existing 40 trees identified are proposed to be removed within the site
boundary and as part of wider Highway Works. The removal of 15 Category C and U
trees facilitate the development which would otherwise not be able to be delivered in
the form proposed. 19 new trees proposed within the site. 16 trees are proposed for
removal to enhance and improve the landscape for the long term given they are of
limited value in BS5837 terms and in a state of decline. Additional street trees are
proposed outside of the application boundary as part of the Highway Works. A new
hedgerow along the northern boundary will maintain the current screening in that
location. The proposals overall offer a net biodiversity gain given that the site is
currently majority hardstanding.
Appearance and materials
16.29 Policy DM 9 of the LPSV notes that development proposals are required to incorporate
sustainable design and construction principles (Part A (iii)) and relate positively to their
locality having regard to distinctive local architectural styles, detailing and materials
(Part D (vi)).
16.30 The NPPF paragraph 130 notes that developments must be visually attractive as a
result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping, establish

Page 158

a strong sense of place, and be sympathetic to local character and history while not
preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change.
16.31 The site sits between the town centre conservation area and residential areas with the
existing character predominately defined by the existing open car parks. The main
built presence is that of the modern office buildings of Falconry Court. The combined
Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane development have the potential to establish a new
character for this transitional area.
16.32 The two main elements of the scheme have different architectural approaches with the
commercial buildings fronting the public realm comprising a brick façade of simple and
patterned elements and the MSCP clad in black metal batterns. The architecture and
proposed materiality are supported and provide a well resolved solution that responds
to existing context and supports the establishment of a new quarter to the town centre.
17.

Impacts on neighbouring amenity

17.1

Paragraph H of Policy DM 9 requires development proposals to take account of the
privacy and amenity of the users of a development as well as that of neighbours. Policy
DBE9 of the ALP contains the same objective by seeking to safeguard the living
conditions of neighbouring properties. Paragraph H of Policy DM 9 is further split into
subsections (i – iv) and the report will consider these issues in turn.

17.2

When considering privacy and amenity issues in relation to existing residents, it is
important to understand the context of the application site in relation to the nearest of
these neighbours.
Sunlight and Daylight

17.3

Part (i) of paragraph H seeks to ensure that adequate levels of sunlight/daylight and
open aspects are provided to the users of the development and nearby neighbouring
residents.

17.4

The application was accompanied with a Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing
Report (as amended Aug 2021) prepared by Avison Young (AY) on behalf of the
applicant. Officers have reviewed the report and assessed the application. The
submitted Daylight, Sunlight, Overshadowing Report (Aug 2021) confirms that 78% of
neighbouring windows and rooms satisfying BRE guidelines for daylight.

17.5

It is noted that the Mill House building of the Bakers Villas complex to the north is
located in close proximity to the proposed building and it is the ground floor windows
that are affected. The building is set at a lower level and currently benefits from an
open outlook over the car park meaning that any form of built development will have
an impact. BRE guidance recognises that having an effect in these circumstances is
unavoidable and it is appropriate to take a flexible approach to the guidelines.

Page 159

17.6

However in order to seek to minimise these effects further design development was
undertaken by the applicant and amended plans submitted which lowered the over
height of the building, increased the separation distance via insetting the upper floor of
the MSCP and refinements to the roof profile.

17.7

76% of the tested rooms at Bakers Villas will satisfy the BRE guidelines for sunlight
while 92% will either meet the target, see minor deviations or relate to a room that
meets the No-Sky Line Contour (NSL) daylight test.

17.8

There is an existing thick line of hedgerow at the site boundary which has not been
accounted for within the assessment but which in reality will significantly reduce the
degree of impact experienced.

17.9

The buildings at 3-5a Buttercross Lane are set at a further distance and face the lower
cinema building and as a result a more limited impact on daylight and sunlight is
identified. 5 and 5a Buttercross Lane are identified as having minor transgression in a
single window each.

17.10 With respect to sunlight, 100% of neighbouring rooms would satisfy the BRE
recommendations for Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) (in winter).
17.11 It is noted that as a future date Falconry Court located to the west of the site could be
converted to residential use given the recent change of use Prior Approval, however it
is currently in office use and does not form part of the assessment undertaken by the
applicant.
17.12 Key amenity spaces of neighbouring properties also pass the 2-hr sun on ground test.
17.13 Given these results, the impact on the daylight or sunlight received by the neighbouring
properties and the proposal is regarded as acceptable.
Overlooking / loss of privacy
17.14 Part (ii) seeks to ensure that existing neighbours will not be overlooked by users of
new development.
17.15 There are no vantage points or windows from the proposed development towards the
surrounding residential properties, therefore these properties will not experience any
loss of privacy or overlooking.
Outlook
17.16 Part (iii) seeks to ensure that new development is not overbearing and would not cause
significant harm to the outlook of occupiers of neighbouring properties.
17.17 Outlook from the surrounding residential properties will be reduced given that the site
is in existing use as a car park with no built form. As such, the proposed development
is likely to present a significant change to the levels of outlook from the surrounding

Page 160

properties, however noting the setbacks from these properties and the town centre
location of the application site, any loss of outlook is considered acceptable noting that
it will not detrimentally harm the visual amenity of the occupants of the surrounding
properties. Given the close relationship between the northern façade of the MSCP and
Bakers Villas the applicant has sought to reduce the impact via the use of pale grey
cladding as opposed to the black batterns used on the Cottis Lane frontage.
17.18 The proposal is considered acceptable with regard to any impact on the surrounding
residential properties in terms of privacy, overlooking, daylight, sunlight and outlook
and is therefore compliant with paragraph H of Policy DM 9.
Noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality
17.19 Part (iv) requires that issues of noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality
are properly addressed when considering an application to ensure that none would
cause significant harm to the amenity of existing residents or new users of the
proposed development.
17.20 The nature of the potential future occupiers of the commercial units is currently
unknown and a planning condition has therefore been proposed which required details
of extract ventilation to be provided to ensure that any future restaurant/café uses don’t
have a detrimental impact. In addition, a noise management plan is proposed by
condition concerning the open roof terrace space fronting Cottis Yard.
17.21 In terms of noise the principal consideration regards plant that serves the commercial
uses and a planning condition is proposed that sets a cumulative noise limit of 39dB
LAeq 1hr.
17.22 Notwithstanding this a noise attenuation fence barrier is proposed of a minimum 2m in
height and 12kg/m3 density and is subject to a proposed condition. As such, the
proposal is acceptable with regard to noise impacts.
17.23 A lighting impact assessment was submitted with the application which indicates that
the upward light ratio (ULR) would not exceed the maximum permissible level of 5%
for an E3 environmental zone. The report concludes finding that any residual effects
of lighting from the proposed development will be negligible. Officers have reviewed
the application and the lighting assessment report and are satisfied that there will be
no undue harm caused to the amenity of the occupants of the surrounding properties
as a result of lighting, subject to the recommended condition.
17.24 The application has been accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) which
considers the potential impacts of the construction phase of the development as well
as the operational phase.
17.25 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has considered the AQA and has
commented that the proposals will contribute to a slight increase in local air pollution

Page 161

which is principally as a result of construction work. A number of construction
management conditions are proposed to mitigate this impact.
17.26 Based on the evidence provided by the applicant and subject to the recommended
conditions, the proposal will not cause significant harm to air quality in relation to
human health.
Summary relating to design and neighbouring amenity issues
17.27 Drawing all the strands together in relation to design and neighbouring amenity issues,
the analysis conducted through this report has concluded that the proposed
development fulfils the Council’s overall vision and policies of ensuring that new
development is comprised of high quality design, subject to the imposition of
adequately worded planning conditions/obligations.
17.28 It has further been concluded that there would not be any significant harm caused to
the living conditions of any of the existing residents who live in the area and that the
development will ensure a good level of amenity to staff and visitors, subject to the
imposition of suitably worded conditions / planning obligations.
17.29 The proposal is therefore compliant with the requirements of Policies SP 3, DM 9 and
T 1 Part C and Part D of the LPSV and with Policies CP2, DBE1, DBE4 and DBE9 of
the ALP.
18.

Highways and Transport

18.1

The submitted Transport Assessment (TA) assesses the potential impacts of the
proposed development on the local and strategic highway network.

18.2

The TA has been reviewed by Essex County Council Highways, who conclude that the
proposal is not considered to have a significant or severe impact at this location or on
the wider highway network and not be detrimental to highway safety, capacity or
efficiency.

18.3

38 cycle parking spaces are provided in an enclosed cycle store within the pavilion
building with additional cycle stands provided within the public realm. The application
proposes 330 car parking spaces, in the form of a public car park. No allocated parking
spaces are provided for the commercial units.

18.4

Policy T 1 of the emerging Local Plan requires that any development which proposes
vehicle parking spaces must ensure that those spaces have direct access to an electric
charging point. Given the significant number of parking spaces within the MSCP it is
not practical at this time to provide Electrical Vehicle Charging Points (EVCP) to all
spaces and instead 15% equating to 50 spaces are to be provided. The remainder of
the car park is to be provided with passive provision enabling charging points to be
installed at a future date when demand enables and limitations in local electricity
supply capacity are resolved.

Page 162

18.5

The Travel Plan submitted in support of the application includes detailed measures for
the applicant to implement in order to reduce reliance on the private car. These include
providing Staff Travel Information Packs, cycle parking provision, encouraging car
share platforms. A workplace Travel Plan is to be secured by legal obligation. The site
is well located, close to other accessible modes of sustainable travel. Given the scale
of the development and proximity to existing transport modes, these measures are
sufficient.

18.6

A large proportion of the vehicles movements associated with the development are
already on the network given the replacement of existing car parking capacity. It is
likely that a proportion of visitors will undertake linked trips to other activities in the
town centre while there.

18.7

During construction of the MSCP Cottis Lane Car Park is likely to be fully or majority
closed. Bakers Lane Car Park will remain open until completion and we understand
that the Council are investigating adjusting charging to encourage short stay parking
during this period. The existing Epping Sports Centre car park will also remain open
during this period. Although this will result in a short-term reduction in town centre
visitor parking capacity this can’t be avoided given the lack of fallow sites to
accommodate temporary parking. Use of any other sites within the QCL ownership for
temporary parking would require the delay of the demolition and construction
programmes on those sites.

18.8

Overall, the proposals will not result in an unacceptable impact on highway safety and
would not have a severe residual cumulative impact on the road network in accordance
with paragraph 111 of the NPPF, as well as ST4 of the adopted Local Plan and policy
T1 of the LPSV.

19.

Sustainability, Energy and Climate Change

19.1

The NPPF sets out that the overall purpose of the planning system is to contribute to
the achievement of sustainable development which is defined as:
Meeting the needs of the present generation without compromising the ability of future
generations to meet their own needs

19.2

19.3

In order to achieve sustainable development, the NPPF sets out three overarching
objectives:


An economic objective;



A social objective; and



An environmental objective

The NPPF is clear that each of these objectives are interdependent and need to be
pursued in mutually supportive ways.

Page 163

19.4

The LPSV sets out that the Council is committed to providing proactive strategies with
regard to climate change resilience. This approach is based on the NPPF which
encourages Local Planning Authorities to adopt a proactive strategy with regard to
sustainable development and climate change.

19.5

On 19th September 2019 the Council declared a climate emergency for the District
and set out a pledge that the Council will do everything in its power to make the District
carbon neutral by 2030.

19.6

This approach is encapsulated within Policy DM 20 of the LPSV which seeks to
encourage new developments to be of a low carbon energy use. Renewable energy
measures in new and existing development is also to be encouraged as far as possible.
The policies in the LPSV have been added to via the adoption in March 2021 EFDC
Sustainability Guidance and Checklist as supplementary planning guidance. The
purpose of this guidance is to help applicants meet EFDC’s goals of becoming net zero
carbon by 2030.

19.7

In support of the application, a Sustainability Statement and Energy Strategy have
been submitted along with a completed EFDC Sustainability Checklist which presents
the sustainable aspects of the proposed development.

19.8

The Sustainability Statement highlights a number of aspects of the scheme which
contribute to the sustainability credentials of the development. In short these are:

19.9



A fabric first approach to reducing carbon emissions.



The development resulting in an annual 59% reduction in C02 emissions over
the requirements of Building Regulations Part L.



Air Source Heat Pump providing heating, hot water and cooling.



Solar PV’s to provide on site renewable energy.



Targeting Breeam Excellent (Office and Leisure uses) and Very Good (Retail
uses) with the submitted pre-assessment confirming respective baseline and
potential scores of 72.8% / 75.6% and 58.1% / 60.1%.



Installation of electric charging points for 15% of car parking spaces with
passive provision to enable 100% at a future point.



Adopting measures for waste reduction during construction.



Using embodied carbon studies to guide design.

Generally, the scheme is compliant with the sustainability policies in the emerging
Local Plan. However, the scheme is not particularly innovative or proactive in
addressing Climate Change and could be more ambitious in aligning with the Council’s
Climate Emergency declaration. It is noted in the completed checklist that operational

Page 164

carbon, embodied carbon, circular economy/ waste management will be addressed in
more detail during future design stages. Whilst it is acknowledged that some of the
details of the scheme can only be developed at later design stages, many of the
principles need to be in place at an early stage of design to enable this to be possible.
19.10 The proposal is considered to be a sustainable form of development and is therefore
compliant with Policy SP 1 and DM 20 of the LPSV and Policy CP5 of the adopted
Local Plan. The applicant is encouraged, through the recommended condition, to
enhance the sustainability credentials of the development through the next stages of
design.
20.

Flood Risk and SuDs

20.1

There is a clear need to ensure that surface and foul water drainage and treatment
occur effectively and for the protection of both human health and the environment. This
includes the need to ensure that development will not cause pollution to water bodies
or controlled water, including ground water.

20.2

Policy DM 18 of the LPSV sets out that it is expected that applications for planning
permission will ensure that there is adequate surface water, foul drainage and
treatment capacity to serve their development. This requirement is also reflected in
Policy U2A of the ALP.

20.3

The application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). The site
is located within Flood Zone 1 and is at low risk from all sources of flooding.

20.4

A Below Ground Drainage Strategy has been submitted as part of the application and
the EFDC Land Drainage Team is content with the general principles of the design.
However further detailed information is required. This information can be secured
through the use of a planning condition.

20.5

The ECC SuDS Team acts as the Lead Local Flood Authority. Similarly to the EFDC
Land Drainage Team, based on the FRA and the surface water drainage strategy the
team has no objection to the application subject to the imposition of planning
conditions.

20.6

Thames Water has been consulted as part of this application as a key utilities provider.
In terms of foul water disposal, Thames Water has raised no objection to the
application.

20.7

Subject to the imposition of appropriately worded planning conditions the proposal is
compliant with Policy DM 18 of the LPSV and with Policy U2A of the ALP.

21.

Ground contamination

21.1

The LPSV seeks to ensure that new forms of development avoid unacceptable risks
from pollution to humans and other species. Paragraph C of Policy DM 21 of the LPSV
requires that potential contamination risks are properly considered and adequately

Page 165

mitigated before development proceeds. Policy RP4 of the ALP is consistent with this
approach, whereby potential contaminants are required to be identified and if
necessary, appropriately mitigated.
21.2

The application is accompanied by a Geotechnical and Geo-environmental Desk Study
Report, which considers the potential contamination risks present on the site.

21.3

The Councils Geo-technical Team have considered the report and agree with their
findings that given the known history of the site and possible contamination that a
ground investigation should be undertaken. A condition is recommended to secure the
ground investigation and subsequently remediation scheme if required.

21.4

The proposed condition will ensure compliance with the provisions of paragraph C of
policy DM 21 of the LPSV and with Policy RP4 of the ALP.

21.5

Following this advice and on the basis of the evidence submitted by the applicant, the
proposal is compliant with paragraph C of Policy DM 21 of the LPSV and with Policy
RP4 of the ALP.

22.

Historic Environment – Archaeology

22.1

The LPSV recognises that Epping Forest District benefits from a rich and varied historic
environment, including historic remains. Where proposals could potentially affect
archaeological remains, preference is given to their preservation since these remains
are finite and irreplaceable.

22.2

Policy DM 7 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that heritage assets (including archaeological
remains) are conserved or enhanced in a manner appropriate to their significance.

22.3

To investigate potential impacts on the historic environment the application is
supported by a Heritage Statement which assess the potential for archaeological
deposits within the site. The site has been identified as having very limited scope for
previously unknown archaeological deposits to survive and it is therefore concluded
that no significant archaeological remains will be impacts or disturbed by the proposal.

22.4

The Historic Environment Team at ECC have recommended that no further
investigation or planning conditions are required given evidence of extensive made
ground at the site.

22.5

The proposed development is compliant with policy DM 7 of the LPSV and the
proposals would conserve any heritage assets of archaeological significance.

23.

Ecology

23.1

The LPSV sets out that new development proposals should seek to deliver a net biodiversity gain in addition to protecting existing habitats and species. This approach is
set out in Policy DM 1 of the LPSV. Policy NC3 of the adopted Local Plan is broadly
consistent with this approach, whereby development proposals which may cause harm

Page 166

to established habitats are required to provide a replacement, alternative habitats of at
least equivalent wildlife value. Additionally, Policy CP1 of the adopted Local Plan seeks
to avoid or to minimise potential environmental impacts of development proposals.
23.2

The application is accompanied by an Ecological Assessment which sets out the
baseline ecology of the application site and assesses the potential impacts of the
development and mitigation and enhancement measures which may be required.
Baseline ecological surveys

23.3

The findings of the Phase 1 habitat survey identified the site as low or negligible in
terms of habitats of ecological importance and low suitability for protected species. The
proposed landscape works and green roof will provide for a biodiversity net gain.
Impacts, mitigation and enhancement measures

23.4

The ECC ecologist reviewed the report and recommended that the proposed
ecological enhancements to the site should be secured and implemented in full. A
condition is recommended to ensure that enhancement measures are to be outlined
and secured through the approval of a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy.

23.5

Overall, in terms of ecology, the proposal would be in accordance with policy DM 1 of
the LPSV is also compliant with Policies NC3 and CP1 of the ALP

24.

Infrastructure

24.1

In order to deliver the sustainable and balanced growth which has been identified in
the LPSV, significant investment in infrastructure is required to meet the needs of
residents and businesses.

24.2

Infrastructure includes a wide variety of elements including transport, utilities, flood and
surface water management, open space and social and community infrastructure.

24.3

To outline the infrastructure requirements which are necessary to meet the needs of
the growth outlined in the Plan, the Council has complied an Infrastructure Delivery
Plan (IDP). The IDP identifies:

24.4



The organisation responsible for delivering each piece of infrastructure;



The period over which the relevant investment will be required; and



The cost of each item and how it is going to be funded.

The IDP has been developed in consultation and cooperation with infrastructure
providers and will ensure that infrastructure is delivered in a timely, predictable and
effective manner. The IDP has also considered high level issues of viability and
therefore delivery of policy compliant new development. The IDP is split into

Page 167

development areas and identifies the various interventions necessary within each
area.
24.5

The majority of infrastructure requirements are triggered by residential development
and don’t apply to the site given the current proposal.

24.6

ECC Highways and Transportation identified the need to provide enhanced bus
infrastructure and have requested the provision of real time display information via a
highway agreement and £22,000 to provide for ongoing maintenance for a 10-15 year
period.

24.7

Subject to the infrastructure interventions as noted in the previous section being
secured through appropriate planning obligations, the proposal is compliant with policy
D1 of the LPSV.

25.

Employment and skills

25.1

Part (v) of paragraph F of Policy SP 2 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that suitable training
and skills development opportunities are provided for local residents to equip them with
the skills they need to access future employment opportunities.

25.2

The Council is committed to ensuring that local residents get the best possible
opportunities for training and employment in relation to this development proposal and
as such an employment and skills plan (ESP) is proposed to be secured via legal
obligation. The ESP will ensure liaison with the Council on employment opportunities,
provide training opportunities and seek appropriate level of apprentices are provided
as part of the construction works.

25.3

Subject to the delivery of the measures identified in the ESP, Officers consider that the
development proposal will provide for significant opportunities for new jobs,
apprenticeships and training for the local community.

25.4

The precise details of these schemes can be secured through a planning obligation as
part of the section 106 legal agreement. Subject to the inclusion of the proposed
planning obligation, the proposal will be compliant with Part (v) of Paragraph F of Policy
SP 2 of the LPSV and will provide significant economic benefits to the local area.

26.

EQUALITY DUTIES AND HUMAN RIGHTS

26.1

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires that a public authority must exercise its
functions having due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance
equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
(age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief;
sex; and sexual orientation) and persons who do not share it, and foster good relations
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do
not.

Page 168

26.2

In making this recommendation, due regard has been given to this Public Sector
Equality Duty and the relevant protected characteristics. It is considered that there will
be no specific implications and that, if approving or refusing this proposal, the Council
will be acting in compliance with its duties.

26.3

The Human Rights Act 1998 makes it unlawful for a public authority to act in a way
which is incompatible with any of the Convention rights protected by the Act unless it
could not have acted otherwise. Careful consideration has been given to the rights set
out in the European Convention on Human Rights, in particular Article 6 (right to a fair
trial); Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life; Article 14 (prohibition of
discrimination); and Article 1 of the First Protocol (right to peaceful enjoyment of
possessions).

26.4

The Council is of the opinion that the recommendation does not interfere with any such
rights except insofar as is necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others. The
Council is permitted to control the use of property in accordance with the public interest
and the recommendation is considered a proportionate response to the submitted
application based upon the considerations set out in this report.

27.

CONCLUSION

27.1

The application site has been proposed for allocation (ref: EPP.R6) in the Epping
Forest District Local Plan Submission Version (LPSV) to provide new residential
accommodation alongside retained public parking to meet an identified need. The
proposal for commercial uses on the site is contrary to this site allocation, however,
the applicant is to make good the shortfall in residential provision via the use of the
Land at St John’s Road site as a ‘donor site’. Subject to securing the planned for
residential accommodation via the s106 planning obligations the principle of the use is
supported.

27.2

The new commercial units and cinema provide an enhancement to the existing town
centre offer. The site is a sustainable town centre location and the proposal will support
the vitality and viability of the wider town centre. The high quality architecture will
contribute positively to the setting and the development will enable much improved
public realm and town centre connectivity. The provision of a ‘green’ roof supports an
overall biodiversity net gain on the site.

27.3

Potential impact on the amenity of adjoining residential properties is suitably mitigated
through the boundary treatment, orientation of the buildings, restrictions on plant noise
and construction management conditions.

27.4

It has been concluded beyond reasonable scientific doubt that the development will
not result in an adverse impact on the integrity of the Epping Forest SAC subject to
mitigation measures and site-specific conditions and obligations that will be imposed.

27.5

The commercial elements of the building are targeting a BREEAM rating of ‘Excellent’
for the majority of space which is within the top 10% of non-domestic UK buildings.

Page 169

The proposal provides a 59% reduction in C02 emissions over the requirements of
Building Regulations Part L and will utilise renewal sources of energy thus contributing
to the Districts carbon neutral by 2030 targets.
27.6

Taken together, the application has demonstrated its compliance with the
requirements of the LPSV, the Adopted Local Plan and the NPPF. It is therefore
recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the imposition of suitably
worded planning conditions and obligations.

Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest:
Planning Application Case Officer: Nick Finney
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564 371
or if no direct contact can be made please email:
contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Appendix 1a – Planning conditions and informative
Appendix 1b – Listed Building Consent conditions and informative
Appendix 2 – Neighbour representations summary
Appendix 3 – Statutory and technical consultee responses
Appendix 4 – QRP feedback summary

Page 170

Page 171

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 – Cottis Lane Planning Conditions and Informatives (EPF/2924/20)
COTTIS LANE – EPF/2925/20

1

Time Limit
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2

M4 - Approved Drawings

Page 173

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and retained strictly in accordance with the following approved plans:
Location Plan
Existing Site Plan
Combined Site Plan Cottis and Bakers Lane Car Parks
Extent of Off-Site Highways and Public Realm Works
Proposed Site Sections
Proposed Ground Floor Plan
Proposed First Floor Plan
Proposed Second Floor Plan
Proposed Third Floor Plan
Proposed Roof Plan
Ground Floor Plan – Phase 1 (Meanwhile Use)
Sections – 1of 2
Sections – 2 of 2
Elevations
Elevations - Phase 1 (Meanwhile Use)
Detail Bay Elevation 1 – Car Park

19756 – 0201
19756 – 0202
19756 – 0301
19756 – 0302
19756 – 0303
19756 – 2001
19756 – 2002
19756 – 2003
19756 – 2004
19756 – 2005
19756 – 2050
19756 – 2101
19756 – 2102
19756 – 2201
19756 – 2202
19756 – 2301

P01
P01
P03
P03
P02
P03
P03
P03
P03
P03
P02
P02
P01
P02
P02
P02

Page 174

Detail Bay Elevation 2 - Yard
Bakers Lane & Cottis Lane Sites - General Arrangement
Plan
Cottis Lane Car Park - General Arrangement Plan
Cottis Lane Car Park - General Arrangement Plan Roof
Level
Cottis Lane Car Park – Existing Condition
Vegetation Retention & Removal Plan – Phase 1
Vegetation Retention & Removal Plan – Phase 2
General Arrangement Plan - Public Realm Improvements
General Arrangement Plan – Temporary Works
Site Section A-AA – Existing Condition
Site Section A-AA - Proposed Condition
Site Section B-BB - Proposed Condition
Site Section C-CC - Existing & Proposed Condition
Site Section D-DD - Existing & Proposed Condition
Site Section E-EE - Existing Boundary Condition
Site Section E-EE - Proposed Boundary Condition
Boundary Condition A-AA
Boundary Condition B-BB
Boundary Condition C-CC
Boundary Condition D-DD
Boundary Condition E-EE
Planting Plan
Planting Plan - Roof Level
Planting Plan - Public Realm Improvements
Typical Detail - Tree Protective Fence
Typical Detail - Tree Pit in Soft
Typical Detail - Tree Pit in Hard
Typical Detail - Biodiversity Roof
Typical Detail - Planter Upstand
Surface Detail - Brick Paving Type 1
Surface Detail - Concrete Surface
Surface Detail - Site Branding

19756 – 2302
1270-03-001

P01
Rev P6

1270-03-002
1270-03-003

Rev P5
Rev P5

1270-03-004
1270-03-005
1270-03-006
1270-03-008
1270-03-009
1270-03-010
1270-03-011
1270-03-013
1270-03-014
1270-03-015
1270-03-016
1270-03-017
1270-03-018
1270-03-019
1270-03-020
1270-03-021
1270-03-022
1270-03-201
1270-03-202
1270-03-203
1270-03-400
1270-03-401
1270-03-402
1270-03-403
1270-03-404
1270-03-411
1270-03-412
1270-03-413

Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P6
Rev P4
Rev P1
Rev P4
Rev P5
Rev P4
Rev P5
Rev P3
Rev P3
Rev P2
Rev P2
Rev P2
Rev P2
Rev P2
Rev P5
Rev P5
Rev P3
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1

Surface Detail - Drainage Rill
Surface Detail - Manhole Covers
Surface Detail - Kerbs & Edges
Surface Detail - Macadam
Surface Detail - Granite Setts
Street Furniture Detail - Seating Type 1
Street Furniture Detail - Concrete Seating Wall
Street Furniture Detail - Bollard
Street Furniture Detail - Cycle Stand
Street Furniture Detail - Litter & Recycling Bin
Street Furniture Detail - Bespoke Concrete Seating
Street Furniture Detail - Swing Seat

1270-03-414
1270-03-415
1270-03-416
1270-03-417
1270-03-418
1270-03-421
1270-03-422
1270-03-424
1270-03-425
1270-03-426
1270-03-427
1270-03-428

Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1
Rev P1

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). For the avoidance
of doubt and to ensure the proposal is built in accordance with the approved plans.

Page 175

3

Finished Floor Levels
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works, details of the finished floor levels of the buildings of the development hereby
permitted in relation to existing ground levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that construction is carried out at a suitable level having regard to drainage, access, the appearance of the
development, the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and existing trees, hedgerows and other landscaping, in accordance with
Policies T 1, DM 9, DM 18 and DM 19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with Policies DBE2, DBE3, DBE4, DBE9, LL11
and RP3 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

4

Design
H1 – Details/Samples of External Materials

Prior to the commencement of development above slab level, detailed drawings and samples of all materials (or documentary and
photographic details where samples are unavailable) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development,
including any external cladding and internal cladding that is decorative and visible externally, decorative fascia or panels, balustrades
and glazing, hereby permitted, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved details / samples. Please do not send materials to the Civic Offices. Materials should
be kept on site and arrangements made with the planning officer for inspection.
Detailed drawings and samples shall include:

Page 176




















Principal features on the facades e.g. bay studies (1:50 @ appropriate paper size)
Details of each envelope / roof type (1:20 @A3)
Detailed brick elements including mortar joint profile (1:20 @A3)
Details of glazing and curtain walling systems including any manifestation (1:20 @A3)
Key junctions/bonds between materials/finishes (1:20 @A3)
Ground floor frontages including entrances, glazing and signage zones, infill panels on plant rooms/bike stores etc,
shopfronts or commercial/workspace frontages (1:50 @ appropriate paper size)
Parapets, roof edges, rooftop plant screening, lift over runs etc (1:20 @A3)
Elevational location of all joints e.g. structural, movement, panels (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
Elevational location of all openings in envelope e.g. ventilation grilles, bird & bat boxes (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
Elevational location of all items which are fixed to the façade e.g. fins/louvres, rainwater pipes, lighting, CCTV, alarms
including any provision for cable runs boxes (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
Head, jamb and sill details, including profiles, for typical openings and all ground floor entrances and doors to balconies /
terraces (1:20 @A3)
Details of key architectural metalwork / screens / gates (1:20 @A3)
Details of balconies and terraces including floor finishes (1:20 @A3)
Balustrade details (1:20 @A3)
Details of soffits and canopies (1:20 @A3)
Details of external stairs (1:50 @A3)
Junctions with neighbouring buildings (1:20 @A3)
External signage details including elevations and sections (1:50 @A3) (excluding signage requiring separate advertisement
consent)




Details of green / brown roof system (1:20 @A3)
Any other items not listed but bespoke to building requirement

Reason: To ensure a high quality design and satisfactory appearance to the development in the interests of visual amenity of the area,
in accordance with policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017,
and the NPPF 2021.

5

H2 – Materials
The details of materials to be submitted pursuant to Condition 4 and to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
development hereby permitted shall match (in colour, style, bonding & texture) those shown on plan numbers:

Page 177

Combined Site Plan Cottis and Bakers Lane Car Parks
Extent of Off-Site Highways and Public Realm Works
Proposed Site Sections
Proposed Ground Floor Plan
Proposed First Floor Plan
Proposed Second Floor Plan
Proposed Third Floor Plan
Proposed Roof Plan
Ground Floor Plan – Phase 1 (Meanwhile Use)
Sections – 1of 2
Sections – 2 of 2
Elevations
Elevations - Phase 1 (Meanwhile Use)
Detail Bay Elevation 1 – Car Park
Detail Bay Elevation 2 - Yard

19756 – 0301
19756 – 0302
19756 – 0303
19756 – 2001
19756 – 2002
19756 – 2003
19756 – 2004
19756 – 2005
19756 – 2050
19756 – 2101
19756 – 2102
19756 – 2201
19756 – 2202
19756 – 2301
19756 – 2302

P03
P03
P02
P03
P03
P03
P03
P03
P02
P02
P01
P02
P02
P02
P01

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity of the area, in accordance with policy DBE10 of the
adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

6

H3 – Boundary Treatment
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works of the development, or any phase of the development, whichever is the sooner,
herby permitted, a scale plan of not less than 1:100 indicating the position, design, materials and height and type of boundary treatment
to be erected, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details of the boundary treatment to
be submitted and used in the construction of the development shall accord with the noise attenuation criteria detailed within the
submitted Noise Impact Assessment Technical Report: R8437-2 Rev 1 (24 Acoustics: 10th December 2020). The development shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved details and all boundary treatment shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the
development and thereafter permanently retained.

Page 178

Reason: To ensure the safe movement of vehicles between the highway and off-street parking areas and to ensure a satisfactory
appearance of the development, in accordance with Local Plan and Alterations policies ST4 & DBE1 and Submission Version Local
Plan (2017) policies T1 (paragraph F) & DM 9, all of which are consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework.

7

External Lighting
Details of any external lighting of the site, or any phase of the development, whichever is the sooner, shall be submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority 6 months prior to the occupation of the development. This information shall include
layout and elevation plans with beam orientation, light spill and a schedule of equipment to be installed (luminaire type, mounting
height, aiming angles and luminaire profiles) and details of when all non-essential external lighting for the development shall be nonilluminated. The lighting shall be installed, maintained and operated in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the use of the lighting does not cause undue nuisance and disturbance to neighbouring properties at
unreasonable hours and in accordance with policies RP5A and DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and policies DM9 &
DM21 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Soft/Hard Landscaping/Trees

8

C1 - Retention of Trees and Shrubs
If any tree, shrub or hedge shown to be retained in the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment 200659-PD-11a (TMA: June 2021)
is removed, uprooted or destroyed, dies, or becomes severely damaged or diseased during development activities or within 3 years
of the completion of the development, another tree, shrub or hedge of the same size and species shall be planted within 6 months or
during the next planting season (whichever is the sooner) at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written
consent to any variation. If within a period of five years from the date of planting any replacement tree, shrub or hedge is removed,
uprooted or destroyed, or dies or becomes seriously damaged or defective another tree, shrub or hedge of the same species and size
as that originally planted shall, within 6 months or during the next planting season (whichever is the sooner), be planted at the same
place.
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the existing trees, shrubs or hedges and to ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development,
in accordance with policies LL10 & LL11 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, policies DM3 and DM5 of the Local Plan Submission
Version 2017, the NPPF 2021, and Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Page 179

9

C3 - Hard and Soft Landscaping
Prior to any above ground works, a scheme of hard and soft landscaping for the site, including details of materials, species and a
planting schedule shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The hard landscaping details shall
include:a) details of existing features to be retained;
b) proposed finished levels or contours;
c) hard surfacing materials;
d) means of enclosure;
e) car parking layouts;
f) other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;
g) secure cycle storage facilities;
h) refuse facilities;
i) other minor artefacts and structures, including furniture, play equipment, signs, functional services above and below ground (e.g.
drainage, power, communications cables, pipelines) including heating strips, indicating lines, manholes, supports etc.;
j) retained historic landscape features and proposals for restoration where relevant;
k) existing trees and hedgerows to be retained; .

l) soft landscaping details including plans for planting or establishment by any means and full written specifications and schedules of
plants, including species, plant sizes and proposed numbers /densities where appropriate;
m) tree/hedgerow removal;
n) tree planting including species, planting location, timing of planting, specification and maintenance;
o) tree protection measures;
p) programme of management of the soft planting;
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to
the occupation of the building or completion of the development, whichever is the sooner. If any plants which within a period of 5 years
from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next
planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To secure the provision and retention of the landscaping in the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with
policies CP2 & LL11 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, policies DM3 and DM5 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, the
NPPF 2021, and Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Page 180

10

Soft Landscape
Soft landscape works pursuant to Condition 9 shall comply with the approved planting plans (1270-03-201 P5, 1270-05-202 P5 and
1270-03-203 P3) and include planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant
and grass establishment); schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate;
implementation programme. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out in
the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is
the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless
the local planning authority gives written approval to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and landscape treatment of the site. To safeguard the visual
character of the immediate area in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with
LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006, and the NPPF 2021.

11

C6 - Tree Protection Measures
The development hereby permitted shall proceed in accordance with the terms of the Arboricultural Impact Assessment 200659-PD11a (TMA: June 2021). Its implementation shall include the supervision of the tree protection during the demolition and construction
phases by an Arboricultural Consultant (provided by the applicant with the agreement of the local planning authority).
Reason: To protect existing trees during the construction works in order to ensure that the character and amenity of the area are not
impaired, in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the
Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

12

Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP)

Page 181

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted (including ground works, vegetation clearance), a construction
environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
(a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
(b) Identification of ""biodiversity protection zones"".
(c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may
be provided as a set of method statements).
(d) Measures to protect badgers from being trapped in open excavations and/or pipe culverts.
(e) The location and timings of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.
(f) The times during which construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee works.
(g) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
(h) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly
competent person.
(i) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the approved
details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To avoid or mitigate the effects of the construction of the development on ecological receptors, in accordance with Policies
DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006

13

Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP)
Prior to the first occupation of the development, or any phase of the development, whichever is the sooner, a landscape and ecological
management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The content of the LEMP
shall include the following.

Page 182

(a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
(b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.
(c) Aims and objectives of management.
(d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
(e) Prescriptions for management actions.
(f) Prescription of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled forward over a five-year period).
(g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan.
(h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term implementation of the plan will be
secured by the developer with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results
from monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) contingencies and/or remedial action will
be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally
approved scheme. The maintenance schedule shall be for a minimum period of 5 years and include details of the arrangements for
its implementation. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved schedule. The management plan &
maintenance schedule shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the
occupation of the building or completion of the development, whichever is the sooner.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended),
the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). To ensure habitat
enhancement within the landscape of the development, in accordance with Policies DM 1, DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan
Submission Version and with LL7, LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006, the NPPF 2021 and Section 197
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

14

Transport
Highway Works
Prior to any above ground works of the development hereby permitted, the improvement works to the public highway as shown in
principle on Meinhardt drawing no. 2748-MHT-CV-003 Rev P02 shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority, in consultation with Essex County Council. The improvement works shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the
development in accordance with the approved details and these details shall include phasing of the works that broadly accord with
drawing 19756-XX-00-DR-0302-P P2. The design details to be agreed shall include but not be limited to the following:



Page 183





New vehicular/pedestrian/cycle accesses for Cottis Lane development and Bakers Lane development.
The provision of a new junction arrangement and street materials including increasing existing footway widths and provision
of dropped kerb crossing points with tactile paving;
Provision of a new layby and road widening on Bakers Lane with an adoptable 2m footway to rear of each;
Implementation or amendment of Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) as appropriate for parking and loading restrictions
considered relevant and necessary along Cottis Lane and Bakers Lane;
To implement an appropriate TRO and works as necessary, on Cottis Lane, to prevent motor vehicles along approx. 50m of
its length from the High Street to the turning head to the rear.

Reason: To ensure that safe, efficient and improved accessibility is provided for all highway users. In order to protect highway safety
and the amenity of other users of the public highway and rights of way, in accordance with Policy T 1 of the Local Plan Submission
Version and with Policy ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

15

Vehicle Turning Areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development the vehicle/cycle parking and turning areas as indicated on the approved plans shall
be implemented, hard surfaced, sealed and marked out. The parking and turning areas shall be retained in perpetuity for their intended
purpose.

Reason: To ensure that appropriate parking and turning is provided, in accordance with Policy T 1 of the Local Plan Submission
Version 2017 and with Policy ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

16

Delivery and Servicing Plan
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works for the development, or any phase of the development, whichever is the
sooner, hereby permitted, a highways management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The highways management plan shall include the management responsibilities and maintenance schedule for the private access road;
the on-site car and cycle parking; electric vehicle charging points; servicing, loading and unloading, turning and waiting areas. The
management plan shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and its requirements adhered to thereafter.

Page 184

Reason: In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and the character and appearance of the development, in accordance with
Policies T 1 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policies DBE1, DBE4 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.

17

Construction Management Plan
Prior to the commencement of development, or any phase of the development, whichever is the sooner, hereby permitted, a
Construction Management/Method Plan and Statement with respect to the construction phase of the development shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development works shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved
Construction Management/Method Statement. The details shall include:
a) Construction vehicle numbers, type and routing;
b) Traffic management requirements, including crossing the public highway and other rights of way;
c) Vehicle parking for site operatives and visitors (inclusive of travel plan measures to ensure town centre visitor parking isn’t utilised
for contractors);
d) Loading/unloading and storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
e) Construction and storage compound areas;
f) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding;
g) Siting and details of wheel washing facilities including location of petrol/oil interceptors in all car parking/washing/ repair facilities;

h)
i)
j)
k)

Frequency and method of cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;
Minimisation of dust emissions arising from construction activities on site and any temporary access to the public highway;
Details of the responsible person (site manager/office) who can be contacted; and
A scheme of recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works.

Reason: In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and the character and appearance of the development. To prevent oilpolluted discharges entering local watercourses. To ensure satisfactory provision in relation to adjoining properties and circulation
within the site, in accordance with Policies T 1 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policies DBE1, DBE4 and
ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

18

Vehicle Wheel Washing

Page 185

Wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for vehicles leaving the site during construction works shall be installed and utilised to clean
vehicles immediately before leaving the site. Any mud or other material deposited on nearby roads as a result of the development
shall be removed.
Reason: To avoid the deposit of material on the public highway in the interests of highway safety, in accordance with policy ST4 of
the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policy T1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

19

Swept Path Analysis
Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted, swept path assessments for the specified phase of development shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include the following:
a) Large car accessing car parking spaces to demonstrate that they can be safely entered and departed from. This should be
demonstrated for the car parking spaces that are in corners and for one midway in a row. This will be necessary for any public or
employment car parks;

b) Swept path assessment for a fire tender manoeuvring within the site to demonstrate that a fire tender can safely manoeuvre within
to access all units;
c) Swept path assessment for a refuse vehicle to demonstrate that refuse collection and servicing can take place to serve development
site;
d) Swept path assessments for servicing and delivery vehicles for any commercial land uses to demonstrate that servicing and
deliveries can be accommodated to serve the development site and within the respective land use sites. Thereafter, the development,
or the specified phase(s) of the development (whichever is the sooner) shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public highway and rights of way, in accordance with
Policy T 1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with Policy ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

Page 186

20

Sustainability
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works for the development hereby permitted, a method statement that demonstrates
the way in which the development will meet the minimum sustainability levels and standards as set out in the Energy Strategy Report
(Elementa: December 2020) and Sustainability Statement (Elementa: December 2020) shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include both passive and active sustainability measures to be incorporated into the built
fabric of the development and those measures to be carried out during the construction phase of development. The development shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interest of delivering positive sustainability and environmental benefits. To support the move towards a low carbon
economy, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies DM 20 of the Local Plan Submission Version and
with Policy CP8 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

Flood Risk and Drainage

21

Drainage
No development hereby approved (except demolition and enabling works) shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage
scheme has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The surface water drainage system will be
based on the submitted Flood Risk Assessment carried out by Meinhardt (Issue P02 – 10 December 2020) and the Drainage Strategy
indicated on drawing nos. 2780-MHT-CV-100 P03; 2780-MHT-CV-110 P03; 2780-MHT-CV-120 P03 in the Below Ground Drainage
Strategy (Issue P02 – 10 December 2020).
The surface water drainage scheme should include:



Page 187









Limiting discharge rates to 1.95/s for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year rate plus 40% allowance for climate
change. All relevant permissions to discharge from the site into any outfall should be demonstrated.
Provide sufficient storage to ensure no off site flooding as a result of the development during all storm events up to and
including the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change event.
Demonstrate that all storage features can half empty within 24 hours for the 1 in 30 plus 40% climate change critical storm
event.
Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.
The appropriate level of treatment for all runoff leaving the site, in line with the Simple Index Approach in chapter 26 of the
CIRIA SuDS Manual C753. All proprietary treatment devices should have the simple index mitigation indices provided by the
manufacturer. If these are not available then an alternative device should be used. Please note that silt traps, gullies, and
catchpits are not accepted as suitable means of treatment.
Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage scheme.
A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL and ground levels, and location and sizing of any
drainage features.
A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to the approved strategy.

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding and to prevent the pollution of the water environment, in accordance with policy RP3,
RP5 and U3B of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policies DM16, DM18 and DM19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017,
and the NPPF 2021.

22

Drainage Maintenance 1
Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, a maintenance plan detailing the maintenance arrangements including who
is responsible for different elements of the surface water drainage system and the maintenance activities/frequencies shall be
submitted to and agreed in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to enable the surface water drainage system to function
as intended to ensure mitigation against flood risk, in accordance with policies RP3, RP5 and U3B of the adopted Local Plan 1998 &
2006, Policies DM16, DM18 and DM19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

23

Ecology

Page 188

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the Ecological Appraisal (BSG Ecology: December 2020)
and the Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Measures (detailed in Section 6.11 of Epping Forest Environmental Impact
Assessment ‐ Commercial Sites Chapter 6 ‐ Ecology and Biodiversity (Stephenson Halliday: July 2021)). Prior to the commencement
of above ground works a timetable for the implementation of the ecological mitigation measures shall be submitted to and agreed in
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To enable proper consideration of the impact of the development on the contribution of nature conservation interests to the
amenity of the area, in accordance with Policy DM 1 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with CP1 of the Adopted Local Plan
and Alterations 2006.

24

Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy
A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to above ground works, following the details contained within the Ecological Appraisal (BSG Ecology:
December 2020) and Section 6.11 of Epping Forest Environmental Impact Assessment ‐ Commercial Sites Chapter 6 ‐ Ecology and
Biodiversity (Stephenson Halliday: July 2021). The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;

b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To maintain and improve the biodiversity of the site and to mitigate any impact from the development hereby approved, in
accordance with Policy DM1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Air Quality
25

Ultra Low NOx Boilers Condition

Page 189

Prior to completion of the development hereby permitted, or the relevant phase of the development, whichever is the sooner, details of
boilers shall be submitted to and approved in writing to the Local Planning Authority. The boilers shall have dry NOx emissions not
exceeding 40 mg/kWh (0%). The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To help improve local environmental conditions and limit emissions to air as required by the national planning policy framework.
Boilers can be a significant source of NO2 emissions and worsen local air quality. To help support improvements to air quality in accordance
with the NPPF and Policy T1 and DM22 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017.

26

Electric Charging Points
Prior to the commencement of above ground works, details and location of the parking spaces equipped with active Electric Vehicle
Charging Points (EVCP) must be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall demonstrate
that the development will deliver 15 per cent active/85 per cent passive ECVPs and shall include:




Location of active charge points
Specification of charging equipment
Operation/management strategy



Identify of the 15% active provision which spaces are restricted to use only by Electric Vehicles (excluding hybrid vehicles)

Where 15% active points are proposed, with 85% passive point provision, a management plan for the charging points should be
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The management plan shall include:





Which parking bays will have active charging provision, including disabled parking bays;
How charging point usage will be charged amongst users and non-users;
Set out the process users can go through to activate passive charging points;
Electricity supply availability. The electricity supply should be already confirmed by UK Power Networks so that the supply
does not need to be upgraded at a later date.

Page 190

The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details and retained in perpetuity. Prior to occupation, the
application shall submit confirmation to the Local Planning Authority that the charging points are operational, with active provision.
This must be supported by appropriate evidence.
Reason: In the interest of promoting increased choice of sustainable transport options. To encourage the use of electric vehicles in
order to reduce air pollution om the District and help support improvements to Epping Forest SAC in accordance with Policy T1 and
DM22 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Land Contamination
27

G5 - Land Contamination Survey
Prior to the commencement of development hereby permitted (with the exception of demolition works where this is for the reason of
making areas of the site available for site investigation), an assessment of the risks posed by any land contamination shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This assessment must be undertaken by a suitably qualified
contaminated land practitioner, in accordance with British Standard BS 10175: Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites –
Code of Practice and the Environment Agency’s Guidelines for the Land Contamination: Risk Management (LCRM 2020) (or
equivalent if replaced), and shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The development
shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any
variation. The assessment shall include: (1) A survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination and (2) An assessment of the

potential risks to: human health; property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland, service lines
and pipes; adjoining land; groundwater and surface waters; ecological systems; and archaeological sites and ancient monuments.
If following the risk assessment (pursuant to the details outlined above) unacceptable risks are identified from land affected by
contamination, no work on any part of the development shall take place, until a detailed land remediation scheme has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include an appraisal of remediation options,
identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and
programme of the works to be undertaken including the verification plan. (The remediation scheme shall be sufficiently detailed and
thorough to ensure that after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land
under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990). The development shall only be carried out in accordance with the
approved scheme. Following the completion of the remediation works and prior to the first occupation of the development, a
verification report by a suitably qualified contaminated land practitioner shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.

Page 191

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together
with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policy RP4 of the adopted Local Plan 1998
& 2006, and policy DM21 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Operational Management
28

Car Park Management Plan [Cottis Lane]
Prior to first occupation of the Multi-Storey Car Park hereby permitted, a Car Park Management Plan, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The management plan shall include details of operation, security, CCTV and
provide evidence that Park Mark accreditation has or is to be obtained (or other recognised similar scheme). The development shall
be carried out in accordance with the measures and accreditation approved pursuant to this condition and shall be maintained
throughout the operational use of the site.

Reason: In order to ensure good management and security within the Car Park, in accordance with Policies DM 9 and T 1 of the
Local Plan Submission Version 2017.

29

Restriction on Operating Hours & Times [Cottis Lane]
The commercial uses hereby permitted (excluding the use of the multi-storey car park) shall not be open to customers outside the
hours of 06.30 to 23.00 on Monday to Saturday and 08.00 to 23.00 on Sundays and Bank Holidays.
Reason: In order to minimise disturbance to local residents, in accordance with policies RP5A and DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan
1998 & 2006, Policy DM21 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Page 192

30

Extract Ventilation [Cottis Lane]
Prior to the commencement of the use or operation of a unit, details of any extraction system for food preparation areas, or other
processes which may produce odours and/or noise and vibration, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning
Authority. The details submitted shall include the extract ventilation system and/or odour control equipment, including details of any
external ducting and measures to control noise and vibration. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details and such approved equipment shall thereafter be operated at all times when cooking is carried out and maintained in
accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. The external ducting shall be removed when the authorised use of the premises for
the sale of hot food ceases.
Reason: To safeguard the appearance of the premises and minimise the impact of cooking smells and odours in accordance with
policy DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Noise Management
31

Cottis Yard Terrace

Prior to first occupation of the unit or unit(s) containing or using the upper floor terrace hereby permitted, a noise management plan in
relation to the use of the terrace area on the upper floor of the development, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The noise management plan shall include details of measures to minimise noise from proposed activities on the
open roof terrace space fronting Cottis Yard. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and shall
be adhered to at all times.
Reason: In order to minimise any noise from the use of the terrace which will affect the amenity of local residents, in accordance with
policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF
2021.

32

Plant Noise

Page 193

The use of any plant which services this development must cease during any period that the rating level of noise (as defined by
BS4142:2014) exceeds the prevailing background noise level at the affected noise sensitive premises. The measurement position
and assessment shall be made according to BS4142:2014, and shall include the cumulative effect of all of the plant on the site.
The cumulative plant noise limit for this site shall not exceed 39dB LAeq, 1hr between 07.00-23.00 hrs, and 32dB LAeq, 15 mins
between 23.00-07.00 hrs.
Reason: In order to minimise any noise which will affect the amenity of local residents, in accordance with policy DBE1 of the adopted
Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

33

Low Frequency Noise
Low frequency, unweighted noise levels should be controlled to a maximum of 50 dB Leq, 63Hz, 5 min and 40 dB Leq, 125Hz, 5 min
at the façades of nearby noise sensitive premises.

Reason: In order to minimise the impact of any low frequency noise from music which will affect the amenity of local residents, in
accordance with policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017,
and the NPPF 2021.

34

Meanwhile Use Area [Cottis Lane]
Prior to the completion of the development hereby permitted (excluding the Sui Generis Cinema Use) and in the event the Sui
Generis Cinema Use is not implemented (defined as being capable of operational use) within a period of five years following first
commencement of development hereby permitted, details of the proposed meanwhile use strategy shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The proposed meanwhile use strategy shall include an alternative landscape
scheme for the site to create publicly accessible open space. The meanwhile use shall be implemented within one year of first
occupation of any part of the development hereby permitted.

Page 194

Reason: To make the most efficient use of land within the town centre of Epping. In the interest of the character and appearance of
the site and surrounding area and to protect the amenities of neighbouring commercial and residential occupiers. To comply with
policies DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF
2021.

35

M5 - Restriction on Use [Cottis Lane]
The ground floor commercial premises shall be used for Class E (a-f) and for no other purpose (including any other purpose in Class
E of the Schedule to the Town & Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), or in any provision equivalent to that
Class in any Statutory Instrument revoking or re-enacting that Order.
Reason: In the interest of proper planning and to ensure that full consideration is given by the Local Planning Authority to any
alternative in the interests of safeguarding the vitality and viability of Epping Town Centre, in accordance with policies E1, E4A and
E4B of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policies E 1 and E 2 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.
In the interest highway safety and safeguarding habitats and species of significant ecological importance within the Epping Forest

Special Area of Conservation, in accordance with Policy T 1, DM2 and DM22 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the
NPPF 2021.

36

M1 – Permitted Development Rights Removed
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or
any other order revoking and re-enacting that order) no development generally permitted by virtue of Class MA of Part 3 of Schedule
2 shall be undertaken without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority.

Page 195

Reason: To allow the Local Planning Authority to retain control over the development and ensure further consideration is given with
regards to the effect on the character and appearance of the area and living conditions on adjoining properties, in accordance with
policies E4A and DBE2 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, policies E 1, DM 9 and DM 14 of the Local Plan Submission Version
2017, and the NPPF 2021. In the interest highway safety and safeguarding habitats and species of significant ecological importance
within the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation, in accordance with Policy T 1, DM2 and DM22 of the Local Plan Submission
Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

37

Air Extraction/Ventilation
Notwithstanding the development hereby approved, details of any extract/air conditioning/refrigeration and /or ventilation system
proposed for installation outside of the approved roof plant enclosures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to its installation within or on any individual unit. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To protect nearby noise sensitive residential and commercial premises from significant loss of amenity due to noise, in
accordance with policy DBE9 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006, policy DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version
2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Informatives

Page 196

1

The Local Planning Authority has been positive and proactive in its consideration of this planning application suggesting
improvements to the development during the course of the application. The applicant submitted amended plans and additional and
revised information resulting in a form of development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the
District.

2

Sports Centre Design - The applicant is advised that the design and layout of the leisure centre should comply with the relevant
industry Technical Design Guidance, including guidance published by Sport England, National Governing Bodies for Sport.
Particular attention is drawn to Sport England’s “Accessible Facilities”, Sports Hall Design & Layouts” and “Swimming Pools” design
guidance notes https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-andcost-guidance.

3

Meanwhile – Any meanwhile activities proposed on this site that fall outside of Permitted Development within the GPDO 2015 (as
amended) are subject to planning permission.

4

Any advertisements and / or signage shall be agreed separately under the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements)
Regulations 2007.

5

The applicant is advised that no waste materials generated as a result of the proposed demolition and/or construction operations shall
be burnt on the site. All such refuse shall be disposed of by suitable alternative methods.

6

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the Control of Pollution Act 1974 relating to the control of noise on construction and demolition
sites.

7

Environmental Protection and Drainage Advisory: The applicant has provided a surface water drainage strategy and the general
principles of the design are acceptable. The Environmental Protection and Drainage Team will require further information/clarification
at the discharge of conditions stage on the following:

-

Evidence of the required water quality treatment for the southern part of the access road in line with Chapter 26 of the SuDS
Manual.
Details of mitigation measures in place for the overall site in relation to fuel and oil spillage.
Evidence of a permit to discharge into the main river from the Environment Agency.
Details of pump contingency.
Health and safety precautions to be included in relation to the open water features.
Survey of the existing watercourse and its ability to take the additional surface water from the development.
Details of where any flooded volume for the 1 in 100 year plus 40% will be contained within the site as per the planning
statement.

A detailed drainage plan must be supplied including details of any interceptors for fuel spillage, silt traps, catch pits, exceedance
routing, in addition to details already covered in the Flood Risk Assessment.

Page 197

8

It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that before commencement of any works to the public highway, any necessary Agreements
under the Highways Act 1980 are also obtained. Works to the highway will normally require an agreement or agreements, under
Section 278 of the Highways Act, with Highways England and the Local Highway Authority.

9

All work within or affecting the highway is to be laid out and constructed by prior arrangement with, and to the requirements and
satisfaction of, the Highway Authority, details to be agreed before the commencement of works. The applicants should be advised to
contact the Development Management Team by email at development.management@essexhighways.org or by post to: SMO3 - Essex
Highways, Unit 36, Childerditch Industrial Park, Childerditch Hall Drive, Brentwood, Essex, CM13 3HD.

10

The Highway Authority cannot accept any liability for costs associated with a developer’s improvement. This includes design check
safety audits, site supervision, commuted sums for maintenance and any potential claims under Part 1 and Part 2 of the Land
Compensation Act 1973. To protect the Highway Authority against such compensation claims a cash deposit or bond may be required.

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2

Traffic
There concerns that the development will result in significant increases in vehicle and
pedestrian traffic to already overcrowded roads, over extended hours of the day, in what is
predominantly a residential area. There are suggestions that suitable provision be made for
the improvement of the road layout and that highway design should ensure appropriate and
safe pedestrian passage, specifically the inclusion of a zebra crossing between the gym and
proposed car park to assist those travelling on foot from Albany Court where there is
currently no pavement and a blind bend.
Construction phase
There are concerns around the dust, pollution and noise from the construction phase of the
development, which is noted will severely impact the lives of a number of elderly residents.
It is also noted that there is no provision in the plans for temporary parking whilst
construction is carried out at the car park.
Noise
It is noted that the Noise Impact Assessment report refers to noise from cars, however there
is no mention of the HGVs which will use the service road in the north east of the
development (likely at unsociable hours). It is also noted that the report does not assess
potential plant (e.g. air-conditioning) noise.
It is suggested that hours of opening/closing and servicing of retail and commercial uses are
restricted to reduce the effect on adjoining residential properties.
There are concerns around visitors to the development parking or attempting to park in the
neighbouring residential streets, which is likely to create considerable noise and nuisance,
particularly late at night. There is particular concern around how the noise and nuisance
that eating and drinking establishments create, will impact elderly residents.
There are also concerns over Phase II and the uncertainty of the use of the open area east of
the development site.
Loss of daylight
It is noted that the whole development will cut out a considerable amount of light to the
surrounding streets and there are concerns around the impact this will have on the lives of
those who will suffer deterioration in available daylight.
There are concerns over the Meanwhile Use of the open area and whether any control
measures will be put in place to ensure excessively large structures will not be erected that
could cause a loss of light. It is argued that setting the third floor back slightly will not alter
the fact that light will be diminished during the day. It is also noted that the Daylight,
Sunlight and Overshadowing Impact Report does not refer to a property on Buttercross Lane
which directly borders the site.
Lighting
There are concerns around the impact of artificial light at night.
Parking
It is stressed that car parking for residents and visitors is already difficult, and therefore
suggested that additional provision for parking be made.

Page 199

Appendix 2

There are concerns around the high provision of parking for electric vehicles and questions
around the majority of disabled parking being located on the opposite side of the car park to
the entrance and the high street. It is also noted that there is no obvious parking provision
for market traders.
There is a request that adequate provision is made for long-stay parking for those who
already work in Epping as the plans to include car parking is believed to likely be taken up by
people visiting/working at the new facilities.
Security
There are concerns around the new car park being enclosed (rather than the current open
car park) as multi-storeys are considered to be less safe, particularly after dark.
Design
It is argued that a modern building consisting of several storeys does not preserve heritage.
There are also questions around whether the inclusion of the Cottis heritage is desired by
locals.
There are concerns that Phase II (the cinema/leisure structure) could be overbearing and
oppressive and there is a request for reassurance that that the light-coloured materials
currently specified will not be changed.
Scale
There are concerns that the proposed buildings are out of proportion to the area as they
have the appearance of 4-storey structures in a predominantly 2-storey residential
surrounding. There are suggestions that the height of the proposals are reduced so as to
lessen the dominant and detrimental effect.
Wildlife
It is noted that trees along the site boundary with a property on Buttercross Lane have not
been properly surveyed and may have TPO's.
There are concerns that the trees will be negatively impacted by the cinema build and
suggested that the whole development is moved further from the boundary to allow
existing trees to flourish.
Inconsistencies are noted as the plans talk of the trees lining the border acting as a buffer,
however on a separate page some of these trees are to be removed.
It is noted that there is more reference to saving bats and their habitat than there is to the
health and wellbeing of the current elderly residents.
Boundaries
There are suggestions that the scale of the project be reduced and that the whole site is
pushed back significantly from the residential boundaries.
Anti-social Behaviour
There are concerns that the car park could become an area for anti-social behaviour.
As well as concerns that the overdevelopment of the area, particularly the provision of a
cinema and restaurants serving alcohol, will result in an increase in noise disturbance, latenight traffic, ASB and littering.
It is noted that residents in the area have previously experienced noise and anti-social

Page 200

Appendix 2

behaviour from the Cottis Lane clubs and do not feel that outdoor music and screening
events are appropriate.
Economy
It is noted that retail, restaurants and bars are already struggling in the high street and the
requirement for further establishments of this kind is questioned. Suggestion made that
market research be carried out and updated to confirm demand for the proposed retail and
commercial uses.
Council scheme
There are concerns that approval of the scheme is pre-supposed as the application is
submitted on behalf of Epping Forest District Council.

Page 201

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3
Environment Agency
18 August 2021
The previous land use at these sites suggests the potential presence of contamination. As the sites
are situated in a vulnerable groundwater area within on a secondary aquifer these proposals need to
be dealt with in a way which protects the underlying groundwater. Please therefore take note of the
following advice.
Where land contamination may be an issue for a prospective development we encourage developers
to employ specialist consultants/contractors working under the National Quality Mark Scheme.

Epping Forest Disctrict Council – Environmental Health Air Quality
17 August 2021
This development will contribute to a small (or as the assessment defines – negligible) increase in
local air pollution in terms of nitrogen dioxide levels. In the case of our air quality management area
(AQMA), the increase is classified as slight. The concern with this is that it will contribute to a
creeping baseline in terms of local air quality, and slowly increase pollution concentrations instead of
reducing them as desired by DM22 and NPPF.
Whilst this is a revised version of an already approved assessment, there are aspects of the revised
assessment that I question.
I note that this revised air quality assessment used updated traffic data that included data from
2020. Had this been consulted on prior to the revised report being produced, I would have asked
that the consultant exclude this data as traffic data during COVID is not representative.
I also note that both the first and revised air quality assessment used Defra background data rather
than the background diffusion tube which is located close to the sites. Had this been used instead,
the results would have shown higher pollution concentrations as the monitored tube has a higher
background concentration than the Defra map which are modelled/predicted levels. The
justification to not use our background tube was that they wanted to avoid double counting from
emissions from the High St, however, as a background site this is representative of background levels
in the area and would have been preferred as a background concentration.
Table 9.13 which looks at the pollution concentrations in 2025 with the Project + St John’s, Civic
Offices and Sports Centre (cumulative) is misleading as the total pollutant concentration in 2025 for
all five sites is less than the pollutant concentrations for just the Cottis and Bakers Lane sites in table
9.10. This suggests either an error or possibly different emission factors being used in table 9.13. It
is therefore difficult to assess what the actual cumulative impact of the full five sites on air quality
will be. This is something that we had requested from the consultant in our initial methodology
discussions.
With regards to vehicle emissions, it had been highlighted to the consultant that the work done for
the SAC identified that the vehicle fleet used around the SAC was older than the national average.
This was not discussed in the revised assessment and it would have been beneficial for the
consultant to include in detail how they addressed this issue in their revised assessment. I
acknowledge that a sensitivity test was conducted, however it was presented in table 9.3.1 in a
confusing way and had errors that the air quality consultant in later discussions acknowledged. The

Page 203

Appendix 3
report said the sensitivity test would assume no improvement in vehicle emissions beyond 2021,
however, the consultant acknowledged that 2025 without used 2025 emission factors.
I also question why multiple years were used in the baseline part of the assessment (2021
background data, 2019 monitoring data, 2019 MET data and 2019/2020 traffic data) instead of one
base year.
Technical Appendix 9.4 Emissions Mitigation Assessment does put forward mitigation measures,
however, the assessment does not state how much of a pollution offset these measures will provide.
Additionally, as some of these mitigation measures will be under the jurisdiction of other authorities
such as ECC, EFDC planning will need to put an agreement in place to ensure these measures are
implemented.
Construction Management Conditions
1 a) Prior to demolition works commencing a Demolition Management Statement shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for a management scheme whose
purpose shall be to control and minimise emissions of pollutants from and attributable to the
demolition of the development. This should include a risk assessment and a method statement in
accordance with relevant guidance such as IAQM’s assessment of dust from demolition and
construction guidance and the control of dust and emissions from construction and demolition best
practice guidance published by the Greater London Authority. The scheme shall set out the secure
measures, which can, and will, be put in place.
b) Prior to construction works commencing a Construction Management Statement shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for a management scheme
whose purpose shall be to control and minimise emissions of pollutants from and attributable to the
construction of the development. This should include a risk assessment and a method statement in
accordance with relevant guidance such as IAQM’s assessment of dust from demolition and
construction guidance and the control of dust and emissions from construction and demolition best
practice guidance published by the Greater London Authority. The scheme shall set out the secure
measures, which can, and will, be put in place.
Reason: Dust and other air pollution from demolition and construction can impact greatly on the
health and quality of life of people working on and living close to these sites if they are badly
managed. To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and Policy T1
and DM22 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017
Informative for the Construction Management Statement condition
The submitted management statement shall include details of:








Site hoarding
Wheel washing
Dust suppression methods and kit to be used
Bonfire policy
Confirmation that all Non Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) comply with the Non Road
Mobile Machinery (Emissions of Gaseous and Particulate Pollutants) Regulations 1999
Confirmation if a mobile crusher will be used on site and if so, a copy of the permit and
indented dates of operation
Site plan identifying location of:
- site entrance and exit
- wheel washing

Page 204

Appendix 3



-hard standing
- hoarding (distinguishing between solid hoarding and other barriers such as heras and
monarflex sheeting)
- stock piles
- dust suppression
- location of water supplies and
-location of nearest neighbouring receptors
Copy of an asbestos survey

2. The details and measures contained in the approved demolition and construction management
statement must be fully implemented to the Council’s satisfaction.
Reason: Dust and other air pollution from demolition and construction can impact greatly on the
health and quality of life of people working on and living close to these sites if they are badly
managed. To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and Policy T1
and DM22 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017.
3. Wheel washing equipment to be installed - Wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for vehicles
leaving the site during construction works shall be installed and utilised to clean vehicles
immediately before leaving the site. Any mud or other material deposited on nearby roads as a
result of the development shall be removed.
Reason:- To avoid the deposit of material on the public highway in the interests of highway safety, in
accordance with the guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework, policy ST4
of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and Policy T 1 of the Epping Forest District Council Local
Plan Submission Version 2017.
Ultra Low NOx Boilers Condition (if applicable)
4. Prior to installation, details of the boilers shall be forwarded to the Local Planning Authority for
approval. The boilers shall have dry NOx emissions not exceeding 40 mg/kWh (0%).

Reason: To help improve local environmental conditions and limit emissions to air as required by the
national planning policy framework. Boilers can be a significant source of NO2 emissions and
worsen local air quality. To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF
and Policy T1 and DM22 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017
Electric Charging Points (commercial/leisure) Condition
5. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, a minimum of 1 Electric Vehicle
Charging Point per every 10 spaces on industrial, commercial or leisure developments shall be
installed and retained thereafter.
Reason: To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and Policy T1 and
DM22 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017.

Page 205

Appendix 3
Essex County Council – Highways
30 June 2021
The Highway Authority has assessed the application and submitted information, visited the site, and
has concluded that in highway terms it is not contrary to national and local highway and
transportation policy and current safety criteria.
The Transport Assessment has analysed the impact of the traffic generation, to the satisfaction of
the Highway Authority, and is not considered to have a significant or severe impact at this location,
or on the wider highway network.
Furthermore, the applicant is improving the existing environment for walking and cycling, as well as
providing improved bus stop facilities along the High Street, that will help encourage more use of
sustainable transport options to and from the site, and help reduce the reliance on the private
motor vehicle.
Consequently, the Highway Authority has concluded that the proposal will not be detrimental to
highway safety, capacity, or efficiency.

Epping Forest District Council – Land Drainage
9 June 2021
No objection to planning application in principle, subject to the approval/implementation of the
following requirements set out.
The applicant has provided a flood risk assessment and associated drainage design with the
application. Following correspondence with this team and the LLFA, revisions have been made to the
design such that we agree with the findings in principal. Please add a condition requiring that the
development be carried out in accordance with the flood risk assessment (Flood Risk Assessment,
Ref 2780-MHT-CV-RP-001, Dec 2020) submitted with the application unless otherwise agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Where there is a public sewer within/adjacent the site, any works within three metres of a public
sewer will require build over consent from Thames Water Developer Services.
In line with the requirements set out in the Development Management drainage policies, namely
DM15 and DM16 within the Submission Version Draft Local Plan; the proposed drainage strategy
aims to achieve a reduce runoff from the site by incorporating sustainable drainage systems into the
drainage design. Please add a condition for the finalised details inclusive of, but not limited to the
.scrx files from Microdrainage and exploration of additional water quality treatment in line with the
simple index approach within C753; under condition SCN16 requiring approval of surface water
drainage by the Local Planning Authority prior to preliminary groundworks commencing

Page 206

Appendix 3
Epping Forest District Council - Environmental Health Air Quality
19 January 2021
Accept the conclusions of the submitted air quality assessment, on the proviso that the applicant’s
traffic assessment and sustainability assessment are approved with no further amendments required
from the relevant teams at EFDC and ECC.
Recommend the following conditions should planning permission be granted:
Construction Management Conditions




1. a) Prior to demolition works commencing a Demolition Management Statement shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for a management
scheme whose purpose shall be to control and minimise emissions of pollutants from and
attributable to the demolition of the development.
1. b) Prior to construction works commencing a Construction Management Statement shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for a management
scheme whose purpose shall be to control and minimise emissions of pollutants from and
attributable to the construction of the development.

Reason: Dust and other air pollution from demolition and construction can impact greatly on the health
and quality of life of people working on and living close to these sites if they are badly managed.


2. The details and measures contained in the approved demolition and construction
management statement must be fully implemented to the Council’s satisfaction.

Reason: Dust and other air pollution from demolition and construction can impact greatly on the health
and quality of life of people working on and living close to these sites if they are badly managed.
To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and Policy T1 and DM22 of
the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017.


3. Wheel washing equipment to be installed

Reason: To avoid the deposit of material on the public highway in the interests of highway safety, in
accordance with the guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework, policy ST4 of
the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and Policy T 1 of the Epping Forest District Council Local Plan
Submission Version 2017.
Ultra-Low NOx Boilers Condition (if applicable)


4. Prior to installation, details of the boilers shall be forwarded to the Local Planning Authority
for approval. The boilers shall have dry NOx emissions not exceeding 40 mg/kWh (0%).

Reason: To help improve local environmental conditions and limit emissions to air as required by the
national planning policy framework. Boilers can be a significant source of NO2 emissions and worsen
local air quality.
To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and Policy T1 and DM22 of
the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017
Electric Charging Points (commercial/leisure) Condition


5. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, a minimum of 1 Electric
Vehicle Charging Point per every 10 spaces on industrial, commercial or leisure developments
shall be installed and retained thereafter.

Page 207

Appendix 3
Reason: To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and Policy T1 and
DM22 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017.

Page 208

Appendix 3
Epping Town Council
23 June 2021
Committee have no objection to this application.
The Committee acknowledge receipt of the amended plans and latest technical reports regarding
this proposed development.
However, the Committee felt that it would have been helpful for the applicant to liaise with the
Town Council to explain the proposed development and any changes made especially given previous
comments made by the Committee.
Considering the amended floorplans, the Committee had additional comments to make as follows:







Committee commented that the existing public toilets should remain open until the new
public toilets in the multi-storey are built open
Committee questioned if there was a need for office space in the plans
Committee questioned if there was a need for retail space in the plans
Committee suggested putting in disabled spaces on the ground floor near the shops
Committee felt that the number of public toilets proposed wasn’t adequate
Committee advised that the height of the multi-storey needs to be considered to allow for
larger Monday Market stallholders vehicles
Epping Town Council
18 January 2021

No planning objection to the proposal, but request the following matters are taken into
consideration:








Concerns about the loss of amenity for the neighbouring properties at Bakers Lane,
in terms of visual impact, loss of light and noise and request consideration is given to
the positioning and scale of the buildings in order to minimise that loss of amenity.
Request that the design is as sympathetic to the conservation area as possible and
question whether the building could be lower.
Request that there is sufficient green space and landscaping, given the volume of
trees to be removed to facilitate development and would suggest this could be
increased.
Request that there is sufficient habitat protection and provision for wildlife, with any
work carried out at the correct time of year.
Noted the Highways safety implications relating to traffic visiting and maybe queuing
into this large car park, where there will be two possibly busy areas. The scheme
must be designed to ensure the safe movement of pedestrians, as people use the
leisure centre at Bakers Lane, potentially crossing from the car park at Cottis Lane.

Page 209

Appendix 3
Essex County Council – Development & Flood Risk (SuDs)
16 April 2021
Having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment and the associated documents which accompanied the
planning application, we do not object to the granting of planning permission based on the
following:
Condition 1
No works except demolition shall takes place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the
site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro
geological context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The scheme should include but not be limited to:











Limiting discharge rates to 1.95l/s for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year
rate plus 40% allowance for climate change. All relevant permissions to discharge from the
site into any outfall should be demonstrated.
Provide sufficient storage to ensure no off site flooding as a result of the development
during all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change event.
Demonstrate that all storage features can half empty within 24 hours for the 1 in 30 plus
40% climate change critical storm event.
Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.
The appropriate level of treatment for all runoff leaving the site, in line with the Simple
Index Approach in chapter 26 of the CIRIA SuDS Manual C753. All proprietary features
should have their indices provided. If they are unavailable then alternative features may be
needed.
Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage scheme.
A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL and ground
levels, and location and sizing of any drainage features.
A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to the
approved strategy.

Reason





To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water from
the site.
To ensure the effective operation of SuDS features over the lifetime of the development.
To provide mitigation of any environmental harm which may be caused to the local water
environment
Failure to provide the above required information before commencement of works may
result in a system being installed that is not sufficient to deal with surface water occurring
during rainfall events and may lead to increased flood risk and pollution hazard from the
site.

Condition 2
Prior to occupation a maintenance plan detailing the maintenance arrangements including who is
responsible for different elements of the surface water drainage system and the maintenance
activities/frequencies, has been submitted to and agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
Should any part be maintainable by a maintenance company, details of long term funding
arrangements should be provided.

Page 210

Appendix 3
Reason
To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to enable the surface water
drainage system to function as intended to ensure mitigation against flood risk. Failure to provide
the above required information prior to occupation may result in the installation of a system that is
not properly maintained and may increase flood risk or pollution hazard from the site.
Condition 3
The applicant or any successor in title must maintain yearly logs of maintenance which should be
carried out in accordance with any approved Maintenance Plan. These must be available for
inspection upon a request by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason
To ensure the SuDS are maintained for the lifetime of the development as outlined in any approved
Maintenance Plan so that they continue to function as intended to ensure mitigation against flood
risk.

Essex County Council – Development & Flood Risk (SuDs)
11 January 2021
Issue a holding objection to the granting of planning permission based on the following:








In line with the Essex SuDS Design Guide, brownfield sites should limit to the 1 in 1-year
greenfield rate for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 plus climate change
storm event. If this is proven not to be possible the discharge rate should be limited back to
as close as feasibly possible with a 50% betterment on the 1 in 1-year brownfield rate being
the last resort. Currently constraints such as clay soils, the large building footprint, limited
external space for SuDS is not a satisfactory reason as further storage could be provided in
terms of tree pits, permeable paving, larger attenuation tanks.
Unclear how the site is to receive surface water treatment. It is unclear how much treatment
the petrol interceptor provides and the subbase for the yard area. Surface water should be
treated in line with the Simple Index Approach found within the CIRIA SuDS Manual C753
and as this site is considered to have a medium pollution hazard level then ideally there
should be a minimum of 2 stages of treatment. It is unclear how much treatment the petrol
interceptor and yard area provides in line with the simple index approach.
There are documents discussing tree pits included on the planning portal however they have
not been discussed in the drainage strategy. These could provide more attenuation as well
treatment helping to lower the discharge rate.
There have been no preliminary calculations provided for the storage or for the network
itself.

Additional comments:




Whilst the irrigation of the green roof would be a welcomed form of reuse, it is
recommended that where possible, further consideration is given to the reuse for things
such as showers and toilets
Strongly recommend looking at the Essex Green Infrastructure Strategy to ensure that the
proposals are implementing multifunctional green/blue features effectively.

Page 211

Appendix 3
Essex County Council - Green Infrastructure
11 January 2021
No objection, however if approval is forthcoming, it is recommended that the following conditions
are considered:


Action required prior to commencement of development: Landscape management plan.
No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved, in writing,
by the Local Planning Authority, a landscape management and maintenance plan and work
schedule for a minimum of 10 years. Details should include who is responsible for GI assets
(including and surface water drainage system) and the maintenance activities/frequencies.
Would also expect details on how management company services for the maintenance of GI
assets and green spaces shall be funded and managed for the lifetime of the development to
be included.
Reason: To ensure appropriate management and maintenance arrangements and funding
mechanisms are put in place to maintain high-quality value and benefits of GI assets.

Epping Forest District Council - Trees & Landscape
14 January 2021
Do not consider that this application should be determined with the inconsistencies present within
the submitted documents.
The application appears to be putting forward the removal of trees and new landscaping on land
that it does not own or have ‘control’ over. As such the landscaping proposals may not be achievable
as is shown.

Essex County Council – Place Services - Archaeology
14 January 2021
There is no need for an archaeological condition for this application.

Epping Forest District Council - Building Control
14 January 2021
It is advised that early consultation is carried out with Essex Fire and Rescue Service with regards to
B5 of the Building Regulations (Access and facilities for the fire service), to ensure compliant access
can be achieved under the planning approved scheme.

Page 212

Appendix 3
Place Services - Ecological
12 January 2021
No objection subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures.
Recommended conditions:


All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance
with the details contained in the Ecological Appraisal (BSG Ecology, December 2020), as
already submitted with the planning application and agreed in principle with the local
planning authority prior to determination.

Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge its
duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife
& Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).


A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority, following the details contained
within the Ecological Appraisal (BSG Ecology, December 2020). The content of the
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be
retained in that manner thereafter.”

Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its duties
under the NPPF 2019 and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

Page 213

Appendix 3
Epping Forest District Council - Contaminated Land
11 January 2021
It is considered a possibility of contamination is present within the sub-surface. The preliminary risk
assessment for the site is therefore likely to be Low to Moderate. It has been recommended to
undertake an intrusive site investigation (Phase 2) to determine the extent of any localised Made
Ground and any actual pollution linkages and to quantify the risk to the receptors as outlined with
the Preliminary CSM.
A Phase 2 site investigation protocol should be prepared and submitted to the council for approval
prior to works taking place. A site walkover should be completed prior to development of Phase 2
site investigation protocol.
In respect of the above, it is considered that condition SCN 57A be attached to any approval granted.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological
systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policy RP4 of the adopted Local
Plan 1998 & 2006, and policy DM21 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2019.

Page 214

Appendix 3

Epping Forest District Council – Environmental Health
5 January 2021
CONSTRUCTION PHASE:
Construction methodology
Condition: Before any phase of the hear by permitted development commences, the construction
methodology shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the impact
on nearby noise sensitive premises is minimised from activities such as (but not exclusively)
excavation, piling, vehicle and plant movements, etc. Only construction methods in accordance with
the written approval shall be undertaken.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of noise sensitive properties.
Construction work – Permitted hours
Condition: All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations (which includes deliveries and
other commercial vehicles to and from the site) which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive
premises, shall only take place on site between the hours of 0730 to 1830 Monday to Friday & 0800
to 1300 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Bank Holidays unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of noise sensitive properties.
Bonfires
Condition: No bonfires shall be permitted on site throughout the demolition and construction phase
of the development.
Reason: In order to protect residential amenity.
Dust control
Condition: All reasonable steps to minimise dust emissions from the site shall be employed
throughout the demolition and construction phase of the development. The dust suppression
methodology shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority before construction
commences.
Reason: To protect the amenity of the area from excessive dust emissions.
Wheel washers
Condition: Wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for vehicles leaving the site during demolition
and construction works shall be installed in accordance with details which shall be submitted and
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The facilities shall be installed prior to
commencement of any works on the site and shall be used to clean vehicles leaving the site.
Reason: To avoid the deposit of material on the public highway in the interest of highway safety and
control of dust.
OCCUPATION PHASE:
Noise from vehicles in the car park

Page 215

Appendix 3
Condition: The hereby approved car park shall achieve the Park Mark accreditation (or other
recognised similar scheme) before the hereby permitted use commences. The accreditation shall be
maintained throughout the operational use of the site.
Reason: In order to minimise any ASB which will affect the users of the car park and any local
residents.
Also suggest a condition which limits access to either the upper floors of the car park/locking the car
park when the nearby leisure facilities are closed. Wording TBC – do not want to overly restrict the
use of the car park/hinder the use for legitimate users of the car park.
E.g. Such a condition may include a requirement that the car park closes (either by certain floors, or
the whole car park) 30 minutes after the local facilities close, or that certain floors are closed after a
certain time, e.g. 22.00hrs, and opened at 06.30 hrs, but this is open to discussion.
Reason: In order to minimise any noise and ASB which will affect the users of the car park and any
local residents.
Installation of 2m high boundary fence
For any noise generated on the upper floors of the car park, there will be no mitigation from the
barrier for those rooms at first floor level (and possibly at ground floor) as there will be a direct line
of sight from the car park to these habitable rooms. As such, any mitigation will be negligible, which
further strengthens the above requirement for a condition restricting the use of the upper levels late
at night.
Predicted noise levels
The consultant has predicted noise levels from a “slow moving car inside a multi-story car park”
(Table 3, para 5.3), this may be the case with a vehicle which is moving within the modelled levels.
However, due to a number of variables that may be present (including the speed/reving/etc of the
vehicles) there is some margin of error within the model.
In addition, I note that the consultant indicates that the existing ambient level is controlled by local
traffic noise. The construction of the large car park is likely to put the sheltered accommodation into
an acoustic “shadow zone”, and may reduce the ambient noise level at the site, which would make
any noise within the car park more noticeable. It is difficult to predict this without a more accurate
model of the proposed development via some noise mapping software.
Noise from plant
Condition: The use of any plant which services this development must cease during any period that
the rating level of noise (as defined by BS4142:2014) exceeds the prevailing background noise level at
the affected noise sensitive premises. The measurement position and assessment shall be made
according to BS4142:2014, and shall include the cumulative effect of all of the plant on the site.
The cumulative plant noise limit for this site shall not exceed 39dB LAeq, 1hr between 07.00-23.00
hrs, and 32dB LAeq, 15 mins between 23.00-07.00 hrs.
Reason: In order to minimise any noise which will affect the amenity of local residents.
Noise from the Service Yard and access

Page 216

Appendix 3
Condition: No deliveries shall be taken at or despatched from the site outside the hours of 07.3018.30 hrs Monday – Friday, 08.00-16.00 hrs Saturday, 09.00-13.00 hrs on Sundays, Bank or Public
Holidays.
Reason: In order to protect amenity of the area.
Condition: No refuse collection shall be carried out from the site outside the following times 07.00 to
19.00 hours Monday to Friday, 08.00-13.00 hrs Saturday nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public
Holidays.
Reason: In order to protect amenity of the area.
ENTERTAINMENT NOISE:
Low Frequency Noise
It is noted that the consultant has suggested noise limits for the cinema for low frequency noise.
Whilst these are acceptable, I do question how easily measurable they are considering the noise
climate in the area, and would like this to be explored further. The noise survey for the area
provided an overarching LAeq level, but did not look at the 1/3 octave bands for which the proposed
limits were suggested.
Subject to the response of the applicant regarding this, either of the following conditions are
suggested:
Condition: Low frequency, unweighted noise levels should be controlled to a maximum of 50 dB Leq,
63Hz, 5 min and 40 dB Leq, 125Hz, 5 min at the façades of nearby noise sensitive premises.
Or
Condition: Low frequency noise from the hearby permitted leisure facility shall not be audible at the
façade of nearby noise sensitive premises.
Reason: In order to minimise the impact of any low frequency noise from the leisure use which will
affect the amenity of local residents.

Use of terrace
Condition: Prior to first use of the terrace area on the upper floor of the development, a noise
management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
noise management plan shall include details of measures to minimise noise from proposed activities
on the terrace, and shall be adhered to at all times.
Reason: In order to minimise any noise from the use of the terrace which will affect the amenity of
local residents.
Initial “Meanwhile” Use
Condition: Prior to first use of the open space, a noise management plan shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The noise management plan shall include details
of measures to minimise noise from proposed activities in the open space area, and shall be adhered
to at all times.
Reason: In order to minimise any noise which will affect the amenity of local residents.

Page 217

Appendix 3
Particular attention should be made of the use of the area adjacent to Buttercross Lane, as this has
the potential to significantly affect these residents from noise from events such as outside drinking,
outside cinema, and early morning starts from any markets, which they currently are not subject to.
LIGHTING:
Condition: Details of any external lighting of the site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing
by, the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development. This information
shall include a layout plan with beam orientation and a schedule of equipment in the design
(luminaire type, mounting height, aiming angles and luminaire profiles), and the impact on
neighbouring residential properties. The lighting shall be installed, maintained and operated in
accordance with the approved details unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to
the variation.
Reason: To protect the appearance of the area, the environment and local residents from light
pollution.
COMMERCIAL UNITS:
Conditions governing opening hours, any cooking extract systems (for both noise and odours) will
need to be considered.
Unsure how to determine any opening hours, as it will depend on the type of business occupying
each unit. However, a more overarching condition could include:
The commercial uses hereby permitted shall not be open to customers outside the hours of 07.0023.00 hours Monday-Thursday, 07.00-23.30 hours, Friday-Saturday and 08.00-23.00 hours Sunday.
Reason: In order to minimise any noise which will affect the amenity of local residents.
Also recommend the following condition for any kitchen extract system, if not already suggested by
Public Health colleagues:

Details if any extraction system for any food preparation areas, or other processes which may
produce odours and/or noise and vibration, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development. Any subsequent changes
to the use of any unit, where such equipment is used shall also be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority within 3 months of any such changes in the nature of the
business. If the premises does not gain written approval with the Local Planning Authority within 3
months of any such changes, the premises shall cease all use of any extraction system or other
process.
Reason: In order to minimise any noise and/or odour which will affect the amenity of local
residents.

Page 218

Appendix 3
Essex Police
1 February 2021
Inspection of the documents provided indicate information is required to form an opinion as to the
extent to which CPTED has been incorporated into the design. There are some issues of concern
Essex Police would be keen to discuss with the applicant.

Marks & Spencer
20 January 2021
Ask that the below points are addressed, which seek to ensure the proposed development
minimizes the disruption to the operation of the M&S store for shoppers during the construction
period and fully integrates with the High Street.






Maintain the maximum number of car parking spaces available during construction either
through phasing and/or by ensuring that parking provision at either Cottis Lane/Bakers Lane
is available at all times. In addition, it is important to prevent the loss of any spaces in the
future to ancillary uses.
Ensure that the service access/arrangements for the M&S store will be uninterrupted during
the construction phase and afterwards relative to the proposed highway works including the
proposed loading bay and turning points for service vehicles, refuse and emergency vehicles
on Cottis Lane.
Strengthening and upgrading the pedestrian route from the proposed development at Cottis
Lane through to the High Street past the M&S Foodhall in order to optimise links to the
benefit of the town centre as a whole.

Epping Society
16 January 2021
Object to the application on the following grounds:










The consultation process has been unreasonably short and unwieldy. The process is
conflicted and fails to reflect the scale and importance of the proposed developments.
The documents supporting the application are too numerous and badly organised. There are
too many errors and uncertainties contained therein, casting doubt on projections and
expectations.
The proposed buildings are massive and overshadowing so their impacts will be greater than
indicated.
The designs indicated are inappropriate for a small historic market town.
Inadequate consideration has been given to the interaction between the new buildings and
local wind patterns, the “wind tunnel” effect.
Traffic flow assessments are flawed and underestimate the impacts the development will
have on an already over-stretched infrastructure.
Cycling has been overestimated as a component of the likely transport mix.
Pedestrian movement issues have not been sufficiently addressed.

Page 219

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 4
Cottis Lane QRP Summary Reports:
20.03.20 – Formal review of Epping Town Centre Sites









While supporting the emerging work, the panel thinks there is scope to be bolder.
The panel recommends further work to define, proactively manage, protect and
measure ‘quality’, through each RIBA stage of work.
The panel recommends embedding clear sustainability commitments at RIBA Stage
1 or 2, which could include precedent research for criteria such as Passivhaus.
It highlights the benefits of early community engagement.
The panel encourages options testing for the mix and location of key Town Centre
functions and non-residential land uses. It also suggests broadening the spatial
scope of the Brief, to look beyond red line boundaries and consider the relationship
between the five sites and the high street, including potential public realm
improvements.
The panel urges a holistic view of the whole town centre to inform key design moves
on each site.
The panel thinks the current approach to car parking is unresolved. It highlights the
huge potential to encourage sustainable travel and adopt a flexible future-proofed
strategy to car parking and travel.

10.07.20 – Formal review of Epping Town Centre Sites








The panel thinks a more convincingly comprehensive approach is developing.
It strongly welcomes reconsideration of the leisure centre location and multi-storey
car park proposals.
The panel is yet to be convinced on the analysis undertaken to support the current
approach to town centre functions, or rationale for the housing typologies, tenure and
mix. While it broadly supports the uses suggested, it is unclear why specific uses are
being directed to specific sites.
It strongly recommends further work to ensure exemplary housing design, including
revisiting typologies, internal arrangements and layouts. The panel would like to see
more detail at a framework level before planning application details are developed,
including on: routes, broader connectivity, servicing, edges, integration and retail
arrangements.
It continues to strongly urge early engagement to develop the project vision – so
people can feel genuine agency in informing proposals.

17.09.20 – Workshop review of Epping Town Centre Sites






The Panel applauds the substantial work undertaken since the last review.
The approach taken to engagement is commendable and should be valuable in
informing ongoing design work.
The panel continues to stress the importance of looking beyond physical building
elements – to engage with the social, not just physical development of the centre. It
would have expected to see mapping – analysing the social and cultural offer that
already exists in the centre. This would then be used to inform an approach to ‘fill in
these gaps’.
The panel encourages developing a meanwhile strategy, and exploring the potential
for small scale public realm interventions.

Page 221




Greater clarity is needed on how individual sites and public realm will be phased,
funded and delivered including the delivery of public realm improvements.
The panel continues to strongly urge that the council re-consider the ‘no net loss’
approach to car parking – and follow an evidence-based approach to parking and
sustainable travel.

30.10.20 – Site Specific Workshop review











The panel is broadly supportive of the proposal for a mixed-use scheme on the site.
It maintains its concern about the creation of a new car parking structure. However,
the panel acknowledges the council and community requirements for car parking.
This should be minimised where possible.
The team is strongly urged to develop the meanwhile use strategy further, allowing
the car park to accommodate uses that can persist after completion.
The project brief should provide a mix of uses that respond to local need and are
commercially viable, potentially focused on an anchor tenant or public / community
uses. In particular, further thought is needed about uses that will activate the public
space throughout the day.
The industrial design concept is welcomed, but the team is urged to ensure this
vision also extends to the landscape approach.
Landscaping to the south should be carefully considered and planned to facilitate
flexible use. Acquisition of the Marks and Spencer site could allow significant
opportunities for the public realm, landscaping, which should be considered by the
design team.
The western site corner and its relationship to the Bakers Lane site is crucial in terms
of its accessibility between the two.
The panel recommends a more active frontage on this side and ensuring the street
design promotes better connection.

Page 222

4

B
O
D
LE
Y

to

to

28

1

25

C
LO
SE

Item 11
Epping Forest DistrictAgenda
Council

2

EFDC

Epping
2a

Hall

to

ll
Ha

20

17

Epping

104.5m

y
ar
br
Li
5
a1
11
11

17

Epping

th
e
B
Ch
u

19

21

Centre

5

El
Su
b

Epping

St
a

Junior

12 127
5

25

cil
un
o
C ard
Y

13
5

20

7a
12

14
1

Premier
House

School

Dylan
House

W
ard
Bd
y

o6

Ch
ur
ch

12
1

12
3

1t

105.5m
8
95

93

2

Contains Ordnance Survey Data. ©
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No:
100018534

13
93

1
11

9
10

10
4

Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings.

B

EFDC

11
6

8

Alexander
Court

11
7

11

14

5
11

Application Number:

EPF/0917/21

Site Name:

Former School, Centrepoint Building
and Council Depot Land at St John's
Road Epping CM16 7JU
1:1250

Scale of Plot:

Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail
Copyright & Database Right 2013

Page 223

11
8a

This page is intentionally left blank

Report to District Development
Management Committee
Date of Meeting: 27th October 2021

Site Address: Former School, Centrepoint Building and
Council Depot Land at St John's Road, Epping, CM16 7JU
Application Number:

EPF/0917/21

Application Type:

Full Planning Application

Proposal:

Redevelopment of the former school buildings and
depot. Demolition of five buildings and the
retention of three locally listed buildings.
Development to comprise erection of new
apartment buildings and the conversion, extension
and change of use of the existing locally listed
Centrepoint building and Cookery School to
provide a mix of residential units (Use Class C3)
and ancillary communal amenity areas. Extension
and refurbishment of two existing locally listed
semi-detached caretaker cottages. Revised
vehicular and pedestrian access from St Johns
Road and new pedestrian access from High Street,
all associated car and cycle parking, servicing,
hard and soft landscaping and associated works.

Site Address:

Former School, Centrepoint Building and Council Depot Land
at St John's Road, Epping, CM16 7JU

Ward:

Epping Lindsey and Thornwood Common

Parish:

Epping Town

Conservation Area:

Part of the site falls within the Epping Conservation Area

Page 225

EFDLP Site Allocation
Epping Forest Special Area of
Conservation

Applicant:

Yes

LPSV Ref: EPP.R4

Subject to the imposition of planning conditions and
completion of a section 106 planning obligation to secure
the measures identified in the Interim Air Pollution
Mitigation Strategy and electric vehicle charging
infrastructure, the Council can conclude that there will be
no adverse impact on the integrity of the Epping Forest
Special Area of Conservation.

Qualis Commercial Ltd (part of Qualis Group Ltd)
Qualis Group Ltd is a company wholly owned by Epping Forest
District Council

Agent:

Q+A Planning Ltd

Case officer:

Nick Finney / Emily Holton-Walsh

Democratic Services Officer

Gary Woodhall. Contact number: 01992 564 470

Validation date:

21st April 2021

Reason for reporting
application to Members:

This application is before this committee since it proposes a
‘major’’ development where the Council is a landowner as
defined in Article 10 of the Constitution.
The site is to have transferred from Council ownership to
Qualis Commercial Ltd, however given that this is a wholly
owned company of the Council the application is considered
to meet the DDMC terms of reference.

1.

RECOMMENDATION

1.1

That planning permission be GRANTED subject to:
1. the prior completion of a Legal Agreement within four months of the resolution
to grant planning permission to secure the planning obligations within section
3 and subject to planning conditions listed in Appendix 1 of this report.

Page 226

2.

SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

2.1

The application site has been proposed for allocation (ref: EPP.R4) in the Epping
Forest District Local Plan Submission Version (LPSV) to provide new residential
accommodation within Epping Forest District to meet an identified need.

2.2

Overall, the proposal is for the sustainable re-use of brownfield land, in general
accordance with the site allocations within the LPSV. The proposal would provide
additional housing which is a benefit that should be afforded significant weight in the
planning balance, particularly in light of the acute housing shortage within the District.
The scheme would also provide a significant amount of affordable housing, albeit
noting that full policy compliance would not be viable. In terms of the quality of the
proposed homes, these would meet prescribed space standards, accessibility
standards, benefit from amenity space and include a large proportion of dual aspect
flats.

2.3

The proposals would integrate satisfactorily with the surrounding townscape in terms
of scale, massing and overall design. Less than substantial harm to the conservation
area and locally listed buildings has been identified, but, as per the guidance in the
NPPF, this harm is outweighed by the significant benefit of bringing the buildings back
into long-term viable uses, and the public benefit resulting from the provision of new
and affordable homes. The proposals would have an acceptable impact on the living
conditions of neighbouring properties in terms of light, privacy and outlook.
Furthermore, no undue harm would arise from noise or light emitted from the
development.

2.4

In terms of transport, the extent of car and cycle parking is acceptable and, in
combination with the submitted Travel Plan, would help reduce reliance on the private
car and the transition to sustainable modes of travel. The sustainability aspects of the
proposal are in compliance with policy.

2.5

The application demonstrates that the environmental impact of the proposal would be
acceptable, subject to appropriate mitigation. There would be no adverse effect on the
integrity of the EFSAC, no air quality degradation, no increased flood risk and no
significant risk to human health from contamination. Archaeological and ecological
assets would be safeguarded as a result of the proposal, and biodiversity net gain
secured.

2.6

On the basis of the analysis undertaken within this report, it is considered that the
proposed development is compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan
and the LPSV.

3.

PLANNING OBLIGATIONS AND CONDITIONS

3.1

The recommendation is given subject to conditions as set out in Appendix 1 of this
report. In addition, a Legal Agreement will secure the following planning obligations

Page 227

and financial contributions. The obligations are grouped into sections for ease of
reference:
3.2

Affordable Housing


25% Affordable Housing
o

3.3



Unit mix to mirror private mix



Viability reviews



BtR rental value capped at 80% of open market rent



BtR eligibility/nomination criteria



BtR clawback mechanism if BtR units sold

Build to Rent (BtR)


3.4

3.5



Bus Infrastructure Improvements (£200,000)



Travel Plan (Monitoring Fee £1,533)



Active Transport Improvements (£183,264)



Highway Works (£121,608)



Car Club



Controlled Parking Zones Management

Open Space and Green Infrastructure
Provision and Enhancement of public parks and amenity space (inclusive of
Lower Swaines Playground improvements) (£674,217)

Healthcare


3.7

BtR management and operation requirements

Transport



3.6

Either as Build to Rent (BtR) Affordable Private Rent or RSL managed
80% Affordable Social Rent / 20% Shared Ownership

Primary Healthcare contribution (£19,740)

Education

Page 228

3.8



Early Years (£53,617)



Primary Education (£178,724)



Secondary Education (£164,048)

Community Facilities


3.9

3.10

Library Services (£14,160)

Epping Forest SAC HRA Mitigation


EFSAC recreational pressure (£64,064)



EFSAC Air Pollution Mitigation (£60,970)

Employment and Skills


An employment and skills plan to be agreed for the development.

Completion of the section 106 agreement
3.11

In the event that the required Legal Agreement is not satisfactorily completed within
four months of the date of the resolution to grant planning permission then in the
absence of a suitable mechanism to secure planning and financial obligations to
mitigate the impact of development, the Planning Services Director is authorised to
refuse planning permission.
Conditions

3.12

The full list of conditions is identified in Appendix 1. In summary, the conditions will be
applied to cover the following matters:


Time Limit for commencement



Approved drawing numbers



Finished floor levels



Use of materials



Design and landscape



Ecology issues



SuDS and land drainage



Land contamination

Page 229



Sustainability / energy



Noise and air quality mitigation



External lighting strategy



Archaeology



Restrictive conditions

4.

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

4.1

Full application for the redevelopment of the former school buildings and
depot. Demolition of five buildings and the retention of three locally listed
buildings. Development to comprise erection of new apartment buildings and
the conversion, extension and change of use of the existing locally listed
Centrepoint building and Cookery School to provide a mix of residential units
(Use Class C3) and ancillary communal amenity areas. Extension and
refurbishment of two existing locally listed semi-detached caretaker cottages.
Revised vehicular and pedestrian access from St Johns Road and new
pedestrian access from High Street, all associated car and cycle parking,
servicing, hard and soft landscaping and associated works.

5.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1

Environmental Impact Assessments (EIA) have been undertaken for all five sites and
reported in two Environmental Statements:
1. Environmental Statement dated 31 March 2021 which reports the findings of the
EIA for the three residential sites (St John's Road (EPP.R4), Sports Centre
(EPP.R5) and Civic Offices (part) (EPP.R8) (the Residential ES); and
2. Environmental Statement dated 28 July 2021 which reports on the findings of the
EIA for the two commercial sites (Cottis Lane (EPP.R6) and Bakers Lane
(EPP.R7)) (the Commercial ES).

5.2

The 'Epping Town Centre Development: Environment Summary Report' dated July
2020 sets out how the Residential ES and the Commercial ES interact and that
relevant environmental effects have been assessed for each site individually and
cumulatively.

5.3

It is assessed by the Council that the submitted ES's collectively provide adequate
environmental information to enable the applications to be determined.

5.4

Both the Residential ES and the Commercial ES assess the likely significant effects
on ecology and biodiversity, traffic and transport, socio-economics, air quality,
townscape, cultural heritage and climate change. The effects have been analysed and
mitigation measures have been identified.

Page 230

5.5

Both of the environmental statements identify the following significant effects:


Significant effect on climate change, which is to be addressed via embedded and
operational mitigation to reduce carbon emissions, as detailed further in the
Sustainability section of this report.



Significant beneficial effect from new employment opportunities.

5.6

Other residual effects are to be addressed via Construction Management Plans,
Landscape and Ecological Management Plans secured by planning condition.

6.

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

6.1

The application site is situated within the defined Epping town centre to the north of
the proposed primary shopping area as defined in the LPSV.

6.2

The site comprises of the former site of Epping School building, the Centrepoint
building and Council depot buildings. Pedestrian access to the town centre can be
gained via St John’s Road and at two points along the High Street frontage of the site.
The natural gradient of the site slopes gently down towards the north west. The site
contains hardstanding and macadam playground surface, a legacy of its previous use.
Some ornamental garden plants remain and are interspersed with low scrub vegetation
across central areas of the site, with sections of hedgerow planting along the northern,
western and southern boundaries. The remaining boundaries are enclosed with walls
and fencing.

6.3

The Centrepoint building, the former Cookery School and the pair of semi-detached
caretakers cottages (No. 19 and 21 St Johns Road) are all locally listed and the
proposal includes the retention and conversion of these buildings.

6.4

The southern part of the site is located within the Epping Conservation Area.

6.5

The site is immediately surrounded by a mixture of 19th and mid-20th century
residential development to the north and west, including the group of cottages at
Nos. 5 to 17 (odds) St Johns Road which are Grade II Listed. To the East, on the
opposite side of St John’s Road, is St John the Baptist Church (Grade II* Listed),
Church Hall, Library and Registry Office. Retail/services and cafés/restaurants are
concentrated to the south, along High Street.

7.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

7.1

The planning history of the site is limited, and mainly relates to the relocation of the
School, as follows:

Application
Reference

Description of Development

Page 231

Decision

EPF/1618/07

County Council application for the installation of
temporary two classroom relocatable unit,
construction of a new pathway and play area, site
enclosure and partial boarding of the colonade of
the existing Centre Point building, for temporary
use by Epping Infant School whilst the new
Epping Infant School is under construction.

Granted
29.08.2007

EPF/0766/07

County Council application for the temporary use
of the Centre Point building and site by Epping
Infant School, whilst construction works on the
existing Epping Infant School site are undertaken.
The proposed development includes the
temporary location of a mobile two class unit and
a storage unit, the temporary erection of fencing,
and entrance gate and decorated hoarding to the
front of the site and the temporary conversion of a
car park to a hard play area to the rear.

Granted
04.05.2007

8.

CONSULTATION AND REPRESENTATIONS

8.1

Statutory and technical consultee comments are noted below and provided in
summary within Appendix 3 (the submitted comments are available in full on the
Council's website through the following link)


Essex County Council - SUDS – No objection, subject to conditions.



Essex County Council – Green Infrastructure – No objection, subject to
condition.



Essex County Council – Infrastructure Schools/Libraries – No objection,
subject to a section 106 agreement to mitigate its impact on early years &
childcare, primary and secondary education and library provision.



Essex County Council – Highways – The impact of the proposal is acceptable,
subject to the recommended conditions and obligations.



Essex County Council: Historic Environment – Not a site of archaeological
significance.



Essex County Council - Place Service Ecology – No objection subject to
securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures.



EFDC – Environmental Health – Noise – No objection, subject to conditions.

Page 232



EFDC – Environmental Health – Contaminated Land – No objection, subject to
condition.



EFDC – Environmental Health – Air Quality Officer – No objection, subject to
condition.



EFDC – Trees and Landscape – No objection, subject to condition.



EFDC – Conservation, Design, Listed Buildings – Objection raised in relation
to the impact on the locally listed buildings and the conservation area.



EFDC – Building Control – Suggest early consultation is carried out by the
applicant with Essex Fire and Rescue Service with regard to certain building
regulations.



EFDC - Land Drainage Section – No objection, subject to conditions.



Environment Agency – Provided advice regarding ground water contamination
management.



Essex Police – No objection.



Thames Water – No objection



Cadent Gas – No objection



Epping Town Council – Parish – Objection, based on size, layout and design,
an over predominance of one and two-bed units, the lack of non-residential
uses and the poor quality green infrastructure.



Epping Society – Objection on a number of grounds.



Ancient Monuments Society – Objection raised regarding harm to the
conservation area.



NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group – No objection, subject to
obligations to mitigate against the impacts arising from the development with
regard to additional primary healthcare provision.

8.2

Other external consultees (full comments are available on the Council’s website using
the link above).

8.3

Notification

8.4

In accordance with relevant legal requirements and the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement, notification letters were sent to the occupants of 168
residential properties on 21.04.21. Site notices were displayed on 23.04.21. A press
notice was published in the Epping Forest Guardian on the 22.04.21. Over the course

Page 233

of the consultations, 24 representations have been received in response to the
consultation on the application.
8.5

Following design amendments made during the determination of development a 14day consultation exercise was undertaken. The changes comprised the submission of
a Sunlight and Daylight report, Design and Access Statement Addendum, Removal of
footpath to the rear of Block E, reduction of massing to rear of Block A, Block B - split
to breakdown main mass, Block F was updated to improve differentiation and to clearly
identify the pedestrian link between the two southern blocks, Block G was updated to
address a minor red line boundary change

8.6

The re-consultation period expired on the 10/09/21.

8.7

The representations received identified the following material planning considerations
relevant to the determination of the application a summary of which is contained at
Appendix 2.


Impact on ecology



Car Parking capacity and traffic impact



Character of design



Overlooking and daylight and sunlight effects



Construction noise and traffic



Capacity of local services

Other Consultation
Quality Review Panel
8.8

8.9

Development proposals on the site have been the subject of four Quality Review Panel
(QRP) meetings. These were held on the following dates:


20th March 2020 (town centre strategy);



10th July 2020 (town centre strategy);



17th September 2020 (town centre strategy);



16th October 2020;



5th March 2021;

The panel supported many aspects of the proposal, but noted several areas that
required further development, notably the public realm quality, landscape, architecture

Page 234

expression and sustainability strategies. A summary of the QRP feedback is enclosed
at Appendix 4.
8.10

Engagement with the Local Community

8.11

A comprehensive community engagement strategy was developed by QCL in relation
to five sites, one of which is the application site. The approach involved two
consultation stages as follows:


Stage 1 consultation – this included consultation on the land use strategy for
five sites plus initial design ideas for all five sites.



Stage 2 consultation – this included more detailed design for all five sites,
including layout, quantum, massing, landscaping and appearance.

9.

Planning Considerations

9.1

The main issues raised by the proposed development are:


Principle of development



Impact on the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation



Housing Mix / Affordable Housing



Design



-

Layout, access and connectivity

-

Scale, form and massing

-

Landscaping

-

Appearance and materials

-

Impact on heritage

-

Amenity for future residents

Impacts on neighbouring amenity
-

Privacy and amenity

-

Sunlight and daylight

-

Overlooking/loss of privacy

-

Outlook

Page 235

-

Noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality



Transport and Highway considerations



Sustainability



Energy and climate change



Flood Risk and SuDs



Ground Contamination



Historic Environment
-

Archaeology



Ecology



Infrastructure



Employment and skills



Equality duties and human rights



Conclusion

10.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

10.1

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended ("the 1990
Act"), requires that in dealing with any planning application the authority shall have
regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application
and to any other material planning considerations.

10.2

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) ("the
2004 Act") requires that if regard is to be had to the Development Plan for the purpose
of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts the determination must be
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise

10.3

The Development Plan currently comprises the saved policies of the Epping Forest
District Council Adopted Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006) (ALP). The list below
indicates which policies of the ALP are relevant to the determination of this application
and the degree to which officers consider that they are consistent with the NPPF as
noted in the report to the Local Plan Cabinet Committee (25th March 2013):
CP1 – Achieving Sustainable Development Objectives – Compliant
CP3 – New Development – Compliant

Page 236

CP4 – Energy Conservation – Compliant
CP5 – Sustainable Building – Compliant
CP 6 – Achieving Sustainable Urban Development Patterns – Compliant
CP 7 – Urban Form and Quality – Compliant
CP 8 – Sustainable Urban Economic Development – Compliant
CP 9 – Sustainable Transport – Compliant
E10 – Town Centre Offices – Compliant
TC1 – Town Centre Hierarchy – Compliant
TC2 – Sequential Approach – Compliant
TC3 – Town Centre Function – Compliant
HC6 – Character Appearance and Setting of Conservation Areas – Compliant
DBE1 – Design of New Buildings – Compliant
DBE2 – Effect on Neighbouring Properties – Compliant
DBE3 – Design in Urban Areas – Compliant
DBE6 – Car Parking in New Development – Compliant
DBE9 – Loss of Amenity – Compliant
LL11 – Landscaping Schemes – Compliant
ST1 – Location of Development – Compliant
ST2 – Accessibility of Development – Compliant
ST4 – Road Safety – Compliant
RST1 – Recreational, Sporting and Tourist Facilities – Compliant
RP4 – Contaminated Land – Compliant
RP5A – Adverse Environmental Impacts – Compliant
U3B – Sustainable Drainage Systems – Compliant
I1A – Planning Obligations – Compliant

Page 237

I3 – Replacement Facilities – Compliant
NC1 – SPAs SACs SSSIs – Compliant
10.4

The relevance of the identified saved Local Plan policies to the determination of this
application and the weight to be accorded to each policy are addressed in further detail
within this report.

11.

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK

11.1

The current version of the National Planning Policy Framework ("the Framework" or
"NPPF") was published in July 2021. It provides the framework for producing Local
Plans for housing and other development, which in turn provide the policies against
which applications for planning permission are decided.

11.2

Reflecting the proper approach identified in the previous section of this Report, the
NPPF explains (at paragraph 2) that:
"2.

11.3

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy
Framework must be taken into account in preparing the development
plan and is a material consideration in planning decisions. Planning
policies and decisions must also reflect relevant international
obligations and statutory requirements.2"

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF concerns the presumption in favour of sustainable
development and states (so far as relevant):
"Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable
development.
…
For decision-taking this means:
c)

approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan without delay; or

d)

where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies
which are most important for determining the application are out-ofdate8, granting permission unless:
i.

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas
or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for
refusing the development proposed7; or

Page 238

ii.

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in this Framework taken as a whole."

11.4

Paragraph 11 d) ii. is often referred to as the 'tilted balance'.

11.5

Paragraph 219 of the NPPF requires that policies in the existing Development Plan
should not be considered out of date simply because they were adopted or made prior
to the publication of the NPPF. Rather, due weight should be given to such policies
according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF; in other words, the closer the
policies in the Development Plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight
that may be given to them.

11.6

For the purposes of sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 11, footnote 7 lists the policies in
Framework (rather than those in development plans) that protect areas or assets of
particular importance including: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 176)
and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green
Belt, or Local Green Space; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and
other heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 63 of the NPPF);
and areas at risk of flooding.

11.7

The NPPF comprises a number of chapters of which nos. 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 14 and 16
are particularly relevant to the proposed development.

12.

EMERGING LOCAL PLAN

12.1

On 14 December 2017, the Council resolved to approve the Epping Forest District
Local Plan (2011-2033) – Submission Version ("LPSV") for submission to the
Secretary of State and the Council also resolved that the LPSV be endorsed as a
material consideration to be used in the determination of planning applications.

12.2

The Council submitted the LPSV for independent examination on 21 September 2018.
The Inspector appointed to examine the LPSV ("the Local Plan Inspector") held
examination hearings between 12 February and 11 June 2019. As part of the
examination process, the Council has asked the Local Plan Inspector to recommend
modifications of the LPSV to enable its adoption.

12.3

During the examination hearings, a number of proposed Main Modifications of the
LPSV were 'agreed' with the Inspector on the basis that they would be subject to public
consultation in due course. Following completion of the hearings, in a letter dated 2
August 2019 the Local Plan Inspector provided the Council with advice on the
soundness and legal compliance of the LPSV ("the Inspector's Advice"). In that letter,
the Inspector concluded that, at this stage, further Main Modifications (MMs) of the
emerging Local Plan were required to enable its adoption and that, in some cases,
additional work would need to be done by the Council to establish the precise form of
the MMs. Subsequently the proposed MMs have been submitted to the Inspector and
subject to public consultation.

Page 239

12.4

Although the LPSV does not yet form part of the statutory development plan, when
determining planning applications, the Council must have regard to the LPSV as
material to the application under consideration. In accordance with paragraph 48 of
the NPPF, the LPAs "may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according
to:
a)

The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);

b)

The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight
that may be given); and

c)

The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan
to this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).22"

12.5

Footnote 24 to paragraph 48 of the NPPF explains that where an emerging Local Plan
is being examined under the transitional arrangements (set out in paragraph 214), as
is the case for the LPSV, consistency should be tested against the March 2012 version
of the NPPF.

12.6

As the preparation of the emerging Local Plan has reached a very advanced stage,
subject to the Inspector's Advice regarding the need for additional MMs, significant
weight should be accorded to LPSV policies in accordance with paragraph 48 of
Framework. The following table lists the LPSV policies relevant to the determination of
this application and officers' recommendation regarding the weight to be accorded to
each policy.
SP 1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development – Significant
SP 2 – Spatial Development Strategy – Moderate
SP 3 – Space shaping – Significant
SP7 – The Natural Environment, Landscape Character and Green Infrastructure –
Significant
T 1 – Sustainable transport choices - Significant
DM 1 – Habitat protection and improving biodiversity - Significant
DM 2 – Epping Forest SAC and the Lee Valley SPA - Significant
DM 3 – Landscape character, Ancient Landscapes and Geodiversity - Significant
DM 5 – Green and Blue Infrastructure - Significant

Page 240

DM 7 – Heritage Assets - Significant
DM 9 – High quality design – Significant
DM 11 - Waste recycling facilities on new development – Significant
DM 15 – Managing and reducing flood risk – Significant
DM 16 – Sustainable Drainage Systems - Significant
DM 18 – On site management of wastewater and water supply - Significant
DM 20 – Low carbon and renewable energy - Significant
DM 21 – Local environmental impacts, pollution and land contamination - Significant
DM 22 – Air Quality – Significant
P 1 – Epping– Significant
D 1 – Delivery of Infrastructure – Significant
D 2 – Essential Facilities and Services – Significant
D 3 – Utilities – Significant
D 4 – Community Leisure and Cultural Facilities – Significant
13.

EPPING TOWN NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

13.1

A draft version of the Epping Town Neighbourhood Plan (ETNP) was published for
consultation in May 2018. The ETNP has not yet been finalised, put to a local
referendum or therefore adopted as part of the development plan. Whilst the draft
ETNP can only be afforded limited weight, the relevant policies are summarised below.
Policy 3 – identifies the site as a site for development
Policy 7 – states the capacity and balance of existing public car parking should be
maintained
Policy 11 - considered in the context of the need to maintain and enhance the health
and vitality of shopping and commercial/employment areas.
Policy 13 - relates to business and employment. It states that the main area for
employment-related activities will be in premises along and adjoining the High Street
Policy 14 - addresses the enhancement of social, sporting, play, cultural and
community facilities in Epping. This policy is discussed later in the report.

Page 241

Policy 15 - states that development will only be permitted with design qualities that
match the character of the area and respect the amenity of existing residents with
regard to noise generation, overlooking and car parking.
Policy 19 - addresses sustainability
14.

CONSIDERATION OF PLANNING ISSUES
The remainder of the report will consider the proposal against the requirements of the
development plan as follows:

14.1

Principle of Development
Introduction

14.2

This planning application is one of five submitted by the applicant. The five sites
comprise Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane car parks, Land at St Johns Road, Epping
Sports Centre (Hemnall Street) and Land at the Civic Offices (Condor Building).
Through the process of determination of the five Epping town centre planning
applications, it has been agreed with the applicant that the five sites should be
considered collectively for the purposes of this assessment. Looking at the sites
collectively enables the full extent of proposals to be understood when considering the
appropriate mix of uses and level of affordable housing. Environmental Impact
Assessments (EIA) have been undertaken for all five sites and reported in two
Environmental Statements (ES): Environmental Statement dated 31 March 2021 which
reports the findings of EIA for the three residential sites; and Environmental Statement
dated 28 July 2021 which reports the findings of EIA for the two commercial sites.
These were submitted voluntarily by the applicant.

14.3

In the development of their proposals a Town Centre Strategy was developed by the
applicant and formed part of the pre-application public consultation. This was
submitted with the applications as an appendix to the submitted Planning Statements
(Q+A Planning Statement Appendix 1) and sets out how the five sites have been
considered together. A development optioneering process is set out with a preferred
distribution of uses proposed by the applicant. This distribution of uses is reflected in
the submitted planning applications. The applicant has proposed an alternative
arrangement of uses to that set out in the relevant site allocations identified in Policy
P 1 of the LPSV. This was as a result of the formation of Qualis Commercial Ltd and
their appointment to take forward the development strategy for these Council owned
sites. In looking at the development opportunity wholistically the applicant was able to
develop a more deliverable site strategy which they considers provides a better overall
outcome.

14.4

For the avoidance of doubt, the Town Centre Strategy is simply a document prepared
by the applicant in support of the applications; it is not adopted Council policy or
guidance.

Page 242

14.5

The proposed development as submitted with each of the five planning applications is
set out below:

Site

Description of Development

Summary of Proposed
Development

Bakers Lane Full application for the redevelopment
Car Park
of existing surface level car park to
provide a leisure centre to include
EPF/2924/20
swimming pool, gymnasium, sports
hall, squash courts and studio (mixed
Class E (d) and F.2 (d)) together with
disabled parking provision, new
vehicular and pedestrian access, all
hard and soft landscaping, and
associated works.

5,575 sq m GIA (6,087 sq
m GEA)

Cottis
Lane Full application for the redevelopment
Car Park
of existing surface level car park
comprising the demolition of public
EPF/2925/20
toilets and the construction of a multideck car park, cinema (sui generis),
commercial floorspace (mixed Class
E), replacement public toilets and
cycle store, all associated plant,
together with new vehicular and
pedestrian access, all hard and soft
landscaping, and associated works.

330 space multi-storey car
park

Land at St Redevelopment of the former school
Johns Road
buildings and depot. Demolition of five
buildings and the retention of three
EPF/0917/21
locally listed buildings. Development
to comprise erection of new
apartment
buildings
and
the
conversion, extension and change of
use of the existing locally listed
Centrepoint building and Cookery
School to provide a mix of residential
units (Use Class C3) and ancillary
communal amenity areas. Extension

113 – 1 bed flats

Page 243

6-lane swimming pool,
fitness
suite,
studios,
sports hall and squash
courts.
6 blue
spaces

badge

parking

1,166 sq m GIA (1,201
GEA) Class E commercial
floorspace
846 sq m (GIA) (871 sq m
GEA)
Cinema
(Sui
Generis)
Total: 11,126 sq m GIA
(11,460 sq m GEA)

62 – 2 bed flats
7 – 3 bed flats
2 – Existing 2-bed house’s
refurbished
Total: 184
dwellings

(182

new)

and refurbishment of two existing
locally listed semi-detached caretaker
cottages. Revised vehicular and
pedestrian access from St Johns
Road and new pedestrian access
from High Street, all associated car
and cycle parking, servicing, hard and
soft landscaping and associated
works.

Epping Sports
Centre
(Hemnall
Street)
EPF/0918/21

Redevelopment of existing Sports
Centre and car park. Demolition of
existing Sports Centre. Development
to comprise a new apartment building
and houses to provide a mix of
residential units (Use Class C3), new
vehicular and pedestrian access from
Nicholl Road and new pedestrian
access from Hemnall Street, all
associated car and cycle parking,
servicing, hard and soft landscaping
and associated works.

Land and part
of
Civic
Offices
(Condor
Building)

The redevelopment of the existing
office building and car park.
Demolition of the existing office
building and alterations to connection
to existing Listed Civic Centre.
Development to comprise new
EPF/0919/21
apartment buildings and houses to
+EPF/1042/21 provide a mix of residential units (Use
Class C3), revised vehicular and
pedestrian access from High Street,
all associated car and cycle parking,
servicing, hard and soft landscaping
and associated works.

13 – 1 bed flats
12 – 2 bed flats
4 – 3 bed flats
11 – 3 bed houses
Total: 40 dwellings

7 – 1 bed flats
17 – 2 bed flats
5 – 3 bed flats
1 – 2 bed house
13 – 3 bed houses
2 – 4 bed houses
Total: 45 dwellings

14.6

NPPF

14.7

As demonstrated at recent appeals the Councils current five-year land supply of
deliverable housing sites has been shown to currently be 2.43 years (although on
adoption of the LPSV the Council will be able to demonstrate a five year supply) and
the tilted balance identified in Para 11(d) of the NPPF is engaged. which provides that
permission should be granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would

Page 244

significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the
policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.
14.8

Adopted Local Plan (1998, altered 2006)

14.9

As previously identified, section 38(6) of the 2004 Act require that applications for
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

14.10 The polices from the adopted Local Plan form part of the existing Development Plan.
However, it is acknowledged that the adopted Local Plan is not for the current Plan
Period and a number of the policies therein are inconsistent with the NPPF.
14.11 By comparison, the LPSV contains up-to-date policies which have been informed by
robust and up-to-date evidence. On this basis and having due regard for the provisions
of paragraph 48 of the NPPF, it is concluded that the policies contained within the
LPSV should be afforded greater weight in the overall balance. Further examination of
the weight to be afforded to the draft allocation in the LPSV is assessed in the following
section.
14.12 The emerging Local Plan Policies
As previously set out, the LPSV is now at a very advanced stage in its production. The
examination hearing sessions, as part of the Independent Examination (IE), have been
concluded and the Local Plan Inspector published her advice following the hearing
sessions in August 2019.
14.13 The Inspector's advice dated 2nd August 2019 sets out the areas where Main
Modifications (MMs) to the LPSV will be required in order for it to be considered
“sound”. Of the five site allocations, the Inspector in her advice identified actions only
in relation to St Johns Road and the Civic Office. Paragraph 46 of the Inspector’s
advice confirmed “a modification is required to the “Design” entry in Appendix 6 for
EPP.R4 (Land at St Johns Road) to make it explicit that the site is expected to
accommodate a replacement for the sports/leisure facility to be lost through the
allocation of EPP.R5”. Her advice goes on to advise that modification proposed in
paragraph 5 of document ED85 would be sufficient to ensure the protection of the listed
building forming part of allocation EPP.R8 (Land and part of Civic Offices) (Action 20).
The Inspector confirmed in her response dated 25th November 2019 that she does not
have any concerns about areas or allocations in the LPSV which are not mentioned in
her advice from August 2021.
14.14 The comments made regarding Land at St John’s Road and Land and part of Civic
Offices were points of clarification save for the request to amend the St John’s Road
“Design” entry to specify Leisure Centre given that a Leisure Centre was to be lost as
a result of site allocation EPP.R5 Epping Sports Centre. The MMs published by EFDC
on the 15th July 2021 addressed this comment and reference is now incorporated into
the draft Local Plan.

Page 245

14.15 Within this context and having due regard to Paragraph 48 of the NPPF, it is
considered that there are no unresolved objections in respect of the proposed site
allocations at Bakers Lane car park (EPP.R7), Cottis Lane car park (EPP.R6), Epping
Sports Centre (Hemnall Street) (EPP.R5). With regards to the Land at St John’s
(EPP.R4) and Land at and part of Civic Offices (EPP.R5) there are no unresolved
objections to the principle of development on these sites.
14.16 As that the Local Plan Inspector has not raised ‘in-principle’ objections to the proposed
site allocations for the five planning applications; the emerging Local Plan is consistent
with the requirements of the NPPF; and the public consultation on the Main
Modifications to the Local plan recently ended on 23rd September 2021, it is concluded
that the emerging Local Plan is at an advanced stage and must be given significant
weight in the determination of planning applications.
14.17 The policy site allocations are set out in the table below alongside the development
proposed by the current planning applications.

LPSV Site
Allocation

Proposed Site Allocation

Summary of Proposed
Development

EPP.R7

Residential with an approximate net 5,575 sq m GIA (6,087 sq m
capacity of 47 dwellings or 78 GEA) mixed Class E (d) and
Bakers
dwellings in total between site F.2 (d)).
Lane
Car allocations EPP.R7 and EPP.R6.
Park
6-lane swimming pool, fitness
Site allocations EPP.R6 and suite, studios, sports hall and
EPP.R7
should
together squash courts.
incorporate the re-provision of the
existing number of car parking 6 blue badge parking spaces.
spaces [336] for town centre visitors
to ensure that there is no net loss of
parking spaces

EPP.R6

Residential with an approximate net 330 space multi-storey car park
capacity of 31 dwellings or 78
Cottis Lane dwellings in total between site 1,166 sq m GIA (1,201 GEA)
Car Park
Class E commercial floorspace
allocations EPP.R7 and EPP.R6.
Site allocations EPP.R6 and
EPP.R7
should
together
incorporate the re-provision of the
existing number of car parking
spaces [336] for town centre visitors

Page 246

846 sq m (GIA) (871 sq m GEA)
Cinema (Sui Generis)
Total: 11,126 sq m GIA (11,460
sq m GEA)

to ensure that there is no net loss of
parking spaces.

Mixed use including residential 113 – 1 bed flats
(approximate net capacity of 34
Land at St dwellings) and appropriate town 62 – 2 bed flats
Johns Road centre uses.
7 – 3 bed flats
EPP.R4

Development proposals should
contain a mix of uses including a
leisure centre and residential
development. Other uses on site
could include, retail, community
facilities, hospitality, employment
and further leisure uses.

EPP.R5
Epping
Sports
Centre
(Hemnall
Street)

2 – Existing 2-bed house’s
refurbished
Total: 184 (182 new) dwellings
The current proposal does not
include the full extent of the site
allocation with the portion of the
site occupied by Epping Town
Council hall being retained by
the Town Council and not
forming
part
of
the
redevelopment proposals.

Residential with an approximate net 13 – 1 bed flats
capacity of 43 dwellings. (Proposed
Main Modifications amends this to 12 – 2 bed flats
42 dwellings)
4 – 3 bed flats
11 – 3 bed houses
Total: 40 dwellings

EPP.R8
Residential with an approximate net 7 – 1 bed flats
(Land and capacity of 44 dwellings.
17 – 2 bed flats
part of Civic
Offices)
5 – 3 bed flats
1 – 2 bed house
13 – 3 bed houses

Page 247

2 – 4 bed houses
Total: 45 dwellings
The current proposal does not
include the full extent of the site
allocation with the portion of the
site fronting High Street to be
retained in use as part of the
Civic Offices.

14.18 The proposed developments at Bakers Lane car park, Cottis Lane car park and Land
at St Johns Road are therefore not in accordance with the emerging Local Plan policies
as set out in Appendix 6 (Site Specific Requirements). Consideration is therefore given
to the principle of the proposed developments as standalone sites and when taken
together as a linked project.
Bakers Lane
Planning Policy Context
14.19 Policy SP2 of the LPSV seeks to promote town centre development and regeneration,
and Policy E2 is supportive of proposals for leisure uses within town centres where
they will maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of those centres. The site is
located within Epping Town Centre boundary within the adopted plan and LPSV.
14.20 Policy D4 addresses community, leisure and cultural facilities in the District. The
proposals would support the requirements of policy D4 by improving the quality and
capacity of existing facilities that are valued by the community and ensuring that the
new facilities are better in terms of quality, quantity and accessibility than the existing
Epping Sports Centre.
14.21 Within the ALP Policy CP6 and TC1 support proposals that enhance the vitality and
viability of Town Centres and Policy RST1 supports additional recreational and
sporting facilities.
14.22 The location and proposals at Bakers Lane are in general accordance with planning
policy which seeks that such uses are provided and in accessible town centre
locations. The specific location at Bakers Lane is easily accessible to the town centre
and supportive of town centre footfall.
14.23 The proposal to develop the Bakers Lane site as a Leisure Centre however is a
divergence from the LPSV site allocation EPP.R7 which identifies the site for
residential development. This shortfall in residential units is also not made up via
proposed development at Cottis Lane as is permitted within the site allocation (as the
Cottis Lane planning application proposes a multi-storey car park, cinema and

Page 248

commercial floorspace). The proposal therefore results in the loss of a residential site
allocation which in combination with Cottis Lane amounts to 78 dwellings.
14.24 Significant weight should be given to the strategic policy requirement for new homes
in LPSV Policy SP 2 in accordance with the Plan’s spatial strategy and the ‘Vision for
Epping’ within LPSV Policy P1. The proposal results in the loss of a combined site
allocation of 78 homes. Despite this forming a small number of homes within the total
housing need identified within the LPSV for the plan period, the loss cannot easily be
made up elsewhere given the Council’s current housing delivery shortfall.
14.25 Given the departure from the site allocation other material considerations should be
considered in the balance regarding the planning merits of a leisure centre use in this
location.
The Identified Need for a Sports Centre in Epping
14.26 The EFDC Built Facilities Strategy (March 2018) considers the need and supply of
sports facilities in the district and provides part of the evidence base to the LPSV. The
key findings of this document include:


Recommendations that long-term solutions are identified for the replacement
of Epping Sports Centre at a site that is accessible to Epping residents, with
high quality wet and dry provision.



In respect of swimming pools, as a whole District, the quantity of water space
is adequate to meet the demand of residents. However, not all of the water
space is located in the right place and therefore not all of the demand from
Epping Forest District residents can be satisfied. Demand is exported to
neighbouring authorities and this level of demand export equates to 10 lanes
of a 25m pool.



In respect of sports hall, the supply for sports hall for community use is at a
deficit when compared with demand, for both 2017 and 2033, therefore there
is a need to protect this quantity of supply.



In respect of squash courts, it is recommended that the existing level of
provision of squash facilities are protected (2 courts in the case of Epping
Sports Centre).

14.27 The proposed development is for a modern leisure centre that will form a replacement
for the existing Epping Sports Centre. The existing Epping Sports Centre has a 4 court
sports hall, a 70 station health & fitness suite, 2 squash courts and 4 activity studios.
The existing centre has reached the end of its lifespan and the new proposed centre
will offer new and enhanced facilities. The proposal includes a 25m 6 lane swimming
pool, learner pool, 4 court sports hall, 2 squash court, a 100 station fitness suite, 3
activity studios and supporting facilities including a cafe.

Page 249

14.28 The proposed site allocation for the existing Epping Sports Centre EPP.R5 requires
that ‘Closure of the existing Epping Sports Centre and the re-development of this site
should not take place until a suitable replacement sports/leisure facility is delivered
and is operational.’ (Appendix 6 Site Specific Requirements). EFDC agreed in a
Statement of Common Ground with Sports England as part of the LPSV Examination
that the policy for the existing Sports Centre’s redevelopment requires ‘an equivalent
or better (in terms of quantity and quality) replacement sports/leisure facility in a
suitable location’.
14.29 Sports England has provided representations in support of the current proposal being
satisfied that the proposed facilities are equivalent or better in terms of quantity and
quality to those that they will replace. Sports England has requested that a planning
condition is included to require the detailed specifications of the sports hall and
swimming pool to be agreed in order to ensure that the proposed facilities are fit for
purpose and meet Sports England and the sports governing body design guidance and
meet identified local need.
Assessment of the Principle of Development
14.30 The modification to the LPSV to identify Land at St John’s Road for the replacement
leisure centre was based upon the EFDC development strategy prior to the
development of the alternative proposed by the applicant. The Inspector’s concern
was simply that clarity be provided in the emerging Local Plan as to where an
alternative leisure centre could be provided that would enable the release of the
existing site for residential development and ensure the facility’s deliverability.
14.31 The proposed development will make efficient use of an accessible and sustainable
brownfield land whilst retaining and improving key public facilities. The proposed
development will enhance the range of facilities within the town centre, support activity
in the town centre by generating linked trips with other uses and will therefore
strengthen the vitality and viability of Epping town centre. The proposed leisure centre
is therefore likely to significantly improve the quality of existing community leisure
facilities within Epping and enhance the range of available facilities including through
the provision of a public swimming pool. This will be to the benefit of a significant crosssection of the local community. Although proposed to be operated as a community
leisure centre accessible to all, for the avoidance of doubt a legal obligation will secure
public access and community use of the centre.
14.32 The benefits of the new Sports Centre are as set out above and this proposal is a
deliverable scheme that enables a phased redevelopment allowing the existing leisure
centre to remain open during the construction.
14.33 The applicant considers that the provision of the leisure centre at Bakers Lane is
preferable given that the site is better suited to a large footprint building given the less
restrictive site layout as compared to St John’s, which includes scattered trees and
heritage constraints. Bakers Lane also offers the ability to be better integrated with
the primary shopping area with clear and legible linkages rather than set at a distance.

Page 250

Finally, the site allocation at St John’s was made on the basis of the Epping Town
Council offices being incorporated into a development proposal. The current
application site at St John’s does not include this land further constraining the ability to
accommodate large format buildings.
14.34 The proposed leisure centre at Bakers Lane also enables the release of the Epping
Sports Centre site for residential development as the proposed by draft allocation
EPP.R5 of Policy P1 of the LPSV.
14.35 These material considerations on their own do not balance against the overriding need
to provide housing delivery. The loss of housing is to be given significant weight that
if not mitigated would result in the proposal being an unacceptable departure from the
LPSV. A mitigation however has been secured via the proposed development of the
Land at St John’s Road site for 184 new dwellings. This site is proposed to act as a
‘donor site’ site and will meet and exceed the shortfall by providing at least 112
dwellings (78 dwelling shortfall plus the 34 dwelling allocation on St John’s itself). The
Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out in this report include the placement of a
restriction on the implementation of the Bakers Lane development until such time as
substantial implementation on the Land at St John’s Road site for a residential
development of at least 112 dwellings.
14.36 The Bakers Lane Car Park currently provides 133 existing public car parking spaces.
The lost public car parking is to be replaced within the proposed Cottis Lane multistorey car park which has a provision of 330 spaces. Six blue badge spaces shall also
be provided as part of the proposal for Bakers Lane. A total of 336 spaces would
therefore be provided and the site allocation development requirements that there
should be no net loss of parking spaces between the Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane
sites when considered together will be met.
14.37 To ensure that the replacement parking is secured prior to the closure of the existing
Bakers Lane Car Park the Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out for this site
includes an obligation requiring the completion of the Cottis Lane multi-storey car park
prior to closure of Bakers Lane Car Park and the proposed redevelopment. The Legal
Agreement shall also secure that the new leisure centre at Bakers Lane is not occupied
until the use of the existing Epping Sports Centre has ceased.
14.38 The existing Epping Sports Centre site provides 41 spaces for staff and visitors and
these will not be directly replaced with instead the proposed Cottis Lane multi-storey
available for users as a general public access car park. The site is identified as being
within Epping Town Centre which is considered a sustainable location with good public
transport accessibility and specific dedicated parking provision would not be expected.
14.39 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of the Bakers and Cottis Lane car parking spaces are all achieved
having regard to the proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road

Page 251

sites and the proposal for Bakers Lane can therefore be considered compliant in terms
of the principle of use for the reasons explained above.
Cottis Lane
Planning Policy Context
14.40 Policy SP2 of the LPSV seeks to promote town centre development and regeneration,
and Policy E2 is supportive of proposals for retail, leisure, entertainment and office use
within town centres where they will maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of
those centres. The site is located within Epping Town Centre boundary within the
adopted plan and LPSV.
14.41 Within the ALP Policy CP1, CP6, E10, TC1 and ST1 support proposals that enhance
the vitality and viability of Town Centres as the key focus for commercial development.
14.42 The Cottis Lane Car Park currently provides 203 existing public car parking spaces
and the proposed development is for a multi storey car park (MSCP) of 330 spaces, 8
motorcycle spaces and 38 cycle spaces. These spaces combined with the 6 to be
provided at Bakers Lane provide a total of 336 spaces. This would therefore be in
accordance with the LPSV site allocation EPP.R6 development requirements that
there should be no net loss of parking spaces between the Bakers Lane and Cottis
Lane sites when considered together.
14.43 The proposal to develop the Cottis Lane site for commercial development however is
a divergence from the LPSV site allocation EPP.R6 which identifies the site for
residential. This shortfall is also not made up via proposed development at Bakers
Lane as set out in the proposed site allocation. The proposal would therefore result in
a shortfall in the delivery of housing in the District which, in combination with Bakers
Lane, amounts to 78 dwellings.
14.44 Significant weight should be given to strategic policy requirement for new homes in
LPSV Policy SP 2 in accordance with the Plan’s spatial strategy and the ‘Vision for
Epping’ within LPSV Policy P 1. The proposal results in a combined shortfall in housing
delivery of 78 homes as proposed by the policies in the LPSV. Despite this forming a
small number of homes within the total housing need identified within the LPSV for the
plan period, the loss cannot easily be made up elsewhere given the Council’s current
housing delivery shortfall.
14.45 Given the departure from the site allocation other material considerations should be
considered in the balance regarding the planning merits of commercial town centre
use in this location.
Assessment of the Principle of Development
14.46 The site is located within Epping Town Centre boundary but outside of the defined
primary shopping area set out within the LPSV. For the purposes of retail development,

Page 252

(now a component of Class E), the primary shopping area is considered the ‘Centre’.
The site is within 300m of its boundary and for the purposes of the retail sequential test
it would be considered an ‘edge of centre’ site. LPSV Policy E 2 (H) requires sequential
testing under guidance contained within the NPPF. Sequentially the site is the best
available site for such uses within Epping Town Centre, being in close proximity to the
core of the primary retail area with direct connections to form a natural extension to its
activity. The proposals will strengthen the commercial and leisure officer in the town
centre. The proposed cinema will provide a use not currently available within the town
centre and supported linked trips. As the Class E floorspace is below the 2,500 sq m
threshold set by Para 90 of the NPPF (in the absence of a local threshold), retail impact
assessment need not formally be considered.
14.47 There is potential for new retail provision to impact on the vitality and viability of the
Town Centre however, the proposal consists of a limited number of Class E units
allowing a range of uses and activities and offers the opportunity to support and
reinforce rather than undermine the existing retail core within the primary shopping
area.
14.48 In addition, a 846 sq m (GIA) (871 sq m GEA) Cinema (Sui Generis Use) is proposed.
The proposed cinema space has the potential to accommodate a three-screen
boutique operator with supporting café bar. This is a suitable use within a Town Centre
location.
14.49 The applicant has indicated that this element of the scheme may be delivered at a later
stage dependant on market demand. A ‘meanwhile’ strategy has been detailed to
utilise this part of the site for interim landscaping and events space. Any interim use
of the area which in itself constitutes development would need to be subject to a
separate planning application at a future date. A planning condition has been
proposed setting a long stop commencement date for the cinema of 5 years from
commencement of the development or that by this time an alternative proposed
landscape or development scheme for the area is submitted and if approved
implemented.
14.50 Given that the proposal is to bring forward for town centre commercial uses previously
identified as being accommodated on the Land at St John’s Road site it will be
necessarily to seek that the Land at St John’s Road is not subsequently developed for
further commercial development given this could result in excess provision which could
undermine the vitality and viability of the town centre. A planning obligation will control
this.
14.51 The site is closer to the core of the town centre with access to the High Street a short
distance via the pedestrianised lane adjacent to the M&S store. The St John’s Road
site is approximately 400m to the same point and is separated by residential properties,
St John’s Road and any facilities would have to be access within the centre of the site.
Cottis Lane is less likely to pose a competing town centre destination. The level or
nature of commercial floorspace envisaged within the St John’s Road site has not
previously been quantified so a direct comparison can’t be made. The current proposal

Page 253

however has responded to likely market demand and provides flexible space that can
be used for a variety of purposes.
14.52 It offers better design arrangements to have commercial flanking MSCP as opposed
to a mixed car park residential design. The commercial use also enables the
development to be public facing with communal public realm as opposed to a
residential development that would contain private amenity space and limited options
for pedestrian connectivity.
14.53 These material considerations on their own do not balance against the overriding need
to meet housing delivery objectives. The loss of housing is to be given significant
weight that if not mitigated would result in the proposal being an unacceptable
departure from the LPSV. A mitigation however has been secured via the proposed
development of the Land at St John’s Road site for 182 new dwellings. This site is
proposed to act as a ‘donor site’ site and will meet and exceed the shortfall by providing
at least 112 dwellings (78 dwelling shortfall plus the 34 dwelling allocation on St John’s
itself). The Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out in this report include the
placement of a restriction on the implementation of the Bakers Lane development until
such time as substantial implementation on the Land at St John’s Road site for a
residential development of at least 112 dwellings. The restriction is placed on Bakers
Lane rather than Cottis Lane to ensure that the early delivery of the proposed MSCP
which unlocks the sequence of development is not stymied.
14.54 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of car parking spaces are all achieved having regard to the
proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road sites and the proposal
for Cottis Lane can therefore be considered compliant in terms of the principle of use
for the reasons explained above.
Land at St John’s Road
14.55 The St John’s Road site currently comprises former school buildings (Use Class F1(a))
and a Council depot (Use Class B8). The site also includes two semi-detached
cottages that will be retained and refurbished. The site was vacated in 2010 following
the amalgamation of two schools and declared surplus to service requirements and
with Essex County Council obtaining the necessary approvals from the DfE for a site
disposal to take place.
14.56 The former school buildings have been vacant for a substantial period and the EFDC
depot is surplus to operational requirements. The site has been allocated within LPSV
for redevelopment supporting a change of these existing uses in principle.
14.57 Site allocation EPP.R4 identifies the site for mixed use including residential
(approximate net capacity of 34 dwellings) and appropriate town centre uses, including
a leisure centre. None of the town centre or other non-residential uses are proposed
to be provided as part of the development, with Cottis Lane instead accommodating

Page 254

commercial town centre uses and Bakers Lane accommodating a replacement leisure
centre.
14.58 The proposed development is wholly residential comprising 182 new residential units
and inclusive of an ancillary residential amenity space within the former Cookery
Building. ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would support residential
development in this location. This is not a full departure from the LPSV given that
residential forms part of the site's allocation. The site allocation as described in the
MMs does not set out specific uses or the quantum of floorspace anticipated other than
it should include a leisure centre. The current application does not include the full
extent of the site allocation given that Epping Town Council are retaining their
hall/offices. This significantly reduces the developable site area and reduces the
options to accommodate sufficient large format leisure development. For the reasons
set out within the Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane sections above, the proposed
alternative arrangement of town centre development is found acceptable. The intent
of providing capacity for town centre commercial uses on the St John’s Road site is
therefore met by the provision made elsewhere.
14.59 The LPSV proposals map also includes a secondary retail frontage along St John’s
Road in anticipation of future commercial development on this site. LPSV Policy E 2
states that within a secondary retail frontage uses must encourage active shopfronts,
attract a high footfall and maintain viability and vitality of the town. This policy is not
strictly applicable to the site at the current time as a secondary retail frontage has not
physically been established and a departure from any commercial uses in this location
is proposed.
14.60 This is a highly sustainable town centre location suitable in principle for residential
development of this nature.
14.61 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of car parking spaces are all achieved having regard to the
proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road sites and the proposal
for St John's Road can therefore be considered compliant in terms of the principle of
use for the reasons explained above.
Sports Centre, Hemnall Street
14.62 The existing use of the site comprises Epping Sports Centre a 2,164 sq m GIA building
within Class E(d). The site allocation EPP.R5 within the LPSV identifies the site for
residential development on the basis that a replacement sports centre is provided.
14.63 The site allocation EPP.R5 specifically requires that ‘Closure of the existing Epping
Sports Centre and the re-development of this site should not take place until a suitable
replacement sports/leisure facility is delivered and is operational.’

Page 255

14.64 The principle of the loss of the existing leisure centre is acceptable only given that a
replacement is secured and that this is provided prior to the redevelopment of the
current centre to ensure that the public have uninterrupted access to sports/leisure
facilities in the local area.
14.65 ALP Policy CF12 concerns the retention of community facilities and supports
appropriate relocation. As described in detail in the Bakers Lane section above the
replacement centre provides enhanced facilities within an accessible town centre
location and as such the relocation of the centre is acceptable in principle.
14.66 As noted above, the applicant proposes to deliver the replacement leisure facility at
the Baker's Lane Site. The Legal Agreement Heads of Terms for this site shall secure
that the planning permission for redevelopment of the Sports Centre at Hemnall Street
shall not commence until the new leisure centre at Baker's Lane is operational.
14.67 The application as amended proposes 40 units as compared to the approximate 42
identified within the LPSV allocation. This target figure is approximate only and is
dependant on the size mix proposed and detailed design. The number of units
although an under provision is felt appropriate in principle and is driven by a suitable
detailed design approach.
14.68 The proposed development of the Hemnall Street site is fully residential in keeping with
the LPSV site allocation. ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would support
residential development in this location.
14.69 Given that this development cannot procced until the replacement leisure centre is
provided on Bakers Lane, a five year implementation condition is proposed rather than
the standard three year period. This will enable sufficient time for the completion and
opening of the Bakers Lane leisure centre prior to commencement. The Bakers Lane
site is itself reliant on the completion of the Cottis Lane MSCP to enable its current car
park use to be closed and development to commence.
Land and Part of Civic Offices
14.70 The existing site comprises the Condor Building of the Civic Offices, 2,561 sq m GIA
Existing office Class E (g) (i) and the Civic Offices staff car park. Both are surplus to
EFDC requirements and have been identified as a site allocation EPP.R8 for
redevelopment within the LPSV.
14.71 ALP Policy E4A concerns protection of employment sites but notes that housing on
redundant employment land will be regarded favourably. The site has been identified
as surplus to requirements by EFDC and was subject to the LPSV site selection
process where it was allocated for future residential use.
14.72 The proposed development is residential in keeping with the site allocation EPP.R8.

Page 256

14.73 Alongside the LPSV site allocation, ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would
support residential development in this location.
14.74 The staff car park closing has been aligned with the Council’s office reconfiguration
that has recently been completed within the retained Civic Offices and the introduction
of remote and flexible working strategies. Staff accessing the Council offices are being
supported to transition to more sustainable modes of travel with the Council preparing
a travel plan and establishing car sharing systems for example.
14.75 The draft site allocation seeks that a development brief is developed for the site,
however the LPA has accepted that given greater certainty is now available regarding
the strategy of EFDC in the downsizing of its estate and that the building is now vacant
that a full planning application is suitable at this time without a development brief. This
application was also supported by a Town Centre Strategy developed by the applicant
across the five sites and which was subject to public and Quality Review Panel
consultation. Extensive pre-application engagement also enabled the strategy for the
site to be suitably tested and examined. The planning application contained all the
information that would otherwise have been included with a development brief.
14.76 The civic offices 26 space public car park is not affected by the proposals.
14.77 The ‘Design’ section of the EPP.R8 allocation text also states that a development brief
should consider opportunities to introduce town centre/ retail frontage at ground floor
fronting the High Street. The current application does not include the element of the
site allocation fronting the High Street which is to be retained as part of the Civic Offices
and it is therefore not relevant to consider as part of the current application.
Principle of Development Conclusion
14.78 The identified divergence from the LPSV site allocations has been mitigated via legal
obligations which tie the sites together and ensure that collectively the five site deliver
the objectives of the LPSV and that housing delivery is suitably secured.
14.79 The reconfiguration of the sites enables an overall housing delivery number of 267
dwellings as compared to 199 identified in the LPSV. This is not to the detriment of
the other uses, with the developments securing in particular the required level of town
centre car parking and a high quality leisure centre. Equally the town centre
commercial uses to be provided on Cottis Lane are well conceived and reinforce and
enhance the existing town centre offer.
14.80 The developments are to be phased to enable the sequential delivery of the required
facilities to enable wider development. The first phase will see the MSCP constructed
on Cottis Lane and then the commencement of residential development on St John's
Road, thus releasing Bakers Lane for redevelopment. The new Epping Leisure Centre
can then be constructed on Bakers Lane releasing the existing Sports Centre site for
residential development.

Page 257

14.81 On the basis of this assessment, whilst some of the developments do not conform with
their specific site allocations, it is considered that the proposed developments when
considered in the round are compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan
and achieve the objectives of the relevant LPSV site allocations when taken as a
whole.
15.

Impact on the Epping Forest SAC
Background

15.1

Epping Forest is designated as a Special Area of Conservation (SAC), which limits
what can be done within the forest, as well as having impacts upon all proposed
development in its vicinity. The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017, as amended by the 2019 EU Exit Regulations (the Habitats Regulations)
transpose the EU Habitats Directive into UK law and require a decision-maker to
consider the effects of proposed projects on European protected sites through
undertaking a habitats regulations assessment (HRA).
Under the Habitats
Regulations, the Epping Forest SAC (EFSAC) is a European site. If the result of an
initial screening assessment is that a project is likely to have significant effects on a
European site, a full assessment of those effects must be carried out. Regulation 63
of the Habitats Regulations requires the competent authority to conduct an 'appropriate
assessment' ("AA") if concluding that the project is 'likely to have a significant effect'
on a European site, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects. Where
an appropriate assessment is conducted, then Regulation 63(5) applies, such that "the
competent authority may agree to the plan or project only after having ascertained that
it will not adversely affect the integrity of the European site".

15.2

Accordingly, the Council has a legal duty as the ‘competent authority’ under the
Habitats Regulations to protect the EFSAC from the effects of development (both
individually and in combination) and in doing so, must have regard to the
representations of Natural England (NE).

15.3

The LPSV is supported by a Habitats Regulation Assessment dated June 2021 (“the
HRA 2021”) (EB211A). Two specific ‘pathways of impact’ relating to new development
within the District have been identified as being likely to have a significant effect on the
integrity of the EFSAC. Firstly, as a result of increased levels of visitors using the
EFSAC for recreation arising from new development (referred to as "recreational
pressure"). Secondly, damage to the health of the protected habitats and species of
flora within the EFSAC from atmospheric pollution generated by motor vehicles
(referred to as "air quality") caused primarily by motor vehicles using roads within 200m
of the EFSAC.

15.4

Policies DM 2 and DM 22 of the LPSV and Policy NC1 of the Adopted Local Plan
(1998) and adopted Alterations (2006) (of which some of the policies remain in place)
provide the policy context for dealing with the effect of development on the integrity of
the EFSAC outlined above. The Main Modifications July 2021 version of DM 2 sets out
that the Council requires all new development to ensure no harm is caused to the

Page 258

integrity of the EFSAC and identifies its strategic solutions to ensure no such harm.
These are as follows:
(i)

An Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy (APMS)

(ii)

An Approach to managing recreational pressure on the EFSAC (SAMM
Strategy) and;

(iii)

A Green Infrastructure Strategy (GI)

15.5

The Interim Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy (APMS) dated December 2020,
(ED126/EB212) was adopted by the Full Council on 8 February 2021 following
agreement with Natural England. The APMS identifies a number of mitigation
measures, some of which are required to be delivered as part of individual planning
applications alongside strategic initiatives and monitoring requirements, and whose
implementation will require a financial contribution to be secured by individual
developments. The APMS therefore provides the mechanism by which the Council
can arrive at a conclusion of no adverse effect on the EFSAC as a result of planned
development. The APMS sets out that all development which would give rise to a net
increase in average annual daily traffic (AADT) will be required to be mitigated in
accordance with the measures set out within the APMS. The SAMM strategy requires
new development within the EFSAC zone of influence to make a financial contribution
towards the implementation of the SAMM strategy and finally the GI strategy sets out
practical interventions which are necessary to ensure recreational pressure is suitably
mitigated, these include the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace
(SANGs) on strategic sites as well as improvements to the accessibility and quality of
existing Green and Blue infrastructure assets.

15.6

Policy DM 22 sets out that applications for planning permission will be required to
identify and deliver necessary mitigation measures, including monitoring mechanisms
for the EFSAC before consent is given. This will include, where appropriate, measures
identified in the most up to date APMS.

15.7

Policy DM 22 also sets out that, where an application for planning permission has been
made on a site not proposed for allocation in the Local Plan, or where the potential
change in traffic movements have not been accounted for in the strategic modelling
undertaken by the Council, an air quality assessment will need to be submitted which
identifies the potential impact of the development in combination with existing baseline
pollution and other plans and projects. This assessment must identify necessary
mitigation measures that will address any unexpected deterioration in air quality as a
result of the development together with any necessary financial contributions and
monitoring.

15.8

The HRA 2021 undertook an Appropriate Assessment of the planned development
proposed within the emerging Local Plan, to consider its effect on the EFSAC. The
HRA 2021 concluded that, subject to securing urbanisation/recreational pressure and

Page 259

air quality mitigation measures as noted in the strategies in policy DM 2 of the Local
Plan, the adoption of the Local Plan will have no adverse effect on the EFSAC.
15.9

This report will now consider these issues in turn in the context of the specific
development proposals in these applications.
Recreational Pressure

15.10 With regards to recreational pressure, any potential adverse effect on the integrity of
the EFSAC only arises from residential development. Consequently the development
proposals on Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane can be screened out as having no adverse
impact.
15.11 For the remaining development proposals on Land at St John’s Road, Epping Sports
Centre and Land and part of Civic Offices which propose residential development,
each proposal will be required to pay a financial contribution of £352 per dwelling as
noted in the SAMM strategy.
15.12 This would amount to £64,064 for St John’s Road (182 new homes), £14,080 for
Epping Sports Centre (40 new homes) and £15,840 for Land and part of Civic Offices
(45 new homes). These financial contributions will be secured through a Legal
Agreement and subject to being secured, it can be concluded beyond a reasonable
scientific doubt that there will be no harm to the integrity of the EFSAC as a result of
recreational pressure.
Atmospheric pollution
15.13 As noted above, the HRA 2021 advises that without appropriate mitigation measures,
new development proposed in the District would cause harm to the integrity of the
EFSAC as a result of atmospheric pollution. Evidence has shown that a key contributor
to atmospheric pollution arises from vehicles using roads in close proximity to the
EFSAC. Figure 1 below is an extract taken from the HRA 2021 (page 180) and
illustrates these key roads and junctions:

Page 260

Figure 1
15.14 Paragraphs 1.1 of the APMS and paragraphs 4.18 and 4.20 of the emerging Local
Plan also identifies that the EFSAC is currently in an unfavourable condition in
ecological terms. The baseline worst case ammonia concentration at the roadside is
3.5 micrograms per cubic metre whereas the critical level for protecting sites with the
special interest features of the EFSAC is 1 microgram per cubic metre. Any further
traffic through the EFSAC as a result of new development will contribute cumulatively
to worsening this situation without appropriate mitigation.
15.15 In response to this issue, in collaboration with NE, the Council has endorsed the APMS
as the strategic solution to the identified issue and as noted above the HRA 2021
concludes that the development of the Local Plan will not cause harm to the integrity
of the EFSAC if the mitigation measures are delivered.
15.16 Section 5.3 of the APMS sets out what needs to be achieved in order for the competent
authority to conclude there will be no adverse impact on the EFSAC as a result of Local
Plan growth, that:


A minimum 10% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2025, in other words,
4-5% of the Epping Forest SAC vehicle fleet to be ULEVs by this year;



The introduction of a Clean Air Zone from 2025;



A minimum 20% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2029; (8-10% of the
Epping Forest vehicle fleet to be ULEVs by this year); and

Page 261



A minimum 30% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2033 (12-15% of the
Epping Forest SAC vehicle fleet being ULEVs by this year)

15.17 To achieve the minimum 30% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2033, paragraph
5.5 of the APMS identifies a number of measures which will need to be delivered by
new development in the District:


a) ensuring that the necessary infrastructure for ULEVs is widely and easily
available across the District;



b) incentivising the replacement of petrol cars with ULEVs, targeted at people
who live in areas from which the most frequent trips on roads in close proximity
to the Epping Forest SAC arise; and



c) Undertaking awareness-raising of both the issue of air pollution and the
things that residents and businesses can do to contribute to improving air
quality.

15.18 The measures noted above and the others identified in the APMS, were informed by a
traffic model which the Council undertook to accompany the emerging Local Plan. The
modelling took into account the levels of AADT that would arise from the entirety of the
development proposed across the District. Given the status of the EFSAC as noted
above, AADT is the appropriate method for understanding the potential impacts of
atmospheric pollution on the EFSAC.
15.19 In the context of these applications, all five sites are proposed for allocation in the
emerging Local Plan and as such, all of the sites have been considered through the
traffic and air quality modelling undertaken for the HRA 2021. Since these sites are all
being considered together in the round and would be linked through a Legal
Agreements, it is appropriate to consider them together for the purposes of the
potential impact on the EFSAC.
15.20 The HRA 2021 Traffic model undertaken for each of these sites is based on the
proposed allocation as follows:


EPP.R4 Land at St John’s Road – approximately 34 homes and appropriate
mixed uses



EPP.R5 Epping Sports Centre – approximately 42 homes



EPP.R6 Cottis Lane Car park – approximately 47 homes



EPP.R7 Bakers Lane Car Park – approximately 31 homes



EPP.R8 Land and part of Civic Offices – approximately 44 homes

Page 262

15.21 Across the entirety of these allocations therefore, the HRA 2021 traffic model assumed
a total of 198 dwellings would be delivered. The planning applications currently being
considered vary to differing degrees from the LPSV site allocations noted above, as
follows.


EPP R4 – Land at St John’s Road – Erection of 182 new dwellings



EPP.R5 – Epping Sports Centre – Erection of 40 new dwellings



EPP.R6 Cottis Lane Car Park – Erection of new multi storey car park, new
cinema, commercial floor space and replacement public toilets



EPP.R7 Bakers Lane Car Park – Erection of new leisure centre, including
swimming pool, gymnasium, sports hall, squash courts and new studio
together with disabled parking provision.



EPP.R8 Land and part of Civic Offices – Erection of 45 new dwellings

15.22 The applications now total 267 new homes across all of the sites as well as the erection
of the multi storey car park, cinema, commercial floor space, swimming pool,
gymnasium, sports hall, squash courts and studio, all of which are high traffic
generators. The traffic model which informed the HRA 2021 did not assume either the
number of proposed dwellings across the sites, nor the proposed distribution of any of
the non-residential uses proposed. The leisure centre however is a reprovision of an
existing centre albeit with an expanded offer and the multi storey car park provides a
replacement for existing parking spaces. A legal obligation will control the opening and
closing of the leisure centres to ensure only one is open at one time.
15.23 Notwithstanding, there is a difference between the traffic generation assumed through
the LPSV allocations and the development proposals advanced through these
applications, in an unmitigated scenario. This is significant since the APMS was
endorsed on the basis that it would address the increase in traffic due to the allocated
sites in the LPSV and a relatively small allowance of windfall sites.
15.24 As noted in paragraph above, Policy DM 22 states that any development proposals
which propose a change in traffic movements to what has been modelled in the LPSV
need to be justified through the submission of an air quality assessment taking into the
account other plans and projects and if necessary including further and bespoke
mitigation measures. The measures put forward will be required to be precise,
enforceable (both legally and in practice), quantifiable and effective beyond reasonable
scientific doubt.
15.25 The first stage of the assessment is to consider the levels of AADT that the proposed
development schemes would create on the key routes and junctions as noted in figure
1 above, compared to what was modelled for in the Local Plan traffic work. To ensure
consistency, this traffic information must then be run though the Local Plan air quality
model to get a comparison of modelled vehicle trips through the EFSAC.

Page 263

15.26 Policy T 1 of the LPSV requires that any development which proposes vehicle parking
spaces must ensure that those spaces have direct access to an electric charging point.
The provision of electric charging points are also noted in the APMS as a required
mitigation measure. (Appendix 3, page 35)
15.27 As part of the development proposals, the applicant has made a commitment to the
delivery of electric charging points. Table 1 below sets out this commitment:

Table 1
15.28 Other than Cottis Lane, each of the sites propose 100% active provision. The delivery
of such a substantial amount of active provision of electric charging infrastructure is an
important step to support the change in the traffic fleet from petrol and diesel cars to
electric. Whilst Cottis Lane does not propose 100% of active provision from the outset,
the 15% which will be provided will be for EV only parking spaces, preventing their use
by non-electric vehicles. In addition a Travel Plan for the Leisure Centre will seek to
raise awareness of the electric charging facilities available. This shall be secured by
way of a Legal Agreement.
15.29 In addition to the provision of necessary electric charging infrastructure, the applicant
has also committed to the delivery of an advertising campaign as well as financial
contributions of £335 per dwelling towards the EFSCA Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy
as required by the APMS. This would amount to £60,970 for St John’s Road (182 new
homes), £13,400 for Epping Sports Centre (40 new homes) and £15,075 for Land and
part of Civic Offices (45 new homes). Such contributions shall be secured by way of
Legal Agreements.
15.30 Taken together, these mitigation measures have been factored into the traffic
modelling undertaken for the individual applications and cumulatively have resulted in
a 4% reduction of cars in the level of AADT assumed as a result. The Council's
transport specialists have confirmed that based on the mitigation measures above, this
assumed reduction is precautionary and therefore represents a robust approach to
considering the new level of AADT created.
15.31 Figure 2 below illustrates the results of the modelling exercise on the key routes and
junctions through the EFSAC which are noted in figure 1 above. The results of these

Page 264

are then compared against the level of AADT assumed through the Local Plan traffic
modelling to result in a net change between the two:

Five Sites Combined + EV Provision
Local Plan Traffic and Air Quality Model

Application
(Net)

Net change

Link

A

B1393 Epping Road

63

50

-13

B

B172

0

0

0

C

A121 Golding’s Hill

10

-1

-11

D

A104 Epping New Rd

25

12

-13

E

Wake Road

0

6

6

F

A121 Woodridden Hill

28

32

4

G

Woodgreen Rd

0

0

0

H

Forest Side

0

0

0

I

A121 Honey Ln

28

32

4

J

Earl’s Path

0

0

0

K

A104 Epping New Rd (S)

25

12

-13

L

Cross Roads

0

0

0

M

High Beech

0

6

6

N

Avey Ln

0

5

5

O

A112 Sewardstone Rd (S)

0

0

0

Page 265

P

A112 Sewardstone Rd (N)

0

0

0

Figure 2
15.32 The results show that when all five sites are considered together, with the proposed
mitigation measures, there is a net increase in AADT movements on certain road links
and a reduction on others. These AADT numbers have been considered through the
Local Plan air quality model for the EFSAC as a new scenario, so that a direct
comparison can be made with the modelling undertaken for the APMS.
15.33 The results of the modelling show that the biggest difference in terms of Nitrogen Oxide
deposition is an increase at the roadside of 0.03ugm-3 at transects E1 (Wake Arms
Roundabout) and O (Honey Lane East). This magnitude of increase is matched by
similar magnitude of reductions at the roadside of other transects in the EFSAC. The
maximum change in nitrogen deposition is a nominal 0.01 kgN/hr/yr and the results
show that there will be no difference in ammonia concentrations from what was
modelled for the HRA 2021. The change in pollutant load is therefore sufficiently small
that the APMS will not be undermined by the change in the development proposed as
opposed to the original allocations.
15.34 The findings of this assessment are predicated on the complete delivery of the
proposed development in the form proposed across the five sites. An alternative
delivery strategy that left some sites in their existing use would result in a different
AADT and impact on the EFSAC that may not be acceptable. On this basis the Legal
Agreement associated with each site will ensure that implementation is controlled such
that existing traffic generating uses will cease.
Conclusion relating to the EFSAC
15.35 Subject to the suitable delivery of the required parking provision on each of the five
development sites as noted in table 1 as well as a suitable Travel Plan to raise
awareness of the electric charging facilities available and the payment of the necessary
financial contributions as noted in sections above, the Council as the competent
authority can conclude beyond a reasonable scientific doubt that the development
proposed by each of these applications will not lead to an adverse effect on the integrity
of the EFSAC.
15.36 As a result of the analysis above, the proposal is demonstrably compliant with the
requirements of policy NC1 of the Adopted Local Plan, with Policies DM 2 and DM 22
of the emerging Local Plan and with the requirements of the Habitats Regulations.
16.

Housing Mix / Affordable Housing

16.1

Housing Mix

Page 266

16.2

The LPSV Policy H 1 requires that development will be permitted where it includes a
range of house types and sizes to address local need, is appropriate to the context
and takes account of existing stock to avoid an over-concentration of a single type or
size of home to achieve a mixed and balanced community.

16.3

The tables below set out the proposed unit mix at each site and in total.

Land at St John’s Road

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

113

62

7

0

182

Existing
0
House

2

0

0

2

Total

113

64

7

0

184

62%

34%

4%

Apartment

100%

Epping Sports Centre, Hemnall Street

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

Apartment

13

12

4

0

29

House

0

0

11

0

11

Total

13

12

15

0

40

33%

30%

38%

Page 267

100%

Land and part of Civic Offices

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

Apartment

7

17

5

0

29

House

0

1

13

2

16

Total

7

18

18

2

45

16%

40%

40%

4%

100%

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

Apartment

133

91

16

0

240

House

0

1

24

2

27

Total

133

92

40

2

267

50%

34%

15%

1%

100%

Total New

16.4

The Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2015 (SHMA) represents the latest
evidence in terms of the type and size of housing needed across the District. The
applicant recognises that the proposal contrasts with the SHMA which identifies the
need as being 74% 3+ bed houses and 24% 1 and 2 beds.

16.5

A residential mix justification study was provided with the applications. Analysis has
been undertaken by the applicant looking at demographic projections, the existing
stock in the settlement and wider district, the local housing market and trends for
uptake of Build to Rent (BtR) products. The study submitted by the applicant sets out
that there is a low supply of both privately rented and 1 and 2 bed accommodation in

Page 268

Epping, when compared to similar neighbouring districts. It also sets out that due to
this lack of supply, access to housing in Epping is relatively unaffordable compared to
neighbouring districts. The relatively low proportion of flats in Epping compared with
nearby towns such as Loughton and Harlow suggest provision of more flats within
Epping town centre would meet need and not result in an overconcentration in the
town. The demographic and economic analysis undertaken also points towards a
worsening affordability issue.
16.6

The delivery of the larger units as identified within the SHMA results in particular
approaches to built typology and urban form and that in limited specific town centre
locations with close proximity to sustainable transport options require a more nuanced
approach to be taken to ensure that the delivery of homes both private and affordable
are maximised and that the objective of mixed and balanced communities are achieved
on space constrained sites. The proposed housing mix is supported in this location as
suitable sites to accommodate a high proportion of 1 and 2 bed units. This will help
diversify local housing stock while maximising housing delivery within a sustainable
location.
Build to Rent

16.7

The applicant has proposed that the development at St John’s Road will be a Build to
Rent (BtR) scheme and operated under a single management company. The applicant
would also like the flexibility to provide this product on the Hemnall Street and Civic
Office sites. Over the last few years, the BtR model has emerged within the rental
sector as a unique type of residential development with its own requirements and
specifications. The National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF) and the Practice
Planning Guidance (PPG) provide frameworks for its delivery including the affordable
housing need.

16.8

The frameworks noted above provide a useful definition for BtR and guidance on how
planning authorities should deal with them as follows:











They operate under common ownership(s) and management.
The affordable housing provided shall be affordable private rent and shall be
maintained as such in perpetuity (subject to below).
A clawback back mechanism should be included in the Legal Agreement to
recoup the value of the affordable housing provision withdrawn or converted into
other tenures in the exceptional circumstance where the developer sells all the
units or part of the scheme.
A clawback mechanism may also be included within a Legal Agreement in the
event that the private BtR units are sold off within a covenant period, usually 15
years from first occupation.
Eligibility for occupying the affordable housing units should be determined by the
scheme operator although working with the local authority on an agreed
nomination process.
Eligibility should be determined by local household income and local rent levels
Tenancies should be for a period of 3 or more years to all tenants in the
development, who are eligible to live in the country for that period (under the right

Page 269











16.9

to rent). This should apply to all tenants, whether paying market rent or affordable
private rent.
There is no obligation on customers to take up the offer of a three-year tenancy.
They may prefer a tenancy of six months, one year or two years, and companies
should offer these as an alternative, if requested.
Where the rent or service charges are to be reviewed during the period of the
tenancy, the basis for the review and for calculating the increase (whether as a
fixed percentage or index linked to inflation) should be clearly set in the tenancy
agreement.
Periodic rent and service charge reviews will also help to ensure there is an
appropriate ongoing match between the occupants of the affordable private rent
homes, and their income levels.
Tenants should not be locked into longer tenancies for the full period of the
agreement. Tenants should have the option to terminate at 1 months’ notice, after
the first 6 months, without a break fee being payable.
There may be periods during the operation of a build to rent scheme when the
offer of longer tenancies would interfere with planned refurbishment works. In
such circumstances it would be permissible to offer shorter tenancies, running up
to the date of the scheme refurbishment.

It is noted that BtR would normally be expected to operate at scale and we note for
reference London Plan guidance sets a threshold of 50 units for schemes to qualify for
the specific approach to affordable housing this enables.

16.10 This unit size mix is largely consistent across both private market homes and
affordable homes, which is in line with Policy H 2 of the LPSV which states that ‘the
Council will generally expect the mix of affordable homes to reflect the mix of the
market housing in terms of the ratios of types, sizes and overall number of habitable
rooms…’.
16.11 The NPPF states the following “for Build to Rent schemes, affordable housing for rent
is expected to be the normal form of affordable housing provision (and, in this context,
is known as Affordable Private Rent”)
16.12 The Affordable Private Rent indicated above is a type of intermediate affordable
housing known as discounted market rent typically at 20% below local open market
rent, including service charges, although it is acknowledged that the level of discount
offered can vary depending on local circumstances and justified by housing need
assessment.
16.13 Further, the PPG suggests that eligible names may potentially come from the
Authorities statutory housing list, taking into consideration the affordability of the
homes to those on the list, however, Authorities should refrain from having direct
nomination rights from their housing list. It further sets out that in the absence of an
established local intermediate housing list, developers and authorities may consider
assembling a unique dataset for the development. In so doing they should have regard
to the local authority housing allocation policies and any relevant potential candidates
from the Statutory Housing list. The list should also ideally include evidence about
peoples’ local residence or employment connections.

Page 270

16.14 The PPG also notes:
“Affordable private rent homes should be under common management control, along
with the market rent build to rent homes. They should be distributed throughout the
development and physically indistinguishable from the market rent homes in terms of
quality and size. They will not need the separate involvement of a registered landlord.
Combining the 2 tenures this way improves viability and any alternation of units
between affordable private rent and market rent over time is made easier.”
16.15 The affordable housing should therefore be suitably controlled as follows:
a) Rental value is capped at 80% open market rent including service charges or at
the local housing allowance whichever is the lowest, with periodically reviews to
ensure these homes remain affordable.
b) That the affordable housing units provided remain as affordable housing units or
% allocation is maintained in perpetuity. A clawback clause as identified in the
PPG can be triggered should properties be subject to future sale in exceptional
circumstances.
c) That a tenancy policy is provided which is in alignment with PPG and as identified
at paragraph 16.8 above
d) Approach to tenant nomination for the affordable homes
16.16 The Legal Agreement for the St John's Road site shall secure the private and
affordable housing at BtR in accordance with those measures summarised at
paragraphs 16.8 and 16.15 above. Given the restrictions that this would place on the
project if an alternative delivery approach is subsequently required, it is proposed that
the clauses within the Legal Agreement enable the property to be alternatively
delivered as for sale properties (subject to a clawback being paid if such occurs within
15 years of occupation) and the affordable housing delivered via a nominated RSL.
Affordable Housing
16.17 Policy H 2 in the LPSV requires that on development sites which provide for 11 or more
homes, or residential floor space of more than 1,000m² (combined gross internal area),
the Council will require 40% of those homes to be for affordable housing provided on
site. The type, design and mix of housing should also reflect that classified as market
housing. The affordable housing targets and tenures are however, subject to viability.
16.18 During the process of determination, the applicant has indicated that viability pressure
means that they are not able to provide a 40% policy compliant level of affordable
housing. Policy H 2 of the LPSV requires that proposals that do not accord with the
policy must provide a financial and viability appraisal (with supporting evidence), which
is transparent and complies with relevant national or local guidance applicable at the
time. Viability reports for each of the three residential sites have been provided
alongside a combined report considering all three collectively.
Vacant Building Credit

Page 271

16.19 It is noted that the buildings on the St John’s Road site are currently vacant. The
applicant is seeking the application of Vacant Building Credit (VBC) when calculating
the level of affordable housing that the scheme should provide.
16.20 Paragraph 64 of the NPPF states that to support the re-use of brownfield land, where
vacant buildings are being reused or redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution
due should be reduced by a proportionate amount. Footnote 30 explains that this credit
will be equivalent to the existing gross floorspace of the existing buildings. This does
not apply to vacant buildings which have been abandoned.
16.21 The NPPG states, in deciding whether a use has been abandoned, account should be
taken of all relevant circumstances, such as:


the condition of the property



the period of non-use



whether there is an intervening use; and



any evidence regarding the owner’s intention

16.22 The NPPG emphasises that each case is a matter for the collecting authority to judge.
In determining whether the application of VBC is warranted, the NPPG advises that it
may be appropriate for authorities to consider:


whether the building has been made vacant for the sole purposes of redevelopment



whether the building is covered by an extant or recently expired planning
permission for the same or substantially the same development

16.23 EFDC have produced a guidance note relating to VBC. This was last revised in March
2015, thereby pre-dating the latest revision to the NPPF and NPPG. This guidance
contains some additional criteria that, according to the guidance note, will be used to
assess eligibility for the VBC. These are:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

v.

The whole building needs to be unused.
The building must have been vacant for at least 30 months out of the 3 years
immediately prior to the date of receipt of the planning application.
The building must not have been made or left vacant for the sole purpose of
redevelopment.
The owner must prove that the building is no longer needed for its current use
in its current location. This includes provision of evidence of unsuccessful
marketing of the property for let or sale.
The building must not be covered by a current or recently expired planning
permission for the same or substantially the same development.

Page 272

16.24 The applicant has submitted evidence in support of the application of the VBC. The
evidence includes an EFDC Report to Cabinet dated March 2008 which states that:
‘The Governing Bodies of the Epping Infant School and the Epping Junior School
approved the amalgamation of the two schools to create a new primary school in
November 2006. This new school will be constructed on the site of the Epping Infant
School in Coronation Hill (at the end of St. John’s Road). Pending the completion of
the new school, the Epping Centre Point building in St. John’s Road is currently being
used to temporarily accommodate the Epping Infant School. Once the new primary
school is completed, the Junior and Infant schools will move into that building in
Summer 2009.’
16.25 An Essex County Council Report to Cabinet further states that:
‘The former Epping Junior School and adjacent Adult Education and Youth Centre,
known locally as Centre Point, in St. John’s Road Epping are owned by the Council
and vacant and boarded. The site was vacated in April 2010 when the new Epping
Primary School was completed. The site has been declared surplus to service
requirements and the necessary approvals have been obtained from the DfE for a
disposal to take place.’
16.26 The site was sold to EFDC by Essex County Council in 2016, so the building has now
been vacant for 11 years.
16.27 With regard to the criteria set out in the NPPG, the buildings are in a reasonable
condition and have not been abandoned. They have sat vacant for a considerable
length of time, without any intervening use. The evidence put forward by the applicant,
sourced from ECC and EFDC’s records, demonstrates that the buildings became
surplus to education requirements, as educational provision was consolidated
elsewhere within the District. The buildings were not vacated with the sole purpose of
redevelopment – instead, the buildings became surplus to operational educational
requirements.
16.28 With regard to the additional criteria contained within the 2015 EFDC guidance note,
the evidence put forward shows compliance with all of the criteria apart from the
second part of criterion (iv). This criterion requires evidence of unsuccessful marketing
of the site for it’s current use in its current location. No such marketing has taken place.
However, the site has become surplus to the operational requirements of the local
authority in terms of education provision. It is noted that the site has not been marketed
to alternative education providers.
16.29 However, the NPPF explains that the purpose of the VBC provide an incentive for
brownfield development on sites containing vacant buildings. Where a vacant building
is brought back into any lawful use, or is demolished to be replaced by a new building,
the developer should be offered a financial credit. In this case, the VBC offers an
incentive for the appropriate redevelopment of the site – a site which has been vacant
for a considerable length of time. The re-use of the site brings multiple benefits to the

Page 273

District, including the provision of housing and affordable housing in the context of an
acute housing crisis.
16.30 In summary, on the basis of the information put forward by the applicant, the
application of the Vacant Building Credit is considered appropriate. Officers are
confident that the building has not been abandoned or vacated for the sole purpose of
redevelopment, and the scheme fulfils the criteria set out within the NPPF and NPPG
in relation to VBC.
16.31 The Vacant Building calculation excludes the former EFDC depot and the existing
residential cottages. The calculation is set out as follows:

Existing vacant building (GIA)

Proposed buildings (GIA)

Centrepoint: 603 sq.m

Block A: Centrepoint: 1,162.88 sq.m
Block B: 3,820.63 sq m

Cookery: 183 sq.m
Block C: 1,936.74 sq m
Building 1: 15.7 sq.m
Block E: 2,910.40 sq m
Building 2: 129.5 sq.m
Block F: 5,568.51 sq m
Building 3: 1,404.6 sq.m
Block G: 904.16 sq m
Block I: – Cookery: 183 sq.m

Total: 2,335.8 sqm

Total: 16,486.32 sq.m

VBC Calculation:
Difference: 16,486.32 sqm GIA – 2,335.8 sqm GIA = 14,150.52 sqm
Difference as a proportion of proposed: 14,150.52/16,486.32 = 0.8583 (or 85.83%)
Reduction calculation: 0.8583 * 40% = 0.3433 or 34.3%
16.32 As a result of the calculation the policy compliant position for St John’s Road is reduced
to 34.3%. The LPA accept that this calculation is in accordance with the NPPF.
16.33 Viability
16.34 The level of affordable housing provision deemed viable by the applicant falls below
the policy requirements. As such, the application is supported by a Financial Viability

Page 274

Appraisal (FVA), prepared by Carter Jonas. The FVA assesses the viability of each of
the three proposed residential sites.
16.35 Carter Jonas have reviewed the viability of the three individual residential applications
and assessed the viability as a whole to calculate the maximum reasonable affordable
housing contribution. Three scenarios have been tested with the FVA, summarised as
follows:

Scenario

Surplus/Deficit

Scenario 1 (Policy Compliant)

-£4,384,696

Scenario 2 (nil affordable at two sites)

£131,736

Scenario 3 (25% affordable on each site)

-£1,472,268

16.36 The FVA explains that the applicant is willing to provide 25% on site provision, despite
it being unviable.
16.37 The Council commissioned BPS to undertake an independent review of the Applicant’s
FVA. The findings of BPS’s review are summarised below:

Scenario

Surplus/Deficit

Scenario 1 (Policy Compliant)

-£3,883,000

Scenario 2 (nil affordable at two sites)

£1,423,000

Scenario 3 (25% affordable on each site)

-£140,000

16.38 The conclusion of BPS’s review is that a policy compliant provision of affordable
housing would not be financially viable. However, the deficit generated by scenario 3
is considered by BPS to be nominal in terms of the overall viability of the schemes,
and effectively represents a breakeven position.
16.39 The difference in the projected deficits resulting from Carter Jonas’ and BPS’s analysis
are a product of different methodologies for establishing the Benchmark Land Value
(BLV) for the sites.

Page 275

16.40 To calculate the value of any surplus generated above the BLV (and therefore the
maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing), the cost of developing the
proposed scheme (including construction costs, professional fees, other costs, profit,
and finance) is deducted from the Gross Development Value (the total value of the
development if built as proposed). Once this has been calculated the Residual Land
Value (RLV) remains. Where the RLV is in excess of the BLV, a surplus is generated,
and the available surplus would be split between relevant s106 obligations and CIL.
16.41 To calculate any surplus generated by the development the applicant and their
assessor have suggested a Benchmark Land Value (BLV) for the site based on the
Existing Use Value Plus (EUV+) approach. However, the Council’s Assessors BPS do
not consider this approach to be in accordance with NPPG and consider that
Alternative Use Value (AUV) is appropriate in situations such as this, where sites have
low Existing Use Value but a significant development potential. When the AUV
methodology employed by BPS is used, the resultant BLV is lower for the Condor Site
and the Sports Centre site, and marginally higher for St John’s Road. Overall, looking
at the three sites together, the BLV is lower. The difference in BLV calculations is
shown below:

Site

Applicant’s
BLV

Council’s Independent
Assessor BPS’s
BLV

Land at Civic
Offices
(Conder)

£3,693,061

£2,028,000

Sports Centre

£1,797,807

£1,770,000

St John’s Rd

£1,217,091

£1,785,000

TOTAL:

£6,707,959

£5,583,000

16.42 As a result of a lower BLV, the Council’s assessor concludes that the deficit resulting
from a 25% provision of affordable housing would be lower than put forward by the
applicant. It is considered that this deficit is minimal and represents a break-even
position.
16.43 Aside from this, the assessors are generally in agreement with regard to sales costs
and build costs of the units.

Page 276

16.44 Given the conclusions of BPS in relation to the viability of the scheme, the Council
considers the applicant’s offer of a 25% on-site affordable housing provision at each
of the three sites to be the maximum that can reasonably be provided.
16.45 On the basis of affordable provision is provided in accordance with the wider unit mix
the affordable provision would consist of approximately that outlined in the following
tables. The general build for sale affordable housing should be provided by Registered
Social Landlord and the Legal Agreements shall specify the number of affordable
housing units, including the tenure split and unit mix.
16.46 The 2015 SHMA and 2017 updates provide information about the potential type and
tenure of affordable homes to be provided across the District. This evidence indicates
the need for the provision of 81% of new affordable homes to be for affordable rent
and 19% to be for intermediate housing products. The applicant has adopted a 80%
Affordable Social Rent and 20% Shared Ownership in the submitted FVA. In
accordance with LPSV Policy H 2 this proposed mix is supported.
Land at St John’s Road - Affordable Private Rent @ 25%

Apartment

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

28.25

15.5

1.75

0

45.5

62%

34%

4%

100%

Epping Sports Centre, Hemnall Street – 80% Affordable Social Rent 20% Shared
Ownership @ 25%

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

Apartment

3.25

3

1

0

7.25

House

0

0

2.75

0

2.75

Total

3.25

3

3.75

0

10

Page 277

33%

30%

38%

100%

Land and part of Civic Offices – 80% Affordable Social Rent / 20% Shared Ownership @
25%

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

Apartment

1.75

4.25

1.25

0

7.25

House

0

0.25

3.25

0.5

4

Total

1.75

4.5

4.5

0.5

11.25

16%

40%

40%

4%

100%

16.47 Paragraph 3.14 of LPSV Policy H 2 explains that, for larger-scale development
proposals for new housing development to be delivered on a phased basis, the Council
will require Legal Agreements to include mechanism for viability reviews and 'clawback'
clauses (or similar) to ensure the fullest possible compliance with Local Plan policy is
achieved where the viability of the scheme improves before completion. The proposals
are linked and their delivery shall be phased in order to ensure general compliance
with the LPSV site allocations. Given this phasing, and the time period over which the
developments will be constructed, viability review mechanisms shall be included within
the Legal Agreements for the residential properties. These review mechanisms shall
allow for viability to be re-assessed at various stages of the development process, to
allow any improvements in viability to be captured by the Council. This is particularly
important in light of current high build costs – the review will capture any improvements
in sales values relative to costs.
16.48 In summary, the applicant’s FVA has been scrutinised by an independent assessor
working on behalf of the Council. The conclusion of this assessment is that a policy
compliant provision of affordable housing would not be viable. The applicant has put
forward an offer of 25% provision on each site which the Council’s assessors consider
would represent a break-even position. Given this, the provision of 25% of units on site
as affordable would be acceptable. Review mechanisms will be included within the
Legal Agreement to ensure that any improvement in viability is secured by the Council.

Page 278

17.

Design

17.1

The LPSV is clear that the Council is committed to ensuring that all new development
in the District is of the highest design standards in their broadest sense. Good design
should ensure that new forms of development function well within the surrounding area
and result in buildings which are durable and adaptable within their context.

17.2

The LPSV emphasises that good design is not solely a visual concern, but actually has
social and environmental elements such as the potential to create high quality public
realm, improving quality of life for local communities and contributing to the
sustainability agenda.

17.3

This approach follows the NPPF requirement for Local Planning Authorities to require
new forms of development to recognise local context and set out the quality of
development expected within the District.

17.4

Policy SP 3 sets out that the Council seeks to ensure that development proposals
accord with exceptional place making principles. Place making is a holistic approach
to planning which brings together all component parts of a successful place.

17.5

Policy DM 9 sets out the policy requirements based on the overall design approach
contained within the LPSV.

17.6

Similarly, to Policy DM 9 of the LPSV, Saved Policy DBE1 of the ALP requires that
new development is of high quality design. Development proposals are expected to be
respectful to their setting, adopt a significance in the street scene which is appropriate
to their function and use high quality external materials. In addition to high quality
design standards required, Policy CP2 of the ALP seeks to preserve the rural
environment, including landscape character and protecting the countryside.

17.7

In order to achieve the outstanding design as required by the LPSV, the Council has
established a Quality Review Panel (QRP) to act as a ‘critical friend’ to both the Council
and applicants.

17.8

The QRP consists of an independent, multidisciplinary group of experts who are
suitably trained and highly experienced individuals in their fields and the Panel has the
overarching ambition of assisting the Council with ensuring that new development
achieves the high-quality design as required by the LPSV.

17.9

The proposed development on the application site has been the subject of several
reviews by the QRP. The comments received following each review has been taken
into account when considering the various elements of design in the following section.

17.10 Density
17.11 The proposal is for 184 dwellings across a site area of 1.25 hectares, resulting in a
density of 147 dph.

Page 279

17.12 Policy H3A of the adopted Local Plan states that new housing developments will
achieve a net site density of at least 30 - 50 dwellings per hectare. In the LPSV, policy
SP3 states that the Council will normally expect densities above 50 dwellings per
hectare in towns. Therefore, there is general support for higher density residential
developments in sustainable town centre locations. The policy does not provide an
upper limit on the density for each site.
17.13 Paragraph 122 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should support
developments that makes efficient use of land. Paragraph 125 further states that where
there is an existing or anticipated shortage of land for meeting identified housing
needs, it is especially important that planning policies and decisions avoid homes being
built at low densities and ensure that developments make optimal use of the potential
of each site. The NPPF advises that density standards should seek a significant uplift
in the average density of residential development within these areas, unless it can be
shown that there are strong reasons why this would be inappropriate.
17.14 The LPSV allocates the St John’s site for the provision of approximately 34 homes. It
is noted that the proposed number of homes exceeds this allocation. However, this
allocation of 34 homes was based on a mixed use for the site. Document ‘B1.5.3
Detailed Methodology for More Detailed Assessment for Housing Sites’ submitted as
part of the evidence base for the LPSV shows that, for this site, the baseline density
should be 101.25 dph. For the St John’s site, a 74% reduction in the baseline density
was applied, taking into account the fact that the site was proposed for a mixed use.
17.15 Given that the site is now to be used solely for residential uses, it is appropriate to
discount this mixed-use reduction and apply a baseline density of 101.25 dph. The site
area is 1.25 hectares and therefore, applying the logic in the LPSV, an appropriate
density on the site would be 101.25 dph, resulting in a target provision of 126 homes
on the site. This target figure is approximate only and is dependant on the size mix
proposed and detailed design. It is acknowledged that the number of units exceeds
this target density. However, the proposal includes only flats, and no houses, resulting
in a higher density. Given the town centre location, the provision of flatted
accommodation is acceptable. In addition, analysis undertaken elsewhere in this report
concludes that the proposed scale and quantum of development is acceptable in all
other regards. Therefore, the proposed density is acceptable and would constitute an
efficient use of land, as required by the NPPF.
17.16 Layout, Access and Connectivity
17.17 Policy SP 3 of the LPSV notes that development proposals must demonstrate strong
vision, leadership and community engagement (i), extend, enhance and reinforce
strategic green infrastructure and public open space (vii), ensure positive integration
and connection with adjacent rural and urban communities thereby contributing to the
revitalisation of existing neighbourhoods (x) provide for sustainable movement and
access to local and strategic destinations (including rail, bus and pedestrians, cycling)
(xiii).

Page 280

17.18 Policy DM 9 notes that development proposals must have regard to the framework of
routes and spaces connecting locally and more widely (Part D (iii)).
17.19 Policy T 1 notes that development proposals will be permitted where they provide safe,
suitable and convenient access for all potential users (Part C (i)) and provide a
coordinated and comprehensive scheme that does not prejudice future provision of
transport.
17.20 The site layout is based around the principle of focusing pedestrian movement to the
centre of the site, and providing access across the site to the High Street in the south.
Vehicular access and routes are confined to the northern half of the site. The use of
differing surfacing materials and the incorporation of raised tables ensure that the
pedestrians routes are legible and safe, with pedestrian movement prioritised over
vehicular movement. These details will be secured by the recommended conditions.
Overall, the proposed spatial strategy, focused around a pedestrian ‘heart’ at the
centre of the site is supported. There is a clear demarcation of public and private
spaces within the site and the legibility and character of these spaces will be further
enhanced by the recommended conditions.
17.21 Scale, form and massing
17.22 Policy DM9 of the LPSV notes that developments must relate positively to their context
(Part A (i)), having regard to the form, scale and massing prevailing around the site
(Part D (ii)), active frontages (Part D (v)), and respond to natural features of the site
and surroundings (Part E). Policy DM 9 also notes that proposals should not result in
an over-bearing or overly enclosed form of development (Part H (iii)) and consider
microclimate conditions (Part H (iv)).
17.23 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF notes that development should be visually attractive as a
result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping, and be
sympathetic to the surrounding built environment and landscape character
17.24 The site has a modest frontage onto High Street and a longer frontage onto St John’s
Road. Block G fronts onto the High Street and would be 3/4 storeys in height. The
height of Block G would respect the scale of the 3 storey buildings located either site.
The set-back from the street further ensures that the building will sit comfortably within
the streetscene. Building G acts as a gateway building to the ‘woodland walk’ which
runs from High Street through the centre of the street.
17.25 Block B fronts onto St John’s Road and would be 3/4 storeys in height. Although taller
than the adjacent retained Centrepoint building, Block B would be set back further into
the site ensuring that the Centrepoint building remains as a prominent feature. The
rationalisation of Building B and the simplification of the roof line has created a more
legible building form and coherent street scheme. Whilst the length of the massing
along the northern edge of the street is more than the massing of the context, the way
in which it has been modulated helps to mitigate the impact. Gable ends are utilised
more judiciously including to the High Road facing elevation.

Page 281

17.26 Blocks C – F sit further back within the site. In the centre of the site, the massing of the
buildings is lower to reflect the character of this as the ‘heart’, a landscaped, pedestrian
focused area. Blocks C, E and F would be 4/5 storeys in height and mark the perimeter
of the site.
17.27 Block F elevations facing the woodland walk appear simplified and rationalised with
better differentiation between the two sections. The proportions of the central Block F
mass are particularly improved through the use of standing seam at the top storey.
17.28 Overall, the scale of the buildings and the massing strategy is acceptable.
17.29 Landscaping
17.1

Policy DM 3 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that new development will not directly,
indirectly or cumulatively cause significant harm to landscape character, the nature
and physical appearance of ancient landscapes or geological sites of importance.
Proposals should be sensitive to their setting in the landscape and have due regard
for local distinctiveness and characteristics. Policy DM 5 of the LPSV seeks that
developments retain and enhance existing green infrastructure including trees, use
native species and enhance the public realm through the provision of trees.

17.2

The siting of the buildings and the layout of the internal streets allow sufficient room
for landscaping. The landscape masterplan incorporates a variety of green and open
spaces, including a woodland path through the site, amenity grassland and orchard
areas. The orchard is a positive and historically contextual concept. Where trees are
to be removed as part of the proposals, this has been adequately justified. Native tree
planting, including additional fruit trees, is proposed as part of the scheme and this is
welcomed. The amenity areas include a naturalised mix of grass and flowering lawn,
which is acceptable.

17.3

The scheme includes the provision of high quality and varied play space throughout
the site in accessible and attractive locations. The proposed public artwork strategy is
also supported and would enhance the character of the site.

17.4

Overall, the proposed landscaping is sufficient to soften the visual impact of the
buildings and the associated hardstanding. Subject to conditions, the landscaping
scheme would be of an acceptable quality and would provide future residents with a
good quality of external amenity.

17.5

Appearance and materials

17.6

Policy DM 9 of the LPSV notes that development proposals are required to incorporate
sustainable design and construction principles (Part A (iii)) and relate positively to their
locality having regard to distinctive local architectural styles, detailing and materials
(Part D (vi)).

Page 282

17.7

The NPPF paragraph 130 notes that developments must be visually attractive as a
result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping, establish
a strong sense of place, and be sympathetic to local character and history while not
preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change.

17.8

The use of high-quality buff brickwork and standing seam metal top-storey/ sloping
roof cladding is supported. The architecture and proposed materials have generally
been improved through updates to massing and articulation and the overall approach
is supported.

17.9

Whilst the level of elevation/ junction detail provided is not at the scale required to
ensure the quality of development, the combination of 1:50 bay studies, visuals and
precedent images give a clear indication of the aspirations. Conditions are
recommended to ensure that the detailed elevation/ junction information is required to
be submitted, particularly with regards to depths of reveals, rainwater goods, copings,
door/ window details and balconies. To note, balcony design shown on bay studies still
differ from precedent images and CGI perspectives, however the precise detail of
these are secured by condition.

17.10 Servicing
17.11 A management strategy is proposed as part of the refuse collection strategy. This is
not desirable as it will entail bins being left in the public realm for an amount of time
and could lead to ‘bin blight’ if there are any issues with the management of it. The
currently proposed ‘allocated shared collection points’ are in highly visible locations at
the ends of vistas, on key street frontage or at key junctions. A condition is therefore
recommended to require an updated alternative refuse strategy drawing with
management requirements shown/ described.
17.12 The proposed cycle stores still do not appear to provide sufficient space to load bikes
on to double stackers. As a reference point,TfL guidance on cycle parking (Ltcs
Chapter 8) requires a minimum 2.5m aisle width in front of the lowered, extended top
stacker. Given this, a condition is recommended to secure a dimensioned plan of a
typical cycle store to show that these requirements are met. Provision for nonstandards bike should also be included.
17.13 Impact on heritage
17.14 The site lies partly within the Epping Conservation Area, a designated heritage asset.
As outlined in the preceding sections, the proposal involves the conversion of the
locally listed Cookery School Building, conversion of the locally listed Centrepoint
Building and extensions to locally listed cottages at No. 19 & 21. The locally listed
buildings are ‘non-designated heritage assets’ as per the NPPF.
17.15 The proposals have been reviewed by the Conservation Team, who have raised
objection to the scheme.

Page 283

17.16 With regard to the conversion of the Cookery School Building (Block I), harm has been
identified in connection with the loss of the appreciation of the physical integrity of this
stand-alone building due to its connection to the residential block. The scale of the
surrounding new residential buildings is considered to diminish the presence of the
building and the contribution it makes to the site.
17.17 In terms of the Centrepoint building, the Conservation team consider that there would
be an erosion of its special historic and aesthetic value as a Victorian building through:
the loss of characteristic decorative features and historic fabric of the Gothic Revival
architectural language from within the building, and the further loss of its original
building forms due to the greater infill between the wings in the form of a central
projection and the extent of the flat roof filling the space between the two wings, almost
to ridge level. The Council’s Urban Design Officer raises similar concerns regarding
the height of the parapet of the proposed infill extension.
17.18 With regard to the impact on no. 19 & 21 resulting from the construction of Block H,
there is considered to be an erosion of its special historic and aesthetic value as a
Victorian building through the replacement of the existing timber doors and windows
with aluminium and the introduction of flat canopies.
17.19 The proposed scale, density and typology of the proposal is also considered to be out
of character with the grain of development along St John’s Road. Given this, there
would be harm to the character and appearance of the Epping Conservation Area. The
harm is considered to be less than substantial.
17.20 Paragraph 202 of the NPPF states that, where a development proposal will lead to less
than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset (in this case
the conservation area), this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.
17.21 Paragraph 203 states that the effect of an application on the significance of a non
designated heritage asset (in this case, the locally listed buildings) should be taken
into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or
indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage
asset.
17.22 It is acknowledged that the scheme would result in less than substantial harm to the
designated and non-designated heritage assets.
17.23 However, there are significant public benefits resulting from the scheme. The
proposals include the conversion and re-use of non-designated heritage assets which
have sat vacant for a significant length of time. Their original use as civic buildings is
acknowledged, but the buildings are now surplus to operational requirements. Their
re-use as civic buildings would not represent a viable long-term use. The proposed use
of the buildings for residential purposes would provide a viable long-term use, allowing
the buildings to be brought back into active use and maintained accordingly.

Page 284

17.24 Furthermore, the conversion of the buildings for residential use would make a positive
contribution to the District’s housing supply. The District has an acute need for housing,
and the provision of additional homes through the conversion of the buildings would
represent a significant public benefit.
17.25 The significant level of benefit arising from the re-use of the buildings, in terms of the
long-term future of the buildings and the contribution to the housing supply, outweighs
the less than substantial harm which has been identified. Therefore, subject to relevant
conditions, the impact on the heritage assets is acceptable.
17.26 Quality of amenity for future residents
17.27 The proposed layout of the flats would be in general accordance with the NDSS, fire
strategy and Part M4(2) Accessibility standards. The requirement for compliance with
Part M4(2) is required as part of the proposed conditions. Whilst some of the flats are
single aspect with a deep plan, the uses with the highest expectation of light and
outlook have been positioned to the front of the flat, so that, overall, an acceptable
layout and level of outlook is provided.
17.28 In terms of overlooking and privacy, windows have been appropriately positioned to
avoid any direct overlooking between habitable rooms. In addition, the distance
between the buildings prevents any overlooking of adjacent buildings. Whilst the
window layout has been carefully considered, in some instances the relationship
between proposed balconies with each other, or with adjacent flat’s windows, could
allow for some overlooking (for example, flat B1.05). As such, a condition is
recommended to require details of screening to the balconies, to ensure an acceptable
relationship.
17.29 The application is supported by a Daylight, Sunlight & Overshadowing Report (August
2021). Internal daylight sunlight figures have been updated to demonstrate levels of
compliance where the higher BRE Average Daylight Factor (ADF) figures are applied.
The report shows that 85% comply with daylight at 2% ADF for Living/Kitchen/ Dining
rooms (LKDs) and 91% comply at 1.5% for LKDs. Given the highly sustainable location
and the need to make efficient use of the site, these figures are acceptable in this
context.
17.30 With respect to sunlight, only 53% of rooms would satisfy the BRE recommendations
for Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) (in winter). The BRE guidance recognises
that sunlight is less important than daylight in the amenity of a room and is heavily
influenced by orientation. North facing windows may receive sunlight on only a handful
of occasions in a year, and windows facing eastwards or westwards will only receive
sunlight for some of the day. Therefore, BRE guidance states that only windows with
an orientation within 90 degrees of south need be assessed. Those rooms which fail
to meet the recommended APSH levels in this case are primarily bedrooms or offices
and/or north-facing rooms, with a lower expectation for sunlight. When looking at
south-facing rooms, up to 88%/82% APSH levels for winter/annual sunlight would be

Page 285

achieved. Given the semi-urban context of the site and the need to make efficient use
of land, this is acceptable.
17.31 Overall, each home would benefit from an acceptable level of privacy internally and
externally, adequate outlook, and an acceptable level of light. Layouts of the homes
are rational and useable.
18.

Impacts on neighbouring amenity

18.1

Paragraph H of Policy DM 9 requires development proposals to take account of the
privacy and amenity of the users of a development as well as that of neighbours. Policy
DBE9 of the ALP contains the same objective by seeking to safeguard the living
conditions of neighbouring properties. Paragraph H of Policy DM 9 is further split into
subsections (i – iv) and the report will consider these issues in turn.

18.2

When considering privacy and amenity issues in relation to existing residents, it is
important to understand the context of the application site in relation to the nearest of
these neighbours.

18.3

Daylight and Sunlight

18.4

Part (i) of paragraph H seeks to ensure that adequate levels of sunlight/daylight and
open aspects are provided to the users of the development and nearby neighbouring
residents.

18.5

The application was accompanied with a Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing
Report (updated Aug 2021) prepared by Avison Young (AY) on behalf of the applicant.
Officers has reviewed the report and assessed the application.

18.6

The majority of properties surrounding the site will not experience a detrimental loss of
daylight or sunlight as a result of the proposals. The properties most affected are 1316 Bodley Close, to the north, and 127 High Street, located to the south.

18.7

With regard to 13-16 Bodley Close, these two storey dwellings currently enjoy an
unusually open aspect to the rear, as the land behind is undeveloped. Given this
current situation, any development to the rear will result in greater relative alterations
to the existing light levels than experienced by other nearby properties.

18.8

In terms of daylight to these properties, 25% of the 12 windows tested will meet BRE
recommendation. Those that do not meet the recommendations would experience
reductions of between 21% and 28%, against the 20% suggested target – which
represent minor deviations. Furthermore, the results show that all of the rooms tested
will meet the BRE target criteria and retain a direct view of sky to well in excess of 80%
of the total room areas. This indicates a very good level of daylight distribution, after
the development is complete.

18.9

In terms of sunlight, all of the rooms tested will exceed the BRE APSH
recommendations and the retained sunlight levels will be very high.

Page 286

18.10 With regard to 127 High Street, this property similarly experiences very low levels of
existing light obstruction, due to the presence of the existing car park to the north. Any
development to the north of this property would therefore be disproportionately
experienced by residents of this property. The Daylight & Sunlight Assessment
demonstrates that all but four of the windows to this property would comply with the
BRE recommendations for daylight.
18.11 Three of these four windows experience only minor deviations from the BRE
recommendations. One window is more significantly impacted – a ground floor window
assumed to serve a habitable room. This window is sited close to the boundary of the
site and faces an existing undeveloped area. The BRE guidance, at paragraph 2.2.3
(page 7) states that: “Note that numerical values given here are purely advisory.
Different criteria maybe used, based on the requirements for daylighting in an area
viewed against other site layout constraints. Another important issue is whether the
existing building is itself a good neighbour, standing a reasonable distance from the
boundary and taking no more than its fair share of light.”. Given the proximity of the
existing window to the boundary, it is not considered to be a ‘good neighbour’ and is
considered to experience an unusually high availability of light.
18.12 The most affected window also appears to be a secondary living area, with the main
living area sited to the front of the property benefitting from a bay window and only an
oblique view of the proposed development. This front living room will remain fully BRE
compliant, in terms of daylight and sunlight.
18.13 The No Skyline Analysis shows that 5 of 7 rooms will meet the BRE recommendations.
The remaining two show alterations beyond the recommendations; one represents a
minor deviation, and the other is due to the existing site context as set out above.
18.14 Taking into account the existing high levels of daylight and sunlight experienced by 1316 Bodley Close and 127 High Street due to an absence of development, and looking
in detail at the room layouts and uses, overall the impact on light to those properties is
acceptable. This is particularly the case when considering the need to optimise the
density of the proposed development and to make best use of land available for
housing.
18.15 Overlooking / loss of privacy
18.16 Part (ii) seeks to ensure that existing neighbours will not be overlooked by users of
new development.
18.17 In terms of privacy, the most affected properties are again 13-16 Bodley Close, to the
north, and 127 High Street, located to the south.
18.18 Block C is closest to 13 Bodley Close. At it’s closest point, Block C would be sited 7.5
metres from the boundary with the rear garden of Bodley Close. The flats in the
northern corner of Block C, closest to 13 Bodley Close, have the same internal layout,
with a bedroom sited to the northern corner. This bedroom benefits from two windows,

Page 287

one of which is in the flank facing the rear of 13 Bodley Close. Given there are two
windows, it is reasonable that this window be subject to the recommended condition
requiring it to be fitted with obscure glazing and non-opening up to a height of 1.7
metres. This will help mitigate against any overlooking of the rear garden of No. 13
Bodley Close. In addition, there are four existing trees along this boundary, which will
be retained as part of the proposals. As such, there will not be an unacceptable loss
of privacy to the properties at Bodley Close.
18.19 With regard to 127 High Street, the southern wing of this Block F would be located
around 3 metres from the boundary fence of No. 127. The flank elevation of Block F,
facing the garden, contains a number of windows. Looking in detail at the floor plans
for the proposed flats within this part of the building, the windows sited furthest from
the central corridor to the left serve as secondary windows to bedrooms. Given this, it
is reasonable that these be fitted with obscure glazing and be non-opening up to a
height of 1.7metres.
18.20 The flats to the right hand side of the corridor (when viewed from No. 127) benefit from
two windows in the flank elevation, both of which serve the living/kitchen/dining room.
This room also has a balcony, glazed door and window facing north-east. Taking this
into account and, considering the depth of these rooms, it is reasonable that the
window sited furthest to the right hand edge of this flank within each flat be fitted with
obscure glazing and be non-opening up to a height of 1.7metres.
18.21 To further mitigate against potential overlooking or loss of privacy to the garden or rear
windows of No. 127, a 1.8m high native hedge is proposed to this boundary. A
condition is recommended to secure further details of this boundary hedging and to
ensure that the plants are of a reasonable height when planted, such that they will
provide adequate screening with immediate effect.
18.22 Outlook
18.23 Part (iii) seeks to ensure that new development is not overbearing and would not cause
significant harm to the outlook of occupiers of neighbouring properties.
18.24 Outlook from the surrounding residential properties will be reduced given that the site
in its existing use has limited built form. As such, the proposed development will
present a change to the levels of outlook from the surrounding properties.
18.25 The separation distances of the proposed buildings and the properties along Crows
Road is sufficient to ensure that there will not be an unacceptable reduction in outlook.
Again, the most affected properties are 13 Bodley Close and 127 High Street, which
will have views of the proposed buildings from their rear facing windows and rear
garden areas.
18.26 These properties currently benefit from an unusually open aspect, due to their siting
adjacent to open parts of the site. As a result of the proposals, their outlook will be
altered in one direction, with the other aspects remaining as existing. Taking into

Page 288

account the internal layout of these properties, and the need to optimise the density of
development on the application site, the impact on outlook is acceptable.
18.27 In summary, the proposal is acceptable with regard to its impact on the surrounding
residential properties in terms of privacy, overlooking, daylight, sunlight and outlook
and is therefore compliant with paragraph H of Policy DM 9.
18.28 Noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality
Part (iv) requires that issues of noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality
are properly addressed when considering an application to ensure that none would
cause significant harm to the amenity of existing residents or new users of the
proposed development.
18.29 The report will now consider each of these aspects in turn.
18.30 With regard to noise, the proposed residential use, and the siting of the buildings in
relation to the neighbouring properties, is such that there would not be an unacceptable
increase in noise experienced by the neighbouring properties.
18.31 The submitted Transport Assessment is overly robust with regard to trip generation,
as it does not consider any trips being generated by the existing use. Nonetheless, the
findings in relation to trip generation are acceptable. Overall, vehicles using the site
would not result in significantly more noise generation than the existing office use, and
associated servicing and parking. As such, the proposal is acceptable with regard to
noise impacts.
18.32 A lighting impact assessment was submitted with the application which indicates that
the upward light ratio (ULR) would not exceed the maximum permissible level of 5%
for an E3 environmental zone. The report concludes finding that any residual effects
of lighting from the proposed development on surrounding residential properties will be
negligible. Officers have reviewed the application and the lighting assessment report
and are satisfied that there will be no undue harm caused to the amenity of the
occupants of the surrounding properties as a result of lighting, subject to the
recommended conditions.
18.33 The application has been accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) which
considers the potential impacts of the construction phase of the development as well
as the operational phase.
18.34 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has considered the AQA and has
commented that the proposed mitigation measures have been taken from appropriate
guidance and if suitably implemented, will ensure that there will not be significant harm
caused to sensitive receptors. These measures can be secured through the
recommended condition. Given the proximity of residential properties and the phased
nature of development on this, and the nearby linked sites, conditions recommending
real time dust monitoring are recommended also.

Page 289

18.35 Based on the evidence provided by the applicant and subject to the recommended
conditions, the proposal will not cause significant harm to air quality in relation to
human health.
18.36 Summary relating to design and neighbouring amenity issues
18.37 Drawing all the strands together in relation to design and neighbouring amenity issues,
the analysis conducted through this report has concluded that the proposed
development fulfils the Council’s overall vision and policies of ensuring that new
development is comprised of high quality design, subject to the imposition of
adequately worded planning conditions/obligations.
18.38 It has further been concluded that there would not be any significant harm caused to
the living conditions of any of the existing residents who live in the area and that the
development will ensure a good level of amenity to staff and visitors, subject to the
imposition of suitably worded conditions / planning obligations.
18.39 The proposal is therefore compliant with the requirements of Policies SP 3, DM 9 and
T 1 Part C and Part D of the LPSV and with Policies CP2, DBE1, DBE4 and DBE9 of
the ALP.
18.40 Highways and Transport
18.41 The submitted TA assesses the potential impacts of the proposed development on the
local and strategic highway network.
18.42 The TA has been reviewed by Essex County Council who consider that it is overly
robust, as it does not assume any trips associated with the existing use and has
consequently assumed all of the residential trips to be new trips. Nonetheless, the
predicted traffic generation would not have a significant impact on the local highway
network and is acceptable.
18.43 The application proposes 62 cycle parking spaces (56 long-stay and 6 short-stay).
18.44 The application proposes 53 car parking spaces, including 4 blue-badge parking
spaces. Of these spaces, 35 will be allocated with the remainder for visitor parking.
Policy T 1 of the emerging Local Plan requires that any development which proposes
vehicle parking spaces must ensure that those spaces have direct access to an electric
charging point. All parking spaces are to be active Electrical Vehicle Charging Points
(EVCP), in compliance with this policy.
18.45 The residential Travel Plan submitted includes detailed measures for the applicant to
implement in order to reduce reliance on the private car. These include providing
Residential Travel Information Packs, cycle parking provision, encouraging car share
platforms, the provision of a car club vehicle on site, free membership and £50 credit
for the car club for residents, and the provision of electrical vehicle car charging. The
site is well located, close to other accessible modes of sustainable travel. Given the

Page 290

scale of the development and proximity to existing transport modes, these measures
are sufficient.
18.46 The applicant is committed to delivering the Travel Plan and monitoring its
implementation. Implemented alongside the low level of parking provision on site, the
proposed Travel Plan will help reduce reliance on the private vehicle.
18.47 Therefore, the proposals will not result in an unacceptable impact on highway safety
and would not have a severe residual cumulative impact on the road network in
accordance with paragraph 111 of the NPPF, as well as ST4 of the adopted Local Plan
and policy T1 of the LPSV.
19.

Sustainability, Energy and Climate Change

19.1

The NPPF sets out that the overall purpose of the planning system is to contribute to
the achievement of sustainable development which is defined as:
Meeting the needs of the present generation without compromising the ability of future
generations to meet their own needs

19.2

In order to achieve sustainable development, the NPPF sets out three overarching
objectives:


An economic objective;



A social objective; and



An environmental objective

19.3

The NPPF is clear that each of these objectives are interdependent and need to be
pursued in mutually supportive ways.

19.4

The LPSV sets out that the Council is committed to providing proactive strategies with
regard to climate change resilience. This approach is based on the NPPF which
encourages Local Planning Authorities to adopt a proactive strategy with regard to
sustainable development and climate change.

19.5

On 19th September 2019 the Council declared a climate emergency for the District
and set out a pledge that the Council will do everything in its power to make the District
carbon neutral by 2030.

19.6

This approach is encapsulated within Policy DM 20 of the LPSV which seeks to
encourage new developments to be of a low carbon energy use. Renewable energy
measures in new and existing development is also to be encouraged as far as possible.
The policies in the LPSV have been added to via the adoption in March 2021 EFDC
Sustainability Guidance and Checklist as supplementary planning guidance. The
purpose of this guidance is to help applicants meet EFDC’s goals of becoming net zero
carbon by 2030.

Page 291

19.7

In support of the application, a Sustainability Statement and Energy Strategy have
been submitted along with a completed EFDC Sustainability Checklist which presents
the sustainable aspects of the proposed development.

19.8

The Sustainability Statement highlights a number of aspects of the scheme which
contribute to the sustainability credentials of the development. In short these are:


A fabric first approach to reducing carbon emissions



The development resulting in an annual 51% reduction in C02 emissions over
the requirements of Building Regulations Part L.



High efficiency air source heat pumps;



Photovoltaic panel arrays on roofs.



Installation of electric charging points for all of the car parking spaces on the
site and provision of bicycle storage.



Installation of new green and active spaces.



Adopting measures for waste reduction during construction.



Using embodied carbon studies to guide design.

Generally, the scheme is compliant with the sustainability policies in the emerging
Local Plan. However, the scheme is not particularly innovative or proactive in
addressing Climate Change and could be more ambitious in aligning with the Council’s
Climate Emergency declaration. It is noted in the DAS addendum that operational
carbon, energy strategy, embodied carbon, water management, circular economy/
waste management and socio-economic aspects will be addressed in more detail
during future design stages. Whilst it is acknowledged that some of the details of the
scheme can only be developed at later design stages, many of the principles need to
be in place at an early stage of design to enable this to be possible.
19.9

Specifically, the fabric first approach is supported, and a level of detail has been
provided following previous comments as to how the façade design responds to
orientation and overheating/ventilation.

19.10 The potable water target aligns with the Checklist’s 2050 targets. Rainwater and
greywater harvesting have been explored following initial Officer comments but
deemed not viable for the scheme.
19.11 The applicant has addressed previous comments with regards to Circular Economy
principles by providing further detail on responsible sourcing of materials, use of
recycled, reusable or local materials, and adaptable design.

Page 292

19.12 The scheme appears to be meeting the highest targets of the Sustainability Checklist
in terms of waste management. The responses to the Checklist suggest that 95% of
the construction waste produced during the demolition, excavation and construction
processes will be recycled or reused. This approach is welcomed, and the 95% target
will be secured through the recommended condition.
19.13 The project is targeted to be an Air Quality neutral development and mitigation
measures as described in the District’s Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy are being
adhered to.
19.14 Therefore, whilst not overly ambitious, the proposal is considered to be a sustainable
form of development and is therefore compliant with Policy SP 1 and DM 20 of the
LPSV and Policy CP5 of the adopted Local Plan. The applicant is encouraged, through
the recommended conditions, to enhance the sustainability credentials of the
development through the next stages of design.
20.

Flood Risk and SuDs

20.1

There is a clear need to ensure that surface and foul water drainage and treatment
occur effectively and for the protection of both human health and the environment. This
includes the need to ensure that development will not cause pollution to water bodies
or controlled water, including ground water.

20.2

Policy DM 18 of the LPSV sets out that it is expected that applications for planning
permission will ensure that there is adequate surface water, foul drainage and
treatment capacity to serve their development. This requirement is also reflected in
Policy U2A of the ALP.

20.3

The application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and a
Below Ground Drainage Strategy. Further information was submitted by the applicant
during the course of the application in relation to the greenfield run-off rate, water
quality and landscape features, following concerns raised by EFDC and ECC.

20.4

The EFDC Land Drainage Team has reviewed the information and has no objection in
principle, subject to the recommended condition requiring the approval of a detailed
surface water drainage scheme, prior to commencement.

20.5

The ECC SuDS Team acts as the Lead Local Flood Authority. Similarly to the EFDC
Land Drainage Team, based on the FRA and the surface water drainage strategy the
team has no objection to the application subject to the imposition of planning
conditions.

20.6

Thames Water has been consulted as part of this application as a key utilities provider.
In terms of foul water disposal, Thames Water has raised no objection to the
application.

Page 293

20.7

Subject to the imposition of appropriately worded planning conditions the proposal is
compliant with Policy DM 18 of the LPSV and with Policy U2A of the ALP.

21.

Ground contamination

21.1

The LPSV seeks to ensure that new forms of development avoid unacceptable risks
from pollution to humans and other species. Paragraph C of Policy DM 21 of the LPSV
requires that potential contamination risks are properly considered and adequately
mitigated before development proceeds. Policy RP4 of the ALP is consistent with this
approach, whereby potential contaminants are required to be identified and if
necessary, appropriately mitigated.

21.2

The application is accompanied by a ground investigation report, which considers the
potential contamination risks present on the site.

21.3

The reports conclude that elevated concentrations of PAHs, TPHs and sulphides were
found at shallow sampling levels. Gas monitoring was only undertaken during high
atmospheric and at least two further visits should be undertaken during falling
atmospheric pressure – this will be required to discharge the recommended condition.

21.4

The Council’s Geotechnical Team have considered the reports and agree with their
findings that there will be no significant risk to human health as a result of the proposal.
A condition is recommended to secure Remediation Method Statements and
Verification reports. These reports must also include chemical analysis at a deeper
level in areas of identified contamination.

21.5

The standard condition suggested by the Geo-technical Team seeks to ensure that if
discoloured or odorous soils are encountered on the application site, or if hazardous
materials or significant quantities of non-soil forming materials found during
development works, then development will cease until the risks are fully investigated
and evaluated. If necessary, an appropriate scheme to mitigate the potential risks will
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

21.6

The proposed condition will ensure compliance with the provisions of paragraph C of
policy DM 21 of the LPSV and with Policy RP4 of the ALP.

22.

Historic Environment – Archaeology

22.1

The LPSV recognises that Epping Forest District benefits from a rich and varied historic
environment, including historic remains. Where proposals could potentially affect
archaeological remains, preference is given to their preservation since these remains
are finite and irreplaceable.

22.2

Policy DM 7 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that heritage assets (including archaeological
remains) are conserved or enhanced in a manner appropriate to their significance.

Page 294

22.3

To investigate potential impacts on the historic environment the application is
supported by a Heritage Statement which assess the potential for archaeological
deposits within the site.

22.4

The historic maps have shown that there has been little disturbance within the car park
area of the application site since at least the mid nineteenth century. The proximity of
the application area to the medieval centre of Epping, and the existence of buildings
within the site on the First Edition Ordnance Survey Map of 1871 indicates the potential
for surviving medieval and post medieval archaeological remains being impacted by
the proposed development. Given these findings, the Historic Environment Team at
ECC have recommended a further scheme of archaeological investigation be secured
by condition.

22.5

Subject to these conditions, the proposed development is compliant with Policy DM 7
of the LPSV and the proposals would conserve any heritage assets of archaeological
significance.

23.

Ecology

23.1

The LPSV sets out that new development proposals should seek to deliver a net biodiversity gain in addition to protecting existing habitats and species. This approach is
set out in Policy DM 1 of the LPSV. Policy NC3 of the adopted Local Plan is broadly
consistent with this approach, whereby development proposals which may cause harm
to established habitats are required to provide a replacement, alternative habitats of at
least equivalent wildlife value. Additionally, Policy CP1 of the adopted Local Plan seeks
to avoid or to minimise potential environmental impacts of development proposals.

23.2

The application is accompanied by an Ecological Assessment within the EIA which
sets out the baseline ecology of the application site and assesses the potential impacts
of the development and mitigation and enhancement measures which may be
required.

23.3

Baseline ecological surveys

23.4

The findings of the Habitats Survey demonstrate that there is a single native hedgerow
present around the northern boundary of the Site, which is identified as a Priority
habitat. The presence (or likelihood) of both pipistrelles and brown long eared bats
roosting in existing buildings has been identified.

23.5

Impacts, mitigation and enhancement measures

23.6

The construction of the development proposal has the potential to cause harm to
existing habitats on the site and therefore it is recommended that a planning condition
is attached to the application to ensure that a Construction Environment Management
Plan (CEMP) is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
prior to the commencement of works.

Page 295

23.7

Similarly to the construction phase, the operational phase of the development and its
potential impacts on habitats will need to addressed in a Landscape and Ecology
Mitigation and Management Plan (LEMP). This can be secured through the use of a
planning condition.

23.8

A native hedgerow runs along the northern boundary of the St John’s Road Site. This
hedgerow is species poor but dominated by native species (hawthorn, blackthorn and
tree species like sycamore Acer pseudoplatanus and ash). Some non-native species
are present. This hedgerow is identified as being a Priority habitat, therefore the LPA
has a biodiversity duty to conserve this habitat. The retention of this hedge is therefore
supported.

23.9

The Ecological Assessment advises the proposals will result in the loss of bat roosts
(day roosts for very low numbers of Common Pipistrelle and Single Brown Long Eared
bat from three existing buildings). Therefore, a European Protected Species Mitigation
licence from Natural England will be required for these European Protected Species to
lawfully complete the works. Mitigation will be included within the scheme including
placement of bat boxes.

23.10 Furthermore, the mitigation measures identified should be secured and implemented
in full. This is necessary to conserve and enhance protected and Priority Species. This
includes precautionary measures for common toad, hedgehogs (including hedgehog
holes), and nesting birds.
23.11 The ES demonstrates that a biodiversity net gain will be achieved through a
biodiversity roof, five bird nesting boxes installed on site and new planting. A condition
is recommended to ensure that enhancement measures are to be outlined and secured
through the approval of a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy.
23.12 Overall, in terms of ecology, the proposal would be in accordance with policy DM 1 of
the LPSV is also compliant with Policies NC3 and CP1 of the ALP
24.

Infrastructure

24.1

In order to deliver the sustainable and balanced growth which has been identified in
the LPSV, significant investment in infrastructure is required to meet the needs of
residents and businesses.

24.2

Infrastructure includes a wide variety of elements including transport, utilities, flood and
surface water management, open space and social and community infrastructure.

24.3

To outline the infrastructure requirements which are necessary to meet the needs of
the growth outlined in the Plan, the Council has complied an Infrastructure Delivery
Plan (IDP). The IDP identifies:


The organisation responsible for delivering each piece of infrastructure;

Page 296



The period over which the relevant investment will be required; and



The cost of each item and how it is going to be funded.

24.4

The IDP has been developed in consultation and cooperation with infrastructure
providers and will ensure that infrastructure is delivered in a timely, predictable and
effective manner. The IDP has also considered high level issues of viability and
therefore delivery of policy compliant new development. The IDP is split into
development areas and identifies the various interventions necessary within each
area.

24.5

A number of Active Transport Improvements i.e cycle and footpath improvements are
identified within the IDP and the value of these have been apportioned between
proposed developments within Epping. The consideration for St John’s should also
include Bakers Lane and Cottis given it’s the proposed residential ‘donor site’. The
value of these works is £183,264.

24.6

ECC Highways and Transportation identified a contribution of £200,000 for
improvements to bus services through and around Epping to support the promotion of
sustainable forms of transport.

24.7

Potential Highway Works are identified within the IDP for Epping with a site
apportionment detailing how the cost will be spread over a number of schemes. In this
case it is appropriate to apply that apportioned to St Johns, Bakers Lane and Cottis
Lane to St John’s given it is the proposed residential ‘donor site’. This total
apportionment would therefore be £321,608. Given the current uncertainty regarding
the implementation of the identified highway schemes it is proposed that this is partly
off-set with the ECC Bus contribution thus reducing the contribution to £121,608.

24.8

Open Space and Green Infrastructure requirements are identified in the IDP alongside
the deficient in local park provision set out within the Epping Forest Open Space
Strategy 2017. The identified projects have been apportioned using the same method
as the Active Transport Improvements. A contribution value of £674,217 has been
identified. This will include a contribution to the Lower Swaines improvement works
being taken forward by the Epping Playground Association to enable the playground
upgrade to be delivered.

24.9

ECC Infrastructure Planning confirmed the following requirements to mitigate the
impact of the increase resident population:


Early Years and Childcare – £53,617



Primary Education - £178,724



Secondary Education – £164,048



Libraries – £14,160

Page 297

24.10 NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group undertook a Healthcare Impact
Assessment to provide the basis for a developer contribution towards capital funding
to increase capacity within the GP Catchment Area. The developments would have an
impact on primary healthcare provision in the area and a contribution towards the
required funding for the provision of capacity to absorb the patient growth generated
by these developments will mitigate this. A contribution of £89,880 has been
calculated.
24.11 Subject to the infrastructure interventions as noted in the previous section being
secured through appropriate planning obligations, the proposal is compliant with policy
D1 of the LPSV.
25.

Employment and skills

25.1

Part (v) of paragraph F of Policy SP 2 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that suitable training
and skills development opportunities are provided for local residents to equip them with
the skills they need to access future employment opportunities.

25.2

The Council is committed to ensuring that local residents get the best possible
opportunities for training and employment in relation to this development proposal and
as such an employment and skills plan (ESP) is proposed to be secured via legal
obligation. The ESP will ensure liaison with the Council on employment opportunities,
provide training opportunities and seek appropriate level of apprentices are provided
as part of the construction works.

25.3

Subject to the delivery of the measures identified in the ESP, Officers consider that the
development proposal will provide for significant opportunities for new jobs,
apprenticeships and training for the local community.

25.4

The precise details of these schemes can be secured through a planning obligation as
part of the section 106 legal agreement. Subject to the inclusion of the proposed
planning obligation, the proposal will be compliant with Part (v) of Paragraph F of Policy
SP 2 of the LPSV and will provide significant economic benefits to the local area.

26.

EQUALITY DUTIES AND HUMAN RIGHTS

26.1

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires that a public authority must exercise its
functions having due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance
equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
(age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief;
sex; and sexual orientation) and persons who do not share it, and foster good relations
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do
not.

26.2

In making this recommendation, due regard has been given to this Public Sector
Equality Duty and the relevant protected characteristics. It is considered that there will

Page 298

be no specific implications and that, if approving or refusing this proposal, the Council
will be acting in compliance with its duties.
26.3

The Human Rights Act 1998 makes it unlawful for a public authority to act in a way
which is incompatible with any of the Convention rights protected by the Act unless it
could not have acted otherwise. Careful consideration has been given to the rights set
out in the European Convention on Human Rights, in particular Article 6 (right to a fair
trial); Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life; Article 14 (prohibition of
discrimination); and Article 1 of the First Protocol (right to peaceful enjoyment of
possessions).

26.4

The Council is of the opinion that the recommendation does not interfere with any such
rights except insofar as is necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others. The
Council is permitted to control the use of property in accordance with the public interest
and the recommendation is considered a proportionate response to the submitted
application based upon the considerations set out in this report.

27.

CONCLUSION

27.1

In conclusion, the starting point for determining this application is development plan.
Determinations must be made in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. The tilted balance identified in Para 11(d)
of the NPPF is engaged, which provides that permission should be granted unless the
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

27.2

In assessing the principle of the development against the adopted and emerging
Development Plan, the scheme proposes the re-use of brownfield land, within an
accessible and highly sustainable town centre location. The site is located within Flood
Zone 1 and is at low risk from all sources of flooding.

27.3

The site is allocated for redevelopment within the LPSV for a mixed use, including
approximately 34 residential dwellings. The main modifications to the LPSV set out
that this mix of uses should contain a leisure centre. The application proposes a wholly
residential use. As set out in this report, the alternative provision of a leisure centre at
the Baker’s Lane site instead of the St John’s site is acceptable – the intention of the
LPSV policies to provide additional town centre commercial uses will still be fulfilled,
albeit not in the manner originally envisaged within the LPSV. Given this, the use of
the St John’s site solely for residential uses is acceptable.

27.4

Looking at the wider context, the three residential and two commercial developments
proposed by the Applicant are to be phased to enable the sequential delivery of the
required facilities to enable wider development. The first phase will see the MSCP
constructed on Cottis Lane, thus releasing Bakers Lane for redevelopment. The new
Epping Leisure Centre can then be constructed on Bakers Lane releasing the existing
Sports Centre site for residential development.

Page 299

27.5

On the basis of this assessment, it is considered that proposed development is
compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan and the LPSV in relation to
the principle of use proposed on each site

27.6

Turning to other relevant material considerations, it is recognised that under the
Habitats Regulations, the Epping Forest SAC (“EFSAC) is classified as a ‘European
Site’ and applications for planning permission that are likely, either alone or in
combination with other plans or projects, to have a significant effect on the EFSAC
must be subject to an assessment, known as an Appropriate Assessment ("AA"). Harm
can result from recreational pressure, resulting from additional residential units, and
atmospheric pressure, arising from increased vehicular movements.

27.7

The proposed residential development on Land at St John’s Road, Epping Sports
Centre and Land and part of Civic Offices which propose residential development, will
pay a financial contribution of £352 per dwelling as noted in the SAMM strategy,
secured through the S106 agreement. It can therefore be concluded, beyond a
reasonable scientific doubt, that there will be no harm to the integrity of the EFSAC as
a result of recreational pressure.

27.8

In terms of atmospheric pressure, the Annual Average Daily Traffic has been modelled
for the proposed scenario and considered through the Local Plan air quality model for
the EFSAC, so that a direct comparison can be made with the modelling undertaken
for the Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy. It has been concluded that, subject to the
suitable delivery of the required parking provision on each of the five development sites
as well as a suitable Car Park Management Plan to raise awareness of the electric
charging facilities available and the payment of the necessary financial contributions,
the Council as the competent authority can conclude beyond a reasonable scientific
doubt that the development proposed by each of these applications will not lead to an
adverse effect on the integrity of the EFSAC.

27.9

Each of the five applications include an Environmental Statement (ES). The ESs set
out a baseline for the existing environmental conditions in the areas affected and then
identify likely significant effects (including possible cumulative effects) and mitigation.
Significant effects on climate change are identified, which is to be addressed via
embedded and operational mitigation to reduce carbon emissions. Significant
beneficial effects arise from new employment opportunities and the provision of new
and improved sports facilities. Other residual effects are to be addressed via
Construction Management Plans, Landscape and Ecological Management Plans
secured by planning condition. Overall, subject to the appropriate mitigation secured
via condition and the S106 agreement, the environmental impact of the schemes is
acceptable.

27.10 In terms of the proposed housing mix, the delivery of the larger units as identified within
the SHMAA would result in a particular approach to built typology and urban form. In
limited specific town centre locations with close proximity to sustainable transport
options, such as this, a more nuanced approach should to be taken to ensure that the
delivery of homes both private and affordable are maximised and that the objective of

Page 300

mixed and balanced communities are achieved on space constrained sites. The
proposed housing mix is supported in this location as suitable sites to accommodate a
high proportion of 1 and 2 bed units. This will help diversify local housing stock while
maximising housing delivery within a sustainable location. The proposed tenure mix,
including Built to Rent at St John’s, is acceptable.
27.11 The applicant has put forward an offer of 25% provision of on-site affordable housing
at each of the residential sites. As this falls below the policy requirement of 40%, a
Financial Viability Assessment (FVA) has been submitted, which has been scrutinised
by an independent assessor g on behalf of the Council. The conclusion of the
independent assessment is that a policy compliant provision of affordable housing
would not be viable. The Council’s assessors consider that a 25% provision would
represent a break-even position. Given this, the provision of 25% of units on site as
affordable would be acceptable. A review mechanism will be included within the S106
agreement to ensure that any improvement in viability is secured by the Council.
27.12 The St John’s site lies partly within the Epping Conservation area, a designated
heritage asset. As outlined in the preceding sections, the proposal involves the
conversion of the locally listed Cookery School Building, conversion of the locally listed
Centrepoint Building and extensions to locally listed cottages at No. 19 & 21. The
locally listed buildings are ‘non-designated heritage assets’ as per the NPPF. The
Conservation Team have reviewed the proposals and raise objection to the scale,
density and typology of the proposal in terms of impact on the conservation area.
Further harm is identified in relation to the impact on the locally listed buildings through
the infill extensions. Paragraph 202 of the NPPF states that, where a development
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated
heritage asset (in this case the conservation area), this harm should be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its
optimum viable use. In this case, the significant level of benefit arising from the re-use
of the buildings, in terms of the long-term future of the buildings and the contribution to
the housing supply, outweighs the less than substantial harm which has been
identified. Therefore, subject to relevant conditions, the impact on the heritage assets
is acceptable.
27.13 In terms of design quality, the proposed spatial strategy, focused around a pedestrian
‘heart’ at the centre of the site is supported. The scale of the proposed buildings and
the massing strategy, with taller buildings sited further from the road, is acceptable.
The proposed landscaping is sufficient to soften the visual impact of the buildings and
the associated hardstanding, whilst providing high quality and varied play space
throughout the site in accessible and attractive locations. Subject to conditions relating
to bin storage arrangements and cycle parking, the proposed servicing arrangements
are acceptable.
27.14 Each new home provided as part of the proposal would benefit from an acceptable
level of privacy internally and externally, adequate outlook, and an acceptable level of
light. Layouts of the homes are rational and useable.

Page 301

27.15 With regard to the impact on surrounding residential properties, the most affected
properties are 13-16 Bodley Close and 127 High Street. The properties experience
existing high levels of daylight and sunlight due to an absence of development. Looking
in detail at the room layouts and uses, the impact on light to those properties is, overall,
acceptable in this context. This is particularly the case when considering the need to
optimise the density of the proposed development and to make best use of land
available for housing. The same conclusions are drawn with regard to the impact of
the proposal on outlook. In terms of privacy and overlooking, subject to mitigation
including the use of obscure glazing and appropriate landscaping along site
boundaries, the proposal would be acceptable. The proposal is therefore compliant
with paragraph H of Policy DM 9.
27.16 Furthermore, the proposed residential use, and the siting of the buildings in relation to
the neighbouring properties, is such that there would not be an unacceptable increase
in noise experienced by the neighbouring properties. In addition, there will be no undue
harm caused to the amenity of the surrounding properties as a result of lighting, subject
to the recommended conditions. Based on the evidence provided by the applicant and
subject to the recommended conditions, the proposal will not cause significant harm to
air quality in relation to human health.
27.17 The predicted traffic generation resulting from the proposal would not have a significant
impact on the local highway network and is acceptable. The extent of car and cycle
parking is acceptable and, in combination with the submitted Travel Plan, would help
reduce reliance on the private car and transition to sustainable modes of travel.
27.18 Generally, the scheme is compliant with the sustainability policies in the emerging
Local Plan. The design incorporates a ‘fabric-first’ approach to sustainability, potable
water targets are acceptable, 95% of construction waste will be recycled or re-use and
the project will be air quality neutral. Therefore, whilst not overly ambitious, the
proposal is considered to be a sustainable form of development and is therefore
compliant with Policy SP 1 of the LPSV and Policy CP5 of the adopted Local Plan. In
addition, in terms of energy consumption and C02 emissions, the proposal is compliant
with Policy DM 20 of the LPSV.
27.19 The application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and a
Below Ground Drainage Strategy. Further information was submitted by the applicant
during the course of the application in relation to the greenfield run-off rate, water
quality and landscape features, following concerns raised by EFDC and ECC. The
EFDC Land Drainage Team and the ECC SuDS Team have reviewed the information
and have no objection, subject to the recommended condition requiring the approval
of a detailed surface water drainage scheme. The proposal is therefore compliant with
Policy DM 18 of the LPSV and with Policy U2A of the ALP.
27.20 A ground investigation report has been submitted with the application, which considers
the potential contamination risks present on the site. The Council’s Geotechnical Team
have considered the reports and agree that there will be no significant risk to human

Page 302

health as a result of the proposal. A condition is recommended to secure Remediation
Method Statements and Verification reports.
27.21 The application is also supported by a Heritage Statement which assess the potential
for archaeological deposits within the site. Subject to conditions requiring a further
scheme of archaeological investigation, the proposals would conserve any heritage
assets of archaeological significance and are compliant with Policy DM 7 of the LPSV.
27.22 The Ecological Assessment within the submitted ES sets out the baseline ecology of
the application site and assesses the potential impacts of the development and
mitigation and enhancement measures which may be required. Overall, in terms of
ecology, subject to conditions, the proposal would be in accordance with policy DM 1
of the LPSV and Policies NC3 and CP1 of the ALP.
27.23 Suitable contributions have been secured to meet the needs for education and health
facility capacity improvements alongside funding for a range of sustainable transport
measures.
27.24 Overall, the proposal is for the sustainable re-use of brownfield land, in general
accordance with the site allocations within the LPSV. The proposal would provide
additional housing which is a benefit that should be afforded significant weight in the
planning balance, particularly in light of the acute housing shortage within the District.
The scheme would also provide a significant amount of affordable housing, albeit
noting that full policy compliance would not be viable. In terms of the quality of the
proposed homes, these would meet prescribed space standards, accessibility
standards, benefit from amenity space and include a large proportion of dual aspect
flats.
27.25 The proposals would integrate satisfactorily with the surrounding townscape in terms
of scale, massing and overall design. Less than substantial harm to the conservation
area and locally listed buildings has been identified, but, as per the guidance in the
NPPF, this harm is outweighed by the significant benefit of bringing the buildings back
into long-term viable uses, and the public benefit resulting from the provision of new
and affordable homes. The proposals would have an acceptable impact on the living
conditions of neighbouring properties in terms of light, privacy and outlook.
Furthermore, no undue harm would arise from noise or light emitted from the
development.
27.26 In terms of transport, the extent of car and cycle parking is acceptable and, in
combination with the submitted Travel Plan, would help reduce reliance on the private
car and the transition to sustainable modes of travel. The sustainability aspects of the
proposal are in compliance with policy.
27.27 The application demonstrates that the environmental impact of the proposal would be
acceptable, subject to appropriate mitigation. There would be no adverse effect on the
integrity of the EFSAC, no air quality degradation, no increased flood risk and no
significant risk to human health from contamination. Archaeological and ecological

Page 303

assets would be safeguarded as a result of the proposal, and biodiversity net gain
secured.
27.28 Taken together, the application has demonstrated its compliance with the
requirements of the LPSV, the Adopted Local Plan and the NPPF. It is therefore
recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the imposition of suitably
worded planning conditions and obligations.

Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest:
Planning Application Case Officer: Nick Finney
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564 371
or if no direct contact can be made please email:
contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Appendix 1 – Planning conditions and informatives
Appendix 2 – Neighbour representations summary
Appendix 3 – Statutory and technical consultee responses
Appendix 4 – QRP feedback summary

Page 304

Page 305

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 – St Johns Road Planning Conditions and Informatives (EPF/0918/21)
ST JOHNS ROAD – EPF/0917/21

1

Time Limit
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2

M4 - Approved Drawings

Page 307

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and retained strictly in accordance with the following approved plans:
Existing Site Plan
Site Demolition Plan
Retained Buildings - Existing Ground Floor
Retained Buildings - Existing First Floor
Retained Buildings - Existing Roof
Former Cookery School - Existing Elevations
Existing Cottages - Existing Elevations
Former School - Existing Elevations
Proposed Site Layout - Levels 00 - 01
Proposed Site Layout - Levels 02 - 03
Proposed Site Layout - Levels 04 - RF
Proposed Site Sections - Sheet 1
Proposed Site Sections - Sheet 2
Proposed Site Sections - Sheet 3

19756-0001
19756-0011
36449b_01_P
36449b_02_P
36449b_03_P
36449b_04_P
36449b_05_P
36449b_06_P
EDS_S1-CW-XX-00-DR-A-0300
EDS_S1-CW-XX-ZZ-DR-A-0301
EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0302
EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0303
EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0304
EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0305

Rev 07
Rev 02

P9
P9
P9
P5
P6
P4

Page 308

Bay Elevations - Sheet 1
Bay Elevations - Sheet 2
Bay Elevations - Sheet 3
Bay Elevations - Sheet 4
Bay Elevations - Sheet 5
Bay Elevations - Sheet 6
Bay Elevations – Sheet 7
Block A - Proposed Demolition Plans
Block A - Proposed Demolition Elevations
Block A - Proposed Floor Plans
Block A - Proposed Elevations
Block B - Proposed Lower Ground Floor Plan
Block B - Proposed Upper Ground Floor Plan
Block B - Proposed First Floor Plan
Block B - Proposed Second Floor Plan
Block B – Proposed Third Floor Plan
Block B - Proposed Elevations Sheet 1
Block B - Proposed Elevations Sheet 2
Block B - Proposed Elevations Sheet 3
Block C - Proposed Floor Plans – Sheet 1
Block C - Proposed Floor Plans - Sheet 2
Block C - Proposed Elevations
Block E - Proposed Floor Plans - Sheet 1
Block E - Proposed Floor Plans - Sheet 2
Block E - Proposed Floor Plans - Sheet 3
Block E - Proposed Elevations
Block F - Ground Floor Plan
Block F - First Floor Plan
Block F - Proposed Second + Third Floor Plan

EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0306
EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0307
EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0308
EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0309
EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0310
EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0311
EDS_S1-CW-S-XX-DR-A-0312
EDS_S1-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0215
EDS_S1-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0216
EDS_S1-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0310
EDS_S1-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0311
EDS_S1-CW-BB-LG-DR-A-0320
EDS_S1-CW-BB-UG-DR-A-0321
EDS_S1-CW-BB-01-DR-A-0322
EDS_S1-CW-BB-02-DR-A-0323
EDS_S1-CW-BB-03-DR-A-0324
EDS_S1-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0325
EDS_S1-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0326
EDS_S1-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0327
EDS_S1-CW-BC-XX-DR-A-0330
EDS_S1-CW-BC-XX-DR-A-0331
EDS_S1-CW-BC-XX-DR-A-0332
EDS_S1-CW-BE-XX-DR-A-0350
EDS_S1-CW-BE-XX-DR-A-0351
EDS_S1-CW-BE-XX-DR-A-0352
EDS_S1-CW-BE-XX-DR-A-0353
EDS_S1-CW-BF-XX-DR-A-0360
EDS_S1-CW-BF-XX-DR-A-0361
EDS_S1-CW-BF-XX-DR-A-0362

P4
P4
P4
P4
P4
P5
P2
P1
P1
P5
P4
P7
P7
P7
P7
P7
P6
P5
P4
P5
P5
P5
P6
P6
P6
P4
P9
P9
P9

Block F - Fourth Floor Plan
Block F - Proposed Roof Plan
Block F - Elevations Sheet 1
Block F - Elevations Sheet 2
Block G - Proposed Floor Plans
Block G - Proposed Elevations
Block H – Proposed Plans and Elevations
Block I – Proposed Plans and Elevations
Sub-Station – Proposed Plans and Elevations

Page 309

Bin Store – Proposed Plans and Elevations
St John’s – Proposed Site Layout Alterations Sketch
General Arrangement Plan
Existing Condition
Vegetation Retention and Removal Plan
Roof Level - General Arrangement Plan
Site Sections
Boundary Condition A-AA
Boundary Condition B-BB
Boundary Condition C-CC
Boundary Condition D-DD
Boundary Condition E-EE
Boundary Condition F-FF
Boundary Condition G-GG
Planting Plan Ground Level - 1 of 2
Planting Plan 2 of 2
Planting Plan - Roof Level
Typical Detail - Tree Protective Fence
Typical Detail - Tree Pit in Soft

EDS_S1-CW-BF-XX-DR-A-0363
EDS_S1-CW-BF-XX-DR-A-0364
EDS_S1-CW-BF-XX-DR-A-0365
EDS_S1-CW-BF-XX-DR-A-0366
EDS_S1-CW-BG-XX-DR-A-0370
EDS_S1-CW-BG-XX-DR-A-0371
EDS_S1-CW-BH-XX-DR-A-0380
EDS_S1-CW-BI-XX-DR-A-0390
EDS_S1-CW-SS-XX-DR-A03100
EDS_S1-CW-S-XX-DR-A-03110
EDS_S1-CW-S-00-DR-A-SK-030
1270-01-001
1270-01-002
1270-01-003
1270-01-004
1270-01-012
1270-01-020
1270-01-021
1270-01-022
1270-01-023
1270-01-024
1270-01-025
1270-01-026
1270-01-200
1270-01-201
1270-01-202
1270-01-400
1270-01-401

P9
P8
P7
P6
P9
P8
P4
P3
P1
P1
P5
P2
P2
P3
P2
P2
P3
P2
P3
P2
P3
P2
P4
P3
P3
P1
P1

Page 310

Typical Detail - Tree Pit in Hard
Typical Detail - Biodiversity Roof & Blue Roof
Typical Detail - High Brick Wall with Metal Railing
Typical Detail - Low Brick Wall
Typical Detail - High Brick Wall with Perforation
Typical Detail - Yorkstone steps
Surface Detail - Brick Paving Type 1
Surface Detail - Block Paving
Surface Detail - Granite Sett
Surface Detail - Resin Bound Gravel to Woodland Path
Surface Detail - Drainage Rill
Surface Detail - Manhole Covers
Surface Detail - Kerbs and Edges
Street Furniture Detail - Straight Timber Bench with Backrest
Street Furniture Detail - Integrated Timber Bench and Table
Street Furniture Detail - Cycle Stand (+Lower Plate for Cargo Bikes)
Street Furniture Detail - Timber Platform Bench
Street Furniture Detail - Seating Steps
Street Furniture Detail - Litter & Recycling Bin

1270-01-402
1270-01-403
1270-01-404
1270-01-405
1270-01-406
1270-01-407
1270-01-420
1270-01-421
1270-01-422
1270-01-423
1270-01-424
1270-01-425
1270-01-426
1270-01-440
1270-01-441
1270-01-442
1270-01-443
1270-01-444
1270-01-445

P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). For the avoidance of doubt
and to ensure the proposal is built in accordance with the approved plans.

3

Finished Floor Levels
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works, details of the finished floor levels of the buildings of the development hereby permitted
in relation to existing ground levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that construction is carried out at a suitable level having regard to drainage, access, the appearance of the development, the
amenities of neighbouring occupiers and existing trees, hedgerows and other landscaping, in accordance with Policies T 1, DM 9, DM 18 and
DM 19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with Policies DBE2, DBE3, DBE4, DBE9, LL11 and RP3 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.

Design
4

H1 – Details/Samples of External Materials

Page 311

Prior to the commencement of development above slab level, detailed drawings and samples of all materials (or documentary and photographic
details where samples are unavailable) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development, including any external cladding
and internal cladding that is decorative and visible externally, decorative fascia or panels, balustrades and glazing, hereby permitted, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details / samples. Please do not send materials to the Civic Offices. Materials should be kept on site and arrangements made with the planning
officer for inspection.
Detailed drawings and samples shall include:











Principal features on the facades e.g. bay studies (1:50 @ appropriate paper size)
Details of each envelope / roof type (1:20 @A3)
Detailed brick elements including mortar joint profile (1:20 @A3)
Details of glazing and curtain walling systems including any manifestation (1:20 @A3)
Key junctions/bonds between materials/finishes (1:20 @A3)
Ground floor frontages including entrances, glazing and signage zones, infill panels on plant rooms/bike stores etc, shopfronts or
commercial/workspace frontages (1:50 @ appropriate paper size)
Parapets, roof edges, rooftop plant screening, lift over runs etc (1:20 @A3)
Elevational location of all joints e.g. structural, movement, panels (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
Elevational location of all openings in envelope e.g. ventilation grilles, bird & bat boxes (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
Elevational location of all items which are fixed to the façade e.g. fins/louvres, rainwater pipes, lighting, CCTV, alarms including any
provision for cable runs boxes (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)












Head, jamb and sill details, including profiles, for typical openings and all ground floor entrances and doors to balconies / terraces (1:20
@A3)
Details of key architectural metalwork / screens / gates (1:20 @A3)
Details of balconies and terraces including floor finishes and screening (1:20 @A3)
Balustrade details (1:20 @A3)
Details of soffits and canopies (1:20 @A3)
Details of external stairs (1:50 @A3)
Junctions with neighbouring buildings (1:20 @A3)
External signage details including elevations and sections (1:50 @A3) (excluding signage requiring separate advertisement consent)
Details of green / brown roof system (1:20 @A3)
Any other items not listed but bespoke to building requirement

Page 312

Reason: To ensure a high quality design and satisfactory appearance to the development in the interests of visual amenity of the area, in
accordance with policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF
2021.

5

H2 – Materials
The details of materials to be submitted pursuant to Condition 5 and to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development
hereby permitted shall match (in colour, style, bonding & texture) those shown on plan numbers:
Bay Elevations - Sheet 1
Bay Elevations - Sheet 2
Bay Elevations - Sheet 3
Bay Elevations - Sheet 4
Bay Elevations - Sheet 5
Bay Elevations - Sheet 6
Bay Elevations – Sheet 7
Block A - Proposed Elevations

EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0306
EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0307
EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0308
EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0309
EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0310
EDS_S1-CW-XX-RF-DR-A-0311
EDS_S1-CW-S-XX-DR-A-0312
EDS_S1-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0311

P4
P4
P4
P4
P4
P5
P2
P4

Block B - Proposed Elevations Sheet 1
Block B - Proposed Elevations Sheet 2
Block B - Proposed Elevations Sheet 3
Block C - Proposed Elevations
Block E - Proposed Elevations
Block F - Elevations Sheet 1
Block F - Elevations Sheet 2
Block G - Proposed Elevations
Block H – Proposed Plans and Elevations
Block I – Proposed Plans and Elevations
Sub-Station – Proposed Plans and Elevations
Bin Store – Proposed Plans and Elevations

EDS_S1-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0325
EDS_S1-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0326
EDS_S1-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0327
EDS_S1-CW-BC-XX-DR-A-0332
EDS_S1-CW-BE-XX-DR-A-0353
EDS_S1-CW-BF-XX-DR-A-0365
EDS_S1-CW-BF-XX-DR-A-0366
EDS_S1-CW-BG-XX-DR-A-0371
EDS_S1-CW-BH-XX-DR-A-0380
EDS_S1-CW-BI-XX-DR-A-0390
EDS_S1-CW-SS-XX-DR-A-03100
EDS_S1-CW-S-XX-DR-A-03110

P6
P5
P4
P5
P4
P7
P6
P8
P4
P3
P1
P1

Page 313

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity of the area, in accordance with policy DBE10 of the adopted
Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

6

Acoustic Glazing/Ventilation Performance of Block A
The acoustic performance of the design and construction of the development should be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The
design and construction should provide the performance to provide reasonable resting/sleeping conditions with reference to British Standard
BS8233: 2014 – Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for buildings – Code of practice (or such other standard which may
supersede it from time to time).
All rooms within the development hereby approved shall be provided with sufficient double glazing and acoustically treated trickle ventilators, or
other means of ventilation that will provide adequate ventilation with the windows closed, to ensure that the occupiers are provided with reasonable
resting/sleeping conditions with reference to British Standard BS8233:2014 – Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for buildings
– Code of practice (or such other standard which may supersede it from time to time)
Prior to the commencement of above ground works, details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to
demonstrate that the development hereby permitted will comply with the acoustic glazing and ventilation performance requirements as set out in

the Noise Impact Assessment Technical Report: R8437-8 Rev 0 (24Acoustics: 30th March 2021) in order to achieve the required acoustic and
ventilation performance.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and all acoustic mitigation measures shall be implemented prior to
the occupation of the development and thereafter permanently retained.
Reason: To ensure that the future occupiers are not affected by undue noise nuisance and disturbance in accordance with policies RP5A and
DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and policies DM9 & DM21 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

7

H3 – Boundary Treatment

Page 314

Prior to the commencement of any above ground works of the development herby permitted, a scale plan of not less than 1:100 indicating the
position, design, materials and height and type of boundary treatment to be erected, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. This shall include details of the heights and species of boundary hedgerows to ensure that adequate screening is provided
to future occupiers upon first occupation. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and retained in perpetuity.
Reason: To ensure the safe movement of vehicles between the highway and off-street parking areas and to ensure a satisfactory appearance of
the development, in accordance with Local Plan and Alterations policies ST4 & DBE1 and Submission Version Local Plan (2017) policies T1
(paragraph F) & DM 9, all of which are consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework.

8

External Lighting
Details of any external lighting of the site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority 6 months prior to the
occupation of the development. This information shall include layout and elevation plans with beam orientation, light spill and a schedule of
equipment to be installed (luminaire type, mounting height, aiming angles and luminaire profiles) and details of when all non-essential external
lighting for the development shall be non-illuminated. The lighting shall be installed, maintained and operated in accordance with the approved
details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the use of the lighting does not cause undue nuisance and disturbance to neighbouring properties at unreasonable hours
and in accordance with policies RP5A and DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and policies DM9 & DM21 of the Local Plan
Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Soft/Hard Landscaping/Trees
9

C1 - Retention of Trees and Shrubs

Page 315

If any tree, shrub or hedge shown to be retained in the submitted Arboricultural Report 200660-PD-11 (TMA: March 2021) is removed, uprooted
or destroyed, dies, or becomes severely damaged or diseased during development activities or within 3 years of the completion of the
development, another tree, shrub or hedge of the same size and species shall be planted within 6 months or during the next planting season
(whichever is the sooner) at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. If within a period of
five years from the date of planting any replacement tree, shrub or hedge is removed, uprooted or destroyed, or dies or becomes seriously
damaged or defective another tree, shrub or hedge of the same species and size as that originally planted shall, within 6 months or during the
next planting season (whichever is the sooner), be planted at the same place.
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the existing trees, shrubs or hedges and to ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development, in
accordance with policies LL10 & LL11 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, policies DM3 and DM5 of the Local Plan Submission Version
2017, the NPPF 2021, and Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

10

C3 - Hard and Soft Landscaping
Prior to any above ground works, a scheme of hard and soft landscaping for the site, including details of materials, species and a planting
schedule shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The hard landscaping details shall include:a) details of existing features to be retained;
b) proposed finished levels or contours;
c) hard surfacing materials;
d) means of enclosure;
e) car parking layouts;
f) other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;

Page 316

g) secure cycle storage facilities;
h) refuse facilities;
i) other minor artefacts and structures, including furniture, play equipment, signs, functional services above and below ground (e.g. drainage,
power, communications cables, pipelines) including heating strips, indicating lines, manholes, supports etc.;
j) retained historic landscape features and proposals for restoration where relevant;
k) existing trees and hedgerows to be retained; .
l) soft landscaping details including plans for planting or establishment by any means and full written specifications and schedules of plants,
including species, plant sizes and proposed numbers /densities where appropriate;
m) tree/hedgerow removal;
n) tree planting including species, planting location, timing of planting, specification and maintenance;
o) tree protection measures;
p) programme of management of the soft planting;
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the
occupation of the building or completion of the development, whichever is the sooner. If any plants which within a period of 5 years from the
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To secure the provision and retention of the landscaping in the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with policies
CP2 & LL11 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, policies DM3 and DM5 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, the NPPF 2021, and
Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

11

Soft Landscape
Soft landscape works pursuant to Condition 11 shall comply with the approved planting plans (1270-05-201 P3 and 1270-05-202 P3) and include
planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of
plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate; implementation programme. All planting, seeding or turfing
comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the
buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the

completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species, unless the local planning authority gives written approval to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and landscape treatment of the site. To safeguard the visual character of the
immediate area in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted
Local Plan and Alterations 2006, and the NPPF 2021.

12

C6 - Tree Protection Measures
The development hereby permitted shall proceed in accordance with the terms of the Arboricultural Report 200660-PD-11 (TMA: March 2021).
Its implementation shall include the supervision of the tree protection during the demolition and construction phases by an Arboricultural
Consultant (provided by the applicant with the agreement of the Local Planning Authority).

Page 317

Reason: To protect existing trees during the construction works in order to ensure that the character and amenity of the area are not impaired, in
accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.

13

Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP)
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted (including ground works, vegetation clearance), a construction environmental
management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity)
shall include the following.
(a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
(b) Identification of ""biodiversity protection zones"".
(c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided
as a set of method statements).
(d) Measures to protect badgers from being trapped in open excavations and/or pipe culverts.
(e) The location and timings of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.
(f) The times during which construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee works.
(g) Responsible persons and lines of communication.

(h) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly
competent person.
(i) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To avoid or mitigate the effects of the construction of the development on ecological receptors, in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5
and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

14

Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP)

Page 318

Prior to the first occupation of the development, a landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. The content of the LEMP shall include the following.
(a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
(b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.
(c) Aims and objectives of management.
(d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives. The management plan shall include the long-term design objectives and
management responsibilities and funding for all landscaped areas including Green Infrastructure assets
(e) Prescriptions for management actions.
(f) Prescription of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled forward over a five-year period).
(g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan.
(h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by
the developer with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show
that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and
implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The maintenance
schedule shall be for a minimum period of 5 years and include details of the arrangements for its implementation. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved schedule. The management plan & maintenance schedule shall be carried out in accordance with

the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of the building or completion of the development, whichever is the
sooner.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife
& Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). To ensure habitat enhancement within the
landscape of the development, in accordance with Policies DM 1, DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL7,
LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006, the NPPF 2021 and Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).

Transport
15

Vehicle Turning Areas

Page 319

Prior to the commencement of above ground works, site layout plans that accord with the details shown on the St John’s-Proposed Site Layout
Alterations Sketch shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The site layout plans shall include; raised table
introduced to prioritise pedestrian movement between Blocks B and C; material change/demarcation proposed and large tree removed to prioritise
pedestrian movement adjacent to Block E; and proposed demarcation to indicate pedestrian route at Block G. Prior to the first occupation of the
development the vehicle/cycle parking and turning areas as indicated on the approved plans (and in accordance with the approved details
pursuant to this condition) shall be implemented, hard surfaced, sealed and marked out. The parking and turning areas shall be retained in
perpetuity for their intended purpose.
Reason: To ensure that appropriate parking and turning is provided, in accordance with Policy T 1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017
and with Policy ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

16

Delivery and Servicing Plan
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works for the development hereby permitted, a highways management plan shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The highways management plan shall include the management responsibilities and
maintenance schedule for the private access road; the on-site car and cycle parking; electric vehicle charging points; servicing, loading and

unloading, turning and waiting areas. The management plan shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and its requirements
adhered to thereafter.
Reason: In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and the character and appearance of the development, in accordance with Policies T
1 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policies DBE1, DBE4 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

17

Construction Management Plan
Prior to the commencement of development hereby permitted, a Construction Management/Method Plan and Statement with respect to the
construction phase of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development works shall be
undertaken in accordance with the approved Construction Management/Method Statement. The details shall include:

Page 320

a) Construction vehicle numbers, type and routing;
b) Traffic management requirements, including crossing the public highway and other rights of way;
c) Vehicle parking for site operatives and visitors (inclusive of travel plan measures to ensure town centre visitor parking isn’t utilised for
contractors);
d) Loading/unloading and storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
e) Construction and storage compound areas;
f) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding;
g) Siting and details of wheel washing facilities including location of petrol/oil interceptors in all car parking/washing/ repair facilities;
h) Frequency and method of cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;
i) Minimisation of dust emissions arising from construction activities on site and any temporary access to the public highway;
j) Details of the responsible person (site manager/office) who can be contacted; and
k) A scheme of recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works.
Reason: In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and the character and appearance of the development. To prevent oil-polluted
discharges entering local watercourses. To ensure satisfactory provision in relation to adjoining properties and circulation within the site, in
accordance with Policies T 1 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policies DBE1, DBE4 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan
and Alterations 2006.

18

Vehicle Wheel Washing
Wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for vehicles leaving the site during construction works shall be installed and utilised to clean vehicles
immediately before leaving the site. Any mud or other material deposited on nearby roads as a result of the development shall be removed.
Reason: To avoid the deposit of material on the public highway in the interests of highway safety, in accordance with policy ST4 of the adopted
Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policy T1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021

19

Swept Path Analysis
Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted, swept path assessments for the specified phase of development shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include the following:

Page 321

a) Large car accessing car parking spaces to demonstrate that they can be safely entered and departed from. This should be demonstrated for
the car parking spaces that are in corners and for one midway in a row. This will be necessary for any public or employment car parks;
b) Swept path assessment for a fire tender manoeuvring within the site to demonstrate that a fire tender can safely manoeuvre within to access
all units;
c) Swept path assessment for a refuse vehicle to demonstrate that refuse collection and servicing can take place to serve the development site;
d) Swept path assessments for servicing and delivery vehicles for any commercial land uses to demonstrate that servicing and deliveries can be
accommodated to serve the development site and within the respective land use sites. Thereafter, the development, or the specified phase(s) of
the development (whichever is the sooner) shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public highway and rights of way, in accordance with Policy T 1
of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with Policy ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

20

Sustainability

Prior to the commencement of any above ground works for the development hereby permitted, a method statement that demonstrates the way
in which the development will meet the minimum sustainability levels and standards as set out in the Energy Strategy Report (Elementa: March
2021) and Sustainability Statement (Elementa: March 2021) shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
details shall include both passive and active sustainability measures to be incorporated into the built fabric of the development and those
measures to be carried out during the construction phase of development. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: In the interest of delivering positive sustainability and environmental benefits. To support the move towards a low carbon economy, in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies DM 20 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policy CP8 of the
Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

21

I1 - Sustainable water use

Page 322

Prior to first occupation of the development or its completion, whichever is the sooner, details of measures to be incorporated within the
development to ensure a water efficiency standard of 110 litres (or less) per person per day shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: The District is classed as being in an area of severe water stress and the reduction of water use is therefore required in the interests of
sustainability and in accordance with policy CP2 of the adopted Local Plan 2998 & 2006, Policy DM19 of the Local Plan Submission Version
2017, and the NPPF 2021.

22

Flood Risk and Drainage
No development hereby approved (except demolition and enabling works) shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme has
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The surface water drainage system will be based on the submitted
flood risk assessment (Flood Risk Assessment, Ref 2778-MHT-CV-RP-0001, 26th March 2021, P01) and the Drainage Strategy indicated on
drawing nos. ‘2778-MHT-C-SK017, Revision I04’ and ‘2778-MHT-C-SK018’. Further information required at the detailed design stage must
include but not be limited to the following:









Limiting discharge rates to 4.4/s for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year rate plus 40% allowance for climate change.
All relevant permissions to discharge from the site into any outfall should be demonstrated
Final modelling and calculations for the surface water drainage system demonstrating how all areas of the development are attenuated
for all storms up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change.
Inclusion of an improvement on water quality elements of the design with strong consideration given to a larger area of permeable paving
and rain gardens across the site.
Detailed engineering/construction drawings for the drainage system.
Detailed drainage plan, inclusive of any manholes, piping (including dimensions), storage/conveyance features and any discharge points.
A plan detailing exceedance routes
A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to the approved strategy

Page 323

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding and to prevent the pollution of the water environment, in accordance with policies RP3, RP5
and U3B of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policies DM16, DM18 and DM19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF
2021.

23

Drainage Maintenance 1
Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, a maintenance plan detailing the maintenance arrangements including who is
responsible for different elements of the surface water drainage system and the maintenance activities/frequencies shall be submitted to and
agreed in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to enable the surface water drainage system to function as intended
to ensure mitigation against flood risk, in accordance with policies RP3, RP5 and U3B of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policies DM16,
DM18 and DM19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

24

Ecology
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Measures (detailed in
Section 6.11 of Epping Forest Environmental Impact Assessment ‐ Residential Sites Chapter 6 ‐ Ecology and Biodiversity (Stephenson Halliday:

March 2021)). Prior to the commencement of above ground works a timetable for the implementation of the ecological mitigation measures shall
be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To enable proper consideration of the impact of the development on the contribution of nature conservation interests to the amenity of
the area, in accordance with Policy DM 1 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with CP1 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006,
and the NPPF 2021.

25

Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy

Page 324

A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and priority species shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to above ground works, following the details contained within Section 6.11 of Epping Forest Environmental Impact
Assessment ‐ Residential Sites Chapter 6 ‐ Ecology and Biodiversity (Stephenson Halliday: March 2021). The content of the Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To maintain and improve the biodiversity of the site and to mitigate any impact from the development hereby approved, in accordance
with Policy DM1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

26

Part M4(2) Accessibility standards
The proposed residential units hereby permitted shall be carried out in general accordance with Part M4(2) Category 2 (Accessibility and
Adaptable Dwellings) as set out in the Building Regulations 2010 Access to and Use of Buildings Approved Document M Volume 1: Dwellings.
Prior to occupation of the residential units, details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate

compliance with Part M2(s) Category 2, in particular that a compliant shower room is provided on the entrance level of those properties with 3
bedrooms or more. The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed mix of residential accommodation provides for all new homes to be accessible and adaptable as defined
by the Building Regulations. To comply with Policy H1 of the Local Planning Submission Version 2017 and the NPPF 2021.

Air Quality
27

Ultra Low NOx Boilers Condition
Prior to completion of the development hereby permitted, details of boilers shall be submitted to and approved in writing to the Local Planning Authority.
The boilers shall have dry NOx emissions not exceeding 40 mg/kWh (0%). The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.

Page 325

Reason: To help improve local environmental conditions and limit emissions to air as required by the national planning policy framework. Boilers can
be a significant source of NO2 emissions and worsen local air quality. To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and
Policy T1 and DM22 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017.

28

Electric Charging Points
Prior to the commencement of above ground works, details and location of the parking spaces equipped with active Electric Vehicle Charging
Points (EVCP) must be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall demonstrate that the development
will deliver 100 per cent active ECVPs and shall include:




Location of active charge points
Specification of charging equipment
Operation/management strategy

A management plan for the charging points shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation of the
development. The management plan shall include:




Which parking bays will have active charging provision, including disabled parking bays;
How charging point usage will be charged amongst users and non-users;
Electricity supply availability. The electricity supply should be already confirmed by UK Power Networks.

The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details and retained in perpetuity. Prior to occupation, the application shall
submit confirmation to the Local Planning Authority that the charging points are operational, with active provision. This must be supported by
appropriate evidence.

Page 326

Reason: In the interest of promoting increased choice of sustainable transport options. To encourage the use of electric vehicles in order to
reduce air pollution in the District and help support improvements to Epping Forest SAC in accordance with Policies T1 and DM22 of the
Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Land Contamination
29

G5 - Land Contamination Survey
Prior to the commencement of development hereby permitted (with the exception of demolition works where this is for the reason of making
areas of the site available for site investigation), an assessment of the risks posed by any land contamination shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This assessment must be undertaken by a suitably qualified contaminated land practitioner,
in accordance with British Standard BS 10175: Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites – Code of Practice and the Environment
Agency’s Guidelines for the Land Contamination: Risk Management (LCRM 2020) (or equivalent if replaced), and shall assess any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved
details unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. The assessment shall include: (1) A survey of the extent,
scale and nature of contamination and (2) An assessment of the potential risks to: human health; property (existing or proposed) including
buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland, service lines and pipes; adjoining land; groundwater and surface waters; ecological systems; and
archaeological sites and ancient monuments.

If following the risk assessment (pursuant to the details outlined above) unacceptable risks are identified from land affected by contamination,
no work on any part of the development shall take place, until a detailed land remediation scheme has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s),
the proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of the works to be undertaken including the
verification plan. (The remediation scheme shall be sufficiently detailed and thorough to ensure that after remediation, as a minimum, land
should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990). The development
shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme. Following the completion of the remediation works and prior to the first
occupation of the development, a verification report by a suitably qualified contaminated land practitioner shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policy RP4 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and policy DM21 of the
Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Page 327

30

Archaeological Investigation
No development or preliminary groundworks shall take place until a programme of archaeological investigation has been secure in accordance
with a written scheme of investigation that shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
No development or preliminary groundworks shall take place until the completion of the programme of archaeological investigation identified in
the WSI defined above.
Post excavation analysis, preparation of a full site archive and report ready for deposition at the local museum and submission of a publication
report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted.
A professional team of archaeologists should undertake the archaeological work. The archaeological work will consist of a programme of
archaeological trial trenching within the car park to identify the extent and depth of archaeological deposits followed by open area excavation if
archaeological deposits are identified.

Reason: To ensure adequate opportunity is provided for archaeological research on this historically important site. To comply with Policy DM7 of
the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

31

Historic Environment Recording
No demolition, conversion or alterations shall commence until a programme of historic building recording has been secured in accordance with
a written scheme of investigation (WSI) to be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
No demolition, conversion or alterations shall take place until the satisfactory completion of the recording in accordance with the WSI submitted
and agreed pursuant to this condition.

Page 328

A report detailing the results of the recording programme and confirming the deposition of the archive to an appropriate depository as identified
and agreed in the WSI shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority prior to first occupation of the development. A professional team of
archaeologists should undertake the archaeological work. The archaeological work will consist of a historic building record of the historic buildings
proposed for demolition or conversion.
Reason: To ensure the historic and architectural assets of the building are properly documented and recorded, in accordance with Policies HC10,
HC11 and HC12 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM7 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

32

Windows – Obscure Glazing
OBSCURE GLAZING, BLOCK C
The 4no. windows (ground to third floor) serving the corner bedrooms in the eastern elevation of Block C, closest to the boundary with No. 13
Bodley Close (as shown on plan no. EDS_S1 - CW - BC - XX - DR - A – 033), shall be glazed in obscure glazing and non-opening up to a height
of 1.7 metres. The glazing in these windows shall not be altered to clear glazing without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
To maintain the privacy of adjoining residential occupiers. To comply with Policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9
of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

33

Windows – Obscure Glazing
OBSCURE GLAZING, BLOCK F
The windows (ground to third floor) serving bedrooms and/or bathrooms in the southeast elevation of Block F, closest to the boundary with No.
127 High Street (as shown on plan no. EDS_S1 - CW - BF - XX - DR - A – 0366), shall be glazed in obscure glazing. The glazing in these windows
shall not be altered to clear glazing without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
To maintain the privacy of adjoining residential occupiers. To comply with Policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9
of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

34

Hedgerow Planting

Page 329

Block F/127 High Street
A 1.8m high native hedge shall be planted and retained along the boundary between the boundary adjacent to the southeast elevation of Block
F and No. 127 High Street in order to provide adequate screening to the adjoining neighbouring occupiers. Details shall be submitted and agreed
pursuant to the requirements of Condition 10.
To maintain the privacy of adjoining residential occupiers. To comply with Policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9
of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

35

Plant Noise
The use of any plant which services this development must cease during any period that the rating level of noise (as defined by BS4142:2014)
exceeds the prevailing background noise level at the affected noise sensitive premises. The measurement position and assessment shall be
made according to BS4142:2014, and shall include the cumulative effect of all of the plant on the site.

The cumulative plant noise limit for this site shall not exceed 39dB LAeq, 1hr between 07.00-23.00 hrs, and 32dB LAeq, 15 mins between 23.0007.00 hrs.
Reason: In order to minimise any noise which will affect the amenity of local residents, in accordance with policy DBE1 of the adopted Local
Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

36

Low Frequency Noise
Low frequency, unweighted noise levels should be controlled to a maximum of 50 dB Leq, 63Hz, 5 min and 40 dB Leq, 125Hz, 5 min at the
façades of nearby noise sensitive premises.

Page 330

Reason: In order to minimise the impact of any low frequency noise from music which will affect the amenity of local residents, in accordance
with policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

37

Cycle and Refuse Storage
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works, details of the internal and external refuse collection areas and cycle stores within the
development, or relevant phase of the development, whichever is the sooner, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The details shall include elevation and layout plans at a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 and an alternative refuse strategy for the ‘shared
collection points’ that shows/details the management requirements for these facilities. The development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. In the interest of the character and appearance of the public realm,
neighbouring amenity and the sustainability of the development. To comply with Policies T 1 and D9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017
and with Policies DBE1 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

38

Air Extraction/Ventilation

Notwithstanding the development hereby approved, details of any extract/air conditioning/refrigeration and /or ventilation system proposed for
installation outside of the approved roof plant enclosures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to its
installation within or on any individual unit. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect nearby noise sensitive residential and commercial premises from significant loss of amenity due to noise, in accordance with
policy DBE9 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006, policy DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Informative

Page 331

1

The Local Planning Authority has been positive and proactive in its consideration of this planning application suggesting improvements to the
development during the course of the application. The applicant submitted amended plans and additional and revised information resulting in a
form of development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the District.

2

Bat licence informative - The Environmental Impact Assessment advises the proposals will result in the loss of bat roosts (day roosts for very low
numbers of Common Pipistrelle and Single Brown Long Eared bat from Buildings 3, 4 and 5). Therefore, a European Protected Species Mitigation
licence from Natural England will be required for these European Protected Species to lawfully complete the works. It is recommended that a
copy of the bat mitigation licence is secured under a condition of any consent to be provided to the LPA prior to commencement

3

All reasonable steps to minimise dust emissions from the site shall be employed throughout the demolition and construction phase of the
development.

4

Meanwhile – Any meanwhile activities proposed on this site that fall outside of Permitted Development within the GPDO 2015 (as amended) are
subject to planning permission.

5

Any advertisements and / or signage shall be agreed separately under the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) Regulations
2007.

6

The applicant is advised that no waste materials generated as a result of the proposed demolition and/or construction operations shall be burnt
on the site. All such refuse shall be disposed of by suitable alternative methods.

7

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the Control of Pollution Act 1974 relating to the control of noise on construction and demolition sites.

8

Environmental Protection and Drainage Advisory: The applicant has provided a surface water drainage strategy and the general principles of the
design are acceptable. The Environmental Protection and Drainage Team will require further information/clarification at the discharge of
conditions stage on the following:

Page 332

-

Evidence of the required water quality treatment for the southern part of the access road in line with Chapter 26 of the SuDS Manual.
Details of mitigation measures in place for the overall site in relation to fuel and oil spillage.
Evidence of a permit to discharge into the main river from the Environment Agency.
Details of pump contingency.
Health and safety precautions to be included in relation to the open water features.
Survey of the existing watercourse and its ability to take the additional surface water from the development.
Details of where any flooded volume for the 1 in 100 year plus 40% will be contained within the site as per the planning statement.
A detailed drainage plan must be supplied including details of any interceptors for fuel spillage, silt traps, catch pits, exceedance routing,
in addition to details already covered in the Flood Risk Assessment.

9

It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that before commencement of any works to the public highway, any necessary Agreements under the
Highways Act 1980 are also obtained. Works to the highway will normally require an agreement or agreements, under Section 278 of the
Highways Act, with Highways England and the Local Highway Authority.

10

All work within or affecting the highway is to be laid out and constructed by prior arrangement with, and to the requirements and satisfaction of,
the Highway Authority, details to be agreed before the commencement of works. The applicants should be advised to contact the Development

Management Team by email at development.management@essexhighways.org or by post to: SMO3 - Essex Highways, Unit 36, Childerditch
Industrial Park, Childerditch Hall Drive, Brentwood, Essex, CM13 3HD.

11

The Highway Authority cannot accept any liability for costs associated with a developer’s improvement. This includes design check safety
audits, site supervision, commuted sums for maintenance and any potential claims under Part 1 and Part 2 of the Land Compensation Act
1973. To protect the Highway Authority against such compensation claims a cash deposit or bond may be required.

Page 333

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2
Natural Environment
It is felt that the plans do not encourage or support meaningful green space or provide nature
friendly new homes; there are no green roofs or walls proposed and there appears to be no
provision of wildflower verges or spaces. There are complaints that minimal effort has been made
within the plans to design with the existing natural features. There are suggestions that trees are
preserved wherever possible and that well-established trees be planted along the boundaries in
order to maintain privacy and ensure green space is not adversely altered.
Ecology
It is noted that there is no provision for designing wildlife-friendly buildings displayed e.g. bird and
bat boxes, pollinator and insect-friendly structures, connected spaces for hedgehogs. Nor is there
any evidence of lighting designed to have minimal impact on wildlife.
There are concerns that the wildlife in the area will be severely affected by this development. The
site is believed to be a nesting place for seagulls (which are a protected species), a habitat for
hedgehogs, a bat colony and well-established bat maternity roosts which cannot legally be
disturbed. Concerns are also raised due to the significantly lower number of swifts in the area this
year following works beginning on the site.
Parking
It is widely believe that insufficient car parking has been proposed, in an area where parking is
already an issue, which will result in further pressure on current and new residents’ quality of life.
There are doubts around the presumption that less spaces will discourage private car ownership.
There are questions around how the limited parking spaces would be allocated and where the
overflow of extra vehicles would park as over-parking will cause issues in particular for bin lorries
and emergency services.
It is noted that the on-street residential permit parking is already at capacity and there is a
suggestion to make Bodley Close yellow lined, although it is noted that current restrictions in the
area are rarely enforced.
It is also noted that minimal thought appears to have been given to the needs of disabled drivers and
visitors.
Design
It is widely believed that the design and height of the building is not in keeping with other
developments in the area, the family orientated town of Epping, or its character. There are
suggestions that the development is 3-storeys maximum and that a mixed development of 2-3
bedroom family houses, maisonettes and apartments with amenity spaces would be more
appropriate for the character and requirements of Epping.
Overlooking
There are concerns that a 5-storey building will overlook Crows Rd and its properties, creating
privacy issues for the neighbouring residents in their main living spaces and bedrooms.
Daylight/Sunlight
There are concerns that the building will block out considerable light for current residents causing
them to use artificial light throughout the day and affecting their quality of life.
Noise
There are concerns around the noise caused by construction lorries and the volume of new residents
in the area.

Page 335

1

Appendix 2
Traffic
It is noted that there is only one vehicle entrance to the development, St.John’s Road, which is
described as already being congested with cars and articulated lorries. There are concerns that the
introduction of construction lorries will make the area unsafe, and that further traffic congestion
during and following the works will prove difficult for local residents and businesses.
There is a request that all contractors and consultants involved in the development work closely to
manage traffic and minimise congestion, with regular updates being provided to all residents (via
electronic means) of forthcoming road closures or restrictions.
There are also suggestions that the scheme provides major road improvements in Epping with a
section106 contribution from the developers.
Drainage
There are concerns as the current sewerage drainage system is unable to cope causing regular
issues, and that extra sewers will subsequently exasperate this issue.
There is a claim that the application is incorrect, as the nearest watercourse is at the rear of
30,32,34,36,38 Crows Road, continuing down towards Cobbins Brook, before being piped
underground again – directly next to the boundary of Block C – the Figure 3 Extract Thames Water
Asset Records is old. The surface water course is not featured on the application, only foul sewer is
mentioned.
Air pollution
There are concerns that construction will cause dust and fumes which will worsen the health of
those already in poor-health.
Local Services
There are concerns that a high number of new homes in a small area would create pressure on local
services such as schools, GPs and public transport. It is also noted that there is no Social Housing
proposed in the plans.
Green Infrastructure Strategy
It is felt that the plans fail to meet standards set out in the GI Strategy, e.g. "The built environment
can be enhanced by features such as green roofs, street trees, proximity to woodland, public
gardens and recreational and open spaces. More broadly, green infrastructure exists within a wider
landscape context and can reinforce and enhance local landscape character, contributing to a sense
of place and natural beauty", “The Council's planning policy approach supported by this Strategy
recognises the role of high quality design to bring open space to life and makes it a requirement of
development proposals", and "The aim of the Council is to manage the potential impact of
development on GI with the strategic objective, working in partnership with other groups, of
maintaining and where possible enhancing the ecological, recreational and conservation role of GI
within a wider context".
EFDC Local Plan
It is felt that the plans fail to meet standards set out in the Local Plan (Submission Version), e.g.
"Planning policy, will require planning applicants to take a collaborative, cohesive, coherent,
integrated and proactive approach to the provision of GI.”
Sustainability Guidance
It is felt that the plans fail to meet standards set out in EFDC’s Sustainability Guidance e.g. "Proposals
must be landscape-led from the start, as set out in the EFDC Green Infrastructure Strategy”. The
plans do not achieve the Sustainability Guidance’s Vision and Objectives "To embed a landscape led

Page 336

2

Appendix 2
approach to the design of new Green Infrastructure as part of new development to secure the
delivery of high quality spaces".

Page 337

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3
Epping Forest District Council – Environmental Protection & Drainage
10 September 2021
The Environmental Protection & Drainage Team have lifted previous objection on the basis of
amended design information provided and the proposed planning conditions.

Epping Forest District Council Building Control
8 August 2021
It is advised that early consultation is carried out with Essex Fire and Rescue Service with regards to
B5 of the Building Regulations (Access and facilities for the fire service), to ensure compliant access
can be achieved under the planning approved scheme.
A full Building Regulations application will be required for these works and at that stage will be
subject to assessment for compliance with the Building Regulations.

NHS – West Essex CCG
14 July 2021 / Revised 12/10/21
Existing Healthcare position proximate to the Planning Application site
The proposed developments [EPF/0917,0918,0919/21] are likely to have an impact on the services
of 2 GP practices operating within the vicinity of the application sites. These GP practices do not
have capacity for the additional growth resulting from these developments and cumulative growth
in the area.
The proposed developments will likely have an impact on the NHS funding programme for the
delivery of primary healthcare provision within this area and specifically within the health catchment
of the developments. West Essex CCG would therefore expect these impacts to be fully assessed and
mitigated.
Review of Planning Application
West Essex CCG acknowledge that the planning applications do include a Health Impact Assessment
(HIA), however this does not appear to recognise that a capital contribution may be required to
mitigate the primary healthcare impacts arising from the proposed developments.
Assessment of development impact on existing healthcare provision
The existing GP practices do not have capacity to accommodate the additional growth resulting from
the proposed developments. The developments could generate approx. 648 residents and
subsequently increase demand upon existing constrained services.
The developments would have an impact on primary healthcare provision in the area and its
implications, if unmitigated, would be unsustainable. The proposed developments must therefore, in
order to be considered under presumption ‘in favour of sustainable development’ advocated in the
National Planning Policy Framework, provide appropriate levels of mitigation.
Healthcare needs arising from the proposed development
The intention of West Essex CCG is to promote Primary Healthcare Hubs with co-ordinated mixed
professionals.
The developments would give rise to a need for improvements to capacity, in line with the emerging
CCG estates strategy, by way of an extension, refurbishment, reconfiguration or potential relocation
for the benefit of the patients at Limes Medical Centre; a proportion of the cost of which would need
to be met by the developer.

Page 339

A-1

Appendix 3
A developer contribution will be required to mitigate the impact of these proposals. West CCG
calculates the level of contribution required, in this instance £131,850 [for EPF/0917,0918,0919/21].
Payment should be made before the development commences.
West Essex CC therefore requests that this sum be secured through a planning obligation linked to
any grant of planning permission, in the form of a S106 planning obligation.
Assuming that the above is considered in conjunction with the current application process, West
Essex CCG would not wish to raise an objection to the proposed developments.

Epping Forest District Council – Air Quality
29 June 2021
I have reviewed the air quality assessment produced by Phlorum in support of this application.
On the proviso that the applicant’s traffic assessment and sustainability assessment are approved
with no further amendments required from the relevant teams at EFDC and ECC, I accept the
conclusions of the submitted air quality assessment.

Epping Forest District Council - Affordable Housing
14 May 2021
Whilst the application is supported, the following points are made:
Level of Affordable Housing:
It is noted that the Planning statements and other relevant documents provided with the application
specified that 74 units will be provided as the affordable housing offer, complying with the
requirements of the Local Plan (SV).
Tenure, Mix & Design:
The importance of understanding the housing mix is emphasised and it should be reflective of the
broader development thus ensuring that the development creates a mixed and balanced
community.
It is also emphasised that the applicant works closely with the Housing Department to identify the
housing need of the relevant applicants and the allocation process for the affordable housing
provision.
It is noted that the housing mix for the affordable housing provision should comprise the following:
- 1 bed 2 person apartments
- 2 bed 4 person apartments
- 3 bed 5 person for the Maisonettes
- 3 bed 6 person for the Maisonettes
There is a request that the unit sizes are reviewed to ensure that all the units comply with the
relevant space standards as set out in the Council’s Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017, specifically
as the size (GIA) of one of the three-bedroom units is smaller at 91.50sqm than the others in the
scheme which were 94.62sqm.
There is also a request that the service charge applicable to the scheme is affordable and continues
to be affordable for future tenants.

Page 340

A-2

Appendix 3
It is noted that all new housing is required to meet the accessible and adaptable homes standards as
defined by the current Building Regulations and mixed tenure residential developments must be
designed to be ‘tenure blind’ to ensure homes across tenures are indistinguishable from one another
in terms of quality of design, space standards and building materials.
It is also noted that the applicant has explored and potentially agreed the S106 obligations with a
suggested 15 years minimum for the rental covenant, and it is suggested that there is some flexibility
to extend that.

Page 341

A-3

Appendix 3
Epping Town Council
17 September 2021
Committee object to this application. While the Committee acknowledge and welcomes the
development of this part-brownfield site, there are considerable issues with this proposal.
While Committee recognise and welcome the opening up of the blocks, with gaps in between, they
still consider the four and five storey blocks to result in a very dense development. The size and
design of the blocks still do not respect the character of the surrounding area, because of their bulk
and scale and would have a detrimental effect on the street scene and character of the historic town
of Epping.
The design of the development does not seem to respect the character of the area and Committee
would request that very careful consideration is given to the materials and style of the buildings, wo
make them more reflective of the historic town, conservation area and predominance of carefully
styled buildings in the locale. This is particularly important as Committee view the proposal as
massing and too high in density and would suggest this may be improved by very careful design.
Committee are still concerned about the mix of accommodation types and would welcome more
properties that cater for families, such as house, not just flatted accommodation. Most of the
proposed apartments will be one-bedroom (114) and two-bedroom (63) so not very suitable for
families. Committee welcome the fact that this scheme will now offer private for sale properties, as
well as rental and social housing, but would request that changes such as this, that are made to the
detail of the scheme, are more prominently communicated, as this is an important element of the
scheme’s impact on the town as a whole, relating to the vitality of the High Street and town as a
whole.
Committee welcome the proposed green infrastructure and public amenity space and would request
that this is maximised. The green infrastructure needs to take into account the procurement of
greenery, its appropriateness for the site and the future aftercare.
While Committee recognise the parking constraint as a result of the Local Plan/Special Area of
Conservation/Air Quality, they must highlight the insufficient car parking of the number of
residential units being proposed for 184 apartments. There are severe parking issues in Epping and
the insufficient parking from this scheme will put additional pressures on the surrounding roads.
Public transport in Epping is not sufficient (the tube is located down at the bottom of a steep hill and
buses do not serve many of the adjoining areas) and improved public transport must be negotiated
as part of this development, in order to reduce pressure on the town’s parking. While the proposal
focuses on the those Qualis believe will not add pressure to the roads, many one bedroom town
dwellers still own cars.

Epping Town Council
14 May 2021
Whilst the Committee acknowledge and welcome the development of this part-brownfield site, they
considerable issues with this proposal and therefore object to the application.
Design
There is a request to looked at the design of the layout and how three storey blocks may affect loss
of amenity, overlooking and a Conservation Area. It is noted that the size and design of the blocks do
not respect the character of the surrounding area and would have a detrimental effect on the street
scene and character of the historic town of Epping.

Page 342

A-4

Appendix 3
Housing Mix
It is suggested there be more of a mix of accommodation types such as houses, rather than flats only
and the proposal is described as an overdevelopment of the site in terms of its accommodation
density. As the majority of the proposed apartments will be one-bedroom (114) and two-bedroom
apartments (63) they are not believed to be suitable for families. It is noted that 40% is being
proposed as affordable housing, and it will be mainly aimed at the private rental market, not for
sale. It is also noted that the large number of residential units does not include any allowance for
essential services needed in the town such as access to doctors, school places etc.
The Committee noted from resident feedback that the two existing locally listed semi-detached
caretaker cottages are privately owned and not part of this development, they request this be
clarified and if this is the case, the description of the proposed development should be amended to
reflect this.
Green Infrastructure
There are concerns as the development includes the loss of a number of mature trees to facilitate
the development, and the proposed replacement trees are as small as 20cm – 25cm. It is believed
that the removal and loss of greenery will affect the local wildlife. The proposed green infrastructure
is viewed as unsustainable; it is believed it should take into account the procurement of greenery, its
appropriateness for the site and the future aftercare needed.
Parking
There are concerns around the insufficient car parking proposed for the number of residential units
being proposed, with no allowance for visitor parking. The current parking issues in Epping are
described as “severe” and the insufficient parking from this scheme is believed will place additional
pressure on the surrounding roads.

Page 343

A-5

Appendix 3
Epping Forest District Council - Conservation
12 May 2021/ 21 September 2021
The scheme cannot be supported as its stands due to the harm it would cause to the locally listed
buildings, the setting of the listed buildings and the Epping Conservation Area. The application is
therefore recommended to be refused as supported by the full comments provided and following
policies: HC6, HC7, HC12 and HC13A of our Local Plan and Alterations (1998 and 2006), policy DM7
of our Submission Version Local Plan (2017), and paragraphs 189, 190, 192, 194, 196, 200 and 201 of
the NPPF (2019).
The submission of a comprehensive Heritage Statement has been requested for all the heritage
assets affected by the scheme and more particularly the three locally listed buildings, the
Centrepoint, the Cottages and the Cookery School, as required by para.195 of the NPPF 2021. A
Heritage Statement serves a dual purpose, to inform the scheme through the understanding of the
historic, architectural significance of the heritage assets affected, and help the LPA’s officers in their
assessment of the impact of the scheme on that significance. To date, no Heritage Statement that
addresses this has been submitted and our understanding is that the scheme has been developed
without this essential information.
The scheme cannot be supported as its stands due to the harm it would cause to the locally listed
buildings, the setting of the listed buildings and the character and appearance of the Epping
Conservation Area.
Environment Agency
9 June 2021
The previous land use at this site suggests the potential presence of contamination. As the site is
situated in a vulnerable groundwater area within a secondary aquifer these proposals need to be
dealt with in a way which protects the underlying groundwater. Please therefore take note of the
following advice.
Where land contamination may be an issue for a prospective development we encourage developers
to employ specialist consultants/contractors working under the National Quality Mark Scheme.

Essex County Council – Green Infrastructure
2 June 2021
Do not object the granting of planning permission; however, do advise a number of
recommendations are considered to improve the GI network and help achieve net environmental
aims.
Essex County Council – Schools
2 June 2021 / Updated 4 October 2021
If planning permission for this development is granted it should be subject to a section 106
agreement to mitigate its impact on early years & childcare, primary and secondary education and
library provision.
Early Years and Childcare
The proposed development is located within the Theydon Bois ward and according to latest available
childcare information, there are no vacancies that would enable parents to be able to access their

Page 344

A-6

Appendix 3
Free Entitlement for early years places. Therefore, a developer contribution of £53,617 index linked
to Q1-2020, is sought to mitigate its impact on EY&C provision. This equates to £17,268 per place.
Primary Education
This development would sit within the priority admission area of Epping Primary School, which offers
up to 60 places per year. As at the last census in January, the school was at or close to capacity in the
majority of year groups. Figures received from Essex County Council’s Admissions team, on National
Offers Day, show a small waiting list for entry into Reception this September. Looking at the wider
area (Epping Group 2), figures set out in the Essex School Organisation Service’s 10 Year Plan show
rising demand with a potential need for 52 additional Reception places by the end of the Plan
period. Epping Forest District Council’s emerging Local Plan reflects this need (policy P1 para K iii) by
allocating land for a new school.
The demand generated by this development would be in addition to this demand. In accordance
with the Essex County Council Developers’ Guide to Infrastructure Contributions (Revised 2020), a
developer contribution of £178,724 index linked to Q1- 2020, is sought to mitigate its impact on local
primary school provision. This equates to £17,268 per place.
Secondary Education
The secondary age range priority admissions area school for this development would be Epping St
John's Church of England School. Cohort sizes in the area have increased, and continue to rise, and
the school has been close to capacity for the last two intakes. Provisional figures for September 2021
suggest there may be just two unfilled places in Year 7 (the first year of secondary education).
Forecasts for the wider area which includes Waltham Abbey (Group 2), set out in the 10 Year Plan,
suggest a potential need for additional places during the 2024/25 academic year with a more
sustained need towards the end of the Plan period. The emerging Local Plan (policy SP5 para F ix)
again recognises this need, with a potential new school on the District’s border with Harlow, to serve
both the proposed Garden Communities and reduce wider development pressure that would
otherwise fall on the schools in Group 2. The demand generated by this development would be in
addition to this demand. In accordance with the Essex County Council Developers’ Guide to
Infrastructure Contributions (Revised 2020), a developer contribution of £164,048 index linked to
Q1- 2020, is sought to mitigate its impact on local secondary school provision. This equates to
£23,775 per place.
Libraries
ECC may seek contributions to support the expansion of the library service to meet customer needs
generated by residential developments of 20+ homes. The provision of a Library Service is a
statutory duty under the 1964 Public Libraries and Museums Act and it’s increasingly become a
shared gateway for other services such as for accessing digital information and communications.
The suggested population increase brought about by the proposed development is expected to
create additional usage of Epping library. In accordance with the Essex County Council Developers’
Guide to Infrastructure Contribution (Revised 2020), a contribution is therefore considered
necessary to improve, enhance and extend the facilities and services provided.
It is calculated that a contribution of £14,159.60 index linked to Q1-2020 is requested and should be
included in any Section 106 Agreement should the Council be minded to grant permission. This
equates to £77.80 per unit.
Essex County Council – Ecology
12 May 2021

Page 345

A-7

Appendix 3
No objection subject to securing:
a) A proportionate financial contribution towards Epping Forest SAC Mitigation Strategy and
b) biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures
Summary
The site is within the 6.2km Zone of influence (ZoI) for the emerging Epping Forest SAC Mitigation
Strategy (within which residents of new housing are likely to regularly visit relevant designated sites
for recreation) and the development is relevant to Natural England’s advice to the LPA. We therefore
advise that the LPA will need to prepare a HRA Appropriate Assessment record for this development
and secure a proportionate financial contribution towards visitor management measures as
mitigation for recreational disturbance. This contribution needs to be secured by a legal agreement.
Subject to this mitigation, the LPA can conclude no adverse effect on the integrity of Epping Forest
SAC.
We are satisfied the native hedgerow that runs along the northern boundary of the St John’s Road
Site will be retained. This hedgerow is identified as being a Priority habitat, therefore the LPA has a
biodiversity duty to conserve this habitat.
The Environmental Impact Assessment advises the proposals will result in the loss of bat roosts (day
roosts for very low numbers of Common Pipistrelle and Single Brown Long Eared bat from Buildings
3, 4 and 5). Therefore, a European Protected Species Mitigation licence from Natural England will be
required for these European Protected Species to lawfully complete the works. It is recommended
that a copy of the bat mitigation licence is secured under a condition of any consent to be provided
to the LPA prior to commencement
We are satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for determination.
This provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts on protected and Priority species & habitats
and, with appropriate mitigation measures secured, the development can be made acceptable.
The mitigation measures identified in the Environmental Impact Assessment should be secured and
implemented in full. This is necessary to conserve and enhance protected and Priority Species. This
includes precautionary measures for Common toad, Hedgehogs (including hedgehog holes), and
Nesting birds.
The Environmental Impact Assessment recommends a Construction Environmental Management
Plan (CEMP) Biodiversity should be produced with input from a professional ecologist. The CEMP
Biodiversity should describe ecology mitigation works and should set out standard pollution
prevention and dust control measures to be implemented during site clearance and construction
works. This should also include appropriate management of trenches, waste and materials storage,
and protection of boundary features (including suitable tree and hedgerow protection).
We support the proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which have been recommended
to secure measurable net gains for biodiversity, as outlined under Paragraph 170d of the National
Planning Policy Framework 2019. This includes ten bird nesting boxes, neutral grassland (referred to
as both ‘woodland grass mix’ and ‘wildflower landscape turf’ in the landscape plan), a native
hedgerow and a biodiversity roof. The reasonable biodiversity enhancement measures should be
outlined within a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy and should be secured as a condition of any
consent.
The Environmental Impact Assessment has also advised the management and monitoring
prescriptions of each habitat should be secured within a Landscape and Ecological Management

Page 346

A-8

Appendix 3
Plan. This should out details of how retained and created habitats (including the retained native
hedgerows) will be managed. The Environmental Impact Assessment recommends an information
board should be put up to inform residents of the importance of the retained wildlife areas, the
species they may see and how they can help conserve these areas, including discouraging fly-tipping
or the introduction of invasive species.
This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties including its biodiversity
duty under s40 NERC Act 2006.
Impacts will be minimised such that the proposal is acceptable subject to the conditions based on
BS42020:2013.

Page 347

A-9

Appendix 3
Essex County Council – Development and Flood Risk
11 May 2021/ 16 July 2021 / 4 October 2021
Having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment and the associated documents which accompanied the
planning application, we do not object to the granting of planning permission.

Page 348

A-10

Appendix 3
Epping Forest District Council – Trees & Landscape
6 May 2021
We have NO OBJECTION to this application subject to the addition of the following conditions:
SCN31 – retention of trees and shrubs
SCN39 – Tree Protection
Soft landscaping
Soft landscaping shall be implemented as shown on Macgregor Smith drawing number 1270-01-200
rev P1 and 1270-01-201 rev P1 both dated 8th March 2021 and the accompanying planting schedule
The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of the building or completion of the
development, whichever is the sooner. If any plants which within a period of 5 years from the
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning
Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To secure the provision and retention of the landscaping in the interests of the visual
amenity of the area in accordance with policies CP2 & LL11 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006,
policies DM3 and DM5 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, the NPPF 2019, and Section 197 of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
Justification
Whilst the applicant has provided a tree report and / or an Arb Method Statement, the above
condition does need to be included in full, and updated reports will need to be submitted for
approval prior to commencement. This is because at this stage, all the applicant is required to do is
to show that the development is feasible without a detrimental impact on trees. Following
permission being granted the information that will be required to be submitted will include;






Tree protection plan to include the alignment of utility apparatus (including drainage and
ground source heat pumps), and the site set up ie locations for site huts, temporary toilets,
contractor parking, storage of materials, cement mixing etc. This information is not yet
known.
A detailed Arboricultural Method statement including a list of contact details for all relevant
parties. This information is not yet known.
Schedule of works to retained trees eg works required to facilitate demolition / construction
activities. This information is not yet known.
Arboricultural site monitoring schedule, A detailed schedule of visits is required.

Please therefore, do not condition the Tree Report / Arb Method Statement that has been
submitted with the application, but include the condition un-amended.

Page 349

A-11

Appendix 3
Epping Forest District Council – Contaminated Land
3 May 2021
The results of the intrusive site investigation showed high exceedance levels of lead, PAH’s, TPH’s
and sulphide. The soil sampling was only tested at shallow levels, no chemical analysis was
conducted at deeper levels. Please provide additional chemical analysis in areas of identified
contamination.
The gas monitoring visits were conducted only during high atmospheric pressure. There are no
records of atmospheric pressure during December 2020 visits. At least two visits should be
scheduled during falling atmospheric pressure. Please may you provide this.
Additional sampling should be undertaken underneath the footprints of the buildings after the
demolition works.
The groundwater monitoring only provides the groundwater levels, no chemical analysis was
conducted. The applicant is required to contact the Environment Agency in respect to controlled
waters.
The design of water supply pumps should also be taken into consideration when installed in the
remaining Made Ground. The applicant is required to contact the Utility provider directly.
Remediation Method Statement and Verification Reports will be required.
Due to the sensitive nature of the proposed residential use, condition NSCN57 should be attached to
any approval granted.

Page 350

A-12

Appendix 3
Cadent
26 April 2021
Searches based on your enquiry have identified that there is apparatus in the vicinity of your enquiry
which may be affected by the activities specified.
The apparatus that has been identified as being in the vicinity of your proposed works is:


Low or Medium pressure (below 2 bar) gas pipes and associated equipment. (As a result it is
highly likely that there are gas services and associated apparatus in the vicinity).

Page 351

A-13

Appendix 3
Essex County Council – Archaeology
26 April 2021
It is recommended that a programme of building recording be undertaken on the site, so that
the historic structures be ‘preserved by record’ through archaeological survey.
Recommendation:
1. No demolition, conversion or alterations shall commence until a programme of historic
building recording has been secured in accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI)
to be submitted by the applicant and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
2. No demolition, conversion or alterations shall take place until the satisfactory completion of
the recording in accordance with the WSI submitted.
3. The applicant will submit to the local planning authority a report detailing the results of the
recording programme and confirm the deposition of the archive to an appropriate depository as
identified and agreed in the WSI.
Further recommendations: A professional team of archaeologists should undertake the
archaeological work. The archaeological work will consist of a historic building record of the
historic buildings proposed for demolition or conversion.

Page 352

A-14

Appendix 3
Epping Forest District Council – Environmental Enforcement
26 April 2021
I have no objection to the proposed application in principle. However, I have some concern
regarding the predicted noise levels at the façade of the residential properties which will be
replacing the current Council Depot (facing onto the High Street) which are above the
recommended levels set in BS8233.
BS8233 states that for the design criteria of external noise:
“For traditional external areas that are used for amenity space, such as gardens and patios, it is
desirable that the external noise level does not exceed 50 dB LAeq,T, with an upper guideline
value of 55 dB LAeq,T which would be acceptable in noisier environments. However, it is also
recognized that these guideline values are not achievable in all circumstances where
development might be desirable. In higher noise areas, such as city centres or urban areas
adjoining the strategic transport network, a compromise between elevated noise levels and
other factors, such as the convenience of living in these locations or making efficient use of land
resources to ensure development needs can be met, might be warranted. In such a situation,
development should be designed to achieve the lowest practicable levels in these external
amenity spaces, but should not be prohibited’
I would prefer to see these amenity areas reduced to a more appropriate level – either by
redesigning Block G (or even removing the balcony areas in this block) to mitigate the
disturbance to the proposed residents.
Similarly, some additional design/removal of balconies may have to be considered on the
facades facing St John’s Road, however I appreciate that these are less of an issue than those
facades facing the High Street. However, I do accept that such a decision is one to be made on
planning terms, rather than purely acoustic terms.
1

Development Stage
If you are minded to permit the application the demolition/construction phase is likely to be
of significant duration and close enough to neighbouring residential premises to warrant a
number of conditions to control any disturbance. As such, I would welcome the following
conditions:

1.1 Construction methodology
It is possible that the construction of the development will involve piling and other intrusive
methods, which will need to be controlled to some degree. As such, I would suggest the
following condition:
Before any phase of the hear by permitted development commences, the construction
methodology shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the
impact on nearby noise sensitive premises is minimised from activities such as (but not
exclusively) excavation, piling, vehicle and plant movements, etc. Only construction
methods in accordance with the written approval shall be undertaken.
Reason- In the interests of the amenities of noise sensitive properties
1.2 Construction work – Permitted hours
All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations (which includes deliveries and
other commercial vehicles to and from the site) which are audible at the boundary of noise
sensitive premises, shall only take place on site between the hours of 0730 to 1830 Monday

Page 353

A-15

Appendix 3
to Friday & 0800 to 1300 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Bank
Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason- In the interests of the amenities of noise sensitive properties
1.3 Bonfires
No bonfires shall be permitted on site throughout the demolition and construction phase of
the development.
Reason – In order to protect residential amenity
1.4 Dust control
All reasonable steps to minimise dust emissions from the site shall be employed throughout
the demolition and construction phase of the development. The dust suppression
methodology shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority before
construction commences.
Reason – To protect the amenity of the area from excessive dust emissions
1.5 Wheel washers
Wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for vehicles leaving the site during demolition and
construction works shall be installed in accordance with details which shall be submitted
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The facilities shall be installed prior to
commencement of any works on the site and shall be used to clean vehicles leaving the site.
Reason – To avoid the deposit of material on the public highway in the interest of highway
safety and control of dust.
2. Habitation Stage
I note that the noise survey indicates that some mitigation will be required for some of the
residential properties to protect the new occupiers from noise to ensure that they benefit from
reasonable sleeping/resting conditions. As such, I would recommend the following conditions:
The acoustic performance of the design and construction of the development should be agreed in
writing with the Local Authority before construction commences. The design and construction
should provide the performance to provide reasonable resting/sleeping conditions with reference to
British Standard BS8233: 2014 – Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for buildings –
Code of practice (or such other standard which may supersede it from time to time). This may
necessitate the developer to employ a suitably qualified acoustics consultant to carry out any
necessary survey and provide recommendations.
Reason: To protect the occupiers of the properties constructed from excessive noise levels from the
local environment.
All rooms within the development hereby approved shall be provided with sufficient double glazing
and acoustically treated trickle ventilators, or other means of ventilation that will provide adequate
ventilation with the windows closed, to ensure that the occupiers are provided with reasonable
resting/sleeping conditions with reference to British Standard BS8233:2014 – Guidance on Sound
Insulation and Noise Reduction for buildings – Code of practice (or such other standard which may
supersede it from time to time)
Reason: To protect occupiers of the premises from excessive noise from the nearby road and other
uses.
Details of the double glazing and acoustically treated trickle ventilators, or other means of
ventilation, referred to the above condition shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority and installed before any of the proposed residential development is occupied.
Reason: To protect occupiers of the premises from excessive noise.

Page 354

A-16

Appendix 3
It may be that mechanical plant would be required to fulfil the above condition and/or the developer
may wish to install it anyway. You therefore may wish to consider the following condition:
The cumulative rating level of any mechanical plant installed on the site (as defined by BS4142:2014)
shall not exceed the prevailing background noise level. If the background noise level is exceeded,
the use of the mechanical plant shall cease until it is brought below this level. The measurement
position and assessment shall be made according to BS4142:2014.
Reason: To protect occupiers of the premises, and other neighbouring noise sensitive premises,
from excessive noise from mechanical plant.
3. Lighting.
I note that the application has an overarching lighting report, which may have an impact on
neighbouring residential properties once the development is occupied. I would therefore
recommend the following condition is applied:
Details of any external lighting of the site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development. This information shall include a
layout plan with beam orientation and a schedule of equipment in the design (luminaire type,
mounting height, aiming angles and luminaire profiles), and the impact on neighbouring residential
properties. The lighting shall be installed, maintained and operated in accordance with the
approved details unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to the variation.
Reason: To protect the appearance of the area, the environment and local residents from light
pollution.

Page 355

A-17

Appendix 3
Thames Water
22 April 2021
Waste Comments
Thames Water would advise that with regard to FOUL WATER sewerage network infrastructure
capacity, we would not have any objection to the above planning application, based on the
information provided.
With regard to SURFACE WATER drainage, Thames Water would advise that if the developer follows
the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water we would have no objection. Where the
developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer
Services will be required. Should you require further information please refer to our website.
https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Apply-and-pay-forservices/Wastewater-services
There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. If you're planning significant work
near our sewers, it's important that you minimize the risk of damage. We’ll need to check that your
development doesn’t limit repair or maintenance activities, or inhibit the services we provide in any
other way. The applicant is advised to read our guide working near or diverting our pipes.
https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Planning-yourdevelopment/Working-near-or-diverting-our-pipes.
Water Comments
With regard to water supply, this comes within the area covered by the Affinity Water Company.

Ancient Monuments Society
21 May 2021
The Ancient Monuments Society objects to the application in its current form, with the following
points noted:
The former education buildings and semi-detached cottages are locally listed heritage assets and are
partly within the Epping Conservation Area. The Gothic styled Centerpoint Building is an important
local landmark that makes a positive and valuable contribution to the historic character of the town
centre. We note the CA Appraisal recognises the need to bring these buildings back into active use.
Epping Forest Local Plan Policy HC6 - Character, Appearance and Setting of Conservation Areas:
“Within or adjacent to a conservation area, the Council will not grant planning permission for any
development, or give listed building consent or consent for works to trees, which could be
detrimental to the character, appearance or setting of the conservation area.”
Paragraph 197 of the NPPF states: “The effect of an application on the significance of a nondesignated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing
applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement
will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage
asset.”
We welcome the retention of Block I (former cookery school) as a community building, as well as the
works to the cottage and reinstatement of the two original dwellings. However, we object to the
installation of aluminium window and door frames to both these buildings and to the large panels of
glazing proposed. This would affect both their visual and historic interest and we recommend the

Page 356

A-18

Appendix 3
plans are revised to include traditional timber fittings with a glazing pattern that would be
appropriate to the conservation and characteristics of these Victorian and early C20 buildings.
Regarding the Centerpoint Building, the scheme proposes its conversion to residential flats and the
introduction of a third level, including the rebuilding of the rear infill area between the two wings to
create a third central gable. This results in apartments to the upper levels that require the installation
of rooflights to provide the light needed to make the upper levels habitable spaces. The proposed
plans show the significant and detrimental impact to the appearance and historic character of the
building, and to the wider streetscape, by the sheer number of rooflights to the main and side
elevations. This likely represents an overdevelopment of the building and should be reviewed. We
also object to the installation of aluminium framed windows and doors within this historic Victorian
building.
We note the Conservation Officer’s concerns about the “presence of hammer beams supported by
stone corbels and quatrefoils embedded into the laths and plaster vaulted ceilings” currently hidden
by the existing suspended ceilings, which have not been considered in the plans for the building.
Given the Gothic Revival style of the building’s exterior, the AMS agrees that a hammer beam ceiling
would make unequivocally make a historic and architectural contribution to the significance of this
locally listed building and its conservation must be taken into consideration. We therefore
recommend a historic building survey is undertaken to fully understand the significance of the
building, the hammer beam roof, and how the proposed changes, such as the additional floors and
partitions, will affect the historic building fabric and its significance.
In general, the scale of the proposed new buildings on the site are of concern. While they are mostly
just outside the Conservation Area boundary, five storey buildings are not characteristic of the wider
Conservation Area and they have a direct impact on the setting and significance of the adjoining
buildings within the Conservation Area.
The role of the conservation area is to conserve the historic, architectural and social significance of
the buildings and spaces within a local area, and unsympathetic alterations to historic buildings
erodes this significance. It would also be contrary to the NPPF and Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990’s requirement to have special regard to the desirability of preserving
heritage assets, their setting, and any features of special architectural or historic interest which they
possess.
It is therefore recommended that the application is withdrawn in order to address the heritage
concerns outlined above, as well as the requirements of the NPPF and Local Plan.

Page 357

A-19

Appendix 3
Epping Society
1 September 2021
The Planning Committee of the Epping Society have considered this re-application. We wish to
continue to object for the following reasons:













Documentation and process: poorly drafted and inaccessible
No credence appears to have been given to most of the concerns raised
Our major concern about housing mixture remains
Concerns with massing
Considerable anxiety about overshadowing/ sunlight/ privacy
Question of wind vortices still unaddressed
Green/ecological matter could be further developed
Community dissatisfaction about parking provision
Schools, transport and GPs
Overheating
No consideration of how the plan would work post-Covid
And a new question arisen about the affordable housing %

Epping Society
13 May 2021
Wish to object to all four applications (EPF/0917/21, EPF/0918/21, EPF/0919/21 and EPF/1042/21),
for the following reasons:












The public was presented with far too much data in 4 applications with far too little time for
review – there are 425 documents, in approx. 3 weeks. This is not fair or realistic.
There has been a problem with deadlines. These 4 applications were published in the ‘Weekly
List’ circulated by EFDC to the Epping Society (and others) via email at 4:45pm Friday, 23rd
April. The 21-day point, the usual period, from that would be Friday 14th May. The ‘Weekly
List’ says on the front page “Registered in the week up to: Friday 23 April; any
representations on applications should be made in writing by Monday 17 May 2021”
However the EFDC Planning Portal has “comment by” dates listed as 12-05-2021 for Hemnall
(Sports Centre), the others are listed as 13-05-2021. So all less that 21 days, and having 4
different dates is highly challenging & confusing for all concerned.
An extension was requested by emails & letters on 30 April; the request was acknowledged
by the CEO of EFDC with a decision promised during the week. One might have assumed that
Friday 7 May would cover that. On 10th, a delay was given, until the end of the month.
This period included the conducting of Local Elections, in which many were involved.
Is there access for those without a computer? Paper copies?
A lack of effective publicity, whatever efforts are claimed, people did not know. The Epping
Society has made efforts to increase public awareness.
The lists of documents were confusing – instances of having several with the same name – eg
St John’s Road -volume 3 Ch 11; some of these are identical in content, and some refer only
to the other sites (eg Technical appendices 11.1 and 2) Much better to give the actual title on
the EFDC table.
Some documents are highly technical, with no explanation nor glossary, this made them
impenetrable; but we believe that this process should be transparent & accessible to all.

Page 358

A-20

Appendix 3



























Some maps have keys which are so small as to be unusable
Some diagrams/tables when zoomed in, pixilate; maybe once pdfs?
Use of colours sometimes unhelpful eg map of SJR site has 4 very similar grey shades.
Documents are not in order eg Appendix documents should be next to substantive item; also
eg SJR Design & Access statements are not in order – starting “1, 10, 11” later “17, 2”
Some documents are repeated eg Historical maps x3
Some documents are very out of date eg an ecological report describes the St John’s
secondary school as “approved for redevelopment” but is somehow dates March 2021
(reviewed but not edited?), eg an HRA which appears to be based on 34 dwellings (an earlier
version); against 184. Suggest a lack of scrutiny and/or haste.
Several documents refer to now-unnecessary EU Regulations.
Some documents simply indicate a lack of care eg an Archaeology report refers to the
“proposed nuclear power station” at SJR. This was spotted on 27th, reported to EFDC &
authors immediately, but not corrected/withdrawn until 7 May.
Similarly, spelling mistakes speak of haste eg environment several times wrong, eg the last
few documents for SJR are labelled on the very title-listing as “layoluts” (layouts?). To make
the error, o, but to then copy/paste it, and then to still not to proofread it??
Lack of clarity sometimes about whether documents refer to just this site, or all 3, then some
date is described as “cumulative”. To give a clearer picture, given that these 3 are the last
part of 6 developments, all assessments should have been cumulative across all sites. This is
what will be experience on the ground, particularly as 3 will be accessed via the one road, St
John’s.
There are many inconsistencies between various documents – so it would be unclear exactly
what any Planning decisions would mean.
Many documents contain conditionals eg “should”, “if viable” – these plans need certainty.
The Epping Society has been told already by 2 statutory consulting bodies that they are
struggling to review these applications by their (later) deadlines, for the reasons above. If we
and they are finding this challenging, no wonder nearly all members of the community we
have spoken to, say they find it too daunting.
Very few documents consider the post-Covid world (exception being the Residential Mix
report) and working from home – we would argue that potential changes to housing need
should be at least considered.
The Epping Society would like to learn the number/costs of obtaining these report, mostly
from outside contracted agencies; we are considering a FoI request. The Archaeology people
certainly should not get their full fee!
Some applications are clearly from Qualis, some have an EFDC origin – if there is confusion
about the inter-relation here, will there be confusion about the responsibility?
Proceeding with planning in this much detail, before the Local Plan is found sound and
approved, seems ill-advised; the LP may still be subject to further modifications. In
Maidenhead, Inspector Philips is now into a third round of Public Hearings; things change.
Epping society must ask that Any Planning Approvals must be interdependent on the other
sites being approved, be CONDITIONAL, that the sports centre and pool remain in the plans,
and are completed and open before the existing Sports facility is demolished. Not sure this
can be done as a Planning Condition, but certainly at Council level it can.

Page 359

A-21

Appendix 3
Our principle thought is that these applications are so hastily and poorly constructed that we feel
the Planning Officers should return them to Qualis for a re-presentation, with additional
consultation time.
Epping Society
13 May 2021
General comments in relation to EPF/0917/21:




Positive reaction to the site moving forward after a decade or so of dereliction.
The site, as brownfield, is supported strongly.
Concerns around whether attracting younger, economically active people, generally
without children, is consistent with the existing population.

Grounds for Objection:
Sewers
A number of addresses in the vicinity provided which have/are experiencing sewerage issues causing
doubt as to whether the current system can be used.
Drains
Whilst there is praise for tanks & green/blue roofs there are questions around how this bits with
EFDC Green Criteria of June 2020, and Sustainability Guidance of Oct 2020.
Water supply
It is noted that the application makes no reference to existing problems with water pressure
experiences by residents in St John’s Road and examples provided.
Hazard
Question around large tanks of volatile liquids (possibly methane) being kept in the Council depot
adjacent and whether this has been checked.
Weather
It is noted that there seems to have been no assessment of the likely wind tunnel effects generated
by tall blocks, quite near the summit of the local topography, of which the results can create hostile
microclimates.
Sunlight/Overlooking
A number of addresses provided which will be directly impacted by the development.
Trees
There are inconsistencies noted in the application “TPOs are now known” however a later document
(the Health Impact Assessment) says there are no TPOs.
Also a suggestion that new trees should be mature where possible, and should all be TPO’ed on
installation.
Recreational Impact
It is noted that the application states that recreational impact on Epping Forest “will be not
significant”; however the data has been taken as a spatial and temporal average, whereas the
impact will be heavily localised in time & space.
Question on whether the tenure of new properties will control pet ownership (specifically dogs) as
dog walking is believed to be a specific recreational pressure on the forest.

Page 360

A-22

Appendix 3
Air Quality
Concerns around reference to a Clean Air Zone in the application, as the public were last advised
that a CAZ would be an “absolute last resort”.
There is intention to increase EV in the application, however it is noted that Qualis have recently
purchased a fleet of new diesel vans, casting doubt on their Green credentials and questioning their
sense of equality.
Energy
It is suggested that the integration of “green” measures (such as air source heat pumps) should be
conditional to any approval, and that more detail is provided in relation to “natural ventilation with
heat recovery”. Request that a ‘window’ is left open for emerging technologies e.g. hydrogen fuel.
Communications (Internet, TV and radio signal strengths)
Suggestion that networks (e.g. broadband) are hard-wired into developments from the ground up
(of increasing importance for residents working from home and may impact on the desirability of
properties).
Question as to whether a risk assessment has been carried out for the potential effects a
development (of specific height) can have on communications infrastructure/networks for adjacent
properties.
Traffic
It is noted that the general consensus among many assessments is that the main roads and junctions
in the area are at or well above capacity and therefore any additional traffic will worsen that. Traffic
report data in the application show red (e.g. St John’s Rd) by 2025 an RFC of 1.26, with max wait of 7
minutes and blames this on the roundabout not working properly, however no mitigation is
suggested. It is also noted that many professionals criticise the use of RFC.
There are questions around construction traffic only having a “minor” impact on St John’s Road (Ch
7) as 3 out of the 5 Qualis sites will have to use St John’s Rd as a principal access to High Road.
There are also questions around the same document predictnig Stonards Hill as expecting a
“substantial” increase.
An inconsistency is noted as 7.10 states “cannot assess the impact of Travel Plans” but a later
document promises to monitor and assess their impact. It is also noted that there is no
acknowledgement of tube capacity problems during rush hour.
Whilst the application accepts that Epping is not ideal for cycling, it goes on to note that by bike the
town is 6 minutes wide, which is questionable.
It is noted that the HRA (v3Ch6) seems to be based on 34 dwellings with retail and leisure causing
confusion. The same HRA is also noted as being criticised by EFDC in 8 areas of which it is unclear
how these have been clearly addressed.
Parking
Whilst Epping Society acknowledge some successful examples of Modal shift, they see the concept
as aspirational with many practical issues as Epping’s terrain is difficult and the infrastructure is not
yet developed for cycling (some roads lack pavements; bus services are sporadic, limited and
expensive; vehicle stock is old and polluting; ageing population are increasingly less able to
walk/cycle).
The practical issues with the proposed car parking provision are also noted:


Who will decide which residents get a space – price or need?

Page 361

A-23

Appendix 3










If need (e.g. disabled, parents with babies) – what happens when needs change?
Who will police the car park usage?
Can those with space be made to have EVs?
Can others be prevented from having cars?
Car park space size. Noted that some will be over the minimum 2.4x4.8m, at 2.9x5.2m, but
some will have larger SUV designs (even if electric) (a readily observable trend locally).
It is presumed the disabled spaces will be larger?
Is there market research to prove that there are there enough of this socio-economic group,
wanting to move to this type of accommodation, in Epping, with no car? No evidence is
given.
Request an assurance that new residents will not be permitted to have parking permits for
adjacent Controlled Parking Zones.

Pedestrians
Clarity requested on the status of the spaces – will they be public or private?
Concerns are also expressed around the link from High Street as to whether it will be bicycle
permeable, whether the Council and Police are aware it is an area of high youth substance abuse
with traces of NOx cylinders here. Suggestion to discourage this from spreading into the
development.
Bins
Concerns around the low proposal of one bin per 7 dwellings which could result in fly-waste,
pollution, rats, etc.
Public Toilets
It is raised that an earlier version of plans had public toilets.
Bats
It is noted that the application ticks “no” for protected species, but local people have seen bats
on/near the site for years. Suggestion to confirm via survey as the proposals may lead to
conflicts with EFDC policies and media complications.
Health
Concerns around provision as Epping is under-provided with GP services.
Demographics
It is noted that the date used in pre-Brexit and pre the Climate Crisis Declaration causing
question around its validity. Suggestion that the data is tested for statistical significance.
It is also noted that the deprivation data is given a different interpretation from that used in the
Sports Centre application which appears as either an accidental inconsistency, or deliberate
selective data targeting.
Plan & Design
It is noted that aspects of the application look encouraging and that the concept of a social area
and concierge service in an old building is creative and innovative. It is questioned whether this
will be staffed however.
Questions around the inclusion of a community café as one drawing appears to show people
seated outside with drinks. It is suggested that the use of open spaces could bring a community
feel to the development.
It is noted that planning for 4/5 storeys conflicts with the Town Neighbourhood Plan which calls
for no more than 3 storeys.

Page 362

A-24

Appendix 3
Aspects of building design are described as “uncomfortable” and the grey/cream building face
feels more Cotswolds than Essex, with dark grey window frames being a token nod modernism.
It is felt that designs including street-facing gable-ends do not reflect vernacular and a
meaningful reference to the Essex Design guide, or to several documents about “building
beautifully”, is requested.
It is noted that some of the elevation drawings are hard to match with plans (possibly a result of
small labels) and the trees, as sketched, do not always match the plans.
It is requested that the pedestrian access to Block C is checked as it seems to cross the car access
route to the block with car parking below.
There are also safety concerns around the use of chicanes which often become parking spaces
unless policed.
An elevation (Block B sheet 1) is noted as showing whole columns of windows put into shadow
by adjacent set-forward frontages, creating a sunlight problem within the estate and breaching
the 45 degree rule generally understood (resulting in less desirable flats).
The detail of the grounds are described as “fussy” (steps, walls, bird & bat facilities, trees, hard &
soft areas, railings) which will require high levels of sweeping. cleansing, litter clearing etc. The
maintenance schedule diagrams are noted and there are questions around whether these will be
by a Managing company or agent. It is presumed that these are to be financed by Ground
Rent/Maintenance Charges but no estimates provided in the application. It is noted that, if not
maintained properly, the development might easily deteriorate.
RENTAL COSTS
It is noted that there is no assessment of the final rental charges for the properties, nor whether
there is a general market demand at the rental level and subsequently a request to see this data.
Affordable Properties
The figure of 40% (Local Plan/Council minimum) is supported however there is no further detail
as to whether it is to be mixed i or segregated which can have an impact on social behaviour. It is
requested that the % be conditional to any approval, and not “lost” during Feasibility Appraisals.
Tenure
The emphasis on Rentals is recognised as being a financial driver to long-term aims; but the hope
that Qualis have factored in the implications is noted. I.e. renters tend to be more careless of
their environment, less inclined to keep tidy, sweep up litter & leaves, less likely to report
antisocial behaviour and graffiti etc. Epping Society would prefer a mixture of tenures which
might go some way towards tackling such problems; and it should better reflect the existing
local community. It is requested that there is a measure of preference for local people, especially
those on EFDC housing need list. There are concerns that failure to do so may result in an
enclave of Londoners seeking cheaper accommodation, and assurance is requested that the
flats will not be rented to London Boroughs.
Assurance is also requested that Qualis will not be selling these properties on in the mediumterm to realise capital. Epping Society do not want to see this landmark development become a
mere vehicle for big business machinations as the land has come from the community, whose
interest it should continue to preserve.

Page 363

A-25

Appendix 3
Essex Police
21 April 2021
It is noted that the applicant and Essex Police are already involved in constructive pre-application
consultation regarding the development and Essex Police is content the ethos of Crime Prevention
Through Environmental Design (CPTED) is being addressed adequately. Essex Police are confident
the development will meet POLICY ST2 – ACCESSIBILITY OF DEVELOPMENT (v), design and layout
which will reduce the potential for crime and fear of crime page 71 of the Epping Adopted Local
Plan.
It is noted that the refurbishment of the listed properties was not discussed, however these
properties could still have the opportunity to achieve a Secure By Design accreditation.

Page 364

A-26

Appendix 4
St Johns Road QRP Summary Reports:
20.03.20 – Formal review of Epping Town Centre Sites









While supporting the emerging work, the panel thinks there is scope to be bolder.
The panel recommends further work to define, proactively manage, protect and
measure ‘quality’, through each RIBA stage of work.
The panel recommends embedding clear sustainability commitments at RIBA Stage
1 or 2, which could include precedent research for criteria such as Passivhaus.
It highlights the benefits of early community engagement.
The panel encourages options testing for the mix and location of key Town Centre
functions and non-residential land uses. It also suggests broadening the spatial
scope of the Brief, to look beyond red line boundaries and consider the relationship
between the five sites and the high street, including potential public realm
improvements.
The panel urges a holistic view of the whole town centre to inform key design moves
on each site.
The panel thinks the current approach to car parking is unresolved. It highlights the
huge potential to encourage sustainable travel and adopt a flexible future-proofed
strategy to car parking and travel.

10.07.20 – Formal review of Epping Town Centre Sites








The panel thinks a more convincingly comprehensive approach is developing.
It strongly welcomes reconsideration of the leisure centre location and multi-storey
car park proposals.
The panel is yet to be convinced on the analysis undertaken to support the current
approach to town centre functions, or rationale for the housing typologies, tenure and
mix. While it broadly supports the uses suggested, it is unclear why specific uses are
being directed to specific sites.
It strongly recommends further work to ensure exemplary housing design, including
revisiting typologies, internal arrangements and layouts. The panel would like to see
more detail at a framework level before planning application details are developed,
including on: routes, broader connectivity, servicing, edges, integration and retail
arrangements.
It continues to strongly urge early engagement to develop the project vision – so
people can feel genuine agency in informing proposals.

17.09.20 – Workshop review of Epping Town Centre Sites






The Panel applauds the substantial work undertaken since the last review.
The approach taken to engagement is commendable and should be valuable in
informing ongoing design work.
The panel continues to stress the importance of looking beyond physical building
elements – to engage with the social, not just physical development of the centre. It
would have expected to see mapping – analysing the social and cultural offer that
already exists in the centre. This would then be used to inform an approach to ‘fill in
these gaps’.
The panel encourages developing a meanwhile strategy, and exploring the potential
for small scale public realm interventions.

Page 365



Greater clarity is needed on how individual sites and public realm will be phased,
funded and delivered including the delivery of public realm improvements.

The panel continues to strongly urge that the council re-consider the ‘no net loss’ approach
to car parking – and follow an evidence-based approach to parking and sustainable travel.
16.10.20 –Site Specific Workshop review











The panel is broadly supportive of the approach to the development of the St. Johns
Road site but recommends further consideration of a number of aspects including the
proposed mix of uses, massing, routes, streetscape and car parking.
While it considers a predominantly residential use appropriate, the panel encourages
the inclusion of ground floor non-residential uses in the Centrepoint building to
activate the street frontage.
The panel asks the design team to ensure access and routes have a clear purpose
and hierarchy. The masterplan should also take potential development on adjacent
sites into account.
The design team is encouraged to ensure the massing responds to the local
morphology, streetscape and urban grain.
It encourages a significant reconfiguration of Block F, which it considers to be too
large and unsympathetic to the local character.
The design approach should take detailed cues from Epping town centre typologies,
with a more unified architectural approach and simpler material palette.
The proposed green spaces are beneficial, but the same design attention should also
be paid to the quality of the proposed streetscape.
Undercroft parking should be reconsidered, to improve the relationship between
ground floor and street.
The Woodland Walk is welcomed, but greater consideration should be given to
introducing passive surveillance.
The panel welcomes the aspirations to achieve Passivhaus standards, and
encourages an equivalent boldness in the development’s approach to biodiversity, for
example including native habitats.

05.03.21 – Site Specific Formal review









The panel supports many aspects of the proposals for the St John’s Road site, but
notes several areas require further development, notably the public realm quality,
landscape, architecture expression and sustainability strategies. It is important that
these are addressed prior to planning submission.
The public realm could respond more positively and actively to the wider urban
context, including more civic uses on the ground floors that face public streets and
better defined public and private areas.
The character and design of internal street to access the car parks requires further
thought to prioritise the pedestrian experience and car parking should be reduced
further.
The overall route into the site would benefit from more active frontages.
The landscape strategy should be more ambitious, drawing on the character of
Epping town centre, with a coherent approach to all the Qualis sites. Biodiversity
gains and the ecological value of open spaces should be clearly defined.
The use of architectural elements, such as gables and balconies, should help define
a hierarchy among the buildings, and also relate to how this development addresses
the High Street and St Johns Road.
All elevations should respond to their orientation and environmental factors and
sustainability studies should be actively translated into the designs.

Page 366



The depth of the facade, the materials chosen and detailing of architectural elements
are essential to delivering the intended design quality. Mock-ups, samples, bay
studies and key details should be part of the planning application submission.

General comments relating to all five town centre sites:






These developments on council owned land create an opportunity to deliver
exemplar development, in terms of design quality and environmental sustainability.
A lot of valuable work was done looking at the relationship between the five Qualis
sites and Epping town centre. This should be captured in an Area Action Plan, or
similar document, endorsed by the council, so that this work is not lost.
A more site-specific approach to environmental sustainability is needed, so that the
layout and façade design of buildings responds to orientation and context.
Achieving modal shift will require new development to make car use less convenient,
so that walking and cycling become preferred options.
The panel thinks the relationship between the architectural character of each site
needs further thought.

Page 367

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 12
Epping Forest DistrictAgenda
Council
5

1m
6.
10
48

10

El
Su
bS
ta

2

15

S
K
R
LA
C

94

90

E
N
LA

15
a

77

10
a

92

EFDC
79

Fire
Station

ub
Cl

82

80

6

17

82
a

76

17
a

12

74

106.7m

70
68

52

El
ec
Ho tron
us
e

19

ll
Ha

66
64

1

23

t
58

60

2
o6

23
a

3

48

64

22

RO
AD

20

68

NI
CH
O
LL

27

a
74

b
74

23
22

21

35
45

Co
m
m
un
ity
Ce
nt

18
12

39

AME

29

re

SBUR
Y

CL

10

o8

9

38

27

23

9
to
22

2

RO
AD

1

Pelly
Court

EFDC

52

57

AM
ES
BU
RY

3

53

61

15

Contains Ordnance Survey Data. ©
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No:
100018534

2

Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings.

Application Number:

EPF/0918/21

Site Name:

Epping Sports Centre
25 Hemnall Street Epping
CM16 4LU
1:1250

Scale of Plot:

Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail
Copyright & Database Right 2013

Page 369

RA
HN

33

1t

to

15

ET
RE
T
S

38

15

74

L
AL
N
M
E
H

Council Offices
and
Sports Centre

to

28

This page is intentionally left blank

Report to District Development
Management Committee
Date of Meeting: 27th October 2021

Site Address: Epping Sports Centre, 25 Hemnall Street,
Epping, CM16 4LU
Application Number:

EPF/0918/21

Application Type:

Full Planning Application

Proposal:

Redevelopment of existing Sports Centre and car
park. Demolition of existing Sports Centre.
Development to comprise a new apartment
building and houses to provide a mix of residential
units (Use Class C3), new vehicular and pedestrian
access from Nicholl Road and new pedestrian
access from Hemnall Street, all associated car and
cycle parking, servicing, hard and soft landscaping
and associated works.

Site Address:

Epping Sports Centre, 25 Hemnall Street, Epping, CM16 4LU

Ward:

Epping Hemnall

Parish:

Epping Town

Conservation Area:

No

EFDLP Site Allocation

Yes

Epping Forest Special Area of
Conservation

LPSV Ref: EPP.R5

Subject to the imposition of planning conditions and
completion of a section 106 planning obligation to secure
the measures identified in the Interim Air Pollution

Page 371

Mitigation Strategy and electric vehicle charging
infrastructure, the Council can conclude that there will be
no adverse impact on the integrity of the Epping Forest
Special Area of Conservation.

Applicant:

Qualis Commercial Ltd (part of Qualis Group Ltd)
Qualis Group Ltd is a company wholly owned by Epping Forest
District Council

Agent:

Q+A Planning Ltd

Case officer:

Nick Finney / Emily Holton-Walsh

Democratic Services Officer

Gary Woodhall. Contact number: 01992 564 470

Validation date:

21st April 2021

Reason for reporting
application to Members:

This application is before this committee since it proposes a
‘major’ development where the Council is a landowner as
defined in Article 10 of the Constitution.
The site is to have transferred from Council ownership to
Qualis Commercial Ltd, however given that this is a wholly
owned company of the Council the application is considered
to meet the DDMC terms of reference.

1.

RECOMMENDATION
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to:
1. the prior completion of a Legal Agreement within four months of the resolution
to grant planning permission to secure the planning obligations within section
3 and subject to planning conditions listed in Appendix 1 of this report.

2.

SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

2.1

The application site has been proposed for allocation (ref: EPP.R5) in the Epping
Forest District Local Plan Submission Version (LPSV) to provide new residential
accommodation within Epping Forest District to meet an identified need.

Page 372

2.2

Overall, the proposal is for the sustainable re-use of brownfield land, in general
accordance with the site allocations within the LPSV. The proposal would provide
additional housing which is a benefit that should be afforded significant weight in the
planning balance, particularly in light of the acute housing shortage within the District.
The scheme would also provide a significant amount of affordable housing, albeit
noting that full policy compliance would not be viable. In terms of the quality of the
proposed homes, these would meet prescribed space standards, accessibility
standards, benefit from amenity space and include a large proportion of dual aspect
flats.

2.3

The proposals would integrate satisfactorily with the surrounding townscape in terms
of scale, massing and overall design. The proposals would have an acceptable impact
on the living conditions of neighbouring properties in terms of light, privacy and outlook.
Furthermore, no undue harm would arise from noise or light emitted from the
development.

2.4

In terms of transport, the extent of car and cycle parking is acceptable and, in
combination with the submitted Travel Plan, would help reduce reliance on the private
car and the transition to sustainable modes of travel. The sustainability aspects of the
proposal are in compliance with policy.

2.5

The application demonstrates that the environmental impact of the proposal would be
acceptable, subject to appropriate mitigation. There would be no adverse effect on the
integrity of the EFSAC, no air quality degradation, no increased flood risk and no
significant risk to human health from contamination. Archaeological and ecological
assets would be safeguarded as a result of the proposal, and biodiversity net gain
secured.

2.6

On the basis of the analysis undertaken within this report, it is considered that the
proposed development is compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan
and the LPSV.

3.

PLANNING OBLIGATIONS AND CONDITIONS

3.1

The recommendation is given subject to conditions as set out in Appendix 1 of this
report. In addition, a section 106 agreement will secure the following planning
obligations and financial contributions. The obligations are grouped into sections for
ease of reference:

3.2

Affordable Housing


25% Affordable Housing
o



Either as Build to Rent (BtR) Affordable Private Rent or RSL managed
80% Affordable Social Rent / 20% Shared Ownership

Unit mix to mirror private mix

Page 373

3.3



Viability reviews



BtR rental value capped at 80% of open market rent



BtR eligibility/nomination criteria



BtR clawback mechanism if BtR units sold

Build to Rent (BtR)


3.4

3.5

Transport


Travel Plan (Monitoring Fee £1,533)



Active Transport Improvements (£70,360)



Controlled Parking Zones Management

Open Space and Green Infrastructure


3.6

3.8

3.10

Primary Healthcare contribution (£19,740)

Education


Early Years (£29,528)



Primary Education (£98,428)



Secondary Education (£90,345)

Community Facilities


3.9

Provision and Enhancement of public parks and amenity space (£258,851)

Healthcare


3.7

BtR management and operation requirements

Library Services (£3,112)

EFSAC HRA Mitigation


EFSAC recreational pressure (£14,080)



EFSAC Air Pollution Mitigation (£13,400)

Employment and Skills


An employment and skills plan to be agreed for the development.

Page 374

Completion of the section 106 agreement
3.11

In the event that the required section 106 agreement is not satisfactorily completed
within four months of the date of the resolution to grant planning permission then in the
absence of a suitable mechanism to secure planning and financial obligations to
mitigate the impact of development, the Planning Services Director is authorised to
refuse planning permission.
Conditions

3.12

The full list of conditions is identified in Appendix 1. In summary, the conditions will be
applied to cover the following matters:


Time Limit for commencement



Approved drawing numbers



Finished floor levels



Use of materials



Design and landscape



Highways mitigation measures



Ecology issues



SuDS and land drainage



Land contamination



Sustainability / energy



Noise and air quality mitigation



External lighting strategy



Archaeology



Restrictive conditions

4.

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

4.1

Full application for the redevelopment of existing Sports Centre and car park.
Demolition of existing Sports Centre. Development to comprise a new
apartment building and houses to provide a mix of residential units (Use Class
C3), new vehicular and pedestrian access from Nicholl Road and new

Page 375

pedestrian access from Hemnall Street, all associated car and cycle parking,
servicing, hard and soft landscaping and associated works.
5.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1

Environmental Impact Assessments (EIA) have been undertaken for all five sites and
reported in two Environmental Statements:
1. Environmental Statement dated 31 March 2021 which reports the findings of the
EIA for the three residential sites (St John's Road (EPP.R4), Sports Centre
(EPP.R5) and Civic Offices (part) (EPP.R8) (the Residential ES); and
2. Environmental Statement dated 28 July 2021 which reports on the findings of the
EIA for the two commercial sites (Cottis Lane (EPP.R6) and Bakers Lane
(EPP.R7)) (the Commercial ES).

5.2

The 'Epping Town Centre Development: Environment Summary Report' dated July
2020 sets out how the Residential ES and the Commercial ES interact and that
relevant environmental effects have been assessed for each site individually and
cumulatively.

5.3

It is assessed by the Council that the submitted ES's collectively provide adequate
environmental information to enable the applications to be determined.

5.4

Both the Residential ES and the Commercial ES assess the likely significant effects
on ecology and biodiversity, traffic and transport, socio-economics, air quality,
townscape, cultural heritage and climate change. The effects have been analysed and
mitigation measures have been identified.

5.5

Both of the environmental statements identify the following significant effects:
5.5.1. Significant effect on climate change, which is to be addressed via embedded
and operational mitigation to reduce carbon emissions, as detailed further in the
Sustainability section of this report.
5.5.2. Significant beneficial effect from new employment opportunities.

5.6

Other residual effects are to be addressed via Construction Management Plans,
Landscape and Ecological Management Plans secured by planning condition.

6.

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

6.1

The application site lays within the defined Epping town centre to the south of the
proposed primary shopping area as defined in the LPSV.

6.2

The site comprises of the Epping Sports Centre building, which occupies a large
proportion of the site. Pedestrian access can be gained from Hemnall Street to the
north and Nicholl Road to the South, with a stepped route connecting the two roads.

Page 376

Vehicular access is also possible from both roads, with the part of the site not occupied
by the building forming three car parking areas. The boundary with Hemnall Street and
the north-eastern boundary are heavily treed. The Nicholl Road boundary is enclosed
with hedging, to the rear of the sports centre. The site level is higher towards Hemnall
Street and lower towards Nicholl Road, with a drop in level of approximately 1.5m.
6.3

The site is immediately surrounded by a mixture of 19th and mid-20th century
residential development to the north with the retail/services and cafés/restaurants
concentrated along High Street situated beyond that to the north. To the south, east
and west, the site is surrounded by residential development.

7.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

7.1

The planning history of the site is limited, as follows:

Application
Reference

EPF/1079/81

Description of Development

Decision

Change of use of existing offices and store to club
bar, kitchen and bar cellar.

Granted
05.10/1981

8.

CONSULTATION AND REPRESENTATIONS

8.1

Statutory and technical consultee comments are noted below and provided in
summary within Appendix 3 Statutory consultees (the submitted comments are
available in full on the Council's website through the following link)


Essex County Council - SUDS – No objection, subject to condition.



Essex County Council – Green Infrastructure – No objection, subject to
condition.



Essex County Council – Infrastructure Schools/Libraries – No objection,
subject to a section 106 agreement to mitigate its impact on early years &
childcare, primary and secondary education and library provision.



Essex County Council - Highways – The impact of the proposal is acceptable,
subject to the recommended conditions.



Essex County Council: Historic Environment – No need for an archaeological
condition



Essex County Council - Place Service Ecology – No objection to subject to
securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures with
recommended conditions if approved.

Page 377



EFDC - Environmental Health – Noise – No objection in principle.



EFDC - Environmental Health - Contaminated Land – No objection, subject to
condition.



EFDC - Environmental Health – Air Quality Officer – No response received.



EFDC - Trees and Landscape – Objection, due to the removal of the London
Plane and Black Pine along Nicholl Road and insufficient green infrastructure
proposed.



EFDC - Building Control – Suggested early consultation is carried out by the
applicant with Essex Fire and Rescue Service with regard to building
regulations.



EFDC - Land Drainage Section – No objection, subject to conditions.



Environment Agency – No objection.



Essex Police – No objection.



Thames Water – No objection.



Cadent Gas – No objection.



Epping Town Council – Parish – Objection, based on scale, design, impact on
neighbouring properties, insufficient car parking and tree removal.



Epping Society – Raises objection due to insufficient parking provision, poor
quality design not in accordance with the Essex Design Guide, inaccurate
representation of relationship with neighbouring properties, removal of trees,
drainage, emergency access, design of Block A and environmental impact.



Sport England - raises no objection, subject to a section 106 agreement or
planning condition addressing the phasing and delivery of the replacement
leisure centre;



NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group – No objection, subject to
obligations to mitigate against the impacts arising from the development with
regard to additional primary healthcare provision.

8.2

Other external consultees (full comments are available on the Council’s website
using the link above).

8.3

Notification

8.4

In accordance with relevant legal requirements and the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement, notification letters were sent to the occupants of 96

Page 378

residential properties on 21.04.21. Site notices were displayed on 23.04.21. A press
notice was published in the Epping Forest Guardian on the 22.04.21. Over the course
of the consultations, 11 representations have been received in response to the
consultation on the application.
8.5

Following design amendments made during the determination of development a 14day consultation exercise was undertaken. The changes comprised the replacement
of proposed Nicholl Road apartment block (x3 units) with 2no. houses, reduced
footprint of Block A, internal layout alterations, fenestration arrangement alterations
and revised hard and soft landscaping.

8.6

The re-consultation period expired on the 27/08/2021

8.7

The representations received identified the following material planning considerations
relevant to the determination of the application a summary of which is contained at
Appendix 2.

8.8



Impact on ecology



Car Parking capacity and traffic impact



Character of design

Other Consultation
Quality Review Panel

8.9

Development proposals on the site have been the subject of four Quality Review Panel
(QRP) meetings. These were held on the following dates:


20th March 2020 (town centre strategy);



10th July 2020 (town centre strategy);



17th September 2020 (town centre strategy);



16th October 2020;



5th March 2021;

The main feedback received pertains to the proposed car parking arrangement and
entrance from Nicholl Road, bin storage arrangements, additional soft landscaping,
the useability of the courtyard area and the generosity of the east-west pedestrian link.
The Panel also feel there is an opportunity to develop a site specific sustainability
strategy, which should directly inform the façade design. A summary of the QRP
feedback is enclosed at Appendix 4
8.10

Engagement with the Local Community

Page 379

8.11

A comprehensive community engagement strategy was developed by QCL in relation
to five sites, one of which is the application site. The approach involved two
consultation stages as follows:


Stage 1 consultation – this included consultation on the land use strategy for
five sites plus initial design ideas for all five sites.



Stage 2 consultation – this included more detailed design for all five sites,
including layout, quantum, massing, landscaping and appearance.

9.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

9.1

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended ("the 1990
Act"), requires that in dealing with any planning application the authority shall have
regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application
and to any other material planning considerations.

9.2

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) ("the
2004 Act") requires that if regard is to be had to the Development Plan for the purpose
of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts the determination must be
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise

9.3

The Development Plan currently comprises the saved policies of the Epping Forest
District Council Adopted Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006) (ALP). The list below
indicates which policies of the ALP are relevant to the determination of this application
and the degree to which officers consider that they are consistent with the NPPF as
noted in the report to the Local Plan Cabinet Committee (25th March 2013):
CP1 – Achieving Sustainable Development Objectives – Compliant
CP3 – New Development – Compliant
CP4 – Energy Conservation – Compliant
CP5 – Sustainable Building – Compliant
CP 6 – Achieving Sustainable Urban Development Patterns – Compliant
CP 7 – Urban Form and Quality – Compliant
CP 8 – Sustainable Urban Economic Development – Compliant
CP 9 – Sustainable Transport – Compliant
TC1 – Town Centre Hierarchy – Compliant
TC2 – Sequential Approach – Compliant
TC3 – Town Centre Function – Compliant

Page 380

HC6 – Character Appearance and Setting of Conservation Areas – Compliant
DBE1 – Design of New Buildings – Compliant
DBE2 – Effect on Neighbouring Properties – Compliant
DBE3 – Design in Urban Areas – Compliant
DBE6 – Car Parking in New Development – Compliant
DBE9 – Loss of Amenity – Compliant
LL11 – Landscaping Schemes – Compliant
ST1 – Location of Development – Compliant
ST2 – Accessibility of Development – Compliant
ST4 – Road Safety – Compliant
RST1 – Recreational, Sporting and Tourist Facilities – Compliant
CF12 – Retention of Community Facilities – Compliant
RP4 – Contaminated Land – Compliant
RP5A – Adverse Environmental Impacts – Compliant
U3B – Sustainable Drainage Systems – Compliant
I1A – Planning Obligations – Compliant
I3 – Replacement Facilities – Compliant
NC1 – SPAs SACs SSSIs – Compliant
9.4

The relevance of the identified saved Local Plan policies to the determination of this
application and the weight to be accorded to each policy are addressed in further detail
within this report.

10.

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK

10.1

The current version of the National Planning Policy Framework ("the Framework" or
"NPPF") was published in July 2021. It provides the framework for producing Local
Plans for housing and other development, which in turn provide the policies against
which applications for planning permission are decided.

Page 381

10.2

Reflecting the proper approach identified in the previous section of this Report, the
NPPF explains (at paragraph 2) that:
"2.

10.3

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy
Framework must be taken into account in preparing the development
plan and is a material consideration in planning decisions. Planning
policies and decisions must also reflect relevant international
obligations and statutory requirements.2"

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF concerns the presumption in favour of sustainable
development and states (so far as relevant):
"Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable
development.
…
For decision-taking this means:
c)

approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan without delay; or

d)

where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies
which are most important for determining the application are out-ofdate8, granting permission unless:
i.

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas
or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for
refusing the development proposed7; or

ii.

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in this Framework taken as a whole."

10.4

Paragraph 11 d) ii. is often referred to as the 'tilted balance'.

10.5

Paragraph 219 of the NPPF requires that policies in the existing Development Plan
should not be considered out of date simply because they were adopted or made prior
to the publication of the NPPF. Rather, due weight should be given to such policies
according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF; in other words, the closer the
policies in the Development Plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight
that may be given to them.

10.6

For the purposes of sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 11, footnote 7 lists the policies in
Framework (rather than those in development plans) that protect areas or assets of
particular importance including: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 176)

Page 382

and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green
Belt, or Local Green Space; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and
other heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 63 of the NPPF);
and areas at risk of flooding.
10.7

The NPPF comprises a number of chapters of which nos. 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 14 and 16
are particularly relevant to the proposed development.

11.

EMERGING LOCAL PLAN

11.1

On 14 December 2017, the Council resolved to approve the Epping Forest District
Local Plan (2011-2033) – Submission Version ("LPSV") for submission to the
Secretary of State and the Council also resolved that the LPSV be endorsed as a
material consideration to be used in the determination of planning applications.

11.2

The Council submitted the LPSV for independent examination on 21 September 2018.
The Inspector appointed to examine the LPSV ("the Local Plan Inspector") held
examination hearings between 12 February and 11 June 2019. As part of the
examination process, the Council has asked the Local Plan Inspector to recommend
modifications of the LPSV to enable its adoption.

11.3

During the examination hearings, a number of proposed Main Modifications of the
LPSV were 'agreed' with the Inspector on the basis that they would be subject to public
consultation in due course. Following completion of the hearings, in a letter dated 2
August 2019 the Local Plan Inspector provided the Council with advice on the
soundness and legal compliance of the LPSV ("the Inspector's Advice"). In that letter,
the Inspector concluded that, at this stage, further Main Modifications (MMs) of the
emerging Local Plan were required to enable its adoption and that, in some cases,
additional work would need to be done by the Council to establish the precise form of
the MMs. Subsequently the proposed MMs have been submitted to the Inspector and
subject to public consultation.

11.4

Although the LPSV does not yet form part of the statutory development plan, when
determining planning applications, the Council must have regard to the LPSV as
material to the application under consideration. In accordance with paragraph 48 of
the NPPF, the LPAs "may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according
to:
a)

The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);

b)

The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight
that may be given); and

Page 383

c)

The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan
to this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).22"

11.5

Footnote 24 to paragraph 48 of the NPPF explains that where an emerging Local Plan
is being examined under the transitional arrangements (set out in paragraph 214), as
is the case for the LPSV, consistency should be tested against March 2012 version of
the NPPF.

11.6

As the preparation of the emerging Local Plan has reached a very advanced stage,
subject to the Inspector's Advice regarding the need for additional MMs, significant
weight should be accorded to LPSV policies in accordance with paragraph 48 of
Framework. The following table lists the LPSV policies relevant to the determination of
this application and officers' recommendation regarding the weight to be accorded to
each policy.
SP 1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development – Significant
SP 2 – Spatial Development Strategy – Moderate
SP 3 – Space shaping – Significant
SP7 – The Natural Environment, Landscape Character and Green Infrastructure Significant
T 1 – Sustainable transport choices - Significant
DM 1 – Habitat protection and improving biodiversity - Significant
DM 2 – Epping Forest SAC and the Lee Valley SPA - Significant
DM 3 – Landscape character, Ancient Landscapes and Geodiversity - Significant
DM 5 – Green and Blue Infrastructure - Significant
DM 7 – Heritage Assets - Significant
DM 9 – High quality design – Significant
DM 11 - Waste recycling facilities on new development –
DM 15 – Managing and reducing flood risk – Significant
DM 16 – Sustainable Drainage Systems - Significant
DM 18 – On site management of wastewater and water supply - Significant
DM 20 – Low carbon and renewable energy - Significant

Page 384

DM 21 – Local environmental impacts, pollution and land contamination - Significant
DM 22 – Air Quality – Significant
P 1 – Epping– Significant
D 1 – Delivery of Infrastructure – Significant
D 2 – Essential Facilities and Services - Significant
D 3 – Utilities - Significant
D 4 – Community Leisure and Cultural Facilities - Significant
12.

EPPING TOWN NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

12.1

A draft version of the Epping Town Neighbourhood Plan (ETNP) was published for
consultation in May 2018. The ETNP has not yet been finalised, put to a local
referendum or therefore adopted as part of the development plan. Whilst the draft
ETNP can only be afforded limited weight, the relevant policies are summarised below.
Policy 3 – identifies the site as a site for development
Policy 7 – states the capacity and balance of existing public car parking should be
maintained
Policy 11 - considered in the context of the need to maintain and enhance the health
and vitality of shopping and commercial/employment areas.
Policy 13 - relates to business and employment. It states that the main area for
employment-related activities will be in premises along and adjoining the High Street
Policy 14 - addresses the enhancement of social, sporting, play, cultural and
community facilities in Epping. This policy is discussed later in the report.
Policy 15 - states that development will only be permitted with design qualities that
match the character of the area and respect the amenity of existing residents with
regard to noise generation, overlooking and car parking.
Policy 19 - addresses sustainability

13.

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The remainder of the report will consider the proposal against the requirements of the
development plan as follows:


Principle of development.



Impact on the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation

Page 385



Housing Mix / Affordable Housing



Design
-

Layout, access and connectivity

-

Scale, form and massing

-

Landscaping

-

Appearance and materials

-

Amenity for future residents



Density



Impacts on neighbouring amenity
-

Privacy and amenity issues

-

Sunlight, daylight and open aspect

-

Overlooking/loss of privacy issues

-

Outlook issues

-

Noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality



Highway and Transport considerations



Sustainability



Energy and climate change



Flood Risk and SuDs



Ground Contamination



Historic Environment
-

Archaeology



Ecology



Infrastructure



Employment and skills



Equality duties and human rights

Page 386


14.

Conclusion

Principle of Development
Introduction

14.1

This planning application is one of five submitted by the applicant. The five sites
comprise Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane car parks, Land at St Johns Road, Epping
Sports Centre (Hemnall Street) and Land at the Civic Offices (Condor Building).
Through the process of determination of the five Epping town centre planning
applications, it has been agreed with the applicant that the five sites should be
considered collectively for the purposes of this assessment. Looking at the sites
collectively enables the full extent of proposals to be understood when considering the
appropriate mix of uses and level of affordable housing. Environmental Impact
Assessments (EIA) have been undertaken for all five sites and reported in two
Environmental Statements (ES): Environmental Statement dated 31 March 2021 which
reports the findings of EIA for the three residential sites; and Environmental Statement
dated 28 July 2021 which reports the findings of EIA for the two commercial sites.
These were submitted voluntarily by the applicant.

14.2

In the development of their proposals a Town Centre Strategy was developed by the
applicant and formed part of the pre-application public consultation. This was
submitted with the applications as an appendix to the submitted Planning Statements
(Q+A Planning Statement Appendix 1) and sets out how the five sites have been
considered together. A development optioneering process is set out with a preferred
distribution of uses proposed by the applicant. This distribution of uses is reflected in
the submitted planning applications. The applicant has proposed an alternative
arrangement of uses to that set out in the relevant site allocations identified in Policy
P 1 of the LPSV. This was as a result of the formation of Qualis Commercial Ltd and
their appointment to take forward the development strategy for these Council owned
sites. In looking at the development opportunity wholistically the applicant was able to
develop a more deliverable site strategy which they considers provides a better overall
outcome.

14.3

For the avoidance of doubt, the Town Centre Strategy is simply a document prepared
by the applicant in support of the applications; it is not adopted Council policy or
guidance.

14.4

The proposed development as submitted with each of the five planning applications is
set out below:

Site

Description of Development

Page 387

Summary of Proposed
Development

Bakers Lane Full application for the redevelopment
Car Park
of existing surface level car park to
provide a leisure centre to include
EPF/2924/20
swimming pool, gymnasium, sports
hall, squash courts and studio (mixed
Class E (d) and F.2 (d)) together with
disabled parking provision, new
vehicular and pedestrian access, all
hard and soft landscaping, and
associated works.

5,575 sq m GIA (6,087 sq
m GEA)

Cottis
Lane Full application for the redevelopment
Car Park
of existing surface level car park
comprising the demolition of public
EPF/2925/20
toilets and the construction of a multideck car park, cinema (sui generis),
commercial floorspace (mixed Class
E), replacement public toilets and
cycle store, all associated plant,
together with new vehicular and
pedestrian access, all hard and soft
landscaping, and associated works.

330 space multi-storey car
park

Land at St Redevelopment of the former school
Johns Road
buildings and depot. Demolition of five
buildings and the retention of three
EPF/0917/21
locally listed buildings. Development
to comprise erection of new
apartment
buildings
and
the
conversion, extension and change of
use of the existing locally listed
Centrepoint building and Cookery
School to provide a mix of residential
units (Use Class C3) and ancillary
communal amenity areas. Extension
and refurbishment of two existing
locally listed semi-detached caretaker
cottages. Revised vehicular and
pedestrian access from St Johns
Road and new pedestrian access
from High Street, all associated car
and cycle parking, servicing, hard and

113 – 1 bed flats

Page 388

6-lane swimming pool,
fitness
suite,
studios,
sports hall and squash
courts.
6 blue
spaces

badge

parking

1,166 sq m GIA (1,201
GEA) Class E commercial
floorspace
846 sq m (GIA) (871 sq m
GEA)
Cinema
(Sui
Generis)
Total: 11,126 sq m GIA
(11,460 sq m GEA)

62 – 2 bed flats
7 – 3 bed flats
2 – Existing 2-bed house’s
refurbished
Total: 184
dwellings

(182

new)

soft landscaping
works.

Epping Sports
Centre
(Hemnall
Street)
EPF/0918/21

and

associated

Redevelopment of existing Sports
Centre and car park. Demolition of
existing Sports Centre. Development
to comprise a new apartment building
and houses to provide a mix of
residential units (Use Class C3), new
vehicular and pedestrian access from
Nicholl Road and new pedestrian
access from Hemnall Street, all
associated car and cycle parking,
servicing, hard and soft landscaping
and associated works.

Land and part
of
Civic
Offices
(Condor
Building)

The redevelopment of the existing
office building and car park.
Demolition of the existing office
building and alterations to connection
to existing Listed Civic Centre.
Development to comprise new
EPF/0919/21
apartment buildings and houses to
+EPF/1042/21 provide a mix of residential units (Use
Class C3), revised vehicular and
pedestrian access from High Street,
all associated car and cycle parking,
servicing, hard and soft landscaping
and associated works.

13 – 1 bed flats
12 – 2 bed flats
4 – 3 bed flats
11 – 3 bed houses
Total: 40 dwellings

7 – 1 bed flats
17 – 2 bed flats
5 – 3 bed flats
1 – 2 bed house
13 – 3 bed houses
2 – 4 bed houses
Total: 45 dwellings

14.5

NPPF

14.6

As demonstrated at recent appeals the Councils current five-year land supply of
deliverable housing sites has been shown to currently be 2.43 years (although on
adoption of the LPSV the Council will be able to demonstrate a five year supply) and
the tilted balance identified in Para 11(d) of the NPPF is engaged. which provides that
permission should be granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the
policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

14.7

Adopted Local Plan (1998, altered 2006)

Page 389

14.8

As previously identified, section 38(6) of the 2004 Act require that applications for
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

14.9

The polices from the adopted Local Plan form part of the existing Development Plan.
However, it is acknowledged that the adopted Local Plan is not for the current Plan
Period and a number of the policies therein are inconsistent with the NPPF.

14.10 By comparison, the LPSV contains up-to-date policies which have been informed by
robust and up-to-date evidence. On this basis and having due regard for the provisions
of paragraph 48 of the NPPF, it is concluded that the policies contained within the
LPSV should be afforded greater weight in the overall balance. Further examination of
the weight to be afforded to the draft allocation in the LPSV is assessed in the following
section.
14.11 The emerging Local Plan Policies
As previously set out, the LPSV is now at a very advanced stage in its production. The
examination hearing sessions, as part of the Independent Examination (IE), have been
concluded and the Local Plan Inspector published her advice following the hearing
sessions in August 2019.
14.12 The Inspector's advice dated 2nd August 2019 sets out the areas where Main
Modifications (MMs) to the LPSV will be required in order for it to be considered
“sound”. Of the five site allocations, the Inspector in her advice identified actions only
in relation to St Johns Road and the Civic Office. Paragraph 46 of the Inspector’s
advice confirmed “a modification is required to the “Design” entry in Appendix 6 for
EPP.R4 (Land at St Johns Road) to make it explicit that the site is expected to
accommodate a replacement for the sports/leisure facility to be lost through the
allocation of EPP.R5”. Her advice goes on to advise that modification proposed in
paragraph 5 of document ED85 would be sufficient to ensure the protection of the listed
building forming part of allocation EPP.R8 (Land and part of Civic Offices) (Action 20).
The Inspector confirmed in her response dated 25th November 2019 that she does not
have any concerns about areas or allocations in the LPSV which are not mentioned in
her advice from August 2021.
14.13 The comments made regarding Land at St John’s Road and Land and part of Civic
Offices were points of clarification save for the request to amend the St John’s Road
“Design” entry to specify Leisure Centre given that a Leisure Centre was to be lost as
a result of site allocation EPP.R5 Epping Sports Centre. The MMs published by EFDC
on the 15th July 2021 addressed this comment and reference is now incorporated into
the draft Local Plan.
14.14 Within this context and having due regard to Paragraph 48 of the NPPF, it is
considered that there are no unresolved objections in respect of the proposed site
allocations at Bakers Lane car park (EPP.R7), Cottis Lane car park (EPP.R6), Epping
Sports Centre (Hemnall Street) (EPP.R5). With regards to the Land at St John’s

Page 390

(EPP.R4) and Land at and part of Civic Offices (EPP.R5) there are no unresolved
objections to the principle of development on these sites.
14.15 As that the Local Plan Inspector has not raised ‘in-principle’ objections to the proposed
site allocations for the five planning applications; the emerging Local Plan is consistent
with the requirements of the NPPF; and the public consultation on the Main
Modifications to the Local plan recently ended on 23rd September 2021, it is concluded
that the emerging Local Plan is at an advanced stage and must be given significant
weight in the determination of planning applications.
14.16 The policy site allocations are set out in the table below alongside the development
proposed by the current planning applications.

LPSV Site
Allocation

Proposed Site Allocation

Summary of Proposed
Development

EPP.R7

Residential with an approximate net 5,575 sq m GIA (6,087 sq m
capacity of 47 dwellings or 78 GEA) mixed Class E (d) and
Bakers
dwellings in total between site F.2 (d)).
Lane
Car allocations EPP.R7 and EPP.R6.
Park
6-lane swimming pool, fitness
Site allocations EPP.R6 and suite, studios, sports hall and
EPP.R7
should
together squash courts.
incorporate the re-provision of the
existing number of car parking 6 blue badge parking spaces.
spaces [336] for town centre visitors
to ensure that there is no net loss of
parking spaces

EPP.R6

Residential with an approximate net 330 space multi-storey car park
capacity of 31 dwellings or 78
Cottis Lane dwellings in total between site 1,166 sq m GIA (1,201 GEA)
Car Park
Class E commercial floorspace
allocations EPP.R7 and EPP.R6.
Site allocations EPP.R6 and
EPP.R7
should
together
incorporate the re-provision of the
existing number of car parking
spaces [336] for town centre visitors
to ensure that there is no net loss of
parking spaces.

Page 391

846 sq m (GIA) (871 sq m GEA)
Cinema (Sui Generis)
Total: 11,126 sq m GIA (11,460
sq m GEA)

Mixed use including residential 113 – 1 bed flats
(approximate net capacity of 34
Land at St dwellings) and appropriate town 62 – 2 bed flats
Johns Road centre uses.
7 – 3 bed flats
EPP.R4

Development proposals should
contain a mix of uses including a
leisure centre and residential
development. Other uses on site
could include, retail, community
facilities, hospitality, employment
and further leisure uses.

EPP.R5
Epping
Sports
Centre
(Hemnall
Street)

2 – Existing 2-bed house’s
refurbished
Total: 184 (182 new) dwellings
The current proposal does not
include the full extent of the site
allocation with the portion of the
site occupied by Epping Town
Council hall being retained by
the Town Council and not
forming
part
of
the
redevelopment proposals.

Residential with an approximate net 13 – 1 bed flats
capacity of 43 dwellings. (Proposed
Main Modifications amends this to 12 – 2 bed flats
42 dwellings)
4 – 3 bed flats
11 – 3 bed houses
Total: 40 dwellings

EPP.R8
Residential with an approximate net 7 – 1 bed flats
(Land and capacity of 44 dwellings.
17 – 2 bed flats
part of Civic
Offices)
5 – 3 bed flats
1 – 2 bed house
13 – 3 bed houses
2 – 4 bed houses
Total: 45 dwellings
The current proposal does not
include the full extent of the site

Page 392

allocation with the portion of the
site fronting High Street to be
retained in use as part of the
Civic Offices.

14.17 The proposed developments at Bakers Lane car park, Cottis Lane car park and Land
at St Johns Road are therefore not in accordance with the emerging Local Plan policies
as set out in Appendix 6 (Site Specific Requirements). Consideration is therefore given
to the principle of the proposed developments as standalone sites and when taken
together as a linked project.
Bakers Lane
Planning Policy Context
14.18 Policy SP2 of the LPSV seeks to promote town centre development and regeneration,
and Policy E2 is supportive of proposals for leisure uses within town centres where
they will maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of those centres. The site is
located within Epping Town Centre boundary within the adopted plan and LPSV.
14.19 Policy D4 addresses community, leisure and cultural facilities in the District. The
proposals would support the requirements of policy D4 by improving the quality and
capacity of existing facilities that are valued by the community and ensuring that the
new facilities are better in terms of quality, quantity and accessibility than the existing
Epping Sports Centre.
14.20 Within the ALP Policy CP6 and TC1 support proposals that enhance the vitality and
viability of Town Centres and Policy RST1 supports additional recreational and
sporting facilities.
14.21 The location and proposals at Bakers Lane are in general accordance with planning
policy which seeks that such uses are provided and in accessible town centre
locations. The specific location at Bakers Lane is easily accessible to the town centre
and supportive of town centre footfall.
14.22 The proposal to develop the Bakers Lane site as a Leisure Centre however is a
divergence from the LPSV site allocation EPP.R7 which identifies the site for
residential development. This shortfall in residential units is also not made up via
proposed development at Cottis Lane as is permitted within the site allocation (as the
Cottis Lane planning application proposes a multi-storey car park, cinema and
commercial floorspace). The proposal therefore results in the loss of a residential site
allocation which in combination with Cottis Lane amounts to 78 dwellings.
14.23 Significant weight should be given to the strategic policy requirement for new homes
in LPSV Policy SP 2 in accordance with the Plan’s spatial strategy and the ‘Vision for
Epping’ within LPSV Policy P1. The proposal results in the loss of a combined site

Page 393

allocation of 78 homes. Despite this forming a small number of homes within the total
housing need identified within the LPSV for the plan period, the loss cannot easily be
made up elsewhere given the Council’s current housing delivery shortfall.
14.24 Given the departure from the site allocation other material considerations should be
considered in the balance regarding the planning merits of a leisure centre use in this
location.
The Identified Need for a Sports Centre in Epping
14.25 The EFDC Built Facilities Strategy (March 2018) considers the need and supply of
sports facilities in the district and provides part of the evidence base to the LPSV. The
key findings of this document include:


Recommendations that long-term solutions are identified for the replacement
of Epping Sports Centre at a site that is accessible to Epping residents, with
high quality wet and dry provision.



In respect of swimming pools, as a whole District, the quantity of water space
is adequate to meet the demand of residents. However, not all of the water
space is located in the right place and therefore not all of the demand from
Epping Forest District residents can be satisfied. Demand is exported to
neighbouring authorities and this level of demand export equates to 10 lanes
of a 25m pool.



In respect of sports hall, the supply for sports hall for community use is at a
deficit when compared with demand, for both 2017 and 2033, therefore there
is a need to protect this quantity of supply.



In respect of squash courts, it is recommended that the existing level of
provision of squash facilities are protected (2 courts in the case of Epping
Sports Centre).

14.26 The proposed development is for a modern leisure centre that will form a replacement
for the existing Epping Sports Centre. The existing Epping Sports Centre has a 4 court
sports hall, a 70 station health & fitness suite, 2 squash courts and 4 activity studios.
The existing centre has reached the end of its lifespan and the new proposed centre
will offer new and enhanced facilities. The proposal includes a 25m 6 lane swimming
pool, learner pool, 4 court sports hall, 2 squash court, a 100 station fitness suite, 3
activity studios and supporting facilities including a cafe.
14.27 The proposed site allocation for the existing Epping Sports Centre EPP.R5 requires
that ‘Closure of the existing Epping Sports Centre and the re-development of this site
should not take place until a suitable replacement sports/leisure facility is delivered
and is operational.’ (Appendix 6 Site Specific Requirements). EFDC agreed in a
Statement of Common Ground with Sports England as part of the LPSV Examination
that the policy for the existing Sports Centre’s redevelopment requires ‘an equivalent

Page 394

or better (in terms of quantity and quality) replacement sports/leisure facility in a
suitable location’.
14.28 Sports England has provided representations in support of the current proposal being
satisfied that the proposed facilities are equivalent or better in terms of quantity and
quality to those that they will replace. Sports England has requested that a planning
condition is included to require the detailed specifications of the sports hall and
swimming pool to be agreed in order to ensure that the proposed facilities are fit for
purpose and meet Sports England and the sports governing body design guidance and
meet identified local need.
Assessment of the Principle of Development
14.29 The modification to the LPSV to identify Land at St John’s Road for the replacement
leisure centre was based upon the EFDC development strategy prior to the
development of the alternative proposed by the applicant. The Inspector’s concern
was simply that clarity be provided in the emerging Local Plan as to where an
alternative leisure centre could be provided that would enable the release of the
existing site for residential development and ensure the facility’s deliverability.
14.30 The proposed development will make efficient use of an accessible and sustainable
brownfield land whilst retaining and improving key public facilities. The proposed
development will enhance the range of facilities within the town centre, support activity
in the town centre by generating linked trips with other uses and will therefore
strengthen the vitality and viability of Epping town centre. The proposed leisure centre
is therefore likely to significantly improve the quality of existing community leisure
facilities within Epping and enhance the range of available facilities including through
the provision of a public swimming pool. This will be to the benefit of a significant crosssection of the local community. Although proposed to be operated as a community
leisure centre accessible to all, for the avoidance of doubt a legal obligation will secure
public access and community use of the centre.
14.31 The benefits of the new Sports Centre are as set out above and this proposal is a
deliverable scheme that enables a phased redevelopment allowing the existing leisure
centre to remain open during the construction.
14.32 The applicant considers that the provision of the leisure centre at Bakers Lane is
preferable given that the site is better suited to a large footprint building given the less
restrictive site layout as compared to St John’s, which includes scattered trees and
heritage constraints. Bakers Lane also offers the ability to be better integrated with
the primary shopping area with clear and legible linkages rather than set at a distance.
Finally, the site allocation at St John’s was made on the basis of the Epping Town
Council offices being incorporated into a development proposal. The current
application site at St John’s does not include this land further constraining the ability to
accommodate large format buildings.

Page 395

14.33 The proposed leisure centre at Bakers Lane also enables the release of the Epping
Sports Centre site for residential development as the proposed by draft allocation
EPP.R5 of Policy P1 of the LPSV.
14.34 These material considerations on their own do not balance against the overriding need
to provide housing delivery. The loss of housing is to be given significant weight that
if not mitigated would result in the proposal being an unacceptable departure from the
LPSV. A mitigation however has been secured via the proposed development of the
Land at St John’s Road site for 184 new dwellings. This site is proposed to act as a
‘donor site’ site and will meet and exceed the shortfall by providing at least 112
dwellings (78 dwelling shortfall plus the 34 dwelling allocation on St John’s itself). The
Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out in this report include the placement of a
restriction on the implementation of the Bakers Lane development until such time as
substantial implementation on the Land at St John’s Road site for a residential
development of at least 112 dwellings.
14.35 The Bakers Lane Car Park currently provides 133 existing public car parking spaces.
The lost public car parking is to be replaced within the proposed Cottis Lane multistorey car park which has a provision of 330 spaces. Six blue badge spaces shall also
be provided as part of the proposal for Bakers Lane. A total of 336 spaces would
therefore be provided and the site allocation development requirements that there
should be no net loss of parking spaces between the Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane
sites when considered together will be met.
14.36 To ensure that the replacement parking is secured prior to the closure of the existing
Bakers Lane Car Park the Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out for this site
includes an obligation requiring the completion of the Cottis Lane multi-storey car park
prior to closure of Bakers Lane Car Park and the proposed redevelopment. The Legal
Agreement shall also secure that the new leisure centre at Bakers Lane is not occupied
until the use of the existing Epping Sports Centre has ceased.
14.37 The existing Epping Sports Centre site provides 41 spaces for staff and visitors and
these will not be directly replaced with instead the proposed Cottis Lane multi-storey
available for users as a general public access car park. The site is identified as being
within Epping Town Centre which is considered a sustainable location with good public
transport accessibility and specific dedicated parking provision would not be expected.
14.38 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of the Bakers and Cottis Lane car parking spaces are all achieved
having regard to the proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road
sites and the proposal for Bakers Lane can therefore be considered compliant in terms
of the principle of use for the reasons explained above.
Cottis Lane
Planning Policy Context

Page 396

14.39 Policy SP2 of the LPSV seeks to promote town centre development and regeneration,
and Policy E2 is supportive of proposals for retail, leisure, entertainment and office use
within town centres where they will maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of
those centres. The site is located within Epping Town Centre boundary within the
adopted plan and LPSV.
14.40 Within the ALP Policy CP1, CP6, E10, TC1 and ST1 support proposals that enhance
the vitality and viability of Town Centres as the key focus for commercial development.
14.41 The Cottis Lane Car Park currently provides 203 existing public car parking spaces
and the proposed development is for a multi storey car park (MSCP) of 330 spaces, 8
motorcycle spaces and 38 cycle spaces. These spaces combined with the 6 to be
provided at Bakers Lane provide a total of 336 spaces. This would therefore be in
accordance with the LPSV site allocation EPP.R6 development requirements that
there should be no net loss of parking spaces between the Bakers Lane and Cottis
Lane sites when considered together.
14.42 The proposal to develop the Cottis Lane site for commercial development however is
a divergence from the LPSV site allocation EPP.R6 which identifies the site for
residential. This shortfall is also not made up via proposed development at Bakers
Lane as set out in the proposed site allocation. The proposal would therefore result in
a shortfall in the delivery of housing in the District which, in combination with Bakers
Lane, amounts to 78 dwellings.
14.43 Significant weight should be given to strategic policy requirement for new homes in
LPSV Policy SP 2 in accordance with the Plan’s spatial strategy and the ‘Vision for
Epping’ within LPSV Policy P 1. The proposal results in a combined shortfall in housing
delivery of 78 homes as proposed by the policies in the LPSV. Despite this forming a
small number of homes within the total housing need identified within the LPSV for the
plan period, the loss cannot easily be made up elsewhere given the Council’s current
housing delivery shortfall.
14.44 Given the departure from the site allocation other material considerations should be
considered in the balance regarding the planning merits of commercial town centre
use in this location.
Assessment of the Principle of Development
14.45 The site is located within Epping Town Centre boundary but outside of the defined
primary shopping area set out within the LPSV. For the purposes of retail development,
(now a component of Class E), the primary shopping area is considered the ‘Centre’.
The site is within 300m of its boundary and for the purposes of the retail sequential test
it would be considered an ‘edge of centre’ site. LPSV Policy E 2 (H) requires sequential
testing under guidance contained within the NPPF. Sequentially the site is the best
available site for such uses within Epping Town Centre, being in close proximity to the
core of the primary retail area with direct connections to form a natural extension to its
activity. The proposals will strengthen the commercial and leisure officer in the town

Page 397

centre. The proposed cinema will provide a use not currently available within the town
centre and supported linked trips. As the Class E floorspace is below the 2,500 sq m
threshold set by Para 90 of the NPPF (in the absence of a local threshold), retail impact
assessment need not formally be considered.
14.46 There is potential for new retail provision to impact on the vitality and viability of the
Town Centre however, the proposal consists of a limited number of Class E units
allowing a range of uses and activities and offers the opportunity to support and
reinforce rather than undermine the existing retail core within the primary shopping
area.
14.47 In addition, a 846 sq m (GIA) (871 sq m GEA) Cinema (Sui Generis Use) is proposed.
The proposed cinema space has the potential to accommodate a three-screen
boutique operator with supporting café bar. This is a suitable use within a Town Centre
location.
14.48 The applicant has indicated that this element of the scheme may be delivered at a later
stage dependant on market demand. A ‘meanwhile’ strategy has been detailed to
utilise this part of the site for interim landscaping and events space. Any interim use
of the area which in itself constitutes development would need to be subject to a
separate planning application at a future date. A planning condition has been
proposed setting a long stop commencement date for the cinema of 5 years from
commencement of the development or that by this time an alternative proposed
landscape or development scheme for the area is submitted and if approved
implemented.
14.49 Given that the proposal is to bring forward for town centre commercial uses previously
identified as being accommodated on the Land at St John’s Road site it will be
necessarily to seek that the Land at St John’s Road is not subsequently developed for
further commercial development given this could result in excess provision which could
undermine the vitality and viability of the town centre. A planning obligation will control
this.
14.50 The site is closer to the core of the town centre with access to the High Street a short
distance via the pedestrianised lane adjacent to the M&S store. The St John’s Road
site is approximately 400m to the same point and is separated by residential properties,
St John’s Road and any facilities would have to be access within the centre of the site.
Cottis Lane is less likely to pose a competing town centre destination. The level or
nature of commercial floorspace envisaged within the St John’s Road site has not
previously been quantified so a direct comparison can’t be made. The current proposal
however has responded to likely market demand and provides flexible space that can
be used for a variety of purposes.
14.51 It offers better design arrangements to have commercial flanking MSCP as opposed
to a mixed car park residential design. The commercial use also enables the
development to be public facing with communal public realm as opposed to a

Page 398

residential development that would contain private amenity space and limited options
for pedestrian connectivity.
14.52 These material considerations on their own do not balance against the overriding need
to meet housing delivery objectives. The loss of housing is to be given significant
weight that if not mitigated would result in the proposal being an unacceptable
departure from the LPSV. A mitigation however has been secured via the proposed
development of the Land at St John’s Road site for 182 new dwellings. This site is
proposed to act as a ‘donor site’ site and will meet and exceed the shortfall by providing
at least 112 dwellings (78 dwelling shortfall plus the 34 dwelling allocation on St John’s
itself). The Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out in this report include the
placement of a restriction on the implementation of the Bakers Lane development until
such time as substantial implementation on the Land at St John’s Road site for a
residential development of at least 112 dwellings. The restriction is placed on Bakers
Lane rather than Cottis Lane to ensure that the early delivery of the proposed MSCP
which unlocks the sequence of development is not stymied.
14.53 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of car parking spaces are all achieved having regard to the
proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road sites and the proposal
for Cottis Lane can therefore be considered compliant in terms of the principle of use
for the reasons explained above.
Land at St John’s Road
14.54 The St John’s Road site currently comprises former school buildings (Use Class F1(a))
and a Council depot (Use Class B8). The site also includes two semi-detached
cottages that will be retained and refurbished. The site was vacated in 2010 following
the amalgamation of two schools and declared surplus to service requirements and
with Essex County Council obtaining the necessary approvals from the DfE for a site
disposal to take place.
14.55 The former school buildings have been vacant for a substantial period and the EFDC
depot is surplus to operational requirements. The site has been allocated within LPSV
for redevelopment supporting a change of these existing uses in principle.
14.56 Site allocation EPP.R4 identifies the site for mixed use including residential
(approximate net capacity of 34 dwellings) and appropriate town centre uses, including
a leisure centre. None of the town centre or other non-residential uses are proposed
to be provided as part of the development, with Cottis Lane instead accommodating
commercial town centre uses and Bakers Lane accommodating a replacement leisure
centre.
14.57 The proposed development is wholly residential comprising 182 new residential units
and inclusive of an ancillary residential amenity space within the former Cookery
Building. ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would support residential

Page 399

development in this location. This is not a full departure from the LPSV given that
residential forms part of the site's allocation. The site allocation as described in the
MMs does not set out specific uses or the quantum of floorspace anticipated other than
it should include a leisure centre. The current application does not include the full
extent of the site allocation given that Epping Town Council are retaining their
hall/offices. This significantly reduces the developable site area and reduces the
options to accommodate sufficient large format leisure development. For the reasons
set out within the Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane sections above, the proposed
alternative arrangement of town centre development is found acceptable. The intent
of providing capacity for town centre commercial uses on the St John’s Road site is
therefore met by the provision made elsewhere.
14.58 The LPSV proposals map also includes a secondary retail frontage along St John’s
Road in anticipation of future commercial development on this site. LPSV Policy E 2
states that within a secondary retail frontage uses must encourage active shopfronts,
attract a high footfall and maintain viability and vitality of the town. This policy is not
strictly applicable to the site at the current time as a secondary retail frontage has not
physically been established and a departure from any commercial uses in this location
is proposed.
14.59 This is a highly sustainable town centre location suitable in principle for residential
development of this nature.
14.60 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of car parking spaces are all achieved having regard to the
proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road sites and the proposal
for St John's Road can therefore be considered compliant in terms of the principle of
use for the reasons explained above.
Sports Centre, Hemnall Street
14.61 The existing use of the site comprises Epping Sports Centre a 2,164 sq m GIA building
within Class E(d). The site allocation EPP.R5 within the LPSV identifies the site for
residential development on the basis that a replacement sports centre is provided.
14.62 The site allocation EPP.R5 specifically requires that ‘Closure of the existing Epping
Sports Centre and the re-development of this site should not take place until a suitable
replacement sports/leisure facility is delivered and is operational.’
14.63 The principle of the loss of the existing leisure centre is acceptable only given that a
replacement is secured and that this is provided prior to the redevelopment of the
current centre to ensure that the public have uninterrupted access to sports/leisure
facilities in the local area.
14.64 ALP Policy CF12 concerns the retention of community facilities and supports
appropriate relocation. As described in detail in the Bakers Lane section above the

Page 400

replacement centre provides enhanced facilities within an accessible town centre
location and as such the relocation of the centre is acceptable in principle.
14.65 As noted above, the applicant proposes to deliver the replacement leisure facility at
the Baker's Lane Site. The Legal Agreement Heads of Terms for this site shall secure
that the planning permission for redevelopment of the Sports Centre at Hemnall Street
shall not commence until the new leisure centre at Baker's Lane is operational.
14.66 The application as amended proposes 40 units as compared to the approximate 42
identified within the LPSV allocation. This target figure is approximate only and is
dependant on the size mix proposed and detailed design. The number of units
although an under provision is felt appropriate in principle and is driven by a suitable
detailed design approach.
14.67 The proposed development of the Hemnall Street site is fully residential in keeping with
the LPSV site allocation. ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would support
residential development in this location.
14.68 Given that this development cannot procced until the replacement leisure centre is
provided on Bakers Lane, a five year implementation condition is proposed rather than
the standard three year period. This will enable sufficient time for the completion and
opening of the Bakers Lane leisure centre prior to commencement. The Bakers Lane
site is itself reliant on the completion of the Cottis Lane MSCP to enable its current car
park use to be closed and development to commence.
Land and Part of Civic Offices
14.69 The existing site comprises the Condor Building of the Civic Offices, 2,561 sq m GIA
Existing office Class E (g) (i) and the Civic Offices staff car park. Both are surplus to
EFDC requirements and have been identified as a site allocation EPP.R8 for
redevelopment within the LPSV.
14.70 ALP Policy E4A concerns protection of employment sites but notes that housing on
redundant employment land will be regarded favourably. The site has been identified
as surplus to requirements by EFDC and was subject to the LPSV site selection
process where it was allocated for future residential use.
14.71 The proposed development is residential in keeping with the site allocation EPP.R8.
14.72 Alongside the LPSV site allocation, ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would
support residential development in this location.
14.73 The staff car park closing has been aligned with the Council’s office reconfiguration
that has recently been completed within the retained Civic Offices and the introduction
of remote and flexible working strategies. Staff accessing the Council offices are being
supported to transition to more sustainable modes of travel with the Council preparing
a travel plan and establishing car sharing systems for example.

Page 401

14.74 The draft site allocation seeks that a development brief is developed for the site,
however the LPA has accepted that given greater certainty is now available regarding
the strategy of EFDC in the downsizing of its estate and that the building is now vacant
that a full planning application is suitable at this time without a development brief. This
application was also supported by a Town Centre Strategy developed by the applicant
across the five sites and which was subject to public and Quality Review Panel
consultation. Extensive pre-application engagement also enabled the strategy for the
site to be suitably tested and examined. The planning application contained all the
information that would otherwise have been included with a development brief.
14.75 The civic offices 26 space public car park is not affected by the proposals.
14.76 The ‘Design’ section of the EPP.R8 allocation text also states that a development brief
should consider opportunities to introduce town centre/ retail frontage at ground floor
fronting the High Street. The current application does not include the element of the
site allocation fronting the High Street which is to be retained as part of the Civic Offices
and it is therefore not relevant to consider as part of the current application.
Principle of Development Conclusion
14.77 The identified divergence from the LPSV site allocations has been mitigated via legal
obligations which tie the sites together and ensure that collectively the five site deliver
the objectives of the LPSV and that housing delivery is suitably secured.
14.78 The reconfiguration of the sites enables an overall housing delivery number of 267
dwellings as compared to 199 identified in the LPSV. This is not to the detriment of
the other uses, with the developments securing in particular the required level of town
centre car parking and a high quality leisure centre. Equally the town centre
commercial uses to be provided on Cottis Lane are well conceived and reinforce and
enhance the existing town centre offer.
14.79 The developments are to be phased to enable the sequential delivery of the required
facilities to enable wider development. The first phase will see the MSCP constructed
on Cottis Lane and then the commencement of residential development on St John's
Road, thus releasing Bakers Lane for redevelopment. The new Epping Leisure Centre
can then be constructed on Bakers Lane releasing the existing Sports Centre site for
residential development.
14.80 On the basis of this assessment, whilst some of the developments do not conform with
their specific site allocations, it is considered that the proposed developments when
considered in the round are compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan
and achieve the objectives of the relevant LPSV site allocations when taken as a
whole.
15.

Impact on the Epping Forest SAC
Background

Page 402

15.1

Epping Forest is designated as a Special Area of Conservation (SAC), which limits
what can be done within the forest, as well as having impacts upon all proposed
development in its vicinity. The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017, as amended by the 2019 EU Exit Regulations (the Habitats Regulations)
transpose the EU Habitats Directive into UK law and require a decision-maker to
consider the effects of proposed projects on European protected sites through
undertaking a habitats regulations assessment (HRA).
Under the Habitats
Regulations, the Epping Forest SAC (EFSAC) is a European site. If the result of an
initial screening assessment is that a project is likely to have significant effects on a
European site, a full assessment of those effects must be carried out. Regulation 63
of the Habitats Regulations requires the competent authority to conduct an 'appropriate
assessment' ("AA") if concluding that the project is 'likely to have a significant effect'
on a European site, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects. Where
an appropriate assessment is conducted, then Regulation 63(5) applies, such that "the
competent authority may agree to the plan or project only after having ascertained that
it will not adversely affect the integrity of the European site".

15.2

Accordingly, the Council has a legal duty as the ‘competent authority’ under the
Habitats Regulations to protect the EFSAC from the effects of development (both
individually and in combination) and in doing so, must have regard to the
representations of Natural England (NE).

15.3

The LPSV is supported by a Habitats Regulation Assessment dated June 2021 (“the
HRA 2021”) (EB211A). Two specific ‘pathways of impact’ relating to new development
within the District have been identified as being likely to have a significant effect on the
integrity of the EFSAC. Firstly, as a result of increased levels of visitors using the
EFSAC for recreation arising from new development (referred to as "recreational
pressure"). Secondly, damage to the health of the protected habitats and species of
flora within the EFSAC from atmospheric pollution generated by motor vehicles
(referred to as "air quality") caused primarily by motor vehicles using roads within 200m
of the EFSAC.

15.4

Policies DM 2 and DM 22 of the LPSV and Policy NC1 of the Adopted Local Plan
(1998) and adopted Alterations (2006) (of which some of the policies remain in place)
provide the policy context for dealing with the effect of development on the integrity of
the EFSAC outlined above. The Main Modifications July 2021 version of DM 2 sets out
that the Council requires all new development to ensure no harm is caused to the
integrity of the EFSAC and identifies its strategic solutions to ensure no such harm.
These are as follows:
(i)

An Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy (APMS)

(ii)

An Approach to managing recreational pressure on the EFSAC (SAMM
Strategy) and;

(iii)

A Green Infrastructure Strategy (GI)

Page 403

15.5

The Interim Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy (APMS) dated December 2020,
(ED126/EB212) was adopted by the Full Council on 8 February 2021 following
agreement with Natural England. The APMS identifies a number of mitigation
measures, some of which are required to be delivered as part of individual planning
applications alongside strategic initiatives and monitoring requirements, and whose
implementation will require a financial contribution to be secured by individual
developments. The APMS therefore provides the mechanism by which the Council
can arrive at a conclusion of no adverse effect on the EFSAC as a result of planned
development. The APMS sets out that all development which would give rise to a net
increase in average annual daily traffic (AADT) will be required to be mitigated in
accordance with the measures set out within the APMS. The SAMM strategy requires
new development within the EFSAC zone of influence to make a financial contribution
towards the implementation of the SAMM strategy and finally the GI strategy sets out
practical interventions which are necessary to ensure recreational pressure is suitably
mitigated, these include the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace
(SANGs) on strategic sites as well as improvements to the accessibility and quality of
existing Green and Blue infrastructure assets.

15.6

Policy DM 22 sets out that applications for planning permission will be required to
identify and deliver necessary mitigation measures, including monitoring mechanisms
for the EFSAC before consent is given. This will include, where appropriate, measures
identified in the most up to date APMS.

15.7

Policy DM 22 also sets out that, where an application for planning permission has been
made on a site not proposed for allocation in the Local Plan, or where the potential
change in traffic movements have not been accounted for in the strategic modelling
undertaken by the Council, an air quality assessment will need to be submitted which
identifies the potential impact of the development in combination with existing baseline
pollution and other plans and projects. This assessment must identify necessary
mitigation measures that will address any unexpected deterioration in air quality as a
result of the development together with any necessary financial contributions and
monitoring.

15.8

The HRA 2021 undertook an Appropriate Assessment of the planned development
proposed within the emerging Local Plan, to consider its effect on the EFSAC. The
HRA 2021 concluded that, subject to securing urbanisation/recreational pressure and
air quality mitigation measures as noted in the strategies in policy DM 2 of the Local
Plan, the adoption of the Local Plan will have no adverse effect on the EFSAC.

15.9

This report will now consider these issues in turn in the context of the specific
development proposals in these applications.
Recreational Pressure

15.10 With regards to recreational pressure, any potential adverse effect on the integrity of
the EFSAC only arises from residential development. Consequently the development

Page 404

proposals on Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane can be screened out as having no adverse
impact.
15.11 For the remaining development proposals on Land at St John’s Road, Epping Sports
Centre and Land and part of Civic Offices which propose residential development,
each proposal will be required to pay a financial contribution of £352 per dwelling as
noted in the SAMM strategy.
15.12 This would amount to £64,064 for St John’s Road (182 new homes), £14,080 for
Epping Sports Centre (40 new homes) and £15,840 for Land and part of Civic Offices
(45 new homes). These financial contributions will be secured through a Legal
Agreement and subject to being secured, it can be concluded beyond a reasonable
scientific doubt that there will be no harm to the integrity of the EFSAC as a result of
recreational pressure.
Atmospheric pollution
15.13 As noted above, the HRA 2021 advises that without appropriate mitigation measures,
new development proposed in the District would cause harm to the integrity of the
EFSAC as a result of atmospheric pollution. Evidence has shown that a key contributor
to atmospheric pollution arises from vehicles using roads in close proximity to the
EFSAC. Figure 1 below is an extract taken from the HRA 2021 (page 180) and
illustrates these key roads and junctions:

Figure 1

Page 405

15.14 Paragraphs 1.1 of the APMS and paragraphs 4.18 and 4.20 of the emerging Local
Plan also identifies that the EFSAC is currently in an unfavourable condition in
ecological terms. The baseline worst case ammonia concentration at the roadside is
3.5 micrograms per cubic metre whereas the critical level for protecting sites with the
special interest features of the EFSAC is 1 microgram per cubic metre. Any further
traffic through the EFSAC as a result of new development will contribute cumulatively
to worsening this situation without appropriate mitigation.
15.15 In response to this issue, in collaboration with NE, the Council has endorsed the APMS
as the strategic solution to the identified issue and as noted above the HRA 2021
concludes that the development of the Local Plan will not cause harm to the integrity
of the EFSAC if the mitigation measures are delivered.
15.16 Section 5.3 of the APMS sets out what needs to be achieved in order for the competent
authority to conclude there will be no adverse impact on the EFSAC as a result of Local
Plan growth, that:


A minimum 10% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2025, in other words,
4-5% of the Epping Forest SAC vehicle fleet to be ULEVs by this year;



The introduction of a Clean Air Zone from 2025;



A minimum 20% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2029; (8-10% of the
Epping Forest vehicle fleet to be ULEVs by this year); and



A minimum 30% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2033 (12-15% of the
Epping Forest SAC vehicle fleet being ULEVs by this year)

15.17 To achieve the minimum 30% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2033, paragraph
5.5 of the APMS identifies a number of measures which will need to be delivered by
new development in the District:


a) ensuring that the necessary infrastructure for ULEVs is widely and easily
available across the District;



b) incentivising the replacement of petrol cars with ULEVs, targeted at people
who live in areas from which the most frequent trips on roads in close proximity
to the Epping Forest SAC arise; and



c) Undertaking awareness-raising of both the issue of air pollution and the
things that residents and businesses can do to contribute to improving air
quality.

15.18 The measures noted above and the others identified in the APMS, were informed by a
traffic model which the Council undertook to accompany the emerging Local Plan. The
modelling took into account the levels of AADT that would arise from the entirety of the
development proposed across the District. Given the status of the EFSAC as noted

Page 406

above, AADT is the appropriate method for understanding the potential impacts of
atmospheric pollution on the EFSAC.
15.19 In the context of these applications, all five sites are proposed for allocation in the
emerging Local Plan and as such, all of the sites have been considered through the
traffic and air quality modelling undertaken for the HRA 2021. Since these sites are all
being considered together in the round and would be linked through a Legal
Agreements, it is appropriate to consider them together for the purposes of the
potential impact on the EFSAC.
15.20 The HRA 2021 Traffic model undertaken for each of these sites is based on the
proposed allocation as follows:


EPP.R4 Land at St John’s Road – approximately 34 homes and appropriate
mixed uses



EPP.R5 Epping Sports Centre – approximately 42 homes



EPP.R6 Cottis Lane Car park – approximately 47 homes



EPP.R7 Bakers Lane Car Park – approximately 31 homes



EPP.R8 Land and part of Civic Offices – approximately 44 homes

15.21 Across the entirety of these allocations therefore, the HRA 2021 traffic model assumed
a total of 198 dwellings would be delivered. The planning applications currently being
considered vary to differing degrees from the LPSV site allocations noted above, as
follows.


EPP R4 – Land at St John’s Road – Erection of 182 new dwellings



EPP.R5 – Epping Sports Centre – Erection of 40 new dwellings



EPP.R6 Cottis Lane Car Park – Erection of new multi storey car park, new
cinema, commercial floor space and replacement public toilets



EPP.R7 Bakers Lane Car Park – Erection of new leisure centre, including
swimming pool, gymnasium, sports hall, squash courts and new studio
together with disabled parking provision.



EPP.R8 Land and part of Civic Offices – Erection of 45 new dwellings

15.22 The applications now total 267 new homes across all of the sites as well as the erection
of the multi storey car park, cinema, commercial floor space, swimming pool,
gymnasium, sports hall, squash courts and studio, all of which are high traffic
generators. The traffic model which informed the HRA 2021 did not assume either the
number of proposed dwellings across the sites, nor the proposed distribution of any of
the non-residential uses proposed. The leisure centre however is a reprovision of an

Page 407

existing centre albeit with an expanded offer and the multi storey car park provides a
replacement for existing parking spaces. A legal obligation will control the opening and
closing of the leisure centres to ensure only one is open at one time.
15.23 Notwithstanding, there is a difference between the traffic generation assumed through
the LPSV allocations and the development proposals advanced through these
applications, in an unmitigated scenario. This is significant since the APMS was
endorsed on the basis that it would address the increase in traffic due to the allocated
sites in the LPSV and a relatively small allowance of windfall sites.
15.24 As noted in paragraph above, Policy DM 22 states that any development proposals
which propose a change in traffic movements to what has been modelled in the LPSV
need to be justified through the submission of an air quality assessment taking into the
account other plans and projects and if necessary including further and bespoke
mitigation measures. The measures put forward will be required to be precise,
enforceable (both legally and in practice), quantifiable and effective beyond reasonable
scientific doubt.
15.25 The first stage of the assessment is to consider the levels of AADT that the proposed
development schemes would create on the key routes and junctions as noted in figure
1 above, compared to what was modelled for in the Local Plan traffic work. To ensure
consistency, this traffic information must then be run though the Local Plan air quality
model to get a comparison of modelled vehicle trips through the EFSAC.
15.26 Policy T 1 of the LPSV requires that any development which proposes vehicle parking
spaces must ensure that those spaces have direct access to an electric charging point.
The provision of electric charging points are also noted in the APMS as a required
mitigation measure. (Appendix 3, page 35)
15.27 As part of the development proposals, the applicant has made a commitment to the
delivery of electric charging points. Table 1 below sets out this commitment:

Table 1
15.28 Other than Cottis Lane, each of the sites propose 100% active provision. The delivery
of such a substantial amount of active provision of electric charging infrastructure is an
important step to support the change in the traffic fleet from petrol and diesel cars to

Page 408

electric. Whilst Cottis Lane does not propose 100% of active provision from the outset,
the 15% which will be provided will be for EV only parking spaces, preventing their use
by non-electric vehicles. In addition a Travel Plan for the Leisure Centre will seek to
raise awareness of the electric charging facilities available. This shall be secured by
way of a Legal Agreement.
15.29 In addition to the provision of necessary electric charging infrastructure, the applicant
has also committed to the delivery of an advertising campaign as well as financial
contributions of £335 per dwelling towards the EFSCA Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy
as required by the APMS. This would amount to £60,970 for St John’s Road (182 new
homes), £13,400 for Epping Sports Centre (40 new homes) and £15,075 for Land and
part of Civic Offices (45 new homes). Such contributions shall be secured by way of
Legal Agreements.
15.30 Taken together, these mitigation measures have been factored into the traffic
modelling undertaken for the individual applications and cumulatively have resulted in
a 4% reduction of cars in the level of AADT assumed as a result. The Council's
transport specialists have confirmed that based on the mitigation measures above, this
assumed reduction is precautionary and therefore represents a robust approach to
considering the new level of AADT created.
15.31 Figure 2 below illustrates the results of the modelling exercise on the key routes and
junctions through the EFSAC which are noted in figure 1 above. The results of these
are then compared against the level of AADT assumed through the Local Plan traffic
modelling to result in a net change between the two:

Five Sites Combined + EV Provision
Local Plan Traffic and Air Quality Model

Application
(Net)

Net change

Link

A

B1393 Epping Road

63

50

-13

B

B172

0

0

0

C

A121 Golding’s Hill

10

-1

-11

D

A104 Epping New Rd

25

12

-13

E

Wake Road

0

6

6

F

A121 Woodridden Hill

28

32

4

Page 409

G

Woodgreen Rd

0

0

0

H

Forest Side

0

0

0

I

A121 Honey Ln

28

32

4

J

Earl’s Path

0

0

0

K

A104 Epping New Rd (S)

25

12

-13

L

Cross Roads

0

0

0

M

High Beech

0

6

6

N

Avey Ln

0

5

5

O

A112 Sewardstone Rd (S)

0

0

0

P

A112 Sewardstone Rd (N)

0

0

0

Figure 2
15.32 The results show that when all five sites are considered together, with the proposed
mitigation measures, there is a net increase in AADT movements on certain road links
and a reduction on others. These AADT numbers have been considered through the
Local Plan air quality model for the EFSAC as a new scenario, so that a direct
comparison can be made with the modelling undertaken for the APMS.
15.33 The results of the modelling show that the biggest difference in terms of Nitrogen Oxide
deposition is an increase at the roadside of 0.03ugm-3 at transects E1 (Wake Arms
Roundabout) and O (Honey Lane East). This magnitude of increase is matched by
similar magnitude of reductions at the roadside of other transects in the EFSAC. The
maximum change in nitrogen deposition is a nominal 0.01 kgN/hr/yr and the results
show that there will be no difference in ammonia concentrations from what was
modelled for the HRA 2021. The change in pollutant load is therefore sufficiently small
that the APMS will not be undermined by the change in the development proposed as
opposed to the original allocations.
15.34 The findings of this assessment are predicated on the complete delivery of the
proposed development in the form proposed across the five sites. An alternative
delivery strategy that left some sites in their existing use would result in a different

Page 410

AADT and impact on the EFSAC that may not be acceptable. On this basis the Legal
Agreement associated with each site will ensure that implementation is controlled such
that existing traffic generating uses will cease.
Conclusion relating to the EFSAC
15.35 Subject to the suitable delivery of the required parking provision on each of the five
development sites as noted in table 1 as well as a suitable Travel Plan to raise
awareness of the electric charging facilities available and the payment of the necessary
financial contributions as noted in sections above, the Council as the competent
authority can conclude beyond a reasonable scientific doubt that the development
proposed by each of these applications will not lead to an adverse effect on the integrity
of the EFSAC.
15.36 As a result of the analysis above, the proposal is demonstrably compliant with the
requirements of policy NC1 of the Adopted Local Plan, with Policies DM 2 and DM 22
of the emerging Local Plan and with the requirements of the Habitats Regulations.
16.

Housing Mix / Affordable Housing

16.1

Housing Mix

16.2

The LPSV Policy H 1 requires that development will be permitted where it includes a
range of house types and sizes to address local need, is appropriate to the context
and takes account of existing stock to avoid an over-concentration of a single type or
size of home to achieve a mixed and balanced community.

16.3

The tables below set out the proposed unit mix at each site and in total.

Land at St John’s Road

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

113

62

7

0

182

Existing
0
House

2

0

0

2

Total

113

64

7

0

184

62%

34%

4%

Apartment

Page 411

100%

Epping Sports Centre, Hemnall Street

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

Apartment

13

12

4

0

29

House

0

0

11

0

11

Total

13

12

15

0

40

33%

30%

38%

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

Apartment

7

17

5

0

29

House

0

1

13

2

16

Total

7

18

18

2

45

16%

40%

40%

4%

100%

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

100%

Land and part of Civic Offices

Total New

Page 412

Apartment

133

91

16

0

240

House

0

1

24

2

27

Total

133

92

40

2

267

50%

34%

15%

1%

100%

16.4

The Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2015 (SHMA) represents the latest
evidence in terms of the type and size of housing needed across the District. The
applicant recognises that the proposal contrasts with the SHMA which identifies the
need as being 74% 3+ bed houses and 24% 1 and 2 beds.

16.5

A residential mix justification study was provided with the applications. Analysis has
been undertaken by the applicant looking at demographic projections, the existing
stock in the settlement and wider district, the local housing market and trends for
uptake of Build to Rent (BtR) products. The study submitted by the applicant sets out
that there is a low supply of both privately rented and 1 and 2 bed accommodation in
Epping, when compared to similar neighbouring districts. It also sets out that due to
this lack of supply, access to housing in Epping is relatively unaffordable compared to
neighbouring districts. The relatively low proportion of flats in Epping compared with
nearby towns such as Loughton and Harlow suggest provision of more flats within
Epping town centre would meet need and not result in an overconcentration in the
town. The demographic and economic analysis undertaken also points towards a
worsening affordability issue.

16.6

The delivery of the larger units as identified within the SHMA results in particular
approaches to built typology and urban form and that in limited specific town centre
locations with close proximity to sustainable transport options require a more nuanced
approach to be taken to ensure that the delivery of homes both private and affordable
are maximised and that the objective of mixed and balanced communities are achieved
on space constrained sites. The proposed housing mix is supported in this location as
suitable sites to accommodate a high proportion of 1 and 2 bed units. This will help
diversify local housing stock while maximising housing delivery within a sustainable
location.
Build to Rent

16.7

The applicant has proposed that the development at St John’s Road will be a Build to
Rent (BtR) scheme and operated under a single management company. The applicant
would also like the flexibility to provide this product on the Hemnall Street and Civic
Office sites. Over the last few years, the BtR model has emerged within the rental
sector as a unique type of residential development with its own requirements and

Page 413

specifications. The National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF) and the Practice
Planning Guidance (PPG) provide frameworks for its delivery including the affordable
housing need.
16.8

The frameworks noted above provide a useful definition for BtR and guidance on how
planning authorities should deal with them as follows:





















16.9

They operate under common ownership(s) and management.
The affordable housing provided shall be affordable private rent and shall be
maintained as such in perpetuity (subject to below).
A clawback back mechanism should be included in the Legal Agreement to
recoup the value of the affordable housing provision withdrawn or converted into
other tenures in the exceptional circumstance where the developer sells all the
units or part of the scheme.
A clawback mechanism may also be included within a Legal Agreement in the
event that the private BtR units are sold off within a covenant period, usually 15
years from first occupation.
Eligibility for occupying the affordable housing units should be determined by the
scheme operator although working with the local authority on an agreed
nomination process.
Eligibility should be determined by local household income and local rent levels
Tenancies should be for a period of 3 or more years to all tenants in the
development, who are eligible to live in the country for that period (under the right
to rent). This should apply to all tenants, whether paying market rent or affordable
private rent.
There is no obligation on customers to take up the offer of a three-year tenancy.
They may prefer a tenancy of six months, one year or two years, and companies
should offer these as an alternative, if requested.
Where the rent or service charges are to be reviewed during the period of the
tenancy, the basis for the review and for calculating the increase (whether as a
fixed percentage or index linked to inflation) should be clearly set in the tenancy
agreement.
Periodic rent and service charge reviews will also help to ensure there is an
appropriate ongoing match between the occupants of the affordable private rent
homes, and their income levels.
Tenants should not be locked into longer tenancies for the full period of the
agreement. Tenants should have the option to terminate at 1 months’ notice, after
the first 6 months, without a break fee being payable.
There may be periods during the operation of a build to rent scheme when the
offer of longer tenancies would interfere with planned refurbishment works. In
such circumstances it would be permissible to offer shorter tenancies, running up
to the date of the scheme refurbishment.

It is noted that BtR would normally be expected to operate at scale and we note for
reference London Plan guidance sets a threshold of 50 units for schemes to qualify for
the specific approach to affordable housing this enables.

16.10 This unit size mix is largely consistent across both private market homes and
affordable homes, which is in line with Policy H 2 of the LPSV which states that ‘the
Council will generally expect the mix of affordable homes to reflect the mix of the

Page 414

market housing in terms of the ratios of types, sizes and overall number of habitable
rooms…’.
16.11 The NPPF states the following “for Build to Rent schemes, affordable housing for rent
is expected to be the normal form of affordable housing provision (and, in this context,
is known as Affordable Private Rent”)
16.12 The Affordable Private Rent indicated above is a type of intermediate affordable
housing known as discounted market rent typically at 20% below local open market
rent, including service charges, although it is acknowledged that the level of discount
offered can vary depending on local circumstances and justified by housing need
assessment.
16.13 Further, the PPG suggests that eligible names may potentially come from the
Authorities statutory housing list, taking into consideration the affordability of the
homes to those on the list, however, Authorities should refrain from having direct
nomination rights from their housing list. It further sets out that in the absence of an
established local intermediate housing list, developers and authorities may consider
assembling a unique dataset for the development. In so doing they should have regard
to the local authority housing allocation policies and any relevant potential candidates
from the Statutory Housing list. The list should also ideally include evidence about
peoples’ local residence or employment connections.
16.14 The PPG also notes:
“Affordable private rent homes should be under common management control, along
with the market rent build to rent homes. They should be distributed throughout the
development and physically indistinguishable from the market rent homes in terms of
quality and size. They will not need the separate involvement of a registered landlord.
Combining the 2 tenures this way improves viability and any alternation of units
between affordable private rent and market rent over time is made easier.”
16.15 The affordable housing should therefore be suitably controlled as follows:
a) Rental value is capped at 80% open market rent including service charges or at
the local housing allowance whichever is the lowest, with periodically reviews to
ensure these homes remain affordable.
b) That the affordable housing units provided remain as affordable housing units or
% allocation is maintained in perpetuity. A clawback clause as identified in the
PPG can be triggered should properties be subject to future sale in exceptional
circumstances.
c) That a tenancy policy is provided which is in alignment with PPG and as identified
at paragraph 16.8 above
d) Approach to tenant nomination for the affordable homes
16.16 The Legal Agreement for the St John's Road site shall secure the private and
affordable housing at BtR in accordance with those measures summarised at

Page 415

paragraphs 16.8 and 16.15 above. Given the restrictions that this would place on the
project if an alternative delivery approach is subsequently required, it is proposed that
the clauses within the Legal Agreement enable the property to be alternatively
delivered as for sale properties (subject to a clawback being paid if such occurs within
15 years of occupation) and the affordable housing delivered via a nominated RSL.
Affordable Housing
16.17 Policy H 2 in the LPSV requires that on development sites which provide for 11 or more
homes, or residential floor space of more than 1,000m² (combined gross internal area),
the Council will require 40% of those homes to be for affordable housing provided on
site. The type, design and mix of housing should also reflect that classified as market
housing. The affordable housing targets and tenures are however, subject to viability.
16.18 During the process of determination, the applicant has indicated that viability pressure
means that they are not able to provide a 40% policy compliant level of affordable
housing. Policy H 2 of the LPSV requires that proposals that do not accord with the
policy must provide a financial and viability appraisal (with supporting evidence), which
is transparent and complies with relevant national or local guidance applicable at the
time. Viability reports for each of the three residential sites have been provided
alongside a combined report considering all three collectively.
Vacant Building Credit
16.19 It is noted that the buildings on the St John’s Road site are currently vacant. The
applicant is seeking the application of Vacant Building Credit (VBC) when calculating
the level of affordable housing that the scheme should provide.
16.20 Paragraph 64 of the NPPF states that to support the re-use of brownfield land, where
vacant buildings are being reused or redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution
due should be reduced by a proportionate amount. Footnote 30 explains that this credit
will be equivalent to the existing gross floorspace of the existing buildings. This does
not apply to vacant buildings which have been abandoned.
16.21 The NPPG states, in deciding whether a use has been abandoned, account should be
taken of all relevant circumstances, such as:


the condition of the property



the period of non-use



whether there is an intervening use; and



any evidence regarding the owner’s intention

16.22 The NPPG emphasises that each case is a matter for the collecting authority to judge.
In determining whether the application of VBC is warranted, the NPPG advises that it
may be appropriate for authorities to consider:

Page 416



whether the building has been made vacant for the sole purposes of redevelopment



whether the building is covered by an extant or recently expired planning
permission for the same or substantially the same development

16.23 EFDC have produced a guidance note relating to VBC. This was last revised in March
2015, thereby pre-dating the latest revision to the NPPF and NPPG. This guidance
contains some additional criteria that, according to the guidance note, will be used to
assess eligibility for the VBC. These are:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

v.

The whole building needs to be unused.
The building must have been vacant for at least 30 months out of the 3 years
immediately prior to the date of receipt of the planning application.
The building must not have been made or left vacant for the sole purpose of
redevelopment.
The owner must prove that the building is no longer needed for its current use
in its current location. This includes provision of evidence of unsuccessful
marketing of the property for let or sale.
The building must not be covered by a current or recently expired planning
permission for the same or substantially the same development.

16.24 The applicant has submitted evidence in support of the application of the VBC. The
evidence includes an EFDC Report to Cabinet dated March 2008 which states that:
‘The Governing Bodies of the Epping Infant School and the Epping Junior School
approved the amalgamation of the two schools to create a new primary school in
November 2006. This new school will be constructed on the site of the Epping Infant
School in Coronation Hill (at the end of St. John’s Road). Pending the completion of
the new school, the Epping Centre Point building in St. John’s Road is currently being
used to temporarily accommodate the Epping Infant School. Once the new primary
school is completed, the Junior and Infant schools will move into that building in
Summer 2009.’
16.25 An Essex County Council Report to Cabinet further states that:
‘The former Epping Junior School and adjacent Adult Education and Youth Centre,
known locally as Centre Point, in St. John’s Road Epping are owned by the Council
and vacant and boarded. The site was vacated in April 2010 when the new Epping
Primary School was completed. The site has been declared surplus to service
requirements and the necessary approvals have been obtained from the DfE for a
disposal to take place.’
16.26 The site was sold to EFDC by Essex County Council in 2016, so the building has now
been vacant for 11 years.
16.27 With regard to the criteria set out in the NPPG, the buildings are in a reasonable
condition and have not been abandoned. They have sat vacant for a considerable

Page 417

length of time, without any intervening use. The evidence put forward by the applicant,
sourced from ECC and EFDC’s records, demonstrates that the buildings became
surplus to education requirements, as educational provision was consolidated
elsewhere within the District. The buildings were not vacated with the sole purpose of
redevelopment – instead, the buildings became surplus to operational educational
requirements.
16.28 With regard to the additional criteria contained within the 2015 EFDC guidance note,
the evidence put forward shows compliance with all of the criteria apart from the
second part of criterion (iv). This criterion requires evidence of unsuccessful marketing
of the site for it’s current use in its current location. No such marketing has taken place.
However, the site has become surplus to the operational requirements of the local
authority in terms of education provision. It is noted that the site has not been marketed
to alternative education providers.
16.29 However, the NPPF explains that the purpose of the VBC provide an incentive for
brownfield development on sites containing vacant buildings. Where a vacant building
is brought back into any lawful use, or is demolished to be replaced by a new building,
the developer should be offered a financial credit. In this case, the VBC offers an
incentive for the appropriate redevelopment of the site – a site which has been vacant
for a considerable length of time. The re-use of the site brings multiple benefits to the
District, including the provision of housing and affordable housing in the context of an
acute housing crisis.
16.30 In summary, on the basis of the information put forward by the applicant, the
application of the Vacant Building Credit is considered appropriate. Officers are
confident that the building has not been abandoned or vacated for the sole purpose of
redevelopment, and the scheme fulfils the criteria set out within the NPPF and NPPG
in relation to VBC.
16.31 The Vacant Building calculation excludes the former EFDC depot and the existing
residential cottages. The calculation is set out as follows:

Existing vacant building (GIA)

Proposed buildings (GIA)

Centrepoint: 603 sq.m

Block A: Centrepoint: 1,162.88 sq.m
Block B: 3,820.63 sq m

Cookery: 183 sq.m
Block C: 1,936.74 sq m
Building 1: 15.7 sq.m
Block E: 2,910.40 sq m
Building 2: 129.5 sq.m
Block F: 5,568.51 sq m
Building 3: 1,404.6 sq.m
Block G: 904.16 sq m

Page 418

Block I: – Cookery: 183 sq.m

Total: 2,335.8 sqm

Total: 16,486.32 sq.m

VBC Calculation:
Difference: 16,486.32 sqm GIA – 2,335.8 sqm GIA = 14,150.52 sqm
Difference as a proportion of proposed: 14,150.52/16,486.32 = 0.8583 (or 85.83%)
Reduction calculation: 0.8583 * 40% = 0.3433 or 34.3%
16.32 As a result of the calculation the policy compliant position for St John’s Road is reduced
to 34.3%. The LPA accept that this calculation is in accordance with the NPPF.
16.33 Viability
16.34 The level of affordable housing provision deemed viable by the applicant falls below
the policy requirements. As such, the application is supported by a Financial Viability
Appraisal (FVA), prepared by Carter Jonas. The FVA assesses the viability of each of
the three proposed residential sites.
16.35 Carter Jonas have reviewed the viability of the three individual residential applications
and assessed the viability as a whole to calculate the maximum reasonable affordable
housing contribution. Three scenarios have been tested with the FVA, summarised as
follows:

Scenario

Surplus/Deficit

Scenario 1 (Policy Compliant)

-£4,384,696

Scenario 2 (nil affordable at two sites)

£131,736

Scenario 3 (25% affordable on each site)

-£1,472,268

16.36 The FVA explains that the applicant is willing to provide 25% on site provision, despite
it being unviable.
16.37 The Council commissioned BPS to undertake an independent review of the Applicant’s
FVA. The findings of BPS’s review are summarised below:

Page 419

Scenario

Surplus/Deficit

Scenario 1 (Policy Compliant)

-£3,883,000

Scenario 2 (nil affordable at two sites)

£1,423,000

Scenario 3 (25% affordable on each site)

-£140,000

16.38 The conclusion of BPS’s review is that a policy compliant provision of affordable
housing would not be financially viable. However, the deficit generated by scenario 3
is considered by BPS to be nominal in terms of the overall viability of the schemes,
and effectively represents a breakeven position.
16.39 The difference in the projected deficits resulting from Carter Jonas’ and BPS’s analysis
are a product of different methodologies for establishing the Benchmark Land Value
(BLV) for the sites.
16.40 To calculate the value of any surplus generated above the BLV (and therefore the
maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing), the cost of developing the
proposed scheme (including construction costs, professional fees, other costs, profit,
and finance) is deducted from the Gross Development Value (the total value of the
development if built as proposed). Once this has been calculated the Residual Land
Value (RLV) remains. Where the RLV is in excess of the BLV, a surplus is generated,
and the available surplus would be split between relevant s106 obligations and CIL.
16.41 To calculate any surplus generated by the development the applicant and their
assessor have suggested a Benchmark Land Value (BLV) for the site based on the
Existing Use Value Plus (EUV+) approach. However, the Council’s Assessors BPS do
not consider this approach to be in accordance with NPPG and consider that
Alternative Use Value (AUV) is appropriate in situations such as this, where sites have
low Existing Use Value but a significant development potential. When the AUV
methodology employed by BPS is used, the resultant BLV is lower for the Condor Site
and the Sports Centre site, and marginally higher for St John’s Road. Overall, looking
at the three sites together, the BLV is lower. The difference in BLV calculations is
shown below:

Site

Applicant’s
BLV

Council’s Independent
Assessor BPS’s
BLV

Page 420

Land

at Civic £3,693,061
Offices
(Conder)

£2,028,000

Sports Centre

£1,797,807

£1,770,000

St John’s Rd

£1,217,091

£1,785,000

TOTAL:

£6,707,959

£5,583,000

16.42 As a result of a lower BLV, the Council’s assessor concludes that the deficit resulting
from a 25% provision of affordable housing would be lower than put forward by the
applicant. It is considered that this deficit is minimal and represents a break-even
position.
16.43 Aside from this, the assessors are generally in agreement with regard to sales costs
and build costs of the units.
16.44 Given the conclusions of BPS in relation to the viability of the scheme, the Council
considers the applicant’s offer of a 25% on-site affordable housing provision at each
of the three sites to be the maximum that can reasonably be provided.
16.45 On the basis of affordable provision is provided in accordance with the wider unit mix
the affordable provision would consist of approximately that outlined in the following
tables. The general build for sale affordable housing should be provided by Registered
Social Landlord and the Legal Agreements shall specify the number of affordable
housing units, including the tenure split and unit mix.
16.46 The 2015 SHMA and 2017 updates provide information about the potential type and
tenure of affordable homes to be provided across the District. This evidence indicates
the need for the provision of 81% of new affordable homes to be for affordable rent
and 19% to be for intermediate housing products. The applicant has adopted a 80%
Affordable Social Rent and 20% Shared Ownership in the submitted FVA. In
accordance with LPSV Policy H 2 this proposed mix is supported.
Land at St John’s Road - Affordable Private Rent @ 25%

Apartment

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

28.25

15.5

1.75

0

45.5

Page 421

62%

34%

4%

100%

Epping Sports Centre, Hemnall Street – 80% Affordable Social Rent 20% Shared
Ownership @ 25%

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

Apartment

3.25

3

1

0

7.25

House

0

0

2.75

0

2.75

Total

3.25

3

3.75

0

10

33%

30%

38%

100%

Land and part of Civic Offices – 80% Affordable Social Rent / 20% Shared Ownership @
25%

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

Apartment

1.75

4.25

1.25

0

7.25

House

0

0.25

3.25

0.5

4

Total

1.75

4.5

4.5

0.5

11.25

16%

40%

40%

4%

100%

16.47 Paragraph 3.14 of LPSV Policy H 2 explains that, for larger-scale development
proposals for new housing development to be delivered on a phased basis, the Council
will require Legal Agreements to include mechanism for viability reviews and 'clawback'

Page 422

clauses (or similar) to ensure the fullest possible compliance with Local Plan policy is
achieved where the viability of the scheme improves before completion. The proposals
are linked and their delivery shall be phased in order to ensure general compliance
with the LPSV site allocations. Given this phasing, and the time period over which the
developments will be constructed, viability review mechanisms shall be included within
the Legal Agreements for the residential properties. These review mechanisms shall
allow for viability to be re-assessed at various stages of the development process, to
allow any improvements in viability to be captured by the Council. This is particularly
important in light of current high build costs – the review will capture any improvements
in sales values relative to costs.
16.48 In summary, the applicant’s FVA has been scrutinised by an independent assessor
working on behalf of the Council. The conclusion of this assessment is that a policy
compliant provision of affordable housing would not be viable. The applicant has put
forward an offer of 25% provision on each site which the Council’s assessors consider
would represent a break-even position. Given this, the provision of 25% of units on site
as affordable would be acceptable. Review mechanisms will be included within the
Legal Agreement to ensure that any improvement in viability is secured by the Council.
17.

Design

17.1

The LPSV is clear that the Council is committed to ensuring that all new development
in the District is of the highest design standards in their broadest sense. Good design
should ensure that new forms of development function well within the surrounding area
and result in buildings which are durable and adaptable within their context.

17.2

The LPSV emphasises that good design is not solely a visual concern, but actually has
social and environmental elements such as the potential to create high quality public
realm, improving quality of life for local communities and contributing to the
sustainability agenda.

17.3

This approach follows the NPPF requirement for Local Planning Authorities to require
new forms of development to recognise local context and set out the quality of
development expected within the District.

17.4

Policy SP 3 sets out that the Council seeks to ensure that development proposals
accord with exceptional place making principles. Place making is a holistic approach
to planning which brings together all component parts of a successful place.

17.5

Policy DM 9 sets out the policy requirements based on the overall design approach
contained within the LPSV.

17.6

Similarly to Policy DM 9 of the LPSV, Saved Policy DBE1 of the ALP requires that new
development is of high quality design. Development proposals are expected to be
respectful to their setting, adopt a significance in the street scene which is appropriate
to their function and use high quality external materials. In addition to high quality

Page 423

design standards required, Policy CP2 of the ALP seeks to preserve the rural
environment, including landscape character and protecting the countryside.
17.7

In order to achieve the outstanding design as required by the LPSV, the Council has
established a Quality Review Panel (QRP) to act as a ‘critical friend’ to both the Council
and applicants.

17.8

The QRP consists of an independent, multidisciplinary group of experts who are
suitably trained and highly experienced individuals in their fields and the Panel has the
overarching ambition of assisting the Council with ensuring that new development
achieves the high-quality design as required by the LPSV.

17.9

The proposed development on the application site has been the subject of several
reviews by the QRP. The comments received following each review has been taken
into account when considering the various elements of design in the following section.

17.10 Scale, form and massing
17.11 Policy DM9 of the LPSV notes that developments must relate positively to their context
(Part A (i)), having regard to the form, scale and massing prevailing around the site
(Part D (ii)), active frontages (Part D (v)), and respond to natural features of the site
and surroundings (Part E). Policy DM 9 also notes that proposals should not result in
an over-bearing or overly enclosed form of development (Part H (iii)) and consider
microclimate conditions (Part H (iv)).
17.12 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF notes that development should be visually attractive as a
result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping, and be
sympathetic to the surrounding built environment and landscape character
17.13 The current leisure centre building occupies a large proportion of the total site area
and presents a solid, expansive mass to both of the site’s street frontages. In terms of
height of the proposed scheme, the terrace fronting onto Nicholl Road would reflect
the height of existing two and a half storey houses along Nicholl Road, and would not
appear overly dominant in the street scene. When viewed from Hemnall Street, the
apartment block would be taller than the existing properties.
17.14 Whilst the proposed scheme is, overall, taller than the existing leisure centre, the mass
has been broken down reducing the overall visual impact of the building. This has been
achieved by incorporating steps in the building elevations, flat roofs and recessed
pitched roofs, set behind parapet walls, on the apartment block building and gable
fronted designs with saw-tooth pitched roofs to the terraced houses. Furthermore, the
apartment block and the terraced houses are set in from the site boundaries, and over
12 metres from each other, which allows space for meaningful landscaping and
ensures the proposal does not appear cramped within the site and reducing the visual
impact when viewed from the street.
17.15 The general building height and massing strategy is therefore acceptable.

Page 424

17.16 Layout
17.17 Policy SP 3 of the LPSV notes that development proposals must demonstrate strong
vision, leadership and community engagement (i), extend, enhance and reinforce
strategic green infrastructure and public open space (vii), ensure positive integration
and connection with adjacent rural and urban communities thereby contributing to the
revitalisation of existing neighbourhoods (x) provide for sustainable movement and
access to local and strategic destinations (including rail, bus and pedestrians, cycling)
(xiii).
17.18 Policy DM 9 notes that development proposals must have regard to the framework of
routes and spaces connecting locally and more widely (Part D (iii)).
17.19 Policy T 1 notes that development proposals will be permitted where they provide safe,
suitable and convenient access for all potential users (Part C (i)) and provide a
coordinated and comprehensive scheme that does not prejudice future provision of
transport.
17.20 Policy DM 9 Part A (v) notes developments must incorporate design measures to
reduce social exclusion, the risk of crime, and the fear of crime. Policy DM 9 part A
also notes proposals should relate positively to their context, and Policy DM 21 notes
that the local environmental impacts, including light pollution, of all development
proposals after mitigation must not lead to unacceptable impacts on the health, safety,
wellbeing and amenity of existing and new users or occupiers of the development site,
or the surrounding land.
17.21 The siting of the apartment blocks and terrace in relation to each other allows for an
acceptable amount of amenity space and landscaping to be incorporated into the
scheme. There is a clear distinction between the public and private spaces within the
site, with appropriately sited fencing and gates to aid legibility and site security.
17.22 The visual presence of the car parking area is softened by the presence of the
landscaping buffer between the car park and the apartment block. Conditions are
recommended to ensure that appropriate boundary treatments are installed, to ensure
residents within the apartment block are not unduly impacted by noise, light or air
quality arising from the use of the car park.
17.23 Landscaping
17.1

Policy DM 3 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that new development will not directly,
indirectly or cumulatively cause significant harm to landscape character, the nature
and physical appearance of ancient landscapes or geological sites of importance.
Proposals should be sensitive to their setting in the landscape and have due regard
for local distinctiveness and characteristics. Policy DM 5 of the LPSV seeks that
developments retain and enhance existing green infrastructure including trees, use
native species and enhance the public realm through the provision of trees.

Page 425

17.2

The existing trees along Hemnall Street are to be retained as part of the landscaping
masterplan, along with trees along the north-east boundary of the site. These trees
provide the context for the ‘woodland walk’, a publicly accessible route running through
the site from Hemnall to Nicholl Street which improves the permeability of the site when
compared to the existing situation. The design of the apartment block ensures
sufficient natural surveillance and activation onto this route through the site. Planting
and rain gardens are to be provided across the site, including a landscaping buffer
surrounding the parking area which reduces the visual impact of the hardstanding.

17.3

However, the following trees are shown to be removed to facilitate development –
London Plane (T1) ; Black Pine (T7) ; and the mixed evergreen boundary along Nicholl
Road (G21). The Trees and Landscape Team have stated that there is no
arboricultural justification for the removal of these and the replacement landscaping is
an insufficient replacement. This objection is noted. The loss of the trees is regrettable,
but the retention of the trees would significantly limit the extent of development that
could take place on the site. Given the acute housing need within the District and the
need to optimise the density of development on the site, the benefit arising from the
removal of the trees outweighs the harm in this instance.

17.4

The scheme incorporates a central landscaped courtyard, which is accessible by all
residents within the site. There is a physical connection between the rear gardens of
the terraced houses and the courtyard area. A revised approach to the landscape
treatment of the courtyard has been submitted during the course of the application.
The proposal now represents an interesting, high-quality and sustainable scheme with
a distinct character. The revised layout, along with high-quality precedents shown,
provide reassurance that the courtyard has been designed in a meaningful and
appropriate way, benefiting residents and those using the ‘woodland walk’. An
acceptable level of play, planting, seating and artwork provision has been considered
and is to be provided as part of the overall landscaping strategy.

17.5

In terms of the detail of the planting scheme proposed, subject to conditions, the
species selection and mix is considered acceptable.

17.6

Boundary treatments are generally supported, with high-quality brickwork proposed to
all boundaries visible from the public realm. A change to the brick colour/ texture could
help the boundary walls to be viewed as part of the landscape design and help to
soften the edges – a condition is therefore recommended to secure this alternative
arrangement.

17.7

Appearance and materials

17.8

Policy DM 9 of the LPSV notes that development proposals are required to incorporate
sustainable design and construction principles (Part A (iii)) and relate positively to their
locality having regard to distinctive local architectural styles, detailing and materials
(Part D (vi)).

Page 426

17.9

The NPPF paragraph 130 notes that developments must be visually attractive as a
result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping, establish
a strong sense of place, and be sympathetic to local character and history while not
preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change.

17.10 The design, appearance and materiality of the terraced houses fronting onto Nicholl
Road appears as a contemporary, yet respectful, addition to the street scene.
Appropriate materials and finishes will be secured by the recommended conditions. In
particular, detailed elevation/ junction information is required to be submitted,
particularly with regards to depths of reveals, rainwater goods, copings, door/ window
details and balconies. To note, balcony design shown on bay studies still differ from
precedent images and CGI perspectives, however the precise detail of these can be
secured by condition.
17.11 As noted above, the use of solid brick matching the building brickwork to ground floor
private amenity should be reviewed to relieve the dominance of a single brick type and
to soften the edges of the communal amenity. This is to be secured by the
recommended conditions.
17.12 Amenity for future residents
17.13 In terms of the layout of the flats within apartment block A, these are in line with NDSS,
fire strategy and Part M4(2) Accessibility standards. Layouts are carefully considered.
For accessibility and fire considerations this will be further reviewed by Building Control
to ensure all technical requirements are met. The requirement for Part M4(2) is
included within the recommended conditions but appears achievable through the
design.
17.14 Similarly, house layouts are rational and provide an acceptable quality of
accommodation. Whilst the arrangement of WC rather than habitable room at ground
floor frontage limits activity and overlooking, there are two bedrooms and a study space
on the frontage at upper levels and therefore this arrangement is acceptable. It is noted
that Part M4(2) requires a shower room on the entrance level of 3-bed+ properties,
and this will be secured by condition.
17.15 The cycle parking to houses is located at the front of the property and this allows for
convenient access, therefore encouraging active travel in line with policy T1 and DM9.
There does not appear to be any detailed information provided on the design of these
however the plan information in conjunction with visuals provides sufficient information
so that the detail can be secured by condition.
17.16 The cycle store to Block A is also conveniently located for all residents of the flats.
17.17 With regard to overlooking, the distance between windows of habitable rooms and their
siting ensures that there is an acceptable level of privacy for all homes. A condition is
recommended to ensure appropriate screens are installed on balconies to prevent
overlooking of the private amenity areas of some of the ground floor flats.

Page 427

17.18 An updated Daylight, Sunlight, Overshadowing Report (Aug 2021) was submitted,
which assessed the internal light levels to the proposed homes. This report shows that
88% of windows comply with daylight at 2% Average Daylight Factor (ADF) for
Living/Kitchen/ Dining rooms (LKDs) and 96% comply at 1.5% for LKDs. Given the
highly sustainable location, the need to make efficient use of the site and the highquality amenity proposed, the figures acceptable in this context.
17.19 Whilst a number of rooms would not meet the BRE recommendations for sunlight/
Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH), it is noted that most of the rooms that
transgress the recommendations are bedrooms and/or north-facing. The fact that most
of the proposed dwellings are dual aspect means that it is more likely the overall light
quality internally will be better than for single aspect dwellings, with more choice of
aspect. On this basis, the arrangement is acceptable.
17.20 Therefore, overall in terms of design, the proposal would be of an acceptable scale,
height and massing. The site layout and the detailed design of the buildings reduces
the overall visual mass, ensuring the scheme sits comfortable within the plot and does
not appear visually dominant within the wider street scene. The proposed appearance,
materiality and landscaping is acceptable subject to conditions requiring further details.
The proposed homes have been carefully designed in terms of layout and would
provide a good level of amenity for future residents. Subject to conditions, there would
be adequate privacy to each home and external amenity spaces. Each home would
benefit from an acceptable level of daylight, sunlight and outlook. In addition, parking
and cycle parking provision is easily accessible and would promote the use of active
travel.
17.21 Density
17.22 The proposal is for 40 dwellings across a site area of 0.41 hectares, resulting in a
density of 98 dph.
17.23 Policy H3A of the adopted Local Plan states that new housing developments will
achieve a net site density of at least 30 - 50 dwellings per hectare. In the LPSV, policy
SP3 states that the Council will normally expect densities above 50 dwellings per
hectare in towns. Therefore, there is general support for higher density residential
developments in sustainable town centre locations. The policy does not provide an
upper limit on the density for each site.
17.24 Paragraph 122 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should support
developments that makes efficient use of land. Paragraph 125 further states that where
there is an existing or anticipated shortage of land for meeting identified housing
needs, it is especially important that planning policies and decisions avoid homes being
built at low densities and ensure that developments make optimal use of the potential
of each site. The NPPF advises that density standards should seek a significant uplift
in the average density of residential development within these areas, unless it can be
shown that there are strong reasons why this would be inappropriate.

Page 428

17.25 The LPSV allocates the site for the provision of approximately 43 homes. The number
of homes proposed falls below that expected within the site allocation and therefore
the density is lower. Having regard to the density within the site allocation and the town
centre location, the proposed density is acceptable.
18.

Impacts on neighbouring amenity

18.1

Paragraph H of Policy DM 9 requires development proposals to take account of the
privacy and amenity of the users of a development as well as that of neighbours. Policy
DBE9 of the ALP contains the same objective by seeking to safeguard the living
conditions of neighbouring properties. Paragraph H of Policy DM 9 is further split into
subsections (i – iv) and the report will consider these issues in turn.

18.2

When considering privacy and amenity issues in relation to existing residents, it is
important to understand the context of the application site in relation to the nearest of
these neighbours.

18.3

Sunlight and Daylight

18.4

Part (i) of paragraph H seeks to ensure that adequate levels of sunlight/daylight and
open aspects are provided to the users of the development and nearby neighbouring
residents.

18.5

The application was accompanied with a Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing
Report (updated Aug 2021) prepared by Avison Young (AY) on behalf of the applicant.
Officers has reviewed the report and assessed the application.

18.6

As a result of the proposal, a single property would be affected beyond the
recommended BRE levels – no. 23a Hemnall Street. Given the windows affected serve
a small study and utility space and are located on a flank wall facing the site, the overall
level of light to the main habitable rooms of this property would remain acceptable.

18.7

Overlooking / loss of privacy

18.8

Part (ii) seeks to ensure that existing neighbours will not be overlooked by users of
new development.

18.9

At present, the properties on the northern side of Amesbury Road are sited in close
proximity to the flank walls of the existing sports centre building. There are only a few
windows facing these residential dwellings at present. The proposed apartment block
would introduce a greater number of windows facing the Amesbury Close properties,
However, the apartment block would be sited at a greater distance from the site
boundary than the existing sports centre, creating a separation distance of at least 22
metres. This separation distance is sufficient to ensure that there will not be an
unacceptable level of overlooking between the apartment block and the Amesbury
Road properties.

Page 429

18.10 The proposed terraced houses would be sited closer to the boundary with 12 and 12a
Amesbury Close. The front elevations would not extend beyond the side/front of 12b,
which does not have any windows in the flank elevation. As such, there would be no
overlooking or loss of privacy to this building. The end of terrace house only includes
one ground floor window in the flank elevation. This, combined with its siting in relation
to 12 Amesbury Close, is sufficient to ensure that an acceptable level of privacy
remains to this property.
18.11 The apartment block would be sited at least 12 metres from the rear garden of 27
Hemnall Street, which is sufficient and would ensure an acceptable level of privacy
remains. No 25a Hemnall Street is located in closer proximity to the apartment block,
but is not a residential property and therefore the level of retained privacy is acceptable
for its use.
18.12 With regard to the neighbours on the north-eastern side of the site, No. 23a has two
ground floor flank windows, but the distance between the windows and the apartment
block, along with the presence of the existing boundary fence and hedge, would ensure
no direct overlooking between these buildings. The apartment block would incorporate
upper storey flank windows facing No. 23a, but these would face onto the front car
parking area and not the main garden area to the rear. At the rear, the siting of the rear
building line in relation to No. 23a prevents any overlooking. A condition is
recommended to secure an acceptable screen to the north-eastern side of the
balconies to prevent any perceived loss of privacy to the rear garden of No. 23a.
18.13 No. 20 Nicholl Road is a dormer bungalow, with side facing windows within the roof.
Again, the flank wall of the proposed end-of-terrace house only contains a ground floor
level window in the flank elevation. The window is sited at sufficient distance from the
boundary and there are intervening trees, such that there would not be any overlooking
of No. 20 Nicholl Road. The row of terraces are set further forward in the site than No.
20, such the privacy of the garden of this property would also be retained.
18.14 Outlook
18.15 Part (iii) seeks to ensure that new development is not overbearing and would not cause
significant harm to the outlook of occupiers of neighbouring properties.
18.16 As set out above, the existing sports centre building is sprawling in form, and sits tight
to the boundaries of the plot. Although the proposed buildings would, at some points,
be taller in height than the existing building, the overall footprint would be less
sprawling and the distance from the site’s boundaries increased in most areas of the
site. In particular, the outlook from the Amesbury Close properties will be retained, by
moving the built form more centrally into the site. The siting of the proposed buildings
relative to 23a Hemnall Street and 20 Nicholl Road has been carefully considered and
adequate outlook will be retained from the main habitable rooms of these properties.

Page 430

18.17 Overall, the proposal is considered acceptable with regard to any impact on the
surrounding residential properties in terms of privacy, overlooking, daylight, sunlight
and outlook and is therefore compliant with paragraph H of Policy DM 9.
18.18 Noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality
18.19 Part (iv) requires that issues of noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality
are properly addressed when considering an application to ensure that none would
cause significant harm to the amenity of existing residents or new users of the
proposed development.
18.20 The report will now consider each of these aspects in turn.
18.21 With regard to noise, the proposed residential use, and the siting of the buildings in
relation to the neighbouring properties, is such that there would not be an unacceptable
increase in noise experienced by the neighbouring properties.
18.22 Additionally parking provision on the site will be significantly reduced and thus any
noise generated from vehicles is likely to be less than that of which the occupants of
the surrounding properties currently experience with the leisure centre use, and
associated servicing. As such, the proposal is acceptable with regard to noise impacts.
18.23 A lighting impact assessment was submitted with the application which indicates that
the upward light ratio (ULR) would not exceed the maximum permissible level of 5%
for an E3 environmental zone. The report concludes finding that any residual effects
of lighting from the proposed development will be negligible. Officers have reviewed
the application and the lighting assessment report and are satisfied that there will be
no undue harm caused to the amenity of the occupants of the surrounding properties
as a result of lighting, subject to the recommended conditions.
18.24 The application has been accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) which
considers the potential impacts of the construction phase of the development as well
as the operational phase.
18.25 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has considered the AQA and has
commented that the proposed mitigation measures have been taken from appropriate
guidance and if suitably implemented, will ensure that there will not be significant harm
caused to sensitive receptors. These measures can be secured through the
recommended condition. Given the proximity of residential properties and the phased
nature of development on this, and the nearby linked sites, conditions recommending
real time dust monitoring are recommended also.
18.26 Based on the evidence provided by the applicant and subject to the recommended
conditions, the proposal will not cause significant harm to air quality in relation to
human health.
18.27 Summary relating to design and neighbouring amenity issues

Page 431

18.28 Drawing all the strands together in relation to design and neighbouring amenity issues,
the analysis conducted through this report has concluded that the proposed
development fulfils the Council’s overall vision and policies of ensuring that new
development is comprised of high quality design, subject to the imposition of
adequately worded planning conditions/obligations.
18.29 It has further been concluded that there would not be any significant harm caused to
the living conditions of any of the existing residents who live in the area and that the
development will ensure a good level of amenity to staff and visitors, subject to the
imposition of suitably worded conditions / planning obligations.
18.30 The proposal is therefore compliant with the requirements of Policies SP 3, DM 9 and
T 1 Part C and Part D of the LPSV and with Policies CP2, DBE1, DBE4 and DBE9 of
the ALP.
19.

Highways and Transport

19.1

The submitted Transport Assessment (TA) assesses the potential impacts of the
proposed development on the local and strategic highway network.

19.2

The TA has been reviewed by Essex County Council Highways, who conclude that it
is a robust assessment of the traffic impacts of the proposal.

19.3

The application proposes 248 cycle parking spaces (224 long-stay and 24 short-stay).

19.4

The application proposes 20 car parking spaces, including 3 blue-badge parking
spaces. Of these spaces, 11 will be allocated with the remainder for visitor parking.
Policy T 1 of the emerging Local Plan requires that any development which proposes
vehicle parking spaces must ensure that those spaces have direct access to an electric
charging point. All parking spaces are to be active Electrical Vehicle Charging Points
(EVCP), in compliance with this policy.

19.5

The residential Travel Plan submitted includes detailed measures for the applicant to
implement in order to reduce reliance on the private car. These include providing
Residential Travel Information Packs, cycle parking provision, encouraging car share
platforms, free membership and £50 credit for a car club for residents, and the
provision of electrical vehicle car charging. The site is well located, close to other
accessible modes of sustainable travel. Given the scale of the development and
proximity to existing transport modes, these measures are sufficient.

19.6

The applicant is committed to delivering the Travel Plan and monitoring its
implementation. Implemented alongside the low level of parking provision on site, the
proposed Travel Plan will help reduce reliance on the private vehicle.

19.7

In summary, given the existing use as an office and car park, and the low parking
provision, the proposal will generate fewer trips than the existing use, resulting in a
negligible impact on traffic and congestion on the local highway network.

Page 432

19.8

Overall, the proposals will not result in an unacceptable impact on highway safety and
would not have a severe residual cumulative impact on the road network in accordance
with paragraph 111 of the NPPF, as well as ST4 of the adopted Local Plan and policy
T1 of the LPSV.

20.

Sustainability, Energy and Climate Change

20.1

The NPPF sets out that the overall purpose of the planning system is to contribute to
the achievement of sustainable development which is defined as:
Meeting the needs of the present generation without compromising the ability of future
generations to meet their own needs

20.2

In order to achieve sustainable development, the NPPF sets out three overarching
objectives:


An economic objective;



A social objective; and



An environmental objective

20.3

The NPPF is clear that each of these objectives are interdependent and need to be
pursued in mutually supportive ways.

20.4

The LPSV sets out that the Council is committed to providing proactive strategies with
regard to climate change resilience. This approach is based on the NPPF which
encourages Local Planning Authorities to adopt a proactive strategy with regard to
sustainable development and climate change.

20.5

On 19th September 2019 the Council declared a climate emergency for the District
and set out a pledge that the Council will do everything in its power to make the District
carbon neutral by 2030.

20.6

This approach is encapsulated within Policy DM 20 of the LPSV which seeks to
encourage new developments to be of a low carbon energy use. Renewable energy
measures in new and existing development is also to be encouraged as far as possible.
The policies in the LPSV have been added to via the adoption in March 2021 EFDC
Sustainability Guidance and Checklist as supplementary planning guidance. The
purpose of this guidance is to help applicants meet EFDC’s goals of becoming net zero
carbon by 2030.

20.7

In support of the application, a Sustainability Statement and Energy Strategy have
been submitted along with a completed EFDC Sustainability Checklist which presents
the sustainable aspects of the proposed development.

20.8

The Sustainability Statement highlights a number of aspects of the scheme which
contribute to the sustainability credentials of the development. In short these are:

Page 433

20.9



A fabric first approach to reducing carbon emissions



The development resulting in an annual 51% reduction in C02 emissions over
the requirements of Building Regulations Part L.



High efficiency air source heat pumps;



Installation of electric charging points for all of the car parking spaces on the
site and provision of bicycle storage.



Installation of new green and active spaces.



Adopting measures for waste reduction during construction.



Using embodied carbon studies to guide design.

Generally, the scheme is compliant with the sustainability policies in the emerging
Local Plan. However, the scheme is not particularly innovative or proactive in
addressing Climate Change and could be more ambitious in aligning with the Council’s
Climate Emergency declaration. It is noted in the DAS addendum that operational
carbon, energy strategy, embodied carbon, water management, circular economy/
waste management and socio-economic aspects will be addressed in more detail
during future design stages. Whilst it is acknowledged that some of the details of the
scheme can only be developed at later design stages, many of the principles need to
be in place at an early stage of design to enable this to be possible.

20.10 Specifically, the potable water target aligns with the Checklist’s 2050 targets.
Rainwater and greywater harvesting have been explored following initial Officer
comments but deemed not viable for the scheme.
20.11 The submission states ‘permeable surfaces will be included wherever practical to do
so’, but no percentage figure has been provided as asked by the Sustainability
Checklist. The proposal should target 75% of hard surfaces being permeable.
20.12 The applicant has addressed previous comments with regards to Circular Economy
principles by providing further detail on responsible sourcing of materials, use of
recycled, reusable or local materials, and adaptable design.
20.13 The scheme appears to be meeting the highest targets of the Sustainability Checklist
in terms of waste management. The responses to the Checklist suggest that 95% of
the construction waste produced during the demolition, excavation and construction
processes will be recycled or reused. This approach is welcomed, and the 95% target
will be secured through the recommended condition.
20.14 The project is targeted to be an Air Quality neutral development and mitigation
measures as described in the District’s Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy are being
adhered to.

Page 434

20.15 Therefore, whilst not overly ambitious, the proposal is considered to be a sustainable
form of development and is therefore compliant with Policy SP 1 and Policy DM 20 of
the LPSV and Policy CP5 of the adopted Local Plan. The applicant is encouraged,
through the recommended conditions, to enhance the sustainability credentials of the
development through the next stages of design.
21.

Flood Risk and SuDs

21.1

There is a clear need to ensure that surface and foul water drainage and treatment
occur effectively and for the protection of both human health and the environment. This
includes the need to ensure that development will not cause pollution to water bodies
or controlled water, including ground water.

21.2

Policy DM 18 of the LPSV sets out that it is expected that applications for planning
permission will ensure that there is adequate surface water, foul drainage and
treatment capacity to serve their development. This requirement is also reflected in
Policy U2A of the ALP.

21.3

The application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and a
Below Ground Drainage Strategy. Further information was submitted by the applicant
during the course of the application in relation to the greenfield run-off rate, water
quality and landscape features, following concerns raised by EFDC and ECC.

21.4

The EFDC Land Drainage Team has reviewed the information and has no objection in
principle, subject to the recommended condition requiring the approval of a detailed
surface water drainage scheme, prior to commencement.

21.5

The ECC SuDS Team acts as the Lead Local Flood Authority. Similarly to the EFDC
Land Drainage Team, based on the FRA and the surface water drainage strategy the
team has no objection to the application subject to the imposition of planning
conditions.

21.6

Thames Water has been consulted as part of this application as a key utilities provider.
In terms of foul water disposal, Thames Water has raised no objection to the
application.

21.7

Subject to the imposition of appropriately worded planning conditions the proposal is
compliant with Policy DM 18 of the LPSV and with Policy U2A of the ALP.

22.

Ground contamination

22.1

The LPSV seeks to ensure that new forms of development avoid unacceptable risks
from pollution to humans and other species. Paragraph C of Policy DM 21 of the LPSV
requires that potential contamination risks are properly considered and adequately
mitigated before development proceeds. Policy RP4 of the ALP is consistent with this
approach, whereby potential contaminants are required to be identified and if
necessary, appropriately mitigated.

Page 435

22.2

The application is accompanied by a ground investigation report, which considers the
potential contamination risks present on the site.

22.3

The reports conclude that no elevated concentrations of contaminations have been
found and the works are unlikely to present a potentially significant risk to human
health. Furthermore, monitoring has not indicated any abnormal concentrations of
ground gas, therefore no gas protection measures are considered necessary.

22.4

The Councils Geo-technical Team have considered the reports and agree with their
findings in principle. The team have added that imported soils are likely to be required
to provide suitable growing conditions for landscaped areas – these soils must be
tested. A condition is therefore recommended to secure Remediation Method
Statements and Verification reports.

22.5

The standard condition suggested by the Geo-technical Team seeks to ensure that if
discoloured or odorous soils are encountered on the application site, or if hazardous
materials or significant quantities of non-soil forming materials found during
development works, then development will cease until the risks are fully investigated
and evaluated. If necessary, an appropriate scheme to mitigate the potential risks will
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

22.6

The proposed condition will ensure compliance with the provisions of paragraph C of
policy DM 21 of the LPSV and with Policy RP4 of the ALP.

22.7

Following this advice and on the basis of the evidence submitted by the applicant, the
proposal is compliant with paragraph C of Policy DM 21 of the LPSV and with Policy
RP4 of the ALP.

23.

Historic Environment – Archaeology

23.1

The LPSV recognises that Epping Forest District benefits from a rich and varied historic
environment, including historic remains. Where proposals could potentially affect
archaeological remains, preference is given to their preservation since these remains
are finite and irreplaceable.

23.2

Policy DM 7 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that heritage assets (including archaeological
remains) are conserved or enhanced in a manner appropriate to their significance.

23.3

To investigate potential impacts on the historic environment the application is
supported by a Heritage Statement which assess the potential for archaeological
deposits within the site.

23.4

The historic maps have shown that some buildings were evident within the site on the
Tithe Map of 1838 and that there was a standing historic building within the site visible
on the First Edition Ordnance Survey Map. Given these findings, the Historic
Environment Team at ECC have recommended a further scheme of archaeological
investigation be secured by condition.

Page 436

23.5

Subject to these conditions, the proposed development is compliant with policy DM 7
of the LPSV and the proposals would conserve any heritage assets of archaeological
significance.

24.

Ecology

24.1

The LPSV sets out that new development proposals should seek to deliver a net biodiversity gain in addition to protecting existing habitats and species. This approach is
set out in Policy DM 1 of the LPSV. Policy NC3 of the adopted Local Plan is broadly
consistent with this approach, whereby development proposals which may cause harm
to established habitats are required to provide a replacement, alternative habitats of at
least equivalent wildlife value. Additionally, Policy CP1 of the adopted Local Plan seeks
to avoid or to minimise potential environmental impacts of development proposals.

24.2

The application is accompanied by an Ecological Assessment which sets out the
baseline ecology of the application site and assesses the potential impacts of the
development and mitigation and enhancement measures which may be required.

24.3

Baseline ecological surveys

24.4

The findings of the Habitats Survey demonstrate that, due to the footprint of the
building and the extent of hardstanding, the habitats are of negligible ecological
importance. The existing hedgerows and trees are non-native and have no intrinsic
ecological value.

24.5

The site was found to have low suitability for roosting bats. A very low level of foraging
activity by common pipistrelle was recorded during the emergence/ re-entry surveys.
The site has the suitability to support nesting birds, and although records of hedgehog
in the surrounding area exist, the site is unlikely to provide a significant resource for
this species.

24.6

Impacts, mitigation and enhancement measures

24.7

The construction of the development proposal has the potential to cause harm to
existing habitats on the site and therefore it is recommended that a planning condition
is attached to the application to ensure that a Construction Environment Management
Plan (CEMP) is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
prior to the commencement of works.

24.8

Similarly to the construction phase, the operational phase of the development and its
potential impacts on habitats will need to addressed in a Landscape and Ecology
Mitigation and Management Plan (LEMP). This can be secured through the use of a
planning condition.

24.9

The mitigation measures identified in the Environmental Impact Assessment should be
secured and implemented in full, to conserve and enhance protected and Priority
Species. This includes precautionary measures for Hedgehogs (including Hedgehog

Page 437

Holes) and Nesting birds. Therefore, a condition is recommended requiring the
mitigation measures to be implemented on site.
24.10 Furthermore, the mitigation measures identified in the Epping Forest Environmental
Impact Assessment should be secured and implemented in full. This is necessary to
conserve and enhance protected and Priority Species. This includes precautionary
measures for common toad, hedgehogs (including gaps in fencing), and nesting birds.
24.11 The ES demonstrates that a biodiversity net gain will be achieved through five bird
nesting boxes, neutral grassland (referred toas ‘woodland groundcover mix’ in the
landscape plan), and a biodiversity roof. A condition is recommended to ensure that
enhancement measures are to be outlined and secured through the approval of a
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy.
24.12 Overall, in terms of ecology, the proposal would be in accordance with policy DM 1 of
the LPSV is also compliant with Policies NC3 and CP1 of the ALP
25.

Infrastructure
In order to deliver the sustainable and balanced growth which has been identified in
the LPSV, significant investment in infrastructure is required to meet the needs of
residents and businesses.

25.1

Infrastructure includes a wide variety of elements including transport, utilities, flood and
surface water management, open space and social and community infrastructure.

25.2

To outline the infrastructure requirements which are necessary to meet the needs of
the growth outlined in the Plan, the Council has complied an Infrastructure Delivery
Plan (IDP). The IDP identifies:


The organisation responsible for delivering each piece of infrastructure;



The period over which the relevant investment will be required; and



The cost of each item and how it is going to be funded.

25.3

The IDP has been developed in consultation and cooperation with infrastructure
providers and will ensure that infrastructure is delivered in a timely, predictable and
effective manner. The IDP has also considered high level issues of viability and
therefore delivery of policy compliant new development.

25.4

The IDP is split into development areas and identifies the various interventions
necessary within each area.

25.5

A number of Active Transport Improvements i.e cycle and footpath improvements are
identified within the IDP and the value of these have been apportioned between
proposed developments within Epping. The value of these works is £70,360.

Page 438

25.6

Potential Highway Works are identified within the IDP for Epping with a site
apportionment detailing how the cost will be spread over a number of schemes. In this
case given the scale of the proposal, low level of car parking provided and indirect link
to the scheme the cost of potential highway works are not sought.

25.7

Open Space and Green Infrastructure requirements are identified in the IDP alongside
the deficient in local park provision set out within the Epping Forest Open Space
Strategy 2017. The identified projects have been apportioned using the same method
as the Active Transport Improvements. A contribution value of £258,851 has been
identified.

25.8

ECC Infrastructure Planning confirmed the following requirements to mitigate the
impact of the increase resident population:

25.9



Early Years and Childcare – £29,528



Primary Education - £98,428



Secondary Education – £90,345



Libraries – £3,112

NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group undertook a Healthcare Impact
Assessment to provide the basis for a developer contribution towards capital funding
to increase capacity within the GP Catchment Area. The developments would have an
impact on primary healthcare provision in the area and a contribution towards the
required funding for the provision of capacity to absorb the patient growth generated
by these developments will mitigate this. A contribution of £19,740 has been
calculated.

25.10 Subject to the infrastructure interventions as noted in the previous section being
secured through appropriate planning obligations, the proposal is compliant with policy
D1 of the LPSV.
26.

Employment and skills

26.1

Part (v) of paragraph F of Policy SP 2 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that suitable training
and skills development opportunities are provided for local residents to equip them with
the skills they need to access future employment opportunities.

26.2

The Council is committed to ensuring that local residents get the best possible
opportunities for training and employment in relation to this development proposal and
as such an employment and skills plan (ESP) is proposed to be secured via legal
obligation. The ESP will ensure liaison with the Council on employment opportunities,
provide training opportunities and seek appropriate level of apprentices are provided
as part of the construction works.

Page 439

26.3

Subject to the delivery of the measures identified in the ESP, Officers consider that the
development proposal will provide for significant opportunities for new jobs,
apprenticeships and training for the local community.

26.4

The precise details of these schemes can be secured through a planning obligation as
part of the section 106 legal agreement. Subject to the inclusion of the proposed
planning obligation, the proposal will be compliant with Part (v) of Paragraph F of Policy
SP 2 of the LPSV and will provide significant economic benefits to the local area.

27.

EQUALITY DUTIES AND HUMAN RIGHTS

27.1

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires that a public authority must exercise its
functions having due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance
equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
(age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief;
sex; and sexual orientation) and persons who do not share it, and foster good relations
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do
not.

27.2

In making this recommendation, due regard has been given to this Public Sector
Equality Duty and the relevant protected characteristics. It is considered that there will
be no specific implications and that, if approving or refusing this proposal, the Council
will be acting in compliance with its duties.

27.3

The Human Rights Act 1998 makes it unlawful for a public authority to act in a way
which is incompatible with any of the Convention rights protected by the Act unless it
could not have acted otherwise. Careful consideration has been given to the rights set
out in the European Convention on Human Rights, in particular Article 6 (right to a fair
trial); Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life; Article 14 (prohibition of
discrimination); and Article 1 of the First Protocol (right to peaceful enjoyment of
possessions).

27.4

The Council is of the opinion that the recommendation does not interfere with any such
rights except insofar as is necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others. The
Council is permitted to control the use of property in accordance with the public interest
and the recommendation is considered a proportionate response to the submitted
application based upon the considerations set out in this report.

28.

CONCLUSION

28.1

In conclusion, the starting point for determining this application is development plan.
Determinations must be made in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. The tilted balance identified in Para 11(d)
of the NPPF is engaged, which provides that permission should be granted unless the
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

Page 440

28.2

In assessing the principle of the development against the adopted and emerging
Development Plan, the scheme proposes the re-use of brownfield land, within an
accessible and highly sustainable town centre location. The site is located within Flood
Zone 1 and is at low risk from all sources of flooding.

28.3

The site allocation EPP.R5 within the LPSV identifies the site for residential
development on the basis that a replacement sports centre is provided. The site
allocation EPP.R5 specifically requires that ‘Closure of the existing Epping Sports
Centre and the re-development of this site should not take place until a suitable
replacement sports/leisure facility is delivered and is operational.’ The principle of the
loss of the existing leisure centre is acceptable only if a replacement is secured and
provided prior to the redevelopment of the current centre, to ensure that the public
have uninterrupted access to sports/leisure facilities in the local area. As set out
elsewhere in this report, the provision of a replacement leisure centre on the St John’s
site is acceptable. The use of the Hemnall Street site for residential purposes is in
compliance with the site allocation and is acceptable in principle.

28.4

Looking at the wider context, the three residential and two commercial developments
proposed by the Applicant are to be phased to enable the sequential delivery of the
required facilities to enable wider development. The first phase will see the MSCP
constructed on Cottis Lane, thus releasing Bakers Lane for redevelopment. The new
Epping Leisure Centre can then be constructed on Bakers Lane releasing the existing
Sports Centre site for residential development.

28.5

On the basis of this assessment, it is considered that proposed development is
compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan and the LPSV in relation to
the principle of use proposed on each site

28.6

Turning to other relevant material considerations, it is recognised that under the
Habitats Regulations, the Epping Forest SAC (“EFSAC) is classified as a ‘European
Site’ and applications for planning permission that are likely, either alone or in
combination with other plans or projects, to have a significant effect on the EFSAC
must be subject to an assessment, known as an Appropriate Assessment ("AA"). Harm
can result from recreational pressure, resulting from additional residential units, and
atmospheric pressure, arising from increased vehicular movements.

28.7

The proposed residential development on Land at St John’s Road, Epping Sports
Centre and Land and part of Civic Offices which propose residential development, will
pay a financial contribution of £352 per dwelling as noted in the SAMM strategy,
secured through the S106 agreement. It can therefore be concluded, beyond a
reasonable scientific doubt, that there will be no harm to the integrity of the EFSAC as
a result of recreational pressure.

28.8

In terms of atmospheric pressure, there is difference between the traffic generation
assumed through the Local Plan allocations and the development proposals advanced
through these applications, in an unmitigated scenario. The Annual Average Daily
Traffic has been modelled for the proposed scenario and considered through the Local

Page 441

Plan air quality model for the EFSAC, so that a direct comparison can be made with
the modelling undertaken for the Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy. It has been
concluded that, subject to the suitable delivery of the required parking provision on
each of the five development sites as well as a suitable Car Park Management Plan to
raise awareness of the electric charging facilities available and the payment of the
necessary financial contributions, the Council as the competent authority can conclude
beyond a reasonable scientific doubt that the development proposed by each of these
applications will not lead to an adverse effect on the integrity of the EFSAC.
28.9

Each of the five applications include an Environmental Statement (ES). The ESs set
out a baseline for the existing environmental conditions in the areas affected and then
identify likely significant effects (including possible cumulative effects) and mitigation.
Significant effects on climate change are identified, which is to be addressed via
embedded and operational mitigation to reduce carbon emissions. Significant
beneficial effects arise from new employment opportunities and the provision of new
and improved sports facilities. Other residual effects are to be addressed via
Construction Management Plans, Landscape and Ecological Management Plans
secured by planning condition. Overall, subject to the appropriate mitigation secured
via condition and the S106 agreement, the environmental impact of the schemes is
acceptable.

28.10 In terms of the proposed housing mix, the delivery of the larger units as identified within
the SHMAA would result in a particular approach to built typology and urban form. In
limited specific town centre locations with close proximity to sustainable transport
options, such as this, a more nuanced approach should to be taken to ensure that the
delivery of homes both private and affordable are maximised and that the objective of
mixed and balanced communities are achieved on space constrained sites. The
proposed housing mix is supported in this location as suitable sites to accommodate a
high proportion of 1 and 2 bed units. This will help diversify local housing stock while
maximising housing delivery within a sustainable location. The proposed tenure,
including Built to Rent at St John’s, are acceptable.
28.11 The applicant has put forward an offer of 25% provision of on-site affordable housing
at each of the residential sites. As this falls below the policy requirement of 40%, a
Financial Viability Assessment (FVA) has been submitted, which has been scrutinised
by an independent assessor g on behalf of the Council. The conclusion of the
independent assessment is that a policy compliant provision of affordable housing
would not be viable. The Council’s assessors consider that a 25% provision would
represent a break-even position. Given this, the provision of 25% of units on site as
affordable would be acceptable. A review mechanism will be included within the S106
agreement to ensure that any improvement in viability is secured by the Council.
28.12 In terms of design quality, the existing leisure centre building occupies a large
proportion of the total site area and presents a solid, expansive mass to both of the
site’s street frontages. The proposed terrace fronting onto Nicholl Road would reflect
the height of existing two and a half storey houses along Nicholl Road, and would not

Page 442

appear overly dominant in the street scene. When viewed from Hemnall Street, the
apartment block would be taller than the existing properties but the mass has been
satisfactorily broken down, reducing the overall visual impact of the building. The built
form is set in from the site boundaries which allows space for meaningful landscaping
and ensures the proposal does not appear cramped within the site and reducing the
visual impact when viewed from the street. The proposed materials are acceptable,
subject to further details to be secured by condition.
28.13 The proposed landscaping is sufficient to soften the visual impact of the buildings and
the associated hardstanding, whilst providing high quality and varied play space
throughout the site in accessible and attractive locations. The Trees and Landscape
Team have raised objection to the removal of two protected trees. The loss of the trees
is regrettable, but the retention of the trees would significantly limit the extent of
development that could take place on the site. Given the acute housing need within
the District and the need to optimise the density of development on the site, the benefit
arising from the removal of the trees outweighs the harm in this instance.
28.14 Each new home provided as part of the proposal would benefit from an acceptable
level of privacy internally and externally, adequate outlook, and an acceptable level of
light. Layouts of the homes are rational and useable. Subject to conditions relating to
bin storage arrangements and cycle parking, the proposed servicing arrangements are
acceptable and would encourage a shift to sustainable modes of transport.
28.15 With regard to the impact on surrounding residential properties, an acceptable level of
daylight and sunlight would be retained for all surrounding residential properties. Whilst
some of the surrounding properties are in close proximity to the site, the siting of
windows to habitable rooms, the presence of the existing boundary fencing and
vegetation and the use of obscure glazing (secured by condition) would be sufficient
to prevent any loss of privacy or outlook. The proposal is therefore compliant with
paragraph H of Policy DM 9.
28.16 Furthermore, the proposed residential use, and the siting of the buildings in relation to
the neighbouring properties, is such that there would not be an unacceptable increase
in noise experienced by the neighbouring properties. In addition, there will be no undue
harm caused to the amenity of the surrounding properties as a result of lighting, subject
to the recommended conditions. Based on the evidence provided by the applicant and
subject to the recommended conditions, the proposal will not cause significant harm to
air quality in relation to human health.
28.17 The predicted traffic generation resulting from the proposal would not have a significant
impact on the local highway network and is acceptable. The extent of car and cycle
parking is acceptable and, in combination with the submitted Travel Plan, would help
reduce reliance on the private car and transition to sustainable modes of travel.
28.18 Generally, the scheme is compliant with the sustainability policies in the emerging
Local Plan. The design incorporates a ‘fabric-first’ approach to sustainability, potable
water targets are acceptable, 95% of construction waste will be recycled or re-use and

Page 443

the project will be air quality neutral. Therefore, whilst not overly ambitious, the
proposal is considered to be a sustainable form of development and is therefore
compliant with Policy SP 1 of the LPSV and Policy CP5 of the adopted Local Plan. In
addition, in terms of energy consumption and C02 emissions, the proposal is compliant
with Policy DM 20 of the LPSV.
28.19 The application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and a
Below Ground Drainage Strategy. Further information was submitted by the applicant
during the course of the application in relation to the greenfield run-off rate, water
quality and landscape features, following concerns raised by EFDC and ECC. The
EFDC Land Drainage Team and the ECC SuDS Team have reviewed the information
and have no objection, subject to the recommended condition requiring the approval
of a detailed surface water drainage scheme. The proposal is therefore compliant with
Policy DM 18 of the LPSV and with Policy U2A of the ALP.
28.20 A ground investigation report has been submitted with the application, which considers
the potential contamination risks present on the site. The Council’s Geotechnical Team
have considered the reports and agree that there will be no significant risk to human
health as a result of the proposal. A condition is recommended to secure Remediation
Method Statements and Verification reports.
28.21 The application is also supported by a Heritage Statement which assess the potential
for archaeological deposits within the site. Subject to conditions requiring a further
scheme of archaeological investigation, the proposals would conserve any heritage
assets of archaeological significance and are compliant with Policy DM 7 of the LPSV.
28.22 The Ecological Assessment within the submitted ES sets out the baseline ecology of
the application site and assesses the potential impacts of the development and
mitigation and enhancement measures which may be required. Overall, in terms of
ecology, subject to conditions, the proposal would be in accordance with policy DM 1
of the LPSV and Policies NC3 and CP1 of the ALP.
28.23 Suitable contributions have been secured to meet the needs for education and health
facility capacity improvements alongside funding for a range of sustainable transport
measures.
28.24 Overall, the proposal is for the sustainable re-use of brownfield land, in general
accordance with the site allocations within the LPSV. The proposal would provide
additional housing which is a benefit that should be afforded significant weight in the
planning balance, particularly in light of the acute housing shortage within the District.
The scheme would also provide a significant amount of affordable housing, albeit
noting that full policy compliance would not be viable. In terms of the quality of the
proposed homes, these would meet prescribed space standards, accessibility
standards, benefit from amenity space and include a large proportion of dual aspect
flats.

Page 444

28.25 The proposals would integrate satisfactorily with the surrounding townscape in terms
of scale, massing and overall design. The proposals would have an acceptable impact
on the living conditions of neighbouring properties in terms of light, privacy and outlook.
Furthermore, no undue harm would arise from noise or light emitted from the
development.
28.26 In terms of transport, the extent of car and cycle parking is acceptable and, in
combination with the submitted Travel Plan, would help reduce reliance on the private
car and the transition to sustainable modes of travel. The sustainability aspects of the
proposal are in compliance with policy.
28.27 The application demonstrates that the environmental impact of the proposal would be
acceptable, subject to appropriate mitigation. There would be no adverse effect on the
integrity of the EFSAC, no air quality degradation, no increased flood risk and no
significant risk to human health from contamination. Archaeological and ecological
assets would be safeguarded as a result of the proposal, and biodiversity net gain
secured.
28.28 Taken together, the application has demonstrated its compliance with the
requirements of the LPSV, the Adopted Local Plan and the NPPF. It is therefore
recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the imposition of suitably
worded planning conditions and obligations.

Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest:
Planning Application Case Officer: Nick Finney
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564 371
or if no direct contact can be made please email:
contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Page 445

Appendix 1 – Planning conditions and informative
Appendix 2 – Neighbour representations summary
Appendix 3 – Statutory and technical consultee responses
Appendix 4 – QRP feedback summary

Page 446

Appendix 1 – Hemnall Street Planning Conditions and Informatives (EPF/0918/21)
HEMNALL STREET – EPF/0918/21

1

Time Limit
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2

M4 - Approved Drawings

Page 447

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and retained strictly in accordance with the following approved plans:
Proposed Site Layout
Proposed Site Layout with Levels
Proposed Site Sections Sheet 1 of 2
Proposed Site Sections Sheet 2 of 2
Block A - Proposed Ground Floor Plan
Block A - Proposed First Floor Plan
Block A - Proposed Second Floor Plan
Block A - Proposed Third Floor Plan
Block A - Proposed Roof Plan
Block A - Proposed Elevations Sheet 1
Block A - Proposed Elevations Sheet 2
Block A – Proposed Elevations Sheet 3
Proposed bay elevations sheet 1
Proposed bay elevations sheet 2

EDS_S2-CW-S-00-DR-A-0300
EDS_S2-CW-S-XX-DR-A-0301
EDS_S2-CW-S-XX-DR-A-0302
EDS_S2-CW-S-XX-DR-A-0303
EDS_S2-CW-BA-00-DR-A-3210
EDS_S2-CW-BA-01-DR-A-3211
EDS_S2-CW-BA-02-DR-A-3212
EDS_S2-CW-BA-03-DR-A-3213
EDS_S2-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-3214
EDS_S2-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-3220
EDS_S2-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-3221
EDS_S2-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-3222
EDS_S2-CW-S-ZZ- DR-A-0320
EDS_S2-CW-S-ZZ- DR-A-0321

P11
P7
P9
P8
P9
P7
P8
P7
P5
P8
P8
P1
P6
P5

Page 448

Proposed bay elevations sheet 3
House Type 1 – Proposed Floor Plans
House Type 1 – Proposed Elevations
Bin Store Proposed Plans and Elevations
House Type 2 – Proposed Floor Plans
House Type 2 – Proposed Elevations
General Arrangement Plan
Epping Sports Centre - Existing Condition
Epping Sports Centre - Vegetation Retention & Removal Plan
General Arrangement Plan Roof Level
Boundary Section A-AA
Boundary Section B-BB
Boundary Section C-CC
Boundary Section D-DD
Boundary Section E-EE
Boundary Section F-FF
Planting Plan Ground Level
Planting Plan - Roof Level
Typical Detail - Tree Protective Fence
Typical Detail - Tree Pit in Soft
Typical Detail - Tree Pit in Hard
Typical Detail - Biodiversity & Blue Roof
Typical Detail - Metal Railing
Typical Detail - Boundary Brick Wall Details
Surface Detail - Brick Paving Type 1
Surface Detail - Block Paving
Surface Detail - Granite Sett
Surface Detail - Resin Bound Gravel
Surface Detail - Manhole Covers

EDS_S2-CW-S-ZZ- DR-A-0322
EDS_S2-CW-HT1-XX-DR-A-0320
EDS_S2-CW-HT1-XX-DR-A-0321
EDS_S2-CW-BS-XX-DR-A-03100
EDS_S2-CW-HT2-XX-DR-A-0330
EDS_S2-CW-HT2-XX-DR-A-0331
1270-02-001
1270-02-002
1270-02-003
1270-02-004
1270-02-020
1270-02-021
1270-02-022
1270-02-023
1270-02-024
1270-02-025
1270-02-201
1270-02-202
1270-02-400
1270-02-401
1270-02-402
1270-02-403
1270-02-404
1270-02-405
1270-02-420
1270-02-421
1270-02-422
1270-02-423
1270-02-424

P4
P8
P7
P2
P4
P4
P2
P1
P1
P2
P2
P2
P2
P2
P2
P2
P2
P2
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1

Surface Detail - Kerbs and Edges
Surface Detail - Drainage Rill
Street Furniture Detail - Straight Timber Bench with Backrest
Street Furniture Detail - Timber Cube Seats
Street Furniture Detail - Cycle Stand
Street Furniture Detail - Litter & Recycling Bin
Street Furniture Detail - Bollard Type 1 & 2

1270-02-425
1270-02-426
1270-02-430
1270-02-431
1270-02-432
1270-02-433
1270-02-434

P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). For the avoidance of doubt
and to ensure the proposal is built in accordance with the approved plans.

3

Finished Floor Levels

Page 449

Prior to the commencement of any above ground works, details of the finished floor levels of the buildings of the development hereby permitted
in relation to existing ground levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that construction is carried out at a suitable level having regard to drainage, access, the appearance of the development, the
amenities of neighbouring occupiers and existing trees, hedgerows and other landscaping, in accordance with Policies T 1, DM 9, DM 18 and
DM 19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with Policies DBE2, DBE3, DBE4, DBE9, LL11 and RP3 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.

Design
4

H1 – Details/Samples of External Materials
Prior to the commencement of development above slab level, detailed drawings and samples of all materials (or documentary and photographic
details where samples are unavailable) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development, including any external cladding
and internal cladding that is decorative and visible externally, decorative fascia or panels, balustrades and glazing, hereby permitted, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved

details / samples. Please do not send materials to the Civic Offices. Materials should be kept on site and arrangements made with the planning
officer for inspection.
Detailed drawings and samples shall include: A condition is recommended to secure an acceptable screen to the north-eastern side of the
balconies adjacent to No. 23A Hemnall Street to prevent any perceived loss of privacy to the rear garden of No. 23a.







Page 450















Principal features on the facades e.g. bay studies (1:50 @ appropriate paper size)
Details of each envelope / roof type (1:20 @A3)
Detailed brick elements including mortar joint profile (1:20 @A3)
Details of glazing and curtain walling systems including any manifestation (1:20 @A3)
Key junctions/bonds between materials/finishes (1:20 @A3)
Ground floor frontages including entrances, glazing and signage zones, infill panels on plant rooms/bike stores etc, shopfronts or
commercial/workspace frontages (1:50 @ appropriate paper size)
Parapets, roof edges, rooftop plant screening, lift over runs etc (1:20 @A3)
Elevational location of all joints e.g. structural, movement, panels (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
Elevational location of all openings in envelope e.g. ventilation grilles, bird & bat boxes (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
Elevational location of all items which are fixed to the façade e.g. fins/louvres, rainwater pipes, lighting, CCTV, alarms including any
provision for cable runs boxes (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
Head, jamb and sill details, including profiles, for typical openings and all ground floor entrances and doors to balconies / terraces (1:20
@A3)
Details of key architectural metalwork / screens / gates (1:20 @A3)
Details of balconies and terraces including floor finishes (1:20 @A3)
Balustrade and screening details (1:20 @A3). Screening must be provided to the north-eastern side of the balconies adjacent to No.
23A Hemnall Street.
Details of soffits and canopies (1:20 @A3)
Details of external stairs (1:50 @A3)
Junctions with neighbouring buildings (1:20 @A3)
External signage details including elevations and sections (1:50 @A3) (excluding signage requiring separate advertisement consent)
Details of green / brown roof system (1:20 @A3)



Any other items not listed but bespoke to building requirement

Reason: To ensure a high quality design and satisfactory appearance to the development in the interests of visual amenity of the area, in
accordance with policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF
2021.

5

H2 – Materials
The details of materials to be submitted pursuant to Condition 4 and to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development
hereby permitted shall match (in colour, style, bonding & texture) those shown on plan numbers:

Page 451

Proposed Site Layout
Proposed Site Layout with Levels
Proposed Site Sections Sheet 1 of 2
Proposed Site Sections Sheet 2 of 2
Block A - Proposed Ground Floor Plan
Block A - Proposed First Floor Plan
Block A - Proposed Second Floor Plan
Block A - Proposed Third Floor Plan
Block A - Proposed Roof Plan
Block A - Proposed Elevations Sheet 1
Block A - Proposed Elevations Sheet 2
Block A – Proposed Elevations Sheet 3
Proposed bay elevations sheet 1
Proposed bay elevations sheet 2
Proposed bay elevations sheet 3
House Type 1 – Proposed Floor Plans
House Type 1 – Proposed Elevations
Bin Store Proposed Plans and Elevations
House Type 2 – Proposed Floor Plans

EDS_S2-CW-S-00-DR-A-0300
EDS_S2-CW-S-XX-DR-A-0301
EDS_S2-CW-S-XX-DR-A-0302
EDS_S2-CW-S-XX-DR-A-0303
EDS_S2-CW-BA-00-DR-A-3210
EDS_S2-CW-BA-01-DR-A-3211
EDS_S2-CW-BA-02-DR-A-3212
EDS_S2-CW-BA-03-DR-A-3213
EDS_S2-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-3214
EDS_S2-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-3220
EDS_S2-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-3221
EDS_S2-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-3222
EDS_S2-CW-S-ZZ- DR-A-0320
EDS_S2-CW-S-ZZ- DR-A-0321
EDS_S2-CW-S-ZZ- DR-A-0322
EDS_S2-CW-HT1-XX-DR-A-0320
EDS_S2-CW-HT1-XX-DR-A-0321
EDS_S2-CW-BS-XX-DR-A-03100
EDS_S2-CW-HT2-XX-DR-A-0330

P11
P7
P9
P8
P9
P7
P8
P7
P5
P8
P8
P1
P6
P5
P4
P8
P7
P2
P4

House Type 2 – Proposed Elevations

EDS_S2-CW-HT2-XX-DR-A-0331

P4

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity of the area, in accordance with policy DBE10 of the adopted
Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

6

Acoustic Glazing/Ventilation Performance
The acoustic performance of the design and construction of the development should be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The
design and construction should provide the performance to provide reasonable resting/sleeping conditions with reference to British Standard
BS8233: 2014 – Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for buildings – Code of practice (or such other standard which may
supersede it from time to time).

Page 452

All rooms within the development hereby approved shall be provided with sufficient double glazing and acoustically treated trickle ventilators, or
other means of ventilation that will provide adequate ventilation with the windows closed, to ensure that the occupiers are provided with reasonable
resting/sleeping conditions with reference to British Standard BS8233:2014 – Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for buildings
– Code of practice (or such other standard which may supersede it from time to time)
Prior to the commencement of above ground works, details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to
demonstrate that the development hereby permitted will comply with the acoustic glazing and ventilation performance requirements as set out in
the Noise Impact Assessment Technical Report: R8437-8 Rev 0 (24Acoustics: 30th March 2021) in order to achieve the required acoustic and
ventilation performance.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and all acoustic mitigation measures shall be implemented prior to
the occupation of the development and thereafter permanently retained.
Reason: To ensure that the future occupiers are not affected by undue noise nuisance and disturbance in accordance with policies RP5A and
DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and policies DM9 & DM21 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

7

H3 – Boundary Treatment

Prior to the commencement of any above ground works of the development herby permitted, a scale plan of not less than 1:100 indicating the
position, design, materials and height and type of boundary treatment to be erected, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. This shall include details of the heights and species of boundary hedgerows to ensure that adequate screening is provided
to future occupiers upon first occupation. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and retained in perpetuity.
Reason: To ensure the safe movement of vehicles between the highway and off-street parking areas and to ensure a satisfactory appearance of
the development, in accordance with Local Plan and Alterations policies ST4 & DBE1 and Submission Version Local Plan (2017) policies T1
(paragraph F) & DM 9, all of which are consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework.

8

External Lighting

Page 453

Details of any external lighting of the site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority 6 months prior to the
occupation of the development. This information shall include layout and elevation plans with beam orientation, light spill and a schedule of
equipment to be installed (luminaire type, mounting height, aiming angles and luminaire profiles) and details of when all non-essential external
lighting for the development shall be non-illuminated. The lighting shall be installed, maintained and operated in accordance with the approved
details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the use of the lighting does not cause undue nuisance and disturbance to neighbouring properties at unreasonable hours
and in accordance with policies RP5A and DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and policies DM9 & DM21 of the Local Plan
Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Soft/Hard Landscaping/Trees
9

C1 - Retention of Trees and Shrubs
If any tree, shrub or hedge shown to be retained in the submitted Arboricultural Report 200660-PD-11 (TMA: March 2021) is removed, uprooted
or destroyed, dies, or becomes severely damaged or diseased during development activities or within 3 years of the completion of the
development, another tree, shrub or hedge of the same size and species shall be planted within 6 months or during the next planting season
(whichever is the sooner) at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. If within a period of
five years from the date of planting any replacement tree, shrub or hedge is removed, uprooted or destroyed, or dies or becomes seriously

damaged or defective another tree, shrub or hedge of the same species and size as that originally planted shall, within 6 months or during the
next planting season (whichever is the sooner), be planted at the same place.
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the existing trees, shrubs or hedges and to ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development, in
accordance with policies LL10 & LL11 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, policies DM3 and DM5 of the Local Plan Submission Version
2017, the NPPF 2021, and Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

10

C3 - Hard and Soft Landscaping

Page 454

Prior to any above ground works, a scheme of hard and soft landscaping for the site, including details of materials, species and a planting
schedule shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The hard landscaping details shall include:a) details of existing features to be retained;
b) proposed finished levels or contours;
c) hard surfacing materials;
d) means of enclosure;
e) car parking layouts;
f) other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;
g) secure cycle storage facilities;
h) refuse facilities;
i) other minor artefacts and structures, including furniture, play equipment, signs, functional services above and below ground (e.g. drainage,
power, communications cables, pipelines) including heating strips, indicating lines, manholes, supports etc.;
j) retained historic landscape features and proposals for restoration where relevant;
k) existing trees and hedgerows to be retained; .
l) soft landscaping details including plans for planting or establishment by any means and full written specifications and schedules of plants,
including species, plant sizes and proposed numbers /densities where appropriate;
m) tree/hedgerow removal;
n) tree planting including species, planting location, timing of planting, specification and maintenance;
o) tree protection measures;
p) programme of management of the soft planting;

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the
occupation of the building or completion of the development, whichever is the sooner. If any plants which within a period of 5 years from the
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To secure the provision and retention of the landscaping in the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with policies
CP2 & LL11 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, policies DM3 and DM5 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, the NPPF 2021, and
Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

11

Soft Landscape

Page 455

Soft landscape works pursuant to Condition 11 shall comply with the approved planting plans (1270-05-201 P3 and 1270-05-202 P3) and include
planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of
plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate; implementation programme. All planting, seeding or turfing
comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the
buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species, unless the local planning authority gives written approval to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and landscape treatment of the site. To safeguard the visual character of the
immediate area in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted
Local Plan and Alterations 2006, and the NPPF 2021.

12

C6 - Tree Protection Measures
The development hereby permitted shall proceed in accordance with the terms of the Arboricultural Report 200660-PD-11 (TMA: March 2021).
Its implementation shall include the supervision of the tree protection during the demolition and construction phases by an Arboricultural
Consultant (provided by the applicant with the agreement of the Local Planning Authority).

Reason: To protect existing trees during the construction works in order to ensure that the character and amenity of the area are not impaired, in
accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.

13

Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP)

Page 456

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted (including ground works, vegetation clearance), a construction environmental
management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity)
shall include the following.
(a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
(b) Identification of ""biodiversity protection zones"".
(c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided
as a set of method statements).
(d) Measures to protect badgers from being trapped in open excavations and/or pipe culverts.
(e) The location and timings of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.
(f) The times during which construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee works.
(g) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
(h) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly
competent person.
(i) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To avoid or mitigate the effects of the construction of the development on ecological receptors, in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5
and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.
14

Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP)

Prior to the first occupation of the development, a landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. The content of the LEMP shall include the following.

Page 457

(a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
(b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.
(c) Aims and objectives of management.
(d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives. The management plan shall include the long-term design objectives and
management responsibilities and funding for all landscaped areas including Green Infrastructure assets
(e) Prescriptions for management actions.
(f) Prescription of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled forward over a five-year period).
(g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan.
(h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by
the developer with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show
that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and
implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The maintenance
schedule shall be for a minimum period of 5 years and include details of the arrangements for its implementation. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved schedule. The management plan & maintenance schedule shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of the building or completion of the development, whichever is the
sooner.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife
& Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). To ensure habitat enhancement within the
landscape of the development, in accordance with Policies DM 1, DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL7,
LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006, the NPPF 2021 and Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).

15

Highway Works

Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted, any redundant vehicular accesses onto Hemnall Street shall be fully reinstated,
including footway construction and full height kerbing to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that safe, efficient and improved accessibility is provided for all highway users. In order to protect highway safety and the
amenity of other users of the public highway and rights of way, in accordance with Policy T 1 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with
Policy ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

16

Vehicle Turning Areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development the vehicle/cycle parking and turning areas as indicated on the approved plans shall be
implemented, hard surfaced, sealed and marked out. The parking and turning areas shall be retained in perpetuity for their intended purpose.

Page 458

Reason: To ensure that appropriate parking and turning is provided, in accordance with Policy T 1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017
and with Policy ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

17

Delivery and Servicing Plan
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works for the development hereby permitted, a highways management plan shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The highways management plan shall include the management responsibilities and
maintenance schedule for the private access road; the on-site car and cycle parking; electric vehicle charging points; servicing, loading and
unloading, turning and waiting areas. The management plan shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and its requirements
adhered to thereafter.
Reason: In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and the character and appearance of the development, in accordance with Policies T
1 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policies DBE1, DBE4 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

18

Construction Management Plan

Prior to the commencement of development hereby permitted, a Construction Management/Method Plan and Statement with respect to the
construction phase of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development works shall be
undertaken in accordance with the approved Construction Management/Method Statement. The details shall include:

Page 459

a) Construction vehicle numbers, type and routing;
b) Traffic management requirements, including crossing the public highway and other rights of way;
c) Vehicle parking for site operatives and visitors (inclusive of travel plan measures to ensure town centre visitor parking isn’t utilised for
contractors);
d) Loading/unloading and storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
e) Construction and storage compound areas;
f) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding;
g) Siting and details of wheel washing facilities including location of petrol/oil interceptors in all car parking/washing/ repair facilities;
h) Frequency and method of cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;
i) Minimisation of dust emissions arising from construction activities on site and any temporary access to the public highway;
j) Details of the responsible person (site manager/office) who can be contacted; and
k) A scheme of recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works.
Reason: In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and the character and appearance of the development. To prevent oil-polluted
discharges entering local watercourses. To ensure satisfactory provision in relation to adjoining properties and circulation within the site, in
accordance with Policies T 1 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policies DBE1, DBE4 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan
and Alterations 2006.

19

Vehicle Wheel Washing
Wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for vehicles leaving the site during construction works shall be installed and utilised to clean vehicles
immediately before leaving the site. Any mud or other material deposited on nearby roads as a result of the development shall be removed.
Reason: To avoid the deposit of material on the public highway in the interests of highway safety, in accordance with policy ST4 of the adopted
Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policy T1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021

20

Swept Path Analysis
Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted, swept path assessments for the specified phase of development shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include the following:
a) Large car accessing car parking spaces to demonstrate that they can be safely entered and departed from. This should be demonstrated for
the car parking spaces that are in corners and for one midway in a row. This will be necessary for any public or employment car parks;
b) Swept path assessment for a fire tender manoeuvring within the site to demonstrate that a fire tender can safely manoeuvre within to access
all units;
c) Swept path assessment for a refuse vehicle to demonstrate that refuse collection and servicing can take place to serve the development site;

Page 460

d) Swept path assessments for servicing and delivery vehicles for any commercial land uses to demonstrate that servicing and deliveries can be
accommodated to serve the development site and within the respective land use sites. Thereafter, the development, or the specified phase(s) of
the development (whichever is the sooner) shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public highway and rights of way, in accordance with Policy T 1
of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with Policy ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

21

Sustainability
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works for the development hereby permitted, a method statement that demonstrates the way
in which the development will meet the minimum sustainability levels and standards as set out in the Energy Strategy Report (Elementa: March
2021) and Sustainability Statement (Elementa: March 2021) shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
details shall include both passive and active sustainability measures to be incorporated into the built fabric of the development and those
measures to be carried out during the construction phase of development. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.

Reason: In the interest of delivering positive sustainability and environmental benefits. To support the move towards a low carbon economy, in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies DM 20 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policy CP8 of the
Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

22

I1 - Sustainable water use
Prior to first occupation of the development or its completion, whichever is the sooner, details of measures to be incorporated within the
development to ensure a water efficiency standard of 110 litres (or less) per person per day shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: The District is classed as being in an area of severe water stress and the reduction of water use is therefore required in the interests of
sustainability and in accordance with policy CP2 of the adopted Local Plan 2998 & 2006, Policy DM19 of the Local Plan Submission Version
2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Page 461

23

Flood Risk and Drainage
No development hereby approved (except demolition and enabling works) shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme has
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The surface water drainage system will be based on the submitted
flood risk assessment (Flood Risk Assessment, Ref 2778-MHT-CV-RP-0001, 26th March 2021, P01) and the Drainage Strategy indicated on
drawing nos. ‘2782-MHT-C-SK001, Revision I05’ and ‘2782-MHT-C-SK002’. Further information required at the detailed design stage must
include but not be limited to the following:






Limiting discharge rates to 1.5l/s for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year rate plus 40% allowance for climate change.
All relevant permissions to discharge from the site into any outfall should be demonstrated
Final modelling and calculations for the surface water drainage system demonstrating how all areas of the development are attenuated
for all storms up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change.
Inclusion of an improvement on water quality elements of the design with strong consideration given to a larger area of permeable paving
and rain gardens across the site.
Detailed engineering/construction drawings for the drainage system.
Detailed drainage plan, inclusive of any manholes, piping (including dimensions), storage/conveyance features and any discharge points.




A plan detailing exceedance routes
A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to the approved strategy

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding and to prevent the pollution of the water environment, in accordance with policies RP3, RP5
and U3B of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policies DM16, DM18 and DM19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF
2021.

24

Drainage Maintenance 1

Page 462

Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, a maintenance plan detailing the maintenance arrangements including who is
responsible for different elements of the surface water drainage system and the maintenance activities/frequencies shall be submitted to and
agreed in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to enable the surface water drainage system to function as intended
to ensure mitigation against flood risk, in accordance with policies RP3, RP5 and U3B of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policies DM16,
DM18 and DM19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

25

Ecology
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Measures (detailed in
Section 6.11 of Epping Forest Environmental Impact Assessment ‐ Residential Sites Chapter 6 ‐ Ecology and Biodiversity (Stephenson Halliday:
March 2021)). Prior to the commencement of above ground works a timetable for the implementation of the ecological mitigation measures shall
be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To enable proper consideration of the impact of the development on the contribution of nature conservation interests to the amenity of
the area, in accordance with Policy DM 1 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with CP1 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006,
and the NPPF 2021.

26

Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy
A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and priority species shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to above ground works, following the details contained within Section 6.11 of Epping Forest Environmental Impact
Assessment ‐ Residential Sites Chapter 6 ‐ Ecology and Biodiversity (Stephenson Halliday: March 2021). The content of the Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.

Page 463

Reason: To maintain and improve the biodiversity of the site and to mitigate any impact from the development hereby approved, in accordance
with Policy DM1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

27

Part M4(2) Accessibility standards
The proposed residential units hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with Part M4(2) Category 2 (Accessibility and Adaptable
Dwellings) as set out in the Building Regulations 2010 Access to and Use of Buildings Approved Document M Volume 1: Dwellings. Prior to
occupation of the residential units, details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate compliance
with Part M2(s) Category 2, in particular that a compliant shower room is provided on the entrance level of those properties with 3 bedrooms or
more. The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed mix of residential accommodation provides for all new homes to be accessible and adaptable as defined
by the Building Regulations. To comply with Policy H1 of the Local Planning Submission Version 2017 and the NPPF 2021.

Air Quality
28

Ultra Low NOx Boilers Condition
Prior to completion of the development hereby permitted, details of boilers shall be submitted to and approved in writing to the Local Planning Authority.
The boilers shall have dry NOx emissions not exceeding 40 mg/kWh (0%). The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To help improve local environmental conditions and limit emissions to air as required by the national planning policy framework. Boilers can
be a significant source of NO2 emissions and worsen local air quality. To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and
Policy T1 and DM22 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017.

Page 464

29

Electric Charging Points
Prior to the commencement of above ground works, details and location of the parking spaces equipped with active Electric Vehicle Charging
Points (EVCP) must be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall demonstrate that the development
will deliver 100 per cent active ECVPs and shall include:




Location of active charge points
Specification of charging equipment
Operation/management strategy

A management plan for the charging points shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation of the
development. The management plan shall include:




Which parking bays will have active charging provision, including disabled parking bays;
How charging point usage will be charged amongst users and non-users;
Electricity supply availability. The electricity supply should be already confirmed by UK Power Networks.

The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details and retained in perpetuity. Prior to occupation, the application shall
submit confirmation to the Local Planning Authority that the charging points are operational, with active provision. This must be supported by
appropriate evidence.
Reason: In the interest of promoting increased choice of sustainable transport options. To encourage the use of electric vehicles in order to
reduce air pollution in the District and help support improvements to Epping Forest SAC in accordance with Policies T1 and DM22 of the
Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Land Contamination
30

G5 - Land Contamination Survey

Page 465

Prior to the commencement of development hereby permitted (with the exception of demolition works where this is for the reason of making
areas of the site available for site investigation), an assessment of the risks posed by any land contamination shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This assessment must be undertaken by a suitably qualified contaminated land practitioner,
in accordance with British Standard BS 10175: Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites – Code of Practice and the Environment
Agency’s Guidelines for the Land Contamination: Risk Management (LCRM 2020) (or equivalent if replaced), and shall assess any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved
details unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. The assessment shall include: (1) A survey of the extent,
scale and nature of contamination and (2) An assessment of the potential risks to: human health; property (existing or proposed) including
buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland, service lines and pipes; adjoining land; groundwater and surface waters; ecological systems; and
archaeological sites and ancient monuments.
If following the risk assessment (pursuant to the details outlined above) unacceptable risks are identified from land affected by contamination,
no work on any part of the development shall take place, until a detailed land remediation scheme has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s),
the proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of the works to be undertaken including the
verification plan. (The remediation scheme shall be sufficiently detailed and thorough to ensure that after remediation, as a minimum, land
should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990). The development
shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme. Following the completion of the remediation works and prior to the first

occupation of the development, a verification report by a suitably qualified contaminated land practitioner shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policy RP4 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and policy DM21 of the
Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

31

Archaeological Investigation
No development or preliminary groundworks shall take place until a programme of archaeological investigation has been secure in accordance
with a written scheme of investigation that shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 466

No development or preliminary groundworks shall take place until the completion of the programme of archaeological investigation identified in
the WSI defined above.
Post excavation analysis, preparation of a full site archive and report ready for deposition at the local museum and submission of a publication
report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted.
A professional team of archaeologists should undertake the archaeological work. The archaeological work will consist of a programme of
archaeological trial trenching within the car park to identify the extent and depth of archaeological deposits followed by open area excavation if
archaeological deposits are identified.
Reason: To ensure adequate opportunity is provided for archaeological research on this historically important site. To comply with Policies XXX

32

Plant Noise

The use of any plant which services this development must cease during any period that the rating level of noise (as defined by BS4142:2014)
exceeds the prevailing background noise level at the affected noise sensitive premises. The measurement position and assessment shall be
made according to BS4142:2014, and shall include the cumulative effect of all of the plant on the site.
The cumulative plant noise limit for this site shall not exceed 39dB LAeq, 1hr between 07.00-23.00 hrs, and 32dB LAeq, 15 mins between 23.0007.00 hrs.
Reason: In order to minimise any noise which will affect the amenity of local residents, in accordance with policy DBE1 of the adopted Local
Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

33

Low Frequency Noise

Page 467

Low frequency, unweighted noise levels should be controlled to a maximum of 50 dB Leq, 63Hz, 5 min and 40 dB Leq, 125Hz, 5 min at the
façades of nearby noise sensitive premises.
Reason: In order to minimise the impact of any low frequency noise from music which will affect the amenity of local residents, in accordance
with policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

34

Cycle and Refuse Storage
Prior to the commencement of any above ground work, detailed elevation and layout plans at a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 of the internal and external
refuse collection areas and cycle stores within the development, or relevant phase of the development, whichever is the sooner, shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. In the interest of the character and appearance of the public realm, neighbouring
amenity and the sustainability of the development. To comply with Policies T 1 and D9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with
Policies DBE1 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

35

Air Extraction/Ventilation
Notwithstanding the development hereby approved, details of any extract/air conditioning/refrigeration and /or ventilation system proposed for
installation outside of the approved roof plant enclosures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to its
installation within or on any individual unit. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect nearby noise sensitive residential and commercial premises from significant loss of amenity due to noise, in accordance with
policy DBE9 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006, policy DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Informative

Page 468

1

The Local Planning Authority has been positive and proactive in its consideration of this planning application suggesting improvements to the
development during the course of the application. The applicant submitted amended plans and additional and revised information resulting in a
form of development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the District.

2

All reasonable steps to minimise dust emissions from the site shall be employed throughout the demolition and construction phase of the
development.

3

Meanwhile – Any meanwhile activities proposed on this site that fall outside of Permitted Development within the GPDO 2015 (as amended) are
subject to planning permission.

4

Any advertisements and / or signage shall be agreed separately under the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) Regulations
2007.

5

The applicant is advised that no waste materials generated as a result of the proposed demolition and/or construction operations shall be burnt
on the site. All such refuse shall be disposed of by suitable alternative methods.

6

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the Control of Pollution Act 1974 relating to the control of noise on construction and demolition sites.

7

Environmental Protection and Drainage Advisory: The applicant has provided a surface water drainage strategy and the general principles of the
design are acceptable. The Environmental Protection and Drainage Team will require further information/clarification at the discharge of
conditions stage on the following:

Page 469

-

Evidence of the required water quality treatment for the southern part of the access road in line with Chapter 26 of the SuDS Manual.
Details of mitigation measures in place for the overall site in relation to fuel and oil spillage.
Evidence of a permit to discharge into the main river from the Environment Agency.
Details of pump contingency.
Health and safety precautions to be included in relation to the open water features.
Survey of the existing watercourse and its ability to take the additional surface water from the development.
Details of where any flooded volume for the 1 in 100 year plus 40% will be contained within the site as per the planning statement.
A detailed drainage plan must be supplied including details of any interceptors for fuel spillage, silt traps, catch pits, exceedance routing,
in addition to details already covered in the Flood Risk Assessment.

8

It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that before commencement of any works to the public highway, any necessary Agreements under the
Highways Act 1980 are also obtained. Works to the highway will normally require an agreement or agreements, under Section 278 of the
Highways Act, with Highways England and the Local Highway Authority.

9

All work within or affecting the highway is to be laid out and constructed by prior arrangement with, and to the requirements and satisfaction of,
the Highway Authority, details to be agreed before the commencement of works. The applicants should be advised to contact the Development

Management Team by email at development.management@essexhighways.org or by post to: SMO3 - Essex Highways, Unit 36, Childerditch
Industrial Park, Childerditch Hall Drive, Brentwood, Essex, CM13 3HD.

10

The Highway Authority cannot accept any liability for costs associated with a developer’s improvement. This includes design check safety
audits, site supervision, commuted sums for maintenance and any potential claims under Part 1 and Part 2 of the Land Compensation Act
1973. To protect the Highway Authority against such compensation claims a cash deposit or bond may be required.

Page 470

Appendix 2
Natural Environment
Complaints of minimal effort within the plans to design with the existing natural features and there
appears to be no provision of wildflower verges or spaces. It is noted that the Arboricultural Report
states that G21 re scrub species are poor condition Prune trees, these are actually believed to be
high quality mature cherry trees and it is suggested that these are protected.
Wildlife
It is noted that there is no provision for designing wildlife-friendly buildings displayed e.g. bird and
bat boxes, pollinator and insect-friendly structures, connected spaces for hedgehogs. Nor is there
any evidence of lighting designed to have minimal impact on wildlife.
Traffic
It is believed that vehicle movements, congestion and pollutants will greatly increase due to the
development’s scale, layout and the lack of parking, causing a strain on the immediate and
surrounding infrastructure. There are concerns around the plans to situate the car park entrance
close to junctions of Amesbury Road, Amesbury Close and Nicholl Road which are already described
as congested with parked vehicles on a steep corner of limited visibility. There is therefore a
suggestion to include alternative exits on to Hemnall Street or further along Nicholl Road to improve
road safety.
Parking
There are a number of concerns around the reduction of parking as it is reported that parking is
already insufficient for current residents, and it is therefore believed that the development will
further restrict the already limited availability of on-street parking. There is a suggestion that the
plans should take into account post-pandemic life due to the increase in residents working from
home and more cars being parked in this area throughout the day. It is also noted that the
surrounding roads being dominated with parked cars and vans would compromise the market town
character of Epping.
Design
There are concerns over the scale and massing of the buildings on the site with their appearance
widely believed to be out of keeping with existing homes and out of character to the town and local
streets. It is felt that an increase in 3 bed houses is required in area and would be more beneficial
than the high number of flats proposed.
Drainage
There are concerns that the foul drainage system in place is not suitable for carrying any increased
volume as there are already issues reported with the current system.
Inappropriate Development
The development is described as inappropriate to an area of established homes and in a central part
of a historic market town.
Pollution
There are concerns that the proposed number of dwellings and the resultant increase in residents
would cause major noise and pollution from additional vehicles as well as other associated issues.
The Stephenson Halliday Report
A number of inconsistencies have been raised in relation to this report.
Green Infrastructure Strategy
It is felt that the plans fail to meet standards set out in the GI Strategy, e.g. "The built environment

Page 471

1

Appendix 2
can be enhanced by features such as green roofs, street trees, proximity to woodland, public
gardens and recreational and open spaces. More broadly, green infrastructure exists within a wider
landscape context and can reinforce and enhance local landscape character, contributing to a sense
of place and natural beauty", “The Council's planning policy approach supported by this Strategy
recognises the role of high quality design to bring open space to life and makes it a requirement of
development proposals", and "The aim of the Council is to manage the potential impact of
development on GI with the strategic objective, working in partnership with other groups, of
maintaining and where possible enhancing the ecological, recreational and conservation role of GI
within a wider context".
EFDC Local Plan
It is felt that the plans fail to meet standards set out in the Local Plan (Submission Version), e.g.
"Planning policy, will require planning applicants to take a collaborative, cohesive, coherent,
integrated and proactive approach to the provision of GI.”
Sustainability Guidance
It is felt that the plans fail to meet standards set out in EFDC’s Sustainability Guidance e.g. "Proposals
must be landscape-led from the start, as set out in the EFDC Green Infrastructure Strategy”. The
plans do not achieve the Sustainability Guidance’s Vision and Objectives "To embed a landscape led
approach to the design of new Green Infrastructure as part of new development to secure the
delivery of high quality spaces".

Page 472

2

Appendix 3
Epping Forest District Council – Air Quality
14 July 2021
I have reviewed the air quality assessment produced by Phlorum in support of this application. On
the proviso that the applicant’s traffic assessment and sustainability assessment are approved with
no further amendments required from the relevant teams at EFDC and ECC, I accept the conclusions
of the submitted air quality assessment.

NHS – West Essex CCG
14 July 2021 / Revised 12/10/21
Existing Healthcare position proximate to the Planning Application site
The proposed developments [EPF/0918,0918,0919/21] are likely to have an impact on the services
of 2 GP practices operating within the vicinity of the application sites. These GP practices do not
have capacity for the additional growth resulting from these developments and cumulative growth
in the area.
The proposed developments will likely have an impact on the NHS funding programme for the
delivery of primary healthcare provision within this area and specifically within the health catchment
of the developments. West Essex CCG would therefore expect these impacts to be fully assessed and
mitigated.
Review of Planning Application
West Essex CCG acknowledge that the planning applications do include a Health Impact Assessment
(HIA), however this does not appear to recognise that a capital contribution may be required to
mitigate the primary healthcare impacts arising from the proposed developments.
Assessment of development impact on existing healthcare provision
The existing GP practices do not have capacity to accommodate the additional growth resulting from
the proposed developments. The developments could generate approx. 648 residents and
subsequently increase demand upon existing constrained services.
The developments would have an impact on primary healthcare provision in the area and its
implications, if unmitigated, would be unsustainable. The proposed developments must therefore, in
order to be considered under presumption ‘in favour of sustainable development’ advocated in the
National Planning Policy Framework, provide appropriate levels of mitigation.
Healthcare needs arising from the proposed development
The intention of West Essex CCG is to promote Primary Healthcare Hubs with co-ordinated mixed
professionals.
The developments would give rise to a need for improvements to capacity, in line with the emerging
CCG estates strategy, by way of an extension, refurbishment, reconfiguration or potential relocation
for the benefit of the patients at Limes Medical Centre; a proportion of the cost of which would need
to be met by the developer.
A developer contribution will be required to mitigate the impact of these proposals. West CCG
calculates the level of contribution required, in this instance £131,850 [for EPF/0917,0918,0919/21].
Payment should be made before the development commences.
West Essex CC therefore requests that this sum be secured through a planning obligation linked to
any grant of planning permission, in the form of a S106 planning obligation.
Assuming that the above is considered in conjunction with the current application process, West
Essex CCG would not wish to raise an objection to the proposed developments.

Page 473

A-1

Appendix 3
Essex County Council – Highways
9 July 2021
The Highway Authority has assessed the application and submitted information, visited the site, and
has concluded that in highway terms it is not contrary to national and local highway and
transportation policy and current safety criteria.
The Transport Assessment has analysed the impact of the traffic generation, to the satisfaction of
the Highway Authority, and is not considered to have a significant or severe impact at this location,
or on the wider highway network. Given the previous sports centre use, and the low parking
provision, the proposal will generate fewer trips than the existing use.
The site is considered well located with regards to access to other modes of sustainable travel, and
that coupled with the lower parking provision, will help reduce the reliance on the private motor
vehicle.
Consequently, the Highway Authority has concluded that the proposal will not be detrimental to
highway safety, capacity, or efficiency.

Essex County Council – Green Infrastructure
7 June 2021
Do not object the granting of planning permission; however, do advise a number of
recommendations are considered to improve the GI network and help achieve net environmental
aims.

Essex County Council – Schools
7 June 2021 / Updated 4 October 2021
if planning permission for this development is granted it should be subject to a section 106
agreement to mitigate its impact on EY&C, primary and secondary education, secondary transport
and libraries.
Early Years and Childcare
Essex County Council has a statutory duty under the Childcare Act 2006 to ensure that there is
sufficient and accessible high-quality early years and childcare provision to meet local demand and
parental choice. This includes provision of childcare places for children aged between 0-5 years as
well as wrap around provision for school aged children (5-11 or up to 19 with additional needs).
The proposed development is located within Epping Hemnall ward (postcode CM16 4LU) and
according to latest available childcare sufficiency data, there are only 2 early years and childcare
providers (both childminders) within the ward and there were no unfilled places recorded.
The data shows that there is insufficient provision to meet the additional demand created by this
development, therefore a developer contribution of £29,528.00 index linked to Q1- 2020, is sought
to mitigate its impact on local primary school provision. This equates to £17,268 per place.

Page 474

A-2

Appendix 3
Primary Education
This development would sit within the priority admission area of Ivy Chimneys Primary School, which
offers up to 45 places per year. As at the last census in January, the school was at or close to capacity
in some year groups. Figures received from Essex County Council’s Admissions team, on National
Offers Day, show a small waiting list for entry into Reception this September. Looking at the wider
area (Epping Group 2), figures set out in the Essex School Organisation Service’s 10 Year Plan show
rising demand with a potential need for 52 additional Reception places by the end of the Plan
period. Epping Forest District Council’s emerging Local Plan reflects this need (policy P1 para K iii) by
allocating land for a new school.
The demand generated by this development would be in addition to this demand, therefore, a
developer contribution of £98,428.00 index linked to Q1-2020, is sought to mitigate its impact on
local primary school provision. This equates to £17,268 per place.
Secondary Education
The secondary age range priority admissions area school for this development would be Epping St
John's Church of England School. Cohort sizes in the area have increased, and continue to rise, and
the school has been close to capacity for the last two intakes. Provisional figures for September 2021
suggest there may be just two unfilled places in Year 7 (the first year of secondary education).
Forecasts for the wider area which includes Waltham Abbey (Group 2), set out in the 10 Year Plan,
suggest a potential need for additional places during the 2024/25 academic year with a more
sustained need towards the end of the Plan period. The emerging Local Plan (policy SP5 para F ix)
again recognises this need, with a potential new school on the District’s border with Harlow, to serve
both the proposed Garden Communities and reduce wider development pressure that would
otherwise fall on the schools in Group 2.
The demand generated by this development would be in addition to this demand, therefore, a
developer contribution of £90,345.00 index linked to Q1-2020, is sought to mitigate its impact on
local secondary school provision. This equates to £23,775 per place.
Libraries
ECC may seek contributions to support the expansion of the library service to meet customer needs
generated by residential developments of 20+ homes. The provision of a Library Service is a
statutory duty under the 1964 Public Libraries and Museums Act and it’s increasingly become a
shared gateway for other services such as for accessing digital information and communications.
The suggested population increase brought about by the proposed development is expected to
create additional usage of Epping library. In accordance with the Essex County Council Developers’
Guide to Infrastructure Contribution (Revised 2020), a contribution is therefore considered
necessary to improve, enhance and extend the facilities and services provided.
It is calculated that a contribution of £3,112.00 is requested and should be included in any Section
106 Agreement should the Council be minded to grant permission. This equates to £77.80 per unit.

Epping Forest District Council – Affordable Housing
14 May 2021
Level of Affordable Housing:
This development proposes 41 dwellings overall with 17 of the dwellings provided as affordable

Page 475

A-3

Appendix 3
housing. This represents 40% of the total quantum of dwellings proposed, in line with the
requirements of the Local Plan (SV) which is welcomed.
Tenure, Mix & Design:
The District Council requires all new housing developments to be ‘tenure blind’ and therefore to
include a range of house types and sizes as affordable housing which is reflective of the mix of house
types provided as market housing. The Council also requires the affordable housing mix to reflect
the local affordable housing needs. From the details provided in the planning application this
requirement seems to have been met in that the mix of the affordable housing offer appears to be
reflective of the market housing.
Further, it should be noted that the following are not required for affordable housing, therefore,
should not be included within the mix for the affordable housing:
-

Studio flats
1 bed 1-person unit
Properties larger than 3 bedrooms; although these may be provided where necessary in
accordance with local affordable housing needs.
Garages

The applicant should note that the Council’s Shared Ownership Policy requires at least 75% of the
affordable housing to be provided as affordable rented housing, and no more than 25% to be
provided as shared ownership. This will need to be confirmed before we can support the application
from an affordable housing point of view.
Further, the Council’s Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017 sets out required design and quality
requirements for new housing developments including space standards. Policy DM10-Housing
Design and Quality requires all new housing development to meet or exceed the Nationally
Described Space Standards. However, a number of units in this proposed development fall below
these requirements and are therefore neither acceptable as affordable housing provision nor market
housing.
All new housing is also required to meet the accessible and adaptable homes standards as defined
by the current Building Regulations. Additionally, residential developments must be designed to
ensure homes across different tenures are indistinguishable from one another in terms of quality of
design, space standards and building materials.
Delivery of Affordable Housing:
Epping Forest District Council (EFDC) are a part of a housing partnership with some preferred
registered providers as detailed below. However, EFDC are equally open to discussions regarding
affordable housing provisions within the District and therefore welcome development proposals
directly.
-

B3Living
CHP
Habinteg
Hastoe Housing Association
Legal and General Affordable Housing
Moat Housing Group
Network Homes

The applicant may want to contact one or more of the above to discuss the delivery of the
affordable housing offer including the sale price. We encourage early engagement with these

Page 476

A-4

Appendix 3
partners and any offer and funding should be factored into the applicant’s financial viability
assessment. I have, therefore, attached their contact details, which can be provided to the applicant.
Although, this proposed development incorporates flats it is acknowledged that a portion of the
service charge applicable to the scheme will be shared with the housing association partner who
then passes that to their tenants and shared-owners. However, it is useful to ensure that the service
charge payable is affordable and continues to be affordable for future tenants and shared owners.
However, the landowner should note that the purchase price, even if agreed through a competitive
process amongst the Preferred Registered Provider Partners, would be much lower than the open
market value, and reflects the net present value (NPV) of the affordable housing based on the
difference between the income the registered provider receives from (subsidised) rents (and any
grant) over a period of time and the costs of purchase, management, maintenance, loan interest
payments and other costs over the same period of time. It should also be noted that the service
charges would not be subsidised in any way.
Recommendations:
As currently presented, apart from any other planning reasons that may apply, I can support the
application from an affordable housing point of view subject to the applicant amending the
application to meet the detailed requirements for affordable housing delivery set out above. This
includes ensuring that all of the affordable housing is provided to the minimum space standards
required and the applicant confirming that at least 75% of the affordable housing will be provided as
affordable rented housing with the remaining affordable housing provided as shared ownership
units.

Page 477

A-5

Appendix 3
Epping Town Council
27 August 2021
Committee object to this application.
While the Committee acknowledges the amendments made to this proposed development on this
part-brownfield site, there are still some issues with the proposal.
While there is a reduction to the height of Block A, the proposed building is still a high building in a
low-rise residential area. Committee acknowledge the removal of the maisonette apartment block
and replacement with houses and felt that this was an improvement.
The Committee are still concerned with how this development may affect the nearby residential
roads and if there are any loss of amenities such as the height of the development affecting
neighbouring properties, loss of car parking spaces and the loss of matures trees on the site.
Epping Town Council
14 May 2021
Committee object to this application.
While the Committee acknowledge and welcomes the mixed accommodation development of this
part-brownfield site, there are some issues with the proposal. The Committee acknowledge receipt
of objections from residents and the Epping Society. The design of the layout needs to be looked at
and how the three storey block may affect the nearby residential roads and any loss of amenity.
The development includes the loss of a number of mature trees to facilitate development and
replacement trees being proposed are as small as 20cm – 25cm. The Committee also disagree with
the proposed removal of the mature evergreen boundary which is used to screen Nicholl Road. The
proposed green infrastructure is not sustainable and is a token gesture. The green infrastructure
needs to take into account the procurement of greenery, its appropriateness for the site and the
future aftercare needed. The Committee note EFDC’s Tree Team objection which states that there is
inadequate provision for landscape retention.
There is also the issue of insufficient car parking for the number of residential units and no visitor
parking being proposed on the site. There are severe parking issues in Epping and the insufficient
parking from this scheme will put additional pressures on the surrounding roads.
The Town Council’s Planning Committee would like to work with Qualis/EFDC to see how this
development could be improved and be more acceptable to the community.
Relevant policies:
CP1 (ii), CP2 (iv), DBE1, DBE2, DBE4, DBE5, DBE6, DBE9, LL7 (ii) & (iii), LL10 (i) & (ii), ST6. (Local Plan
1998 & Alterations 2006)
DM2, DM5, DM9A, DM10 (Emerging Local Plan).
NPPF paras 8, 9, 124, 127, 180.
Epping Town Council confirm they will attend and speak at Plans East to object to this proposal.

Page 478

A-6

Appendix 3
Essex County Council – Ecology
12 May 2021
No objection subject to securing
a) A proportionate financial contribution towards Epping Forest SAC Mitigation Strategy and
b) biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures
Summary
The site is within the 6.2km Zone of influence (ZoI) for the emerging Epping Forest SAC Mitigation
Strategy (within which residents of new housing are likely to regularly visit relevant designated sites
for recreation) and the development is relevant to Natural England’s advice to the LPA. We therefore
advise that the LPA will need to prepare a HRA Appropriate Assessment record for this development
and secure a proportionate financial contribution towards visitor management measures as
mitigation for recreational disturbance. This contribution needs to be secured by a legal agreement.
Subject to this mitigation, the LPA can conclude no adverse effect on the integrity of Epping Forest
SAC.
We are satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for determination.
This provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts on protected and Priority species & habitats
and, with appropriate mitigation measures secured, the development can be made acceptable.
The mitigation measures identified in the Environmental Impact Assessment should be secured and
implemented in full. This is necessary to conserve and enhance protected and Priority Species. This
includes precautionary measures for Hedgehogs (including Hedgehog Holes) and Nesting birds.
The Environmental Impact Assessment - Residential Sites Chapter 6 - Ecology and Biodiversity
(Stephenson-halliday, March 2021) recommends a Construction Environmental Management Plan
(CEMP) Biodiversity should be produced with input from a professional ecologist. The CEMP
Biodiversity should describe ecology mitigation works and should set out standard pollution
prevention and dust control measures to be implemented during site clearance and construction
works. This should also include appropriate management of trenches, waste and materials storage,
and protection of boundary features (including suitable tree and hedgerow protection).
We support the proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which have been recommended
to secure measurable net gains for biodiversity, as outlined under Paragraph 170d of the National
Planning Policy Framework 2019. This includes five bird nesting boxes, neutral grassland (referred to
as ‘woodland groundcover mix’ in the landscape plan), and a biodiversity roof. The reasonable
biodiversity enhancement measures should be outlined within a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy
and should be secured as a condition of any consent.
The Environmental Impact Assessment has also advised the management and monitoring of each
habitat should be secured within a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan. This should out
details of how retained and created habitats will be managed. Furthermore the Environmental
Impact Assessment recommends an information board should be put up to inform residents of the
importance of the retained wildlife areas, the species they may see and how they can help conserve
these areas, including discouraging fly-tipping or the introduction of invasive species.
This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties including its biodiversity
duty under s40 NERC Act 2006.
Impacts will be minimised such that the proposal is acceptable subject to the conditions below
based on BS42020:2013.

Page 479

A-7

Appendix 3
Recommended conditions
1. ACTION REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ECOLOGICAL APPRAISAL RECOMMENDATIONS
“All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with the
details contained in the Epping Forest Environmental Impact Assessment - Residential Sites Chapter
6 - Ecology and Biodiversity (Stephenson-halliday, March 2021) as already submitted with the
planning application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to
determination.”
Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge its
duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife
& Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
2. PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT: CONSTRUCTION ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLAN
(BIODIVERSITY)
A construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority following the recommendations made within the
Epping Forest Environmental Impact Assessment - Residential Sites Chapter 6 - Ecology and
Biodiversity (Stephenson-halliday, March 2021).
The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce
impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements).
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee
works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly competent
person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period
strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local
planning authority
Reason: To conserve protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge its duties under
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
3. PRIOR TO SLAB LEVEL: BIODIVERSITY ENHANCEMENT STRATEGY
“A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority, following the details contained within the Epping
Forest Environmental Impact Assessment - Residential Sites Chapter 6 - Ecology and Biodiversity
(Stephenson-halliday, March 2021).
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in

Page 480

A-8

Appendix 3
that manner thereafter.”
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its duties
under the NPPF 2019 and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
4. PRIOR TO OCCUPATION: LANDSCAPE AND ECOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT PLAN
“A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and be approved in
writing by, the local planning authority prior occupation of the development.
The content of the LEMP shall include the following:
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.
c) Aims and objectives of management.
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
e) Prescriptions for management actions.
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled forward
over a five-year period).
g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan.
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term
implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management body(ies)
responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that
conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or
remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the
fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan will be
implemented in accordance with the approved details.”
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the
NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)

Environment Agency
12 May 2021
The Environment Agency is a statutory consultee on all development projects subject to
Environmental Impact Assessment. There are however, no environmental constraints within our
remit on this site and we therefore have no comments at this time.

Page 481

A-9

Appendix 3
Essex County Council – Development and Flood Risk
7 May 2021
Having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment and the associated documents which accompanied the
planning application, we do not object to the granting of planning permission based on the
following:
Condition 1
No works except demolition shall takes place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the
site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro
geological context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The scheme should include but not be limited to:







Limiting discharge rates to 1.5l/s for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year
plus 40% allowance for climate change storm event subject to agreement with the relevant
third party. All relevant permissions to discharge from the site into any outfall should be
demonstrated.
Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.
Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage scheme.
A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL and ground
levels, and location and sizing of any drainage features.
A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to the
approved strategy.

Reason
-

To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water from
the site.
To ensure the effective operation of SuDS features over the lifetime of the development.
To provide mitigation of any environmental harm which may be caused to the local water
environment
Failure to provide the above required information before commencement of works may
result in a system being installed that is not sufficient to deal with surface water occurring
during rainfall events and may lead to increased flood risk and pollution hazard from the
site.

Condition 2
The applicant or any successor in title must maintain yearly logs of maintenance which should be
carried out in accordance with any approved Maintenance Plan. These must be available for
inspection upon a request by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason
To ensure the SuDS are maintained for the lifetime of the development as outlined in any approved
Maintenance Plan so that they continue to function as intended to ensure mitigation against flood
risk.

Page 482

A-10

Appendix 3
Epping Forest District Council – Contaminated Land
4 May 2021
The results of the intrusive site investigation showed no contamination on site. However, I have a
few observations to make.
Imported soils are likely to be required to provide a suitable growing condition for landscaping and
garden areas. Any imported material must be tested to ensure that it is suitable for the proposed
use.
In the event of reusing any of the site won materials, the applicant is required to provide the Council
with appropriate chemical testing.
Additional sampling should be undertaken underneath the footprints of the buildings after the
demolition works.
Remediation Method Statement and Verification Reports will be required.
Due to the sensitive nature of the proposed residential use, condition NSCN57 should be attached to
any approval granted.

Epping Forest District Council – Trees and Landscape
29 April 2021
We object to this application on the grounds that it is contrary to:
Policy LL10 – Adequacy for the provision of landscape retention
Policy DM5 Submission version of EFDC Local Plan (Dec 2017) – ‘Development proposals must
demonstrate they have been designed to –A i) retain and where possible enhance existing green
infrastructure……. Bi) should be accompanied by sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the
retention and protection of trees (including veteran trees)… ….’
Justification
These comments only relate to the existing trees / hedges on / adjacent to the site and their
retention / protection during any development proposals. It is not a full assessment of the layout of
the proposed site – for those comments please refer to our Design / Landscape colleagues in the
Local Plan Implementation Team.
There are 3 trees on / close to the northern site boundary that are protected by Tree Preservation
orders. Taking the numbers from the submitted arb report these are the London Plane (T12) within
the garden of 23a Hemnall Street ; the yew (T16) and Holm oak (T17) in the garden of 20 Nicholl
Road. It has been demonstrated within the Arb report that these can be protected during
development of the site.
Likewise the lime trees (‘B’ category trees) along Hemnall Street are also shown to be retained – T4,
T9 T11.
However, the following are shown to be removed to facilitate development – London Plane (T1) ;
Black Pine (T7) ; and the mixed evergreen boundary along Nicholl Road (G21).
The London Plane has been categorised (using BS5837:2012 ‘Trees in relation to design, demolition
and construction – Recommendations’) as a B1/B2 ie Trees of moderate quality in terms of
arboricultural value and making a positive landscape impact. It is currently growing in a compact,
slightly raised planter, and the surrounding tarmac has been disturbed – probably due to the trees
root growth. But, it is in good health, it is a mature tree, that has a very high public amenity value.
There is no arboricultural justification for its removal. We therefore object to this trees removal.

Page 483

A-11

Appendix 3
Similarly for the Black Pine, whilst this has been categorised as a C1/ C2 ie a tree of low quality that
offers low landscape value ; we disagree with this, and would consider it to be a B category tree.
Again, we do not consider that there is a sound arboricultural reason to remove this tree.
For both of these trees the redevelopment of this site should be used as an opportunity to greatly
enhance their immediate environment, and in doing so, could provided two significantly ‘structural’
elements of Green Infrastructure to the site.
Similarly the proposal would necessitate the entire removal of the mature, largely evergreen
boundary along Nicholl Road (G21).
Whilst the proposal does provide some elements of replacement landscaping – we consider this is
insufficient to result in a gain in green infrastructure. We therefore object to the proposal.

Cadent
26 April 2021
Searches based on your enquiry have identified that there is apparatus in the vicinity of your enquiry
which may be affected by the activities specified.
The apparatus that has been identified as being in the vicinity of your proposed works is:


Low or Medium pressure (below 2 bar) gas pipes and associated equipment. (As a result it is
highly likely that there are gas services and associated apparatus in the vicinity).

Essex County Council – Archaeology
26 April 2021
Recommendation:
1. No development or preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until a programme of
archaeological investigation has been secured in accordance with a written scheme of
investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
2. No development or preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until the completion
of the programme of archaeological investigation identified in the WSI defined in 1 above.
3. The applicant will submit to the local planning authority a post excavation assessment (to be
submitted within six months of the completion of the fieldwork, unless otherwise agreed in
advance with the Planning Authority). This will result in the completion of post excavation
analysis, preparation of a full site archive and report ready for deposition at the local museum,
and submission of a publication report.
Building Recording:
1. No demolition, conversion or alterations shall commence until a programme of historic
building recording has been secured in accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI)
to be submitted by the applicant and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
2. No demolition, conversion or alterations shall take place until the satisfactory completion of
the recording in accordance with the WSI submitted.

Page 484

A-12

Appendix 3
3. The applicant will submit to the local planning authority a report detailing the results of the
recording programme and confirm the deposition of the archive to an appropriate depository as
identified and agreed in the WSI.
Further recommendations: A professional team of archaeologists should undertake the
archaeological work. The archaeological work will consist of a historic building record of the
historic buildings to be demolished, identified by the heritage statement, and a single trial trench
to the north outside the area of demolition to identify the extent and depth of archaeological
deposits followed by open area excavation if archaeological deposits are identified.

Epping Forest District Council – Environmental Enforcement
26 April 2021
Further to the above application, I have no objection to the proposed application, providing the
following conditions are included.
1 Development Stage
If you are minded to permit the application the demolition/construction phase is likely to be of
significant duration and close enough to neighbouring residential premises to warrant a number
of conditions to control any disturbance. I note that there appears to be some basement
parking, which may also require piling to occur, which can be significantly disturbing. As such, I
would welcome the following conditions:
1.1 Construction methodology
It is likely that the construction of the development will involve piling and other intrusive
methods, which will need to be controlled to some degree. As such, I would suggest the
following condition:
Before any phase of the hear by permitted development commences, the construction
methodology shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the
impact on nearby noise sensitive premises is minimised from activities such as (but not
exclusively) excavation, piling, vehicle and plant movements, etc. Only construction methods in
accordance with the written approval shall be undertaken.
Reason- In the interests of the amenities of noise sensitive properties
1.2 Construction work – Permitted hours
All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations (which includes deliveries and other
commercial vehicles to and from the site) which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive
premises, shall only take place on site between the hours of 0730 to 1830 Monday to Friday &
0800 to 1300 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Bank Holidays unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason- In the interests of the amenities of noise sensitive properties
1.3 Bonfires
No bonfires shall be permitted on site throughout the demolition and construction phase of the
development.
Reason – In order to protect residential amenity

Page 485

A-13

Appendix 3
1.4 Dust control
All reasonable steps to minimise dust emissions from the site shall be employed throughout the
demolition and construction phase of the development. The dust suppression methodology
shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority before construction commences.
Reason – To protect the amenity of the area from excessive dust emissions
1.5 Wheel washers
Wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for vehicles leaving the site during demolition and
construction works shall be installed in accordance with details which shall be submitted and
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The facilities shall be installed prior to
commencement of any works on the site and shall be used to clean vehicles leaving the site.
Reason – To avoid the deposit of material on the public highway in the interest of highway
safety and control of dust.
2. Habitation Stage
I note that the noise survey indicates that some mitigation will be required for some of the
residential properties to protect the new occupiers from noise to ensure that they benefit from
reasonable sleeping/resting conditions. As such, I would recommend the following conditions:
The acoustic performance of the design and construction of the development should be agreed
in writing with the Local Authority before construction commences. The design and
construction should provide the performance to provide reasonable resting/sleeping conditions
with reference to British Standard BS8233: 2014 – Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise
Reduction for buildings – Code of practice (or such other standard which may supersede it from
time to time). This may necessitate the developer to employ a suitably qualified acoustics
consultant to carry out any necessary survey and provide recommendations.
Reason: To protect the occupiers of the properties constructed from excessive noise levels from
the local environment.
All rooms within the development hereby approved shall be provided with sufficient double
glazing and acoustically treated trickle ventilators, or other means of ventilation that will provide
adequate ventilation with the windows closed, to ensure that the occupiers are provided with
reasonable resting/sleeping conditions with reference to British Standard BS8233:2014 –
Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for buildings – Code of practice (or such
other standard which may supersede it from time to time)
Reason: To protect occupiers of the premises from excessive noise from the nearby road and
other uses.
Details of the double glazing and acoustically treated trickle ventilators, or other means of
ventilation, referred to the above condition shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority and installed before any of the proposed residential development is
occupied.
Reason: To protect occupiers of the premises from excessive noise.
It may be that mechanical plant would be required to fulfil the above condition and/or the
developer may wish to install it anyway. You therefore may wish to consider the following
condition:
The cumulative rating level of any mechanical plant installed on the site (as defined by
BS4142:2014) shall not exceed the prevailing background noise level. If the background noise
level is exceeded, the use of the mechanical plant shall cease until it is brought below this level.

Page 486

A-14

Appendix 3
The measurement position and assessment shall be made according to BS4142:2014.
Reason: To protect occupiers of the premises, and other neighbouring noise sensitive premises,
from excessive noise from mechanical plant.
3. Lighting.
I note that the applicatoin has an overarching lighting report, which may have an impact on
neighbouring residential properties once the development is occupied. I would therefore
recommend the following condition is applied:
Details of any external lighting of the site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development. This information shall
include a layout plan with beam orientation and a schedule of equipment in the design
(luminaire type, mounting height, aiming angles and luminaire profiles), and the impact on
neighbouring residential properties. The lighting shall be installed, maintained and operated in
accordance with the approved details unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written
consent to the variation.
Reason: To protect the appearance of the area, the environment and local residents from light
pollution.

Thames Water
22 April 2021
Waste Comments
Thames Water would advise that with regard to FOUL WATER sewerage network infrastructure
capacity, we would not have any objection to the above planning application, based on the
information provided.
Thames Water would advise that with regard to SURFACE WATER network infrastructure
capacity, we would not have any objection to the above planning application, based on the
information provided.
Water Comments
With regard to water supply, this comes within the area covered by the Affinity Water Company.

Sport England
20 May 2021
Sport England raises no objection to this application as a non-statutory consultee subject to a section
106 agreement or planning condition addressing the phasing and delivery of the replacement leisure
centre;
Phasing and Delivery: A section 106 agreement (or a Grampian type planning condition) should
require the Epping Sports Centre not to close or any development to commence until the
replacement leisure centre on the Bakers Lane car park site is completed and operational in
accordance with planning permission EPF/2924/20 (assuming this application is granted planning
permission). This is justified to ensure that the replacement leisure centre is completed and

Page 487

A-15

Appendix 3
operational before the sports centre closes and any development starts on the Epping Sports Centre
site in order to ensure continuity of community sports facility provision. The wording used in model
condition 4 from our model conditions schedule https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-canhelp/facilities-and-planning/planning-for-sport?section=playing_fields_policy may be of assistance in
this regard. Due to the acceptability of the Epping Sports Centre application being dependent on the
replacement leisure centre being delivered, it is requested that the determination of the two
applications is co-ordinated to ensure that the Bakers Lane car park application is determined in
advance of, or at the same time as, the Epping Sports Centre application in order to provide
certainty that the replacement leisure centre could be delivered in planning terms. It should be
noted that in the event that the related Bakers Lane car park application was refused, withdrawn or
not determined by the time the current application is determined Sport England may need to review
its position on this application as there would be uncertainty over whether an acceptable
replacement leisure centre scheme could be delivered in practice.

Page 488

A-16

Appendix 3
Epping Society
26 August 2021
The application has been considered by the committee of this Society and wish to object to this
proposal, for the following reasons.
Parking and vehicle access
The suggestion of 40 units and only 20 spaces is woeful and totally unworkable in Epping. Car
parking requirements should be a minimum of 1 space per new unit, the suggestion of car parking
numbers less than the number of units proposed may be acceptable in shop conversion in the town,
but it is totally unrealistic for a major development in Epping.
Access to Block A, will be by walking from the on-site car park. Alternatively, by bicycle or on foot via
Nicholl Road or Hemnall Street. Each property in Block B, will only have 1 parking space directly
outside their front doors.
National Planning Policy Framework for development proposals states in Section 110 d) “Allow for
the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency vehicles.” Approval of this
application will increase on-street parking from new residents. It will generate dangerous congestion
from service vehicles. It could also potentially endanger occupants of the proposed development if it
does not meet these criteria.
All delivery vehicles will find access and safe parking a major problem. The whole of the site’s south
eastern boundary, in Nicholl Road, is fronted by parking bays. The car park entrance and woodland
walk take up the remaining frontage. Therefore, vehicles will not be able to park to access the 4storey flats in block A. The site’s north western boundary, in Hemnall Street, is currently subject to
parking restrictions. We understand that these restrictions will continue.
We expect significant numbers of delivery vehicles to visit the development. The on-site parking area
must be kept clear for these drivers. It is not stated in any document what is the expectation for the
“visitor” parking. No information is given on how these valuable spaces will be ‘policed’.
The parking layout for the extended terrace in Nicholl Road is cramped and poorly designed. The
proposed spaces share a boundary. Therefore, it will very difficult to open car doors sufficiently. This
will be exacerbated by the sub-standard size of the parking spaces proposed. These parking spaces
will be permanently occupied as there will only one space per house. Consequently, the whole area
in front of the townhouses will be dominated by cars.
There should be undercroft parking as proposed on the St Johns Site. A minimum of one space per
household must be allowed. The shortfall of 20 spaces will only be possible if ownership or residence
of the flats is conditioned that no car is used or owned. Residents must not have access to the
exiting Epping resident’s parking permit scheme.
Traffic and Transport Impact report – Section 7.6 Data Sources. The Survey advises that peak traffic
times used for Station Road to High Street are 8.45 – 9.45 and 16.30 – 17.30. Peak times are earlier
and later than those stated. The station car park is full by 8.00 for commuter journeys and peak
return time is from around 18.00 for commuters from London.
All parking arrangements should be conditional and include Electric Vehicle Charging points.
Design concerns
We totally disagree that the buildings are of high quality or respond to and reflect the site. The
proposed buildings follow from one or two vernacular fashionable examples, for example the

Page 489

A-17

Appendix 3
Marmalade Estate design in Cambridge. The choice of materials and style neither follows an Epping
context in a pastiche, nor does it try and bring a contextual but modern solution. It is ‘copycat
‘design and offers nothing to respond to the site. This goes completely against the statements made
in the original Design and Access Statement. We would prefer imaginative and novel approach with
reference to Epping context. For example, the choice of brick is an architectural fashion choice. The
use of a gable front to the houses is again a fashion choice.
The main block is an awful looking, clumsy ugly building. It is out of scale, bulky and incongruous. It is
a complete over development of the site. We feel the Essex Design Guide has not been followed to a
sufficient degree. The revised Hemnall Street entrance is an improvement.
The scale and height of the 4-storey block in the centre of the site, is clearly out of scale and
character with the site context. The small reduction in the south western footprint is an
improvement.
We are not trained at reviewing Ground Investigation Reports. All housing and any approved
applications should be conditional on resolving any found contamination. We are not trained at
reviewing Acoustic Strategies, Environmental Assessments, Ecology etc.
We expect the District Council to appoint third parties to scrutinise all technical submissions.
All housing and any approved applications should be conditional so the use of photovoltaics and
Green Energy solutions are not engineered out later. All housing and any approved applications
should be conditional on betterment of Building Regulations in relation to energy.
The six revised drawings relating to boundary conditions are still tight to the site. For example,
‘Boundary Section E-EE’ does not show the building opposite in Nicholl Road. This is unacceptable.
They are totally inadequate to assess the impact on neighbouring sites and houses. All drawings
should show heights and window positions of the proposed and existing conditions, so this can be
fully assessed. Impacts to amenity and overlooking cannot be fully assessed.
Trees and Landscape
Trees and Landscape Report from EFDC Trees and Landscape objects to the application due to the
adequacy of landscape retention. They also question the condition of trees to be removed
suggesting they are in better condition than stated in the application. Existing trees and shrubs
should be retained and enhanced.
Existing trees and shrubs should be retained and enhanced. All trees must have preservation orders
applied before any permission is granted.
We note that the new planting of mature trees is shown in illustrations across the site in the Design
and Access Statement. In the ‘Boundary Sections’ these trees are described as “Proposed SemiMature Tree” The scale on ‘Boundary Section E-EE’ suggests the trees in front of Block B will be
around 8 metres (26’03”) tall. We welcome using mature trees but suggest that professional advice
is taken on the implications of mature planting, in this case, just over 5 metres away from the
property line.
We note these trees are described as “6no. Acer campestre 'Elsrijk' 30-35cm CS” on Planting Plan
Ground Level. This does not clearly describe the size.
The plan appears to show a high-quality level of planting. We expect this to be carried through to
construction and not watered down through later Value Engineering. These drawings should be
noted in any approvals.

Page 490

A-18

Appendix 3
Drainage plan for surface and foul water
The document ‘Essex County Council - Suds comment’ and a subsequent one dated 7th May 2021
gives conditions “No works except demolition shall takes place until a detailed surface water
drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the
hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority” It should be noted that there is a 2.3 metre height
difference across the site between Hemnall Street and Nicholl Road. Undoubtably, this will impact
the drainage plan for surface and foul water from the development. We feel that the 150mm pipes
will not cope with high rainfall on impervious soil at peak rainfall periods.
The 150mm foul sewage pipes may not accommodate flow during peak usage periods due to the
massive increase in demand from the 40 new dwellings as well as the existing properties.
It should be noted that the sewage drain manholes are in private garages in Amesbury Close These
are at risk of overflowing in peak usage periods.
We note that the ‘Utility Report’ was prepared by a graduate trainee in March 2020 and we are
concerned to read on page 8 that sewerage is not within the scope of the report. Clearly, more work
is needed.
The application must not be approved until this extremely important issue is fully resolved.
Safety issues
There is a proposed pedestrian link, closely following the existing route, between Hemnall Street and
Nicholl Road. This must be a protected right of way. This paved walk way does not have any
proposed ‘traffic calming’ measures. The gradient is just over 3%. Therefore, as this is a slope, curved
and without any long sight-lines we feel pedestrians risk injury from inconsiderate use of bicycles,
scooter and skateboards.
No emergency vehicles can access the centre of the site. Given to obvious lack of access and absence
of any Fire Service advice - please install fire hydrants at strategic points.
General
Roof arrangements are not clear. ‘General Arrangement Plan Roof Level’ Complete vagueness on
whether photovoltaics are proposed or not. This will affect the look of the building, it’s green
credentials or whether a living roof is used or not. This confusion needs to be revised and resolved.
‘Typical Detail – Biodiversity’ Blue Roof – there is an ambiguity between this and the architects roof
plan. This needs to be Conditioned with Green Roof Information and Biodiversity Submission.
We do not read any specific details of broadband connections. These must be in the form of a hardwired network, with 3 access points, this must be installed within every individual home.
The following drawings show a high-quality level of site furniture and detailing proposed. We expect
this to be carried through to construction and not watered down through later ‘Value Engineering’.
These drawings should be noted in any approvals. [Manhole covers - McGregor Smith Drawing No
1270-02-424, Kerbs - McGregor Smith Drawing No 1270-02-425, Granite - McGregor Smith Drawing
No 1270-02-422, Drainage - McGregor Smith Drawing No 1270-02-426, Paving - McGregor Smith
Drawing No 1270-02-420, Paving - McGregor Smith Drawing No 1270-02-421, Timber Cube McGregor Smith Drawing No 1270-02-431, Bench - McGregor Smith Drawing No 1270-02-430, Bins McGregor Smith Drawing No 1270-02-433, Bike Hoops - McGregor Smith Drawing No 1270-02-432,
Bollard - McGregor Smith Drawing No 1270-02-434]

Page 491

A-19

Appendix 3
Block A is not a high-quality design, there is a number of design decisions that appear to be wrong,
specifically the room proportions and use of long thin bedrooms. [We refer to the following files
‘Block A - Proposed first floor plan’ 3211, ‘Block A - Proposed ground floor plan’ 3210, ‘Block A Proposed second floor plan’ 3212, ‘Block A - Proposed third floor plan’ 3213, ‘Block A - Proposed
elevation Sheet 1 of 2’ 3220 and the following document.]
Impact on Nicholl Road
The dominant gable end design of Block B is not a feature of the Epping vernacular. At present, the
residents in Nicholl Road look out on a plain featureless wall. This wall is lower and significantly
screened by shrubs and small trees.
Block B (HT1) has dominating elevations. These rise to a height of 9.2 metres. This is significantly
taller than the existing sports hall elevation. The existing sports hall wall is 3.0m from the site edge.
This is the distance at the point where ‘Boundary Section E-EE’ shows the proposed wall of Block B
(HT1) We note at this point the sheer wall of Block B will be only 6.8 metres from the site’s edge.
That is to say only just under 4 metres further back than the existing. Therefore, its overbearing
impact is still significant.
There are no facing views, ‘existing elevations’, of the Nicholl Road facing sports hall block. There are
‘proposes elevations’ across the whole site. Again, this omission, this makes accurate comparison
impossible.
Impact on Hemnall Street
The original Design and Access Statement on Page 62 - “Proposed Massing” the heights comparison
suggests, in the image, that the proposed block is not much higher than the existing building.
However, the proposed Block A is much closer to the front of the site than the existing. This isn’t
shown by a simple transverse height comparison. Again, this is a misleading view.
The original Design and Access Statement on Page 69 makes a ridiculous statement under the
heading “Appearance - Hemnall Street Frontage” We do not see any justification for the statement
that the “Proposed built form stitches together the stepped street frontage”. This statement
proposes a solution to a problematic area that is, in fact, a positive feature of the street! We note
that these documents have been removed from the application but the proposed building line is
unchanged.
The proposed “stitching together of the building line” is unnecessary; the area certainly doesn’t
need a stark 4-storey block. This would be less dominating being lowered to 3-storey. It would be
better to remove the forward part of the block completely.
There are no direct height comparisons from the Hemnall facing 4-storey (Block A) to evaluate.
There are no views that include the properties opposite.
The original ‘Design and Access Statement Part 4’ on page 113 has a drawing of the Hemnall Street
street-scene this is rather generic. It does not show the properties opposite. The only visual
reference to existing buildings appears to be a couple of wheelie bins outside number 60 Hemnall
Street. Evidently, informed by Google Street View! The drawing does not show any part of the
buildings opposite Block A. Neither does it show any buildings opposite along the whole of the site’s
frontage.
Again, with reference to this elevation, the ‘Boundary Section A-AA’ does not show the properties
opposite in Hemnall Street. Rather bizarrely, it includes the front garden wall of number 58 Hemnall
Street!

Page 492

A-20

Appendix 3
The original ‘Design and Access Statement Part 5’ on page 135 “Residential Quality – Apartment
Design” Proposes a small “Dedicated space for study / working from home” this is a positive home
working feature. This area does not feature now. We would expect this space to be included across
all 3 of the Qualis applications. This must be a condition of approval.
The original ‘Design and Access Statement Part 5’ on page 137 “Conservation and Heritage” it states
“BLEECO historic lampposts [sic], two of which are on the Sports Centre site. These could be
refurbished and reinstalled on the public pedestrian link”. These lamp posts are shown on the
illustrations on pages 49, 56 and 137. They are also placed at either end of the walkway with “HLC” –
“Existing Heritage Light Columns” designating their position on the General Arrangement Plan.
The use of the phrase “could be” suggests these and other features highlighted on the Design and
Access Statement, as well as across the application, may be ‘engineered out’ after approval. Any
highlighted features must be conditioned with approval. One wonders how many other “could be”
qualifiers have been used on the Qualis applications!
Is the proposed design and scale acceptable?
We note that the ‘Environmental Statement - Non-Technical Summary’ covers the 3 Qualis sites.
The Sports Centre (EPP.R5) is discussed on page 10 “The effects of the Sports Centre proposals on the
Townscape during construction have been assessed as minor. This is because the existing Townscape
Character of this area is not especially high, and construction work will be partially screened by
existing trees. Effects on Townscape after construction will be moderately beneficial (positive). This is
because the proposed townhouses fronting Nicholl Road will replace blank frontage with houses
looking onto the street. This will add to the already varied character of houses along the street and
will provide additional visual interest to the street scene. The proposed apartments fronting Hemnall
Street will slightly improve the continuity of building frontages and sense of enclosure of the street.
Keeping the existing line of mature trees which partially screens the proposals will soften the
perception of development, and the setback will reduce the potential for the building to be perceived
as out of scale compared to lower-scaled houses, were it to be brought further forward. The visual
effects of the proposals on the selected views will be beneficial (positive), except for one view from
Hemnall Street, which is predicted to be moderately adverse (negative). While this view is not
especially attractive, it will be sensitive to existing residents and will introduce a slightly higher
building than most of the neighbouring buildings. However, the new building will be partially
screened by existing mature trees and will also be further back from Hemnall Street, thereby reducing
this effect.”
We do not agree with these conclusions. The exiting “blank frontage” in Nicholl Street is significantly
lower and already effectively screened. The proposed gable end Block B is set back by a further 3
metres. However, it is still dominating and combined with the cramped parking it is certainly not an
improvement!
The Environmental Statement goes on to say that the view in Hemnall Street is “predicted to be
moderately adverse” this is obviously referring to the 4-storey, Block A, that “stitches together the
stepped street frontage”.
At best, the forward part of the block should be removed. We do not agree that moving to building
line forward to match the adjacent is in any way positive. Most certainly the height of Block A must
be reduced. Expecting the existing trees to reduce the impact is a somewhat tenuous deflection of
the issue. Block A is just too big!

Page 493

A-21

Appendix 3
Wind vortex concerns
All of the current Qualis proposals involve blocks of four or more storeys. Tall structures generate a
‘venturi effect’ as wind passes between adjacent blocks the velocity increases. Most of Epping is
significantly more than 100 metres above sea level and the area is noticeably windier than even
relatively nearby settlements. We do not find any reference to potential wind vortex impacts. This
must be investigated as the proposed blocks are positioned close together on their respective sites.
Is this type of development needed?
The ‘Residential Mix Report’ is another that reviews all of the Qualis sites. The executive summary
refers to the “Justification study” We disagree with its conclusions.
Covid-19 has impacted on its assumptions and assertions, therefore the report has limited authority.
The report does not demonstrate both a market demand or a demographic need for the proposal. It
does not justify the undeniable impact of this proposal on its neighbours and the town due to the
bland, over scaled and out of character design. The ludicrously inadequate parking provision is
unacceptable.
All housing and any approved applications should be conditional on resolving, incoming services and
drainage without effecting local areas. The reports pertaining to these issues do not have enough
detail for the community to have confidence in their conclusions.
Other
It must be conditioned that this site not be built on, or lost as a community and leisure site in favour
of housing, until the new Swimming Pool and Leisure Centre is built and operational. To be clear, the
site can only be closed and demolished, once the new pool and sports centre is fully open to the
public. This must be a condition of approval.

Epping Society
13 May 2021
Wish to object to all four applications (EPF/0917/21, EPF/0918/21, EPF/0919/21 and EPF/1042/21),
for the following reasons:








The public was presented with far too much data in 4 applications with far too little time for
review – there are 425 documents, in approx. 3 weeks. This is not fair or realistic.
There has been a problem with deadlines. These 4 applications were published in the
‘Weekly List’ circulated by EFDC to the Epping Society (and others) via email at 4:45pm
Friday, 23rd April. The 21-day point, the usual period, from that would be Friday 14th May.
The ‘Weekly List’ says on the front page “Registered in the week up to: Friday 23 April; any
representations on applications should be made in writing by Monday 17 May 2021”
However the EFDC Planning Portal has “comment by” dates listed as 12-05-2021 for Hemnall
(Sports Centre), the others are listed as 13-05-2021. So all less that 21 days, and having 4
different dates is highly challenging & confusing for all concerned.
An extension was requested by emails & letters on 30 April; the request was acknowledged
by the CEO of EFDC with a decision promised during the week. One might have assumed that
Friday 7 May would cover that. On 10th, a delay was given, until the end of the month.
This period included the conducting of Local Elections, in which many were involved.
Is there access for those without a computer? Paper copies?

Page 494

A-22

Appendix 3




























A lack of effective publicity, whatever efforts are claimed, people did not know. The Epping
Society has made efforts to increase public awareness.
The lists of documents were confusing – instances of having several with the same name –
eg St John’s Road -volume 3 Ch 11; some of these are identical in content, and some refer
only to the other sites (eg Technical appendices 11.1 and 2) Much better to give the actual
title on the EFDC table.
Some documents are highly technical, with no explanation nor glossary, this made them
impenetrable; but we believe that this process should be transparent & accessible to all.
Some maps have keys which are so small as to be unusable
Some diagrams/tables when zoomed in, pixilate; maybe once pdfs?
Use of colours sometimes unhelpful eg map of SJR site has 4 very similar grey shades.
Documents are not in order eg Appendix documents should be next to substantive item; also
eg SJR Design & Access statements are not in order – starting “1, 10, 11” later “17, 2”
Some documents are repeated eg Historical maps x3
Some documents are very out of date eg an ecological report describes the St John’s
secondary school as “approved for redevelopment” but is somehow dates March 2021
(reviewed but not edited?), eg an HRA which appears to be based on 34 dwellings (an earlier
version); against 184. Suggest a lack of scrutiny and/or haste.
Several documents refer to now-unnecessary EU Regulations.
Some documents simply indicate a lack of care eg an Archaeology report refers to the
“proposed nuclear power station” at SJR. This was spotted on 27th, reported to EFDC &
authors immediately, but not corrected/withdrawn until 7 May.
Similarly, spelling mistakes speak of haste eg environment several times wrong, eg the last
few documents for SJR are labelled on the very title-listing as “layoluts” (layouts?). To make
the error, o, but to then copy/paste it, and then to still not to proofread it??
Lack of clarity sometimes about whether documents refer to just this site, or all 3, then
some date is described as “cumulative”. To give a clearer picture, given that these 3 are the
last part of 6 developments, all assessments should have been cumulative across all sites.
This is what will be experience on the ground, particularly as 3 will be accessed via the one
road, St John’s.
There are many inconsistencies between various documents – so it would be unclear exactly
what any Planning decisions would mean.
Many documents contain conditionals eg “should”, “if viable” – these plans need certainty.
The Epping Society has been told already by 2 statutory consulting bodies that they are
struggling to review these applications by their (later) deadlines, for the reasons above. If we
and they are finding this challenging, no wonder nearly all members of the community we
have spoken to, say they find it too daunting.
Very few documents consider the post-Covid world (exception being the Residential Mix
report) and working from home – we would argue that potential changes to housing need
should be at least considered.
The Epping Society would like to learn the number/costs of obtaining these report, mostly
from outside contracted agencies; we are considering a FoI request. The Archaeology people
certainly should not get their full fee!
Some applications are clearly from Qualis, some have an EFDC origin – if there is confusion
about the inter-relation here, will there be confusion about the responsibility?

Page 495

A-23

Appendix 3




Proceeding with planning in this much detail, before the Local Plan is found sound and
approved, seems ill-advised; the LP may still be subject to further modifications. In
Maidenhead, Inspector Philips is now into a third round of Public Hearings; things change.
Epping society must ask that Any Planning Approvals must be interdependent on the other
sites being approved, be CONDITIONAL, that the sports centre and pool remain in the plans,
and are completed and open before the existing Sports facility is demolished. Not sure this
can be done as a Planning Condition, but certainly at Council level it can.

Our principle thought is that these applications are so hastily and poorly constructed that we
feel the Planning Officers should return them to Qualis for a re-presentation, with additional
consultation time.

Epping Society
13 May 2021
Sports Centre
“key trees to the boundaries of the site will be retained” is too loose – please clarify. At least one
artist’s pretty impression suggests the trees on Hemnall Street will be replaced by “lollipop” new
planting and if so why?
What is an “FFL”?
“2.19 This development will be served by a total of 20 car parking spaces, comprising 11 allocated
spaces, 6 visitor spaces and 3 ‘Blue Badge’ spaces. A total of 62 cycle parking spaces will be provided
(56 long-stay and 6 short-stay).” Is it suggested the cycle store will not be owned by residents but
first-come-first-served including non-residents? I don’t like that much. Ditto other sites.
3.31 “As explained in Section 6, the three applications are submitted on their own merits and do not
reply on any of the other two sites to establish their acceptability other than the policy requirement
for an equivalent or better replacement sport centre to be provided” my emphasis. We need a
better sports centre as more people will no longer have access to those in the City etc. where they
used to work five days a week. Watering down must be prevented in the planning consent granted.
The development proposals for the sports centre site seem to pay no heed to the Essex Design Guide
or to local architecture. I cannot see what the walls and fenestration will be like without more work
than I have time for now but they do not look encouraging.
5.19 Sports Centre (EPP.R5) – principle of proposed uses
“The proposed development is for the redevelopment of the existing sports centre for residential
use. The site falls just outside the defined Epping town centre boundary and is brownfield land in a
sustainable location. It should be noted that a planning application for a replacement leisure centre
that includes a swimming pool and provision of all existing sports facilities on the current sports
centre has been submitted on the Bakers Lane car park site (EPP.R7) in Epping town centre.” My
emphasis added.
The content of the proposed sports centre is not clear from any documents I have seen. Can officers
ensure the statement by Qualis is an unavoidable condition of any planning consent.
5.21 to 5.2 seems to be an attempt by Qualis to pass the buck to EFDC which we must prevent
through planning conditions – ie, no development at the old site until the new one is operational.

Page 496

A-24

Appendix 3
5.25 says “The current sports centre provides a sports hall, squash court, studio and gym. The
proposed leisure centre on the Bakers Lane site will provide improved versions of these facilities
together with a full-size swimming pool, learner pool and enhanced ancillary facilities including a
café.”

Page 497

A-25

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 4
Hemnall Street QRP Summary Reports:
20.03.20 – Formal review of Epping Town Centre Sites









While supporting the emerging work, the panel thinks there is scope to be bolder.
The panel recommends further work to define, proactively manage, protect and
measure ‘quality’, through each RIBA stage of work.
The panel recommends embedding clear sustainability commitments at RIBA Stage
1 or 2, which could include precedent research for criteria such as Passivhaus.
It highlights the benefits of early community engagement.
The panel encourages options testing for the mix and location of key Town Centre
functions and non-residential land uses. It also suggests broadening the spatial
scope of the Brief, to look beyond red line boundaries and consider the relationship
between the five sites and the high street, including potential public realm
improvements.
The panel urges a holistic view of the whole town centre to inform key design moves
on each site.
The panel thinks the current approach to car parking is unresolved. It highlights the
huge potential to encourage sustainable travel and adopt a flexible future-proofed
strategy to car parking and travel.

10.07.20 – Formal review of Epping Town Centre Sites








The panel thinks a more convincingly comprehensive approach is developing.
It strongly welcomes reconsideration of the leisure centre location and multi-storey
car park proposals.
The panel is yet to be convinced on the analysis undertaken to support the current
approach to town centre functions, or rationale for the housing typologies, tenure and
mix. While it broadly supports the uses suggested, it is unclear why specific uses are
being directed to specific sites.
It strongly recommends further work to ensure exemplary housing design, including
revisiting typologies, internal arrangements and layouts. The panel would like to see
more detail at a framework level before planning application details are developed,
including on: routes, broader connectivity, servicing, edges, integration and retail
arrangements.
It continues to strongly urge early engagement to develop the project vision – so
people can feel genuine agency in informing proposals.

17.09.20 – Workshop review of Epping Town Centre Sites






The Panel applauds the substantial work undertaken since the last review.
The approach taken to engagement is commendable and should be valuable in
informing ongoing design work.
The panel continues to stress the importance of looking beyond physical building
elements – to engage with the social, not just physical development of the centre. It
would have expected to see mapping – analysing the social and cultural offer that
already exists in the centre. This would then be used to inform an approach to ‘fill in
these gaps’.
The panel encourages developing a meanwhile strategy, and exploring the potential
for small scale public realm interventions.

Page 499




Greater clarity is needed on how individual sites and public realm will be phased,
funded and delivered including the delivery of public realm improvements.
The panel continues to strongly urge that the council re-consider the ‘no net loss’
approach to car parking – and follow an evidence-based approach to parking and
sustainable travel.

16.10.20










– Site Specific Workshop review

The panel supports the broad approach of locating apartments towards Hemnall
Street and suggests a terraced house typology towards Nicholl Road.
Further work is needed to ensure that the unit mix to responds to the anticipated
demographic of residents, and that this informs the form and function of the shared
amenity space.
The overall site layout should be finessed to make sure that the communal private
space can be maximised and reduce leftover space facing Hemnall Street.
The panel encourages the design team to better define public and private spaces
across the site, and to give all spaces a clear function.
The team should also consider the purpose of the public route along the northeastern site boundary, and its junction with the Hemnall Road cycle ‘quietway’.
The number of parking spaces should be reduced, and more green landscaping
included to improve the outlook from apartments.
In terms of the architecture, a more unified material palette would be welcome across
the site.
The reduction in single aspect units is welcome but should be taken further if
possible.
The panel welcomes the aspiration to achieve Passivhaus standards and
encourages the development of more detail on how this can be delivered.

05.03.21 – Site Specific Formal review









The panel finds much to admire in the proposals for the Epping Sports Centre site.
It suggests some refinements to entrance sequences, the car park, the boundary
treatments, and the relationship between communal and private spaces.
The architectural expression of the terraced houses on Nicholl Street is positive, and
key details should be secured through the planning application.
The design team needs to ensure the apartment block entrance on Hemnall Street is
not compromised by the bin storage. The arrival sequence on Nicholl Road could
also be improved by reviewing the car park configuration.
There is further opportunity to review the parking spaces on the front gardens of the
terraced houses, to increase soft landscape areas on Nicholl Road.
The panel questions the useability of the courtyard, since residents may add walls or
screening elements in the adjacent private gardens. A duplex typology with access
from the courtyard could improve this relationship.
The location of planting and seating areas should be guided by sunlight exposure.
The panel feels there is an opportunity to develop a comprehensive and site-specific
sustainability strategy. This work should be coordinated with any redesign of the
elevational composition.

General comments relating to all five town centre sites:


These developments on council owned land create an opportunity to deliver
exemplar development, in terms of design quality and environmental sustainability.

Page 500






A lot of valuable work was done looking at the relationship between the five Qualis
sites and Epping town centre. This should be captured in an Area Action Plan, or
similar document, endorsed by the council, so that this work is not lost.
Generally, a more site-specific approach to environmental sustainability is needed,
so that the layout and façade design of buildings responds to orientation and context.
Achieving modal shift will require new development to make car use less convenient,
so that walking and cycling become preferred options.
The panel thinks the relationship between the architectural character of each site
needs further thought.

Page 501

This page is intentionally left blank

27

EFDC

H
O
M
EF
IE
LD

48

40

8

S
ER
EEL
WH

RA
YF
IE
LD

Item 13
Epping Forest DistrictAgenda
Council

CL
OS
E

1

19

39
52

18

Ho
m
ef
iel
d

54

49
61

8

Co Di
un str
cil ict
Of
fic
es

9

15

9
30

G
R
O
V
E

8
25

7
30

24
6

30
5

1

4
25

30
3

NE
LA

5

104.2m

Surgery
2

S
OS
CR
ER
TT
BU

5a

31
9

El Sub Sta

4

7

32
3

7a

Pond

to

28
3

23
6

27
28 9
1

EFDC

ST
RE
ET

LB

to

14

8
to
1

26
9

Application Number:
107.6m
Site Name:

Scale of Plot:

Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail
Copyright & Database Right 2013

Page 503

S
Ca imo
n
m
p
Co ion
ur
t

ll M
ew
s

H
IG
H

27
5

TC
Bs

1

He
m
na

Se
Ho alan
us d
e

EPF/0919/21
Civic Offices, Conder Building and
Car Park 323 High Street
Epping CM16 4BZ
1:1250

5

27
1

Hotel

t
ur
Co

26
7

St
a

1 to

1a

Carlton

's
len
He
St

Contains Ordnance Survey Data. ©
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No:
100018534

El
Su
b

9
28

7
27

PC

Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings.

5

3
29

28
7

Bk

Vin
Ho cent
us
e

ce
ffi
O
st
Po

1

PH

29
1

House

4

7
29
Doubleday

LA

3

The Rectory

This page is intentionally left blank

Report to District Development
Management Committee
Date of Meeting: 27th October 2021

Site Address: Civic Offices Conder Building and Car Park
323 High Street Epping CM16 4BZ
Application Number:

EPF/0919/21 + EPF/1042/21

Application Type:

Full Planning Application + Listed Building Consent

Proposal:

Full Planning Application:

The redevelopment of the existing office building
and car park. Demolition of the existing office
building and alterations to connection to existing
Listed Civic Centre. Development to comprise new
apartment buildings and houses to provide a mix
of residential units (Use Class C3), revised
vehicular and pedestrian access from High Street,
all associated car and cycle parking, servicing,
hard and soft landscaping and associated works.
Listed Building Consent:

Grade II Listed building consent for the
redevelopment of the existing office building and
car park. Demolition of the existing office building
and alterations to connection to existing Listed
Civic Centre. Development to comprise new
apartment buildings and houses to provide a mix
of residential units (Use Class C3), revised
vehicular and pedestrian access from High Street,
all associated car and cycle parking, servicing,
hard and soft landscaping and associated works.
Site Address:

Civic Offices, Conder Building and Car Park, 323 High Street,
Epping CM16 4BZ

Page 505

Ward:

Epping Hemnall

Parish:

Epping Town

Conservation Area:

Part of the site falls within the Epping Conservation Area

EFDLP Site Allocation

Yes

Epping Forest Special Area of
Conservation

Applicant:

LPSV Ref: EPP.R8

Subject to the imposition of planning conditions and
completion of a section 106 planning obligation to secure
the measures identified in the Interim Air Pollution
Mitigation Strategy and electric vehicle charging
infrastructure, the Council can conclude that there will be
no adverse impact on the integrity of the Epping Forest
Special Area of Conservation.

Qualis Commercial Ltd (part of Qualis Group Ltd)
Qualis Group Ltd is a company wholly owned by Epping Forest
District Council

Agent:

Q+A Planning Ltd

Case officer:

Nick Finney / Emily Holton-Walsh

Democratic Services Officer

Gary Woodhall. Contact number: 01992 564 470

Validation date:

21st April 2021

Reason for reporting
application to Members:

This application is before this committee since it proposes a
‘major’ development where the Council is a landowner as
defined in Article 10 of the Constitution.
The site is to have transferred from Council ownership to
Qualis Commercial Ltd, however given that this is a wholly
owned company of the Council the application is considered
to meet the DDMC terms of reference.

Page 506

1.

RECOMMENDATION
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to:
1. the prior completion of a Legal Agreement within four months of the resolution
to grant planning permission to secure the planning obligations within section
3 and subject to planning conditions listed in Appendix 1 of this report.
That listed building consent be GRANTED:
1. subject to conditions listed in Appendix 1b of this report.

2.

SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

2.1

The application site has been proposed for allocation (ref: EPP.R8) in the Epping
Forest District Local Plan Submission Version (LPSV) to provide new residential
accommodation within Epping Forest District to meet an identified need.

2.2

Overall, the proposal is for the sustainable re-use of brownfield land, in general
accordance with the site allocations within the LPSV. The proposal would provide
additional housing which is a benefit that should be afforded significant weight in the
planning balance, particularly in light of the acute housing shortage within the District.
The scheme would also provide a significant amount of affordable housing, albeit
noting that full policy compliance would not be viable. In terms of the quality of the
proposed homes, these would meet prescribed space standards, accessibility
standards, benefit from amenity space and include a large proportion of dual aspect
flats.

2.3

The proposals would integrate satisfactorily with the surrounding townscape in terms
of scale, massing and overall design. Less than substantial harm to the conservation
area has been identified, but, as per the guidance in the NPPF, this harm is outweighed
by the significant benefit of bringing the buildings back into long-term viable uses, and
the public benefit resulting from the provision of new and affordable homes. The
proposals would have an acceptable impact on the living conditions of neighbouring
properties in terms of light, privacy and outlook. Furthermore, no undue harm would
arise from noise or light emitted from the development.

2.4

In terms of transport, the extent of car and cycle parking is acceptable and, in
combination with the submitted Travel Plan, would help reduce reliance on the private
car and the transition to sustainable modes of travel. The sustainability aspects of the
proposal are in compliance with policy.

2.5

The application demonstrates that the environmental impact of the proposal would be
acceptable, subject to appropriate mitigation. There would be no adverse effect on the
integrity of the EFSAC, no air quality degradation, no increased flood risk and no
significant risk to human health from contamination. Archaeological and ecological

Page 507

assets would be safeguarded as a result of the proposal, and biodiversity net gain
secured.
2.6

On the basis of the analysis undertaken within this report, it is considered that the
proposed development is compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan
and the LPSV.

3.

PLANNING OBLIGATIONS AND CONDITIONS

3.1

The recommendation is given subject to conditions as set out in Appendix 1 of this
report. In addition, a section 106 agreement will secure the following planning
obligations and financial contributions. The obligations are grouped into sections for
ease of reference:

3.2

Affordable Housing


25% Affordable Housing
o

3.3



Unit mix to mirror private mix



Viability reviews



BtR rental value capped at 80% of open market rent



BtR eligibility/nomination criteria



BtR clawback mechanism if BtR units sold

Build to Rent (BtR)


3.4

3.5

Either as Build to Rent (BtR) Affordable Private Rent or RSL managed
80% Affordable Social Rent / 20% Shared Ownership

BtR management and operation requirements

Transport


Bus Infrastructure Improvements (Highway Agreement + £22,000)



Travel Plan (£1,533 Monitoring Fee)



Active Transport Improvements (£70,360)



Controlled Parking Zones Management

Open Space and Green Infrastructure


Provision and Enhancement of public parks and amenity space (£258,851)

Page 508

3.6

Healthcare


3.7

3.8

Education


Early Years (£29,528)



Primary Education (£98,428)



Secondary Education (£90,345)

Community Facilities


3.9

3.10

Primary Healthcare contribution (£19,740)

Library Services (£3,112)

EFSAC HRA Mitigation


EFSAC recreational pressure (£14,080)



EFSAC Air Pollution Mitigation (£13,400)

Employment and Skills


An employment and skills plan to be agreed for the development.

Completion of the section 106 agreement
3.11

In the event that the required section 106 agreement is not satisfactorily completed
within four months of the date of the resolution to grant planning permission then in the
absence of a suitable mechanism to secure planning and financial obligations to
mitigate the impact of development, the Planning Services Director is authorised to
refuse planning permission.
Conditions

3.12

The full list of conditions recommended for the planning permission is identified in
Appendix 1. In summary, the conditions applicable to the planning permission will
cover the following matters:


Time Limit for commencement



Approved drawing numbers



Finished floor levels



Use of materials



Design and landscape

Page 509



Ecology issues



SuDS and land drainage



Land contamination



Sustainability / energy



Noise and air quality mitigation



External lighting strategy



Archaeology



Restrictive conditions

4.

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

4.1

Full application for the redevelopment of the existing office building and car
park. Demolition of the existing office building and alterations to connection to
existing Listed Civic Centre. Development to comprise new apartment buildings
and houses to provide a mix of residential units (Use Class C3), revised
vehicular and pedestrian access from High Street, all associated car and cycle
parking, servicing, hard and soft landscaping and associated works.

4.2

Grade II Listed building consent for the redevelopment of the existing office
building and car park. Demolition of the existing office building and alterations
to connection to existing Listed Civic Centre. Development to comprise new
apartment buildings and houses to provide a mix of residential units (Use Class
C3), revised vehicular and pedestrian access from High Street, all associated car
and cycle parking, servicing, hard and soft landscaping and associated works.

5.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1

Environmental Impact Assessments (EIA) have been undertaken for all five sites and
reported in two Environmental Statements:
1. Environmental Statement dated 31 March 2021 which reports the findings of the
EIA for the three residential sites (St John's Road (EPP.R4), Sports Centre
(EPP.R5) and Civic Offices (part) (EPP.R8) (the Residential ES); and
2. Environmental Statement dated 28 July 2021 which reports on the findings of the
EIA for the two commercial sites (Cottis Lane (EPP.R6) and Bakers Lane
(EPP.R7)) (the Commercial ES).

5.2

The 'Epping Town Centre Development: Environment Summary Report' dated July
2020 sets out how the Residential ES and the Commercial ES interact and that

Page 510

relevant environmental effects have been assessed for each site individually and
cumulatively.
5.3

It is assessed by the Council that the submitted ES's collectively provide adequate
environmental information to enable the applications to be determined.

5.4

Both the Residential ES and the Commercial ES assess the likely significant effects
on ecology and biodiversity, traffic and transport, socio-economics, air quality,
townscape, cultural heritage and climate change. The effects have been analysed and
mitigation measures have been identified.

5.5

Both of the environmental statements identify the following significant effects:
5.5.1. Significant effect on climate change, which is to be addressed via embedded
and operational mitigation to reduce carbon emissions, as detailed further in the
Sustainability section of this report.
5.5.2. Significant beneficial effect from new employment opportunities.

5.6

Other residual effects are to be addressed via Construction Management Plans,
Landscape and Ecological Management Plans secured by planning condition.

6.

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

6.1

The application site lays within the defined Epping town centre to the north of the
proposed primary shopping area as defined in the LPSV.

6.2

The site comprises of the Conder Building, which occupies the eastern part of the site
and which formed part of the Civic Office campus. The Conder building is now surplus
to the operational requirements of the Council. The western part of the site is accessed
via a ramp, which leads to a car parking area which served the Civic Office campus
and, like the buildings, is now surplus to requirements. The parking area is split into
two, due to the differing levels across the site. A pond exists on the higher level.
Pedestrian access can be gained from the High Street to the South. At present,
vehicular access is possible through the adjacent Civic Office campus.

6.3

The site is immediately surrounded by a mixture of mid-20th century residential
development to the north, west and east. To the south-east lies the Civic Office
complex and further parking. To the south-west are the retail/services and
cafés/restaurants concentrated along High Street.

6.4

The main Epping Civic Offices building to which the Conder Building is physically
attached, is Grade II listed. The Conder building predates the construction of the
Civic Offices and has been specifically excluded from the listing of the Civic Offices
at Grade II due to its lack of significance. The part of the Civic Offices to which the
Conder building is linked was purposely built as a connector between the Civic
Offices, No. 323 and the Conder building.

Page 511

6.5

There are three listed buildings sited to the south west – 317 & 319 High Street, 315
High Street and 309 & 311 High Street – all of which are Grade II listed buildings.

7.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

7.1

There are numerous planning permissions relating to the Civic Office campus site,
but the most relevant are as follows:

Application
Reference

EPF/0415/20

EPF/0045/21/LB

Description of Development

Relocation of Solar panels from Conder
building to the rear slope of the listed
building roof and associated change of
the roof treatment from Terne Coated
Steel to Sika Liquid Plastics Decothane.
Grade II listed building consent for
internal alterations

Decision

Granted
17.04.2020

Granted
16.02.2021

8.

CONSULTATION AND REPRESENTATIONS

8.1

Statutory and technical consultee comments are noted below and provided in
summary within Appendix 3 (the submitted comments are available in full on the
Council's website through the following link).


Essex County Council - SUDS – No objection, subject to conditions.



Essex County Council – Green Infrastructure – No objection, subject to
condition.



Essex County Council – Infrastructure Schools/Libraries – No objection,
subject to a section 106 agreement to mitigate its impact on early years &
childcare, primary and secondary education and library provision.



Essex County Council - Highways – The impact of the proposal is acceptable,
subject to the recommended conditions.



Essex County Council: Historic Environment – No objection subject to
conditions.



Essex County Council - Place Service Ecology - No objection subject to
securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures with
recommended conditions if approved.

Page 512



EFDC - Environmental Health – Noise – No objection in principle.



EFDC - Environmental Health - Contaminated Land – no objection, subject to
condition.



EFDC - Environmental Health – Air Quality Officer – No objection, subject to
condition.



EFDC - Trees and Landscape – No objection, subject to condition.



EFDC - Conservation, Design, Listed Buildings - Objection raised. The
proposal would result in harm to the character and appearance of the
conservation area. Amendments are recommended with regard to the impact
on the listed building.



EFDC - Building Control – Suggested early consultation is carried out by the
applicant with Essex Fire and Rescue Service with regard to building
regulations.



EFDC Countrycare – additional mitigation for the Great Crested Newt
population should be considered, including off-site mitigation, translocation,
management and monitoring plan, a license fee and use of Natural England’s
Discretionary Advice Service.



EFDC - Land Drainage Section – No objection, subject to conditions.



Essex Police – No objection.



Thames Water – No objection.



Epping Town Council – Parish – Objection, based on scale, resultant impact
on neighbouring properties, tree removal, safety concerns regarding the pond
and insufficient parking provision.



Epping Society – Raises objection due to inaccuracy of plans, lack of adequate
detail in relation to SUDS, non-compliance with the Essex Design Guide, lack
of clarity relating to energy efficiency, lack of commitment to electrical vehicle
charging points, size and housing type mix, potential pollution, loss of
employment uses, lack of assurances around parking permits, lack of
ecological mitigation proposed, concerns around the status of ‘affordable’ units
into the future and inadequate contamination report.



NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group – No objection, subject to
obligations to mitigate against the impacts arising from the development with
regard to additional primary healthcare provision.

Page 513

8.2

Other external consultees (full comments are available on the Council’s website
using the link above).

8.3

Notification

8.4

In accordance with relevant legal requirements and the Council's Statement of
Community Involvement, notification letters were sent to the occupants of 86
residential properties on 21.04.21. Site notices were displayed on 23.04.21. A press
notice was published in the Epping Forest Guardian on the 22.04.21. Over the
course of the consultations, 11 representations have been received in response to
the consultation on the application.

8.5

Following design amendments made during the determination of development a 14day consultation exercise was undertaken. The changes comprised Minor
amendments to architectural detail to reflect site context, respect the setting of
the Listed Civic Offices and enhance site wayfinding, amendments to
landscaping to reduce hardstanding and increase soft landscaping.

8.6

The re-consultation period expired on the 03/09/2021.

8.7

The representations received identified the following material planning considerations
relevant to the determination of the application a summary of which is contained at
Appendix 2.

8.8



Impact on ecology



Car Parking capacity and traffic impact



Character of design



Overlooking and daylight and sunlight effects



Construction noise and traffic

Other Consultation
Quality Review Panel

8.9

Development proposals on the site have been the subject of four Quality Review
Panel (QRP) meetings. These were held on the following dates:
 20th March 2020 (town centre strategy);
 10th July 2020 (town centre strategy);
 17th September 2020 (town centre strategy);
 16th October 2020;

Page 514

 5th March 2021;
8.10

The main feedback received pertains to the north western part of the site. It
recognises that the constrained site access from the High Street, and presence of a
pond which is home to great crested newts, creates significant design challenges.
The educational and place making value of the pond should also influence decision
making. The panel would also like to see the extent of vehicle carriageway reduced
and priority given to pedestrians. It suggests a case could be made for car free
development on this site. The aim should be to create more generous open spaces,
and a sense that people are prioritised rather than cars. The panel also offers some
comments on the architecture of the new homes. It recommends further thought
about the best way of responding to the listed Civic Offices, and older listed buildings
on the High Street. It feels there is still scope to consolidate the houses into simpler
terraced forms, with less subdivision. As part of this process, it suggests that
efficiencies could be achieved by using the same terraced house type on this site as
at the Sports Centre site. The panel thinks that the sustainability strategy should be
more site specific. A summary of the QRP feedback is enclosed at Appendix 4.

8.11

Engagement with the Local Community

8.12

A comprehensive community engagement strategy was developed by QCL in relation
to five sites, one of which is the application site. The approach involved two
consultation stages as follows:


Stage 1 consultation – this included consultation on the land use strategy for
five sites plus initial design ideas for all five sites.



Stage 2 consultation – this included more detailed design for all five sites,
including layout, quantum, massing, landscaping and appearance.

9.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

9.1

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended ("the 1990
Act"), requires that in dealing with any planning application the authority shall have
regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application
and to any other material planning considerations.

9.2

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended)
("the 2004 Act") requires that if regard is to be had to the Development Plan for the
purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts the determination
must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise

9.3

The Development Plan currently comprises the saved policies of the Epping Forest
District Council Adopted Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006) (ALP). The list
below indicates which policies of the ALP are relevant to the determination of this

Page 515

application and the degree to which officers consider that they are consistent with the
NPPF as noted in the report to the Local Plan Cabinet Committee (25th March 2013):
CP1 – Achieving Sustainable Development Objectives – Compliant
CP3 – New Development – Compliant
CP4 – Energy Conservation – Compliant
CP5 – Sustainable Building – Compliant
CP 6 – Achieving Sustainable Urban Development Patterns – Compliant
CP 7 – Urban Form and Quality – Compliant
CP 8 – Sustainable Urban Economic Development – Compliant
CP 9 – Sustainable Transport – Compliant
E4A – Protection of Employment Sites – Compliant
TC1 – Town Centre Hierarchy – Compliant
TC2 – Sequential Approach – Compliant
TC3 – Town Centre Function – Compliant
HC6 – Character Appearance and Setting of Conservation Areas – Compliant
DBE1 – Design of New Buildings – Compliant
DBE2 – Effect on Neighbouring Properties – Compliant
DBE3 – Design in Urban Areas – Compliant
DBE6 – Car Parking in New Development – Compliant
DBE9 – Loss of Amenity – Compliant
LL11 – Landscaping Schemes – Compliant
ST1 – Location of Development – Compliant
ST2 – Accessibility of Development – Compliant
ST4 – Road Safety – Compliant
RST1 – Recreational, Sporting and Tourist Facilities – Compliant
RP4 – Contaminated Land – Compliant

Page 516

RP5A – Adverse Environmental Impacts – Compliant
U3B – Sustainable Drainage Systems – Compliant
I1A – Planning Obligations – Compliant
I3 – Replacement Facilities – Compliant
NC1 – SPAs SACs SSSIs – Compliant
9.4

The relevance of the identified saved Local Plan policies to the determination of this
application and the weight to be accorded to each policy are addressed in further detail
within this report.

10.

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK

10.1

The current version of the National Planning Policy Framework ("the Framework" or
"NPPF") was published in July 2021. It provides the framework for producing Local
Plans for housing and other development, which in turn provide the policies against
which applications for planning permission are decided.

10.2

Reflecting the proper approach identified in the previous section of this Report, the
NPPF explains (at paragraph 2) that:
"2.

10.3

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy
Framework must be taken into account in preparing the development
plan and is a material consideration in planning decisions. Planning
policies and decisions must also reflect relevant international
obligations and statutory requirements.2"

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF concerns the presumption in favour of sustainable
development and states (so far as relevant):
"Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable
development.
…
For decision-taking this means:
c)

approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan without delay; or

d)

where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies
which are most important for determining the application are out-ofdate8, granting permission unless:

Page 517

i.

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas
or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for
refusing the development proposed7; or

ii.

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in this Framework taken as a whole."

10.4

Paragraph 11 d) ii. is often referred to as the 'tilted balance'.

10.5

Paragraph 219 of the NPPF requires that policies in the existing Development Plan
should not be considered out of date simply because they were adopted or made prior
to the publication of the NPPF. Rather, due weight should be given to such policies
according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF; in other words, the closer the
policies in the Development Plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight
that may be given to them.

10.6

For the purposes of sub-paragraph (i) of paragraph 11, footnote 7 lists the policies in
Framework (rather than those in development plans) that protect areas or assets of
particular importance including: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 176)
and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green
Belt, or Local Green Space; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and
other heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 63 of the NPPF);
and areas at risk of flooding.

10.7

The NPPF comprises a number of chapters of which nos. 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 14 and 16
are particularly relevant to the proposed development.

11.

EMERGING LOCAL PLAN

11.1

On 14 December 2017, the Council resolved to approve the Epping Forest District
Local Plan (2011-2033) – Submission Version ("LPSV") for submission to the
Secretary of State and the Council also resolved that the LPSV be endorsed as a
material consideration to be used in the determination of planning applications.

11.2

The Council submitted the LPSV for independent examination on 21 September 2018.
The Inspector appointed to examine the LPSV ("the Local Plan Inspector") held
examination hearings between 12 February and 11 June 2019. As part of the
examination process, the Council has asked the Local Plan Inspector to recommend
modifications of the LPSV to enable its adoption.

11.3

During the examination hearings, a number of proposed Main Modifications of the
LPSV were 'agreed' with the Inspector on the basis that they would be subject to public
consultation in due course. Following completion of the hearings, in a letter dated 2
August 2019 the Local Plan Inspector provided the Council with advice on the
soundness and legal compliance of the LPSV ("the Inspector's Advice"). In that letter,
the Inspector concluded that, at this stage, further Main Modifications (MMs) of the

Page 518

emerging Local Plan were required to enable its adoption and that, in some cases,
additional work would need to be done by the Council to establish the precise form of
the MMs. Subsequently the proposed MMs have been submitted to the Inspector and
subject to public consultation.
11.4

Although the LPSV does not yet form part of the statutory development plan, when
determining planning applications, the Council must have regard to the LPSV as
material to the application under consideration. In accordance with paragraph 48 of
the NPPF, the LPAs "may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according
to:
a)

The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);

b)

The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight
that may be given); and

c)

The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan
to this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).22"

11.5

Footnote 24 to paragraph 48 of the NPPF explains that where an emerging Local Plan
is being examined under the transitional arrangements (set out in paragraph 214), as
is the case for the LPSV, consistency should be tested against the March 2012 version
of the NPPF.

11.6

As the preparation of the emerging Local Plan has reached a very advanced stage,
subject to the Inspector's Advice regarding the need for additional MMs, significant
weight should be accorded to LPSV policies in accordance with paragraph 48 of
Framework. The following table lists the LPSV policies relevant to the determination of
this application and officers' recommendation regarding the weight to be accorded to
each policy.
SP 1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development – Significant
SP 2 – Spatial Development Strategy – Moderate
SP 3 – Space shaping – Significant
SP7 – The Natural Environment, Landscape Character and Green Infrastructure –
Significant
T 1 – Sustainable transport choices - Significant
DM 1 – Habitat protection and improving biodiversity - Significant
DM 2 – Epping Forest SAC and the Lee Valley SPA - Significant

Page 519

DM 3 – Landscape character, Ancient Landscapes and Geodiversity - Significant
DM 5 – Green and Blue Infrastructure - Significant
DM 7 – Heritage Assets - Significant
DM 9 – High quality design – Significant
DM 11 - Waste recycling facilities on new development – Significant
DM 15 – Managing and reducing flood risk – Significant
DM 16 – Sustainable Drainage Systems - Significant
DM 18 – On site management of wastewater and water supply - Significant
DM 20 – Low carbon and renewable energy - Significant
DM 21 – Local environmental impacts, pollution and land contamination - Significant
DM 22 – Air Quality – Significant
P 1 – Epping– Significant
D 1 – Delivery of Infrastructure – Significant
D 2 – Essential Facilities and Services – Significant
D 3 – Utilities – Significant
D 4 – Community Leisure and Cultural Facilities – Significant
12.

EPPING TOWN NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

12.1

A draft version of the Epping Town Neighbourhood Plan (ETNP) was published for
consultation in May 2018. The ETNP has not yet been finalised, put to a local
referendum or therefore adopted as part of the development plan. Whilst the draft
ETNP can only be afforded limited weight, the relevant policies are summarised below.
Policy 3 – identifies the site as a site for development
Policy 7 – states the capacity and balance of existing public car parking should be
maintained
Policy 11 - considered in the context of the need to maintain and enhance the health
and vitality of shopping and commercial/employment areas.
Policy 13 - relates to business and employment. It states that the main area for
employment-related activities will be in premises along and adjoining the High Street

Page 520

Policy 14 - addresses the enhancement of social, sporting, play, cultural and
community facilities in Epping. This policy is discussed later in the report.
Policy 15 - states that development will only be permitted with design qualities that
match the character of the area and respect the amenity of existing residents with
regard to noise generation, overlooking and car parking.
Policy 19 - addresses sustainability
13.

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

13.1

The remainder of the report will consider the proposal against the requirements of the
development plan as follows:


Principle of development.



Impact on the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation



Housing Mix / Affordable Housing



Design
-

Layout, access and connectivity

-

Scale, form and massing

-

Landscaping

-

Appearance and materials

-

Impact on the significance of the listed building and it’s setting

-

Amenity for future residents



Density



Impacts on neighbouring amenity



-

Privacy and amenity issues

-

Sunlight, daylight and open aspect

-

Overlooking/loss of privacy issues

-

Outlook issues

-

Noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality

Transport and Highway considerations

Page 521



Sustainability



Energy and climate change



Flood Risk and SuDs



Ground Contamination



Historic Environment
-

Archaeology



Ecology



Infrastructure



Employment and skills



Equality duties and human rights



Conclusion

14.

Principle of development

14.1

Introduction

14.2

This planning application is one of five submitted by the applicant. The five sites
comprise Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane car parks, Land at St Johns Road, Epping
Sports Centre (Hemnall Street) and Land at the Civic Offices (Condor Building).
Through the process of determination of the five Epping town centre planning
applications, it has been agreed with the applicant that the five sites should be
considered collectively for the purposes of this assessment. Looking at the sites
collectively enables the full extent of proposals to be understood when considering the
appropriate mix of uses and level of affordable housing. Environmental Impact
Assessments (EIA) have been undertaken for all five sites and reported in two
Environmental Statements (ES): Environmental Statement dated 31 March 2021 which
reports the findings of EIA for the three residential sites; and Environmental Statement
dated 28 July 2021 which reports the findings of EIA for the two commercial sites.
These were submitted voluntarily by the applicant.

14.3

In the development of their proposals a Town Centre Strategy was developed by the
applicant and formed part of the pre-application public consultation. This was
submitted with the applications as an appendix to the submitted Planning Statements
(Q+A Planning Statement Appendix 1) and sets out how the five sites have been
considered together. A development optioneering process is set out with a preferred
distribution of uses proposed by the applicant. This distribution of uses is reflected in
the submitted planning applications. The applicant has proposed an alternative
arrangement of uses to that set out in the relevant site allocations identified in Policy

Page 522

P 1 of the LPSV. This was as a result of the formation of Qualis Commercial Ltd and
their appointment to take forward the development strategy for these Council owned
sites. In looking at the development opportunity wholistically the applicant was able to
develop a more deliverable site strategy which they considers provides a better overall
outcome.
14.4

For the avoidance of doubt, the Town Centre Strategy is simply a document prepared
by the applicant in support of the applications; it is not adopted Council policy or
guidance.

14.5

The proposed development as submitted with each of the five planning applications is
set out below:

Site

Description of Development

Summary of
Proposed
Development

Bakers Lane Full application for the redevelopment of
Car Park
existing surface level car park to provide a
leisure centre to include swimming pool,
EPF/2924/20
gymnasium, sports hall, squash courts
and studio (mixed Class E (d) and F.2 (d))
together with disabled parking provision,
new vehicular and pedestrian access, all
hard and soft landscaping, and associated
works.

5,575 sq m GIA
(6,087 sq m GEA)

Cottis
Lane Full application for the redevelopment of
Car Park
existing surface level car park comprising
the demolition of public toilets and the
EPF/2925/20
construction of a multi-deck car park,
cinema
(sui
generis),
commercial
floorspace (mixed Class E), replacement
public toilets and cycle store, all
associated plant, together with new
vehicular and pedestrian access, all hard
and soft landscaping, and associated
works.

330 space multistorey car park

6-lane
swimming
pool, fitness suite,
studios, sports hall
and squash courts.
6 blue badge parking
spaces

1,166 sq m GIA
(1,201 GEA) Class E
commercial
floorspace
846 sq m (GIA) (871
sq m GEA) Cinema
(Sui Generis)
Total: 11,126 sq m
GIA (11,460 sq m
GEA)

Page 523

Land at St Redevelopment of the former school
Johns Road
buildings and depot. Demolition of five
buildings and the retention of three locally
EPF/0917/21
listed buildings. Development to comprise
erection of new apartment buildings and
the conversion, extension and change of
use of the existing locally listed
Centrepoint building and Cookery School
to provide a mix of residential units (Use
Class C3) and ancillary communal amenity
areas. Extension and refurbishment of two
existing locally listed semi-detached
caretaker cottages. Revised vehicular and
pedestrian access from St Johns Road
and new pedestrian access from High
Street, all associated car and cycle
parking, servicing, hard and soft
landscaping and associated works.

113 – 1 bed flats

Epping Sports
Centre
(Hemnall
Street)

13 – 1 bed flats

EPF/0918/21

Redevelopment of existing Sports Centre
and car park. Demolition of existing Sports
Centre. Development to comprise a new
apartment building and houses to provide
a mix of residential units (Use Class C3),
new vehicular and pedestrian access from
Nicholl Road and new pedestrian access
from Hemnall Street, all associated car
and cycle parking, servicing, hard and soft
landscaping and associated works.

Land and part
of
Civic
Offices
(Condor
Building)

The redevelopment of the existing office
building and car park. Demolition of the
existing office building and alterations to
connection to existing Listed Civic Centre.
Development to comprise new apartment
buildings and houses to provide a mix of
EPF/0919/21
residential units (Use Class C3), revised
+EPF/1042/21 vehicular and pedestrian access from High
Street, all associated car and cycle
parking, servicing, hard and soft
landscaping and associated works.

62 – 2 bed flats
7 – 3 bed flats
2 – Existing 2-bed
house’s refurbished
Total: 184 (182 new)
dwellings

12 – 2 bed flats
4 – 3 bed flats
11 – 3 bed houses
Total: 40 dwellings

7 – 1 bed flats
17 – 2 bed flats
5 – 3 bed flats
1 – 2 bed house
13 – 3 bed houses
2 – 4 bed houses
Total: 45 dwellings

Page 524

14.6

NPPF

14.7

As demonstrated at recent appeals the Councils current five-year land supply of
deliverable housing sites has been shown to currently be 2.43 years (although on
adoption of the LPSV the Council will be able to demonstrate a five year supply) and
the tilted balance identified in Para 11(d) of the NPPF is engaged. which provides that
permission should be granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the
policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

14.8

Adopted Local Plan (1998, altered 2006)

14.9

As previously identified, section 38(6) of the 2004 Act require that applications for
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

14.10 The polices from the adopted Local Plan form part of the existing Development Plan.
However, it is acknowledged that the adopted Local Plan is not for the current Plan
Period and a number of the policies therein are inconsistent with the NPPF.
14.11 By comparison, the LPSV contains up-to-date policies which have been informed by
robust and up-to-date evidence. On this basis and having due regard for the provisions
of paragraph 48 of the NPPF, it is concluded that the policies contained within the
LPSV should be afforded greater weight in the overall balance. Further examination of
the weight to be afforded to the draft allocation in the LPSV is assessed in the following
section.
14.12 The emerging Local Plan Policies
As previously set out, the LPSV is now at a very advanced stage in its production. The
examination hearing sessions, as part of the Independent Examination (IE), have been
concluded and the Local Plan Inspector published her advice following the hearing
sessions in August 2019.
14.13 The Inspector's advice dated 2nd August 2019 sets out the areas where Main
Modifications (MMs) to the LPSV will be required in order for it to be considered
“sound”. Of the five site allocations, the Inspector in her advice identified actions only
in relation to St Johns Road and the Civic Office. Paragraph 46 of the Inspector’s
advice confirmed “a modification is required to the “Design” entry in Appendix 6 for
EPP.R4 (Land at St Johns Road) to make it explicit that the site is expected to
accommodate a replacement for the sports/leisure facility to be lost through the
allocation of EPP.R5”. Her advice goes on to advise that modification proposed in
paragraph 5 of document ED85 would be sufficient to ensure the protection of the listed
building forming part of allocation EPP.R8 (Land and part of Civic Offices) (Action 20).
The Inspector confirmed in her response dated 25th November 2019 that she does not
have any concerns about areas or allocations in the LPSV which are not mentioned in
her advice from August 2021.

Page 525

14.14 The comments made regarding Land at St John’s Road and Land and part of Civic
Offices were points of clarification save for the request to amend the St John’s Road
“Design” entry to specify Leisure Centre given that a Leisure Centre was to be lost as
a result of site allocation EPP.R5 Epping Sports Centre. The MMs published by EFDC
on the 15th July 2021 addressed this comment and reference is now incorporated into
the draft Local Plan.
14.15 Within this context and having due regard to Paragraph 48 of the NPPF, it is
considered that there are no unresolved objections in respect of the proposed site
allocations at Bakers Lane car park (EPP.R7), Cottis Lane car park (EPP.R6), Epping
Sports Centre (Hemnall Street) (EPP.R5). With regards to the Land at St John’s
(EPP.R4) and Land at and part of Civic Offices (EPP.R5) there are no unresolved
objections to the principle of development on these sites.
14.16 As that the Local Plan Inspector has not raised ‘in-principle’ objections to the proposed
site allocations for the five planning applications; the emerging Local Plan is consistent
with the requirements of the NPPF; and the public consultation on the Main
Modifications to the Local plan recently ended on 23rd September 2021, it is concluded
that the emerging Local Plan is at an advanced stage and must be given significant
weight in the determination of planning applications.
14.17 The policy site allocations are set out in the table below alongside the development
proposed by the current planning applications.

LPSV Site
Allocation

Proposed Site Allocation

Summary of Proposed
Development

EPP.R7

Residential with an approximate net 5,575 sq m GIA (6,087 sq m
capacity of 47 dwellings or 78 GEA) mixed Class E (d) and
Bakers
dwellings in total between site F.2 (d)).
Lane
Car allocations EPP.R7 and EPP.R6.
Park
6-lane swimming pool, fitness
Site allocations EPP.R6 and suite, studios, sports hall and
EPP.R7
should
together squash courts.
incorporate the re-provision of the
existing number of car parking 6 blue badge parking spaces.
spaces [336] for town centre visitors
to ensure that there is no net loss of
parking spaces

EPP.R6

Residential with an approximate net 330 space multi-storey car park
capacity of 31 dwellings or 78

Page 526

Cottis Lane dwellings in total between site 1,166 sq m GIA (1,201 GEA)
Car Park
allocations EPP.R7 and EPP.R6.
Class E commercial floorspace
Site allocations EPP.R6 and
EPP.R7
should
together
incorporate the re-provision of the
existing number of car parking
spaces [336] for town centre visitors
to ensure that there is no net loss of
parking spaces.

846 sq m (GIA) (871 sq m GEA)
Cinema (Sui Generis)
Total: 11,126 sq m GIA (11,460
sq m GEA)

Mixed use including residential 113 – 1 bed flats
(approximate net capacity of 34
Land at St dwellings) and appropriate town 62 – 2 bed flats
Johns Road centre uses.
7 – 3 bed flats
EPP.R4

Development proposals should
contain a mix of uses including a
leisure centre and residential
development. Other uses on site
could include, retail, community
facilities, hospitality, employment
and further leisure uses.

EPP.R5
Epping
Sports
Centre
(Hemnall
Street)

2 – Existing 2-bed house’s
refurbished
Total: 184 (182 new) dwellings
The current proposal does not
include the full extent of the site
allocation with the portion of the
site occupied by Epping Town
Council hall being retained by
the Town Council and not
forming
part
of
the
redevelopment proposals.

Residential with an approximate net 13 – 1 bed flats
capacity of 43 dwellings. (Proposed
Main Modifications amends this to 12 – 2 bed flats
42 dwellings)
4 – 3 bed flats
11 – 3 bed houses
Total: 40 dwellings

Page 527

EPP.R8
Residential with an approximate net 7 – 1 bed flats
(Land and capacity of 44 dwellings.
17 – 2 bed flats
part of Civic
Offices)
5 – 3 bed flats
1 – 2 bed house
13 – 3 bed houses
2 – 4 bed houses
Total: 45 dwellings
The current proposal does not
include the full extent of the site
allocation with the portion of the
site fronting High Street to be
retained in use as part of the
Civic Offices.

14.18 The proposed developments at Bakers Lane car park, Cottis Lane car park and Land
at St Johns Road are therefore not in accordance with the emerging Local Plan policies
as set out in Appendix 6 (Site Specific Requirements). Consideration is therefore given
to the principle of the proposed developments as standalone sites and when taken
together as a linked project.
Bakers Lane
Planning Policy Context
14.19 Policy SP2 of the LPSV seeks to promote town centre development and regeneration,
and Policy E2 is supportive of proposals for leisure uses within town centres where
they will maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of those centres. The site is
located within Epping Town Centre boundary within the adopted plan and LPSV.
14.20 Policy D4 addresses community, leisure and cultural facilities in the District. The
proposals would support the requirements of policy D4 by improving the quality and
capacity of existing facilities that are valued by the community and ensuring that the
new facilities are better in terms of quality, quantity and accessibility than the existing
Epping Sports Centre.
14.21 Within the ALP Policy CP6 and TC1 support proposals that enhance the vitality and
viability of Town Centres and Policy RST1 supports additional recreational and
sporting facilities.

Page 528

14.22 The location and proposals at Bakers Lane are in general accordance with planning
policy which seeks that such uses are provided and in accessible town centre
locations. The specific location at Bakers Lane is easily accessible to the town centre
and supportive of town centre footfall.
14.23 The proposal to develop the Bakers Lane site as a Leisure Centre however is a
divergence from the LPSV site allocation EPP.R7 which identifies the site for
residential development. This shortfall in residential units is also not made up via
proposed development at Cottis Lane as is permitted within the site allocation (as the
Cottis Lane planning application proposes a multi-storey car park, cinema and
commercial floorspace). The proposal therefore results in the loss of a residential site
allocation which in combination with Cottis Lane amounts to 78 dwellings.
14.24 Significant weight should be given to the strategic policy requirement for new homes
in LPSV Policy SP 2 in accordance with the Plan’s spatial strategy and the ‘Vision for
Epping’ within LPSV Policy P1. The proposal results in the loss of a combined site
allocation of 78 homes. Despite this forming a small number of homes within the total
housing need identified within the LPSV for the plan period, the loss cannot easily be
made up elsewhere given the Council’s current housing delivery shortfall.
14.25 Given the departure from the site allocation other material considerations should be
considered in the balance regarding the planning merits of a leisure centre use in this
location.
The Identified Need for a Sports Centre in Epping
14.26 The EFDC Built Facilities Strategy (March 2018) considers the need and supply of
sports facilities in the district and provides part of the evidence base to the LPSV. The
key findings of this document include:


Recommendations that long-term solutions are identified for the replacement
of Epping Sports Centre at a site that is accessible to Epping residents, with
high quality wet and dry provision.



In respect of swimming pools, as a whole District, the quantity of water space
is adequate to meet the demand of residents. However, not all of the water
space is located in the right place and therefore not all of the demand from
Epping Forest District residents can be satisfied. Demand is exported to
neighbouring authorities and this level of demand export equates to 10 lanes
of a 25m pool.



In respect of sports hall, the supply for sports hall for community use is at a
deficit when compared with demand, for both 2017 and 2033, therefore there
is a need to protect this quantity of supply.

Page 529



In respect of squash courts, it is recommended that the existing level of
provision of squash facilities are protected (2 courts in the case of Epping
Sports Centre).

14.27 The proposed development is for a modern leisure centre that will form a replacement
for the existing Epping Sports Centre. The existing Epping Sports Centre has a 4 court
sports hall, a 70 station health & fitness suite, 2 squash courts and 4 activity studios.
The existing centre has reached the end of its lifespan and the new proposed centre
will offer new and enhanced facilities. The proposal includes a 25m 6 lane swimming
pool, learner pool, 4 court sports hall, 2 squash court, a 100 station fitness suite, 3
activity studios and supporting facilities including a cafe.
14.28 The proposed site allocation for the existing Epping Sports Centre EPP.R5 requires
that ‘Closure of the existing Epping Sports Centre and the re-development of this site
should not take place until a suitable replacement sports/leisure facility is delivered
and is operational.’ (Appendix 6 Site Specific Requirements). EFDC agreed in a
Statement of Common Ground with Sports England as part of the LPSV Examination
that the policy for the existing Sports Centre’s redevelopment requires ‘an equivalent
or better (in terms of quantity and quality) replacement sports/leisure facility in a
suitable location’.
14.29 Sports England has provided representations in support of the current proposal being
satisfied that the proposed facilities are equivalent or better in terms of quantity and
quality to those that they will replace. Sports England has requested that a planning
condition is included to require the detailed specifications of the sports hall and
swimming pool to be agreed in order to ensure that the proposed facilities are fit for
purpose and meet Sports England and the sports governing body design guidance and
meet identified local need.
Assessment of the Principle of Development
14.30 The modification to the LPSV to identify Land at St John’s Road for the replacement
leisure centre was based upon the EFDC development strategy prior to the
development of the alternative proposed by the applicant. The Inspector’s concern
was simply that clarity be provided in the emerging Local Plan as to where an
alternative leisure centre could be provided that would enable the release of the
existing site for residential development and ensure the facility’s deliverability.
14.31 The proposed development will make efficient use of an accessible and sustainable
brownfield land whilst retaining and improving key public facilities. The proposed
development will enhance the range of facilities within the town centre, support activity
in the town centre by generating linked trips with other uses and will therefore
strengthen the vitality and viability of Epping town centre. The proposed leisure centre
is therefore likely to significantly improve the quality of existing community leisure
facilities within Epping and enhance the range of available facilities including through
the provision of a public swimming pool. This will be to the benefit of a significant crosssection of the local community. Although proposed to be operated as a community

Page 530

leisure centre accessible to all, for the avoidance of doubt a legal obligation will secure
public access and community use of the centre.
14.32 The benefits of the new Sports Centre are as set out above and this proposal is a
deliverable scheme that enables a phased redevelopment allowing the existing leisure
centre to remain open during the construction.
14.33 The applicant considers that the provision of the leisure centre at Bakers Lane is
preferable given that the site is better suited to a large footprint building given the less
restrictive site layout as compared to St John’s, which includes scattered trees and
heritage constraints. Bakers Lane also offers the ability to be better integrated with
the primary shopping area with clear and legible linkages rather than set at a distance.
Finally, the site allocation at St John’s was made on the basis of the Epping Town
Council offices being incorporated into a development proposal. The current
application site at St John’s does not include this land further constraining the ability to
accommodate large format buildings.
14.34 The proposed leisure centre at Bakers Lane also enables the release of the Epping
Sports Centre site for residential development as the proposed by draft allocation
EPP.R5 of Policy P1 of the LPSV.
14.35 These material considerations on their own do not balance against the overriding need
to provide housing delivery. The loss of housing is to be given significant weight that
if not mitigated would result in the proposal being an unacceptable departure from the
LPSV. A mitigation however has been secured via the proposed development of the
Land at St John’s Road site for 184 new dwellings. This site is proposed to act as a
‘donor site’ site and will meet and exceed the shortfall by providing at least 112
dwellings (78 dwelling shortfall plus the 34 dwelling allocation on St John’s itself). The
Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out in this report include the placement of a
restriction on the implementation of the Bakers Lane development until such time as
substantial implementation on the Land at St John’s Road site for a residential
development of at least 112 dwellings.
14.36 The Bakers Lane Car Park currently provides 133 existing public car parking spaces.
The lost public car parking is to be replaced within the proposed Cottis Lane multistorey car park which has a provision of 330 spaces. Six blue badge spaces shall also
be provided as part of the proposal for Bakers Lane. A total of 336 spaces would
therefore be provided and the site allocation development requirements that there
should be no net loss of parking spaces between the Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane
sites when considered together will be met.
14.37 To ensure that the replacement parking is secured prior to the closure of the existing
Bakers Lane Car Park the Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out for this site
includes an obligation requiring the completion of the Cottis Lane multi-storey car park
prior to closure of Bakers Lane Car Park and the proposed redevelopment. The Legal
Agreement shall also secure that the new leisure centre at Bakers Lane is not occupied
until the use of the existing Epping Sports Centre has ceased.

Page 531

14.38 The existing Epping Sports Centre site provides 41 spaces for staff and visitors and
these will not be directly replaced with instead the proposed Cottis Lane multi-storey
available for users as a general public access car park. The site is identified as being
within Epping Town Centre which is considered a sustainable location with good public
transport accessibility and specific dedicated parking provision would not be expected.
14.39 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of the Bakers and Cottis Lane car parking spaces are all achieved
having regard to the proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road
sites and the proposal for Bakers Lane can therefore be considered compliant in terms
of the principle of use for the reasons explained above.
Cottis Lane
Planning Policy Context
14.40 Policy SP2 of the LPSV seeks to promote town centre development and regeneration,
and Policy E2 is supportive of proposals for retail, leisure, entertainment and office use
within town centres where they will maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of
those centres. The site is located within Epping Town Centre boundary within the
adopted plan and LPSV.
14.41 Within the ALP Policy CP1, CP6, E10, TC1 and ST1 support proposals that enhance
the vitality and viability of Town Centres as the key focus for commercial development.
14.42 The Cottis Lane Car Park currently provides 203 existing public car parking spaces
and the proposed development is for a multi storey car park (MSCP) of 330 spaces, 8
motorcycle spaces and 38 cycle spaces. These spaces combined with the 6 to be
provided at Bakers Lane provide a total of 336 spaces. This would therefore be in
accordance with the LPSV site allocation EPP.R6 development requirements that
there should be no net loss of parking spaces between the Bakers Lane and Cottis
Lane sites when considered together.
14.43 The proposal to develop the Cottis Lane site for commercial development however is
a divergence from the LPSV site allocation EPP.R6 which identifies the site for
residential. This shortfall is also not made up via proposed development at Bakers
Lane as set out in the proposed site allocation. The proposal would therefore result in
a shortfall in the delivery of housing in the District which, in combination with Bakers
Lane, amounts to 78 dwellings.
14.44 Significant weight should be given to strategic policy requirement for new homes in
LPSV Policy SP 2 in accordance with the Plan’s spatial strategy and the ‘Vision for
Epping’ within LPSV Policy P 1. The proposal results in a combined shortfall in housing
delivery of 78 homes as proposed by the policies in the LPSV. Despite this forming a
small number of homes within the total housing need identified within the LPSV for the

Page 532

plan period, the loss cannot easily be made up elsewhere given the Council’s current
housing delivery shortfall.
14.45 Given the departure from the site allocation other material considerations should be
considered in the balance regarding the planning merits of commercial town centre
use in this location.
Assessment of the Principle of Development
14.46 The site is located within Epping Town Centre boundary but outside of the defined
primary shopping area set out within the LPSV. For the purposes of retail development,
(now a component of Class E), the primary shopping area is considered the ‘Centre’.
The site is within 300m of its boundary and for the purposes of the retail sequential test
it would be considered an ‘edge of centre’ site. LPSV Policy E 2 (H) requires sequential
testing under guidance contained within the NPPF. Sequentially the site is the best
available site for such uses within Epping Town Centre, being in close proximity to the
core of the primary retail area with direct connections to form a natural extension to its
activity. The proposals will strengthen the commercial and leisure officer in the town
centre. The proposed cinema will provide a use not currently available within the town
centre and supported linked trips. As the Class E floorspace is below the 2,500 sq m
threshold set by Para 90 of the NPPF (in the absence of a local threshold), retail impact
assessment need not formally be considered.
14.47 There is potential for new retail provision to impact on the vitality and viability of the
Town Centre however, the proposal consists of a limited number of Class E units
allowing a range of uses and activities and offers the opportunity to support and
reinforce rather than undermine the existing retail core within the primary shopping
area.
14.48 In addition, a 846 sq m (GIA) (871 sq m GEA) Cinema (Sui Generis Use) is proposed.
The proposed cinema space has the potential to accommodate a three-screen
boutique operator with supporting café bar. This is a suitable use within a Town Centre
location.
14.49 The applicant has indicated that this element of the scheme may be delivered at a later
stage dependant on market demand. A ‘meanwhile’ strategy has been detailed to
utilise this part of the site for interim landscaping and events space. Any interim use
of the area which in itself constitutes development would need to be subject to a
separate planning application at a future date. A planning condition has been
proposed setting a long stop commencement date for the cinema of 5 years from
commencement of the development or that by this time an alternative proposed
landscape or development scheme for the area is submitted and if approved
implemented.
14.50 Given that the proposal is to bring forward for town centre commercial uses previously
identified as being accommodated on the Land at St John’s Road site it will be
necessarily to seek that the Land at St John’s Road is not subsequently developed for

Page 533

further commercial development given this could result in excess provision which could
undermine the vitality and viability of the town centre. A planning obligation will control
this.
14.51 The site is closer to the core of the town centre with access to the High Street a short
distance via the pedestrianised lane adjacent to the M&S store. The St John’s Road
site is approximately 400m to the same point and is separated by residential properties,
St John’s Road and any facilities would have to be access within the centre of the site.
Cottis Lane is less likely to pose a competing town centre destination. The level or
nature of commercial floorspace envisaged within the St John’s Road site has not
previously been quantified so a direct comparison can’t be made. The current proposal
however has responded to likely market demand and provides flexible space that can
be used for a variety of purposes.
14.52 It offers better design arrangements to have commercial flanking MSCP as opposed
to a mixed car park residential design. The commercial use also enables the
development to be public facing with communal public realm as opposed to a
residential development that would contain private amenity space and limited options
for pedestrian connectivity.
14.53 These material considerations on their own do not balance against the overriding need
to meet housing delivery objectives. The loss of housing is to be given significant
weight that if not mitigated would result in the proposal being an unacceptable
departure from the LPSV. A mitigation however has been secured via the proposed
development of the Land at St John’s Road site for 182 new dwellings. This site is
proposed to act as a ‘donor site’ site and will meet and exceed the shortfall by providing
at least 112 dwellings (78 dwelling shortfall plus the 34 dwelling allocation on St John’s
itself). The Legal Agreement Heads of Terms set out in this report include the
placement of a restriction on the implementation of the Bakers Lane development until
such time as substantial implementation on the Land at St John’s Road site for a
residential development of at least 112 dwellings. The restriction is placed on Bakers
Lane rather than Cottis Lane to ensure that the early delivery of the proposed MSCP
which unlocks the sequence of development is not stymied.
14.54 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of car parking spaces are all achieved having regard to the
proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road sites and the proposal
for Cottis Lane can therefore be considered compliant in terms of the principle of use
for the reasons explained above.
Land at St John’s Road
14.55 The St John’s Road site currently comprises former school buildings (Use Class F1(a))
and a Council depot (Use Class B8). The site also includes two semi-detached
cottages that will be retained and refurbished. The site was vacated in 2010 following
the amalgamation of two schools and declared surplus to service requirements and

Page 534

with Essex County Council obtaining the necessary approvals from the DfE for a site
disposal to take place.
14.56 The former school buildings have been vacant for a substantial period and the EFDC
depot is surplus to operational requirements. The site has been allocated within LPSV
for redevelopment supporting a change of these existing uses in principle.
14.57 Site allocation EPP.R4 identifies the site for mixed use including residential
(approximate net capacity of 34 dwellings) and appropriate town centre uses, including
a leisure centre. None of the town centre or other non-residential uses are proposed
to be provided as part of the development, with Cottis Lane instead accommodating
commercial town centre uses and Bakers Lane accommodating a replacement leisure
centre.
14.58 The proposed development is wholly residential comprising 182 new residential units
and inclusive of an ancillary residential amenity space within the former Cookery
Building. ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would support residential
development in this location. This is not a full departure from the LPSV given that
residential forms part of the site's allocation. The site allocation as described in the
MMs does not set out specific uses or the quantum of floorspace anticipated other than
it should include a leisure centre. The current application does not include the full
extent of the site allocation given that Epping Town Council are retaining their
hall/offices. This significantly reduces the developable site area and reduces the
options to accommodate sufficient large format leisure development. For the reasons
set out within the Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane sections above, the proposed
alternative arrangement of town centre development is found acceptable. The intent
of providing capacity for town centre commercial uses on the St John’s Road site is
therefore met by the provision made elsewhere.
14.59 The LPSV proposals map also includes a secondary retail frontage along St John’s
Road in anticipation of future commercial development on this site. LPSV Policy E 2
states that within a secondary retail frontage uses must encourage active shopfronts,
attract a high footfall and maintain viability and vitality of the town. This policy is not
strictly applicable to the site at the current time as a secondary retail frontage has not
physically been established and a departure from any commercial uses in this location
is proposed.
14.60 This is a highly sustainable town centre location suitable in principle for residential
development of this nature.
14.61 The objectives of policies EPP.R4, EPP.R6 and EPP.R7 of the LPSV to re-locate the
Epping Sports Centre, to provide new housing, to provide commercial floorspace and
to ensure no net loss of car parking spaces are all achieved having regard to the
proposals for the Bakers Lane, Cottis Lane and St John's Road sites and the proposal
for St John's Road can therefore be considered compliant in terms of the principle of
use for the reasons explained above.

Page 535

Sports Centre, Hemnall Street
14.62 The existing use of the site comprises Epping Sports Centre a 2,164 sq m GIA building
within Class E(d). The site allocation EPP.R5 within the LPSV identifies the site for
residential development on the basis that a replacement sports centre is provided.
14.63 The site allocation EPP.R5 specifically requires that ‘Closure of the existing Epping
Sports Centre and the re-development of this site should not take place until a suitable
replacement sports/leisure facility is delivered and is operational.’
14.64 The principle of the loss of the existing leisure centre is acceptable only given that a
replacement is secured and that this is provided prior to the redevelopment of the
current centre to ensure that the public have uninterrupted access to sports/leisure
facilities in the local area.
14.65 ALP Policy CF12 concerns the retention of community facilities and supports
appropriate relocation. As described in detail in the Bakers Lane section above the
replacement centre provides enhanced facilities within an accessible town centre
location and as such the relocation of the centre is acceptable in principle.
14.66 As noted above, the applicant proposes to deliver the replacement leisure facility at
the Baker's Lane Site. The Legal Agreement Heads of Terms for this site shall secure
that the planning permission for redevelopment of the Sports Centre at Hemnall Street
shall not commence until the new leisure centre at Baker's Lane is operational.
14.67 The application as amended proposes 40 units as compared to the approximate 42
identified within the LPSV allocation. This target figure is approximate only and is
dependant on the size mix proposed and detailed design. The number of units
although an under provision is felt appropriate in principle and is driven by a suitable
detailed design approach.
14.68 The proposed development of the Hemnall Street site is fully residential in keeping with
the LPSV site allocation. ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would support
residential development in this location.
14.69 Given that this development cannot procced until the replacement leisure centre is
provided on Bakers Lane, a five year implementation condition is proposed rather than
the standard three year period. This will enable sufficient time for the completion and
opening of the Bakers Lane leisure centre prior to commencement. The Bakers Lane
site is itself reliant on the completion of the Cottis Lane MSCP to enable its current car
park use to be closed and development to commence.
Land and Part of Civic Offices
14.70 The existing site comprises the Condor Building of the Civic Offices, 2,561 sq m GIA
Existing office Class E (g) (i) and the Civic Offices staff car park. Both are surplus to

Page 536

EFDC requirements and have been identified as a site allocation EPP.R8 for
redevelopment within the LPSV.
14.71 ALP Policy E4A concerns protection of employment sites but notes that housing on
redundant employment land will be regarded favourably. The site has been identified
as surplus to requirements by EFDC and was subject to the LPSV site selection
process where it was allocated for future residential use.
14.72 The proposed development is residential in keeping with the site allocation EPP.R8.
14.73 Alongside the LPSV site allocation, ALP Policies CP1, CP6 and CP8 equally would
support residential development in this location.
14.74 The staff car park closing has been aligned with the Council’s office reconfiguration
that has recently been completed within the retained Civic Offices and the introduction
of remote and flexible working strategies. Staff accessing the Council offices are being
supported to transition to more sustainable modes of travel with the Council preparing
a travel plan and establishing car sharing systems for example.
14.75 The draft site allocation seeks that a development brief is developed for the site,
however the LPA has accepted that given greater certainty is now available regarding
the strategy of EFDC in the downsizing of its estate and that the building is now vacant
that a full planning application is suitable at this time without a development brief. This
application was also supported by a Town Centre Strategy developed by the applicant
across the five sites and which was subject to public and Quality Review Panel
consultation. Extensive pre-application engagement also enabled the strategy for the
site to be suitably tested and examined. The planning application contained all the
information that would otherwise have been included with a development brief.
14.76 The civic offices 26 space public car park is not affected by the proposals.
14.77 The ‘Design’ section of the EPP.R8 allocation text also states that a development brief
should consider opportunities to introduce town centre/ retail frontage at ground floor
fronting the High Street. The current application does not include the element of the
site allocation fronting the High Street which is to be retained as part of the Civic Offices
and it is therefore not relevant to consider as part of the current application.
Principle of Development Conclusion
14.78 The identified divergence from the LPSV site allocations has been mitigated via legal
obligations which tie the sites together and ensure that collectively the five site deliver
the objectives of the LPSV and that housing delivery is suitably secured.
14.79 The reconfiguration of the sites enables an overall housing delivery number of 267
dwellings as compared to 199 identified in the LPSV. This is not to the detriment of
the other uses, with the developments securing in particular the required level of town
centre car parking and a high quality leisure centre. Equally the town centre

Page 537

commercial uses to be provided on Cottis Lane are well conceived and reinforce and
enhance the existing town centre offer.
14.80 The developments are to be phased to enable the sequential delivery of the required
facilities to enable wider development. The first phase will see the MSCP constructed
on Cottis Lane and then the commencement of residential development on St John's
Road, thus releasing Bakers Lane for redevelopment. The new Epping Leisure Centre
can then be constructed on Bakers Lane releasing the existing Sports Centre site for
residential development.
14.81 On the basis of this assessment, whilst some of the developments do not conform with
their specific site allocations, it is considered that the proposed developments when
considered in the round are compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan
and achieve the objectives of the relevant LPSV site allocations when taken as a
whole.
15.

Impact on the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation

15.1

Background

15.2

Epping Forest is designated as a Special Area of Conservation (SAC), which limits
what can be done within the forest, as well as having impacts upon all proposed
development in its vicinity. The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017, as amended by the 2019 EU Exit Regulations (the Habitats Regulations)
transpose the EU Habitats Directive into UK law and require a decision-maker to
consider the effects of proposed projects on European protected sites through
undertaking a habitats regulations assessment (HRA).
Under the Habitats
Regulations, the Epping Forest SAC (EFSAC) is a European site. If the result of an
initial screening assessment is that a project is likely to have significant effects on a
European site, a full assessment of those effects must be carried out. Regulation 63
of the Habitats Regulations requires the competent authority to conduct an 'appropriate
assessment' ("AA") if concluding that the project is 'likely to have a significant effect'
on a European site, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects. Where
an appropriate assessment is conducted, then Regulation 63(5) applies, such that "the
competent authority may agree to the plan or project only after having ascertained that
it will not adversely affect the integrity of the European site".

15.3

Accordingly, the Council has a legal duty as the ‘competent authority’ under the
Habitats Regulations to protect the EFSAC from the effects of development (both
individually and in combination) and in doing so, must have regard to the
representations of Natural England (NE).

15.4

The LPSV is supported by a Habitats Regulation Assessment dated June 2021 (“the
HRA 2021”) (EB211A). Two specific ‘pathways of impact’ relating to new development
within the District have been identified as being likely to have a significant effect on the
integrity of the EFSAC. Firstly, as a result of increased levels of visitors using the
EFSAC for recreation arising from new development (referred to as "recreational

Page 538

pressure"). Secondly, damage to the health of the protected habitats and species of
flora within the EFSAC from atmospheric pollution generated by motor vehicles
(referred to as "air quality") caused primarily by motor vehicles using roads within 200m
of the EFSAC.
15.5

Policies DM 2 and DM 22 of the LPSV and Policy NC1 of the Adopted Local Plan
(1998) and adopted Alterations (2006) (of which some of the policies remain in place)
provide the policy context for dealing with the effect of development on the integrity of
the EFSAC outlined above. The Main Modifications July 2021 version of DM 2 sets out
that the Council requires all new development to ensure no harm is caused to the
integrity of the EFSAC and identifies its strategic solutions to ensure no such harm.
These are as follows:
(i)

An Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy (APMS)

(ii)

An Approach to managing recreational pressure on the EFSAC (SAMM
Strategy) and;

(iii)

A Green Infrastructure Strategy (GI)

15.6

The Interim Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy (APMS) dated December 2020,
(ED126/EB212) was adopted by the Full Council on 8 February 2021 following
agreement with Natural England. The APMS identifies a number of mitigation
measures, some of which are required to be delivered as part of individual planning
applications alongside strategic initiatives and monitoring requirements, and whose
implementation will require a financial contribution to be secured by individual
developments. The APMS therefore provides the mechanism by which the Council
can arrive at a conclusion of no adverse effect on the EFSAC as a result of planned
development. The APMS sets out that all development which would give rise to a net
increase in average annual daily traffic (AADT) will be required to be mitigated in
accordance with the measures set out within the APMS. The SAMM strategy requires
new development within the EFSAC zone of influence to make a financial contribution
towards the implementation of the SAMM strategy and finally the GI strategy sets out
practical interventions which are necessary to ensure recreational pressure is suitably
mitigated, these include the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace
(SANGs) on strategic sites as well as improvements to the accessibility and quality of
existing Green and Blue infrastructure assets.

15.7

Policy DM 22 sets out that applications for planning permission will be required to
identify and deliver necessary mitigation measures, including monitoring mechanisms
for the EFSAC before consent is given. This will include, where appropriate, measures
identified in the most up to date APMS.

15.8

Policy DM 22 also sets out that, where an application for planning permission has been
made on a site not proposed for allocation in the Local Plan, or where the potential
change in traffic movements have not been accounted for in the strategic modelling
undertaken by the Council, an air quality assessment will need to be submitted which

Page 539

identifies the potential impact of the development in combination with existing baseline
pollution and other plans and projects. This assessment must identify necessary
mitigation measures that will address any unexpected deterioration in air quality as a
result of the development together with any necessary financial contributions and
monitoring.
15.9

The HRA 2021 undertook an Appropriate Assessment of the planned development
proposed within the emerging Local Plan, to consider its effect on the EFSAC. The
HRA 2021 concluded that, subject to securing urbanisation/recreational pressure and
air quality mitigation measures as noted in the strategies in policy DM 2 of the Local
Plan, the adoption of the Local Plan will have no adverse effect on the EFSAC.

15.10 This report will now consider these issues in turn in the context of the specific
development proposals in these applications.
Recreational Pressure
15.11 With regards to recreational pressure, any potential adverse effect on the integrity of
the EFSAC only arises from residential development. Consequently the development
proposals on Bakers Lane and Cottis Lane can be screened out as having no adverse
impact.
15.12 For the remaining development proposals on Land at St John’s Road, Epping Sports
Centre and Land and part of Civic Offices which propose residential development,
each proposal will be required to pay a financial contribution of £352 per dwelling as
noted in the SAMM strategy.
15.13 This would amount to £64,064 for St John’s Road (182 new homes), £14,080 for
Epping Sports Centre (40 new homes) and £15,840 for Land and part of Civic Offices
(45 new homes). These financial contributions will be secured through a Legal
Agreement and subject to being secured, it can be concluded beyond a reasonable
scientific doubt that there will be no harm to the integrity of the EFSAC as a result of
recreational pressure.
Atmospheric pollution
15.14 As noted above, the HRA 2021 advises that without appropriate mitigation measures,
new development proposed in the District would cause harm to the integrity of the
EFSAC as a result of atmospheric pollution. Evidence has shown that a key contributor
to atmospheric pollution arises from vehicles using roads in close proximity to the
EFSAC. Figure 1 below is an extract taken from the HRA 2021 (page 180) and
illustrates these key roads and junctions:

Page 540

Figure 1
15.15 Paragraphs 1.1 of the APMS and paragraphs 4.18 and 4.20 of the emerging Local
Plan also identifies that the EFSAC is currently in an unfavourable condition in
ecological terms. The baseline worst case ammonia concentration at the roadside is
3.5 micrograms per cubic metre whereas the critical level for protecting sites with the
special interest features of the EFSAC is 1 microgram per cubic metre. Any further
traffic through the EFSAC as a result of new development will contribute cumulatively
to worsening this situation without appropriate mitigation.
15.16 In response to this issue, in collaboration with NE, the Council has endorsed the APMS
as the strategic solution to the identified issue and as noted above the HRA 2021
concludes that the development of the Local Plan will not cause harm to the integrity
of the EFSAC if the mitigation measures are delivered.
15.17 Section 5.3 of the APMS sets out what needs to be achieved in order for the competent
authority to conclude there will be no adverse impact on the EFSAC as a result of Local
Plan growth, that:


A minimum 10% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2025, in other words,
4-5% of the Epping Forest SAC vehicle fleet to be ULEVs by this year;



The introduction of a Clean Air Zone from 2025;



A minimum 20% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2029; (8-10% of the
Epping Forest vehicle fleet to be ULEVs by this year); and

Page 541



A minimum 30% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2033 (12-15% of the
Epping Forest SAC vehicle fleet being ULEVs by this year)

15.18 To achieve the minimum 30% conversion of petrol cars to ULEVs by 2033, paragraph
5.5 of the APMS identifies a number of measures which will need to be delivered by
new development in the District:


a) ensuring that the necessary infrastructure for ULEVs is widely and easily
available across the District;



b) incentivising the replacement of petrol cars with ULEVs, targeted at people
who live in areas from which the most frequent trips on roads in close proximity
to the Epping Forest SAC arise; and



c) Undertaking awareness-raising of both the issue of air pollution and the
things that residents and businesses can do to contribute to improving air
quality.

15.19 The measures noted above and the others identified in the APMS, were informed by a
traffic model which the Council undertook to accompany the emerging Local Plan. The
modelling took into account the levels of AADT that would arise from the entirety of the
development proposed across the District. Given the status of the EFSAC as noted
above, AADT is the appropriate method for understanding the potential impacts of
atmospheric pollution on the EFSAC.
15.20 In the context of these applications, all five sites are proposed for allocation in the
emerging Local Plan and as such, all of the sites have been considered through the
traffic and air quality modelling undertaken for the HRA 2021. Since these sites are all
being considered together in the round and would be linked through a Legal
Agreements, it is appropriate to consider them together for the purposes of the
potential impact on the EFSAC.
15.21 The HRA 2021 Traffic model undertaken for each of these sites is based on the
proposed allocation as follows:


EPP.R4 Land at St John’s Road – approximately 34 homes and appropriate
mixed uses



EPP.R5 Epping Sports Centre – approximately 42 homes



EPP.R6 Cottis Lane Car park – approximately 47 homes



EPP.R7 Bakers Lane Car Park – approximately 31 homes



EPP.R8 Land and part of Civic Offices – approximately 44 homes

Page 542

15.22 Across the entirety of these allocations therefore, the HRA 2021 traffic model assumed
a total of 198 dwellings would be delivered. The planning applications currently being
considered vary to differing degrees from the LPSV site allocations noted above, as
follows.


EPP R4 – Land at St John’s Road – Erection of 182 new dwellings



EPP.R5 – Epping Sports Centre – Erection of 40 new dwellings



EPP.R6 Cottis Lane Car Park – Erection of new multi storey car park, new
cinema, commercial floor space and replacement public toilets



EPP.R7 Bakers Lane Car Park – Erection of new leisure centre, including
swimming pool, gymnasium, sports hall, squash courts and new studio
together with disabled parking provision.



EPP.R8 Land and part of Civic Offices – Erection of 45 new dwellings

15.23 The applications now total 267 new homes across all of the sites as well as the erection
of the multi storey car park, cinema, commercial floor space, swimming pool,
gymnasium, sports hall, squash courts and studio, all of which are high traffic
generators. The traffic model which informed the HRA 2021 did not assume either the
number of proposed dwellings across the sites, nor the proposed distribution of any of
the non-residential uses proposed. The leisure centre however is a reprovision of an
existing centre albeit with an expanded offer and the multi storey car park provides a
replacement for existing parking spaces. A legal obligation will control the opening and
closing of the leisure centres to ensure only one is open at one time.
15.24 Notwithstanding, there is a difference between the traffic generation assumed through
the LPSV allocations and the development proposals advanced through these
applications, in an unmitigated scenario. This is significant since the APMS was
endorsed on the basis that it would address the increase in traffic due to the allocated
sites in the LPSV and a relatively small allowance of windfall sites.
15.25 As noted in paragraph above, Policy DM 22 states that any development proposals
which propose a change in traffic movements to what has been modelled in the LPSV
need to be justified through the submission of an air quality assessment taking into the
account other plans and projects and if necessary including further and bespoke
mitigation measures. The measures put forward will be required to be precise,
enforceable (both legally and in practice), quantifiable and effective beyond reasonable
scientific doubt.
15.26 The first stage of the assessment is to consider the levels of AADT that the proposed
development schemes would create on the key routes and junctions as noted in figure
1 above, compared to what was modelled for in the Local Plan traffic work. To ensure
consistency, this traffic information must then be run though the Local Plan air quality
model to get a comparison of modelled vehicle trips through the EFSAC.

Page 543

15.27 Policy T 1 of the LPSV requires that any development which proposes vehicle parking
spaces must ensure that those spaces have direct access to an electric charging point.
The provision of electric charging points are also noted in the APMS as a required
mitigation measure. (Appendix 3, page 35)
15.28 As part of the development proposals, the applicant has made a commitment to the
delivery of electric charging points. Table 1 below sets out this commitment:

Table 1
15.29 Other than Cottis Lane, each of the sites propose 100% active provision. The delivery
of such a substantial amount of active provision of electric charging infrastructure is an
important step to support the change in the traffic fleet from petrol and diesel cars to
electric. Whilst Cottis Lane does not propose 100% of active provision from the outset,
the 15% which will be provided will be for EV only parking spaces, preventing their use
by non-electric vehicles. In addition a Travel Plan for the Leisure Centre will seek to
raise awareness of the electric charging facilities available. This shall be secured by
way of a Legal Agreement.
15.30 In addition to the provision of necessary electric charging infrastructure, the applicant
has also committed to the delivery of an advertising campaign as well as financial
contributions of £335 per dwelling towards the EFSCA Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy
as required by the APMS. This would amount to £60,970 for St John’s Road (182 new
homes), £13,400 for Epping Sports Centre (40 new homes) and £15,075 for Land and
part of Civic Offices (45 new homes). Such contributions shall be secured by way of
Legal Agreements.
15.31 Taken together, these mitigation measures have been factored into the traffic
modelling undertaken for the individual applications and cumulatively have resulted in
a 4% reduction of cars in the level of AADT assumed as a result. The Council's
transport specialists have confirmed that based on the mitigation measures above, this
assumed reduction is precautionary and therefore represents a robust approach to
considering the new level of AADT created.
15.32 Figure 2 below illustrates the results of the modelling exercise on the key routes and
junctions through the EFSAC which are noted in figure 1 above. The results of these

Page 544

are then compared against the level of AADT assumed through the Local Plan traffic
modelling to result in a net change between the two:

Five Sites Combined + EV Provision
Local Plan Traffic and Air Quality Model

Application
(Net)

Net change

Link

A

B1393 Epping Road

63

50

-13

B

B172

0

0

0

C

A121 Golding’s Hill

10

-1

-11

D

A104 Epping New Rd

25

12

-13

E

Wake Road

0

6

6

F

A121 Woodridden Hill

28

32

4

G

Woodgreen Rd

0

0

0

H

Forest Side

0

0

0

I

A121 Honey Ln

28

32

4

J

Earl’s Path

0

0

0

K

A104 Epping New Rd (S)

25

12

-13

L

Cross Roads

0

0

0

M

High Beech

0

6

6

N

Avey Ln

0

5

5

O

A112 Sewardstone Rd (S)

0

0

0

Page 545

P

A112 Sewardstone Rd (N)

0

0

0

Figure 2
15.33 The results show that when all five sites are considered together, with the proposed
mitigation measures, there is a net increase in AADT movements on certain road links
and a reduction on others. These AADT numbers have been considered through the
Local Plan air quality model for the EFSAC as a new scenario, so that a direct
comparison can be made with the modelling undertaken for the APMS.
15.34 The results of the modelling show that the biggest difference in terms of Nitrogen Oxide
deposition is an increase at the roadside of 0.03ugm-3 at transects E1 (Wake Arms
Roundabout) and O (Honey Lane East). This magnitude of increase is matched by
similar magnitude of reductions at the roadside of other transects in the EFSAC. The
maximum change in nitrogen deposition is a nominal 0.01 kgN/hr/yr and the results
show that there will be no difference in ammonia concentrations from what was
modelled for the HRA 2021. The change in pollutant load is therefore sufficiently small
that the APMS will not be undermined by the change in the development proposed as
opposed to the original allocations.
15.35 The findings of this assessment are predicated on the complete delivery of the
proposed development in the form proposed across the five sites. An alternative
delivery strategy that left some sites in their existing use would result in a different
AADT and impact on the EFSAC that may not be acceptable. On this basis the Legal
Agreement associated with each site will ensure that implementation is controlled such
that existing traffic generating uses will cease.
Conclusion relating to the EFSAC
15.36 Subject to the suitable delivery of the required parking provision on each of the five
development sites as noted in table 1 as well as a suitable Travel Plan to raise
awareness of the electric charging facilities available and the payment of the necessary
financial contributions as noted in sections above, the Council as the competent
authority can conclude beyond a reasonable scientific doubt that the development
proposed by each of these applications will not lead to an adverse effect on the integrity
of the EFSAC.
15.37 As a result of the analysis above, the proposal is demonstrably compliant with the
requirements of policy NC1 of the Adopted Local Plan, with Policies DM 2 and DM 22
of the emerging Local Plan and with the requirements of the Habitats Regulations.
16.

Housing Mix / Affordable Housing

16.1

Housing Mix

Page 546

16.2

The LPSV Policy H 1 requires that development will be permitted where it includes a
range of house types and sizes to address local need, is appropriate to the context
and takes account of existing stock to avoid an over-concentration of a single type or
size of home to achieve a mixed and balanced community.

16.3

The tables below set out the proposed unit mix at each site and in total.

Land at St John’s Road

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

113

62

7

0

182

Existing
0
House

2

0

0

2

Total

113

64

7

0

184

62%

34%

4%

Apartment

100%

Epping Sports Centre, Hemnall Street

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

Apartment

13

12

4

0

29

House

0

0

11

0

11

Total

13

12

15

0

40

33%

30%

38%

Page 547

100%

Land and part of Civic Offices

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

Apartment

7

17

5

0

29

House

0

1

13

2

16

Total

7

18

18

2

45

16%

40%

40%

4%

100%

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

Apartment

133

91

16

0

240

House

0

1

24

2

27

Total

133

92

40

2

267

50%

34%

15%

1%

100%

Total New

16.4

The Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2015 (SHMA) represents the latest
evidence in terms of the type and size of housing needed across the District. The
applicant recognises that the proposal contrasts with the SHMA which identifies the
need as being 74% 3+ bed houses and 24% 1 and 2 beds.

16.5

A residential mix justification study was provided with the applications. Analysis has
been undertaken by the applicant looking at demographic projections, the existing
stock in the settlement and wider district, the local housing market and trends for
uptake of Build to Rent (BtR) products. The study submitted by the applicant sets out
that there is a low supply of both privately rented and 1 and 2 bed accommodation in

Page 548

Epping, when compared to similar neighbouring districts. It also sets out that due to
this lack of supply, access to housing in Epping is relatively unaffordable compared to
neighbouring districts. The relatively low proportion of flats in Epping compared with
nearby towns such as Loughton and Harlow suggest provision of more flats within
Epping town centre would meet need and not result in an overconcentration in the
town. The demographic and economic analysis undertaken also points towards a
worsening affordability issue.
16.6

The delivery of the larger units as identified within the SHMA results in particular
approaches to built typology and urban form and that in limited specific town centre
locations with close proximity to sustainable transport options require a more nuanced
approach to be taken to ensure that the delivery of homes both private and affordable
are maximised and that the objective of mixed and balanced communities are achieved
on space constrained sites. The proposed housing mix is supported in this location as
suitable sites to accommodate a high proportion of 1 and 2 bed units. This will help
diversify local housing stock while maximising housing delivery within a sustainable
location.
Build to Rent

16.7

The applicant has proposed that the development at St John’s Road will be a Build to
Rent (BtR) scheme and operated under a single management company. The applicant
would also like the flexibility to provide this product on the Hemnall Street and Civic
Office sites. Over the last few years, the BtR model has emerged within the rental
sector as a unique type of residential development with its own requirements and
specifications. The National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF) and the Practice
Planning Guidance (PPG) provide frameworks for its delivery including the affordable
housing need.

16.8

The frameworks noted above provide a useful definition for BtR and guidance on how
planning authorities should deal with them as follows:











They operate under common ownership(s) and management.
The affordable housing provided shall be affordable private rent and shall be
maintained as such in perpetuity (subject to below).
A clawback back mechanism should be included in the Legal Agreement to
recoup the value of the affordable housing provision withdrawn or converted into
other tenures in the exceptional circumstance where the developer sells all the
units or part of the scheme.
A clawback mechanism may also be included within a Legal Agreement in the
event that the private BtR units are sold off within a covenant period, usually 15
years from first occupation.
Eligibility for occupying the affordable housing units should be determined by the
scheme operator although working with the local authority on an agreed
nomination process.
Eligibility should be determined by local household income and local rent levels
Tenancies should be for a period of 3 or more years to all tenants in the
development, who are eligible to live in the country for that period (under the right

Page 549











16.9

to rent). This should apply to all tenants, whether paying market rent or affordable
private rent.
There is no obligation on customers to take up the offer of a three-year tenancy.
They may prefer a tenancy of six months, one year or two years, and companies
should offer these as an alternative, if requested.
Where the rent or service charges are to be reviewed during the period of the
tenancy, the basis for the review and for calculating the increase (whether as a
fixed percentage or index linked to inflation) should be clearly set in the tenancy
agreement.
Periodic rent and service charge reviews will also help to ensure there is an
appropriate ongoing match between the occupants of the affordable private rent
homes, and their income levels.
Tenants should not be locked into longer tenancies for the full period of the
agreement. Tenants should have the option to terminate at 1 months’ notice, after
the first 6 months, without a break fee being payable.
There may be periods during the operation of a build to rent scheme when the
offer of longer tenancies would interfere with planned refurbishment works. In
such circumstances it would be permissible to offer shorter tenancies, running up
to the date of the scheme refurbishment.

It is noted that BtR would normally be expected to operate at scale and we note for
reference London Plan guidance sets a threshold of 50 units for schemes to qualify for
the specific approach to affordable housing this enables.

16.10 This unit size mix is largely consistent across both private market homes and
affordable homes, which is in line with Policy H 2 of the LPSV which states that ‘the
Council will generally expect the mix of affordable homes to reflect the mix of the
market housing in terms of the ratios of types, sizes and overall number of habitable
rooms…’.
16.11 The NPPF states the following “for Build to Rent schemes, affordable housing for rent
is expected to be the normal form of affordable housing provision (and, in this context,
is known as Affordable Private Rent”)
16.12 The Affordable Private Rent indicated above is a type of intermediate affordable
housing known as discounted market rent typically at 20% below local open market
rent, including service charges, although it is acknowledged that the level of discount
offered can vary depending on local circumstances and justified by housing need
assessment.
16.13 Further, the PPG suggests that eligible names may potentially come from the
Authorities statutory housing list, taking into consideration the affordability of the
homes to those on the list, however, Authorities should refrain from having direct
nomination rights from their housing list. It further sets out that in the absence of an
established local intermediate housing list, developers and authorities may consider
assembling a unique dataset for the development. In so doing they should have regard
to the local authority housing allocation policies and any relevant potential candidates
from the Statutory Housing list. The list should also ideally include evidence about
peoples’ local residence or employment connections.

Page 550

16.14 The PPG also notes:
“Affordable private rent homes should be under common management control, along
with the market rent build to rent homes. They should be distributed throughout the
development and physically indistinguishable from the market rent homes in terms of
quality and size. They will not need the separate involvement of a registered landlord.
Combining the 2 tenures this way improves viability and any alternation of units
between affordable private rent and market rent over time is made easier.”
16.15 The affordable housing should therefore be suitably controlled as follows:
a) Rental value is capped at 80% open market rent including service charges or at
the local housing allowance whichever is the lowest, with periodically reviews to
ensure these homes remain affordable.
b) That the affordable housing units provided remain as affordable housing units or
% allocation is maintained in perpetuity. A clawback clause as identified in the
PPG can be triggered should properties be subject to future sale in exceptional
circumstances.
c) That a tenancy policy is provided which is in alignment with PPG and as identified
at paragraph 16.8 above
d) Approach to tenant nomination for the affordable homes
16.16 The Legal Agreement for the St John's Road site shall secure the private and
affordable housing at BtR in accordance with those measures summarised at
paragraphs 16.8 and 16.15 above. Given the restrictions that this would place on the
project if an alternative delivery approach is subsequently required, it is proposed that
the clauses within the Legal Agreement enable the property to be alternatively
delivered as for sale properties (subject to a clawback being paid if such occurs within
15 years of occupation) and the affordable housing delivered via a nominated RSL.
Affordable Housing
16.17 Policy H 2 in the LPSV requires that on development sites which provide for 11 or more
homes, or residential floor space of more than 1,000m² (combined gross internal area),
the Council will require 40% of those homes to be for affordable housing provided on
site. The type, design and mix of housing should also reflect that classified as market
housing. The affordable housing targets and tenures are however, subject to viability.
16.18 During the process of determination, the applicant has indicated that viability pressure
means that they are not able to provide a 40% policy compliant level of affordable
housing. Policy H 2 of the LPSV requires that proposals that do not accord with the
policy must provide a financial and viability appraisal (with supporting evidence), which
is transparent and complies with relevant national or local guidance applicable at the
time. Viability reports for each of the three residential sites have been provided
alongside a combined report considering all three collectively.
Vacant Building Credit

Page 551

16.19 It is noted that the buildings on the St John’s Road site are currently vacant. The
applicant is seeking the application of Vacant Building Credit (VBC) when calculating
the level of affordable housing that the scheme should provide.
16.20 Paragraph 64 of the NPPF states that to support the re-use of brownfield land, where
vacant buildings are being reused or redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution
due should be reduced by a proportionate amount. Footnote 30 explains that this credit
will be equivalent to the existing gross floorspace of the existing buildings. This does
not apply to vacant buildings which have been abandoned.
16.21 The NPPG states, in deciding whether a use has been abandoned, account should be
taken of all relevant circumstances, such as:


the condition of the property



the period of non-use



whether there is an intervening use; and



any evidence regarding the owner’s intention

16.22 The NPPG emphasises that each case is a matter for the collecting authority to judge.
In determining whether the application of VBC is warranted, the NPPG advises that it
may be appropriate for authorities to consider:


whether the building has been made vacant for the sole purposes of redevelopment



whether the building is covered by an extant or recently expired planning
permission for the same or substantially the same development

16.23 EFDC have produced a guidance note relating to VBC. This was last revised in March
2015, thereby pre-dating the latest revision to the NPPF and NPPG. This guidance
contains some additional criteria that, according to the guidance note, will be used to
assess eligibility for the VBC. These are:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

v.

The whole building needs to be unused.
The building must have been vacant for at least 30 months out of the 3 years
immediately prior to the date of receipt of the planning application.
The building must not have been made or left vacant for the sole purpose of
redevelopment.
The owner must prove that the building is no longer needed for its current use
in its current location. This includes provision of evidence of unsuccessful
marketing of the property for let or sale.
The building must not be covered by a current or recently expired planning
permission for the same or substantially the same development.

Page 552

16.24 The applicant has submitted evidence in support of the application of the VBC. The
evidence includes an EFDC Report to Cabinet dated March 2008 which states that:
‘The Governing Bodies of the Epping Infant School and the Epping Junior School
approved the amalgamation of the two schools to create a new primary school in
November 2006. This new school will be constructed on the site of the Epping Infant
School in Coronation Hill (at the end of St. John’s Road). Pending the completion of
the new school, the Epping Centre Point building in St. John’s Road is currently being
used to temporarily accommodate the Epping Infant School. Once the new primary
school is completed, the Junior and Infant schools will move into that building in
Summer 2009.’
16.25 An Essex County Council Report to Cabinet further states that:
‘The former Epping Junior School and adjacent Adult Education and Youth Centre,
known locally as Centre Point, in St. John’s Road Epping are owned by the Council
and vacant and boarded. The site was vacated in April 2010 when the new Epping
Primary School was completed. The site has been declared surplus to service
requirements and the necessary approvals have been obtained from the DfE for a
disposal to take place.’
16.26 The site was sold to EFDC by Essex County Council in 2016, so the building has now
been vacant for 11 years.
16.27 With regard to the criteria set out in the NPPG, the buildings are in a reasonable
condition and have not been abandoned. They have sat vacant for a considerable
length of time, without any intervening use. The evidence put forward by the applicant,
sourced from ECC and EFDC’s records, demonstrates that the buildings became
surplus to education requirements, as educational provision was consolidated
elsewhere within the District. The buildings were not vacated with the sole purpose of
redevelopment – instead, the buildings became surplus to operational educational
requirements.
16.28 With regard to the additional criteria contained within the 2015 EFDC guidance note,
the evidence put forward shows compliance with all of the criteria apart from the
second part of criterion (iv). This criterion requires evidence of unsuccessful marketing
of the site for it’s current use in its current location. No such marketing has taken place.
However, the site has become surplus to the operational requirements of the local
authority in terms of education provision. It is noted that the site has not been marketed
to alternative education providers.
16.29 However, the NPPF explains that the purpose of the VBC provide an incentive for
brownfield development on sites containing vacant buildings. Where a vacant building
is brought back into any lawful use, or is demolished to be replaced by a new building,
the developer should be offered a financial credit. In this case, the VBC offers an
incentive for the appropriate redevelopment of the site – a site which has been vacant
for a considerable length of time. The re-use of the site brings multiple benefits to the

Page 553

District, including the provision of housing and affordable housing in the context of an
acute housing crisis.
16.30 In summary, on the basis of the information put forward by the applicant, the
application of the Vacant Building Credit is considered appropriate. Officers are
confident that the building has not been abandoned or vacated for the sole purpose of
redevelopment, and the scheme fulfils the criteria set out within the NPPF and NPPG
in relation to VBC.
16.31 The Vacant Building calculation excludes the former EFDC depot and the existing
residential cottages. The calculation is set out as follows:

Existing vacant building (GIA)

Proposed buildings (GIA)

Centrepoint: 603 sq.m

Block A: Centrepoint: 1,162.88 sq.m
Block B: 3,820.63 sq m

Cookery: 183 sq.m
Block C: 1,936.74 sq m
Building 1: 15.7 sq.m
Block E: 2,910.40 sq m
Building 2: 129.5 sq.m
Block F: 5,568.51 sq m
Building 3: 1,404.6 sq.m
Block G: 904.16 sq m
Block I: – Cookery: 183 sq.m

Total: 2,335.8 sqm

Total: 16,486.32 sq.m

VBC Calculation:
Difference: 16,486.32 sqm GIA – 2,335.8 sqm GIA = 14,150.52 sqm
Difference as a proportion of proposed: 14,150.52/16,486.32 = 0.8583 (or 85.83%)
Reduction calculation: 0.8583 * 40% = 0.3433 or 34.3%
16.32 As a result of the calculation the policy compliant position for St John’s Road is reduced
to 34.3%. The LPA accept that this calculation is in accordance with the NPPF.
16.33 Viability
16.34 The level of affordable housing provision deemed viable by the applicant falls below
the policy requirements. As such, the application is supported by a Financial Viability

Page 554

Appraisal (FVA), prepared by Carter Jonas. The FVA assesses the viability of each of
the three proposed residential sites.
16.35 Carter Jonas have reviewed the viability of the three individual residential applications
and assessed the viability as a whole to calculate the maximum reasonable affordable
housing contribution. Three scenarios have been tested with the FVA, summarised as
follows:

Scenario

Surplus/Deficit

Scenario 1 (Policy Compliant)

-£4,384,696

Scenario 2 (nil affordable at two sites)

£131,736

Scenario 3 (25% affordable on each site)

-£1,472,268

16.36 The FVA explains that the applicant is willing to provide 25% on site provision, despite
it being unviable.
16.37 The Council commissioned BPS to undertake an independent review of the Applicant’s
FVA. The findings of BPS’s review are summarised below:

Scenario

Surplus/Deficit

Scenario 1 (Policy Compliant)

-£3,883,000

Scenario 2 (nil affordable at two sites)

£1,423,000

Scenario 3 (25% affordable on each site)

-£140,000

16.38 The conclusion of BPS’s review is that a policy compliant provision of affordable
housing would not be financially viable. However, the deficit generated by scenario 3
is considered by BPS to be nominal in terms of the overall viability of the schemes,
and effectively represents a breakeven position.
16.39 The difference in the projected deficits resulting from Carter Jonas’ and BPS’s analysis
are a product of different methodologies for establishing the Benchmark Land Value
(BLV) for the sites.

Page 555

16.40 To calculate the value of any surplus generated above the BLV (and therefore the
maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing), the cost of developing the
proposed scheme (including construction costs, professional fees, other costs, profit,
and finance) is deducted from the Gross Development Value (the total value of the
development if built as proposed). Once this has been calculated the Residual Land
Value (RLV) remains. Where the RLV is in excess of the BLV, a surplus is generated,
and the available surplus would be split between relevant s106 obligations and CIL.
16.41 To calculate any surplus generated by the development the applicant and their
assessor have suggested a Benchmark Land Value (BLV) for the site based on the
Existing Use Value Plus (EUV+) approach. However, the Council’s Assessors BPS do
not consider this approach to be in accordance with NPPG and consider that
Alternative Use Value (AUV) is appropriate in situations such as this, where sites have
low Existing Use Value but a significant development potential. When the AUV
methodology employed by BPS is used, the resultant BLV is lower for the Condor Site
and the Sports Centre site, and marginally higher for St John’s Road. Overall, looking
at the three sites together, the BLV is lower. The difference in BLV calculations is
shown below:
Applicant’s
BLV

Site

Land

at Civic £3,693,061
Offices
(Conder)

Council’s Independent
Assessor BPS’s
BLV

£2,028,000

Sports Centre

£1,797,807

£1,770,000

St John’s Rd

£1,217,091

£1,785,000

TOTAL:

£6,707,959

£5,583,000

16.42 As a result of a lower BLV, the Council’s assessor concludes that the deficit resulting
from a 25% provision of affordable housing would be lower than put forward by the
applicant. It is considered that this deficit is minimal and represents a break-even
position.
16.43 Aside from this, the assessors are generally in agreement with regard to sales costs
and build costs of the units.

Page 556

16.44 Given the conclusions of BPS in relation to the viability of the scheme, the Council
considers the applicant’s offer of a 25% on-site affordable housing provision at each
of the three sites to be the maximum that can reasonably be provided.
16.45 On the basis of affordable provision is provided in accordance with the wider unit mix
the affordable provision would consist of approximately that outlined in the following
tables. The general build for sale affordable housing should be provided by Registered
Social Landlord and the Legal Agreements shall specify the number of affordable
housing units, including the tenure split and unit mix.
16.46 The 2015 SHMA and 2017 updates provide information about the potential type and
tenure of affordable homes to be provided across the District. This evidence indicates
the need for the provision of 81% of new affordable homes to be for affordable rent
and 19% to be for intermediate housing products. The applicant has adopted a 80%
Affordable Social Rent and 20% Shared Ownership in the submitted FVA. In
accordance with LPSV Policy H 2 this proposed mix is supported.
Land at St John’s Road - Affordable Private Rent @ 25%

Apartment

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

28.25

15.5

1.75

0

45.5

62%

34%

4%

100%

Epping Sports Centre, Hemnall Street – 80% Affordable Social Rent 20% Shared
Ownership @ 25%

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

Apartment

3.25

3

1

0

7.25

House

0

0

2.75

0

2.75

Total

3.25

3

3.75

0

10

Page 557

33%

30%

38%

100%

Land and part of Civic Offices – 80% Affordable Social Rent / 20% Shared Ownership @
25%

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

Total

Apartment

1.75

4.25

1.25

0

7.25

House

0

0.25

3.25

0.5

4

Total

1.75

4.5

4.5

0.5

11.25

16%

40%

40%

4%

100%

16.47 Paragraph 3.14 of LPSV Policy H 2 explains that, for larger-scale development
proposals for new housing development to be delivered on a phased basis, the Council
will require Legal Agreements to include mechanism for viability reviews and 'clawback'
clauses (or similar) to ensure the fullest possible compliance with Local Plan policy is
achieved where the viability of the scheme improves before completion. The proposals
are linked and their delivery shall be phased in order to ensure general compliance
with the LPSV site allocations. Given this phasing, and the time period over which the
developments will be constructed, viability review mechanisms shall be included within
the Legal Agreements for the residential properties. These review mechanisms shall
allow for viability to be re-assessed at various stages of the development process, to
allow any improvements in viability to be captured by the Council. This is particularly
important in light of current high build costs – the review will capture any improvements
in sales values relative to costs.
16.48 In summary, the applicant’s FVA has been scrutinised by an independent assessor
working on behalf of the Council. The conclusion of this assessment is that a policy
compliant provision of affordable housing would not be viable. The applicant has put
forward an offer of 25% provision on each site which the Council’s assessors consider
would represent a break-even position. Given this, the provision of 25% of units on site
as affordable would be acceptable. Review mechanisms will be included within the
Legal Agreement to ensure that any improvement in viability is secured by the Council.

Page 558

17.

Design

17.1

The LPSV is clear that the Council is committed to ensuring that all new development
in the District is of the highest design standards in their broadest sense. Good design
should ensure that new forms of development function well within the surrounding area
and result in buildings which are durable and adaptable within their context.

17.2

The LPSV emphasises that good design is not solely a visual concern, but actually has
social and environmental elements such as the potential to create high quality public
realm, improving quality of life for local communities and contributing to the
sustainability agenda.

17.3

This approach follows the NPPF requirement for Local Planning Authorities to require
new forms of development to recognise local context and set out the quality of
development expected within the District.

17.4

Policy SP 3 sets out that the Council seeks to ensure that development proposals
accord with exceptional place making principles. Place making is a holistic approach
to planning which brings together all component parts of a successful place.

17.5

Policy DM 9 sets out the policy requirements based on the overall design approach
contained within the LPSV.

17.6

Similarly to Policy DM 9 of the LPSV, Saved Policy DBE1 of the ALP requires that new
development is of high quality design. Development proposals are expected to be
respectful to their setting, adopt a significance in the street scene which is appropriate
to their function and use high quality external materials. In addition to high quality
design standards required, Policy CP2 of the ALP seeks to preserve the rural
environment, including landscape character and protecting the countryside.

17.7

In order to achieve the outstanding design as required by the LPSV, the Council has
established a Quality Review Panel (QRP) to act as a ‘critical friend’ to both the Council
and applicants.

17.8

The QRP consists of an independent, multidisciplinary group of experts who are
suitably trained and highly experienced individuals in their fields and the Panel has the
overarching ambition of assisting the Council with ensuring that new development
achieves the high-quality design as required by the LPSV.

17.9

The proposed development on the application site has been the subject of several
reviews by the QRP. The comments received following each review has been taken
into account when considering the various elements of design in the following section.
Layout, Access and Connectivity

17.10 Policy SP 3 of the LPSV notes that development proposals must demonstrate strong
vision, leadership and community engagement (i), extend, enhance and reinforce
strategic green infrastructure and public open space (vii), ensure positive integration

Page 559

and connection with adjacent rural and urban communities thereby contributing to the
revitalisation of existing neighbourhoods (x) provide for sustainable movement and
access to local and strategic destinations (including rail, bus and pedestrians, cycling)
(xiii).
17.11 Policy DM 9 notes that development proposals must have regard to the framework of
routes and spaces connecting locally and more widely (Part D (iii)).
17.12 Policy T 1 notes that development proposals will be permitted where they provide safe,
suitable and convenient access for all potential users (Part C (i)) and provide a
coordinated and comprehensive scheme that does not prejudice future provision of
transport.
17.13 The site has a limited street frontage, sharing most of its boundaries with the rear
gardens of surrounding residential properties. The street frontage will provide for
vehicular and pedestrian access into the site. Pedestrian priority has been balanced
with other visibility and safety considerations, to provide a welcoming pedestrian
entrance into the site.
17.14 The submitted Design & Access Statement details that the retained habitat of the pond
has become a central part of the site layout, with the new buildings sited to maximise
views over this habitat and the central communal space. Given the presence of this
asset, this is considered an acceptable approach to the site layout. There is a parking
court at the centre of the site, however measures have been taken to minimise the
prominence of it, including relocating the bin store and increasing planting/trees. The
arrangement shown is an acceptable way of accommodating the car parking required
whilst allowing a significant portion of the site to be car-free and well landscaped.
17.15 Given there are only two or three ground floor flats to each block, and there are
terraces, balconies and living areas overlooking the public realm, the proposed layout
of the blocks provides an acceptable balance between active frontages and efficient
internal layouts.
17.16 The overall siting of the buildings, with taller buildings sited closer towards the High
Street, is considered an appropriate response to the context. Block A would be
physically attached to the adjacent listed Civic building. This siting is, in principle,
acceptable. Consideration of the detailed design of this element of the building is
provided in the following section of this report.
Scale, form and massing
17.17 Policy DM9 of the LPSV notes that developments must relate positively to their context
(Part A (i)), having regard to the form, scale and massing prevailing around the site
(Part D (ii)), active frontages (Part D (v)), and respond to natural features of the site
and surroundings (Part E). Policy DM 9 also notes that proposals should not result in
an over-bearing or overly enclosed form of development (Part H (iii)) and consider
microclimate conditions (Part H (iv)).

Page 560

17.18 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF notes that development should be visually attractive as a
result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping, and be
sympathetic to the surrounding built environment and landscape character
17.19 In terms of scale, the site has been laid out such that the tallest buildings are sited
closest to the High Street. Block A, closest to the High Street, will be 4/5 storeys in
height, with a maximum height broadly the same as the existing Condor building. This
scale is considered acceptable. In terms of form, the pitch to the western section
introduces variation to the roof line, this appears overly dominant in views from the
High street, particularly in relation to the Civic Offices building (Will we seek
amendment?).
17.20 Blocks C and B are 3/4 storeys in height, with a 3 storey parapet level. Block C sits
closest to the Homefield Close - the parapet height aligns with the height of the existing
eaves of the Condor Building, ensuring that the block has an acceptable visual impact
when viewed from the Close.
17.21 Block B sits across the internal road, and addresses both sections of the road. The
building incorporates a taller element on the corner, with the rest of the massing
stepping down towards the rear and sides of the building. This step in the massing
gives an indication of the more domestic scale of the housing deeper in the site and
provides a respectful transition to the character of this part of the site.
17.22 In the western portion of the site lies the four rows of terraced houses. The houses are
2 standard height storeys, with further accommodation within the roofspace. The
houses incorporate front and rear gables, with ‘saw-tooth’ roofs with a ridge connecting
pairs of the houses. The scale, form and massing are acceptable for this part of the
site.
Landscaping
17.1

Policy DM 3 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that new development will not directly,
indirectly or cumulatively cause significant harm to landscape character, the nature
and physical appearance of ancient landscapes or geological sites of importance.
Proposals should be sensitive to their setting in the landscape and have due regard
for local distinctiveness and characteristics. Policy DM 5 of the LPSV seeks that
developments retain and enhance existing green infrastructure including trees, use
native species and enhance the public realm through the provision of trees.

17.2

Policy DM 9 Part A (v) notes developments must incorporate design measures to
reduce social exclusion, the risk of crime, and the fear of crime. Policy DM 9 part A
also notes proposals should relate positively to their context, and Policy DM 21 notes
that the local environmental impacts, including light pollution, of all development
proposals after mitigation must not lead to unacceptable impacts on the health, safety,
wellbeing and amenity of existing and new users or occupiers of the development site,
or the surrounding land.

Page 561

17.3

The siting of the buildings and the layout of the street allows sufficient room for
landscaping. The retention of the existing pond as a key part of the landscaping is
welcomed. A section has been provided showing the relationship between the
retaining wall to the pond and the access route to plots 9 – 12. The enclosed nature of
this route is not ideal in terms of security, however it is recognised that there are
limitations due to the need to retain the existing wall to avoid disturbance to natural
habitats. The arrangement has been updated and improved slightly by blocking off the
end with a private gate thereby minimising the extents of narrow passageway. The
lighting scheme should be carefully designed here to further reduce the fear of crime
for these residents – a condition is recommended to secure these details.

17.4

The landscape design has been updated during the course of the application, with an
increase in the proposed biodiversity and play offer. These updates are acceptable.

17.5

Boundary treatments and security around apartment blocks have been updated to
provide better demarcation between public and private areas. This is welcomed for
privacy, security and legibility.

17.6

The Trees and Landscape Team have reviewed the submitted arboricultural statement
and confirm that the impact on trees is acceptable, subject to the imposition of the
recommended conditions.

17.7

Overall, the proposed landscaping is sufficient to soften the visual impact of the
buildings and the associated hardstanding and parking areas. The retention of the
pond is welcomed, in terms of both its biodiversity and amenity value. Subject to
conditions, the landscaping scheme would be of an acceptable quality and would
provide future residents with a good quality of external amenity.
Appearance and materials

17.8

Policy DM 9 of the LPSV notes that development proposals are required to incorporate
sustainable design and construction principles (Part A (iii)) and relate positively to their
locality having regard to distinctive local architectural styles, detailing and materials
(Part D (vi)).

17.9

The NPPF paragraph 130 notes that developments must be visually attractive as a
result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping, establish
a strong sense of place, and be sympathetic to local character and history while not
preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change.

17.10 The architecture and proposed materiality are supported.
17.11 The use of brick would provide a positive relationship with the local context in
accordance with Policy DM9 D. vi), which requires proposals to relate positively to their
locality, having regard to distinctive local architectural styles, detailing and materials.
The architectural treatment also relates positively to the intended residential character
of the scheme.

Page 562

17.12 With regard to Block A, the widening of the connecting element joining the Civic
Building and use of a different brick tone provides a visual break between the buildings,
however the bedroom windows, with domestic proportions means that this connection
piece still reads as domestic architecture directly abutting the listed Civic building. A
revised fenestration approach here, with horizontal bands of windows would help to
create a connection that appears less domestic and references the horizontal window
bands of the Civic offices Oriel windows, can be secured by the recommended
condition.
17.13 The architecture and materiality of Blocks B & C are acceptable.
17.14 The terrace frontage is generally supported as a contemporary and considered
addition to the streetscene. Detailed bay studies at minimum 1:20 scale and key
junction details at 1:5 or 1:10 scale as appropriate should be provided as part of the
recommended condition, to ensure finishes are of an acceptable quality.
17.15 On the key views/ wayfinding plan diagram on p21 of the DAS addendum, the flank
walls of plots 08 and 16 are marked as key wayfinding views/ corners however it is not
clear how the articulation of these has informed the architecture which is shown as
largely blank walls. This is not acceptable for key wayfinding points and will have a
negative impact on the outlook of houses 13-16 as well as on the appearance of the
public realm and the user experience. The applicant has provided a sketch drawing
detailing how this element can be enhanced at the detailed design stage. A condition
is proposed to secure further, acceptable details in this regard.
17.16 Whilst the level of elevation/ junction detail provided is not at the scale required to
ensure the quality of development, the combination of 1:50 bay studies, visuals and
precedent images give a clear indication of the aspirations. Conditions should ensure
that the detailed elevation/ junction information is required to be submitted, particularly
with regards to depths of reveals, rainwater goods, copings, door/ window details and
balconies.
Impact on heritage
17.17 The Civic Offices is an important Grade II listed landmark which stands within the
Epping Conservation Area. Alongside the Water Tower and St John the Baptist’s
Church, also statutory listed, their three prominent towers act as focal points for the
views along the High Street and across the Green. The Green is an open-grassed area
with many mature trees, the general low rise and informal arrangement of the buildings
gives this area a strong open character.
17.18 The Conder building predates the construction of the Civic Offices and has been
specifically excluded from the listing of the Civic Offices at Grade II due to its lack of
significance
17.19 The part of the Civic Offices to which the Conder building is linked was purposely built
as a connector between the Civic Offices, No. 323 and the Conder building. Once

Page 563

removed the Conder building will therefore reveal a wall that was never designed to
be seen. Despite the non-related use of Block A with the Civic Offices, it’s physical
attachment is acceptable, subject to the provision of a suitable buffer element. This
buffer should act as a visual break, clearly denoting the Civic Offices from the new
residential block and lessening its dominance.
17.20 The proposed height of this linking element is acceptable. This part of the building is
also recessed on both elevations through the deepening of Block A by moving forward
its north east elevation. The proposed facing materials have been amended to show a
darker brick; this is welcomed as it should assist this element in remaining subdued.
Conditions are recommended to ensure that the window frames and brick colour
should be tonally similar. In addition, the buffer element should all be faced with the
same plain darker brick, replacing the fascia with a brick parapet that would stand
below the level of the stone cornice detailing of the Civic Offices. A contrasting soldier
bond, applied to the whole of the buffer, could also assist this.
17.21 The character of the Civic Offices is that of formal and consistent order and the
introduction of private residential dwellings within its setting would be in contrast to
this. Private residences bring the paraphernalia of domestic life, including furniture on
balconies, window dressings, etc. Block A, and more specifically the South-East
elevation, is due to its position (attached to the Civic Offices and at the entrance of the
site) considered to be particularly sensitive to these issues. The absence of the
balconies, directly adjacent to the Civic Offices will help contain the impact of any
domestic paraphernalia.
17.22 Further to officers’ requests for design amendments to improve the harmony between
the two elements, amended drawings have been provided with a revised setting out of
the windows. As a result of these amendments the impact on the setting of the listed
Civic Offices would be acceptable. The significance of the listed building and it’s setting
would be preserved.
17.23 Conservation areas should provide opportunities for innovative design approaches that
ensure the continuity of the identity of the area, its sense of place and what makes it
special. Concerns were originally raised by the Conservation Team regarding the
scale and massing, as well as the generic character of the scheme. Amendments have
been made to the drawings to improve the design and response to character, however
the Conservation Team consider that the proposal would still result in less than
substantial harm to the character and appearance of the Epping Conservation Area.
17.24 Paragraph 202 of the NPPF states that, where a development proposal will lead to less
than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset (in this case
the conservation area), this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.
17.25 In this case, there are significant public benefits resulting from the scheme. The
buildings are now surplus to operational requirements of the Civic Offices. Their reuse as civic buildings would not represent a viable long-term use. The proposed use

Page 564

of the buildings for residential purposes would provide a viable long-term use, allowing
the buildings to be brought back into active use and maintained accordingly.
17.26 Furthermore, the conversion of the buildings for residential use would make a positive
contribution to the District’s housing supply. The District has an acute need for housing,
and the provision of additional homes through the conversion of the buildings would
represent a significant public benefit.
17.27 In summary, the significance of the listed building and it’s setting would be preserved.
There would be less than substantial harm to the conservation area, relating to the
scale of the development and introduction of a domestic use. However, this harm is
significantly outweighed by the public benefit of providing additional housing stock, and
providing a viable long term use for the buildings.
Amenity for future residents
17.28 The proposed layout of the flats would be in accordance with the NDSS, fire strategy
and Part M4(2) Accessibility standards. The requirement for compliance Part M4(2) is
recommended as part of the proposed conditions.
17.29 Similarly, house layouts provide good quality accommodation. Whilst the arrangement
of WC rather than habitable room at ground floor frontage limits activity and
overlooking, there are two bedrooms and a study space on the frontage at upper levels
and therefore this arrangement is acceptable. Part M4(2) requires a shower room on
the entrance level of 3-bed+ properties. The applicant should confirm that the room
shown accommodates a compliant shower room, and this can also be secured by the
recommended condition.
17.30 The cycle parking to houses has been revised in most instances to provide cycle
storage at the front of the property, which encourages active travel in line with policy
T1 and DM9. There does not appear to be any detailed information provided on the
design of these however the plan information in conjunction with visuals provides
sufficient information so that the detail can be secured by condition.
17.31 With regard to overlooking and privacy within the site, the siting of the buildings and
the windows is such that there will be an adequate level of internal privacy for all new
homes. Each home will be provided with a garden or balcony, which afford an
adequate level of private external amenity space. A condition is recommended to
secure further details of the proposed balcony design, including any required
screening.
17.32 The application is supported by a Daylight, Sunlight & Overshadowing Report (August,
2021). This report demonstrated that 94% of windows comply with daylight at 2%
Average Daylight Factor (ADF) for Living/Kitchen/ Dining rooms (LKDs) and 98%
comply at 1.5% for LKDs.

Page 565

17.33 Whilst a number of rooms would not meet the BRE recommendations for sunlight/
Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH), it is noted that most of the rooms that
transgress the recommendations are bedrooms and/or north-facing. The fact that all
of the proposed dwellings are dual aspect means that it is more likely the overall light
quality internally will be better than for single aspect dwellings, with more choice of
aspect.
17.34 Overall, each home would benefit from an acceptable level of privacy internally and
externally, adequate outlook, and an acceptable level of light. Layouts of the homes
are rational and useable.
17.35 Therefore, overall in terms of design, the proposal would be of an acceptable scale,
height and massing. The site layout and the detailed design of the buildings reduces
the overall visual mass, ensuring the scheme sits comfortable within the plot and does
not appear visually dominant within the wider street scene. The proposed appearance,
materiality and landscaping is acceptable subject to conditions requiring further details.
The proposed homes have been carefully designed in terms of layout and would
provide a good level of amenity for future residents. Subject to conditions, there would
be adequate privacy to each home and external amenity spaces. Each home would
benefit from an acceptable level of daylight, sunlight and outlook. In addition, parking
and cycle parking provision is easily accessible and would promote the use of active
travel.
18.

Density

18.1

The proposal is for 45 dwellings across a site area of 0.66 hectares, resulting in a
density of 148 dph.

18.2

Policy H3A of the adopted Local Plan states that new housing developments will
achieve a net site density of at least 30 - 50 dwellings per hectare. In the LPSV, policy
SP3 states that the Council will normally expect densities above 50 dwellings per
hectare in towns. Therefore, there is general support for higher density residential
developments in sustainable town centre locations. The policy does not provide an
upper limit on the density for each site.

18.3

Paragraph 122 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should support
developments that makes efficient use of land. Paragraph 125 further states that where
there is an existing or anticipated shortage of land for meeting identified housing
needs, it is especially important that planning policies and decisions avoid homes being
built at low densities and ensure that developments make optimal use of the potential
of each site. The NPPF advises that density standards should seek a significant uplift
in the average density of residential development within these areas, unless it can be
shown that there are strong reasons why this would be inappropriate.

18.4

The LPSV allocates the site for the provision of approximately 44 homes. The
application proposes one more dwelling than that envisaged within the site allocated.

Page 566

Having regard to the density within the site allocation and the town centre location, the
proposed density is acceptable.
19.

Impacts on neighbouring amenity

19.1

Paragraph H of Policy DM 9 requires development proposals to take account of the
privacy and amenity of the users of a development as well as that of neighbours. Policy
DBE9 of the ALP contains the same objective by seeking to safeguard the living
conditions of neighbouring properties. Paragraph H of Policy DM 9 is further split into
subsections (i – iv) and the report will consider these issues in turn.

19.2

When considering privacy and amenity issues in relation to existing residents, it is
important to understand the context of the application site in relation to the nearest of
these neighbours.
Sunlight and Daylight

19.3

Part (i) of paragraph H seeks to ensure that adequate levels of sunlight/daylight and
open aspects are provided to the users of the development and nearby neighbouring
residents.

19.4

The application was accompanied with a Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing
Report (updated Aug 2021) prepared by Avison Young (AY) on behalf of the applicant.
Officers has reviewed the report and assessed the application.

19.5

The residential properties surrounding the application site are generally separated
from the site by the presence of their rear gardens. However, 8 Buttercross Lane and
15 Homefield Close are sited towards the rear of their plots, therefore in closer
proximity to the site than the other surrounding dwellings. The bulk and massing of the
proposed scheme generally steps down towards the site boundaries, and the lower
terraced housing is sited within the north and western parts of the sites, to reduce the
impact on the residential properties.

19.6

The updated Daylight, Sunlight, Overshadowing Report (Aug 2021) confirms that all
neighbouring windows satisfy BRE guidelines for daylight, with some properties
experiencing an improvement. Key amenity spaces of neighbouring properties also
pass the 2-hr sun on ground test.

19.7

Given these results, there will be no discernible impact on the daylight or sunlight re
received by the neighbouring properties and the proposal is acceptable in this regard.
Overlooking / loss of privacy

19.8

Part (ii) seeks to ensure that existing neighbours will not be overlooked by users of
new development.

19.9

Adjacency studies are provided on p10 of the DAS addendum. These show that there
are two areas of sensitivity – The first is between 8 Buttercross Lane and Plot 1 rear

Page 567

elevation. This is shown as 15m building-to-building and 10m rear garden to the
proposed plot 9. Given the configuration of the rear garden, the density of the context
and the need to make efficient use of the site, this relationship appears acceptable.
19.10 The other area of sensitivity is noted as being between 2 Buttercross Lane and
proposed plot 09 side elevation. Whilst plot 09 is only 2.7m from the boundary, the
level difference and slope of the roof mean that the visual impact is minimised and
limited windows on this elevation mean that there will not be an unacceptable level of
overlooking between these properties. Balanced with the need to make efficient use of
the site and the configuration of the garden of 2 Buttercross Lane partly to the side of
the property, this proximity is acceptable. Windows on the side elevation of Plot 09 at
upper floors should be obscured to ensure no overlooking – this can be secured by
condition.
19.11 The distance of all other properties from the proposed site boundary, and the scale
and massing of the proposed buildings, is sufficient to ensure that there will not be any
unacceptable loss of privacy as a result of the proposal.
Outlook
19.12 Part (iii) seeks to ensure that new development is not overbearing and would not cause
significant harm to the outlook of occupiers of neighbouring properties.
19.13 Outlook from the surrounding residential properties in the western part of the site will
be reduced given that is in existing use as a car park with limited built form. As such,
the proposed development is likely to present a significant change to the levels of
outlook from the surrounding properties to the west. However, the proposed buildings
are set in from the boundary and the massing stepped away from these properties.
Given this, and the town centre location of the application site, any loss of outlook is
considered acceptable and would not result in unacceptable living conditions for the
surrounding residential properties.
19.14 With regard to the Homefield Close properties, there would be some loss of outlook to
the west when the site is viewed from the rear windows of these properties. However,
again, given the context and the siting of the buildings, this loss of outlook would be
acceptable. In addition, there is likely to be an enhanced outlook from the front
windows of these properties as the proposed Blocks B and C are set further from the
boundary than the existing built form.
19.15 The proposal is considered acceptable with regard to any impact on the surrounding
residential properties in terms of privacy, overlooking, daylight, sunlight and outlook
and is therefore compliant with paragraph H of Policy DM 9.
Noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality
19.16 Part (iv) requires that issues of noise, vibration, fumes, light pollution and air quality
are properly addressed when considering an application to ensure that none would

Page 568

cause significant harm to the amenity of existing residents or new users of the
proposed development.
19.17 In terms of noise, the proposed residential use, and the siting of the buildings in relation
to the neighbouring properties, is such that there would not be an unacceptable
increase in noise experienced by the neighbouring properties.
19.18 Additionally, parking provision on the site will be significantly reduced and thus any
noise generated from vehicles is likely to be less than that of which the occupants of
the surrounding properties currently experience with the existing office use, and
associated servicing and parking. As such, the proposal is acceptable with regard to
noise impacts.
19.19 A lighting impact assessment was submitted with the application which indicates that
the upward light ratio (ULR) would not exceed the maximum permissible level of 5%
for an E3 environmental zone. The report concludes finding that any residual effects
of lighting from the proposed development will be negligible. Officers have reviewed
the application and the lighting assessment report and are satisfied that there will be
no undue harm caused to the amenity of the occupants of the surrounding properties
as a result of lighting, subject to the recommended conditions.
19.20 The application has been accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) which
considers the potential impacts of the construction phase of the development as well
as the operational phase.
19.21 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has considered the AQA and has
commented that the proposed mitigation measures have been taken from appropriate
guidance and if suitably implemented, will ensure that there will not be significant harm
caused to sensitive receptors. These measures can be secured through the
recommended condition. Given the proximity of residential properties and the phased
nature of development on this, and the nearby linked sites, conditions recommending
real time dust monitoring are recommended also.
19.22 Based on the evidence provided by the applicant and subject to the recommended
conditions, the proposal will not cause significant harm to air quality in relation to
human health.
Summary relating to design and neighbouring amenity issues
19.23 Drawing all the strands together in relation to design and neighbouring amenity issues,
the analysis conducted through this report has concluded that the proposed
development fulfils the Council’s overall vision and policies of ensuring that new
development is comprised of high quality design, subject to the imposition of
adequately worded planning conditions/obligations.
19.24 It has further been concluded that there would not be any significant harm caused to
the living conditions of any of the existing residents who live in the area and that the

Page 569

development will ensure a good level of amenity to staff and visitors, subject to the
imposition of suitably worded conditions / planning obligations.
19.25 The proposal is therefore compliant with the requirements of Policies SP 3, DM 9 and
T 1 Part C and Part D of the LPSV and with Policies CP2, DBE1, DBE4 and DBE9 of
the ALP.
20.

Highways and Transport

20.1

The submitted Transport Assessment (TA) assesses the potential impacts of the
proposed development on the local and strategic highway network.

20.2

The TA has been reviewed by Essex County Council Highways, who conclude that it
is a robust assessment of the traffic impacts of the proposal.

20.3

The application proposes 86 cycle parking spaces (68 long-stay and 18 short-stay).

20.4

The application proposes 18 car parking spaces, including 3 blue-badge parking
spaces. Policy T 1 of the emerging Local Plan requires that any development which
proposes vehicle parking spaces must ensure that those spaces have direct access to
an electric charging point. All parking spaces are to be active Electrical Vehicle
Charging Points (EVCP), in compliance with this policy.

20.5

The residential Travel Plan submitted in support of the application includes detailed
measures for the applicant to implement in order to reduce reliance on the private car.
These include providing Residential Travel Information Packs, cycle parking provision,
encouraging car share platforms, free membership and £50 credit for a car club for
residents, and the provision of electrical vehicle car charging. The site is well located,
close to other accessible modes of sustainable travel. Given the scale of the
development and proximity to existing transport modes, these measures are sufficient.

20.6

The applicant is committed to delivering the Travel Plan and monitoring its
implementation. Implemented alongside the low level of parking provision on site, the
proposed Travel Plan will help reduce reliance on the private vehicle.

20.7

In summary, given the existing use as an office and car park, and the low parking
provision, the proposal will generate fewer trips than the existing use, resulting in a
negligible impact on traffic and congestion on the local highway network.

20.8

Overall, the proposals will not result in an unacceptable impact on highway safety and
would not have a severe residual cumulative impact on the road network in accordance
with paragraph 111 of the NPPF, as well as ST4 of the adopted Local Plan and policy
T1 of the LPSV.

21.

Sustainability, Energy and Climate Change

21.1

The NPPF sets out that the overall purpose of the planning system is to contribute to
the achievement of sustainable development which is defined as:

Page 570

Meeting the needs of the present generation without compromising the ability of future
generations to meet their own needs
21.2

In order to achieve sustainable development, the NPPF sets out three overarching
objectives:


An economic objective;



A social objective; and



An environmental objective

21.3

The NPPF is clear that each of these objectives are interdependent and need to be
pursued in mutually supportive ways.

21.4

The LPSV sets out that the Council is committed to providing proactive strategies with
regard to climate change resilience. This approach is based on the NPPF which
encourages Local Planning Authorities to adopt a proactive strategy with regard to
sustainable development and climate change.

21.5

On 19th September 2019 the Council declared a climate emergency for the District
and set out a pledge that the Council will do everything in its power to make the District
carbon neutral by 2030.

21.6

This approach is encapsulated within Policy DM 20 of the LPSV which seeks to
encourage new developments to be of a low carbon energy use. Renewable energy
measures in new and existing development are also to be encouraged as far as
possible. The policies in the LPSV have been added to via the adoption in March 2021
EFDC Sustainability Guidance and Checklist as supplementary planning guidance.
The purpose of this guidance is to help applicants meet EFDC’s goals of becoming net
zero carbon by 2030.

21.7

In support of the application, a Sustainability Statement and Energy Strategy have
been submitted along with a completed EFDC Sustainability Checklist which presents
the sustainable aspects of the proposed development.

21.8

The Sustainability Statement highlights a number of aspects of the scheme which
contribute to the sustainability credentials of the development. In short these are:


A fabric first approach to reducing carbon emissions



The development resulting in an annual 50% reduction in C02 emissions over
the requirements of Building Regulations Part L.



High efficiency air source heat pumps.



Installation of electric charging points for all of the car parking spaces on the
site and provision of bicycle storage.

Page 571

21.9



Installation of new green and active spaces.



Adopting measures for waste reduction during construction.



Using embodied carbon studies to guide design.

Generally, the scheme is compliant with the sustainability policies in the emerging
Local Plan. However, the scheme is not particularly innovative or proactive in
addressing Climate Change and could be more ambitious in aligning with the Council’s
Climate Emergency declaration. It is noted in the DAS addendum that operational
carbon, energy strategy, embodied carbon, water management, circular economy/
waste management and socio-economic aspects will be addressed in more detail
during future design stages. Whilst it is acknowledged that some of the details of the
scheme can only be developed at later design stages, many of the principles need to
be in place at an early stage of design to enable this to be possible.

21.10 Specifically, the fabric first approach is supported, and a level of detail has been
provided following previous comments as to how the façade design responds to
orientation and overheating/ventilation.
21.11 The applicant has addressed previous comments with regards to Circular Economy
principles by providing further detail on responsible sourcing of materials, use of
recycled, reusable or local materials, and adaptable design.
21.12 The scheme appears to be meeting the highest targets of the Sustainability Checklist
in terms of waste management. The responses to the Checklist suggest that 95% of
the construction waste produced during the demolition, excavation and construction
processes will be recycled or reused. This approach is welcomed, and the 95% target
will be secured through the recommended condition.
21.13 The project is targeted to be an Air Quality neutral development and mitigation
measures as described in the District’s Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy are being
adhered to.
21.14 Therefore, whilst not overly ambitious, the proposal is considered to be a sustainable
form of development and is therefore compliant with Policy SP 1 and Policy DM 20 of
the LPSV and Policy CP5 of the adopted Local Plan. The applicant is encouraged,
through the recommended conditions, to enhance the sustainability credentials of the
development through the next stages of design.
22.

Flood Risk and SuDs

22.1

There is a clear need to ensure that surface and foul water drainage and treatment
occur effectively and for the protection of both human health and the environment. This
includes the need to ensure that development will not cause pollution to water bodies
or controlled water, including ground water.

Page 572

22.2

Policy DM 18 of the LPSV sets out that it is expected that applications for planning
permission will ensure that there is adequate surface water, foul drainage and
treatment capacity to serve their development. This requirement is also reflected in
Policy U2A of the ALP.

22.3

The application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and a
Below Ground Drainage Strategy. Further information was submitted by the applicant
during the course of the application in relation to the greenfield run-off rate, water
quality and landscape features, following concerns raised by EFDC and ECC.

22.4

The EFDC Land Drainage Team has reviewed the information and has no objection in
principle, subject to the recommended condition requiring the approval of a detailed
surface water drainage scheme, prior to commencement.

22.5

The ECC SuDS Team acts as the Lead Local Flood Authority. Similarly to the EFDC
Land Drainage Team, based on the FRA and the surface water drainage strategy the
team has no objection to the application subject to the imposition of planning
conditions.

22.6

Thames Water has been consulted as part of this application as a key utilities provider.
In terms of foul water disposal, Thames Water has raised no objection to the
application.

22.7

Subject to the imposition of appropriately worded planning conditions the proposal is
compliant with Policy DM 18 of the LPSV and with Policy U2A of the ALP.

23.

Ground contamination

23.1

The LPSV seeks to ensure that new forms of development avoid unacceptable risks
from pollution to humans and other species. Paragraph C of Policy DM 21 of the LPSV
requires that potential contamination risks are properly considered and adequately
mitigated before development proceeds. Policy RP4 of the ALP is consistent with this
approach, whereby potential contaminants are required to be identified and if
necessary, appropriately mitigated.

23.2

The application is accompanied by a ground investigation report, which considers the
potential contamination risks present on the site.

23.3

The reports conclude that elevated concentrations of TPHs and sulphides were found
at shallow sampling levels. Monitoring has not indicated any abnormal concentrations
of ground gas, therefore no gas measures are considered necessary.

23.4

The Councils Geo-technical Team have considered the reports and agree with their
findings that there will be no significant risk to human health as a result of the proposal.
A condition is recommended to secure Remediation Method Statements and
Verification reports. These reports must also include chemical analysis at a deeper
level in areas of identified contamination.

Page 573

23.5

The standard condition suggested by the Geo-technical Team seeks to ensure that if
discoloured or odorous soils are encountered on the application site, or if hazardous
materials or significant quantities of non-soil forming materials found during
development works, then development will cease until the risks are fully investigated
and evaluated. If necessary, an appropriate scheme to mitigate the potential risks will
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

23.6

The proposed condition will ensure compliance with the provisions of paragraph C of
policy DM 21 of the LPSV and with Policy RP4 of the ALP.

23.7

Following this advice and on the basis of the evidence submitted by the applicant, the
proposal is compliant with paragraph C of Policy DM 21 of the LPSV and with Policy
RP4 of the ALP.

24.

Historic Environment – Archaeology

24.1

The LPSV recognises that Epping Forest District benefits from a rich and varied historic
environment, including historic remains. Where proposals could potentially affect
archaeological remains, preference is given to their preservation since these remains
are finite and irreplaceable.

24.2

Policy DM 7 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that heritage assets (including archaeological
remains) are conserved or enhanced in a manner appropriate to their significance.

24.3

To investigate potential impacts on the historic environment the application is
supported by a Heritage Statement which assess the potential for archaeological
deposits within the site.

24.4

The historic maps have shown that there has been little disturbance within the car park
area of the application site since at least the mid nineteenth century. The proximity of
the application area to the medieval centre of Epping, and the existence of buildings
within the site on the First Edition Ordnance Survey Map of 1871 indicates the potential
for surviving medieval and post medieval archaeological remains being impacted by
the proposed development. Given these findings, the Historic Environment Team at
ECC have recommended a further scheme of archaeological investigation be secured
by condition.

24.5

Subject to these conditions, the proposed development is compliant with policy DM 7
of the LPSV and the proposals would conserve any heritage assets of archaeological
significance.

25.

Ecology

25.1

The LPSV sets out that new development proposals should seek to deliver a net biodiversity gain in addition to protecting existing habitats and species. This approach is
set out in Policy DM 1 of the LPSV. Policy NC3 of the adopted Local Plan is broadly
consistent with this approach, whereby development proposals which may cause harm

Page 574

to established habitats are required to provide a replacement, alternative habitats of at
least equivalent wildlife value. Additionally, Policy CP1 of the adopted Local Plan seeks
to avoid or to minimise potential environmental impacts of development proposals.
25.2

The application is accompanied by an Ecological Assessment which sets out the
baseline ecology of the application site and assesses the potential impacts of the
development and mitigation and enhancement measures which may be required.
Baseline ecological surveys

25.3

The findings of the Habitats Survey demonstrate that there is a single native hedgerow
present around the northern boundary of the Site, which is identified as a Priority
habitat. The pond within the site is host to Great Crested Newts (a European Protected
Species).

25.4

The mature trees within the site were found to have low suitability for roosting bats.
The site is of negligible suitability for foraging and commuting bats. Bats may use the
small area of grassland/ scrub mosaic and the pond as well as the species poor
hedgerow around the Site’s boundary, but these are lit from the car park and are
unlikely to be an important foraging resource.
Impacts, mitigation and enhancement measures

25.5

The construction of the development proposal has the potential to cause harm to
existing habitats on the site and therefore it is recommended that a planning condition
is attached to the application to ensure that a Construction Environment Management
Plan (CEMP) is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
prior to the commencement of works.

25.6

Similarly to the construction phase, the operational phase of the development and its
potential impacts on habitats will need to addressed in a Landscape and Ecology
Mitigation and Management Plan (LEMP). This can be secured through the use of a
planning condition.

25.7

The pond within the Site is to be retained as part of the proposals. The precautionary
measures for Great Crested Newts identified within the EIA provides acceptable
mitigation in this regard. Works are not currently planned within the terrestrial or
aquatic habitat, however any works that are required (e.g. temporary works to the wall)
within this area will need to be carried out under a strict method statement, and
appropriate European Protected Species Mitigation licence. Therefore, a condition is
recommended requiring the approval of a Method Statement for Great Crested Newts.

25.8

In addition it is understood that a number of man-made newt tunnels run under the car
park providing habitat connectivity for the newt population. The exact location of these
are unknown and therefore the applicant is to put in place precautionary measures
including that all construction work occurs under an appropriate European Protected

Page 575

Species Mitigation Licence. Specific mitigation measures will be agreed via this
licence and could include reinstatement of the tunnels.
25.9

Furthermore, the mitigation measures identified in the EIA should be secured and
implemented in full. This is necessary to conserve and enhance protected and Priority
Species. This includes precautionary measures for common toad, hedgehogs
(including gaps in fencing), and nesting birds.

25.10 The ES demonstrates that a biodiversity net gain will be achieved through a
biodiversity roof, five bird nesting boxes installed on site and new planting. A condition
is recommended to ensure that enhancement measures are to be outlined and secured
through the approval of a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy.
25.11 Overall, in terms of ecology, the proposal would be in accordance with policy DM 1 of
the LPSV is also compliant with Policies NC3 and CP1 of the ALP
26.

Infrastructure

26.1

In order to deliver the sustainable and balanced growth which has been identified in
the LPSV, significant investment in infrastructure is required to meet the needs of
residents and businesses.

26.2

Infrastructure includes a wide variety of elements including transport, utilities, flood and
surface water management, open space and social and community infrastructure.

26.3

To outline the infrastructure requirements which are necessary to meet the needs of
the growth outlined in the Plan, the Council has complied an Infrastructure Delivery
Plan (IDP). The IDP identifies:


The organisation responsible for delivering each piece of infrastructure.



The period over which the relevant investment will be required; and



The cost of each item and how it is going to be funded.

26.4

The IDP has been developed in consultation and cooperation with infrastructure
providers and will ensure that infrastructure is delivered in a timely, predictable and
effective manner. The IDP has also considered high level issues of viability and
therefore delivery of policy compliant new development. The IDP is split into
development areas and identifies the various interventions necessary within each
area.

26.5

A number of Active Transport Improvements i.e cycle and footpath improvements are
identified within the IDP and the value of these have been apportioned between
proposed developments within Epping. The value of these works is £71,996.

26.6

ECC Highways and Transportation identified the need for the installation of real time
passenger information sign at the bus stops located adjacent to the site. ECC have

Page 576

sought that the works are completed under a Highway Agreement and that a
commuted sum of £22,000 is provided for ongoing maintenance. This will support the
promotion of sustainable forms of transport.
26.7

Potential Highway Works are identified within the IDP for Epping with a site
apportionment detailing how the cost will be spread over a number of schemes. In this
case given the scale of the proposal, low level of car parking provided and indirect link
to the scheme, the cost of potential highway works are not sought.

26.8

Open Space and Green Infrastructure requirements are identified in the IDP alongside
the deficient in local park provision set out within the Epping Forest Open Space
Strategy 2017. The identified projects have been apportioned using the same method
as the Active Transport Improvements. A contribution value of £268,871 has been
identified.

26.9

ECC Infrastructure Planning confirmed the following requirements to mitigate the
impact of the increase resident population:


Early Years and Childcare – £0



Primary Education – £139,871



Secondary Education – £128,385,



Libraries – £3,501

26.10 NHS West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group undertook a Healthcare Impact
Assessment to provide the basis for a developer contribution towards capital funding
to increase capacity within the GP Catchment Area. The developments would have an
impact on primary healthcare provision in the area and a contribution towards the
required funding for the provision of capacity to absorb the patient growth generated
by these developments will mitigate this. A contribution of £22,230 has been
calculated.
26.11 Subject to the infrastructure interventions as noted in the previous section being
secured through appropriate planning obligations, the proposal is compliant with policy
D1 of the LPSV.
27.

Employment and skills

27.1

Part (v) of paragraph F of Policy SP 2 of the LPSV seeks to ensure that suitable training
and skills development opportunities are provided for local residents to equip them with
the skills they need to access future employment opportunities.

27.2

The Council is committed to ensuring that local residents get the best possible
opportunities for training and employment in relation to this development proposal and
as such an employment and skills plan (ESP) is proposed to be secured via legal
obligation. The ESP will ensure liaison with the Council on employment opportunities,

Page 577

provide training opportunities and seek appropriate level of apprentices are provided
as part of the construction works.
27.3

Subject to the delivery of the measures identified in the ESP, Officers consider that the
development proposal will provide for significant opportunities for new jobs,
apprenticeships and training for the local community.

27.4

The precise details of these schemes can be secured through a planning obligation as
part of the section 106 legal agreement. Subject to the inclusion of the proposed
planning obligation, the proposal will be compliant with Part (v) of Paragraph F of Policy
SP 2 of the LPSV and will provide significant economic benefits to the local area.

28.

EQUALITY DUTIES AND HUMAN RIGHTS

28.1

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires that a public authority must exercise its
functions having due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance
equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
(age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief;
sex; and sexual orientation) and persons who do not share it, and foster good relations
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do
not.

28.2

In making this recommendation, due regard has been given to this Public Sector
Equality Duty and the relevant protected characteristics. It is considered that there will
be no specific implications and that, if approving or refusing this proposal, the Council
will be acting in compliance with its duties.

28.3

The Human Rights Act 1998 makes it unlawful for a public authority to act in a way
which is incompatible with any of the Convention rights protected by the Act unless it
could not have acted otherwise. Careful consideration has been given to the rights set
out in the European Convention on Human Rights, in particular Article 6 (right to a fair
trial); Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life; Article 14 (prohibition of
discrimination); and Article 1 of the First Protocol (right to peaceful enjoyment of
possessions).

28.4

The Council is of the opinion that the recommendation does not interfere with any such
rights except insofar as is necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of others. The
Council is permitted to control the use of property in accordance with the public interest
and the recommendation is considered a proportionate response to the submitted
application based upon the considerations set out in this report.

29.

CONCLUSION

29.1

In conclusion, the starting point for determining this application is development plan.
Determinations must be made in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. The tilted balance identified in Para 11(d)
of the NPPF is engaged, which provides that permission should be granted unless the

Page 578

adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.
29.2

In assessing the principle of the development against the adopted and emerging
Development Plan, the scheme proposes the re-use of brownfield land, within an
accessible and highly sustainable town centre location. The site is located within Flood
Zone 1 and is at low risk from all sources of flooding.

29.3

The existing site comprises the Condor Building of the Civic Offices and the Civic
Offices staff car park. ALP Policy E4A concerns protection of employment sites but
notes that housing on redundant employment lane will be regarded favourably. The
site has been identified as surplus to requirements by EFDC and was subject to the
LPSV site selection process where it was allocated for future residential use. The
proposed use therefore complies with that set out within the allocation in the LPSV.
Given the extensive pre-application process and the Town Centre Strategy which has
been developed and submitted by the Applicant, the development brief requested by
the site allocation is not considered necessary. The residential use is acceptable in
principle.

29.4

Looking at the wider context, the three residential and two commercial developments
proposed by the Applicant are to be phased to enable the sequential delivery of the
required facilities to enable wider development. The first phase will see the MSCP
constructed on Cottis Lane, thus releasing Bakers Lane for redevelopment. The new
Epping Leisure Centre can then be constructed on Bakers Lane releasing the existing
Sports Centre site for residential development.

29.5

On the basis of this assessment, it is considered that proposed development is
compliant with the requirements of the Development Plan and the LPSV in relation to
the principle of use proposed on each site

29.6

Turning to other relevant material considerations, it is recognised that under the
Habitats Regulations, the Epping Forest SAC (“EFSAC) is classified as a ‘European
Site’ and applications for planning permission that are likely, either alone or in
combination with other plans or projects, to have a significant effect on the EFSAC
must be subject to an assessment, known as an Appropriate Assessment ("AA"). Harm
can result from recreational pressure, resulting from additional residential units, and
atmospheric pressure, arising from increased vehicular movements.

29.7

The proposed residential development on Land at St John’s Road, Epping Sports
Centre and Land and part of Civic Offices which propose residential development, will
pay a financial contribution of £352 per dwelling as noted in the SAMM strategy,
secured through the S106 agreement. It can therefore be concluded, beyond a
reasonable scientific doubt, that there will be no harm to the integrity of the EFSAC as
a result of recreational pressure.

29.8

In terms of atmospheric pressure, there is difference between the traffic generation
assumed through the Local Plan allocations and the development proposals advanced

Page 579

through these applications, in an unmitigated scenario. The Annual Average Daily
Traffic has been modelled for the proposed scenario and considered through the Local
Plan air quality model for the EFSAC, so that a direct comparison can be made with
the modelling undertaken for the Air Pollution Mitigation Strategy. It has been
concluded that, subject to the suitable delivery of the required parking provision on
each of the five development sites as well as a suitable Car Park Management Plan to
raise awareness of the electric charging facilities available and the payment of the
necessary financial contributions, the Council as the competent authority can conclude
beyond a reasonable scientific doubt that the development proposed by each of these
applications will not lead to an adverse effect on the integrity of the EFSAC.
29.9

Each of the five applications include an Environmental Statement (ES). The ESs set
out a baseline for the existing environmental conditions in the areas affected and then
identify likely significant effects (including possible cumulative effects) and mitigation.
Significant effects on climate change are identified, which is to be addressed via
embedded and operational mitigation to reduce carbon emissions. Significant
beneficial effects arise from new employment opportunities and the provision of new
and improved sports facilities. Other residual effects are to be addressed via
Construction Management Plans, Landscape and Ecological Management Plans
secured by planning condition. Overall, subject to the appropriate mitigation secured
via condition and the S106 agreement, the environmental impact of the schemes is
acceptable.

29.10 In terms of the proposed housing mix, the delivery of the larger units as identified within
the SHMAA would result in a particular approach to built typology and urban form. In
limited specific town centre locations with close proximity to sustainable transport
options, such as this, a more nuanced approach should be taken to ensure that the
delivery of homes both private and affordable are maximised and that the objective of
mixed and balanced communities are achieved on space constrained sites. The
proposed housing mix is supported in this location as suitable sites to accommodate a
high proportion of 1 and 2 bed units. This will help diversify local housing stock while
maximising housing delivery within a sustainable location. The proposed tenure,
including Built to Rent at St John’s, are acceptable.
29.11 The applicant has put forward an offer of 25% provision of on-site affordable housing
at each of the residential sites. As this falls below the policy requirement of 40%, a
Financial Viability Assessment (FVA) has been submitted, which has been scrutinised
by an independent assessor g on behalf of the Council. The conclusion of the
independent assessment is that a policy compliant provision of affordable housing
would not be viable. The Council’s assessors consider that a 25% provision would
represent a break-even position. Given this, the provision of 25% of units on site as
affordable would be acceptable. A review mechanism will be included within the S106
agreement to ensure that any improvement in viability is secured by the Council.
29.12 The site lies within the Epping Conservation area and the Civic Offices are Grade II
listed. The impact on the fabric of the listed building is acceptable, subject to

Page 580

conditions, and it is therefore recommended that listed building consent be granted for
the works. The significance of the listed building and it’s setting would also be
preserved. The Conservation Team have identified less than substantial harm would
arise to the conservation area, relating to the scale of the development and introduction
of a domestic use. Paragraph 202 of the NPPF states that, where a development
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated
heritage asset (in this case the conservation area), this harm should be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its
optimum viable use. In this case, the significant level of benefit arising from the re-use
of the buildings, in terms of the long-term future of the buildings and the contribution to
the housing supply, outweighs the less than substantial harm which has been
identified. Therefore, subject to relevant conditions, the impact on the heritage assets
is acceptable.
29.13 In terms of design quality, the proposal would be of an acceptable scale, height and
massing. The site layout and the detailed design of the buildings reduces the overall
visual mass, ensuring the scheme sits comfortable within the plot and does not appear
visually dominant within the wider street scene. The proposed appearance, materiality
and landscaping is acceptable subject to conditions requiring further details. The
proposed homes have been carefully designed in terms of layout and would provide a
good level of amenity for future residents. Subject to conditions, there would be
adequate privacy to each home and external amenity spaces.
29.14 Each new home provided as part of the proposal would benefit from an acceptable
level of privacy internally and externally, adequate outlook, and an acceptable level of
light. Layouts of the homes are rational and useable.
29.15 With regard to the impact on surrounding residential properties, there would be no
discernible impact on the daylight or sunlight received by the neighbouring properties
and the proposal is acceptable in this regard. The properties at 8 and 2 Buttercross
Lane will be most affected by the proposal, but the relationship of the properties and
the use of obscure glazing, balanced by the need to make efficient use of the land,
renders this impact acceptable. The distance of all other properties from the proposed
site boundary, and the scale and massing of the proposed buildings, is sufficient to
ensure that there will not be any unacceptable loss of privacy as a result of the
proposal.
29.16 Furthermore, the proposed residential use, and the siting of the buildings in relation to
the neighbouring properties, is such that there would not be an unacceptable increase
in noise experienced by the neighbouring properties. In addition, there will be no undue
harm caused to the amenity of the surrounding properties as a result of lighting, subject
to the recommended conditions. Based on the evidence provided by the applicant and
subject to the recommended conditions, the proposal will not cause significant harm to
air quality in relation to human health.
29.17 The predicted traffic generation resulting from the proposal would not have a significant
impact on the local highway network and is acceptable. The extent of car and cycle

Page 581

parking is acceptable and, in combination with the submitted Travel Plan, would help
reduce reliance on the private car and transition to sustainable modes of travel.
29.18 Generally, the scheme is compliant with the sustainability policies in the emerging
Local Plan. The design incorporates a ‘fabric-first’ approach to sustainability, potable
water targets are acceptable, 95% of construction waste will be recycled or re-use and
the project will be air quality neutral. Therefore, whilst not overly ambitious, the
proposal is considered to be a sustainable form of development and is therefore
compliant with Policy SP 1 of the LPSV and Policy CP5 of the adopted Local Plan. In
addition, in terms of energy consumption and C02 emissions, the proposal is compliant
with Policy DM 20 of the LPSV.
29.19 The application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and a
Below Ground Drainage Strategy. Further information was submitted by the applicant
during the course of the application in relation to the greenfield run-off rate, water
quality and landscape features, following concerns raised by EFDC and ECC. The
EFDC Land Drainage Team and the ECC SuDS Team have reviewed the information
and have no objection, subject to the recommended condition requiring the approval
of a detailed surface water drainage scheme. The proposal is therefore compliant with
Policy DM 18 of the LPSV and with Policy U2A of the ALP.
29.20 A ground investigation report has been submitted with the application, which considers
the potential contamination risks present on the site. The Council’s Geotechnical Team
have considered the reports and agree that there will be no significant risk to human
health as a result of the proposal. A condition is recommended to secure Remediation
Method Statements and Verification reports.
29.21 The application is also supported by a Heritage Statement which assess the potential
for archaeological deposits within the site. Subject to conditions requiring a further
scheme of archaeological investigation, the proposals would conserve any heritage
assets of archaeological significance and are compliant with Policy DM 7 of the LPSV.
29.22 The Ecological Assessment within the submitted ES sets out the baseline ecology of
the application site and assesses the potential impacts of the development and
mitigation and enhancement measures which may be required. Overall, in terms of
ecology, subject to conditions, the proposal would be in accordance with policy DM 1
of the LPSV and Policies NC3 and CP1 of the ALP. A Method Statement for Great
Crested Newts will be secured by condition.
29.23 Suitable contributions have been secured to meet the needs for education and health
facility capacity improvements alongside funding for a range of sustainable transport
measures.
29.24 Overall, the proposal is for the sustainable re-use of brownfield land, in general
accordance with the site allocations within the LPSV. The proposal would provide
additional housing which is a benefit that should be afforded significant weight in the
planning balance, particularly in light of the acute housing shortage within the District.

Page 582

The scheme would also provide a significant amount of affordable housing, albeit
noting that full policy compliance would not be viable. In terms of the quality of the
proposed homes, these would meet prescribed space standards, accessibility
standards, benefit from amenity space and include a large proportion of dual aspect
flats.
29.25 The proposals would integrate satisfactorily with the surrounding townscape in terms
of scale, massing and overall design. Less than substantial harm to the conservation
area has been identified, but, as per the guidance in the NPPF, this harm is outweighed
by the significant benefit of bringing the buildings back into long-term viable uses, and
the public benefit resulting from the provision of new and affordable homes. The
proposals would have an acceptable impact on the living conditions of neighbouring
properties in terms of light, privacy and outlook. Furthermore, no undue harm would
arise from noise or light emitted from the development.
29.26 In terms of transport, the extent of car and cycle parking is acceptable and, in
combination with the submitted Travel Plan, would help reduce reliance on the private
car and the transition to sustainable modes of travel. The sustainability aspects of the
proposal are in compliance with policy.
29.27 The application demonstrates that the environmental impact of the proposal would be
acceptable, subject to appropriate mitigation. There would be no adverse effect on the
integrity of the EFSAC, no air quality degradation, no increased flood risk and no
significant risk to human health from contamination. Archaeological and ecological
assets would be safeguarded as a result of the proposal, and biodiversity net gain
secured.
29.28 Taken together, the application has demonstrated its compliance with the
requirements of the LPSV, the Adopted Local Plan and the NPPF. It is therefore
recommended that planning permission and listed building consent is granted subject
to the imposition of suitably worded planning conditions and obligations.

Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest:
Planning Application Case Officer: Nick Finney
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564 371

Page 583

or if no direct contact can be made please email:
contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Appendix 1a – Planning conditions and informative
Appendix 1b – Listed Building Consent conditions and informative
Appendix 2 – Neighbour representations summary
Appendix 3 – Statutory and technical consultee responses
Appendix 4 – QRP feedback summary

Page 584

Appendix 1A – Civic Offices Planning Conditions and Informatives (EPF/0919/21)
CIVIC OFFICES – EPF/0919/21

1

Time Limit
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2

M4 - Approved Drawings

Page 585

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and retained strictly in accordance with the following approved plans:
Proposed Ground and First Floor Plan
Proposed Second and Third Floor Plan
Proposed Roof Plan
Proposed Site Sections Sheet 1
Bay Elevations - Sheets 1
Bay Elevations – Sheets 2
Bay Elevations – Sheets 3
Proposed Street Scenes
Connection to Civic Offices - Plan + Elevation
Sub-station - Proposed Plans and Elevation
Block A - Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 1
Block A - Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 2
Block A – Proposed Elevations
Block B - Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 1

EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0300
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0301
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0302
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0303
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0304
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0305
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0306
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0311
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0313
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-03100
EDS_S5-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0310
EDS_S5-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0311
EDS_S5-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0312
EDS_S5-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0320

P16
P12
P10
P9
P7
P6
P7
P6
P3
P2
P10
P7
P9
P8

Page 586

Block B - Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 2
Block B – Proposed Elevations
Block C - Proposed Floor Plans
Block C – Proposed Elevations
House Type 1 – Proposed Plans
House Type 1– Elevations (rear shading)
House Type 1 –Elevations (front shading)
House Type 2 – Proposed Plans
House Type 2 - Elevations (rear shading)
House Type 2 – Elevations (front shading)
House-type Feature Views Sketches
Conder Building - General Arrangement Plan
Conder Building - Existing Condition
Conder Building - Vegetation Retention & Removal Plan
Conder Building - General Arrangement Plan Roof Level
Boundary Section A-AA
Boundary Section B-BB
Boundary Section C-CC
Boundary Section D-DD
Boundary Section E-EE
Boundary Section F-FF
Boundary Section G-GG
Existing Pond Section H-HH
Planting Plan Ground Level
Planting Plan - Roof Level
Typical Detail - Tree Protective Fence
Typical Detail - Tree Pit in Soft
Typical Detail - Tree Pit in Hard
Typical Detail - Biodiversity and Blue Roof

EDS_S5-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0321
EDS_S5-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0322
EDS_S5-CW-BC-XX-DR-A-0330
EDS_S5-CW-BC-XX-DR-A-0331
EDS_S5-CW-HT1-XX-DR-A-0380
EDS_S5-CW-HT1-XX-DR-A-0381
EDS_S5-CW-HT1-XX-DR-A-0382
EDS_S5-CW-HT2-XX-DR-A-0390
EDS_S5-CW-HT2-XX-DR-A-0391
EDS_S5-CW-HT2-XX-DR-A-0392
SK039
1270-05-001
1270-05-002
1270-05-003
1270-05-004
1270-05-020
1270-05-021
1270-05-022
1270-05-023
1270-05-024
1270-05-025
1270-05-026
1270-05-027
1270-05-201
1270-05-202
1270-05-400
1270-05-401
1270-05-402
1270-05-403

P6
P6
P10
P8
P4
P4
P4
P3
P3
P3
P4
P1
P2
P3
P3
P3
P3
P3
P3
P3
P3
P2
P3
P3
P1
P1
P1
P1

Page 587

Typical Detail - Intensive Green Roof
Typical Detail - High Brick Retaining Wall (2.0m height)
Typical Detail - Low Brick Retaining Wall (450mm height)
Typical Detail - Perforated Brick Wall
Typical Detail - Swale
Typical Detail - Eastern Boundary Brick Wall
Surface Detail - Brick Paving Type 1
Surface Detail - Block Paving
Surface Detail - Natural Stone Setts - Public Realm Interface
Surface Detail - Resin Bound Gravel
Surface Detail - Manhole Covers
Surface Detail - Kerbs & Edges
Street Furniture Detail - Cycle Stand
Street Furniture Detail - Litter & Recycling Bin
Street Furniture Detail - Straight Timber Bench with Backrest
Street Furniture Detail - Large Timber Feasting/Picnic Table
Street Furniture Detail - Timber Cube Seats

1270-05-404
1270-05-405
1270-05-406
1270-05-407
1270-05-408
1270-05-409
1270-05-420
1270-05-421
1270-05-422
1270-05-423
1270-05-424
1270-05-425
1270-05-431
1270-05-432
1270-05-433
1270-05-434
1270-05-435

P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1
P1

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). For the avoidance of doubt
and to ensure the proposal is built in accordance with the approved plans.

3

Finished Floor Levels
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works, details of the finished floor levels of the buildings of the development hereby permitted
in relation to existing ground levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that construction is carried out at a suitable level having regard to drainage, access, the appearance of the development, the
amenities of neighbouring occupiers and existing trees, hedgerows and other landscaping, in accordance with Policies T 1, DM 9, DM 18 and

DM 19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with Policies DBE2, DBE3, DBE4, DBE9, LL11 and RP3 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.

Design
4

H1 – Details/Samples of External Materials

Page 588

Prior to the commencement of development above slab level, detailed drawings and samples of all materials (or documentary and photographic
details where samples are unavailable) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development, including any external cladding
and internal cladding that is decorative and visible externally, decorative fascia or panels, balustrades and glazing, hereby permitted, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details / samples. Please do not send materials to the Civic Offices. Materials should be kept on site and arrangements made with the planning
officer for inspection.
Detailed drawings and samples shall include:












Principal features on the facades e.g. bay studies (1:50 @ appropriate paper size)
Details of each envelope / roof type (1:20 @A3)
Detailed brick elements including mortar joint profile (1:20 @A3)
Details of glazing and curtain walling systems including any manifestation (1:20 @A3)
Key junctions/bonds between materials/finishes (1:20 @A3)
Ground floor frontages including entrances, glazing and signage zones, infill panels on plant rooms/bike stores etc, shopfronts or
commercial/workspace frontages (1:50 @ appropriate paper size)
Parapets, roof edges, rooftop plant screening, lift over runs etc (1:20 @A3)
Elevational location of all joints e.g. structural, movement, panels (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
Elevational location of all openings in envelope e.g. ventilation grilles, bird & bat boxes (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
Elevational location of all items which are fixed to the façade e.g. fins/louvres, rainwater pipes, lighting, CCTV, alarms including any
provision for cable runs boxes (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
Head, jamb and sill details, including profiles, for typical openings and all ground floor entrances and doors to balconies / terraces (1:20
@A3)











Details of key architectural metalwork / screens / gates (1:20 @A3)
Details of balconies and terraces including floor finishes (1:20 @A3)
Balustrade details (1:20 @A3)
Details of soffits and canopies (1:20 @A3)
Details of external stairs (1:50 @A3)
Junctions with neighbouring buildings (1:20 @A3)
External signage details including elevations and sections (1:50 @A3) (excluding signage requiring separate advertisement consent)
Details of green / brown roof system (1:20 @A3)
Any other items not listed but bespoke to building requirement

Reason: To ensure a high quality design and satisfactory appearance to the development in the interests of visual amenity of the area, in
accordance with policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF
2021.

Page 589

5

H2 – Materials
The details of materials to be submitted pursuant to Condition 5 and to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development
hereby permitted shall match (in colour, style, bonding & texture) those shown on plan numbers:
Proposed Ground and First Floor Plan
Proposed Second and Third Floor Plan
Proposed Roof Plan
Proposed Site Sections Sheet 1
Bay Elevations - Sheets 1
Bay Elevations – Sheets 2
Bay Elevations – Sheets 3
Proposed Street Scenes
Connection to Civic Offices - Plan + Elevation
Sub-station - Proposed Plans and Elevation

EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0300
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0301
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0302
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0303
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0304
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0305
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0306
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0311
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0313
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-03100

P16
P12
P10
P9
P7
P6
P7
P6
P3
P2

Page 590

Block A – Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 1
Block A – Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 2
Block A – Proposed Elevations
Block B – Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 1
Block B – Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 2
Block B – Proposed Elevations
Block C – Proposed Floor Plans
Block C – Proposed Elevations
House Type 1 – Proposed Plans
House Type 1– Elevations (rear shading)
House Type 1 – Elevations (front shading)
House Type 2 – Proposed Plans
House Type 2 – Elevations (rear shading)
House Type 2 – Elevations (front shading)
House-type Feature Views Sketches

EDS_S5-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0310
EDS_S5-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0311
EDS_S5-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0312
EDS_S5-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0320
EDS_S5-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0321
EDS_S5-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0322
EDS_S5-CW-BC-XX-DR-A-0330
EDS_S5-CW-BC-XX-DR-A-0331
EDS_S5-CW-HT1-XX-DR-A-0380
EDS_S5-CW-HT1-XX-DR-A-0381
EDS_S5-CW-HT1-XX-DR-A-0382
EDS_S5-CW-HT2-XX-DR-A-0390
EDS_S5-CW-HT2-XX-DR-A-0391
EDS_S5-CW-HT2-XX-DR-A-0392
SK039

P10
P7
P9
P8
P6
P6
P10
P8
P4
P4
P4
P3
P3
P3

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity of the area, in accordance with policy DBE10 of the adopted
Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

6

Plot 8 and 16 Side Elevation Details/Wayfinding
Prior to the commencement of above ground works, revised fenestration details for the side elevations of Plots 08 and 16 shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details submitted shall be in broad accordance with the details shown on ‘Housetype Feature View Sketches SK039’, in particular the features elements on the side elevation and will replace the side elevation details noted in
the approved drawings condition pursuant to this permission. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity of the area and to improve wayfinding through the development,
in accordance with policy DBE10 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF
2021.

7

Acoustic Glazing/Ventilation Performance of Block A
The acoustic performance of the design and construction of the development should be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The
design and construction should provide the performance to provide reasonable resting/sleeping conditions with reference to British Standard
BS8233: 2014 – Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for buildings – Code of practice (or such other standard which may
supersede it from time to time).
All rooms within the development hereby approved shall be provided with sufficient double glazing and acoustically treated trickle ventilators, or
other means of ventilation that will provide adequate ventilation with the windows closed, to ensure that the occupiers are provided with reasonable
resting/sleeping conditions with reference to British Standard BS8233:2014 – Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for buildings
– Code of practice (or such other standard which may supersede it from time to time)

Page 591

Prior to the commencement of above ground works, details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to
demonstrate that the construction of Block A will comply with the acoustic glazing and ventilation performance requirements as set out in the
Noise Impact Assessment Technical Report: R8437-8 Rev 0 (24Acoustics: 30th March 2021) in order to achieve the required acoustic and
ventilation performance. The affected units in Block A should achieve:




Glazing: 4 mm glass: 16 mm cavity (minimum): 4 mm glass, Minimum 31 dB Rw.
Ventilator Type A: Sound Attenuated Trickle Vent, Minimum 36 dB Dn,e,w.
Ventilator Type B: Standard Trickle Vent, Minimum 32 dB Dn,e,w.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and all acoustic mitigation measures shall be implemented prior to
the occupation of the development and thereafter permanently retained.
Reason: To ensure that the future occupiers are not affected by undue noise nuisance and disturbance in accordance with policies RP5A and
DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and policies DM9 & DM21 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF
2021.Reason: To ensure that the future occupiers are not affected by undue noise nuisance and disturbance in accordance with policies RP5A
and DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and policies DM9 & DM21 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

8

H3 – Boundary Treatment
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works of the development herby permitted, a scale plan of not less than 1:100 indicating the
position, design, materials and height and type of boundary treatment to be erected, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. This shall include details of the heights and species of boundary hedgerows to ensure that adequate screening is provided
to future occupiers upon first occupation. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and retained in perpetuity.
Reason: To ensure the safe movement of vehicles between the highway and off-street parking areas and to ensure a satisfactory appearance of
the development, in accordance with Local Plan and Alterations policies ST4 & DBE1 and Submission Version Local Plan (2017) policies T1
(paragraph F) & DM 9, all of which are consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 592

9

External Lighting
Details of any external lighting of the site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority 6 months prior to the
occupation of the development. This information shall include layout and elevation plans with beam orientation, light spill and a schedule of
equipment to be installed (luminaire type, mounting height, aiming angles and luminaire profiles) and details of when all non-essential external
lighting for the development shall be non-illuminated. The lighting shall be installed, maintained and operated in accordance with the approved
details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the use of the lighting does not cause undue nuisance and disturbance to neighbouring properties at unreasonable hours
and in accordance with policies RP5A and DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, and policies DM9 & DM21 of the Local Plan
Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Soft/Hard Landscaping/Trees
10

C1 - Retention of Trees and Shrubs
If any tree, shrub or hedge shown to be retained in the submitted Arboricultural Report 200660-PD-11 (TMA: March 2021) is removed, uprooted
or destroyed, dies, or becomes severely damaged or diseased during development activities or within 3 years of the completion of the

development, another tree, shrub or hedge of the same size and species shall be planted within 6 months or during the next planting season
(whichever is the sooner) at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. If within a period of
five years from the date of planting any replacement tree, shrub or hedge is removed, uprooted or destroyed, or dies or becomes seriously
damaged or defective another tree, shrub or hedge of the same species and size as that originally planted shall, within 6 months or during the
next planting season (whichever is the sooner), be planted at the same place.
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the existing trees, shrubs or hedges and to ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development, in
accordance with policies LL10 & LL11 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, policies DM3 and DM5 of the Local Plan Submission Version
2017, the NPPF 2021, and Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

11

C3 - Hard and Soft Landscaping

Page 593

Prior to any above ground works, a scheme of hard and soft landscaping for the site, including details of materials, species and a planting
schedule shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The hard landscaping details shall include:a) details of existing features to be retained;
b) proposed finished levels or contours;
c) hard surfacing materials;
d) means of enclosure;
e) car parking layouts;
f) other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;
g) secure cycle storage facilities;
h) refuse facilities;
i) other minor artefacts and structures, including furniture, play equipment, signs, functional services above and below ground (e.g. drainage,
power, communications cables, pipelines) including heating strips, indicating lines, manholes, supports etc.;
j) retained historic landscape features and proposals for restoration where relevant;
k) existing trees and hedgerows to be retained; .
l) soft landscaping details including plans for planting or establishment by any means and full written specifications and schedules of plants,
including species, plant sizes and proposed numbers /densities where appropriate;
m) tree/hedgerow removal;
n) tree planting including species, planting location, timing of planting, specification and maintenance;

o) tree protection measures;
p) programme of management of the soft planting;
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the
occupation of the building or completion of the development, whichever is the sooner. If any plants which within a period of 5 years from the
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To secure the provision and retention of the landscaping in the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with policies
CP2 & LL11 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, policies DM3 and DM5 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, the NPPF 2021, and
Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Page 594

12

Soft Landscape
Soft landscape works pursuant to Condition 11 shall comply with the approved planting plans (1270-05-201 P3 and 1270-05-202 P3) and include
planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of
plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate; implementation programme. All planting, seeding or turfing
comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the
buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species, unless the local planning authority gives written approval to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and landscape treatment of the site. To safeguard the visual character of the
immediate area in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted
Local Plan and Alterations 2006, and the NPPF 2021.

13

C6 - Tree Protection Measures

The development hereby permitted shall proceed in accordance with the terms of the Arboricultural Report 200660-PD-11 (TMA: March 2021).
Its implementation shall include the supervision of the tree protection during the demolition and construction phases by an Arboricultural
Consultant (provided by the applicant with the agreement of the Local Planning Authority).
Reason: To protect existing trees during the construction works in order to ensure that the character and amenity of the area are not impaired, in
accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and
Alterations 2006.

14

Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP)

Page 595

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted (including ground works, vegetation clearance), a construction environmental
management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity)
shall include the following.
(a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
(b) Identification of ""biodiversity protection zones"".
(c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided
as a set of method statements). This should include a method statement for Great Crested Newts.
(d) Measures to protect badgers from being trapped in open excavations and/or pipe culverts.
(e) The location and timings of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.
(f) The times during which construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee works.
(g) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
(h) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly
competent person.
(i) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To avoid or mitigate the effects of the construction of the development on ecological receptors, in accordance with Policies DM 3, DM 5
and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

15

Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP)
Prior to the first occupation of the development, a landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. The content of the LEMP shall include the following.

Page 596

(a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
(b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.
(c) Aims and objectives of management.
(d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives. The management plan shall include the long-term design objectives and
management responsibilities and funding for all landscaped areas including Green Infrastructure assets
(e) Prescriptions for management actions.
(f) Prescription of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled forward over a five-year period).
(g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan.
(h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by
the developer with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show
that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and
implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The maintenance
schedule shall be for a minimum period of 5 years and include details of the arrangements for its implementation. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved schedule. The management plan & maintenance schedule shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of the building or completion of the development, whichever is the
sooner.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife
& Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). To ensure habitat enhancement within the
landscape of the development, in accordance with Policies DM 1, DM 3, DM 5 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with LL7,
LL10 and LL11 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006, the NPPF 2021 and Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).

Transport
16

Vehicle Turning Areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development the vehicle/cycle parking and turning areas as indicated on the approved plans shall be
implemented, hard surfaced, sealed and marked out. The parking and turning areas shall be retained in perpetuity for their intended purpose.
Reason: To ensure that appropriate parking and turning is provided, in accordance with Policy T 1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017
and with Policy ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

17

Delivery and Servicing Plan

Page 597

Prior to the commencement of any above ground works for the development hereby permitted, a highways management plan shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The highways management plan shall include the management responsibilities and
maintenance schedule for the private access road; the on-site car and cycle parking; electric vehicle charging points; servicing, loading and
unloading, turning and waiting areas. The management plan shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and its requirements
adhered to thereafter.
Reason: In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and the character and appearance of the development, in accordance with Policies T
1 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policies DBE1, DBE4 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

18

Construction Management Plan
Prior to the commencement of development hereby permitted, a Construction Management/Method Plan and Statement with respect to the
construction phase of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development works shall be
undertaken in accordance with the approved Construction Management/Method Statement. The details shall include:
a) Construction vehicle numbers, type and routing;
b) Traffic management requirements, including crossing the public highway and other rights of way;

c) Vehicle parking for site operatives and visitors (inclusive of travel plan measures to ensure town centre visitor parking isn’t utilised for
contractors);
d) Loading/unloading and storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
e) Construction and storage compound areas;
f) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding;
g) Siting and details of wheel washing facilities including location of petrol/oil interceptors in all car parking/washing/ repair facilities;
h) Frequency and method of cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;
i) Minimisation of dust emissions arising from construction activities on site and any temporary access to the public highway;
j) Details of the responsible person (site manager/office) who can be contacted; and
k) A scheme of recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works.

Page 598

Reason: In the interest of highways and pedestrian safety and the character and appearance of the development. To prevent oil-polluted
discharges entering local watercourses. To ensure satisfactory provision in relation to adjoining properties and circulation within the site, in
accordance with Policies T 1 and DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policies DBE1, DBE4 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan
and Alterations 2006.

19

Vehicle Wheel Washing
Wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for vehicles leaving the site during construction works shall be installed and utilised to clean vehicles
immediately before leaving the site. Any mud or other material deposited on nearby roads as a result of the development shall be removed.
Reason: To avoid the deposit of material on the public highway in the interests of highway safety, in accordance with policy ST4 of the adopted
Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policy T1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021

20

Swept Path Analysis
Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted, swept path assessments for the specified phase of development shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include the following:

a) Large car accessing car parking spaces to demonstrate that they can be safely entered and departed from. This should be demonstrated for
the car parking spaces that are in corners and for one midway in a row. This will be necessary for any public or employment car parks;
b) Swept path assessment for a fire tender manoeuvring within the site to demonstrate that a fire tender can safely manoeuvre within to access
all units;
c) Swept path assessment for a refuse vehicle to demonstrate that refuse collection and servicing can take place to serve the development site;
d) Swept path assessments for servicing and delivery vehicles for any commercial land uses to demonstrate that servicing and deliveries can be
accommodated to serve the development site and within the respective land use sites. Thereafter, the development, or the specified phase(s) of
the development (whichever is the sooner) shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public highway and rights of way, in accordance with Policy T 1
of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017 and with Policy ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

Page 599

21

Sustainability
Prior to the commencement of any above ground works for the development hereby permitted, a method statement that demonstrates the way
in which the development will meet the minimum sustainability levels and standards as set out in the Energy Strategy Report (Elementa: March
2021) and Sustainability Statement (Elementa: March 2021) shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
details shall include both passive and active sustainability measures to be incorporated into the built fabric of the development and those
measures to be carried out during the construction phase of development. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: In the interest of delivering positive sustainability and environmental benefits. To support the move towards a low carbon economy, in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies DM 20 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with Policy CP8 of the
Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

22

I1 - Sustainable water use

Prior to first occupation of the development or its completion, whichever is the sooner, details of measures to be incorporated within the
development to ensure a water efficiency standard of 110 litres (or less) per person per day shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: The District is classed as being in an area of severe water stress and the reduction of water use is therefore required in the interests of
sustainability and in accordance with policy CP2 of the adopted Local Plan 2998 & 2006, Policy DM19 of the Local Plan Submission Version
2017, and the NPPF 2021.

23

Flood Risk and Drainage

Page 600

No development hereby approved (except demolition and enabling works) shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The surface water drainage system will be based on the submitted
flood risk assessment (Flood Risk Assessment, Issue P01 – 26 March 2021, Doc Ref: 2781-MHT-CV-RP-0001) and the Drainage Strategy
indicated on drawing nos. ‘2781-MHT-C-SK005, Rev P03’ and ‘2748-MHT-C-SK006’. Further information required at the detailed design stage
must include but not be limited to the following:








Limiting discharge rates to 2.4l/s for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year rate plus 40% allowance for climate change.
All relevant permissions to discharge from the site into any outfall should be demonstrated
Final modelling and calculations for the surface water drainage system demonstrating how all areas of the development are attenuated
for all storms up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change.
Inclusion of an improvement on water quality elements of the design with strong consideration given to a larger area of permeable paving
and rain gardens across the site.
Detailed engineering/construction drawings for the drainage system.
Detailed drainage plan, inclusive of any manholes, piping (including dimensions), storage/conveyance features and any discharge
points.
A plan detailing exceedance routes
A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to the approved strategy

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding and to prevent the pollution of the water environment, in accordance with policies RP3, RP5
and U3B of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policies DM16, DM18 and DM19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF
2021.

24

Drainage Maintenance 1
Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, a maintenance plan detailing the maintenance arrangements including who is
responsible for different elements of the surface water drainage system and the maintenance activities/frequencies shall be submitted to and
agreed in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to enable the surface water drainage system to function as intended
to ensure mitigation against flood risk, in accordance with policies RP3, RP5 and U3B of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, Policies DM16,
DM18 and DM19 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Page 601

25

Ecology
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Measures (detailed in
Section 6.11 of Epping Forest Environmental Impact Assessment ‐ Residential Sites Chapter 6 ‐ Ecology and Biodiversity (Stephenson Halliday:
March 2021)). Prior to the commencement of above ground works a timetable for the implementation of the ecological mitigation measures shall
be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To enable proper consideration of the impact of the development on the contribution of nature conservation interests to the amenity of
the area, in accordance with Policy DM 1 of the Local Plan Submission Version and with CP1 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006,
and the NPPF 2021.

26

Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy

A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and priority species shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to above ground works, following the details contained within Section 6.11 of Epping Forest Environmental Impact
Assessment ‐ Residential Sites Chapter 6 ‐ Ecology and Biodiversity (Stephenson Halliday: March 2021). The content of the Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.

Page 602

Reason: To maintain and improve the biodiversity of the site and to mitigate any impact from the development hereby approved, in accordance
with Policy DM1 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

27

Part M4(2) Accessibility standards
The proposed residential units hereby permitted shall be carried out in general accordance with Part M4(2) Category 2 (Accessibility and
Adaptable Dwellings) as set out in the Building Regulations 2010 Access to and Use of Buildings Approved Document M Volume 1: Dwellings.
Prior to occupation of the residential units, details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate
compliance with Part M2(s) Category 2, in particular that a compliant shower room is provided on the entrance level of those properties with 3
bedrooms or more. The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed mix of residential accommodation provides for all new homes to be accessible and adaptable as defined
by the Building Regulations. To comply with Policy H1 of the Local Planning Submission Version 2017 and the NPPF 2021.

Air Quality
28

Ultra Low NOx Boilers Condition

Prior to completion of the development hereby permitted, details of boilers shall be submitted to and approved in writing to the Local Planning Authority.
The boilers shall have dry NOx emissions not exceeding 40 mg/kWh (0%). The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To help improve local environmental conditions and limit emissions to air as required by the national planning policy framework. Boilers can
be a significant source of NO2 emissions and worsen local air quality. To help support improvements to air quality in accordance with the NPPF and
Policy T1 and DM22 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017.

29

Electric Charging Points
Prior to the commencement of above ground works, details and location of the parking spaces equipped with active Electric Vehicle Charging
Points (EVCP) must be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall demonstrate that the development
will deliver 100 per cent active ECVPs and shall include:

Page 603





Location of active charge points
Specification of charging equipment
Operation/management strategy

A management plan for the charging points shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation of the
development. The management plan shall include:




Which parking bays will have active charging provision, including disabled parking bays;
How charging point usage will be charged amongst users and non-users;
Electricity supply availability. The electricity supply should be already confirmed by UK Power Networks.

The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details and retained in perpetuity. Prior to occupation, the application shall
submit confirmation to the Local Planning Authority that the charging points are operational, with active provision. This must be supported by
appropriate evidence.

Reason: In the interest of promoting increased choice of sustainable transport options. To encourage the use of electric vehicles in order to
reduce air pollution in the District and help support improvements to Epping Forest SAC in accordance with Policies T1 and DM22 of the Epping
Forest District Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Land Contamination
30

G5 - Land Contamination Survey

Page 604

Prior to the commencement of development hereby permitted (with the exception of demolition works where this is for the reason of making
areas of the site available for site investigation), an assessment of the risks posed by any land contamination shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This assessment must be undertaken by a suitably qualified contaminated land practitioner,
in accordance with British Standard BS 10175: Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites – Code of Practice and the Environment
Agency’s Guidelines for the Land Contamination: Risk Management (LCRM 2020) (or equivalent if replaced), and shall assess any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved
details unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. The assessment shall include: (1) A survey of the extent,
scale and nature of contamination and (2) An assessment of the potential risks to: human health; property (existing or proposed) including
buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland, service lines and pipes; adjoining land; groundwater and surface waters; ecological systems; and
archaeological sites and ancient monuments.
If following the risk assessment (pursuant to the details outlined above) unacceptable risks are identified from land affected by contamination,
no work on any part of the development shall take place, until a detailed land remediation scheme has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s),
the proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of the works to be undertaken including the
verification plan. (The remediation scheme shall be sufficiently detailed and thorough to ensure that after remediation, as a minimum, land
should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990). The development
shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme. Following the completion of the remediation works and prior to the first
occupation of the development, a verification report by a suitably qualified contaminated land practitioner shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policy RP4 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and policy DM21 of the
Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

31

Archaeological Investigation
No development or preliminary groundworks shall take place until a programme of archaeological investigation has been secure in accordance
with a written scheme of investigation that shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
No development or preliminary groundworks shall take place until the completion of the programme of archaeological investigation identified in
the WSI defined above.

Page 605

Post excavation analysis, preparation of a full site archive and report ready for deposition at the local museum and submission of a publication
report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted.
A professional team of archaeologists should undertake the archaeological work. The archaeological work will consist of a programme of
archaeological trial trenching within the car park to identify the extent and depth of archaeological deposits followed by open area excavation if
archaeological deposits are identified.
Reason: To ensure adequate opportunity is provided for archaeological research on this historically important site. To comply with Policies Policy
DM7 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

32

Historic Environment Recording
No demolition, conversion or alterations shall commence until a programme of historic building recording has been secured in accordance with
a written scheme of investigation (WSI) to be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

No demolition, conversion or alterations shall take place until the satisfactory completion of the recording in accordance with the WSI submitted
and agreed pursuant to this condition.
A report detailing the results of the recording programme and confirming the deposition of the archive to an appropriate depository as identified
and agreed in the WSI shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority prior to first occupation of the development. A professional team of
archaeologists should undertake the archaeological work. The archaeological work will consist of a historic building record of the historic buildings
proposed for demolition or conversion.
Reason: To ensure the historic and architectural assets of the building are properly documented and recorded, in accordance with Policies HC10,
HC11 and HC12 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM7 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

33

Windows – Obscure Glazing Plot 9

Page 606

The windows above ground floor level in the side elevation of Plot 9 shall be glazed in obscure glazing. The glazing in these windows shall not
be altered to clear glazing without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
To maintain the privacy of adjoining residential occupiers. To comply with Policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9
of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

34

Plant Noise
The use of any plant which services this development must cease during any period that the rating level of noise (as defined by BS4142:2014)
exceeds the prevailing background noise level at the affected noise sensitive premises. The measurement position and assessment shall be
made according to BS4142:2014, and shall include the cumulative effect of all of the plant on the site.
The cumulative plant noise limit for this site shall not exceed 39dB LAeq, 1hr between 07.00-23.00 hrs, and 32dB LAeq, 15 mins between 23.0007.00 hrs.

Reason: In order to minimise any noise which will affect the amenity of local residents, in accordance with policy DBE1 of the adopted Local
Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

35

Low Frequency Noise
Low frequency, unweighted noise levels should be controlled to a maximum of 50 dB Leq, 63Hz, 5 min and 40 dB Leq, 125Hz, 5 min at the
façades of nearby noise sensitive premises.
Reason: In order to minimise the impact of any low frequency noise from music which will affect the amenity of local residents, in accordance
with policy DBE1 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

36

Cycle and Refuse Storage

Page 607

Prior to the commencement of any above ground work, detailed elevation and layout plans at a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 of the internal and external
refuse collection areas and cycle stores within the development, or relevant phase of the development, whichever is the sooner, shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. In the interest of the character and appearance of the public realm,
neighbouring amenity and the sustainability of the development. To comply with Policies T 1 and D9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017
and with Policies DBE1 and ST4 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006.

37

Air Extraction/Ventilation
Notwithstanding the development hereby approved, details of any extract/air conditioning/refrigeration and /or ventilation system proposed for
installation outside of the approved roof plant enclosures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to its
installation within or on any individual unit. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect nearby noise sensitive residential and commercial premises from significant loss of amenity due to noise, in accordance with
policy DBE9 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations 2006, policy DM 9 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Informative

Page 608

1

The Local Planning Authority has been positive and proactive in its consideration of this planning application suggesting improvements to the
development during the course of the application. The applicant submitted amended plans and additional and revised information resulting in a
form of development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the District.

2

All reasonable steps to minimise dust emissions from the site shall be employed throughout the demolition and construction phase of the
development.

3

Meanwhile – Any meanwhile activities proposed on this site that fall outside of Permitted Development within the GPDO 2015 (as amended) are
subject to planning permission.

4

Any advertisements and / or signage shall be agreed separately under the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) Regulations
2007.

5

The applicant is advised that no waste materials generated as a result of the proposed demolition and/or construction operations shall be burnt
on the site. All such refuse shall be disposed of by suitable alternative methods.

6

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the Control of Pollution Act 1974 relating to the control of noise on construction and demolition sites.

7

Environmental Protection and Drainage Advisory: The applicant has provided a surface water drainage strategy and the general principles of the
design are acceptable. The Environmental Protection and Drainage Team will require further information/clarification at the discharge of
conditions stage on the following:
-

Evidence of the required water quality treatment for the southern part of the access road in line with Chapter 26 of the SuDS Manual.

-

Details of mitigation measures in place for the overall site in relation to fuel and oil spillage.
Evidence of a permit to discharge into the main river from the Environment Agency.
Details of pump contingency.
Health and safety precautions to be included in relation to the open water features.
Survey of the existing watercourse and its ability to take the additional surface water from the development.
Details of where any flooded volume for the 1 in 100 year plus 40% will be contained within the site as per the planning statement.
A detailed drainage plan must be supplied including details of any interceptors for fuel spillage, silt traps, catch pits, exceedance routing,
in addition to details already covered in the Flood Risk Assessment.

Page 609

8

It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that before commencement of any works to the public highway, any necessary Agreements under the
Highways Act 1980 are also obtained. Works to the highway will normally require an agreement or agreements, under Section 278 of the
Highways Act, with Highways England and the Local Highway Authority.

9

All work within or affecting the highway is to be laid out and constructed by prior arrangement with, and to the requirements and satisfaction of,
the Highway Authority, details to be agreed before the commencement of works. The applicants should be advised to contact the Development
Management Team by email at development.management@essexhighways.org or by post to: SMO3 - Essex Highways, Unit 36, Childerditch
Industrial Park, Childerditch Hall Drive, Brentwood, Essex, CM13 3HD.

10

The Highway Authority cannot accept any liability for costs associated with a developer’s improvement. This includes design check safety
audits, site supervision, commuted sums for maintenance and any potential claims under Part 1 and Part 2 of the Land Compensation Act
1973. To protect the Highway Authority against such compensation claims a cash deposit or bond may be required.

Page 610

Appendix 1B – Civic Offices Listed Building Conditions and Informatives (EPF/1042/21)

CIVIC OFFICES LB EPF/1042/21

1

Time Limit
The works authorised by this consent shall begin no later than the expiration of three years from the date of this consent.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as
amended)

Page 611

2

Approved Plans LB
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and retained strictly in accordance with the following approved plans:
Proposed Ground and First Floor Plan
Proposed Second and Third Floor Plan
Proposed Roof Plan
Proposed Site Sections Sheet 1
Bay Elevations – Sheets 1
Bay Elevations – Sheets 2
Bay Elevations – Sheets 3
Proposed Street Scenes
Connection to Civic Offices - Plan + Elevation
Sub-station - Proposed Plans and Elevation
Block A – Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 1
Block A – Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 2
Block A – Proposed Elevations
Block B – Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 1
Block B – Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 2

EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0300
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0301
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0302
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0303
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0304
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0305
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0306
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0311
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0313
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-03100
EDS_S5-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0310
EDS_S5-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0311
EDS_S5-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0312
EDS_S5-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0320
EDS_S5-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0321

P16
P12
P10
P9
P7
P6
P7
P6
P3
P2
P10
P7
P9
P8
P6

Block B – Proposed Elevations
Block C – Proposed Floor Plans
Block C – Proposed Elevations

EDS_S5-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0322
EDS_S5-CW-BC-XX-DR-A-0330
EDS_S5-CW-BC-XX-DR-A-0331

P6
P10
P8

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure the proposals is built in accordance with the approved plans.
3

Design
Details/Samples of External Materials LB

Page 612

Prior to the commencement of development above slab level, detailed drawings and samples of all materials (or documentary
and photographic details where samples are unavailable) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
development, including any external cladding and internal cladding that is decorative and visible externally, decorative fascia or
panels, balustrades and glazing, hereby permitted, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details / samples. Please do not send
materials to the Civic Offices. Materials should be kept on site and arrangements made with the planning officer for inspection.
Detailed drawings and samples shall include:
 Principal features on the facades e.g. bay studies (1:50 @ appropriate paper size)
 Details of each envelope / roof type (1:20 @A3)
 Detailed brick elements including mortar joint profile (1:20 @A3)
 Details of glazing and curtain walling systems including any manifestation (1:20 @A3)
 Key junctions/bonds between materials/finishes (1:20 @A3)
 Ground floor frontages including entrances, glazing and signage zones, infill panels on plant rooms etc. (1:50 @
appropriate paper size)
 Parapets, roof edges, rooftop plant screening, lift over runs etc (1:20 @A3)
 Elevational location of all joints e.g. structural, movement, panels (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)
 Elevational location of all openings in envelope e.g. ventilation grilles, bird & bat boxes (1:100 @ appropriate paper
size)
 Elevational location of all items which are fixed to the façade e.g. fins/louvres, rainwater pipes, lighting, CCTV, alarms
including any provision for cable runs boxes (1:100 @ appropriate paper size)











Head, jamb and sill details, including profiles, for typical openings and all ground floor entrances and doors to balconies
/ terraces (1:20 @A3)
Details of key architectural metalwork / screens / gates (1:20 @A3)
Details of balconies and terraces including floor finishes (1:20 @A3)
Balustrade details (1:20 @A3)
Details of soffits and canopies (1:20 @A3)
Details of external stairs (1:50 @A3)
Junctions with neighbouring buildings (1:20 @A3)
External signage details including elevations and sections (1:50 @A3) (excluding signage requiring separate
advertisement consent)
Any other items not listed but bespoke to building requirement

Page 613

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and to ensure that the development would preserve the historic
character and appearance of the Listed Building and in accordance with Policies HC10, HC11 and HC12 of the adopted Local
Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM7 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.
4

Materials LB
The materials and finishes shall be in accordance with the details submitted and approved pursuant to Condition 4. The details
to be submitted and used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall match (in
colour, style, bonding & texture) those shown on plan numbers:
Proposed Ground and First Floor Plan
Proposed Second and Third Floor Plan
Proposed Roof Plan
Proposed Site Sections Sheet 1
Bay Elevations – Sheets 1
Bay Elevations – Sheets 2
Bay Elevations – Sheets 3
Proposed Street Scenes
Connection to Civic Offices - Plan + Elevation
Sub-station - Proposed Plans and Elevation
Block A – Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 1

EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0300
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0301
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0302
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0303
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0304
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0305
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0306
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0311
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-0313
EDS_S5-CW-XX-XX-DR-A-03100
EDS_S5-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0310

P16
P12
P10
P9
P7
P6
P7
P6
P3
P2
P10

Block A – Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 2
Block A – Proposed Elevations
Block B – Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 1
Block B – Proposed Floor Plans Sheet 2
Block B – Proposed Elevations
Block C – Proposed Floor Plans
Block C – Proposed Elevations

EDS_S5-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0311
EDS_S5-CW-BA-XX-DR-A-0312
EDS_S5-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0320
EDS_S5-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0321
EDS_S5-CW-BB-XX-DR-A-0322
EDS_S5-CW-BC-XX-DR-A-0330
EDS_S5-CW-BC-XX-DR-A-0331

P7
P9
P8
P6
P6
P10
P8

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and to ensure that the development would preserve the historic
character and appearance of the Listed Building and in accordance with Policies HC10, HC11 and HC12 of the adopted Local
Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM7 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

Page 614

5

Historic Environment Recording
No demolition, conversion or alterations shall commence until a programme of historic building recording has been secured in
accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI) to be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.
No demolition, conversion or alterations shall take place until the satisfactory completion of the recording in accordance with
the WSI submitted and agreed pursuant to this condition.
A report detailing the results of the recording programme and confirming the deposition of the archive to an appropriate
depository as identified and agreed in the WSI shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority prior to first occupation of the
development. A professional team of archaeologists should undertake the archaeological work. The archaeological work will
consist of a historic building record of the historic buildings proposed for demolition or conversion.
Reason: To ensure the historic and architectural assets of the building are properly documented and recorded, in accordance
with Policies HC10, HC11 and HC12 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM7 of the Local Plan Submission
Version 2017, and the NPPF 2021.

6

Making Good LB

Following completion of the building operations for which consent is hereby granted, all 'making good' of the existing building
shall be carried out in materials which closely match those used in the existing building to the satisfaction of the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To ensure the historic and architectural character of the building is properly maintained, in accordance with Policies
HC10, HC11 and HC12 of the adopted Local Plan 1998 & 2006, and Policy DM7 of the Local Plan Submission Version 2017,
and the NPPF 2021.

Page 615

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2
Natural Environment
There are complaints of minimal effort within the plans to design with the existing natural features
and there appears to be no provision of wildflower verges or spaces. There are also concerns that
the plans to add trees and a grass verge would block the right of access to the rear of 313-319 High
street which require access for commercial and private use.
Wildlife
It is noted that there is no provision for designing wildlife-friendly buildings displayed e.g. bird and
bat boxes, pollinator and insect-friendly structures, connected spaces for hedgehogs. Nor is there
any evidence of lighting designed to have minimal impact on wildlife.
There are also concerns around the proposed removal of existing hedgerow around the carpark
which is claimed to be vital for local wildlife. Positive comments received regarding the pond
enclosure being retained.
Design
It is felt that the design of the dwellings are out of keeping with the area which is made up of
conventional 2 storey houses, and there are concerns that the 3 storey dwellings’ proximity to the
Conservation Area will change the character of the area which many have fought to preserve. It is
claimed that the development will negatively impact many local residents’ amenity by compressing
properties into an already crowded residential area, changing the visual aspect of a historical town.
Daylight/Sunlight
There are concerns that the height of the buildings and their proximity to current homes will result
in loss of sunlight for properties and gardens as well as overshadowing.
Overlooking
There are concerns around the proposed buildings overlooking properties specifically into their
windows compromising residents’ privacy.
Parking
There are concerns that the plans do not include an adequate number of parking spaces, which
would result in parking issues on adjacent residential roads. There are questions around where the
excess vehicles and visitors will park. It is also noted that the proposed parking spaces have been
reduced from the normal 16 sqm to 11.5 sqm.
There are particular concerns around the proposal for a pedestrian access to the new development
through Homefield Close which is believed will encourage parking on Homefield Close which is
already at capacity due to residents and shoppers parking on the road. Yellow lines are suggested on
at least one side of the road at Homefield to ensure local residents can access their driveways and
use pavements.
Traffic
Traffic is noted as a current concern in the area, of which this development (during and after
construction) will worsen, impacting the safety of road users and pedestrians. There are also
concerns around the narrow access road to the proposed residential site from the High Street which
is believed will cause serious congestion and associated air pollution.
Construction
It is noted that the recent construction works at the civic centre have caused disruption to local
residents such as noise pollution, litter and associated vehicles blocking access to Homefield Close. It
is suggested that future construction traffic is not routed through Homefield Close, and that
contractors are allocated parking on the construction site or in council car parks.

Page 617

1

Appendix 2
Other
It is noted that a 200 year old brick wall between a property on Buttercross Lane and the site is party
wall owned between the adjacent property owner and the Council. It is claimed that the Council
have always maintained their side but there is no recognition of this responsibility in the application.
Green Infrastructure Strategy
It is felt that the plans fail to meet standards set out in the GI Strategy, e.g. "The built environment
can be enhanced by features such as green roofs, street trees, proximity to woodland, public
gardens and recreational and open spaces. More broadly, green infrastructure exists within a wider
landscape context and can reinforce and enhance local landscape character, contributing to a sense
of place and natural beauty", “The Council's planning policy approach supported by this Strategy
recognises the role of high quality design to bring open space to life and makes it a requirement of
development proposals", and "The aim of the Council is to manage the potential impact of
development on GI with the strategic objective, working in partnership with other groups, of
maintaining and where possible enhancing the ecological, recreational and conservation role of GI
within a wider context".
EFDC Local Plan
It is felt that the plans fail to meet standards set out in the Local Plan (Submission Version), e.g.
"Planning policy, will require planning applicants to take a collaborative, cohesive, coherent,
integrated and proactive approach to the provision of GI.”
Sustainability Guidance
It is felt that the plans fail to meet standards set out in EFDC’s Sustainability Guidance e.g. "Proposals
must be landscape-led from the start, as set out in the EFDC Green Infrastructure Strategy”. The
plans do not achieve the Sustainability Guidance’s Vision and Objectives "To embed a landscape led
approach to the design of new Green Infrastructure as part of new development to secure the
delivery of high quality spaces".
Council Scheme
There are questions around the validity of EFDC officers and Councillors with regards to making a
planning decision where the applicants are owned by EFDC themselves.

Page 618

2

Appendix 3
Epping Forest District Council – Environmental Protection & Drainage
10 September 2021
The Environmental Protection & Drainage Team have lifted previous objection on the basis of
amended design information provided and the proposed planning conditions.

Epping Forest District Council – Conservation
3 September 2021
The scheme cannot be supported as it stands and suggest the applicant revise the scheme in line
with the advice provided.
The review of drawing no.: EDS_S5 - CW - S - DR - XX - A – 0313 rev p3, Connection to Civic Offices Plan and Elevation, does not raise any concerns. Details of materials and finishes to be conditioned;
a match with the existing brick bond, texture and pointing of the Civic Offices would be required.
The part of the Civic Offices to which the Conder building is linked was purposely built as a connector
between the Civic Offices, No. 323 and the Conder building. Once removed the Conder building will
therefore reveal a wall that was never designed to be seen. Despite the non-related use of Block A
with the Civic Offices, it was agreed to remain attached, subject to the provision of a suitable buffer
element. This buffer should act as a visual break, clearly denoting the Civic Offices from the new
residential block and lessening its dominance.
Concerns were raised previously regarding the treatment of this part of the development. While
recessed, it was felt that, as designed and scaled, it would fail to operate as a visual break between
the two buildings and their different uses and make the new block overbearing. It was considered
that this should be addressed by increasing the span of the buffer between the two buildings whilst
reducing its height and treating it with different materials and design.
The amended design as shown on Drg. No. EDS_S5 - CW - S - DR - XX - A – 0313 rev p3, Connection to
Civic Offices - Plan and Elevation proposes a wider buffer element, which has been slightly reduced
in height. It also now appears recessed on both elevations through the deepening of Block A by
moving forward its north east elevation. The proposed facing materials have been amended to show
a darker brick; this is welcomed as it should assist this element in remaining subdued. Further
amendments should, however, be associated with this:






To reduce the residential paraphernalia associated with the proposed windows, it is felt that
high level horizontal windows, should be considered. The window frames and brick colour
should be tonally similar.
The buffer element should all be faced with the same plain darker brick, replacing the fascia
with a brick parapet that would stand below the level of the stone cornice detailing of the
Civic Offices.
A contrasting soldier bond, applied to the whole of the buffer, could also assist this.

The character of the Civic Offices is that of formal and consistent order and the introduction of
private residential dwellings within its setting would be in contrast to this. Private residences bring
the paraphernalia of domestic life, including furniture on balconies, window dressings, etc. Block A,
and more specifically the South-East elevation, is due to its position (attached to the Civic Offices
and at the entrance of the site) considered to be particularly sensitive to these issues. The removal

Page 619

A-1

Appendix 3
of the balconies, directly adjacent to the Civic Offices is considered to be an improvement and this
should help contain the impact of any domestic paraphernalia.
Conservation areas should provide opportunities for innovative design approaches that ensure the
continuity of the identity of the area, its sense of place and what makes it special. Concerns were
raised previously regarding the scale and massing, as well as the generic character of the scheme. As
a response to this, the scale of Block B has been reduced and pitched roofs have been introduced on
parts of Block A and Block C. The reduction in massing of Block B is welcomed. We acknowledge that
the introduction of pitched roofs has been done to soften the sharp angled edges of the new blocks
and for them to relate better to their context, however, it is felt that the additional bulk that it
creates is counterproductive. Therefore, while the introduction of a pitched roof on Block C could be
felt acceptable (lower in scale), it will not be supported for Block A.
The plans show that slates are proposed to be laid on the pitched roofs. In Essex, red plain clay tiles
are traditionally laid on 40 / 45 degrees pitched roofs, where slates and pantiles are used on
shallower roofs. The proposed pitched roofs, which appear to be of 45 degrees, would therefore be
expected to be covered with red plain clay tiles rather than slates, given their steep gradient.
Epping Forest District Council – Conservation
28 May 2021
The principle of the demolition of the Conder building has been agreed at pre-application stage,
subject to a sensitive approach for its replacement. As mentioned earlier, the Conder building
predates the construction of the Civic Offices and has been specifically excluded from the listing of
the Civic Offices at grade II due to its lack of significance.
The review of drawing no.: EDS_S5 - CW - S - DR - XX - A – 0313, Connection to Civic Offices - Plan
and Elevation, does not raise any concerns. Details of materials and finishes to be conditioned. We
assume that the mention “Bricks to match the existing Conder building” is a typo and that it should
read “Bricks to match the existing Civic Offices building Please clarify.
The review of drawing no.: 0314, Rev.P1-, Civic Offices Alterations, does not raise any concerns. The
removal of the existing stair and stair enclosure is considered noncontentious.
The part of the Civic Offices to which the Conder building is linked was purposely built as a connector
between the Civic Offices, No. 323 and the Conder building. Once removed the Conder building will
therefore reveal a wall that was never designed to be seen. Despite the non-related use of Block A
with the Civic Offices, it was agreed to remain attached, subject to the provision of a suitable buffer
element. This buffer should act as a visual break, clearly denoting the Civic Offices from the new
residential block and lessening its dominance.
The proposed buffer element is, while well recessed, extremely narrow and almost meets the eaves
of the Civic Offices building. It is felt that, as designed and scaled, it will fail to operate as a visual
break between the two buildings and their different uses, and will make the new block overbearing.
It is considered that this should be addressed by increasing the span of the buffer between the two
buildings while reducing its height and treating it with more contrasting materials.
Alternatively, the visual separation of the two buildings could be achieved by a physical break.
Careful consideration would therefore have to be given to the treatment of the revealed wall in
order to provide it with enough presence to become the new end wall of the listed building. Existing

Page 620

A-2

Appendix 3
architectural references should inform the design. The end wall (south elevation) of Block A would
then need to reflect this new relationship.
The character of the Civic Offices is that of formal and consistent order and the introduction of
private residential dwellings within its setting would be in contrast to this. Private residences bring
the paraphernalia of domestic life, including furniture on balconies, window dressings, etc. Block A
and more specifically the South-East elevation is, due to its position (attached to the Civic Offices
and at the entrance of the site) considered to be particularly sensitive to these issues. The treatment
of the balconies, now enclosed and no longer projecting, is considered to be an improvement as it
should contain the impact of any domestic paraphernalia.
The proposed layout, massing, building forms and detailing of the new residential buildings is felt to
result in a very generic scheme, failing to reflect the distinctive character and appearance of the
Epping Conservation Area. Conservation areas should provide opportunities for innovative design
approaches that ensure the continuity of the identity of the area, its sense of place and what makes
it special. For example, while the strong presence of bricks as facing materials has been recognised,
the distinctiveness of the roof scape appears to have been missed. The different roofing materials in
the conservation area create a varied and interesting roofscape; particularly along the north western
side of the High Street. Here it largely consists of steeply pitched handmade red clay tile roofs at
different heights with several gables, chimneys and dormer windows breaking the roofline at
intervals. Further consideration should therefore be given to the design at roof level.
In line with the above, we cannot support the scheme as it stands and suggest the applicant revise
the scheme in line with the advice given in these comments.

NHS – West Essex CCG
14 July 2021 / Revised 12/10/21
Existing Healthcare position proximate to the Planning Application site
The proposed developments [EPF/0918,0918,0919/21] are likely to have an impact on the services
of 2 GP practices operating within the vicinity of the application sites. These GP practices do not
have capacity for the additional growth resulting from these developments and cumulative growth
in the area.
The proposed developments will likely have an impact on the NHS funding programme for the
delivery of primary healthcare provision within this area and specifically within the health catchment
of the developments. West Essex CCG would therefore expect these impacts to be fully assessed and
mitigated.
Review of Planning Application
West Essex CCG acknowledge that the planning applications do include a Health Impact Assessment
(HIA), however this does not appear to recognise that a capital contribution may be required to
mitigate the primary healthcare impacts arising from the proposed developments.
Assessment of development impact on existing healthcare provision
The existing GP practices do not have capacity to accommodate the additional growth resulting from
the proposed developments. The developments could generate approx. 648 residents and
subsequently increase demand upon existing constrained services.
The developments would have an impact on primary healthcare provision in the area and its
implications, if unmitigated, would be unsustainable. The proposed developments must therefore, in

Page 621

A-3

Appendix 3
order to be considered under presumption ‘in favour of sustainable development’ advocated in the
National Planning Policy Framework, provide appropriate levels of mitigation.
Healthcare needs arising from the proposed development
The intention of West Essex CCG is to promote Primary Healthcare Hubs with co-ordinated mixed
professionals.
The developments would give rise to a need for improvements to capacity, in line with the emerging
CCG estates strategy, by way of an extension, refurbishment, reconfiguration or potential relocation
for the benefit of the patients at Limes Medical Centre; a proportion of the cost of which would need
to be met by the developer.
A developer contribution will be required to mitigate the impact of these proposals. West CCG
calculates the level of contribution required, in this instance £131,850 [for EPF/0917,0918,0919/21]..
Payment should be made before the development commences.
West Essex CC therefore requests that this sum be secured through a planning obligation linked to
any grant of planning permission, in the form of a S106 planning obligation.
Assuming that the above is considered in conjunction with the current application process, West
Essex CCG would not wish to raise an objection to the proposed developments.

Epping Town Council
27 August 2021
Committee object to this application.
The Committee acknowledged receipt of the amended plans but cannot see what changes
specifically have been made to address the previous comments from the Committee.
The Committee still stands by their previous comments. Whilst the Committee acknowledges and
welcomes the mixed residential accommodation development of this part-brownfield site, there are
some issues with the proposal.
The design of the layout needs to be looked at and how these three storey blocks will affect the
nearby residential roads in a Conservation Area. Located on Buttercross Lane and Homefield Close in
particular, there are two-storey and bungalow properties with direct loss of amenity including
overlooking, loss of privacy and sunlight for one property which borders the site.
The Committee welcome the retention of the pond on the development. However, the Committee
have concerns as regards public safety in the environs around the pond.
The development includes the loss of a number of matures trees and replacement trees being
proposed are as small as 20cm-25cm. The Committee also disagree with the possible removal of
hedgerow by the car park which will also affect the local wildlife. The proposed green infrastructure
is not sustainable and is a token gesture. The green infrastructure needs to take into account the
procurement of greenery, its appropriateness for the site and the future aftercare needed.
There is also the issue of insufficient car parking for the number of residential units and no provision
for visitor parking from this scheme will put additional pressures on the surrounding roads.

Page 622

A-4

Appendix 3
Epping Town Council
14 May 2021
Committee object to this application.
While the Committee acknowledge and welcomes the mixed residential accommodation
development of this part-brownfield site, there are some issues with the proposal. The Committee
acknowledge receipt of the two neighbour objections as well as objections from the Epping Society.
The design of the layout needs to be looked at and how these three storey blocks will affect the
nearby residential roads in a Conservation Area. Located on Buttercross Lane and Homefield Close in
particular, there are two-storey and bungalow properties with direct loss of amenity including
overlooking, loss of privacy and sunlight for one property which borders the site.
The Committee welcome the retention of the pond on the development. However, the Committee
have concerns as regards public safety in the environs around the pond.
The development includes the loss of a number of mature trees and replacement trees being
proposed are as small as 20cm – 25cm. The Committee also disagree with the possible removal of
the hedgerow by the car park which will also affect the local wildlife. The proposed green
infrastructure is not sustainable and is a token gesture. The green infrastructure needs to take into
account the procurement of greenery, its appropriateness for the site and the future aftercare
needed.
There is also the issue of insufficient car parking for the number of residential units and no provision
for visitor parking being proposed on the site. There are severe parking issues in Epping and the
insufficient parking from this scheme will put additional pressures on the surrounding roads.
Relevant policies:
CP1 (ii), CP2 (iv), DBE1, DBE2, DBE4, DBE5, DBE6, DBE9, LL7 (ii) & (iii), LL10 (i) & (ii), ST6. (Local Plan
1998 & Alterations 2006)
DM2, DM5, DM9A, DM10 (Emerging Local Plan).
NPPF paras 8, 9, 124, 127, 180.
Epping Town Council confirm they will attend and speak at Plans East to object to this proposal.

Essex County Council – Development and Flood Risk
16 July 2021
Having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment and the associated documents which accompanied the
planning application, we wish to issue a holding objection to the granting of planning permission
based of the following:






Urban creep – a 10% allowance for urban creep needs to be included
Water treatment – the swales have not been included on the drainage plan
Drainage strategy – it is recommended to include all the drainage and conveyance features
to demonstrate how the runoff from the western side of the development would be
managed
Construction drawings – these need to be provided for all elements of the surface water
drainage system including the permeable paving and flow control. This can be conditions

Page 623

A-5

Appendix 3



Exceedance routes – this needs to be provided and can be conditioned
Infiltration testing – this needs to be provided to demonstrate this is not a viable option and
it can be condition
Essex County Council – Development and Flood Risk
11 May 2021

Having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment and the associated documents which accompanied the
planning application, we wish to issue a holding objection to the granting of planning permission
based on the following:






Urban creep - a 10% allowance for urban creep needs to be included.
Water treatment – the swales have not been included on the drainage plan – it is not clear
how water coming off the road is being treated.
Construction drawings – these need to be provided for all elements of the surface water
drainage system including the permeable paving and flow control
Exceedance routes need to be provided.
Infiltration testing needs to be provided to demonstrate this is not a viable option.

We also have the following advisory comments:
We strongly recommend looking at the Essex Green Infrastructure Strategy to ensure that the
proposals are implementing multifunctional green/blue features effectively.

Epping Forest District Council – Air Quality
14 July 2021
I have reviewed the Air Quality Assessment produced by Phlorum in support of this application. On
the proviso that the applicant’s traffic and sustainability assessment are approved with no further
amendments required from the relevant teams at EFDC and ECC, I accept the conclusion of the
submitted Air Quality Assessment.

Essex County Council – Highways
13 July 2021
The Highway Authority has assessed the application and submitted information, vsited the site, and
has concluded that in highway terms it is not contrary to national and local highway and
transportation policy and current safety criteria.
The Transport Assessment has analysed the impact of the traffic generation, to the satisfaction of
the Highway Authority, and is not considered to have a significant or severe impact on this location,
or on the wider highway network. Given the previous office use, and the low parking provision, the
proposal will generate fewer trips than the existing use.
Furthermore, the applicant is improving the existing environment for walking and cycling, as well as
providing improved bus facilities along the High Street, that will help encourage more use of
sustainable transport options to and from the site, and help reduce the resilience on the private
motor vehicle.

Page 624

A-6

Appendix 3
Consequently, the Highways Authority has concluded that the proposal will not be detrimental to
highway safety, capacity or efficiency.
Epping Forest District Council – Affordable Housing
14 May 2021
Level of Affordable Housing:
Since this development proposes 45 units, the applicant will need to provide at least 18 of the
overall number of homes as affordable housing. The Planning Statement attached with this
application showed that 18 affordable housing units are proposed on the site, this meets the Local
Plan (SV) requirements in terms of numbers of units.
Tenure, Mix & Design:
The District Council expects new housing developments to include a range of house types and sizes
to address local need including downsizing. The Local Plan (SV) requires the affordable housing
provision to be integrated into the wider development to create mixed and balanced communities,
therefore, the housing mix should reflect the types, sizes and the overall number of habitable rooms
in the development and for completeness, reflect the local need.
As indicated above, the expectation is that new housing developments should deliver a range house
types and sizes to address local need. I note from the accommodation schedule provided for the
proposed housing mix for the development does not specify the housing mix for the affordable
housing offer. It is important to understand the housing mix and it should be reflective of the
broader development thus ensure that the development creates a mixed and balanced community.
Further, it should be noted that the following are not required for affordable housing, therefore,
should not be included within the mix for the affordable housing:
-

Studio flats
1 bed 1-person unit
Properties larger than 3 bedrooms; although these may be provided where necessary in
accordance with local need.
Garages

The applicant should note that the Council’s Shared Ownership Policy requires at least 75% of the
affordable housing to be provided as affordable rented housing, and no more than 25% to be
provided as shared ownership.
Further, the Council’s Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017 sets out required design and quality
requirements for new housing developments including space standards. Policy DM10-Housing
Design and Quality requires all new housing development to meet or exceed the Nationally
Described Space Standards.
The composite plans and drawings attached with this application showed some inconsistences with
the unit sizes. Given this, it will be useful that the unit sizes are reviewed to ensure that all the units
comply with the relevant space standard.
In addition, all new housing is also required to meet the accessible and adaptable homes standards
as defined by the current Building Regulations and mixed tenure residential developments must be
designed to be ‘tenure blind’ to ensure homes across tenures are indistinguishable from one another
in terms of quality of design, space standards and building materials.

Page 625

A-7

Appendix 3
Delivery of Affordable Housing:
Epping Forest District Council (EFDC) are a part of a housing partnership with some preferred
registered providers as detailed below, however EFDC are equally open to discussions regarding
Affordable Housing provisions within the District, therefore welcome development proposals
directly.
-

B3Living
CHP
Habinteg
Hastoe Housing Association
Legal and General Affordable Housing
Moat Housing Group
Network Homes
Epping Forest District Council (EFDC)

The applicant may want to contact one or more of the above to discuss the delivery of the
affordable housing offer including the sale price. We encourage early engagement with these
partners and any offer and funding should be factored into the applicant’s financial viability
assessment. I have, therefore, attached their contact details, which can be provided to the applicant.
Although, this proposed development incorporates flats it is acknowledged that a portion of the
service charge applicable to the scheme will be shared with the partner who then passes that to
their tenants and shared-owners, however, it is useful to ensure that the service charge payable is
affordable and continues to be affordable for future tenants and shared-owners.
The landowner should note that the purchase price, even if agreed through a competitive process
amongst the partners, would be much lower than the open market value, and reflects the net
present value (NPV) of the affordable housing based on the difference between the income the
housing association receives from (subsidised) rents (and any grant) over a period of time and the
costs of purchase, management, maintenance, loan interest payments and other costs over the
same period of time.
It should also be noted that the service charges would not be subsidised in any way.
Recommendations:
As currently presented, apart from any other planning reasons that may apply, and subject to
meeting the detailed requirements for affordable housing delivery set out above, I can support the
application from an affordable housing point of view. However, it is necessary that we have clarity
on the affordable housing mix and the unit sizes including the tenure split. Also, that we continue to
be involved in further discussions regarding the affordable housing offer.

Essex County Council – Ecology
12 May 2021
No objection subject to securing
a) A proportionate financial contribution towards Epping Forest SAC Mitigation Strategy and
b) biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures

Page 626

A-8

Appendix 3
Summary
The site is within the 6.2km Zone of influence (ZoI) for the emerging Epping Forest SAC Mitigation
Strategy (within which residents of new housing are likely to regularly visit relevant designated sites
for recreation) and the development is relevant to Natural England’s advice to the LPA. We therefore
advise that the LPA will need to prepare a HRA Appropriate Assessment record for this development
and secure a proportionate financial contribution towards visitor management measures as
mitigation for recreational disturbance. This contribution needs to be secured by a legal agreement.
Subject to this mitigation, the LPA can conclude no adverse effect on the integrity of Epping Forest
SAC.
We are satisfied that the single native hedgerow present around the northern boundary of the Site is
to be retained as part of the proposals. This hedgerow is predominantly made up of native species
and is identified as being a Priority habitat. Therefore, the LPA has a biodiversity duty to conserve
this hedgerow.
We are further satisfied the pond within the Site is to be retained as part of the proposals. Great
Crested Newt (European Protected Species) were identified as being present within this pond. We
are satisfied with the precautionary measures for Great Crested Newts identified within the
Environmental Impact Assessment. We note works are not currently planned within the terrestrial or
aquatic habitat, however any works that are required (e.g. temporary works to the wall) within this
area will need to be carried out under a strict method statement, and appropriate European
Protected Species Mitigation licence. Therefore, we recommend that a Method Statement for Great
Crested Newts should be secured as a condition of any consent.
We are satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for determination. This
provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts on protected and Priority species & habitats and,
with appropriate mitigation measures secured, the development can be made acceptable.
The mitigation measures identified in the Epping Forest Environmental Impact Assessment should be
secured and implemented in full. This is necessary to conserve and enhance protected and Priority
Species. This includes precautionary measures for common toad, hedgehogs (including gaps in
fencing), and nesting birds.
The Environmental Impact Assessment - recommends a Construction Environmental Management
Plan (CEMP) Biodiversity should be produced with input from a professional ecologist. The CEMP
Biodiversity should describe ecology mitigation works and should set out standard pollution
prevention and dust control measures to be implemented during site clearance and construction
works. This should also include appropriate management of trenches, waste and materials storage,
and protection of boundary features (including suitable tree and hedgerow protection).
We support the proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which have been recommended
to secure measurable net gains for biodiversity, as outlined under Paragraph 170d of the National
Planning Policy Framework 2019. This includes a biodiversity roof, five bird nesting boxes installed
on site and new planting. The reasonable biodiversity enhancement measures should be outlined
within a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy and should be secured as a condition of any consent.
The Environmental Impact Assessment has also advised the management and monitoring
prescriptions of each habitat should be secured within a Landscape and Ecological Management
Plan. This should out details of how retained and created habitats (including the retained native
hedgerows) will be managed and how the pond and surrounding terrestrial habitat (scrub/ grassland
mosaic) will be managed for Great Crested Newt and other amphibians. Furthermore the

Page 627

A-9

Appendix 3
Environmental Impact Assessment recommends an information board should be put up to inform
residents of the importance of the retained wildlife areas, the species they may see and how they
can help conserve these areas, including discouraging fly-tipping or the introduction of invasive
species. This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties including its
biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006.
Impacts will be minimised such that the proposal is acceptable subject to the conditions below
based on BS42020:2013.
Submission for approval and implementation of the details below should be a condition of any
planning consent.
Recommended conditions:
1. ACTION REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ECOLOGICAL APPRAISAL RECOMMENDATIONS
“All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with the
details contained in the Environmental Impact Assessment - Residential Sites Chapter 6 - Ecology and
Biodiversity (Stephenson-halliday, March 2021) as already submitted with the planning application
and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.”
Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge its
duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife
& Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
2. PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT: CONSTRUCTION ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLAN
(BIODIVERSITY)
A construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority following the recommendations made within the
Environmental Impact Assessment - Residential Sites Chapter 6 - Ecology and Biodiversity
(Stephenson-halliday, March 2021).
The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce
impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements) – This should include a
Method Statement for Great Crested Newts
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee
works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly competent
person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period
strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local
planning authority
Reason: To conserve protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge its duties under
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

Page 628

A-10

Appendix 3
3. PRIOR TO SLAB LEVEL: BIODIVERSITY ENHANCEMENT STRATEGY
“A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in
that manner thereafter.”
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its duties
under the NPPF 2019 and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
4. PRIOR TO OCCUPATION: LANDSCAPE AND ECOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT PLAN
“A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and be approved in
writing by, the local planning authority prior occupation of the development.
The content of the LEMP shall include the following:
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.
c) Aims and objectives of management.
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
e) Prescriptions for management actions.
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled forward
over a five-year period).
g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan.
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term
implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management body(ies)
responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that
conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or
remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the
fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan will be
implemented in accordance with the approved details.”
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the
NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)

Page 629

A-11

Appendix 3
Essex County Council – Landscape
11 May 2021
ECC GI position
Having reviewed the Design and Access Statement (DAS), Landscape Strategy, Arboricultural Survey
and other associated documents which accompanied the planning application we do not object the
granting of planning permission; however, we would advise the following recommendations are
considered to improve the GI network and help achieve net environmental gains:
Environmental/ Biodiversity Net Gain
It is recommended that amenity grassland (low biodiversity value) is replaced where possible by
features with high biodiversity value (e.g. amenity grassland with bulbs/naturalised grassland and
flowering lawns). Amenity grass can also be described as a "green desert" but does provide some
carbon sequestration. Some specific grass varieties sequester 13t/Ha/Pa, produce 45% less clippings
and are wear tolerant. For example, deep rooting grass mixes are more drought resistant, reduce
need for irrigation, increase rainwater infiltration, reduce surface runoff and improve performance
of sustainable drainage schemes. From a management point of view, this means a reduction in
mowing costs and time, savings on fuel usage and emissions, reductions in green waste resulting in
reduced environmental impact and significant less maintenance are all beneficial.
Rigby Taylor have been working on carbon sequestering grasses and doing some very
comprehensive trials, see Carbon4Grass: https://www.rigbytaylor.com/wp-content/uploads/Fixingthe-Greenhouse-effect_Carbon4Grass.pdf We would therefore advise that these seed mixes are
explored as an alternative to the standard amenity grass / turf proposed.
Long-term Stewardship & mitigating measures
Green infrastructure will require sustainable management and maintenance if it is to provide
benefits and services in the long term. Documents such as the Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) and Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) are documents
that will help ensure appropriate tasks, mitigating measures and methods are in place to:
▪ Protect the retained trees and hedgerows.
▪ Schedule of advanced planting to create a landscape structure or evidence is shown that
substantive GI is secured as early as possible in subsequent phases.
▪ Landscape management and maintenance plan and work schedule for a minimum of 10 years
including how management company services for the maintenance of GI assets and green spaces
shall be funded and managed for the lifetime of the development.
▪ Demonstrate measurable net gains for biodiversity, as outlined under paragraph 170[d] & 175[d] of
the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.
The inclusion of phased implementation within the CEMP of new GI and protection of retained
vegetation during construction will allow for the GI to mature and it will provide further benefit of
reducing/buffering the aesthetic impact from the construction work. While the LEMP will ensure
appropriate management and maintenance arrangements and funding mechanisms are put in place
to maintain high-quality value and benefits of the GI assets. We would recommend these are
submitted at the earliest opportunity of the planning process.
GI Standards
It is recommended that the development proposal explores and applies the Building with Nature
standards and achieves an accreditation to highlight what ‘good’ looks like at each stage of the green

Page 630

A-12

Appendix 3
infrastructure lifecycle and strengthen the development and demonstrate the development goes
beyond the statutory minima, to create places that really deliver for people and wildlife.

Epping Forest District Council – Contaminated Land
7 May 2021
The results of the intrusive site investigation showed exceedance levels of TPH’s and sulphide. The
soil sampling was only tested at shallow levels, no chemical analysis was conducted at deeper levels.
Please provide additional chemical analysis in areas of identified contamination.
Additional sampling should be undertaken underneath the footprints of the buildings after the
demolition works.
After removal of electrical sub-station, the soil should be tested for PCB’s contamination.
The groundwater monitoring only provides the groundwater levels, no chemical analysis was
conducted. The applicant is required to contact the Environment Agency in respect to controlled
waters.
The design of water supply pipes should also be taken into consideration when installed in the
remaining Made Ground. The applicant is required to contact the Utility provider directly.
Remediation Method Statement and Verification Reports will be required.
Due to the sensitive nature of the proposed residential use, condition NSCN57 should be attached to
any approval granted.

Essex County Council – Schools
7 May 2021 / Updated 4 October 2021
Early Years and Childcare
The proposed development is located within the Epping Lindsey and Thornwood ward. The latest
childcare sufficiency collection for Summer 2021 demonstrates that there are 27 reported childcare
vacancies which exceeds the number of childcare places that would be generated by this
development. A developer contribution is not requested at this time.
Primary Education
This development would sit within the priority admission area of Epping Primary School, which offers
up to 60 places per year. As at the last census in January, the school was at or close to capacity in the
majority of year groups. Figures received from Essex County Council’s Admissions team, on National
Offers Day, show a small waiting list for entry into Reception this September. Looking at the wider
area (Epping Group 2), figures set out in the Essex School Organisation Service’s 10 Year Plan show
rising demand with a potential need for 52 additional Reception places by the end of the Plan
period. Epping Forest District Council’s emerging Local Plan reflects this need (policy P1 para K iii) by
allocating land for a new school.

Page 631

A-13

Appendix 3
The demand generated by this development would be in addition to this demand. Therefore, a
developer contribution of £139,871.00 index linked to Q1-2021, is sought to mitigate its impact on
local primary school provision. This equates to £17,268.00 per place.
Secondary Education
The secondary age range priority admissions area school for this development would be Epping St
John's Church of England School. Cohort sizes in the area have increased, and continue to rise, and
the school has been close to capacity for the last two intakes. Provisional figures for September 2021
suggest there may be just two unfilled places in Year 7 (the first year of secondary education).
Forecasts for the wider area which includes Waltham Abbey (Group 2), set out in the 10 Year Plan,
suggest a potential need for additional places during the 2024/25 academic year with a more
sustained need towards the end of the Plan period. The emerging Local Plan (policy SP5 para F ix)
again recognises this need, with a potential new school on the District’s border with Harlow, to serve
both the proposed Garden Communities and reduce wider development pressure that would
otherwise fall on the schools in Group 2.
The demand generated by this development would be in addition to this demand. Therefore, a
developer contribution of £128,385.00 index linked to Q1-2021, is sought to mitigate its impact on
local secondary school provision. This equates to £23,775.00 per place.
Libraries
ECC may seek contributions to support the expansion of the library service to meet customer needs
generated by residential developments of 20+ homes. The provision of a Library Service is a
statutory duty under the 1964 Public Libraries and Museums Act and it’s increasingly become a
shared gateway for other services such as for accessing digital information and communications. The
population increase brought about by the proposed development is expected to create additional
usage of the local library. In accordance with the Essex County Council Developers’ Guide to
Infrastructure Contribution (Revised 2020), a contribution is therefore considered necessary to
improve, enhance and extend the facilities and services provided. Improvements could include, but
is not limited to, additional facilities, additional furniture, provision of learning equipment / play
equipment for younger children, improved access, external works such as parking and bike racks and
IT.
Therefore, a developer contribution of £3,501.00 index linked to Q1-2021, is sought to mitigate its
impact on local library provision. This equates to a cost of £77.80 per unit.
In view of the above, I request on behalf of Essex County Council that if planning permission for this
development is granted it should be subject to a section 106 agreement to mitigate its impact on
primary and secondary education and libraries. The contributions requested have been considered
in connection with the CIL Regulations 2010 (as Amended) and are CIL compliant. Our standard
formula s106 agreement clauses that ensure the contribution would be necessary and fairly and
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development are available from Essex Legal Services.

Page 632

A-14

Appendix 3
Essex County Council – Archaeology
26 April 2021
The proximity of the application area to the medieval centre of Epping, and the existence of
buildings within the site on the First Edition Ordnance Survey map of 1971, indicates the potential
for surviving medieval and post medieval archaeological remains being impacted on by the proposed
development.
The following recommendation is made in line with the National Planning Policy Framework.
Recommendation:
Programme of archaeological trial trenching and excavation
1. No development or preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until a programme of
archaeological investigation has been secured in accordance with a written scheme of investigation
which has been submitted by the applicant, and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
2. No development or preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until the completion of
the programme of archaeological investigation identified in the WSI defined in 1 above.
3. The applicant will submit to the local planning authority a post excavation assessment (to be
submitted within six months of the completion of the fieldwork, unless otherwise agreed in advance
with the Planning Authority). This will result in the completion of post excavation analysis,
preparation of a full site archive and report ready for deposition at the local museum, and
submission of a publication report.
Further Recommendations: A professional team of archaeologists should undertake the
archaeological work. The archaeological work will consist of a programme if archaeological trial
trenching within the car park to identify the extent and depth of archaeological deposits followed by
open area excavation if archaeological deposits are identified.

Epping Forest District Council - Environmental Enforcement
26 April 2021
1 Development Stage
If you are minded to permit the application the demolition/construction phase is likely to be of
significant duration and close enough to neighbouring residential premises to warrant a number of
conditions to control any disturbance. As such, I would welcome the following conditions:
1.1 Construction methodology
It is possible that the construction of the development will involve piling and other intrusive
methods, which will need to be controlled to some degree. As such, I would suggest the following
condition:
Before any phase of the hear by permitted development commences, the construction methodology
shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the impact on nearby
noise sensitive premises is minimised from activities such as (but not exclusively) excavation, piling,
vehicle and plant movements, etc. Only construction methods in accordance with the written
approval shall be undertaken.
Reason- In the interests of the amenities of noise sensitive properties

Page 633

A-15

Appendix 3
1.2 Construction work – Permitted hours
All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations (which includes deliveries and other
commercial vehicles to and from the site) which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive
premises, shall only take place on site between the hours of 0730 to 1830 Monday to Friday & 0800
to 1300 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Bank Holidays unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason- In the interests of the amenities of noise sensitive properties
1.3 Bonfires
No bonfires shall be permitted on site throughout the demolition and construction phase of the
development.
Reason – In order to protect residential amenity
1.4 Dust control
All reasonable steps to minimise dust emissions from the site shall be employed throughout the
demolition and construction phase of the development. The dust suppression methodology shall be
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority before construction commences.
Reason – To protect the amenity of the area from excessive dust emissions
1.5 Wheel washers
Wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for vehicles leaving the site during demolition and
construction works shall be installed in accordance with details which shall be submitted and agreed
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The facilities shall be installed prior to commencement of
any works on the site and shall be used to clean vehicles leaving the site.
Reason – To avoid the deposit of material on the public highway in the interest of highway safety
and control of dust.
2. Habitation Stage
I note that the noise survey indicates that some mitigation will be required for some of the
residential properties to protect the new occupiers from noise to ensure that they benefit from
reasonable sleeping/resting conditions. As such, I would recommend the following conditions:
The acoustic performance of the design and construction of the development should be agreed in
writing with the Local Authority before construction commences. The design and construction
should provide the performance to provide reasonable resting/sleeping conditions with reference to
British Standard BS8233: 2014 – Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for buildings –
Code of practice (or such other standard which may supersede it from time to time). This may
necessitate the developer to employ a suitably qualified acoustics consultant to carry out any
necessary survey and provide recommendations.
Reason: To protect the occupiers of the properties constructed from excessive noise levels from the
local environment.
All rooms within the development hereby approved shall be provided with sufficient double glazing
and acoustically treated trickle ventilators, or other means of ventilation that will provide adequate
ventilation with the windows closed, to ensure that the occupiers are provided with reasonable
resting/sleeping conditions with reference to British Standard BS8233:2014 – Guidance on Sound
Insulation and Noise Reduction for buildings – Code of practice (or such other standard which may
supersede it from time to time)
Reason: To protect occupiers of the premises from excessive noise from the nearby road and other
uses.

Page 634

A-16

Appendix 3
Details of the double glazing and acoustically treated trickle ventilators, or other means of
ventilation, referred to the above condition shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority and installed before any of the proposed residential development is occupied.
Reason: To protect occupiers of the premises from excessive noise.
It may be that mechanical plant would be required to fulfil the above condition and/or the developer
may wish to install it anyway. You therefore may wish to consider the following condition:
The cumulative rating level of any mechanical plant installed on the site (as defined by BS4142:2014)
shall not exceed the prevailing background noise level. If the background noise level is exceeded,
the use of the mechanical plant shall cease until it is brought below this level. The measurement
position and assessment shall be made according to BS4142:2014.
Reason: To protect occupiers of the premises, and other neighbouring noise sensitive premises,
from excessive noise from mechanical plant.
3 Lighting
I note that the application has an overarching lighting report, which may have an impact on
neighbouring residential properties once the development is occupied. I would therefore
recommend the following condition is applied:
Details of any external lighting of the site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development. This information shall include a
layout plan with beam orientation and a schedule of equipment in the design (luminaire type,
mounting height, aiming angles and luminaire profiles), and the impact on neighbouring residential
properties. The lighting shall be installed, maintained and operated in accordance with the
approved details unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to the variation.
Reason: To protect the appearance of the area, the environment and local residents from light
pollution.

Epping Forest District Council – Building Control
26 April 2021
It is advised that early consultation is carried out with Essex Fire and Rescue Service with regards to
B5 of the Building Regulations (Access and facilities for the fire service), to ensure compliant access
can be achieved under the planning approved scheme.
A full Building Regulations application will be required for these works and at that stage will be
subject to assessment for compliance with the Building Regulations.

Thames Water
23 April 2021
Waste Comments
There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. If you're planning significant work
near our sewers, it's important that you minimize the risk of damage. We'll need to check that your
development doesn't limit repair or maintenance activities, or inhibit the services we provide in any

Page 635

A-17

Appendix 3
other way. The applicant is advised to read our guide working near or diverting our pipes.
https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Planning-yourdevelopment/Working-near-or-diverting-our-pipes.
Thames Water would advise that with regard to FOUL WATER sewerage network infrastructure
capacity, we would not have any objection to the above planning application, based on the
information provided.
Following initial investigations, Thames Water has identified an inability of the existing SURFACE
WATER infrastructure to accommodate the needs of this development proposal. Thames Water have
contacted the developer in an attempt to agree a position for surface water networks but have been
unable to do so in the time available and as such Thames Water request that the following condition
be added to any planning permission. No development shall be occupied until confirmation has been
provided that either:- all surface water network upgrades required to accommodate the additional
flows from the development have been completed; or - a development and infrastructure phasing
plan has been agreed with the Local Authority in consultation with Thames Water to allow
development to be occupied. Where a development and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed no
occupation shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed development and
infrastructure phasing plan. Reason - Network reinforcement works are likely to be required to
accommodate the proposed development. Any reinforcement works identified will be necessary in
order to avoid flooding and/or potential pollution incidents." The developer can request information
to support the discharge of this condition by visiting the Thames Water website at
thameswater.co.uk/preplanning. Should the Local Planning Authority consider the above
recommendation inappropriate or are unable to include it in the decision notice, it is important that
the Local Planning Authority liaises with Thames Water Development Planning Department
(telephone 0203 577 9998) prior to the planning application approval.
Water Comments
With regard to water supply, this comes within the area covered by the Affinity Water Company.
Supplementary Comments
Waste - Thames Water would recommend the developer to limit to discharge rate of surface water.

Epping Forest District Council – Trees and Landscape
22 April 2021
We have NO OBJECTION to this application subject to the addition of the following conditions
SCN39 – Tree Protection
SCN31 – retention of trees and shrubs
SCN35 – Hard and soft landscaping
Justification
These comments only relate to the existing trees / hedges on / adjacent to the site and their
retention / protection during any development proposals. It is not a full assessment of the layout of
the proposed site – for those comments please refer to our Design / Landscape colleagues in the
Local Plan Implementation Team.
Whilst the applicant has provided a tree report and / or an Arb Method Statement, the above
condition does need to be included in full, and updated reports will need to be submitted for

Page 636

A-18

Appendix 3
approval prior to commencement. This is because at this stage, all the applicant is required to do is
to show that the development is feasible without a detrimental impact on trees. Following
permission being granted the information that will be required to be submitted will include;






Tree protection plan to include the alignment of utility apparatus (including drainage and
ground source heat pumps), and the site set up ie locations for site huts, temporary toilets,
contractor parking, storage of materials, cement mixing etc. This information is not yet
known.
A detailed Arboricultural Method statement including a list of contact details for all relevant
parties. This information is not yet known.
Schedule of works to retained trees eg works required to facilitate demolition / construction
activities. This information is not yet known.
Arboricultural site monitoring schedule, A detailed schedule of visits is required.

Please therefore, do not condition the Tree Report / Arb Method Statement that has been
submitted with the application, but include the condition un-amended.
Please also include the above condition for hard and soft landscaping, and retention of trees.

Epping Society
27 August 2021
We wish to object for the following reasons given below:
Document 00836160: Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing Report – it is unacceptable that reports
considered by the applicant to be critical to the application are not tabled until demanded and
weeks later.
00836162 – this document from Q+A Planning introduced a “series of the substituted documents”
which arose out of an analysis of public consultation responses. As Council Tax payers with a
financial interest in minimising the losses or maximising the gains of Qualis (the applicant), and as
members of the public entitled to comment on the application, we strongly object to their failure to
adequately respond to the earlier consultation. At the time we noted the lack of awareness,
information and general lack of attentiveness by Qualis.
The letter seems to say that the changes are significant and important but not so significant or
important they have to do any further townscape analysis.
We wonder how Qualis could possible know what consultees said about the application as those
responses are not pubished by EFDC. The practive of EFDC is to have an officer’s summary of the
consultations prepared and presented to the planning committee. Accordingly Qualis cannot yet
know what was said. We would like to see all responses published in full on the planning portal but
as the EFDC policy is not to do so we ask for an explanation on how Qualis could know what
respondents wrote.
00836156: D&A Statement Addendum – the font size of this document is unacceptably small.
Foreword – unable to find in this document sections1 and 2.
Page 9 – it is likely people will want to sit on a bench which backs on to a bin store, especially with
hit and miss brickwork.

Page 637

A-19

Appendix 3
Buttercross Lane – overlooking does not seem satisfactory even after changes.
Homefield Close – is the maintenance of the hedge a planning condition? If not the overlooking issue
cannot be said to have been resolved or even improved.
Page 12 – the pitched roof designs are not convincing although the revised design of black A may be
a small improvement over the previous proposal. The designs of the blocks does not relate to
anything else in the immediate vicinity or the town generally, which is ought to.
The proposed bricks and brick patters have no relation to the town. The drawings on document (EDC
portal 00836116) EDS_S5-CQ-S-XX-DR-A-0305 and (EFDC portal 19756) EDS_S5-CW-BA-XX-DR-A0312 demonstrate how ill suited to Epping the design is.
3.15 we do not find the height and masses acceptable.
4 Landscape – it is not clear how newts and other wildlife other than birds will be able to migrate
into and out of the pond.
5.3 we welcome the redesign at the point where block A joins the listed building.
5.4 the previous design appeared to show that flower planters were to be removed (presumably for
slight line reasons). In their place trees were shown but the revised drawings now seem to show
planters but no trees. We did not see any discussion of this.
Parking and traffic – doubts over the limited parking provision.
Design – disagree that the buildings are of high quality or respond to and reflect the site.
Drainage – although not trained to assess the report, knowledge of flooding and poor drainage in
Epping lead us to be sceptical.
Wind vortex – no reference to potential impacts.
Questions around whether the development is needed.

Epping Society
13 May 2021
Wish to object to all four applications (EPF/0917/21, EPF/0918/21, EPF/0919/21 and EPF/1042/21),
for the following reasons:



The public was presented with far too much data in 4 applications with far too little time for
review – there are 425 documents, in approx. 3 weeks. This is not fair or realistic.
There has been a problem with deadlines. These 4 applications were published in the
‘Weekly List’ circulated by EFDC to the Epping Society (and others) via email at 4:45pm
Friday, 23rd April. The 21-day point, the usual period, from that would be Friday 14th May.
The ‘Weekly List’ says on the front page “Registered in the week up to: Friday 23 April; any
representations on applications should be made in writing by Monday 17 May 2021”
However the EFDC Planning Portal has “comment by” dates listed as 12-05-2021 for Hemnall
(Sports Centre), the others are listed as 13-05-2021. So all less that 21 days, and having 4
different dates is highly challenging & confusing for all concerned.

Page 638

A-20

Appendix 3




























An extension was requested by emails & letters on 30 April; the request was acknowledged
by the CEO of EFDC with a decision promised during the week. One might have assumed that
Friday 7 May would cover that. On 10th, a delay was given, until the end of the month.
This period included the conducting of Local Elections, in which many were involved.
Is there access for those without a computer? Paper copies?
A lack of effective publicity, whatever efforts are claimed, people did not know. The Epping
Society has made efforts to increase public awareness.
The lists of documents were confusing – instances of having several with the same name –
eg St John’s Road -volume 3 Ch 11; some of these are identical in content, and some refer
only to the other sites (eg Technical appendices 11.1 and 2) Much better to give the actual
title on the EFDC table.
Some documents are highly technical, with no explanation nor glossary, this made them
impenetrable; but we believe that this process should be transparent & accessible to all.
Some maps have keys which are so small as to be unusable
Some diagrams/tables when zoomed in, pixilate; maybe once pdfs?
Use of colours sometimes unhelpful eg map of SJR site has 4 very similar grey shades.
Documents are not in order eg Appendix documents should be next to substantive item; also
eg SJR Design & Access statements are not in order – starting “1, 10, 11” later “17, 2”
Some documents are repeated eg Historical maps x3
Some documents are very out of date eg an ecological report describes the St John’s
secondary school as “approved for redevelopment” but is somehow dates March 2021
(reviewed but not edited?), eg an HRA which appears to be based on 34 dwellings (an earlier
version); against 184. Suggest a lack of scrutiny and/or haste.
Several documents refer to now-unnecessary EU Regulations.
Some documents simply indicate a lack of care eg an Archaeology report refers to the
“proposed nuclear power station” at SJR. This was spotted on 27th, reported to EFDC &
authors immediately, but not corrected/withdrawn until 7 May.
Similarly, spelling mistakes speak of haste eg environment several times wrong, eg the last
few documents for SJR are labelled on the very title-listing as “layoluts” (layouts?). To make
the error, o, but to then copy/paste it, and then to still not to proofread it??
Lack of clarity sometimes about whether documents refer to just this site, or all 3, then
some date is described as “cumulative”. To give a clearer picture, given that these 3 are the
last part of 6 developments, all assessments should have been cumulative across all sites.
This is what will be experience on the ground, particularly as 3 will be accessed via the one
road, St John’s.
There are many inconsistencies between various documents – so it would be unclear exactly
what any Planning decisions would mean.
Many documents contain conditionals eg “should”, “if viable” – these plans need certainty.
The Epping Society has been told already by 2 statutory consulting bodies that they are
struggling to review these applications by their (later) deadlines, for the reasons above. If we
and they are finding this challenging, no wonder nearly all members of the community we
have spoken to, say they find it too daunting.
Very few documents consider the post-Covid world (exception being the Residential Mix
report) and working from home – we would argue that potential changes to housing need
should be at least considered.

Page 639

A-21

Appendix 3







The Epping Society would like to learn the number/costs of obtaining these report, mostly
from outside contracted agencies; we are considering a FoI request. The Archaeology people
certainly should not get their full fee!
Some applications are clearly from Qualis, some have an EFDC origin – if there is confusion
about the inter-relation here, will there be confusion about the responsibility?
Proceeding with planning in this much detail, before the Local Plan is found sound and
approved, seems ill-advised; the LP may still be subject to further modifications. In
Maidenhead, Inspector Philips is now into a third round of Public Hearings; things change.
Epping society must ask that Any Planning Approvals must be interdependent on the other
sites being approved, be CONDITIONAL, that the sports centre and pool remain in the plans,
and are completed and open before the existing Sports facility is demolished. Not sure this
can be done as a Planning Condition, but certainly at Council level it can.

Our principle thought is that these applications are so hastily and poorly constructed that we
feel the Planning Officers should return them to Qualis for a re-presentation, with additional
consultation time.
Epping Society
13 May 2021
This letter of objection relates to both the application for demolition and the application to
construct new building at the Conder/Civic Offices site.
General issues – Conder
EFDC planning portal shows the applicant of Conder to be EFDC. The application Form says it is
Qualis Commercial Ltd. Which is it? The application form has a question about conflicts which has
been written as if for staff only but clearly Qualis has a conflict with EFDC as it is owned by them. No
such conflict has been declared and ought to be.
Document 00913183 “Planning Statement”
“5.33 in respect of the second bullet and the potential for active frontage on the ground floor to the
High Street, as presented in the supporting documentation this is not a possible route because the
red line for the application site does not extend to the frontage of the High Street other than access,
which of course is required to access the site itself. This means the site is slightly smaller than as
presented in the LPSV allocation. Therefore, it is established that additional retail use is not feasible
for this site.” This suggests there is some inconsistency in the Local Plan which ought to be resolved
and then plan adopted before this application can be determined.
35 Documents concerning “Environment” (sic) or “Environmental (sic) Impact Assessment” it says.
Including “Technical...” (Sic). Documents on the planning portal are not well named and the
sequence is illogical. This makes it difficult for readers to navigate. These suggest a lack of attention
to some of the most significant planning applications to be made to EFDC in a decade and we
wonder if adequate attention will be given to the consideration their merits or shortcomings.
We propose that PD rights are excluded from any planning consent. Our reasons are threefold:
1. All three current sites are sensitive and changes to the initially built design could seriously damage
any coherence that exists at the beginning;
2. The sites are highly designed. This is not a comment on the particular designs so much as that the
density and approach has led to a strong feeling across the sites that could be seriously damaged by
uncoordinated PD;
3. While Qualis is controlled by EFDC at present we do not know if that will always be so nor do we

Page 640

A-22

Appendix 3
know if Qualis might sell-on the completed developments to an institutional or offshore investor.
Indeed, EFDC deny any control over Qualis day-to-day operations so future policies cannot be
assumed.
As Qualis appear to already control the sites, regardless of ownership, TPO orders should be made
immediately. TPO orders should be added to all new trees on the site.
Proposed ground and first floor layout plans
It is not clear what is the boundary of the planning application. The D&A statement refers to many
issues outside the red line on this plan which one might think was the extent of the application. For
instance the replacement of raised flower beds with trees; no reason is given for this but it might be
visibility splays. Clarification is needed. What effect on light in the buildings behind these trees?
Vegetation Retention and Removal plan
It would be helpful if new vegetation to which the applicant is committed were also shown on this
drawing.
Sustainability Report
-“The purpose of this report is to establish different measures that have been developed and
implemented to provide a holistic approach to sustainability for the Civic Offices/Conder
development site.” Council officers should satisfy themselves that the development is sustainable as
the purpose of this report does not seem to aspire to show that but only to describe (in glowing
terms) what has been included – not whether it is adequate.
-It is not clear how the flattering descriptions of the design layout (on page 5 for example) assist in
establishing that the proposals are sustainable.
-The report includes text which is difficult to read 100 per cent scale on a high quality flat screen
monitor. This is not reasonable if public involvement is to be encouraged, I am not sure I could read
it.
-This report unhelpfully includes many value judgements on aspects of the proposals which are not
relevant to this question of sustainability and accordingly make the reader’s task more difficult and
time-consuming. Examples include “around high-quality amenity spaces, to create an oasis of family
housing”.
-“Photovoltaic panels integrated where viable” should be specified on the roof plans submitted If the
grey oblong areas on otherwise green roofs in the three dimensional impression of the development
are PV panels, one wonders why there are not used more extensively where they cannot be easily
seen from street level.
-“Green roofs integrated throughout the scheme” means what, exactly.
-It is not clear on plans where collected rainwater is to be stored.
-It is not clear what aspects of the building designs are thought “to promote health and wellbeing”
so could this be clarified please.
-We did not see evidence of the absorbency rate of the sub soil to demonstrate that water released
from swales and SUDS, etc would be absorbed at the required rates.
It is unclear whether the report claims the proposed development will be carbon neutral by 2030
taking account of the demolition and rebuilding of the site as well as its day-to-day operations after
completion or whether the performance is considered carbon neutral only on an operating basis.
Please can this be clarified. In each case where is the energy to be sourced which is also carbon
neutral and does that refer solely to day-to-day operations or a whole of life basis for the plant and
conduits involved?
-Which aspects of the emerging local plan have been taken into account in the designs for the
proposed development?

Page 641

A-23

Appendix 3
-Reference is made to the Essex Design Guide. Does the applicant claim the proposed designs
comply with that; we strongly suggest officers checked that it is so as it is not apparent to us.
It is unclear (page8) what relevance it is to sustainability report to state “The Epping Sites project has
been designed to create a vibrant, inclusive, and economically positive development.” (my
emphasis added). There is no data n this report to support those claims and we would not expect
them in a sustainability report but perhaps, instead, in an economics report which we have not seen.
-Does the phrase “The sequence of development sites” suggest the sites will not be under
construction at the same time? If not what does it mean.
-Reference to “Neighbourhood Plan 2018 Policy 19-Sustainability” needs to be treated with caution
as that document has not yet been completed nor even yet circulated for public comment. The
document which was circulated before work of the consultative group was circulated was a draft
one.
-“Figure 3 Example of façade response, moderated + focused glazing”. Please explain how the
glazing is focused and how the design of fenestration affects sustainability.
-The report states that “energy modelling studies and assessments” are “ongoing”; does this suggest
that the designs are not yet finalised or that the energy efficiency has not yet been ascertained? If
so, how will any planning consent be conditioned in this regard? See also section 4.7 which states
that design work is still incomplete. 4.7.13 seems explicit in this matter.
-Are the statements about energy etc consumption in this report the responsibility of Elementa
Consulting or was the data from models developed by the design team (see page 9)?
-Page 12. What or where is “Conder Lane” and wha tis a “Revit model”?
-Is it correct that the carbon forecasts have been done using models from the other local authorities
and on selected buildings in three (?4) separate planning applications? Is it also correct that carbon
use has been estimated only for building the dwellings and not for demolition or for additional works
such as roads, paving, utilities, paved areas etc. (Page 13 is not clear to me).
-The report discusses building materials to be sourced locally and mentioned bricks; will all bulk, high
volume and high value components be sourced as close to Epping as possible?
Sustainability Report – Appendix, page 12 CE.1 says 95 per cent: is this by value, number of
components or mass.
-6.3 “Electric vehicle charging points are proposed for each of the limited car park spaces proposed”
– is that a commitment, an aspiration of a theoretical possibility? All such statements in all
documents ought to be clarified in this regard by planning officers in conjunction with Qualis before
the application goes before the planning committee.
-6.4.2 “Noise during operation” – what technical standards will be specified in the building contract.
-Section 7 – what have these points got to do with a sustainability statement?
Statement of Community Involvement
Our members who attended the Qualis exhibition and online sessions did not conclude they were
well organised and information provided was confusing. Like many documents in the application,
reference were made to aspects which were not part of the proposals. Qualis representatives could
not answer questions put forward and at later events submitted questions were ignored.
Planning statement
Conder is 0.66 Ha and the application is for [45] dwellings. That is a poor development ratio (68 per
Ha) for the town centre. (Actually Policy SP3 – Place Shaping is quoted as 50 per Ha (Planning
Statement page 23).
Did EFDC/Qualis attempt to acquire the car park of the black Lion or otherwise to include it this
development? The plans suggest it will become a very difficult site to develop effectively in the

Page 642

A-24

Appendix 3
future. Similarly the Army training site could have been cheaply relocated and the old area
incorporated in to the development at the sports centre. Indeed, a cadet training building only needs
single storey so flats above and/or move it to the school to exploit the space in the evenings? Or
move to Bower Hill or above the station car park – all sorts of opportunities.
I think the conclusion drawn from contentious evidence in 6.26 (second bullet) is very adventurous. I
do not object to a preponderance of flats but the squirming done to convince us (and themselves)
that it is right stretches credibility. I also object to the characterisation of young people as being
attracted to small rental flats whereas, they assume, older people are not.
The additional population in the town centre which I have estimated is large enough to be relevant
to the need for a policy of preserving town centre pubs and other possible effects on local demand.
2.12 – vehicular access only from St John’s Road – what road studies say this is viable, especially with
the additional roundabouts proposed?
General point – lifts in multi-storey buildings – will these be adequately maintained and cleaned and
will there be a fall-back for the disabled or less fit residents?
3.2 Consultation with the public – we object as it was wholly inadequate.
3.4 Between March 2020 from a standing start EFDC/Qualis and contractors have produced 3
schemes and submitted 4 application with thousands of pages of material. Yet over the similar
period they have failed to complete the Main Modifications for the Planning Inspector. See also
Planning Statement 4.23 “The LPSV was subject to an examination in August and then November
2019 setting out the further work needed to ensure the LPSV can be found sound and adopted. The
advice from the Inspector covers several matters and the Council are working on Main Modifications
to respond to this advice. The main issue hat is being addressed concerns the LPSV’s effect on the
Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation (the EFSAC). The Council’s Habitats Regulation
Assessment (HRA) found that the LPSV would be likely to have a significant effect upon the EFSAC.”
3.5 It is unhelpful to switch between site names and site codes. The public cannot be expected to
research what the connection was or is now.
3.16 “It is noteworthy that in the first QRP report from March 2020, it was stated that ‘the panel
urges holistic view of the whole town centre is needed to inform key design moved on each site...”
We note that a proposal as far back as 2012 would have provided a pedestrian route to the High
Street which avoided the narrow corner by St John’s Church. This has not been included in the
proposals and we deplore that omission. The tight corner will become busier with large numbers of
residents walking (or cycling – sic) to the shops and station.
4.4 “Thirdly, we explain how the contents of the draft Epping Town Neighbourhood Plan (2018) is
relevant” – it cannot be, it isn’t finished and the public have not given their approval.
4.5 “The Council have pledged and pledged to do everything within its power to make Epping Forest
District Council area carbon neutral by 2030”. – how about less wasted time, effort and paper of
pointless gibberish in reports and less hot air from EFDC. “everything in its power” would include EV
vehicles for Qualis, which has not happened.
4.10 page 18 Heritage Conservation and 4.17 page 20 Design and the Built Environment. The policies
listed here suggest the design fails to meet the requirement. Bear in mind the terms of the quality
review panel do not include them issuing certificates of compliance with policies.

Page 643

A-25

Appendix 3
4.11 Nature conservation and 4.12 Recycling and pollution. I have yet to see and review any report
on studies into potential pollutants underground or the effect of the development on the life cycles
of the newts and other fauna (Planning Statement page 25 – Policy DM1 – Habitat Protection and
Improving Biodiversity).
4.14 “Policy E4A ‘Protection of Employment Sites’ – this policy states that the sites currently or last
in use for employment but outside the defined employment areas will be safeguarded from
redevelopment or change of use to other land-uses. Housing on redundant employment land will be
regarded favourably”. EFDC seems to have made no effort to seek (or require private owners to
seek) alternative employment uses for employment land before granting permission for housing
development. The site in Bower Hill is one example and Conder Building might be a second.
4.28 They are still saying 1,305 additional dwellings in Epping. If not is not the current position the
application paperwork should be updated.
4.35 Policy T1 – Sustainable Transport Choices – Given the number of homes without access to
motor cars, there needs to be one or two taxi ranks in the town. These should not take away parking
from the High Street.
4.32 Policy H2 – Affordable Housing – the EFDC policy of 40 per cent is rehearsed but there is no
commitment from Qualis that I can see as to how many and what size accommodation will be
provided on which sites. See Planning statement 6.33 which refers to Affordable Housing Statememt
at Appendix 2.
4.53 Policies D1 and D2 – Delivery of Infrastructure and Essential Facilities and Services. Is there any
evidence on buses or taxis?
4.57 Epping Town Neighbourhood Plan – the statement remind us the plan is not finalised but lists
the draft objectives which seem to counter and not support aspects of the applications. What weight
will EFDC give to that?
4.72 Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment. Each of the sites is close to
the conservation area and close to listed buildings but evidence for the way these designs are
claimed to respect that is not at all clear.
Civic Offices (Part) (EPP.R8) – principle of proposed use
5.29 “Policy E4A concerns the protection of employment sites and states that housing on redundant
employment land will be regarded favourably. EFDC have decided that the office building is no
longer required and, as such, the land can be considered as redundant for employment purposes.
The socio-economic chapter of the ES considers the implications from an economic perspective.” We
should not accept a decision by EFDC as definitive. Potential alternative employment uses do not
seem to have been looked for with any vigour, presumably because EFDC did not want to find them.
5.35 “Therefore, in our view, the proposal is supported by policies contained with the adopted Local
Plan, the LPSV and the draft ETNP, as well as the provisions of the NPPF (2019).” It is not at all clear
the design meets the Essex Design Guide or the need to fit in with the existing architecture of the
traditional market town. The proposed fenestration, walls, presentation to the street and the lack of
bargeboards on the roof verges are all strange to Epping. Materials, including the proposed
brickwork are not familiar here.

Page 644

A-26

Appendix 3
Page 44 6.9 Five-year supply and housing delivery
This data is interesting. I have not seen it published by EFDC but it is damning. [Table 6.1 inserted to
correspondence]
6.11 “This means EFDC is categorised as a ‘presumption’ authority, meaning that the presumption in
favour of sustainable development applies consistent with paragraph 11 of the NPPF. This is the case
for both housing supply and the housing delivery test”. It is unacceptable that an investment
company who wholly-owned by the Local Planning Authority should argue its case in these terms. In
essence it is saying it’s owner’s incompetence is a reason to build what they like, where they like.
6.18 basically says Arup did a poor job on site appraisals.
Page 51 6.36 “the proposed housing typology is for a Built to Rent scheme on the St John’s Road
(EPP.R$) site. The proposed typology for the sports Centre (EPP.R5) and the Civic Centre (Part) site
(EPP.R8) is a build to sell format, although the applicant requests flexibility from an affordable
housing perspective to convert to a Build to Rent scheme”. It is not clear how this could work. Is it
suggested Qualis might sell “affordable” housing or that affordable housing will all be on one site.
7.9 By what mechanism will Qualis/EFDC prevent residents in these developments from acquiring
cars which they park in nearby residential streets using parking permits, parking illegally or in streets
with no controls.
7.10 “The applicant is fully committed to delivering against these objectives and implementing its
recommendations”. Public assurances from Qualis are not enough. This must be a planning
condition and/or S106. In particular, the aspirations in many Qualis documentation must be
removed or become a part of any unavoidable planning permission.
7.13 “The operational phase of the St John’s Road development and associated increased in traffic is
not predicated to have a significant impact on local air quality in Epping. Indeed, this increase in
traffic (and associated pollution) will be more than off-set by the net reduction in vehicle trips
associated with the proposed developments at the Sports Centre (EPP.R5) and Civic Offices (part)
(EPP.R8). In combination, the proposals are predicted to have a net negligible beneficial effect on air
quality in Epping.” What this says is the old sports centre will be developed before the other two
sites, otherwise there would be no saving to offset the heavy vehicles’ emissions. There is no
schedule for the new sports centre. It is hard to see how heavy lorries will not increase pollution
when in and out all day long with the detritus of the old sites, piling and the new materials coming
in. We need data not bland assurances.
Much of this heavy traffic and workmen’s car too will come through the forest. During t works that
must be an increase in pollution. Has Epping Forest Heritage Trust seen this?
We have not seen QRP reports which we have understood not to be in the public domain. It is
impossible to judge Qualis reports its conclusions if their reports are not available to us.
Page 59 8.11 “Given that the Conder site is tucked away behind the High st and that is has limited
street frontage, there is the opportunity to create an environment where family housing can be
introduced”. But this does not excuse the designers from the Essex DG and the other policies
relating to a market town.
8.13 the dismissal of archaeological remains and the statement no more investigation is needed is
not acceptable. After demolition, trial pits should be dug and during works there must be an
awareness among site managers to report anything found. “the renovation and re-use of the Local

Page 645

A-27

Appendix 3
Listed Buildings on the St John’s School Application Site will likely necessitate the loss of elements of
historic fabric;” – don’t they know? Which fabric? Are they planning to gut the building? This should
have been resolved before the applications were made. The application seems like rushed,
incomplete projects, just like the Local Plan.
8.24 What are the mitigation arrangements to avoid damage to the pond and newts during works
and to ensure the newts are able to live and breed normally after completion. For example, how to
prevent accidental damage or human interference. How will they and other fauna migrate during
and after works?
Page 79 Epping Town Centre Town Centre Strategy Report: what is the relevance of this document
and which parts of it (if any) will be conditioned on any planning consent or subject to a S106? The
inclusion of so much aspirational material, meaning less flow plans and artists’ impression suggest
there has been an attempt to confuse the public which one hopes will not work with officers and
members of the planning committee.
Page 94: Precedent image: St Chads, Tilbury, Essex looks like a modern development and in any
event it is not in keeping with their the Essex DG or Epping styles.
Page 99: the issue of the sports centre does not arise out of the Qualis “consultation” but at the very
beginning of the Local Plan. “the perceived loss of sports facilities”. What is this “perceived” word
there for? Are Qualis taking issue with the public’s views?
It is good to see, at last, a diagram of new sports facilities which was not included in the relevant
planning application files on the planning portal, but these are not part of the current planning
application. The planning application for the building in Bakers Lane does not show the layout or
content of the facilities. I am not an expert but a single sports hall seems to me unlikely to provide all
the sports now available and promised to be replicated.
“In respect of Sports Hall, the supply for sports hall for community use is at a deficit when compared
with demand, for both 2917 and 2033, therefore there is a need to, at the very least, protect this
quantity of supply. This does mean provision at the existing sites should be protected, as this relocation of facilities is not discouraged, to ensure the residents of the district have improved
accessibility to high quality facility provision”. Condescending by Qualis again. It is not their call.
However, “in respect of squash courts, it is recommended that the existing level of provision of
squash facilities are protected (2 courts in the case of Epping Sports Centre)” with which we agree.
“The conclusion of this exercise is that it is possible to deliver a swimming pool and and (sic) all the
existing sports facilities on the Bakers Lane site (my emphasis added). This does results in the car
parking being provided almost entirely on the Cottis Lane site as part of the multi-storey car park. As
explained in the parking section, this is the most sustainable approach that responds to the no net
loss requirement in the draft planning policy for the sites. Overall, the revised testing of the Bakers
Lane site and the proposals for a full service leisure centre with Sports Hall and squash courts means
that the strategy can be supported.” This after several paragraphs basically saying the exact sports
provided might be cut. As I understand it there will be a net reduction in parking places in Epping.
The existing car parks at Cottis and Bakers Lane plus the existing sports centre do not seem to have
been included.
Page 110 item 2 is an insult to private landlords. The reference to institutional landlords suggests it is
EFDC/Qualis strategy to exploit friendly planning consent from the former so the latter can sell over
developed sites to insurance companies offshore investors. Can we have some clarity on this please?

Page 646

A-28

Appendix 3
The danger of uncertainty by Qualis about “affordable” is they might sell a black to (say) London
Boroughs so local needy don’t get a look in. Maybe they will sell the entire St John’s Road site to an
LB? There is nothing on page 112 to prevent such a sale outside the district and EFDC would not be
able to prevent the independent management of Qualis from doing so if a high quick completion
offer was to be made.
Page 116 Heads of Terms is skeletal and unacceptable. It is noteworthy how much aspirational
material in the application documents is not reflected in the actual design proposals nor in the
Affordable Housing statement or “Draft Heads of Terms for a Planning Obligation (Section 106
Agreement)”
Below ground drainage strategy
Says estimated 1 in 100 year flow off the site would be 216/sec. That equates to 777.6 m3/hour. The
proposed crate underground drainage capacity proposed in 296m3.
Something is wrong. Can this be clarifies please? To have only half an hour for 1 in 100 years
suggests that 1 in 10 year flows might be a problem.
I cannot see anything on the permeability of the sub-soil which is critical to a crate and SUDS system
working.
Contaminated (sic) Risk Assessment and Ground Investigation report
This seemed to be a very limited survey with few bore holes and of limited depth.
I could not see any reference to the effect of development on the newt pond, short or longer term.
For example, could groundwater be contaminated or could the piling drain the pond.
EPF/1042/21 – Application to demolish
Relates only to Conder and parking – not to Homefield House please confirm?
What is the significance of files being names “NEW”?
Label on document Connection to Civic Office Plan Elevation says “New bricks to face of civic offices
which is exposed following the demolision (sic) of the conder building. Bricks to match the existing
conder building”. Why would bricks not match the listed building whose façade is being reinstated
thereby. What is the significance of the word “study” – is it not yet complete?
It is not clear from the documents what changes are proposed to the listed building and
immediately-adjacent buildings.
Loss of 132 parking places but addition of 86 cycle places. What evidence is there this will work. It is
EFDC policy to effect modal change but policy is not the same as outturn.
Application 17b – biodiversity – the issue of newts seems not to have been adequately studied.
Application says “Pre application meetings and QRP presentations held between April 2020 and
March 2021 to discuss the details of the proposed application and supporting documentation.” How
does that relate to the public meetings they held? We must hereby repeat the criticisms The Epping
Society wrote about (our questions were ignored and at the physical meetings Qualis people did not
understand the area and could not answer questions). Our Local Plan responses are also pertinent,
for example have the matters been resolved? Are these applications fully in accordance with (which
version of) the local plan? Challenge page 9 of the D&A.
Q28 asks “For the purposes of this question, “related to” means related, by birth or otherwise,
closely enough that a fair-minded and informed observed, having considered the facts, would

Page 647

A-29

Appendix 3
concluded that there was bias on the part of the decision-maker in the Local Planning Authority.”
(my emphasis added). As Qualis is wholly owned by EFDC there seems ample reason why and
informed observer might think there was bias by the LPA.
Design and Access Statement Part 1, 27 pages
NB is this the same for the building application?
Are the design impressions a part of the application and can the public be confident the design and
features shown will be what is to be built?
It is surely aspirational rather than factual and the following might mislead “Qualis Commerical
Limited (QCL), one of the three such subsidiary companies, will maximise the revenue & capital
receipts from the commercial development of EFDC’s strategic land and property assets”. Is that a
planning consideration or is it improper pressure on the planning committee?
The D&S document introduction says it is a “Pre-application presentation”. When will we see the
final one for the application. It is dated March 2021 so what presentation does it refer to?
It says “to provide new residential properties for the Epping community” but what restrictions will
there be on the buyers and tenants of these dwellings to ensure that statement is met. “The
development of this site aims to provide a range of residential property to serve local residents” –
apart from the trite point that a resident will be “local” after they move in, in what way will these
dwellings be for local people? D&A page 10 says “Reduce the reliance on car borne transport with
the introduction of pedestrian only areas and cycle accessibility” – to achieve that residents must be
prevented from owning cars which they park elsewhere. What arrangements have been proposed to
enforce that?
“it contains a newt pond located within a brick enclosure” – does that allow the animals to migrate
in and out and will the structure remain. Is it a good idea to have a play area adjacent to newt pond?
Page 8 is just meaningless tosh!
Page 8 – what is “PV” – would lay readers know?
Drainage strategy seems vague and under specified.
The D&A on this application (for demolition at Conder) is confusing as it also refers to the other sites
Qualis are applying to develop. Accordingly it is hard to work out what they are promising here and
what relates to other applications.
Page 9 “we are seeking to create residential communities” – we do not want new communities in
Epping; we want a single community.
Page 10 talks of a “circuitous route” to join up these sites but this is just a back route through the
town. Are funds to be set aside to achieve this and what progress has been made?
Re sports centre “create and attractive, usable eternal amenity space at the heart of the site for use
by all residents” – what is “eternal” about it?
“Establish a confident architectural language that respects the heritage of the surrounding area” – I
looked for evidence of what this means but the proposed designs seems foreign to our market town,
How does that relate to the Essex Design Guide (now to be part of the Local Plan)? See planning
statement page 25 Policy DM9 – High Quality Deisgn 4.41 “All new development must achieve a high
specification of design and contribute to the distinctive character and amenity of the local area” – I
do not think the designs do that.

Page 648

A-30

Appendix 3
Page 11 shows a picture of woodland entitled “Epping Town Centre”. Where in any of the
development sites will that be planted and in what time scale will the vegetation reach the maturity
shown?
We should ask that any consents should require the facilities and features referred to in the D&A to
be delivered and all these to be maintained in good condition until at least (say) 36 months after
practical completion. We should ask for PD to be excluded. Also, what is the repair and maintenance
contractual arrangement, will public parking be barred within the sites (commuters etc.) and will
parking be strictly limited to the places shown so, for example, delivery vehicles and disabled ones
come out of that not in addition to it). Will parking other than in designated bays be prohibited and
policed? Page 13 says “the provision of on-site car club/car sharing or pooling arrangements, visitor
parking and blue badge holders” – does that mean all these are included in the 18 parking places
applied for? What specifically has Qualis done about car clubs?
Will full fibre broadband, EV charging be installed for every home/parking place?
Will there be restrictions on hanging washing on balconies or using them for general storage? If not
these developments could become slums very quickly.
When appraising their designs against ‘Building for a Healthy Life’ has attention been paid to
potential home working? Is there a check list to demonstrate compliance with this and other
standards referred to?
Page 14 “The objective of the development is to create an oasis of family housing arranged around
the central visual amenity of the ecological area and pond” – will the public generally have full free
access at all times to the areas not allocated to private dwellings?
Page 24 is intended to show commuter movements before and after the proposed development but
the diagrams are labelled the same as on the following page 25.
Page 27 shows two new roundabouts in the High Street but these have not been consulted upon and
details of how they would related to existing roads and pavements and to the protected greens is
not stated.
Design and Access Statement Part 2, 29 pages
Page 1 refers to opportunities the applicant has identified for improving the centre of Epping. Is the
applicant committing to do this work, will the detail be consulted upon and will its delivery be a
condition of planning consent? Given the time it has taken so far to not replace a removed tree with
a living replacement (Theydon Pace, which has not been identified for improvement) what timetable
have Qualis proposed for ordering and planting trees? What is the intended meaning of arrow heads
on the lines which depict “Street tree improvements”?
Page 2 shows a number of works but their status is not made clear. A new pedestrian route is shown
across Bell Common yet there are already two such paths; is it proposed to make these hard
surfaces and has the Forest been consulted? A number of roads are coloured in relation to a legend
“Wider Pedestrian Routes”; is it intended to consult on these, are Qualis committed to deliver these
and when? What will be the effect on cyclists and motorists, delivery drivers and parking?
A new pedestrian crossing is shown at the busy southern junction of Hemnall St with the High Road;
is that the best place for it? St John’s Road is shown for “Potential Lane Enhancements”; what is that
meant to indicate as there is already a two lane road with wide pavements each side? Will this be
consulted upon and who pays for it and when?

Page 649

A-31

Appendix 3
Page 3. We believe the Black Lion is nationally listed and if not it should be without delay. I note that
the Conder building is in the Conservation Area. What are EFDC/Qualis intention for EPP.R10 (is this
in the current scheme as not clear on this page)? Will the views identified be preserved; page 29
does not indicate that is intended?
Page 8 Epping Neighbourhood Plan (a draft document not yet completed) refers to constraints the
working group felt important. Can we be assured the existing sports centre will not suffer limitations
in its functionality before new similar facilities are available in the town. The page refers to the Essex
Design Guide; can we be assured the proposed new buildings comply with that in form and context?
Page 9 shows Qualis have had access to the QRPs meetings. Are these public documents? If not why
has a private independent developer had access? If so, where can we see them?
Page 13 and other pages before and after it refer to the public consultation by Qualis. We did not
consider that exercise was adequately carried out and it is not clear how the views of the public have
been used to change and improve the proposals. Refer Adam Long’s letter for the Epping Society at
the time. I have not read most of the rest of this material on consultation and process because I
think we should reject it all as a sham.
Design and Access Statement Part 3, 27 pages
Page 1 please confirm that gable to the street designs are acceptable under the Essex DG. Where in
Epping does that design commonly appear, please? The flat roof appearance of block B is not a
traditional Essex or Epping design feature, unless it is intended to imitate the facades often added
to ancient buildings a century ago and which some of them demolished in the 1960s and 1970s
would have had. The image of block B on page 3 and 4 shows the boxiness of the design. Please can
you explain “Terraces transitioning in to area outside conservations area front-ing onto landscape”?
Page 3 will semi-mature trees be planted as shown in the illustrations. We urge native species?
Page 7 shows an example of “robust brick detailing” but it is not made clear where such forms are
found in Epping nor where it will appear in the proposed development.
Page 8 will the LPA confirm that parking in the site will be limited to allocated parking places for use
only by residents and their visitors, plus emergency vehicles calling on residents, of course? Will the
site be a public right of way?
Page 10 “particular feature corners are emphasised through projecting brickwork and recessed
panels” these were not apparent in the images. Block A looks very boxy and if this is the intention it
succeeds in being very forgettable. This is a missed opportunity.
Page 12 Please confirm the well-loved magnolia is to be retained and protected throughout the
works. Trees generally: as the site is now controlled other than by EFDC, will TPOs be immediately
put on important specimens within the sites?
Page 13 “new bricks to face of civic offices which is exposed following the demolision (sic) of the
conder building. Bricks to match the existing conder building” seems wrong; the bricks should surely
repair the corner of the listed building with matching brickwork. Why match the existing building
which is to be demolished?
Page 16 The choice of bricks, fenestration and gables to the street do not seem to echo any existing
degree of development in Epping. The gable edge with modern flashing is also not seem in Epping
other than, perhaps on other recent (lower quality) commercial buildings. Please justify.

Page 650

A-32

Appendix 3
Page 18 where in Epping or Essex is soldier course banding a common feature?
Page 20 the balcony views emphasise how important it will be to prevent them being used for drying
washing or storing household equipment and materials.
Page 23 where in the EFDC emerging local plan or in the Essex DG does it authorise “As the houses
on the sire are wholly outside the conservation area, a more modern roof has been used to bring
dynamism to the key communal amenity”?
Page 24 In the writer’s experience, metal railings on balconies seriously reduces their amenity
because of strong winds. What studies have been done to ascertain the possible wind tunnel effects
of the new development as proposed?
Design and Access Statement Part 4, 29 pages
Page 2 this image does not relate in any way to established styles in Epping.
Page 5 LPSV?? Parking paces of only “2.4m x 4.8” are impractical, especially for older and disabled
users, unless they are adjacent to unobstructed open ground or pavement. For all the discussion of
car clubs, there are none allocated in this site. There is no reference to EV charging points – why
not? Cycle storage places are not marked – why? What is a “maintenance space”?
Page 6 what arrangements, in leases or otherwise, will ensure waste bins are put away?
Page 7 “private cycle storage for houses 2no cycle storage spaces have been allowed for within the
gardens of all houses” – this seriously encroaches into already small private amenity areas.
Page 9 “Qualis have been requested by EFDC to provide this strategy document as a means of
stimulating discussion and debate about the Town Centre public realm”. May we conclude that
pages 9-12 only are outside the scope of the current planning application? Actually they have no
place in this document which is intended to support a planning application and should be removed.
Page 13 is headed “Cottis Yard” – are we to assume it does not apply to the Conder application. It
appears that Qualis will carry out works outside the application sites. Is that so and will the delivery
be subject to a S106 agreement. Green roofs slow down the discharge of rainwater and in the right
weather conditions they can dissipate water through evaporation. Water vapour is, of course, a
principal greenhouse gas. Swales can do the same for ground surface water. Management of green
roofs and swales is critical to their success and the appearance of the site; swales, in particular, are
susceptible to vandalism and other damage. What management arrangements will exist? Have
calculations demonstrated that these solutions will adequately handle the rainwater forecast
because routes for run-off away from the site are very limited?
Pages 15-17 most people would regard the magnolia as above grade B (moderate with limited life
expectance) There seems to be an inconsistency between the plans on pages 16 (says removal) and
17 (says retained) for trees opposite the turning point in Homefield Close. Page 16 does not show
that the existing planters will be removed and the reason for its removal stated elsewhere is not
explained. What size lime trees will be planted on the High St at this point? May we be assured that
the landscape masterplan will be delivered as part of any planning approval?
Page 23 swales are not easy to distinguish on the plan.
Pages 25-28 is this an idea, an aspiration, a plan or a commitment? We doubt the safety of a nature
play area near the very busy roads of the High Road and Hemnall St. “Being centrally placed within

Page 651

A-33

Appendix 3
Epping Town Centre” – really? Have you measured how far away Stewards Green Road is, to say
nothing of Epping South?
Design and Access Statement Part 5, 34 pages
It is difficult to tell how much of this is aspiration, how much recalling EFDC draft local plan and how
much is a definite commitment which any planning approval would make enforceable.
Design and Access Statement Part 6, 3 pages
Page 1. Is “a single vehicular access point off the High Street” safe for emergency vehicles and
residents exit in case emergency? Over what time period will the proposed development become
sustainable given the considerable amount of high energy materials to be removed and
(presumably) subject to low value recycling, and the cost of the materials to built and maintain the
proposed structures and services?
It seems unclear to us that the heritage objectives have been met. We are not satisfied the materials
fit well into Epping’s existing buildings and the designs seem to be out of line with EFDC policy and
the Essex Design Guide.

Page 652

A-34

Appendix 3
Essex Police
21 April 2021
The applicant and the Essex Police are already involved in constructive pre-application consultation
regarding the development of new apartments and dwellings and Essex Police is content the ethos
of Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) is being addressed adequately. Essex
Police are confident the development will meet POLICY ST2 – ACCESSIBILITY OF DEVELOPMENT (v),
design and layout which will reduce the potential for crime and fear of crime page 71 of the Epping
Adopted Local Plan.

Page 653

A-35

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 4
Civic Offices QRP Summary Reports:
20.03.20 – Formal review of Epping Town Centre Sites









While supporting the emerging work, the panel thinks there is scope to be bolder.
The panel recommends further work to define, proactively manage, protect and
measure ‘quality’, through each RIBA stage of work.
The panel recommends embedding clear sustainability commitments at RIBA Stage
1 or 2, which could include precedent research for criteria such as Passivhaus.
It highlights the benefits of early community engagement.
The panel encourages options testing for the mix and location of key Town Centre
functions and non-residential land uses. It also suggests broadening the spatial
scope of the Brief, to look beyond red line boundaries and consider the relationship
between the five sites and the high street, including potential public realm
improvements.
The panel urges a holistic view of the whole town centre to inform key design moves
on each site.
The panel thinks the current approach to car parking is unresolved. It highlights the
huge potential to encourage sustainable travel and adopt a flexible future-proofed
strategy to car parking and travel.

10.07.20 – Formal review of Epping Town Centre Sites








The panel thinks a more convincingly comprehensive approach is developing.
It strongly welcomes reconsideration of the leisure centre location and multi-storey
car park proposals.
The panel is yet to be convinced on the analysis undertaken to support the current
approach to town centre functions, or rationale for the housing typologies, tenure and
mix. While it broadly supports the uses suggested, it is unclear why specific uses are
being directed to specific sites.
It strongly recommends further work to ensure exemplary housing design, including
revisiting typologies, internal arrangements and layouts. The panel would like to see
more detail at a framework level before planning application details are developed,
including on: routes, broader connectivity, servicing, edges, integration and retail
arrangements.
It continues to strongly urge early engagement to develop the project vision – so
people can feel genuine agency in informing proposals.

17.09.20 – Workshop review of Epping Town Centre Sites






The Panel applauds the substantial work undertaken since the last review.
The approach taken to engagement is commendable and should be valuable in
informing ongoing design work.
The panel continues to stress the importance of looking beyond physical building
elements – to engage with the social, not just physical development of the centre. It
would have expected to see mapping – analysing the social and cultural offer that
already exists in the centre. This would then be used to inform an approach to ‘fill in
these gaps’.
The panel encourages developing a meanwhile strategy, and exploring the potential
for small scale public realm interventions.

Page 655







Greater clarity is needed on how individual sites and public realm will be phased,
funded and delivered including the delivery of public realm improvements.
The panel continues to strongly urge that the council re-consider the ‘no net loss’
approach to car parking – and follow an evidence-based approach to parking and
sustainable travel.
link to Cottis Lane Car Park is reconsidered to provide safe accessibility.
The panel supports the simplicity of the building form, and encourages the use of a
robust material palette, with careful attention to detailing.

16.10.20 - Site Specific Workshop review











The panel is very supportive of the ambitions underpinning the development
proposals for the Civic Offices site, but suggests some alternative approaches to site
access, layout and massing, that could help unlock the challenges of the site.
It strongly urges the applicant to look at the creation of a second access point from
Homefield Close to allow for better site planning to the front of the site, a better
arrangement for the apartment block and resolve the movement conflict that is
inherent from having a narrow access route from the High Street.
The panel warmly welcomes the celebration of the existing pond as the centrepiece
of the landscaping strategy to the land at the rear. However, it is undermined by the
amount of hard landscaping and car parking to the front of the site. In the current
arrangement this will create a poor setting for new homes in the apartment block, and
compromise both pedestrian safety and place making quality at the entrance to the
site.
It encourages a reduction in the parking provision to improve the outlook to the
apartments and ‘future-proof’ the scheme from changing patterns of car usage.
It is not convinced by the approach to the architectural expression of the apartment
block and the way in which this aims to break up the massing. It recommends
expressing the architecture of this block more confidently.
The scale and height of the houses to the rear are appropriate, but the design team
should explore a terrace typology to achieve a more efficient site plan, as well as
reducing the extent of external walls.
A more unified material palette with subtle variations in detailing would be welcomed.
Whilst the panel applauds the aspiration to achieve Passivhaus standards, it would
welcome further information on how this can be delivered for the apartments.

05.03.21 –Site Specific Formal review
Summary of scheme specific comments:







The panel is broadly supportive but recommends further thought about north-western
area.
Whilst it recognises that protection of the Great Crested Newts is a priority it feels
that a more nuanced approach to integration of the pond would be appropriate to
benefit from educational and place making value of the pond.
The panel would like to see the extent of vehicle carriageway reduced and priority
given to pedestrians. It suggests car-free development or consolidating parking in
one or two locations to create more generous open spaces, and a sense that people
are prioritised rather than cars.
The panel recommends further thought about the best way of responding to the listed
Civic Offices, and older listed buildings on the High Street.

Page 656



It feels there is scope to consolidate the houses into simpler terraced forms, with less
subdivision. It suggests that efficiencies could be achieved by using the same
terraced house type on this site as at the Sports Centre site.

General comments relating to all five town centre sites:






These developments on council owned land create an opportunity to deliver
exemplar development, in terms of design quality and environmental sustainability.
A lot of valuable work was done looking at the relationship between the five Qualis
sites and Epping town centre. This should be captured in an Area Action Plan, or
similar document, endorsed by the council, so that this work is not lost.
Generally, a more site-specific approach to environmental sustainability is needed,
so that the layout and façade design of buildings responds to orientation and context.
Achieving modal shift will require new development to make car use less convenient,
so that walking and cycling become preferred options.
The panel thinks the relationship between the architectural character of each site
needs further thought.

Page 657

This page is intentionally left blank

